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CHAPTER VIIL
MAJOR-GENERAL SIR JAMES OUTRAM'S DEFENCE OF ALUMBAGH.

Memorandum by the Chief of the Staff for the guidance of Major-
General Sir James Ovrnaw,—dated Heowd-Quarters Camp,
Cawnpore, Sth December 1857,

The Commander-in-Chief is of opinion that you should take imme-
diate steps in pursunuce of the ndvantage gnined the day before yester-
day at Cawnpore to put your communications with this place inn
thoroughly effective condition. You will, therefore, on the recaipt of
this memorandum, detach to the rear 400 European soldiers, 200 Madras
Infantry, Captain Olphert's Light Field Battery, and balf your cavalry
with all yonr camels.

This foree, which should be placed under your best officer, must clear
the vicinity of the road from Alumbagh to Cawnpore of all refrnctory
characters, including Munsih Aly,* who disturbs the neighbourhood
of Unno.

This force will collect as it marches ns much carriage as possible,
bringing it to the north bank of the Gangus, to be laden with grain and
supplies for your field force.

The difficulties of procuring carriage at Cawnpore are very great,
but every effort is being made in your behalf,

Memorandum by the Chief of the Staff for the guidance of Major-
General Sir James Ovream,—dated Camp Head-Quarters,
Cawnpore, 12th December 1857,

The Commander-in-Chiel has had under his considertion lettor
nddressed to the Chief of the Staff by Colonel Berkeley, Deputy

® Maasooh Allio,~Bes page 425,
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Adjutant-General, by order of Major-General Sir James Outram, G.on,,
in which the reasonsof the latter are alleged for not giving execution to
His Excellency's orders, conveyed in the memorandum by Major-General
Mansfield, Chief of the Staff, on the Tth of December,

It is n subject of the deepest regret to His Excellency that he
cannot coincide in the reasoning of Sir James Outeam, the order above
alluded to having been considered with the greatest care before it was
given with reference to the country in which Sir James Outram’s eamp
is pitched, and the knowledge of what it is in the power of the encmy
to attempt,

His Excellency entreats Sir James Outram to believe that he is
fully alive to the circumstances of his position, and he does not thivk it
possible for him to be threatened by real danger.

Including the posts of Alumbagh and Bunnee Sir James Outram
has at his disposal 4,400 fighting men, of which the bulk is composed
of Earopean infantry, besides a very powerful artillery.

The effect of the late success on the right bank of the Ganges
cannot but be felt throughout the Provinees of Oudh ns elsawhere.

If the left be threatened by a battery, His Excellency would sug-
gest the advisability of attacking and destroying it before it can become
a cause of annoyance,

If, on the occasion of a detachment going out, Sir James has fears
for his position, His Excellency would further venture to suggest that
the front of the camp should be contmcted or that it should be convert-
ed into a bivouac in case of really imminent danger.

The strength of detachments is always ealeulated by the Com-
mander-in-Chief with the greatest care with reference to general
circumstances, with which it is hardly possible that any one but His
Excellency should be acquainted.,

In conclusion, His Excellency observes that nothing advanced in
this memorandum is said by way of reproach, but merely of advice.
and friendly caution.

Memorandum by the Chief of the Staff for the guidanee of Sir JAMES
Ovrnas,—dated Head-Quarters Camp, Cawnpore, 15th Decem-
ber 1857,

Two hundred gun-bullocks have been despatched to Sir James

Outram, yoked to carts, He will have the goodness to apply them to
the guns, :
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A fortnight's provisions have been despatched for all Sir Jumes
Outram’s force, including Bunnee, together with what stores of cloth-
ing, tentage, and boots it is in the power of Brigadier Inglis, Command-
ing at Cawnpore, to give. -

. 8ir James Outram will arrange in future, by order of His Excellen-
ey, to send a sufficient escort, with carringe, once o fortnight, 1o take
out what supplies he may want from Cawnpore to his camp.

This escort must never consist of less than 850 European Infantry,
150 Native Infaniry, 70 cavalry soldiers, together with two field
gune, Colovel Fisher, Commanding at Bunnee, being under the com-
mand of Sir James Outram, will be supplied by the commissarint of
the Major-Geneml's division, and not from that of Cawnpore which
belongs to another. It will be easy for Captain Macbean and Captain
Christopher so to armange together under the orders of the Deputy
Commissary-General that the supplies meant for Bunnee shall not
travel onwards to Alumbagh.

Sir James Outram is informed that owing to the neglect of his
Deputy Assistant Quartermaster-Genernl or other staff officer, o
quantity of flannel shirts and serge jackets, besides other articles which
had been provided by the Commander-in-Chief for the use of his
division, wore positively allowed to return to Cawnpore instead of
being made use of as intended.

The Chief of the Staff is aware that an order was issned on the
occasion of the Commander-in-Chiel quitting Alumbagh that the quilts,
&e, brought for Sir James Outraw’s division should be taken charge
of at once, It nppears never to have ocourred to his staff officer to
have examived the other bales besides those containing quilts, although
it was perfectly well known to every one in the force that what stores
were in Alumbagh had been brought solely for the use of the Lucknow
garrison under Sir James Outram,

Sir James Outram is requested to inform the officers subordinate
to Colonel Berkeley, now on the staff of his division, of the Commander-
in-Chief’s marked displeasure on this account, and to enforce their
personal attention and superintendence of every duty committed to their
charge. Any staff officer failing in this respeet in future will be im-
mediately deprived of his appointment acoording to a G, 0. lately
published on the subject,

Details of Infantry, European and Native, and Artallery, return to
Join their respective corps in Sir James Qutram'’s division,

o3
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A corrected statement is required of the strength of that division
which will include the new arrivals, and the posts of Bunnee and
Alumbagh.

Brigadier Inglis has received orders to meet all indents for sup-
plies: and stores as far as lies in his power, which may be sent from Sir
James Outram’s divisions; but it is necessury that all such requisitions
should be signed by the Major-General himself,

It will be impossible for Brigndier Inglis to meet the demands
of requisitions signed merely by commauding officers of regiments or
Brigadiers.

All accounts must be carefully kept by the respective corps and
departments, and regiments charged according to rule for all necessaries
and clothing (urnished by the State,

If ni any time the Major-General should be of opinion that remis-
sion of charge for such necessaries would be equitable, it will be for him
to muks the necessary application for the demand to the Adjutant-
General for sanction by the Communder-in-Chief.

On the ocession of the last convoy coming in from Alumbagh, all
the available cnmels, and the hundred carts described to be in the camp,
must be semt in to carry out supplies; the hundred ecarts now seut with
the gun-bullocks, and which will be without eattle, will be attached to
the empty carts, and so returned to the commissariat at this place.

If the comniissariat officors personally superintend this, and see that
the earts are all really empty, the bullocks employed will drag through
the carts with perfect ease.

It is to be hoped that Sir James Outram will be able to provide
gram and other grain in his own neighbourhood, in order to economize
carringe and save the District of Cawnpore, which has been almost
drsined of supplies

Clrain is now at Cawnpore, abont 11 to 12 seersto the rupea,

From Colonel BEsEELET, fo the Chicf of the Staffi—dated Camp Alumbagh, 11k
Diecember 1557,

1 am directed by Major-General Sir James Outram toncknowledge
the receipt of the message despatched by you by cossid on the Sth in-
stant, with the account of the Commuander-in-Chiefs victory over the
Gwalior Foree, which arrived yesterday ; he did not, however, bring the
" Memorandam by the Chief of the Staff for the guidnnee of Sir James
Qutram, G, ¢. " Bir James only recoived the copy of that this morning,
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He is desirons of being informed if the memorandum was gent by the
cossid that he may deal with him according to his deserts, if he has
been playing false. His examination is herewith attached, and he will
remain & prisoner until information is received from you.

Sir James Outram is much concerned to find by that “ Memoran-
dum” that the Commander-in-Chief expeets him to detach so large a
force to the rear as 400 Europeans and 200 Madras Infantry, as well as
balf the Cavalry, and Captain Olphert's Light Field Battery.

In his letter to the Governor-General in Conneil of the 9th instant,
which was forwarded under a flying seal for the Commander-in-Ohiela
information, he states : * We have barely carringe for 8 weak brigade
which, however, would not be detached with prudence to a distance in-
volving an absence of more than a day, without exposing the eamp to
considerable risk, mennced as it is by many thousands of the enemy,
supported by several guns posted in the gardevs and enclosures on this
gide of the canal on our front and flanks, which dsily send round shot
into our advance posts, though from so great a distance asto do no
injury.”

The enemy are now busily employed in erecting a battery on our
loft flank, which very likely is intended for defensive purposes, but at
the =ame time might become offensive at any moment ; they nre also
daily strongthened by the fugitives of the army defeated by the Com-
mander-in- Chief,

They bave lately brought out two horse artillery guns, Thesa
guns could do much harm by moving on our flanks, if we had no guns
of n similar description to oppose to them ; and it must be recollected
that they have a strong reserve of guns in the city, which might af
uuy time be brought out sgainst this camp or the Alumbagh.

We are also entirely without gram ; and we shall be obliged to
make more distant expeditions in search of it, and these partios musy
of course be increased in strength in proportion.

The cavalry force is most inefficient : the horses of the Volunteer
Cavalry and the Irregulars, who have all been in the presidency, are so
reduced in condition that they ean render little or no serviee, anil our
present want of gram and the cold st night prevent their regaining it,

The military train can only mount 140 men, their saddle-trees being
%0 bad that no amount of stuffing suffices to prevent sore backs, and
these thercfore comprise the only efficient eavalry we have.

Detaching 200 Madras Infantry from Bunnee would weaken Colo-
uel Fisher too much, as strong partios of the enemy accompanied by



guns have been reported as moving nlong the old road to onr rear and
in the direction of that post, and Sir James thought it expedient, on
Calonel Fisher's application, to reinforce him with 50 Europeaus ; they
will, however, accompany the convoy and remain at Bunnee on their
return.,

The Major-General also wishes to point out the extensive nature of
his position, the right of which is Jellnlabad, and the left resting on a
village to the left of the main road, & front altogether of nearly four
miles. This extent is rendered necessary by being obliged to occupy
Jellalabad in which direction all the grozing and forage for the cattle
is obtained, and the villages on the left front and flank have to be
oceupied in order to prevent the enemy commanding the main road and
our flank with their guns from a very strong defensive position.

Sir James Outram trusts that the Commander-in-Chief will view
these points in the same light that he does, and agree with him in the
inexpediency under these circumstances of detaching the force propesed
to the rear,

To-night the convoy consisting of 350 camels will leave this camp,
esoorted by 150 Enropean Infantry, 50 Sikhs, 25 cavalry, and be joined
at Bunnee by 50 of the 80th Regiment now stationed there. This is the
utmost extent of the force Sir James feels himself justified in sending.

He retains 150 eamels for the purpose of bringing in grain which,
from information received, ho hopes to lay his hands on. Your letter
only specifies camels, and Sir James has not sent any carts, as it delays
the murch of the convoy and invelves a larger escort accompanying it,

Telegram from the Commander<n-Chief, to the Covermor-Gleneral of Tndia in
Council, dated Camp Chacwnee, Fpowree, 25tk December 1857,

Copy of the message from Sir James Outram to the Commander-
in-Chief, dated Alumbagh, 22nd December. Attacked s party of the
enemy this morning, dispersed them, eapturing four guns, three 9-pound-
¢rs, horse artillery complete, with limbers, ammunition, &e., and one 6-
pounder, and seversl wagons of ammunition, and an elephant, Our loss
very trifling.

GENERAL ORDERS by the Right Hon'ble the Governor-General of
India in Council, Fort William, 6th Jenwary 1558,

Wo, 16 of 1858—The Right Hon'ble the Governor-Ceneral in
Council has much satisfaction in publishing the following report of a
suceessful sttack made by a portion of the troops under command of
Mujor-General Sir James Qutram, 6.0.B, on a body of the enemy in the
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neighbourhood of his camp, on the £2nd Decomber last. His Lord-
ship iu Council concurs in the commendation given by His Excellency
the Commander-in-Chief to Sir James Ontram and the officers and
men under his eommand on the oeoasion.

From the Depuly Adiutant-General of the Army, to the Sscretavy fo the Governe
went of Tadia, Military Department—Dated Head-Quarters, Camp Poora,
December 1557, .

I kave the honour, by desira of the Commander-in-Chief, to enclose,
for the information of the Right Hon'ble the Governor-Genernl of Indin
in Council, copy of & despatch of the 23rd instant, from Major-General
Sir James Outram, 4. €. B., reporting the circumstances of a successfil
attack made wpon a portion of the enemy in the neighbourhood of his
camp by adetachment of the troops under the Major-General's command,
in which four guns were captured ; and I am to state that His Excell
considers the whole affair to have been extremely well conducted and
to reflect much eredit on the troops engaged.

From Major-General Sir J, Ovrnan, o.c.0, Commanding troops in Oudh, o the
Deputy Adjutant-General of the Army,—Dalted Camp before Luckaow, 23rd
LDevember 1557,

I have the honour to report, for the information of His Excellency
the Commander-in-Chiel, that 1 had yesterdasy an affair with the enemy
at a village called Guilee, three miles from hence, situated a little to
the right of the road to Dilkoosha

I had been informed two days previously, by my spies, that the
enemy contemplated surrounding my position, in order to cut off sup-
plies, stop all foraging expeditions, and to intercept my communication
with Bunnee, With this object they despatched a fures to Guilee,
which took up n position between that village and Budroop, which
places are about a mile distant from cach other.

On the evening of the 21st instant, I learnt that the rebels had
been reinforced, and that their strength smounted to about 4,000
infantry, 400 cavalry, and eight field guns®

Having ascertained that a space of about half a mile intervened
between their position and the gardens skirting the canal and the
Dilkoosha, T moved out st 5 Ast. in the hope of surprising them at
daybreak, and intercepting their retreat to the city, with a foree datailed
in the accompanying divisional order, which I have this day issned, and

# Since mscertained o have been only four ; all of which were captured,
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to which 1 beg to refer His Excellency for all details, and for the terms
in which I express my appreciation of the conduet of the troops on the
The main body of the enemy being on the march considerably in
advance, retreated to the city by a detour to the left, out of our reach,
and concenled by intervening topes of trees, on hearing the attack on
their rear; bug the loss of four horse artillery guns, much ammunition,
besides clephants and baggage, and some 50 or 60 men slain, will, I
think, deter the enemy from again venturing beyond their defensive
works, or at any rate from attempting, for sometime to coma, to carry
out their plan of surrounding this camp within a too limited circam-
ference; and I have great hopes that the suceess of this expedition will
be productive of good effect in restoring confidence to the neighbouring
inhabitants,
Division Orders isamed by Major-General Sir Jauss Ovreaw, G.o.m., dafed
Camp Alwmbagh, 23rd December 1557,

1. Major-General Sir James Outram has much pleasure in record-
Two O.pounder yjunt, Moyal Artillery,  ing in division orders his satisfaction
Captain Maude.

Four 8-pounder gums, Tod Company,
g:.l Battalion, Bangal Artillery,
Captain Olpherta

‘112 Military train, Major Robertsan.

80 Voluntezr Cavalry, Captain Barrow,

36 lrregular Cavalry, Lisutonants Hay

Graham

sl "

400 Her Majesty's 5th Fuosiliers, Colo-
nsl Guy.

103 Her Majosty’s 75th Regiment, Cap-
tain Brocka,

156 Her Mnjesty’s 78th  Highlanders,
Captain Lockhart.
108 Hor Majesty’s 84th Regiment, Cap-
tain (' Brien, -
270 Her Majesty's 50tk Light Iufantry,
i Captain Guise.
150 Regiment of Ferozepors, Caplaln
HArasyer.
40 Madras Sappers, Lisutenant Ogilvie,
ToraL
Six 9-pounder guns, under Caplain
Olpherts.
190 Cavairy, under Major Rohertson.
1,227 Infantry, under Brigadier Stisted,
Right eolumn, under Lisutenant-Colonel
Purnell, Her Majesty's 90th
Light Infantry,
Left column, under Colonel Guy, Sth
Fusiliers,
Reserve, under  Tieutenant-Colonel
Hamilton, Her Msjesty's 78ih
Highlanders,

suddenness of the attack, and the

with the conduet of the officers and
men (quoted in the margin), under
the command of Brigadier Stisted,
engaged yesterday in the skirmish at
Guilee, in which four guns and twelve
wagons filled with ammunition were
eaptured,

2, The right column, under the
command of Lieutenant-Colonel
Purnell, Her Majesty’s 90th Regi-
ment, consisting of detachments of
the 78th and 90th regiments, and of
the Ferozepore Regiment of Sikhs,
excited his admiration by the gallant
way in which, with a cheer, they
dashed at a strong position held by
the enemy, and from which they were
met by a heavy fire, Regardless of
the overwhelming numbers and six
guns reported to be posted there, the
spirited way in which it was executed,
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resulted in the immediate flight of the enemy, with hardly a casualty
on our side.

3. Colonel Guy in command of the left column consisting of
400 men of Her Majesty's Sth Fusiliers, under the guidance of Lisute-
nant Moorsom, Deputy Assistant Quartermaster-General, was equally
successful in his simultaneous attack on the adjacent village of Guilee,
in which and the adjoining tope two guns were captured

4. The enemy were now mpidly followed up across the plain by
the Volunteer Cavalry, under Captain Barrow, until they found refuge
in a village, from which they opened a fire of grape and musketry,
They were, however, speedily dislodged, by the assistance of two of
Coptain Olpherts’ guns under the command of Licutenant Smithets,
and changing their line of retreat, they endeavoured to reach the city.
by the way of the Dilkovsha.

5. The military train, under Major Robertson, having been,
however, despatched to make a flank movement, followed them up so
mapidly that they dispersed their Cavalry, and drove their guns into a
ravine, where they were captured, the leading horses of which the
traces were cut, only escaping.

6. The Major-General was particularly pleased with the very
cool and soldierlike behaviour of the military train, Far ahead of the
Infantry, and unable to remove the guns which were captured, they
were mennced in their front by a large body of fresh troops from the
city, and attacked on their right flank by the main body of the enemy,
consisting of about 2,000 Infantry, who had commenced their march
previous to our attack, and who on hearing their rear assailed, also
changed their route to one in the direction of the city, and seeing their
guns in possession of so small & force as that under Major Robertson,
made demonstrations of an attempt to regain them; but by the bold
front shown by the military train, and the gallant advance of their
skirmishers, were held at bay, until the arrival of o party of the 5th
Fusiliers and two 9-pounder guns, under Captain Olpherts, completely
secured their eapture, and enabled a working party of the Madras sappers
under the command of Lieutenant Ogilvie, to extricate them from the
ravine into which t'hej had been driven. C-npi:ﬂln Hutﬂhih!ﬂll. Chief
Engineer, on this, as on several other occasions, during the day afforded
much valuable assistance,

7. The Major-General has to thank Lieutenant-Colonel H,

Hamilton, commanding the reserve, for the good position taken up by



him, which, with the fire of the two guns under Lieutenant Simpson
which were most judiciously posted, were of great sssistance in check-
ing the advance of the euemy during the protracted operations of
removing the captured guns,

8. Sir James Outram has also to express his acknowledgments to
Brigadiers Hamilton and Eyre, who were left in charge of the camp,
aud with the small force at their disposal, checked the dispositions for
an abtack which the enomy was commencing with their skirmishers on
the left flank, until the return of the furce to camp caused them to
sbandon their intentions,

9. It will be the pleasing duty of the Major-General to make His
Excellency the Commander-in-Chief aoquuinted with the sueopsaful
result of yesterday's operntions, and his approbation of the eonduct of
all those concerned in them.

Supplement to Division Orders,

In publishing to the troops under his command the return  of
casualties which occurred in the skirmish at Guilee on the 22nd instant,
a8 well as the return of ordusnce captured by them, the Major-General
is huppy to have to record his approval of the conduct of Staff-Sergeant
Roddy, who was in command of the two guns attached to Colonel
Guy’s column, and whom his commuanding officer, Captain Olpherts, has
mentioned for the able way in which he brought his guns into action,
and the good service he rendered in covering the rapid advance of the
column,

Major Robertson has also bronght to his notice the grent assist-
anes he received on every occasion from Captain Lane, 5th Bengal
Light Cavalry, and Lieutenaut Rich, Her Majesty’s 8th Lancers, attach-
ed to the military train,

=

GENERAL ORDERS by the Right Hon'ble the Governor-General of

India in Council, duted Fort William, 290k January 1558,

No. 182 of 1858.—The Right Hon'ble the Governor-Genernl of
Indina in Council is pleased to direct the publication of the following
despatch from Major-General Sir James Outram, 6. . B, reporting
the repulse of a large body of the enemy, who made an unsuccessful
attack an his position on the 12th instant,

His Lordship in Council expresses his entire satisfaction with
the mauner in which Major-General Sir James Qutram, 6. ¢, 8, has
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conducted this affuir, and with the behaviour of the troops engaged on
the occasion,

From the davistant ddintant.General of the Army, fo ike Seerctary o the Governe
meat of India, Military Departwment.—No. 30-4, dated Head-Quariery
Camp, Fatehgurk, 19th Jannary 1538,

I have the honour, by desire of the Commander-in-Chief, to encloss,
for the information of the Right
Hon'ble the Governor-General in
Council, copy of a despatch® from Major-General Sir James Outram,
G.C. B, reporting the repulse of a large body of the enemy, who
made an unsucesssful attack on his position on the 12th jnstant,

2. Sir James Outram’s dispositions appear to have been made
with such forethought as enabled him to inflict eonsiderable Joss on the
rebels without unnecessarily exposing his own troops,

® Dated 10th Janoary 1858,

From Major-General Sir Tauws Ovrnan, Commanding in Ond, to Gentral Ww.
R. Maxsrinen, Chigf of the Staff of the drmy in the Eant Tnidies, dated
Camp, Alumbagh, 184 Jannary 1558,

I have the honour to inform His Exesllency the Commander.in-
Chiel that the mhels of Lucknow attacked my position this morning,
and were repulsed with considerable loss,

In consequence of reporta that Mansoob Allic was collecting men
and receiving reinforcements from Lucknow to intercopt my communi-
eations, I sent a stronger escort than usual with my convoy, now on
its. way from Cawnpors, consisting of 450 infantry, 4 guns and 8O
cavalry,

The rebels ware encouraged by this reduction of my force to
meditate an attack, of which I received information for saveral days,
and yesterday evening more definite accounts led me to expoct
them at sunrise this moming. I therefore made such dispositions of
my force and ontposta as were necessary, and the troops breakfisted
at daybreak, and were all in readiness.

Abont sunrise this morning, large masses of the enemy wara ssen
on my left front, and they gradually spread round the whole front and
flanks of the position, extending from opposite to our left raar ontpost
to near Jellalabad on our right—a distance of at least six miles, and
amounting at the lowest estimation to 30,000 men,

54
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As soon as their movements were decidedly in advance, the
brigades,—the right mustering 713 and the left 733 Europeans and
100 men of the regiment of Ferozepore,—were formed in front of
their lines,

- The enemy first advanced upon my left front and flank, covered
by a large body of skirmishers, on which I detached two regiments of
the left brigade to support the outposts, and extended in skirmishing
order on their flanks, whilst the third regiment was held in reserve ;
at the same time Major Olpherts, with four horse battery guns, sup-
ported by a detachment of the military train, was directed to check
the enemy on my left rear, where their cavalry showed in the greatest
strength, The Volunteer and Native Cavalry were drawn up to protect
the rear of the camp, which at this time appeared to be threatened,

" The right brigade remained on its ground.

As soon as the enemy were hirly within range they ware exposed
to & severe fire of artillery from Alumbagh, and from the advanced
batteries of my outposts on the left front and centre, and fled with the
ubmost precipitation, without having come within musket range, excepb
at the left ccntre outpost, commanded by Captain Down, 1st Madras
Fusiliers, where a considerable number entered a grove of trees usually
occupied by our outlying picquets, from which they were driven in a fow
minutes by the skirmishers of the outpost,

On the left rear Major Olpherts moved out his guns at a gallop, and
advancing well to his front completely drove off and dispersed a very
large body of infantry and cavalry which was endeavouring to
penctrate to our rear, turning them back towards the city, and doing
much execution by the fire of his guns on their masses at 500 yards,

At this time I received a report that Alumbagh and my right
ndvanced outpost of Jellalabad were threatened, and on proceeding to
the right I found that the enemy had brought three horse artillery
guns, supported by an immense mass of infantry, against the picquet
which conneets my right with Jellalabad, and which had been strengthe
ened to 100 men with two guns, I moved the regiment of Ferozepore
and the 5th Fusiliers with two guns of Moir's Bullock Battery from the
right brignde to the front, taking the enemy in flank and driving
them back. They were then exposed to the fire of Maude's guns from
Alumbagh, which played upon them with great effact,

About this time the enemy agnin advanced on the left front and
flank, their cavalry on this cecasion being more to the front than before,



LETTER FROM MAJOR-GENERAL SIR J. GUTRAM 427

A party of the latter galloped up to the rifle-pits in front of the left
advanced outpost ; but Alexander's and Clarke's guns opened on them
and drove them back in confusion. .

About the same time the enemy on the right, agnin advancing
from the heavy cover of groves and villages into which they had
retreated, reopened  their guns on the Jellalabad picquet; but were
finally silenced and driven off by the fire of Moir's two guns which had
been sent to the picquet to reinforce it, and replace the two guns
arigivally there, which had been withdrawn to Jellalabad,

Simultaneously with the attack above described the enemy ad-
vanced upon Alumbagh and established themselves in the nearest
cover, notwithstanding that they were seen to suffer severely from the
artillery and rifle fire, About noon they also ndvanced into the open
ground, and were immediatoly dispersed and driven back by the fire
of Maude's guns and the riflemen from Alumbagh. \

By 4 o'clock p. a the whole of the enemy had disappeared and
retired to the city or to their original positions in the gardens and
villages in our front.

Nothing could exceed the ecagerness of the troops to come in
contact with the rebels, nor their disappointment at their precipitate
flight to the cover of their works the moment the guns opened and
oru line of skirmishers advanced,

The artillery made excellent practice on the masses of the enemy,
and in reply to the fice from their batteries, which was maintained on
our outposts and Alumbagh with little intermission,

The casunlties amount to one afficer slightly, three privates
slightly, and two severely wounded.

I take this opportunity of sending a return of casualties during
the last fortnight, including to-day's,

The steadiness of the troops and the promptitude with  which my
orders were carried out by my officers gives me every assurance that
the enemy's attack, if it had been as formidable as their forces wers
numerous, would have been as signally defeated,
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Numerical return of easualties in the Field Force under the conie
mand of Major-General Sir Jauzs Oureax; . c. B, from 2964
December up to present date,
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Fecy. to the Govl. of Indis, Mily. Depl.

From Major-Gezeral Sir Juwra Ovrnaw, o. c. B., Commanding in Oudh, o

General Massyiein, Chief of the Staff of the Army in the Eost Indics,—No,

63, dated Camp, Alumbagh, 17th Junuary 1858,

I have the honour to report, for the information of His Excelleney
the Commander-in-Chief, that the enemy made an attack on my
position yestenday, similar to that reported in letter of the 12th instant,
except that, though they did not show in such general strength, their
attack was more bold than before. In the morning they made a sudden
attack on the Jellalubad picquet, and were received with o heavy fire,
which drove them back immediately, leaving on the ground their leader,
& Hindu devotee representing, Hunnoman, who was advancing bravely
at their hend, and several killed and wounded, whom they were unable
o carry off, As they were seen remoying many bodies, their loss must
Lave been severe, Two 9-pounders, under Captain Moir, were sent
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down to support the picquet, and completed the expulsion of the
enemy from the cover in its front.

On the left front and left, the enemy advanced skirmishers, and
threatened during the greater part of the day, suffering severely whenever
they ventured within range. After dark they assembled in great
strength in front of my left advanced village outpost, commanded by
Major Gordon, 75th Regiment, and attacked it with a large body of
infuantry, who were allowed to approach within 80 yards of the post,
when they were received with discharges of grape from three guns and
a heavy fire from the rifles of the post, which inflicted very severs loss,
and drove them off immediately, Some shells from an S-inch mortar
expedited their retreat. The Enfield rifles and Captain Maude's guns
in Alumbagh bad several opportunities of inflicting severe loss on the
enemy, which were promptly taken advantage of A large body of
cavalry showed on my left rear, and were safely left to the vigilance
of Captain Olpherts, who watched and kept them in check with Lis four
horse battery guns, supported by a detachment of the military train
uuder Captain Clarke,

The casualéies of my force during the day amounted to—

1 Bombardier, killed.
7 European infantry, wounded.
1 Guuner, wounded by a fall from his gun.

The judgment and coolness with which Major Gordon defended
his post deserve much praise ; he was ably supported by Lieutenaut
Clarke, commanding the battery.

Much eredit is also due to Lieutenant Wynne, of Her Majesty's
80th, who commanded the Jellulabad piequet.

Also to Lieutenant-Colonel Smith, commanding the post, and
Captain Maude, commanding the Artillery at Alambagh,

To Captain Rattray, commanding the Infantry, Lieutenant Gully,
eommanding the Battery of No. I advanced outpost on the left, and
to the officers and men of their posts for their vigilance and alertness
in checking and punishing the enemy at every opportunity.,

GENERAL ORDERS by the How'ble the President of the Council
of India in Council, dated Fort William, 15th Felruary 1858,

No. 264 of 1858.—The Hon'ble the President of the Couneil

of India m Council is pleased to direct the publication of the following
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despateh from Major-General Sir James Outram, 6.0.B., Commanding,
No, 62, dated 16th January 1858, transmitting reports relative to the
occupation and defence of the post of Alumbagh, under Brevet-Licute-
nant-Colonel McIntyre, 78th Highlanders, and of the operations of the
artillery of his force, commanded by Major V. Eyre, Bengal Artillery,
2. His Honour in Council tenders his warm acknowledgments
to the seveml officers named in these reports, as well as to the
officers and men engaged, for the good services rendered by them,
E——

From Major.General Sir Tives Oureay, c.o.m., Commanding in Oudh, to Mijor
H. W. Nosuaxw, Deputy Adjutant-General of the Army—DNo, 62, dated
Camp, Alumbagh, 16tk January 1853,

In consequence of my having received no report from the Officer

- Commanding at Alumbagh, the services of the garrison and of particu-

Inr officers have not been brought to the notice of His Excellency tha
Commander-in-Chief,

I therefore beg leave to submit, for the information of Hizs Excel-
lency, a report recently recsived from Major McIntyre, Her Majesty's
78th Regiment, of the occupation and defence of Alumbagh, from
the 25th September, when he was placed in command of that post
by the late Major-Generanl Sir Henry Havelock, k.0, until the arrival
of His Excellency the Commander-in-Chief's faree,

During the earlier portion of Msjor McIntyre's oecupation of Alum-
bagh, whilst cut off from communication with Cawnpore, uncertain
of the fate of the rest of the force from the moment when he losg
sight of it in the suburbs of Lucknow, and surrounded by a numerous
enemy, his command was one of grave and anxious responsibility, and
the firm and able manner in which he used his small respurces to
repulse the attacks of the enemy, to strengthen his defences, and over-
come the difficulties of his situation, and the cheerful conduct of the
troops under laborious duties, merit my cordial acknowledgments, and
will, I feel sure, meet with His Excellency’s approbation.

I beg to second most strongly the recommendation which Major
MeIntyre makes in favour of his second-in-command, Major Sibley,
who commanded at Alumbagh, during three weeks, whilst Major
MeIntyre was on the sick list, also of the several officers of the staff
O commanding detachments favourably mentioned by Major McIntyre.

I also beg permission to submit Bri ter Eyre's report of the
artillery operstions of the Oudh Field Force, from the 21st September
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to the 24th November, which I have recently received. I beg now
to recommend the several officers mentioned by Brigadier Eyre, whose
names have not nlrendy been submitted for the fuvourable notice of
Government, for their service under their distinguished commander,
particularly Lieutenant A. Fmser, Brigule-Major of Artillery, whose
name, I regret to find, was omitted; but whose gallantry and very
zealous services deserved favourable notice.

Captain Evans, of the Bombay Native Infintry, doing duty with
the artillery, was of much service in the artillery park, at the evacu-
ation of the Residency of Lucknow.

Lieutenant T. H. Harward, of the Artillery, performed good service

ns Commissary of Ordnance at Cawnpore md during the march to
Alumbagh.
Lieutenant J, Anderson, of the Engincers Commanding Engineers
f the Lucknow QGarrison, though confined to his couch by illness, never
ponsed to oxert himself to supply the Emnginesr Department with
materials, and Lieutenant J, M. Innes gave very valuable aid in the
mining operations until he was nl=o disabled by 1ll-health snd fatigue.

The services of Captain Mayecock, Depaty Assistant Quarter-
master-General, were highly appreciated by thelate Sir Heury Havelock,
and his personal attendance on myself during the march to Alumbagh
in the actions of the 21st and 23rd September, deserved my thanks
and commendation.

Major and Brevet Liewlenand. Colonel MoTwrrms, 78I Iighlanderd, fo Colonel
B. Nurien, Chief of the Staff with the Foree vnde Aljor-Gencral Sir Janna
OrraaM, 6.0.0.,—dated Camp, near Alum Bagh, jrcd January 1558,

Having been directed to report upon the dreomstances attending
the occupation and defence of the Alumbagh, Ihave the honour to
gtate, for the information of the Major-Geveral Commanding, that on
the advance of the force on Lucknow, on the 25th of September lnst,
under the late Major-General Sir Hewry Havelock, x.cp, I was
dppointed by that officer to the command of the place, with detach-
ments of regiments, consisting of about 230 Eumpeans, some Sikhs,
and four guns In it were placed the sick of the force, amounting to
128 men, of whom 64 were wounded, the baggage, commisariat,
trensure chest, reserve ordnance park, and a large quantity of small-
arm ammunition.
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The Native followers, Government and otherwise, conld not have
amonnted to fewer than betwoen four and five thousand persons, with
an enormous number of eattle of varions descriptions. The supply of food
for the Native followers did not exceed the consumption of a few days,
and we had little or nothing for the cattle but what eould be procured by
foraging parties. Fortunately, some crops of rice and other grain,
nearly ripe, were on the ground sufficiently near to enable us to gather
them under the protection of our Euns, As these became consumed,
the sufferings of the Native followers from want beeame, T regret to
say, very great. Anything that could be thought of was dnn_e to
alleviate them. Driven by starvation to seek for food too far in advanee
of our foraging parties, numbers were cut up by the enemy, who
surrounded us, The efforts made to relieve their wants from Cawne
pore were for a considerable time unsuccessful, as even quill commu=
nications by cossids failed to reach their destination ; however, on the
7th of October, a convoy of provisions, escoried by a party of
250 men and two guns, and commanded by Major Bingham,
Her Mujesty’s 64th Regiment, reached us from Cawnpore, and on the
25th- of the same month a large convoy, intended for Lucknow,
escorted by 500 men and four guns, under the command of Major
Barnston, Her Majesty’s 90th Regiment, reached the Alambagh,
Those enabled me to relieve, to a certain extent, the wants of the Native
followers. One hundred and fifty men of Major Bingham's party were
ordared to remain to reinforce the garrison and one hundred to return to
Cawnpore by a forced night march to escort return eattle,

appeared in very great nimbers, and had become more daring thag
usual, I took upon myself the responsibility of detaining them, which
turned out fortunately, for in a day or two I received an order to do so
permanently. This gave me a force of 900 Europeans and ten guns,
which enabled me to increase my foraging parties, and then range,

To take steps for the immediate defence of my post was my first
eare, and I made nse of every available means to accomplish it. Suh-
sequently, more permanent works were ably constructed by Lieutenant
Judge, of the Engineers, assisted by Mr. Tait, Civil Engineer, attached
to that department. These were partially completed, ouly the bastions
however at the angles and a banquette beside were so, and the mango
topes cut down in all directions round the past,
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The enemy constructed batteries, at different pariods, at five differ-
ent points around us, and their fire was at times exceedingly annoying
and destructive to the Native followers and cattle from their necessarily
crowded stato; but I am happy to say that during the period of our
holding the position—forty-nine days—one European soldier ouly was
killed and two wounded.

Jellalabad—oceupied in force by the enemy with eavalry, infantry
and four guns—formed a sixth and dangerous neighbour; but on two
occasions ouly did they bring out their guns and open fire, and they
were then soon silenced.

A two-gun battery at the Yellow House, (knocked down)*® about the
enemy’s ears and silenced by our artillery fire, under the able direction of
Oaptain Moir, of the Bengal Artillery, was repaired during the night;
but on a repetition of our fire was again silenced, and eventually they
withdrew their guns from it.

The duty waa at first very severe on both officors and men; but
was performed most cheerfully by both, Much praise isdus to the artil-
lery and men attached, on whom it was even more severe than on the
others,

From about the 3rd to the 22nd of October in consequence of
my illness, the command of the post devolved on Major Sibley, of Her
Majesty’s G4th Regiment, in charge of the treasure chest, the next
senior officer, from whom I on all occasions received every assistanca,

I trust the Major-General will not think it presumptuous on my
part to bring to his notice the names of those officers (in addition to
those already mentioned) who were most conspicucus in the perform-
ance of their duties, and deserve much eredit., They ﬂe——-ﬂnphﬁi
Maycock, Deputy Assistant Quartermaster-General; Lientenant Gordon,
Bengal Artillery, who commanded the detachments of artillery until the
arrival of Captain Moir; Lisutenant Sandwith, Her Majesty's B4th
Regiment, Acting Field Engineer (Lieutenunt Sandwith was subse-
quently killed in Lucknow); Licutenant Haldane, Her Majesty's 64th
Regiment, Acting Field Engineer; Lieutenant Morland, Acting Staff
Officer (1st Bengal Fusiliers )

The unwearied attention of Surgeon Innes, of Her Majesty's 84th
Regiment, and Surgeon Dominchette, of Her Mnjesty's 75th Regi-
ment, to the sick and wounded, and their exertions on entering the
Alumbagh with 64 wounded men, deserve the greatest praise.

e
* Copy illegitile,
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May I'be permitted to add that I on every occasion received
the greatest assistance from Captain Moir, of the Artillery, who was
ever at his post,

—

From Major V. Exaz, Commanding Artillery Brigade, to Colonel R, Navige,
Chief of the Staff with the force unider Mujer-Generai Sir Jauss Ovream,
0.8, —dated Camp, Alumbagh, near Luelnow, 84 Januwary 1558,

The publication of Major-General Sir James Outram’s despatches
having brought to light the accidental omission of any detailed report
from the artillery brigade under my orders, I gladly avail myself
of his kind permission to §l] up the blank, which I do the more readily
since it affords me a fitting opportunity of placing on record publicly
my own professional testimony of the signal services rendered by those
whom it was my good fortune to command during the recent operations
at Lucknow.

2. On the lamented death of Brigadier Cooper on the 26th
September I succesded to the command of the brignde, and during
my subsequent severe illness my place was temporarily filled by Cap-
tain Olpherts.

8. Owing partly to these changes, and partly to the constant
oecupation which the daily exigencies of the servies demanded from
officers aud men in the artillery, written reports were not expected, and
hence it may have herstofors escaped mention that, for two special acts
of gullantry on the 25th September, both Captain Maude, R.A, and
Captain Olpherts, B.A.* commanding fisld batteries, wera rewarded
by the late Major-General Sir Henry Havelock, .o, , with the much
eoveted distinction of the Victoria Cross,

4. I hope I shall be pardoned for this passing allusion to a fuek
8o gratifying to the pride of the combined artillery arms of England
and Indis, which, in this campaign, have for the first time encountersd
the enemies of their common country side by side in friendly emulation,

5. Never, I firmly believe, were fiald batteries exposed to a
soverer trial than that which attended the penetration of Luckriow on
that memorable day! On Captain Maude, who was in advanee, devolved
the difficult task of silencing the enemy’s guns which defended the
bridge leading to the city. This he accomplished under a murderous
eross-fire of grape and musketry, with a loss of one-third of his men;
and it was for his nerve and coolness on this gecasion (but for which

.ihe army eould not have advanced), that Major-General Sir James

* Bengal Artillery,
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Outram, who was an eye-witness of his conduct, recommended him for
the high distinction above recorded.

6. Captain Olpherts was almost simultaneously earning similar
laurels by the conspicuous gallantry with which he assisted Her
Majesty’s 90th Light Infantry, led by the lamented Colonel Campbell,
in the capture of two guns on our right, under a heavy fire of grape;
eirrying them off in triumph, attached to his spare limbers, through a
most galling cross-fire of musketry from the loopholes of neighbouring
houses and walled gardens.

7. To narmte our whole proceedings on that day would involve
too lengthy details, suffice it therefore to say that after erossing the
bridge we met no seriows obstacle until coming under the fire of
grape and musketry from the King's Palace and the ndjacent buildings
on cur left, and of round shot and shell from the guns across the river
on our right.

8. As our force pushed on towards where the beleaguered garrison
of Lucknow were anxiously expecting deliverance, each battery in turn
unlimbered on the road to silence, if possible, the enemy’s guns, and
thus protect the advance of the main column. While thus engaged, the
gunnars stood firm and undaunted like so many targets for the enemy’s
concealed sharpshooters and grape shot, which latter ploughed up the
ground on all sides, committing fearful havoe, as our list of casualties
sufficiently testifies,

9. It was late nt night ere the entire main body got out of fire;
but two heavy guns, under Lieutenant J. M. Fraser, together with some
thirty ammunition and store carts, having remained at the Motes
Munzil, with a party of Her Majesty’s 90th, under Colonel Campbell,
to protect the rear-guard and woundad, were unable to accomplish a
Junction with the main body until the morning of the 27th. The posi-
tion of the 24-pounder gun was one of great peril, from which it was
with difficulty extrieated, chiefly through the able and energetic mea-
sures of Captain Olpherts, who had been sent back to render assistance,
as very fully described and acknowledged by Colonel Napier in that
officer’s report, already publifhed. .

10. It was here that those brave and lamented officers, Brigadier
Cooper, BA, and Captain Crump, M.A, his Brigade-Major, fell
victims to their noble zeal. Here also it was that Private Duffy, of
the 1st Madras Fusiliers, a volunteer with the artillery, earned tha
Victoria Cross by bis cool intrepidity and daring skill in assisting to
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extricate one of the guns from its desperate position. Colonel Napier
also speaks in high terms of Lieutenant Fraser's exertions on this
vecasion. '

11.  On succeeding to the command of the brigade, I appointed
Lientenant Fraser my Brigade-Major, and found him most efficient,
in fact T cannot speak too warmly of his soldierly zeal and devotion
which, thenceforward down to the present time, I have had constant
opportunities of witnessing, and I regard him as a young officer of the
highest promise,

12, Being myself prostrated by fever for several weeks aftor our
relief of the Lucknow Garrison, the temporary command of the ar-
tillery was most effectively exercised by Captain Olpherts, whase well-
tried abilities always prove equal to every emergency, During the
interval of seven weeks that elapsed until the happy arrival of His
Excellency the Commander-in-Chief’s force, the artillery was chiefly
occupied in defensive warfare agadnst foes whose numerical strength
and advantages of position enabled them to surround and worry us at
every point.

13. Owing to the paucity of our numbers from casualties and
the great extent of our position, this involved a very great amount of
labour for the artillery, who were on eontinuous duty at their guns with-
ont any relief, besides working hard in the construction of fresh batteries
whenever required. Under all their fatigues, privations, and dangers
the best spirit prevailed from first to last among the men, who eonsi-
dered no sacrifices too great for the accomplishment of the noble end in
view, viz, the deliverance of their countrywomen and wounded com-
rades from the worst of fates,

14. It is satisfactory too to be able to state that the Native
establishments attached to field batteries, consisting of gun-lascars,
horse and bullock-drivers, syces and grasscutters, behaved most
loyally, though suffering as ssverely as any of the troops in killed and
wounded, yet none deserted! Sirdar Driver Gungoo, and Naik Darsun,
of the syce drivers (killed by a round shot), both of No. 12 Light
Field Battery, were particularly noted for their loyal devotion.

15. On the 16th November the near approach of the Commander-
in-Chief's force was the signal for renewed offensive operstions on our
side. These have been already alluded to in the late Sir Henry Have-
lm:l'n_ despateh of that date. Our ohject was to drive the enemy from
certain strong positions which Le oceupied between us and the advane-
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ing columns, and in this we entirely succecded, thereby greatly facilitat-
ing the jusction of the two forces, and saving the valuable lives of our
soldiers.

16. The batteries, which had been for some time previously
constructed for this purpose, were concealed behind a lofty wall
forming the boundary of our position in that quarter. On them were
mounted four 18-pounder iron guns, one S-inch iron howitzer, four
9-pounder field guns, and two 24-pounder field howitzers undor the
gkilful direction of Captain Olpherts, Licutenants Fraser and Smitheth
(the latter twice woundod and distinguished on several occasions), and
Staff-Sargeant Melville, of the 1st Company, 5th Battalion. In posmtion
behind were six 8-inch mortars under Captain Maude, R, A, most ably
assisted by Lisutenants Maitland, R. A, and Simpson and Ward, of
the Bengal Native Infantry, the two latter being volunteors well
instructed in artillery science.

17. At the appointed time large openings were effected by the
united force of mines and breaches in the sereen wall in our front, and
the batterics opened an excessively hot fire for three hours on the
buildings beyoud, which were occupied in considerable force by the
enemy. Sufficient impression having been thus mnde, and mines
baving been exploded by the engineers in several contiguous quarters,
storming parties rushed out at 3 p. M, and quickly carried all before
them with trifling loss.

18. During the night the artillery pushed forward their heavy
guns to the advanced positions thus gained, when some batteries were
rapidly constructed from which to open on the King's Palace, now within
easy breaching distance. On the 17th our 8-inch howitzer shelled tha
Tara Kotee and mess-honse with great effect, setting fire to the former
and materially assisting the attack of the advancing foree on the oppaosite
side, although perhaps unknown to them, as it must have been difficult
for them to distinguish our distant fire from that of the enemy.

19. On the 15th a junction baving been effected between the two
forces on the previous night, a joint bombardment took place of the
King's Palace, in the outer wall of which several large breaches were
rapidly effected, and great havoe made in the principal buildings behind
it. This was continued at intervals, on the two following days, with
great loss of life to the enemy crowding within, as was subsoquently
ascertained, and there ean be little doubt that had it suited our plan of
operations, we might have at once walked into the place and occupied
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the palace with comparatively little loss. But the great object we had
in view having been triumphantly accomplished in the safe reseus of
the sick, wounded and women from their recent perils, any longer delay
at Lucknow was considered inexpedient until they should be safely
cotiducted beyond the reach of their merciless foes ; and on the night of
the 22nd we effacted our final evacuation of the entrenchment,

20. Measures had been previously adopted for the removal or
destruction of ull our spare ordnance, ammunition and military stores.
This entailed no ordinary amount of labour and physical endurance on
the part of those to whose lot it foll to convey so many ponderous carri-
ages by manual foree through the narrow and intricate mazes of the
Chuttur Munzil and Furhut Bux Palaces—a duty in which the artillery
were cheerfully aided by their infantry comrades, who on all occasions
have volunteered their services, both for ordinary Iabour and also for the
higher obligations of manning the guns when circumstances required,

21. Our hearty acknowledgments are also dus to our scientifie
brethren of the Engineers, for their cordial and effective co-operation, to
which we are no doubt indebted greatly for whatever success has mttend-
ed our efforts,

22. Lieutenant Thomas, Madras Artillery, Commissary of Ordnance,
I always found indefatigable in his duties, which were latterly very
severe, as on him devolved the laborious preparation for removing our
magazine, and destroying such guns and militury stores as we wers
unable to carry away. With a very small establishment he effected all
this as satisfactorily as could be expected. Lieutenant J. Alexander,
Artillery, of the Lucknow Garrison, also worked zealously with the
guus in position, and deserves ereditable mention,

23. Before concluding this report T wish to rocord the excellent
servicos rendered to the artillary by Captain Evans, of the Bombay
dufantry, who commanded with great credit severnl guns in position in
the entrenchment, nnd whose zeal and devotion wers conspienous, Also
those of Lieutenant Quselay, of the Bengul Native Infantry, who likewiss
attached himself to the guns and rendered himself extremely useful,

24. Burgeon Irvine and Assistant Surgeon J. J. Clarke are also
Pparticularly deserving of mention for praiseworthy zeal in the discharge
of their professional duties,

25. Lieutenant Delafosse, Artillery, ome of the faw survivors of
the Cawnpore massacre, was attached as a volunteer to Captain Olpherts’
Battery, and behaved with great gallantry on the 25ih September as
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ell as in the previous engagements at Mungulwar and Alambagh,
regrat to add that the privations and trinls he thus fora second time
endured ina beleagnered garrison at length broke down his enfeebled
, and obliged him to proceed with the sick to Cawnpore.

26. Awmong the non-commissioned officers whose conduct most
mmended itself to notice were Sergeant-Major Bird and Staf-Sergeant

dy, of the 2nd Company, 3rd Battalion, and Staff-Sergeant Melville,
of the 1st Company, 5th Battalion. The latter had twice distinguished
himsell before in Arrah. I beg most earnestly to recommend them to
the consideration of superior authority,
27. Sergeant-Major Lamont, of the Royal Artillery, fell gloriously
at his gun on the 25th of September, deeply lamented by the whole
artillery brigade. He was a first-rate and most gallant soldier, and
must have attained honour and distinetion had he survived
28. Lieutenant D. Gordon, who had assisted me most zealously in
working the heavy guns in the actions of Mungulwar and Alumbagh,
was left behind at the latter place in command of a portion of tha
heavy battery, as also Lieutenant G. M. Clerk * with two 9-ponnder fisld
guns of Captain Olpherts’ battery, and I understand they were able
to render material assistance in the defence of that important position.,

P. 8—The last sentence had scarcely been penned when I was
startled by the announcement that poor Lieutenant D, Gordon has bean'
just killed in the Alumbagh bya round shot. I deeply regret the
loss of this most amiable and excellent young officer.

Telegram from the Chisf of the Staff, to Brigadier-General MicGaEoom—
dated Cowenpors, 1665 February 1858,

The Commander-in-Chief has put off his movement in advance for
week, in order to give time for the movement of the Mahamjah on.
ncknow, and 50 as to have a combined operation against that city,
e hopes you will be on the banks of the Goomtee or within one march
it by the 26th instant, He will be encamped beyond Bunnee on
@ 23rd instant, or within one march of the Goomtee,

m Major-General 8ir JAues Ovruas, o.0.5., Commanding 1:¢ Division, fo
the Deputy Adjutant-General of the Army,—duted Camp, Alumbagh, 17tk
Febyruary 1558,

The events that have oceurred since my last report dated the 17th
imo have been of no great importance. The enemy have received

® Licatenant M. G. Clerk,—see Beogal Army List, February 1358,
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information of the continual passage of troops and stores along the
Cawnpore road and evince a nervous restlessness, which betrays itself in
constant assemblies of large bodies of men, both cavalry and infantry,
and demonstrations of attacks, which a fow rounds from our nearest guna
have in general put an immediate end to, Although these threatened
attacks have cost us but very fow easualties, still they are excessively
harnssing to the troops, whom I am obliged constantly to turn out and
keep under arms.

On the 15th instant a strong body of horsemen supported by in-
fantry were observed moving towards our left rear. As a convoy was
on the road, and & most violent dust-storm, favourable for them to
approach it unobserved was blowing, T ordered out two of Captain
Olpherts' horsed guns and a troop of the military train to observe
their movements ; and, ona further report of the enemy’s increas-
ing strength being made, supported them with the rest of the
battery, the remainder of the military train,a detachment of Wales',
Horse, and Her Majesty’s 90th Light Infantry,

In the meanwhile a portion of the enemy’s cavalry escorting a
person in a palankeen having advanced well into the open, Captain
Olpherts’ two guns and the troop of the military train galloped to the
frout and opened on them with grape, killing and wounding several and
dispersing the remainder. I have since been informed that it was the
Moulvie himself who headed this party, and that he was severaly
wounded. 'We lost our havildar of gun-lascars,

On the 16th instant the enemy filled their trenches with as many
men as they could hold, and assembled in vast numbers under the
topes in their rear; at the same time a body of eavalry and infantry
was detached to threaten our lefi flank. During the morning they
made repeated demonstrations of advancing to attack, but their courage
apparently as often failed them, and they almost immediately retired to
their position. About 5-30 pu they suddenly issued in clouds of
skirmishers from the trenches, advancing for some distances townrds our
batteries posted on the left and centre of our line, and opened a smart
fire of musketry on the outpost of the left front village and advanced
towards it in large bodies. They were repulsed by the picquet con-
gisting of 200 men of the 90th Light Infantry, under command
of Licutenant-Colonel Smith of that regiment, losing a good many
men, the 90th having three wounded. As soon as it was dark they
conceutrated a very heavy wusketry fire on the unorth and east faces
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of the Alumbagh which they continued for about two hours, but
fortunately did no harm ; they did not all finally retire until 8-30 p.ag,
Their loss must have been severe, as their flashes gave an excellent line
for our guns, which opened on them with shrapnel shell and grape,
Our loss during the last two days has been one killed and three
wounded,

To-day they moved about two thonsand infantry towards our right
rear, apparently with the intention of interrupting the engineer working
parties, T sent three troops, military train, two guns, and a squadron of
Wales' Horse in that direction, and the enomy withdrew towards the city.
During their absence they made a partial advanee against our right and
left picquet, but were driven back by the artillery fire,

The reports from the city state that it is their intention to hnrass
us by continually annoying us in this way, aud that attacks are every
day to be made from all quarters. This obliges me to keep all my
picquets very strong, and added to the constantly torning out and
Intterly the almost daily ealls for escorts for convoys returning to, or
coming from, Bunnee, renders the duty excessively harassing to the
troops. o Y
I beg to enclose a return of casualtics from the 17th January to
the 17th February 1858,
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Numerical veturn of casualties in the Field Force under command
of Major-General Sir JAMES OUTRAN, G. C. B, from I7th Janu-
ary 1858 up to the 17th February 1858, inclusive,

KinLen, Worsnen,
|
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gl & |§ ‘ g
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= |32 2515 EE 2
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Sl Hattalion, Military Teln.= |l e
vt Lasefoaafmelerl e sl el sraberd et = | Privade Gev TEth,
Volunieer Cavalry .. W3 an “nrllmet. i alighily
Her Majesiy's Sth Pusdlbers oo} )L b bbb, =
Inito Thth Highlandors{ . ||l | e s |Ill “Imdl!l 18th Jannary 1858,
AR 200 E | P ,._......'Prmh.ﬂnd Mrlier,
Ditto mrm PR I 15 B T S0 s 1:;“ mm
Mitto ih Light Inly. e S e e R ; 5 MH"
1sd Mandras Fusilicrs o] Tt S S RO e e LG Fn““ m‘ 5
Private Robert
witimpded, Tith l’nl.rmf:"' lll;w"'
Privata Willinm slightly
wounded, 1tk ruhil.l.l', 1538,
Privata Colvin Warthen, 1st Madra
1 | Fusiliars, 28ih Janoary 1688,
| Private Etephen Finnie, 1st Madrs
r Fusiliers, #5th Janonry 1568,
| Naik Mundhoo, killed, 15th February
1858,
G W E
Total 50 0 O Y
| (W | l
Exnmined.
(B4 . 8 DODGEON, Capt,, (Bl) J.OUTRAM, Waj-Genl,
Aust, Adjt-tienl, Comdg. tat Divw,

GENERAL ORDERS by the Right Hon'ble the Governor-General of
India in Couneil,—dated Camp, Allahabad, Ist March 1558.

No. 22 of 1858 —The Right Hon'ble the Governor-General of
Indin has much satisfaction in publishing the following report by
Major-General Sir James Outram, . . B, of the repulse of an attack
on his position at Alumbagh on the morning of the 21st February 1858,
in which the arrangements made by Sir James Outram were most judi-

cious and effectunl, and the conduct of the troops engaged was
highly creditable to them.
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From Major-General S1r Jauss Outaas, 6.0.8., Commanding lad Divivion, to
Major H. W, Noamas, Depuly Adjutant-General of the drmy,—dated
Camp, Alwmbagh, 2Lst February 1858,

I have the honour to report that this morning the enemy attacked
my position, and with the nsual resalt.

Having filled all their trenches with as many men as they would”
hold, and placed large masses of infantry in the topes all along our front
in support of them, they commenced a simultaneous movement round
both our flanks, at the same time threatening the whole length of
our position and attacking the north-east cormer of the Alumbagh,
and slso the piequet and fort of Jellalabad, against which they broughs
four guns. '

I immediately on perceiving their intention reinforced the posta
of Alumbagh and Jellalabad, which easily repulsed the attacks made
on them, and inflicted much loss on the assailants, who had advanced
under cover of long grass and underwood within grape shot range of
both these posts.

I detached about 250 cavalry and two field guns to the rear of the
fort of Jellalabad, under command of Captain Barrow, Volunteer Cavalry,
where they suddenly came on about 2,000 of the enemy’s cavalry.
Our guns immediately opened on them, killing several, which cansed
them to withdraw to the immediate vicinity of the infantry attacking
the fort in number abont 5,000; they remained there until the attack
was abandoned, when they all withdrew towards the eity.

The attack on our left flank was made by about from 8 to 10,000
infantry and 500 cavalry, to oppose whom I sent out the remaining
four field guns available, supported by the Military Trin (120 in number),
under command of Major Robertson, of the Military Train, keeping
the 2nd Infantry Brigade in reserve. The cavalry and guns soon
drove back the enemy’s cavalry, and their infantry then halted, and,
on the guns being turned on them, soon commenced to retreat also, and
were followed up by us until within range of their batteries,

A large convoy was on the road at the time, the escort required
for which materially erippled our small cavalry force, and prevented
anything mogg being effected than frustrating their attempts to gain
our rear and molest the couvoy,

The reports from the city state the enemy to have lost 60 lkilled
and 200 wounded in their attack on Alumbagh, and about 80 or 90
killed and wounded in front of Jellalabad, This was exclusive of their



loss on the left flank and along our front, where our heavy artillery had
constant opportunities of firing shell and shrapnel into the midst of their
moving masses, I consider their loss to have been hf:n.ﬂar than on
any of their previous attacks,
I have the pleasure to state that, as on all former oceasions; the
conduct of the troops engaged, both officers and men, was admirable,
Majors Tioling, 80th Light Infantry, and Nicholson, Royal
Engineers, commanded, respectively, at Alumbagh and Jellalabad, and
defended their posts with much spirit. Major Nicholson particularly
praises the energy with which Lieutenant Ford, of the Royal Artillery,
opposed the fire of the enemy’s four guns with the only gun that eould
be brought to bear on them.
Our loss amounted to nine wounded. A nominal roll is
transmitted herewith,

Return of casualties in the Field Force under the command of Muajor-
General Sir JAMEs OUTRAM, G. C. B, on the 273t February 1858,
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Auat, ddjt.-Genl, Comdy. Lal DHra,
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Forwarded, by order of the Commander-in-Chief, to the Secretary
to the Government of India, Military Department, for the information
of the Right Hon'ble the Governor-General.

Caxr, Cawsrons, } (Signed)  H.W. NORMAY, M,

The 24tk February 1558. Depy. Adjt.-Genl. of the Army.

GENERAL ORDERS by the Right Hon’ble the Governor-General of
India in Council, dated Camp, Alluhabad, Sth March 1858.

No. 31 of 1658.—The Right Hon'ble the Governor-General has
great pleasure in poblishing the accompanying despatoh from Major-
General Sir James Outram, 6.CB,, reporting the particulars of an
unusually resolute attack on his position on the 25th February 1858,
and of its gallant repulse by the troops under his command, to whom,
as well as to their distingnished leader, His Lurdship offers his than?
for good service rendered on this oceasion

From Major-General Sie Joues Ovraay, o008, Commanding 1at Dividion, o fhe
Deputy Adjutant-General of the Army,—dated Camp, Alumbagh, 26¢h Feb-
ruary 1558,

I have the honour to report the particalars of a repulse of a deter-
minad demonstration which the enemy made on our position yesterday,
the 25th instant.

The principal attack was on our right, against which twenty-four
regiments of regular infantry, six Nujeeb corps, 1,000 cavalry, and eight
guus, moved out from the trenches. Of this number about one-half,
with two guns, advanced towards our right rear, and, having occupied
the “ topes ™ immediately to the east of Jellalabad, commenced shelling
that post heavily, evidently in the hope of igniting the large quantity of
combustible stores at present collected there ; while the remainder held
in support the villages and “topes™ directly in front of the enemy’s
outworks,

Large bodies of infantry and cavalry, with three guns, simulta-
neously menncod our left, and the trenches in front of our position
were accupied in force,

Soon after 10 Am, I moved ont with detachments of artillery,
cavalry, and infantry, as per accompanying return, to intercept the
column which had opened its guns on Jellalabad, having previously
sent Barrow's Volunteers and Wales' Horse round via Nowrungabad to
eo-operate in the rear,

As we advanced, a portion of the enemy's reserve made a demonstra.
tion against our left, but were speedily driven back, and afterwards held
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in check by the four guns of Remmington's troops, supported by a squad-
ron of the 7th Hussars, under Colonel Hagart, and by Brasyer’s Sikhs,

The column then moved forward, flanked on the left by Brigadier
Campbell, with the Native eavalry, which pushed on in advance to
intercept the enemy's retreat, which, owing to their having heard the
fira of Remmington's guns, proved more sudden than we had anticipated.
The maneuvre was completely successful, and speedily converted
their retreat into a rout, Brigadier Campbell's detachment assailing
them on one side, while Barrow’s and Wales' Horse appeared on the
opposite quarter, and the military train, under Captain Robertson,
dashed into the middle of the flying enemy and captured their two
guns, The rapidity of their flight prevented the infantry from taking
a prominent part in the action. At 1P M., when we finally left the
field, the foe had vanished.

* In the meantime the hostile forces on the left of my position
retired before the very effective fire of Moir's guns, not liking the looks
of the armngements which had been prepared by Brigadier Frauklyn,
who had been left in command of the camp, for their reception,

Judging from the corpses which strewed the field where the cavalry
had charged, and from the dense masses upon which our guns repeatedly
openad, the enemy's casualties must have been heavy. Our loss con-
gisted of four men killed, five officers and twenty men wounded.

My cordial acknowledgments are due to all the officers and men
whao econducted and took part in these operations, but especially to the
military train, whose brilliant charge excited the enthusissm of all who
witnessed it.

Colonel Berkeley, my able and zealous Military Secretary, whase
knowledge of the ground was of great service to Brigadier Campball
in cutting off the enemy’s retreat, was wounded while gallantly charging
at the head of Hodson's Horse, as was Lieutenant Moorsom while ren-
dering to Barrow and Wale assistance similar to that which Colonel
Berkeloy afforded the Brigadier.

About 4 p.a. the enemy again moved out agninst ns. On this
occasion they directed their principal efforts against our left, and
evinced more spirit and determination than they had hitherto done. Re-
peatedly they advanced within grape and musket range, and as they ever
met with a warm reception from our guns and Enfields, especially from
those of the left front piequet, commanded by Major Master, of the 5th
Fusiliers, they must have suffered severely,*

* Information has since been recsived, which states the en=my’s lums throughout the day
bave bewn between 100 and 5090,
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They renewed their fire from time to time during the night; but

. solely, 1 believe, with the object of covering the parties engaged in
moving their dead. Qur loss in this subsequent operation amounted to
one man killed and fourteen wounded. In sll five men killed, and
thirty-five officers and men wounded.
The conduct of the troops throughout the entire day snd night
was excellent at every point, and merits the highest commendation.
The usoal returns of ordnance captured and of casualties are

hereby forwarded.

Retwrn showing the number of troops in the field on the 25th instant
at the attack on the right,

commanded H“r‘:f‘hvr H“unl"“ Gluns, | Remarks,
Corpa. By whom N I N
Cavalry. Hrigulier Camphall e Y e e
Heor Majosty's Tih Hussars .., | Colone] Hugard - " - -
Military Train - e | Major Bobertson - 1 - .
Voluntesr Cuvulry -« | Coptain Barrow - L5 e -
Wiales" Tlorsn s w WAlD . v 113 . —
Hodson's Horse ... i w Hodson - e . -
Omailh Irregular Cavalry o | Linntenant Graham I 2 i -
121k - . n Hay i e -
Adrtillery. Captain Olphorts - it an -
1st Troop, st Arignde, Dengal | Capisin Remmingtan . - " 8
Horse Artillery.
o, 13 Light Finld Dattery — w Olpherts - - - ]
Infuntry.
st Brignds i | Brigadisr Rossel - - - -
Her Majesty's 5th Foailisrs ... | Colonsl Guy - B85 e
Thtto Bith Regiment | Capinin Lightfoot - . 120 -
Musdras Posiliers .. v | Major Galwey .. - - 128 -
Regiment of Ferosepors « | Captain Brasyer - - 134 .
Total a Tl B4 i
Exwnminmd,
(8L} D, 5 DODGSON, Capd,, {8d) 1. OUTRAM, Maj.-Genl.,

Asst, Adjt, Gend,

Cumdy, Lot Itien,



Numerical veturn of casualties in the Field Force, under the com-
mand of Major-General Sir Jawes OutRaM, G.C.B, on the 25th
February 1858, |
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Examinod.
(8d) D5 DODGEOR, Capt., (8d) I OUTRAM, Maj-Gesl.,
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Corresponding list of casualties (Europeans), Alumbagh, 25tk
February 1858,

——

No. Rank snd names, Regimeni, Remurks,

1 | Colomel C. A. V. Berkaloy " = |Hor Majoety's a2nd Foot, Chisl| Savers,

of i Balf,

2 | Lisatenant W, B Mocrsom o = Dﬂ:.t.'rma‘:«]l:lnlz:lt_ Quarier- | Slight.,

1 w A Adjntant Hugh Gongh o= | Hodson's Horse ... o | Bevers,

4 | Lisutonant Pieroe Chute " + | Hor Majosty's Sith o | Biight,

8 | Onptain H. A. Inglofskl o | Militnry Train e | ey

0 | Quartermasier-Sergeant John Connolly .. Dittor e | Do

7 | Sergennt Edward I'. Harnes o Ditta e w | Day

] Do,  Jobn Halman ., ~ Ditto it o | Dae

0 | Private James Clask ... -1 L] Diito . = | Da,

10 Do, John Kellsy .. o oA Ditto - e | Dangerons,
n Do, Patrick Lyneh ., Thitto . we | Blight,

12 | Do GeormQuin . Titto - =L i 7N

13 Da, Jalin Bleer ant . = Ditta wig = | Do,

14 | Do, William Teppin.. o Titia i - | D,

15 Do, Robert Bmith ., s | Artillery =i o | I

1] Do, . Meminger ... - s | Her Majeaty's 8ih... s Killmd,

17 | Do J. Eaten w| Ditto ditte ., R r—
18 Do. William Duck .., - o Ditte  ditte . e | Blight,

11} To. Patrick Reilly .., = Ditte  ditto .., e | Dy
& | Do, Danlel Henry .. w| Ditts  ditto ., s | Bevers,
£ | Do R Smith . - | Ditte Eth ., - | D
2 | Drommer J, Wabb - ey Datta  ditto ., e | Elight,

23 | Private Jumes Cassidy .., ey Dtk Buth ., we | Do,
8 | To. JobnBmith .. w| Ditto  ditlo .. o' | Da.
-1 Do, Patrick Curley .., wa Ditte dilto ., e | D,
- | Da, John Young .. i Ditte  ditto ., - | Da,
27 | Lanee-Qorparnl A, MeHenry b Ditte  ditto . - Do
£ | Sergeant i Hitcham .., il - |  Hitto poth .., -} Do
=0 | Privste ). Brunsden .., e o Ditto  ditto .., - | Do
0 Do, J, Watsan e " Ditta  ditto .. - | Do,

Exnmined,
(5L} D, 8 DODGSOX, Capp., @) 7. OUTRAM, Naj.Genl,
dapt, Adjt.-Genl, Comdy. 1ef Dien,

5T
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Retwrn of ordnance, ammunition, &c., captured from the insurgents
on the 25th February 1858,

Caar ALUMBAGH,
The 27th February 1858.

No. Names and stores.
1 | Ordnance brass gun, 9-pounder, with carriage and limber,
sarvicenhle
1 | Ordnance howitzer, 24-pounder, with carriage and limber,
serviceable,
11 | Sets of harness and saddlery, incomplete, unserviceable.
2 | Cartridges, filled, priming, with Curwah cases, unserviceable,
a9 Ditto Native powder of sorts, unserviceable.
14 | Port-fires, unserviceable,
8 | Bhells, spherical, filled and fixed, 24-pounder, serviceable.
7 | Shot case fixed to wooden bottoms, gun 9-pounder, repatrable.
1 Ditto ditto ditto G-pounder, ditto.
9 Ditto ditto howitzer, 24-pounder, ditto,
(84) S. DODGSON, Capt., (84) L. F. C. THOMAS, Il Lieut.,
Aust. Adjt-Genl, Depy. Comsy. of Ordes,

By order of the Right Hon'ble the Governor-General.
(81) R. J. H. BIRCH, Col.,
Secy. to the Govt. of India, Mily. Dept.,
with the Govr.-Genl,

Despated from the Right Hon'ble the Governor-General lo the Hon'ble the Courtd of
Direelors of the East Tndia Company,—Dated Alfakabad, 30tk April 1858,

I have the honour to transmit the accompanying copy of a letter
from the Deputy Adjutant-General of the Army, No, 138-A, dated 12th
March 1858, forwarding a report from Major-General Sir James
Outram, G.C.B., noticing the behaviour of the troops under his com-
mand during the few months previous to the capture of Lucknow,

It will be observed that Sir James Outram specially commends
Colonel O. A. F. Berkeley, of Her Majesty’s 320d Regiment, his Mili-
tary Secretary.

His Excellency the Commander-in-Chief has expressed his entire
satisfnction at the manner in which Sir James Outram fulfilled the ex-
pectations which led to his being selected to maintain the position in
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Alumbagh, and recomends to favourable notice as well the Major-General
who commanded there and the officers who executed his orders.

I very cordially join in the Commander-in-Chiefs well-merited
commenddtion of Sir James Outram, and of the officers and troops
under his command.

From Major H. W. Nonwiw, Deputy Adjutant:General af the Army, fo the
Secrelary to the Government of Tadio, Military Depariment, with the
Gorernor-Gencral,—( Dated Head-Quarters, Camp befire Delbi, Lucknow,
I2th Marek I559.)

I have the honour, by direction of the Commander-in-Chief, to
forward, for the favourable consideration of the Right Hon'ble the
Governor-General, a copy of a despateh dated the 25th uliimo, from
Mujor-General Sir James Outram, 6.cB, in which he brings to
prominent notice the behaviour of the troops under his immediate
command during the last few months.

It is matter of great satisfaction to His Excellency that his
expectations with regard to the security of the position selected for Sir
James Qutram have been so amply justified. The Commander-in-Chief
was always convinced that under the able command of the Major-
General, the troops left in the vicinity of Lucknow according to the
policy of Government, were exposed to no military risk.

His Exccllency is exceedingly gratified by the report of the disei.
pline of the 1st Division, and he recommends to the favourable notica
of his Lordship the Major-General who commanded and the officers
who executed his orders.

From Major-General Sir Jawws Ovrain, o.c. 1., Commanding st Division, fo
Aajor H. W. Nonwaw, Deputy Adjutant-General of the Army,—dated
Camp, Alumbagh, 25tk Felruary 1858,

My separate despatches have from time to time apprised His
Excellency the Commander-in-Chief of the several affairs we have had
with the ensmy and of my sense of the services which have boen render
ed on these occasions by thg officers and men under my command,

2. ButIam desirous of expressing to His Excellency in a more
connected furm the very deep obligations under which they have placed
mo throughout the whole period we have been associated together—
obligations which I am certain His Excellency and the Government
of India will feel to be their's also. And I trust it will not be deemed

13797
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presumptuous, or superfluous, if, on the eve of more active operations,
which may probably involve a severance of the ties that unite ns, I
venture to submit to His Excellency’s fvourable notiee, the admirable
eonduct of a force which, though it has been strictly enjoined by His
Excellency, to limit itself to defensive operations, and though its
casualties bave been few, has held an important position ; and by its
steadiness and bravery rendered what I venture to hope will be regarded
08 o very valuable service to the State.

3. Circumstances demanded that on the relief of Lucknow
His Excellency should withdraw his army to other districts; certainly
for months, possibly for the better part of a year. But it was deemed
of paramount importance that a military footing should be retained
in Oudh during His Excellency's absonce, however protracted that
might prove. And to the division which it has been my honour and
good fortune to command was allotted the task of maintaining for an
indafinite period the honour of the British arms, and of representing
the authority of the British Governmeut in this provinee. ,

4, It was considered advisable, bath on political and strategic
grounds, that we should remain in close proximity to the capital. The
position assigned us was within a mile-and-a-half of the suburbs of
Lucknow. Our advanced posts were within gunshot range of the
outworks of a vast city swarming with hosts of mutinous sepoys ; with
Nujeebs—the undisciplived but well-armed soldiers of the rebel Govern-
ment ; with many thousand city “ budmashes " the armed and turbulent
soum of a population of 700,000 souls ; and with numerous bands of
those feudal retainers of the chieftains and great zemindars of Oudh,
whose normal state for the last fifty years has been one of warfare,

The enemy thus mnged against us, and certain to receive large
accessions from the sepoys dispersed in other parts by the victorious
forces of His Excellency, had the resources of the entire provines at
their disposal ; while our supplies had to be derived periodically from
Cawnpore, a distanee of forty-five miles, They were known to be wall
furnished in artillery and to be strong in cavalry, an arm in which we
were ourselves lamentably deficient. And they were animated by
every motive of hostility and vengeance that could be supplied to
men conscious of having irretrievably committed themselves, by the
inflammatory exhortations of Hindu and Mahomedan fanaties of reputed
sauctity, and by the scornful taunts to which they were subjected by
the spirited mother of the boy king.
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6. Such was the position assigned to the 1st Division on the 9Tth

i November last. And to enablo it to

- perform the duties that must devolve

Sorti, E E | onit, His Excellency increased ita

- strength to 4442 men of all arms,

5 g s | 1a| Europeans and Natives. Bu.t His

i Excellency is aware that of this no-

Milltary Train ~| m| .| minal force a detachment 540 strong

g el i P -1 S| (subsequently reinforced by 100

Ditle .. 1| =

i, Europeans] was ordered to be kept at

e o .| ma| .| Buonee (twelve miles off), where,

ot Yoot = ; nE = | though of service in keeping open

208 Light Tntuatey ~| @i | = | our rear and in preserving the bridge
st rua Fusilion .. we | L <

Femavpore Regiment | &) 3} over which the army had to return

adias Native Infantry . _ " %] when advancing to the reduction of

Toml 3 20| Lucknow, they were obviously of

S T Ruspess 0. akive | | (4,90 little use to this division in the

special duty assigned to it of holding the plain of Alumbagh,
7. Our original foree was therefore in reality considerably less

than 4,000 of all ranks. Of these the forts of Alumbagh and Jellala-
bad absorbed about 600 men; brignde and camp duties 450 more, And
thus, after deducting sick and wounded, there remained of all arms
and ranks (European and Native) little more than 2,000 available for
action during the absence of the convoys (avernging 450 men), which
we had fortnightly to send to Cawnpore. These were on the road for
about two-thirds of each month; and of their departure and return
the enemy were of coruse as well informed as ourselves.

8. The military topography of the locality and our grazing
Memorendum. exigencies rendered it impossible to
SR ok e frol plagaet ta pareet 1,00 the cireumfarence o Giek camp

enclosing the position delended Lat
Divisiom,

Yards,
dellalabad ta Alumbagh ees A ADD
Alumbagh to left front village... 2,600
_!.ﬁt't;lmt village to left rear vil-

. - w5000

Laft renr villags to rear plequet 2,400
Riar picqust (o Jellalabad ... 5500
Total « 15,800

Or a total of ten miles and twelvp
hundred yards.
W. E. MOORSOM, Limi,

Depy. (rmre -Genl,

(and its gutworks) to less than tem
miles and twalve hundred yards, And
on our small foree there devolved
the duty, not only of defending this
large and incompact position againsg
a foe who could have brought lasge.
bodies of troops to bear against us
simultaneously at several distant

poiuts, but of supplying foraging

parties, and of being prepared to move out beyond our limits tg meet



the enemy, wherever by his attempts to cut off our communications, to
menace Bunnee or Cawnpore, or by other hostile demonstrations, he
might render such an operation necessary,

8. Between the 2Tth November and the 12th February, His
Excellency had, at great inconvenience to himself, sent us reinforce-
ments, European and Native, to the extent of 1,216 men, together with
several pieces of ordnance ; and on the 12th and 13th February he
furnished us with a body of Sappers and Miners amounting to abous
1,200 men. Of these 700, although armed, were undrilled. Yet they
were most acceptable; and may be considered an equivalent for the
75th Regiment, of which we were deprived on the following day, On
the 22ud our strength was further increased by the 1st Bengal Fusiliers,
numbering 587 of all ranks. And on the 24th we were additionally
reinforced by two squadrons of Dragoons, a troop of Horse Artillery,
and Hodson's Horse.

10. But in bringing the claims of this division to His Excelleney's
consideration, I think it but fair to remind him that when on the
22u0d December we moved out to surprise a strong force of the enemy
threatening to cut off our communications, our reinforcements amounted
to only 340 details and reeruits; that when on the 12th of January,
we repulsed 30,000 of the enemy, our reinforcements aggrogated less
than 600; and that the Sikh cavalry, with the accompanying European
details which reached us with the return convoy on the 16th January,
ouly arrived in time to see us again inflict on the foe a still heavier
repulse.

11. And although the successes which the division has achieved
whenaver it has come into contact with the enemy were purchased at
the very trifling loss of a few casualties on our side on each occasion,
the troops are, I consider, not the less deserving of eredit for the un-
flinching front with which they have withstood and held in check an
enemy numbering such odds *

* Memorandum,
Btrength of the enemy on the 26th of January 1858, a3 ascertained by Captain
Alesander Orr, of the Intelligence Department,

37 Regiments of sepoys, including Oudh forge " e 27,550

14 Regiments of new levies |, . - we 5,400

106 do, Nujeabs o e 53,150
28 o, reguler and irregular cavalry - v 1100

Camel corpa e -- s i 300

Total 7. 95500
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12. That their gallant demeancur was the canse of our remaining
comparatively unmolested I have no doubt, for though we have only
had five engagements of sufficient importance to be reported to His
Excelloncy, the enemy has frequently, and of late with increasing fre-
quency, appeared in force with the evident intention of simultaneously
assaulting us at different points; but, on finding us prepared to receive
him, he has deemed it prudent to relinquish his designs, and remained
satisfied with replying from a distance to the acourate fire of our artil
lery, from which it could easily be seen he sustained considernble loss.

13. These manifestations have not only become more numerous,
but have been characterised by a greater boldness within the last fort-
night, a fact susceptible of ensy explanation. The vast and daily ang-
menting sccumulation of stores of all kinds lately forwarded to this, in
view of the impending operations, have greatly excited the alarm of
the enemy. And it has become obvious to him that by the dispersion
of this division, and the destruction of our materials, he can alone hopa
to avert, or oven delay, the terrible retribution that awaits him at the
hands of the Commander-in-Chief,

14. It is almost superfluous to say that where men have behaved
so well in the field as the troops of the 1st Division, they must have
been in a high state of discipline, Such has indeed been the case, and
their admirable conduct must be held all the more praiseworthy when we
consider the extreme exposure and discomfort the whole of them have
had to endure from the loss of their warm clothing and our deficiency
of tentage; and that most of them had already sustained much
privation during the seven weeks they were besieged in Lucknow,

15. This gmtifying state of matters, as His Excellency will
readily imagine, has been in no small degree due to the kindness,
caro, and attention which the officers, of all arms and ranks, have
bestowed on their men, and to the earnest anxiety with which they

Artillery.

Guns of all sorts and aalibre, not including  wall pisces, and (he guns brought from
Futtebpore 131 {number of artillerymen not known).

The above is exclusive of the armed followers aof the talakdars snd zemindars wtill at
Lucknow on the 26th of January, smounting at the lowest calculations to 20,000 men, cxclusive
of the armed budmashes of the city, and sxclusive also of four or five regiments that fled go
Lucknaw from Futtehpore, with thres ta five guns, amaunting to certainly not lysa thea 3,000,

The total aggrogate of bostils forces af Lucknow on the 2Zth Junuary not less than
120,000 of all arms, Since that date several of the ssmindars’ troops have left Lucknow,
but their places have beea much more than supplied by the regiments ordered in from the

districta,
{S) A ORR, Cape,
Intelligence Dept,



have endeavoured at all times to promote their comfort and provide
for their amusement.

16. From first to last all alike, officers and men, have aequitted
themselves most admirably, and I cannot, therefore, refrain from this
recapitulation of the services of my comrades ; and that before the
commencement of the approaching operations lest it may be out
of my power to testify hercafter to their devolion, discipline, and
bravery.

17. I am certain that neither His Excellency nor their country
will forget the heroic troops whom it has been my proud privilege
to command ; and to His Excellency's kind consideration I now com-
mend them. In doing so I must crave permission to depart from
the usual formality of making special recommendations, for T feel
that to do so would iovolve injustice to all those officers whose
pames might be omitted. As a mattser of course,I am under the
very deepest cbligations to the commandants of brigades, regiments,
dotachments and outposts, and to the members of the divisional
brignde and personal staff’ for the zealous, earnest, and moat waluable
aid they have rendered me on all occasions, But I feel that my obliga-
tions are equally great to every officer in the force ; for every officer
has exerted himself as if the safety and reputation of the foree
depended exclusively on his individual exertions.

18, There is, however, one officer in whose favour I am bound to
depart from the rule of silence which I have prescribed for myself, 1
refer to Colonel Berkeley, of Her Majesty's 32nd Regiment, who has since
the 25th November been continuously on my staff either in the capacity
of Military Secretary and head of the Adjutant-General's Department,
or in that of Acting Deputy Quartermaster-General, and whose invalu-
able services I have not hitherto had an opportunity of ndequately
bringing to His Excellency's notice, Colonel Berkeley has discharged
“with signal ability and zeal the duties of both the offices in which he has
acted.

Both in the camp and in the field he has rendersd me the most
hearty aid and co-operation, and in action with the encmy his personal
gallsutry has been most conspicuons. He possesses, to an extent I have
rarely seen equalled, the power of securing the confidence, acquiring the
respect, and winning the personal regards of those with whom he is
thrown into contact; and to the combined firmness and tact with which
Colonel Berkeley has discharged his duties do I atiribute in no small

degree the satisfactory state of matters to which I have had the honour
of soliciting His Excellency's attention,




CHAPTER IX.
SIR COLIN CAMPEELL'S CAPTURE OF LUCENOW,

Telegram from the Commander-in-Chief, fo the Governor-General of India,—daled

- Camp Dilkooshka, 3rd Mareh 1858,

In answer to your Lordship's telegraphic communication, I beg to
assure you that my desire was to forward the recommendations of the
Generals who commanded and to give them my heartiest support. I
have made two or three very trifling alterations, without interfering,
except in the instances alluded to, with the expressed wishes of the
officers commanding at Delhi and at Lucknow : I trust that this will
be sufficient. I arrived here yesterday, and took up my ground in
rear of the Dilkoosha, after a skirmish with the advance guard, in
which a gun was taken from the enemy, The enemy has made a vary
complete line of works in my front, and keeps up a heavy cannonade,
The siege-train closes up to-morrow, half of it having arrived to-day,
General Franks is one march in the rear and will close on me to-morrow,
I am in communication with him. :

Telegram from the Judge of Cuwnpore, to Mz, Moie,—dafed Cawnpore, 3rd Mirek
1858,

Mr. Martin, from Colonel Maxwell's camp at Jelalpore, on the
Calpee road, reports yesterday that firing was heard across the Jumna,
and that the Ghats are strictly guarded by the rebels. Some reinforos-
ments, called Wilaitees, have Joined the Calpee force, but are not in
favour with the sepoys. The body of rebels in Ghatumpore have mada

no advance. All clear on left bank of Canges. Fighting suspended at
Alumbagh. _

58
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Telegram from the Judge of Cawnpore, to M. Muie,—daled Cawapore, dih Alurch
1854,

The rebels have evacuated Ghatumpore and re-crossed the Jumna.

No fresh news from that quarter. A body of rebels, considerable in

number, but not known to have guns, arrived this morning on the left

bank of the Ganges, opposite Radhan, five miles above Sheorajpore,
supposed to have come from the west.

Telegram from the Judge of Cawnpore, to Me. Murs,—dated Cawnpore, Stk Mareh
1558,

Report from Maxwell's movable column in this district that Chir-
karee Rajah has been taken prisoner by the rebels after a hard fight
requires confirmation, The rebels, now known to have been Nurput
Sing's party who threatened Radhan, bave retired inland.

Telegram from the Judge of Caenpore, fo Mz, Mo, —dated Cawnpore, 61k March
1858,

Ghats on the Ganges still elear ; but a collection of budmashes
reported at Boocafort, near Miadhoogurgees, headed by rebel chiefs, Rajn
of Futwa and others; Nana in close commuunication with this
party. Nothing new from the Jumna side. Maxwell at Jelalpore on

Calpee Road.

Telegram fram the Judge of Cawnpore, to Me Muie,—dafed Cawnpore, 7tk March
1838,

The gathering on the left bank of the Ganges is assuming a more
serious aspect ; it is eurrently reported that the Nana himself hns about
8,000 men with him, and will attempt to cross at Sen Ghat to Mydeem-
pore, or thereabouts. No further authentic news from Calpee.

Telegram from the Judge of Cowmpore, to Mu. Mvre,—dated Cawnpore, 7th Mareh
1558,

The Futtehghur authorities reported that Kampil,on their side of the
Ganges, has been attacked yesterday by rebels from Budaon—some 300
sowars and some Infantry. The rebels have re-crossed with considerable
plunder. Nana and his party have gone via Menka Misril towards
the Gogra, They were yesterday near the Ganges, as reported.



TELEGRAM FROM THE COMMANDER-IS-CHIEF 459

From Brigadier-Geneval F. H, Faavxs, o.n., Commanding deh Divivion, fo the
Deputy Adjutant-General of the drmy,—dated Head-Quarters, Camp
Dilkooska, TtA March 15858, 250 v, m.

I have the honour to report that at 9 A this day an attack on our
posts on the extreme left baving been reported by a party of Hodson's
Horse stationed there, I moved out with three battalions of CGurkhas
and two of their guns, three guns of Licutenant-Colonel Anderson’s troop
of Horse Artillery, the outlying picquet Tth Hussars, and Hodson's Horse,
when the enemy (who were only scen at a distance) after a fow rounds
from the Horse Artillery and Gurkhn guns retired into the city.

2. Those of the enemy seen were a few horse and sovernl hunp-
dred infantry. They appeared to have no guns with them,

3. The troops returned to camp at 1 P, M.; no cnsunlties took
place, the rebels having only discharged a fire of matchlocks at too
great a distance to do any harm.

Telegram from the Judge of Curenpore, to Mu. Mure, —dated Cawnpore, Stk Mirck
1858,

No news from the left bank of the Ganges, but all belioved to be
elear and favourable, On the Jumna side the gnthering at Humeerpora
continues, and preparations by rebels for defence of that place made,
The Rajah of Chirkaree is still said to be holding out notwithstand-
ing previous reports. Natives report great alarm at Calpee. Maxwell's
column with treasure crosses into Oudh to-morrow morning from this,
Alr. C. Jackson, still very unwell, awaits reply,

Telegram from the E’m.iﬂf-hnﬂliﬂ fe the Governor-General o Indig,—
dated Dilkoosha Station, Sth March 18585,

Sir James Outram's advance took place, as ordered, the day hefore
yesterday, the 6th instant, across the Goomti, and his force aftor driving
the enemy cceupied a position across the Fyzabad road, leaving the
Chukkur Walla Kotee rather more than a mile in his front, 1 regret to
gay Major Percy Smith, Her Majesty’s 2nd Dragoon Guards, lost his
life in the skirmish. Yesterday, the Tth instant, the engmy came ong
to make a desultory attack agninst Sir James's front. As usual he was
driven off with the greatest ease. PBrigadier Sir Hope Grant then,
according to instructions previously given in a private note to Sir James
Quiram from the Chief of the Stafi, made a wide sWeeping movement
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with the cavalry and horse artillery to the north-east through the
cantonments, afterwards returning to his camp. He was not opposed.
[The preparations are in forward progress for manking the attack from
both sides of the Goomti, discretionary instructions having been given
to Sir James Outram last night, which were confirmed this morning,
after I had reconnoitred the ground.

There are numerous reports, apparently much exaggerated, respeet-
ing the gathering of rebels in the neighbourhood of the road between
Bunnee and Cawopore. Colonel Maxwell, with Her Majesty's 32nd and
88th Foot, has been ordered to leave Akbarpore, cross the Ganges, and
advance on Lucknow, I trust that this will have a happy effect on the
rebels alluded to.

Telegram from the Chigf of the Staff, to the Governor-General of Indie,—duled
Dilkoosha, 9th Muarch 1858,

Sir James Outram having very ably carried out the instructions of
the Commander-in-Chief, and clfectually turned and enfiladed the
enewy’s first great line of works, the Martiniére was stormed by the
2nd Division, under CGeneml Sir E. Lugard, after it had been very
heavily canmonaded. The action was principally one of artillery; the
loss being trifling in consequence. The lower end of the line of worka
on the canal alluded to, abutting on the Goomti, has been seized by
the troops. This closes operations of this evening Sir James Outram
has been ordered to shell the Kaiser Bagh, He will commence to-
morrow morning.

Telegram from the Chief of the Staff, to the Secrctary to the Government with the
Governor-General,—dated Dilkoosha, 5tk Mareh 1558,

Sir James Outram's attack of this morning has been perfectly
successful. After taking the Chukkur Walla Kotee, he pressed on and
occupied the Badsha Bagh, opposite the Chutter Munzil Loss very
trifling,

Telegram from the Chief of the Staff, to the Secretary to the Government with the
Governor-General,—dated Dillkoorka, 9ih Mareh 1555,
Brigadier-General MacGregor, on the Sth instant, reported himself

to be three marches from Dilkoosha with the head-quarters of the
Mabarajah Jung Bahadoor,
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Telegram from the Judge of Cawnpore, to Mu. Muin,—dated Cawnpors, 9tk March
1538,

About 500 rebels and budmashes have crossed the Jumna at
Shergurh, aud assembled at Ooryah in Etawabh. It is eaid they
intend breaking up the establishment in Derapore and Russoolabad.
Maxwell's brigade has crossed the Ganges,

Telegram from Brigadier-General MicGuncon, to the Secretary fo the Government
with the Governor-General,—dated Camp uear Gunga-Gunge, 9A March
1558,

The army under Maharajah Jung Bahadoor arrived this day within
two marches of Lucknow. All the British officers quite well. Kindly
send the paragraph to the newspaper, as all diks have been stopped for
some time.

" From Lieutenant-Colonel B. D. Knrry, 34tk Regiment, Brigadier of the day, o the
Chief of the Staff, Head-Quarters, Camp Bibeapore,—dated Camp Dilkooshs,
1ith March I558.

I have the honour to report that yesterday as Acting Brigadier of
the day, I had charge of the picquets in the Mahammad Bagh, consisting
of Her Majesty’s 07th Regiment, reinforced subsequently by a wing of
Her Majesty’s 20th Regiment, Her Majesty's 35th Regiment having
been, with the exception of a Subaltern's guard, moved from the
Dilkoosha to the Martiniére. By directions from and under the superin-
tendence of Brigadier-General Franks, ¢.8., the picquets were advanced
about three-fourths of a mile in front of the Mahammad Bagh to within
a short distance of the line of caval, clearing the gardens and ruined
houses in their front of the enemy’s picquets that occupied them, The
new line then extended from near the canal bridge at Banks's house on
the right for about a mile-and-a-half to the left, and was taken up in
the direction of General Franks's camp by the Gurkhas and Irregulag
Cavalry. The left was obliged subsequently to be thrown back a little,
ns the line was found too extended for the force we had to occupy it
with. The enemy during the night and this morning kept up a cone
tinved fire from garden walls and houses, but we had cnly two men
wounded.
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From the Secretary fo the Gorernment with the Governor-General, to Mujor
Feneral Passy,—dated Alahabad, 1264 March 1558,
- T am directed to inform you that a telegram to the following effvet
has been this day despatched to yon:—
“ You are authorized to use your discretion asto crossing the
Ganges in pursuit of the enemy, or under any other circumstances
which may make it advisable to do so.”

Telegram from the Chicf of the Staff, to the Secretary to the Government with the
Forernor-General,—dated 1208 Warch 1858,

On the 11th Sir James Outmm pushed his advances as far as the
iron bridge on the left bank of the Goomti, and established his

. batteries s0 as to eufilade some of the enemy's works and to command

the stone bLridge, After very heavy cannonading, the Begum's house
was stormed in the afternoon of the 11th by a brigade consisting of
93rd Highlanders, 4th Punjab Infantry, and 1,000 Gurkhas, all of whom
behaved with great gallantry, They were supported by the rest of Sir
Edward Lugnrd’s division. Mahamjah Jung Bahadoor was to move
close to the eanal on the afternoon of the 11th and to take an nctive
part in the operations of the 12th,

Telegram from the Commander-in-Chicf, to the Governor.General of India,—dated
Camp Kaiver Bagh, 14th March 1555, 3 7. u.

A breaech having been effected with much difficulty in the
Imambarah, that building wns stormed at 9 A. M. this morning The
troops following close on the retreating enemy, entered the Kaiser Bagh
with him ; they were quickly supported, and we are now in selid
oceupation of it, Sir James Outram has been ordered to cross the iron
bridge, and to press the enemy from the opposite side of the river.

1 congratulate your Lordship very heartily on this success,

Telegram from the Commander-in-Chicf, to the Governor-General of Tndia,—dated

IHead-Quariers, Camp Lo Mortinidre, 15th Marek 1555,

' TItwas reported in the afterncon of yesterday, after the fall of
the Kniser Bagh, that the enemy were streaming out of the eity in vast
numbers in the direction of Sundeela Up to the present moment
there are still rebels in the city, but I have no reliable information.
Brigadier Campbell, who was well pliced in the left of the Alumbagh
position, started in pursuit at 2 A, M. this morning, with a very strong
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brigade of cavalry and two troops of Horse Artillery. Brigadier-
Geoeral Sir Hope Grant advanced towards Seetapore this day, with the
view of intercepting fugitives who may be turned off by Brigadier
Campbell’s movement ; he has with him 1,000 sabres, and two troopa
of Horse Artillery. He will be followed to-morrow by an Infantry
brigade and heavy artillery. He is directed to halt at Seetapore for
mstructions. This is the direct rond to Rohileund. Her Majesty's
75th regiment, a very weak corps, has been ordered to leave Cawnpore
to-morrow en roule for Meerut.

Telegram from the Commander-in-Chief, to the Governor-General of India,~dated
Lwcknow, ITIh Mureh 1558,

Yesterday the bridges were secured and the troops were advanced
and occupied the Muchee Bownn and Great Imambarsh. Large
bodies of the enemy were seen to cross the stone bridge an hour
before the attack was commenced by Sir James Outram, He was
ordered to press it. Resistance was very slight as compdired with
that of the previous days. A Gurkha division seized the enemy's
position in front of the Alumbagh last night. Vast numbers, both of
armed and unarmed men, are evacuating the city by the outlet they
possess to the northward. Our advances are to-day being gradually
pushed on all sides of the line ocenpied by the troops, particularly
towards Gow Ghat and Moosa Bagh, in which direction the enemy are
retiring. The point they intend to make for is not yet known,

Lelegram from Brigadier.General MacGuzaon, fo the Seeretary o the Government
with the Gocernor-Goneral,—dated Camp Char Buagh, Luckaow, 18tk Mereh
1838,

The Gurkha force, under Maharajah Jung Bahadoor, occupied the
Char Bagh and Cawnpore road in the city yesterday morning, In the
afternoon the enemy in great force attacked our position in the city.
Their flank was, however, turned by the direction of the Maharajah in
person, and they were completely defeated, with the loss of ten guns
and all the wagons of a light field battery. One gun was one of our
own -pounders. This morning our advance was renewed on the right, and
we captured seven more guns, several of which belonged to the battery
above mentioned. We now hold this quarter of the city, one mile-
and-a-half to the westward of the Cawnpore Road. The Gurkhas
have passed the front of Alumbagh and taken the rebel batteries
opposed to it in reverse,
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Telegram from the Commander-in-Chief, to the Governor-General of Tndia,—duated
Incknow, 18¢th March 1858,

We are in possession of the greater part of the ecity. Jung
Bahadoor has done good service in taking the line of works from which
the position of Alumbagh was so long threatened, seventeen guns
falling into his hands, In our advance on the right yesterday, we.
were not opposed. The first attempts at the restoration of authority
in the city are being made, but until all resistance is put down but
little progress can be expected. The inhabitants have fled the
ecity and are in the neighbouring villages. Everything will be done
to reassure them. I expect the Moosa Bagh, the last post held by the
enemy, to fall to-morrow morning, an attack having been organised.

Telegram from the Commander-in-Chigf, o the Governor-General of India in
Council, —dated Tuelnow, 15¢h March 1558,

The Moosa Bagh, the last post held by the enemy, was taken this
morning, the cavalry being now in pursuit to the northward, Miss
Jackson and Mrs. Orr have been saved ; and arrangements are about
being made for the withdrawal of part of the troops from the city, and
I have requested Brigadier-General MacGregor to move Jung Bahadoor’s
in the same sense. I am occupied in arranging the details of the
future garrison, which will be communicated to Your Lordship forth-
with, when the Chief Engineer has completed a calculation I have called
on him to furnish. No time will be lost in establishing the proper
military position of the troops left here, and a strict instruction will
be given to the Executive Engineer to allow no considerations whatever
to interfere with the instructions he will receive on this account. It
must be held to be paramount to every other., .Will Your Lordship
kindly communicate your instructions?

From Brigadier Camrouit fo Major Nonwaw, Depuly Adjutant-General of 1he
Army,—dated Camp Moosa Bogh, 21st March 1558,

Tat Troop, 1st Brigade, I have the honour to report, for the
Horse Artille we HiX G-pounder . . ,
g4 : “E: information of His Excellency the
!h: ?!l,lﬂh"tl I-llh." bt Co;mander-in-ﬂhief, that the force
L
T oy 0 under my m.mmand, snrteugl.h as per
ﬂ- Teain g ) margin, arrived at this place at
-y
N onie”. - o8 § %5 % yestirday.
Bth Pusiliors .. 269 Bayomsts. The infantry under Brigadier

T5th Highlanders ., ; :
i il Slisted occupy the Moosa Bagh,
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From Gueaeral Sir Corrw Cimrnerr, oo ., fo tie Right Hon'ble Viscoost
Cixxixo, Gorernor-Gencral of Indis in Council, dated Camp, La Martis
nifre, Lucknow, 39nd March 1855,

1 have the honour to annonnce to your Lordship that I transferred
my bead-quarters to the Camp of Brigadier-General Sir Edward
Lugard, x.c.n, at Buntars, on the 28ih ultimo, the division which
had been detached under Brigudior-Genernl Sir J., Hope Grant, xom,
and that under Brigndier-Genernl Walpole joining the next day,

Enving received tolerably correét mformation with respect to the

lings of works which had been constructed by the enemy for the
defence of Lucknow, it appeated evident to me that the necessity would

arise for operating from both sides of the Goomti

when the ecapture

of the city should be sariously entertained,
Two very important rensons conduced (o shiow the expediency of
such & course,—the one being that it would beeoms possible to onfilada

Deram.

Hend.quarters of the Divislon of
Artillery, and of ihe Fiald Artillory
Brigade, under Muajor-Ganernl Sir A,
Wilson, x.c.m., and Colane! [), Wowml,
€.m., Royal Horse Artillery,

LmeH:uhn:l L Aguilur's Troop,

R. H. A,
Troops Bengsl
Lizutenant-Colonel {  TrooP Arilley

Tatubs, . Sed under Licuteuant-
Licatenant Blsbsps. zt'ulml Turner,

Two Ri-pounders snd two  B-inch
howitters of the Shennon’s Kaval Brigade,
Twe Cos, Punjab Seppers and Minsrs,

The besd.guarters of the Cavalry
Divbon, and the 1sp Cavalry Briguds,
under Drigadior-General Sir 3, 1
Grunt, x.c.0., and Drigadier Little,

Hor Majesty"s Sth Lanrers,

2nid Punjab Irregular Cavalry,

Detachment Sk Punjab  Irregular

ist Sikh Trregular Cavalry,

The 2nd Thyision of Infantry, under

igndier-Generul Sir E. Lugand, K.c.m,,
Bn\'_ﬂlur‘-“_ gard

Her Majesty's 3 ith

3 Regiment.
%’.f::ﬁ;' “Helr !mj-n;'. I8¢h
= - e L
AL M. Gay. uf_-,-m:njntr- 53rd
Begiment,
4tk Brigade. ¢ ., Highlandery,
- H"Ii:*'-'" Ad 9 T
u:;a : 4th Punjub Rifles,

many of the edemy’s new workss
the other that great averwes of
supply would be closed ugainst the
town, although I could not hope to
invest & city having a circumference
of twenty miles, :

My first preparations, therefore,
were made for the purpose of erosss
ing the river. Bridges of cnsks had
been  previously constructed, and
were ready in the Engineer's Park, -

On the 2nd March, I advanced on
Dilkoosha with troops as per margin,
and  seized that position, after g
skirmish in which a gun was taken
from the enemy.,

When the brigades of infantry
began to close on the advance
guard, the enemy opened severy]
guns which were in Position ig
strong bastions along the ling of
the canal, This fire was heavy and
well sustained,

o0
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These guns commanded the plateau, and compelled me to retire
the comp as far back ns it was possible, but not so far as I could have
wished, owing to the ravines in rear,

The palace of Dilkoosha was occupied ns an advance picquet on
the right, and the Mahomed Bagh on the left,—heavy guns being
placed in battery at both points to keep down the hostile fire,

During the whole of the 2nd, until these arrangements could
be completed, the troops were much annoyed by the enemy's guns,

After that day, until an advance took place, although the shot
ranged up to and sometimes into the camp, but slight loss ensued from
this eause.

On the 8rd and 4th, the remainder of the siege-train, together
with Brigadier-General Walpole's Division, closed up on the Dilkoosha
position, the right of our line resting on Bibiapore and the Goomti,
the left being towards Alumbagh.

There was an interval of about two miles between our left and
Jellalabad, the right of the Alumbagh position. This interval was

g occupied by a regiment of Irregular

: Horse.®* Brigadier Campbell, with a

strong brigade of cavalry and horse artillery, secured the extreme
left and swept the country towards the north-west.

Three infantry regiments were withdrawn from Alumbagh, and
jvined the head-quarters camp.

On the 5th, General Franks, or the 4th Division of Infantry,
gnme into direct communication with me, This officer had marched
right across the Kingdom of Oudh, having signally defeated many
bodies of insurgents, and kept his time with punctuality according
to the orders given to him, with which your Lordship is already
atquainted.

On the same day the Goomti was bridged near Bibiapore.
Whilst the bridge wns being formed, the encmy showed on the
Joft bank, causing the neeessity of a disposition of troops and heavy
puns. He did not, however, make a real attack.

These guns were very useful in another respect, as their practice
on the Martiniére silenced much fire, which would otherwise have
anmoyed the piequets.

They were accordingly kept on the same ground for some days,
till the advance of the troops rendered them unnecessary,
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On the 6th, Sir James Outram, 6, ¢, 7., who had been withdeawn

Force senf aerous the Goomili under Sir
James Oulram,
Daran.

Lisutonant.Colonel D' Agullar's tronp,
Rayal Hurse Artillery.

Major Remmington's and Coptain
MeKinnon's troops, Dengnl Harse Artil-
bery, under Licutenant-Colonel P, Turner,

Captaine Gibbon asnd Middiston's
Light Field Batterios, lﬂ{l:l&rtillery,

hand-quarters, Fleld Artillory Brigade,

from Alumbagh, crossed to the left
bank of the Goomti with troops s
per margin, the 4th Division under
Brigadier-General Franks, c.n,, taking
the place vacated by Brigadier-Genes
ral Walpole in the line.

The plan of attack which had been

“!;mlr:,ﬂmﬂl:::.hr Division sad  eoneeived was now duv_.*ulnpad, and Sir
Her Majeaty's 20d Dragoon Guands  James Outram was directed to push
mlm'mjut,'- 5 i, his advance up the left bank of
2nd Punjab Cavalry. i. while :
ui-‘bu. -| I:-,; w5t 50 Panjed the Goomti, while the troops in the

Cavalry, under Captasins Watson and position of Dilkooshn remained at

%l Tnfaatry Disision, under Belgadier-  Yost till it should have become appas
General . llrﬁ‘k-nu Msjosty’s 23rd rent that the first line of thl_: enemy’s
Sth Drigade. \ Fasiliers. i works, or the rampart running along
mf’:h'f’:'_ m:iﬂn::i": 'm“ the canal and abutting on the
:::l““l“ n"": Nine Goomti, had been Lumt:-i
do. : ;
oh “"‘f“- l'mﬂ A The works may be briefly described
Brigadier Brigade, ns follows :—
Honforde.n. | “g) Punjub  Tufen- Tha seri g
try. e series of courts and buildings

called the Kaiser Bagh, considered as a citadel by the rebels, was shuge
in by three lines of defence towards the Goomti, of which the line of
the cannl was the cuter one,

The second line circled round the large building called the Messe
house and the Moti Mahal, and the first or interior one was tho
principal mmpart of the Kaiser Bagh, the rear of the enclosures of the
latter being closed in by the city throogh which approach would
have been dangerous to an assailant,

These lines were flanked by numerous bastions and rested at one
end on the Goomti, and at the other on the great buildings of the
street ealled the Huzrut Guoge, all of which were strongly fortifiad-
and flanked the street in every direction,

Extraordinary care had' been expended on the defences of the
houses and bastions, to enfilade the street, This duty was ably
performed by Sir James Outram, who pitched his camp on the 6th
instant, after a skirmish of his advance guard, in front of the Chukkyr
Wala Kotee, or Yellow-house,
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On the Tth he was attacked by the cnemy, who was speedily driven

* back.

Having reconnoitred the ground on the S8th instant, I directed
Sir James Outram to arrange his batteries during the i
night and to attack the enemy's position, the key of which was the
Chukkur Wala Kotee, the next day or the 9th,

This was done in very good style by the troops under his command,
the enemy being driven at all points, the Yellow-House being seized,
and the whole force advanced for some distance through ground
affording excellent cover for the enemy.

He was then able to bring his right shoulders forward, ocoupying
the Fyzabad Road, and to plant his batteries for the purpose of enfilad-
ing the works on the eanal before alluded to.

He lost no time in doing this, other batteries of heavy guns and
howitzers being constructed during the following night to play on
the works and the Kaiser Bagh,

While this attack was being made by Sir James Outram along
the left bank of the Goomti on the 9th instant, a very heavy fire
was kept up onthe Martiniére both from mortars and heavy gups
placed in position during the previous night on the Dilkoosha
platean. :

At 2 ry, the 42nd Highlanders, supported by the 98rd High-
landers, the 53rd and 90th Regiments, stormed the Martiniére undar
the direction of Brigadier-Generl Sir Edward Lugard, K.cD., and
Brigadier the Hon'ble Adrian Hope.

It was quickly seen that the enfilading fire on the line of the
canal from the opposite side of the river had produced the ex

result,

The 4th Punjab Infantry, supported by the 42nd Highlanders,
climbed up the entrenchment abutting on the Goomti, aud proceeded
to sweep down the whole line of the works till they got to the
neighbourhood of Banks' hcuse, when it became necessary to close
operations for the night.

Mujor Wyld, 4th Punjab Rifles, - distinguished himself very
much on this oceasion. The line of works was strongly scoupied by the
troops which had first entered and by the 53rd Regiment,

On the 10th instant, Sir James Outram was engaged in strength-

guing his position ; Sir Jamcs Hope Grant, K.c.B; boing employed
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in patrolling towards the cantonment with the cavalry placed under
Sir James Outram’s orders, n system of extensive patrolling or
reconnaissance having been established by my order in that direction,
from ‘the time that the first position had been taken up ncross the
Goomti.

At sunrise on the same day, a disposition of troops and heavy guns
was made by Sir Edward Lugard for the attack of Banks' house,

which was carried at poon and secured as a strong military post.
The second part of the plan of attack agninst the Kaiser Bagh
now came into operation, viz., to use the great blocks of houses and

palaces extending from Banks' house to the Kaiser Bagh as our
approach instead of sapping up towards the front of the sccond ling

of works,

By these means I was enabled to turn the new works towards
our own left, at the same time that they were enfiladed on the
wight by Sir James Outram's advance.

* The latter had already received orders to plant his guns with a
view to mking the enemy's position, to annoy the Kaiser Bagh
both with vertical and direct fire, also to attack the suburbs in the
vicinity of the iron and stone bridges shortly after daybreak, and
g0 command the iron bridge from the left bank, All this was carried
ont by Sir James Outram with the most marked success,

The enemy, however, still held tenaciously to his own end of the
iron bridge on the right bank, and there was heavy cannonading
from both sides till the bridge was afterwards taken in reverse,

Sir Edward Lugard’s attack on the 11th was pressed forward in
like manner,

The operation had vow become ome of engineering character,
and the most earnest endeavours were made to save the infantry
from being hazarded before due preparation had been made.

The Chiel Engineer, Brigndicr Napier, placed the batterjos with
a view to breaching and shelling a large block of palaces called the
Begum Kotea.

The latter was stormed with great gallantry by the 93rd High-
landers, supported by the 4th Punjab Rifles, and one thousand
Gurkhas, led by Brigndier the Hon'ble Adrian Hope, under the
direction of Brigadier-Geneml Sir Edward Lugard, at 4. p, u.

The troops secured the whole block of buildings, and inflicted a
very heavy loss on the enemy, the attack having boon one of very

'l‘j' Ay
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desperate character. This was the sternest struggle which occurrod
during the siege,

From thenceforward the Chief Engincer pushed his approach
with the greatest judgment through the enclosures by the aid of the
Sappers and of heavy guns, the troops immediately occupying the
ground as he advanced, and the mortars, being moved from one position
%o another as ground wns won on which they could be placed.

The buildings to the right and the Secunder Bagh were taken
in the early morning of the same day without opposition.

During the night of the 12th, Sir James Outram was reinforced
with a number of heavy guns and mortars, and directed to increase
his fire on the Kaiser Bagh, while at the same time mortars placed
in position at the Begum's house never ceased to play on the Emambarn,
the next large palace it was necessary to storm between the Begum
Kotee and the Kniser Bagh.

On Brigadier-General Franks, o, who had relieved Sir Edward
Lugard, aud the 2nd Division, with the 4th Division, on the 12th
instant, devolved the duty of attacking the Emambara.

A column of attack was formed for that purposs by Brigadier
D. Russell, on the morning of the 14th,

In the meantime, the Maharajuh Jung Bahadoor with a force of
about nine thousand men and with twenty-four field guns drawn by men
had arrived, and taken his position in our line on the 13th instant,
and moved close to the canal on the 13th,

At my request, His Highness was begged by Brigadier-General
MacGregor, ©.B, the Special Commissioner attached to him, to pass
the canal and attack the suburb in his front and considerably to the
loft of Banks' house. To this His Highness acceded with much willing-
ness, and his force was most advantageously employed in thus
covering my left for several days, during which, from the nature of
our operations, I was obliged to mass all the available strength of the
British force towards the right, in the joint attack carried along both
banks of thé Goomti.

The Emambara was carried early on the 14th, and the Sikhs of
the Ferozepore Regiment under Major Brasyer, pressing forward in
pursuit, entered the Kaiser Bagh, the third line at the defences haviog
been turned without a single gun being fired from them.

Supports were quickly thrown in, and all the well-known ground
of former defence and attack, the Mess-house, the Tara Kotee, the
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Mootee Mehal, and the Chuttur Munzil were rapidly ocoupied by the
troops, while the engineers devoted their attention to securing the
position towards the south and west. The day was oue of long and
continued exertion, and every one felt that although much remained
to be done before the final expulsion of the rebels, the most difficult
part of the undertaking had been overcome. :

This is not the place for description of the various buildings
successively sapped into or stormed ; suffice it to say that they formed
a range of massive palnces and walled courts of vast extent, equalled
perhaps, but certainly not surpassed in any capital in  Europe. Every
outlet had been covered by a work, and on every side were prepared
barricades and loopholed parapets,

The extraordinary industry evinced by the enemy in this respect
has been really unexampled. Henoo the absolute necessity for holding
troops in hand, till at each successive move forward the Enginecers
reported to me that all which could be effected by Artillery and the
Sappers had been done before the troops were led to the assault,

The 15th instant was employed in securing what had been taken,
removing powder, destroying mines, and fixing mortars for the further
bombardment of the positions still held by the cnemy on the line of
our advance up the Goomti and in the heart of the city.

Brigadier-Ceneral Sir J. Hope Grant, KB, was sent out with
cavalry on one side towards Sitapur to intercept fugitives, while
Brigadier Campbell marched with like orders in the direction of
Sundeela on a similar duty, They returned on the 17th to their former
positions.

On the 16th instant, Sir James Outram, with the 5th Brigade
under Brigadier Douglas, supported by two other regiments, Her
Majesty's 20th and the regiment of Ferozepore, having crossed over
the Goomti by o bridge of casks opposite the Secundor Bagh, advanced
according to order through the Chuttur Munzil to take the Residency,

During the first movements of this operation, a movement of
the encmny in retreat ncross the stone bridge became appareut,

Sir James was ordered to press forward, and he was able almost
without opposition not only to take the irom bridge in reverse which
was my principal object, but also to advance for more than a mile
and oceupy the Muchee Bawun and great Emambara, In short the city
WAS OUTS,

Brigadicr-Genoral Walpole's picquets on the left bank wore nttacks
ed by the retreating enemy, who was as usual heavily repulsed,
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On the 19th a combined moverent was organised.

Sir James Outram moved forward directly on the Moosa Bagh,
the last position of the enemy on the line of the Goomti,

Sir J. Hope Grant cannonaded the latter from the left bank,
while Brigadier Campbell moving right round the western side
from the Alumbagh prevented retreat in that direction.

The rout was now complete and great loss was inflicted on the
ehemy by all these columns,
 On the 16th, for the last time, the enemy had shown in some
strength before Alumbagh, which on that date was held by ouly two

. '_hnf.'unr regiments,

Jung Bahadoor was requested to move to his loft up the ecanal,
and take the position in reverse from which our position at Alumbagh
had been so long annoyed.

" This was executed very well by His Highness, and he seizod the
positions, one after another, with little loss to himself.

~ The gunsof the enemy, which the latter did not stop to take
away, fell into his hands,

On the 21st, Sir Edward Lugard was directed to attack a strong-
hold held by the Moulvie in the heart of the city, This he occupied
after a sharp contest, and it now became possible to invite the roturn
of the inhabitants, and to rescue the city from the horrors of this
prolunged contest.

Brigndier Campbell with his cavalry attacked the encmy when
retreating from the city in consequence of Sir Edward Lugand's
advance, inflicting heavy loss, and pursued him for six miles.

I beg to enclose Sir James Outram’s own account of his opera-
tions, which were removed from my immediate superintendenee till
he re-crossed the Goomti prior to the attack of the 16th,

It was matter of real . grtification to me to be able to entrust
the Trans-Goomti operntion to this very distinguished officer, and
aftor that had been conducted to my perfoct satiafaction to bring him
forwnrd again to put the finishing stroke on the enemy, while the
extended position in the town was of necessity held by the troops
who had won it. My thanks are eminently due to him, and I trust
he will receive them as heartily as they are offered,

I have now the pleasing task of communicating to your Lordship
the name of an officer to whom, not only 1 as Commanding General, but
to whom in truth the Serviee at large is under great obligation,
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Mujor-General Mansfield, the Chief of the Staff, whose labour has
been unceasing, whose abilities are of the highest order, and have
been of the greatest use to me during this campuign. 1t is impossibla
for me to praise this officer too highly, or to recommend him suffi-
ciently to the protection of your Lordship and of the Government, :

I desire to draw the particular attention of your Lordship to
Brigadier-Generals Franks, c.n., Walpole, Sir J. Hope Grant, x.c8,
and Sir Edward Lugard, k.cB.

Their divisions have been most admirably commanded, and
they have on evary occasion amply justified all my expectations

Brigadier-Geunerals Walpole and Sir J. Hope Grant were employ-
ed more immediately under the direction of Sir James Outram, who
gpeaks in the highest terms of the assistance he received from them.

SirJ. Hope Grant's management of his Cavalry and Horse Artillery
is always most admirable,

As detailed above, the manner in which the attacks on the main
line of operations were directed by Sir Edward Lugard and Brigadier-
General Franks reflected the greatest credit on them,

The officers in command of the cavalry brigades have proved
themselves equal to their high position, and are worthy of your Lord-
ship’s favourable consideration.

Brigndier Campbell, in command of the Cavalry on the leR,
performed his detached duty with much vigilance and Judgment.
His march round the city on the 19th instant, which was a running
fight for the greater part of the day, was a very diffienlt one,

His pursuit, on the 21st, of the party which broke away after being
driven by Sir Edward Lugard from Shadut Gunge was highly effective.

Brigadier Hagart has received the marked commendation of Sir
J. Hope Grant, and the Brigadiers in command of Infantry Brigades
have particularly distinguished themselves under the eyes of their
divisional commanders :—

Brigadier D. Russell, ... 15t Brigade,
- P. M. M, Guy, sse O =
- Hon'ble A. Hope, oy 4th o
> Douglas, c.5,, s Dth il
- Horeford, .8, ... Gth o
Evelegh, .« Tth

and Lientenant-Colonel Longden, (Her Majesty's 10th Foot), attached
to the Gurkha Brigade, by order of the Commander-in-Chief.

The head-<quarters, 2nd Brigade, with the 5th Fusiliers, and
75th Highlanders under Brigadier Franklin, remained at Alumbagh

6o
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in position, and was well disposed by that officer to resist the enemy’s
demonstration en the 16tk instant,

To Major-General Sir Archdale Wilson, xoB, my warmess
acknowledgments are doe for the effective manuer in whick Le cOm-
manded the Artillery Division,

The four ecorps, the Nayal Brigade, the Royal Artillery, the
Bengal Artillery, and the Madras Artillery, worked with the greatest
barmony under his happy dircction as one regiment,

The merits of Sir Archdale Wilson are too widely known to gain
anything by encominm from me; but ¥ way be permitted to express
my great satisfuction at having been able to awail myself of the
assistance of this most distinguished officer, The effective fire of the
Artillery during the long operations which depended so much on the
management of that arm elicited general admiration,

The practice of the 68-pounders of the Naval Brigade was
capital, while the Kaiser Bagh and other great buildings which had
been stormed, showed in o very convincing manner how truly the
shells had been directed by the Royal and Bengal Artillery,

Whenever the Ficld Artillery could be msed the Troops of Horse
Artillery and field batteries of Royal Artillery, the Bengal Artillery,
and the Madras Artillery did the most excellent service,

Sir Archdale Wilson expresses his great obligations to Captain
Sir William Peel, x.cn, R.N., til that most pallant officer was

- | severely wounded, and o Brigadiers Wood, ¢.B, Royal Horse Artillery,

and Barker, om, BA, respeetively, commanding the Fiald and
Siege Artillery Brigades,

It would be difficuls for me to give an adequate jdea of the zeal
and activity displayed by the Chief Engineer, Brigadier Napier, Bengal
Engineers. Many of the operations depended on his proper apprecin-
biem of the obstructions to be Overcome, and the means at his disposal
for that purpose,

His great professional skill angd thorough aequaintance with the
valoe of his enemy have been of the greatest service, and I recome
mend himn most eordial] ¥ to Your Lordship’s Protection. T am under
very great obligations to him,

The officers of the great departments of the army have ae-
companied me during the siege, aud I beg to return them my thanks,
They are as follows :—

Major H, W, Norman, Deputy Adjutant-General of the Army,

Lieutenant-Colgpel W. Macpherson, Officiating Quartermaster-
General of the Army,
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Colonel Hon'ble W. L. Pakenbam, cp., Officiating Adjutant
Genernl, Her Majesty’s Forces,

Captain C. F. Seymour, 84th Regiment, Officiating Quartermasters
General, Her Majesty's Forces,

Captain G. Allgood, Offciating Assistant Quartermsster-General
of the Army.

Licutonant-Colonel Keith Young, Judge Advocate-General of the
Army,

Lientenant P. Stewart, Bengal Engineers, Superintendent of
Electric Telegraphs.

Dr. MacAndrew, Inspector-General of Hospitals, Her Mujosty's
Forces,
Dr. Brown, the Superintending Surgeon of the Force, has again
won my sincere thanks for his admijrable arrangements.

Captain Fitzgerald, Assistant Commissary-Ganeral, who has had
the disposition of the commissariat in the field, has met every want
of the Army. He has distinguished himself muchyand is & credit to
his department,

I must draw very particular attention to the services of Major
Norman, Deputy Adjutant-General, who, besides his ordinary departs
mental duties, has performed the very onerous one of Adjutant-Gene-
ral of the Army in the field throughout the campaign.

To Captain H. Bruee, Deputy Quartermaster-General, head of
the Intelligence Department, and to Captain G. Allgood, Officiating
Assistant Quartermaster-General, who performed the dutiss of
Quartermaster-General of the Army in the field until the arrival of
Lieutenant-Colonel Macpherson, These officers have all been most
nctive in the performance of their duties.

To my personal staff and that of Major-General Mansfield my
acknowledgmeuts are due, but more particularly to my Military Sec-
retary, Colonel Sterling, c.8., and to Captain G. R. Hope Johustons,
Bombay Army, Deputy Assistant Adjutant-General to the Chief of
the Stafl. These two officers are most indefatigable,

A list of the other members of these staffs is appended,

Finally, I wish to draw Your Lordship's attention to the condueh
of the regimental officers, commissioned and non-commissioned, and o
the men of the regiments,

Their couduct has been very brilliant thronghout. The manner i
which the 93rd Regiment flung itself into the Begum Kotee followeld
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by the 4th Sikhs and supported by the 42nd was magnificent, and
the subsequent attack on the Emambara and the Kaiser Bagh reflected
the greatest eredit on the regimental leaders of the 4th Division, and
the soldiers who followed them,

Corrected lists will be sent immediately of the officers and soldiers
who are deemed most worthy of distinction in a force in which avery
one has n claim,

———
From @Qeneral Sir Corrm Cawreerr, a.om., Commander-in-Clief in India, fo the
Right Honb'le Viscoust Canrviwe, Governor-General of Indin in Couneil,

dated Camp Lucknow, 25¢h March 1858,

I have the honour to report to your Lordship the departure of His
Highness Jung Bahadoor from the camp before Lucknow,

I desire to take this opportunity to express my thanks to His
Highness for the assistance rendered to me during the late operations
by him and his gallant troops,

I found the wtmost willingness on his part to accede to any desire
of mine during the progress of the siege, and from the first His High-
ness was pleased to justify his words that he was happy to be serving
under my command.

His troops have proved themselves worthy of their commandaers,
and it will doubtless be a happiness to them hereafter that they were
associated with the British Arms for the reduction of the great city
of Lucknow.

My best thanks are due to the Special Commissioner, Brigadier-
General MacGregor, o8, the medium of communication between His
Highness and myself,

I beg to recommend him and the British officers serving under
his orders to the favourable consideration of your Lordship, :

List of the Pgrsonal Staf of His Ezcellency General Sip Coriy
CAMPBELL, 6.0.B., Commander-in-Ch ief in India, and of Hajor-
General W. R. MANsFIELD, Chief of the Staf.

Colonel Sterling, c.n., unattached, Military Secretary to the

Commander-in-Chief,

Captain Sir David Baird, Bart, Her

Majesty’s 08th Regiment. Aides-de-Camp to the

Lieutenant F. Alison, 72nd Highlanders, Commander-in-Chief,

Captain W, F, Forster, 18th Royal Irish,




MEMORANDUM OF OPERATIONS UNDER SIR J. OUTRAM a7

Major J. Metealfe, 3rd Regiment, Bengal Native Infantry, Inter-
preter and Commandant, head-quarters.
Lieutenant R. G. Hope Johnatone, Bombay Army, Deputy Assist-
ant Adjutant-General to the Chief of the Staff
Lieutenant D. M. Murray, Her Majesty's
64th Regiment. Aides-de-Camp to  the
Lieutennnt F. R. 8. Flood, (severely { Chicf of the Staff,
wounded), Her Majesty's 53rd Regiment,

Surgeon J. Clifford, Officiating Surgeon to the Commander-in.
Chief.

Hesv-Quanrens Custr, (8d.) A. C. BTERLING, Cul.,

UCEXOW ;

The 30nd Morch 1558, Mily. Seey.
List of Annexures.

Report from Major-General Sir James Outram, G. o, &,
Return of the killed and wounded from 2nd to 21st March,
Return of eaptured ordnance,

State of Army, dated 2ud March 1838,

State of Brigadier-General Franks' Foree, dated 4tli March

N

18358,

(8d)  H. W. XORMAN, ¥ay,,
Depy. Adjt.-Genl. of the Army.

Memorandum of operations carried on under the command of Major-
General Sir James OvtrAM, G.o.8., during the Siege of Lucknow,

On the morning of the 6th instant, shortly before daybreak, T pro-

* 4th Company, Royal Engineers, an Cfﬂdﬂ_d with the force named in +iil'm
254 Bengal Sappers, Licutensnt:Colonel margin® to eross the Goomti tiver
" Aguilar's  Troop, Hoerse Artillery, 5
Captain Mackintion's Troap, and Captain  OVer the two temporary  bridges
i Drugn Guarl, 3 Lancers’s Which had boen constructed by, the

mont of 1st Panj . i5
dm::ﬂ - l; j-b! ct. 'mﬁﬁnﬁﬂ e order of His EI}."&HEHE}". the whole of
Punjab Cavalry. 3 the eavalry being under the com-
iRy F"ﬂm} 5h  mand of Brigadier-General Sir J.

d Brignde. .

Ist Pengal Fusiliers, Hope Grant, KcB, the nfantry
under that of Brigadier Walpole, the
Field Artillery under Brigadier D,
Wood, c. B, the Siege Artillery, which subsequently joined me, under
Lieutenant-Colonel Riddell, RA. After proceeding a short distance, in
a northerly direction, the enemy became visible on our left flank, and

on being approached by the cavalry, they were discovered to be in

2nd Hattalion, Rifle Brigade.
3rd Rattalion, Rifle Rrigade. { 6
2od Punjab Infastry,
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considerable force, chicfly sowas. The 2nd Punjab Cavalry then
attacked on the right, while Major Smith of the Queon’s Bays with
two squadrouos of his own regiment, one squadron of the 9th Lancers,
and Lieutenant-Colonel I¥Aguilar's Troop of Horse Artillery, advanced
from our left. The enemy were immediately driven back, and pursued
to the banks of the river, many being cut up; but I regret to state
that in this charge the gallant Major Smith was killed. Our camp was
then formed on the Fyzabad Read about half a mile in advance of the
village of OChinhut on the Lucknow side. Early on the following
morning, Tth March, the enemy made a smart attack on our advanced
picquets, and brought out several guus under cover of ravines and
clumps of trees in our front, They were, however, speedily withdrawn
on our gkirmishers and Horse Artillery and Captain Middleton’s Field
Battery, protected by the Cavalry, coming to the front and opening
§ Foemtonpad Cobondl D Agsiisd's, 6. tthr fire, _Thmlrtiller}-' practice on
R. A.. Captaln Remwington’s, B. A, sud  this occasion, as on the preceding
Captain Mackinnon's; Troop. dﬂ.}', was admirable.
2 The following day, the Sth instant, under the instructions of
s Excellency, Colonel D'Aguilar's Troop of Horse Artillery and the
9th Lancers re-crossed the river to the head-quarters camp, and the siege
& pwder pan i . .. 8 Sunsnamedin the margin joined me,
Buineh howirgers « 4 Having decided npon an attack on
S-loch morturs ., w10 i Bt
— the ememy's position on the next
" morning, the 9th instant, I ecaused
an entrenchment for eight 24-poundear
guns and three 8-inch howitzers to be constructed during the night.
The battery was armed, and commenced its fire at daybreak with excel-
lent effect, after which the right colamn of infantry, accompanied by

Captain Gibbon’s Field Battery under Brigadier-General Walpole,

covered with a clond of skirmishers commanded by Brigadier Horsford,
C.B., supported by the 5th Brigade under Brigadier Douglas, drove the
enemy through the jungles, walls, and villages which afforded them an
excellent cover, and bringing the right shoulders forward, occupied the
Fyzabad Road. In the meantime, the left column of attack, composed
of the 1st Bengnl Fusiliors, supported by two companies of the TOth
Highlanders, which had besn held in readiness on the left of
the battery, together with the Horse Artillery under Brigadier Wood,
which had been formed in rear of the bridge across the Kokral
advanced, and in concert with the right column, carried the Chukkur
Kotee, (or Yellow-House,) the key of the rebel position, in gallant style
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and thereby turnied the strong line of entrenchment, which had been
constructed by the enemy on the right bank of the Goomti, of which
success the skirmishers on the other side of the river, subsequently,
were apprised by Lieutenant Butler, of the Bengal Fusiliers, who
swam across the Goomti, and climbing tho parapet, remained in that
position for a considerable time under heavy fire of musketry, until the
work was ocoupied.  After the occupation of the Chukkur Kotee, wo
drove the enemy rapidly through the old Irregular Cavalry lines and
suburbs to the Padshah Bagh. The fortified gutes of the strong-
walled enclosure were blown open, and the garden occupied, and two
guns found by our troops. Three guns and a howitzer were then
placed in position to enfilade the works in rear of tho Martinidre, A
battery of two 24-pounder guns and two S-inch howitzers was placed
near the fver to keap down the fire from the town, A battery for
five mortars was constructed during the night, and in the morning
commenced playing on the Kaiser Bagh. Four heavy guns were also
placed in a work thrown up by the enemy at the east entrance into
the Padshah Bagh. ;

4. On the 10th, we were occupied in strengthening our position,
the enemy being in force in the suburbs in our front, from which
they made an attack in considerable numbers on a piequet held by the
70th Highlanders, but were repulsed with heavy loss, Generl Sip
J. Hope Grant occupied himsell the while in patrolling the vicinity,
during which operation a most valuable young officer, Major Sandfoed,
of the 5th Punjab Irregular Cavalry, was unfortunately killed ; but
the enemy suffered severely.

4. During this night, another battery was constructed in the Pad.
shah Bagh for four 24-pounders, two 8-inch howitzers, and five 8.inch
mortars, which kept up a vertical and direct fire on the defences
in the interior of the Kaiser Bagh. Two more 24-pounders were also
brought to bear on the mess-house and on the Kaiser Bagh, in
complinnce with the instructions of His Excellency. I made arrange.
ments to attack the suburbs in the vicinity of the iron and stone
bridges, and shortly after daylight, on the 11th instant, the right

. s Hi‘h:n;m;; o column, as per margin®* formed on
2nd and jans, Rifls B: .
~ors ‘:i mﬁ:m % ignde. Iiljm Fyzabad Road under the imme.
Captain Gibbon's Light Field Battery  dinte command of Brigndier-General

and two Zd-pounders. “'n|[mie, aud worked iia way, covered
by its ekirmishers, through the town, until it reached the mosque on the

old cantonment road, which commands the appronch to the jron bridge,
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5. The left column, as Per margin,* proceeded alongthe lower

5 o 24 pousder guns road towards the iron bridge. These
Thres Fiell Battery guns, Royal two columns were connected by a
‘T;.I.'i"dmx Welsh Fusiliers, strong chain of skirmishers, which,
-aﬂﬂméi:mmdﬂggh @B as well as the lefy column, met
with considerable opposition, as the
enemy opened three guns on them from the opposite side of the river
and also held the gruumd in great strength in front of the rifla
skirmishers commanded by Brevet-Major Warren, Captains Wilmot,
and Thynne, and Lieutenant Grey, who all behaved most gallantly,
Captain Thynne, & most promising officer, I regret to say, was mortally
wounded. This ecolumn ocenpied the houses down to the river's bank,
and the head of the iron bridge, to the right of which the two 24
pounder guns were placed in battery. The spirit and dash of the men
during this eritical operation was most ro markable, and merits my highest
commendation. Lieutenant Moorsom, Deputy Assistant Quartermaster-
General, who had been deputed by me to guide the column, was
killed on the spot while reconnoitring on the opposite side of the road.
I deplore sincerely the loss of this most gallant and promising young
officer, whose soldier-like zeal and acquirements rendered him an
omament to his profession,

6. Having left the Bengal Fusiliers posted in the mosque on the
Cantonment Road, T proceeded with the remainder of the right
column in that direction, and shortly afterwards met Sir J. H. Grant's
Cavalry and Horse Artillery, which in the meantime had been
operating on the extreme right. Turning now towards the stone
bridge, we surprised the camp of the rebel 15th Irregular Horse,
whose standards and two guns were eaptured by the Rifles, the
enemy flying in all directions over the plain, many being cut up by our
eavalry.

7. Ithen penetrated to the head of the stone bridge, through
the strong and dense suburbs, without encountering any material
opposition. The enemy, however, were able to command it with guns,
as well as with musketry from the tops of several high and strong
stone-houses, from the opposite side of the river, and the position
Was, moreover, too distant, and the approaches too intricate, to warrant
my holding it permanently with the force at my disposal. I therefore
withdrew to the mosque at the cross-road, already occupied by the
Bengal Fusiliers, our route being through suburbs in which we
destroyed a quantity of munitions of war, aud finally we retired to
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camp, when the arrangements for the occupation of the iron bridge
had been completed.

8. During the nights of the 12th and 13th, having been rein-
forced by four 18-pounder guns, two 10-inch howitzers, five 10-inch
mortars and four 5}-inch mortars, three batteries were erccted from
which five 10-inch mortars, ten 8-inch mortars, and four 24-pounder guns
were brought to bear upon the Kaiser Bagh, on tho fall of which,
on the moming of the 14th, the guns and mortars were turned on
the Residency and the buildings to the right of the bridge. During
this operation Lieutenant Cuthbert, of the Royal Artillery, brought
himeelf prominently to notice by extinguishing a fire in a small build-
ing in front of his battery, in o very dangerous and exposed position,
The operations connected with a breastwork across the iron bridge
were conducted by Tieutenant Wynne, R.E., and S8ergeant Paul, who
displayed great coolness and resolution in the face of a heavy and con-
tinual fire.

9. Having been ordered to join His Excelleney's eamp, my oper-
ations on the north side of the Goomti were here brought to a close.

10, Our casualties during these proceedings amounted to five officers
killed and nine wounded, and the loss in men, including sergeants, was
twenty-one killed and one hundred and four wounded. Total twenty-
six killed and one hundred and thirtesn wounded, With the
exception of the officers, the above statement of casualties does nok
include the Cavalry Division. General Sir J. Hope Grant having been
orderod off into the district, neither his casualty list, nor his notica
of his officers hos been received, From the peculinr nature of the
fighting the actual loss of the enemy is difficult to ascertain. But I
cannot estimate it at less than two thousand throughout the whole
operations.

11. On the 16th instant, under instructions from His Excellency, I
proceeded to the Kaiser Bagh where Ifound the 5th Brigade under the
command of Brigadier Douglas, c.n., comprising the 23nd Fusiliers, tha
79th Highlanders, and the 1st Bengal Fusiliers, to which His Excellency
had added Her Majesty’s 20th Regiment and the Ferozepore Regiment
of Sikhs,

12. Vast numbers of the enemy having been seen crossing the stone
bridge from the city, apparently with the design of attacking Brigadier-
General Walpole’s camp, on the north of the Goomti, His Excellency
ordered me to press our movement. I immediately ordered the advance,

61
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and took possession of the Residency with little opposition, the 23rd
Fusiliers charging through the gateway, and driving the enemy before
them at the point of the bayonet, the remainder of the brigade following
them in reserve,

13. The encmy having been dislodged from the Resideney, two
companies of the 23rd, under Lieutenant-Colonel Bell, accompanied by
Captain Gould Weston, who pointed out the road, pressed rapidly for-
ward, and captured the brass gun which was in position to sweep the
iron bridge, after gome opposition. In the meanwhile the Residency
beight was crowned by a Field Battery of Madras Artillery, under the
command of Major Cotter, which kept up a heavy fire on the Muchee
Bhowun. This battery was subsequently withdrawn, and replaced
by two 68-pounder guns of the Naval Brigade. On their arrival, the
Bepgal Fusiliers moved to the iron bridge, and shortly afterwards
advanced, together with the Regiment of Ferozepore, and took the
Muchee Bhowun and the Imambar, the enemy precipitately ratiring,
and abandoming six guns. One company of the Fusiliers, nnder
Captain Balisbury,* was pushed on to the Roomidurwaza Gate,
where another gun was captured. The 70th were then brought up
to occupy the Imambara, and the remainder of the Bengal Fusiliers
were placed in the Muchee Bhowun,

14, On the morning of the 17th, Bripadier Douglas caused the
Hoseinabad Mosque and Dowlutkhana, in which two guns and a small
mortar were found, 1o be occupied by a company of the 79th High-

Captain Middietos's Field Buttery, ~1W0ders. About 1 pM, with the
%‘:gﬂ':ﬁr?:ﬁ:-slwm_ force named in the margin, I moved
E: Wing, Her H-}nr;'ufgnrnh Feot. towards the bloek of buildings known
Ose 5 ”t 79tk a8 Shurfoodowlah's house, having
iatyor's Sikhs. previously  occupied the entrance

to the Chowk with three companies of the 79th Highlanders.

On arriving at the Jumma Musjid, nine cart loads of powder were
found in & courtyard in the rear, which impeded our progress, I
therefore directed it to be destroyed under the supervision of the
Engineers. 1 regret, however, to have to state that from some
accidentul cause the powder ignited.

15. . Captain Clerke, R, E, and Lieutenant Brownlow, B. E., who
bad greatly distinguished themselves, have since died from the efects

¥# Sic in origlas! ; should be SBalusbury.
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of the explosion, in whose melancholy death the Service has sustained
a heavy loss, which I sincerely deplore, About thirty men shared their
fiate, and the rest of the working party were more or less injured.

16. I then sent two companies of the 79th Highlanders with ona
8-inch howitzer to take possession of Shurfoedowlah’s house,which was.
occupied without any casualty, the ememy precipitately retreating,
although they had made every preparation for a vigorous defence. An
iron gun and a brass gun with an ammunition wagon, together
with several amall guns, all in position, were captured,

17. I then reinforced the three companies of the 79th in the
Chowk, with five companies of the 20th Regiment, and completed the
chain of communication.

18, On the 18th, Brigadier Douglas ordered Lieutenant Gordon,
commanding a piequet of the 20th, to clear the houses in his frons,
which he effected much to the Brigadier's satisfaction, killing twenty.
three of the enemy.

19. The stone bridge was found to be undermined, and the cir-
cumstance reported to His Excellency.

20. On the morning of the 10th, under instructions from His

Excellency, I proceeded to attack the
Two Bquadrons, 9th Lanoers.

Ona {:u::p-nr. Ru:,i.d Engincar, Hﬂﬂﬂ-.'ll B&E‘h. the forca named in the
g::r_,;".““r:;: Capl e dleton’s, OTBI0  being assembled for shak
purposa.

2L At about half-past 6 A. s, I proceeded to Gao Ghat, and fonnd
Two 1B-poandern } Under Captain Ali Nuki Khan's house mupciad h:f

Foo&inch howitsers § Carleton, B. A, the enemy, who opened a sharp fire
;:lm vompanies, 20tk Regiment. of musketry on the head of the
:m“Hi:_!-hn'-'lrﬂ- pel column. Two companies of the T0th
#ad:Panjab lnfsntry. led by Licutenant Evereth, being

ordered to advance, soon drove the enemy out, and tock ilotmu‘nn of
it. Considerable delay here took place in consequence of having ta
break through a thick wall, during which time I ordered up a wing
of the Bengal Fusiliers to oceupy the house.

22. The troops then advanced through the suburbs without opposi-
tion towards Moosa Bagh, which position the enemy was reported to
occupy with thirteen guns, and five or six thousand men.

23, On arriving on the open ground two guns were opened on
the column, and the enemy appeared in great strength on the road, 1
immediately ordered out skirmishers from the 70th and 23rd, and
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Captain Middleton’s Battery to the front, whose fire soon silenced that
of the enemy, during which time the Lancers made a flank movement
to the ememy's left, and on our advance, their whole force tock to
flight, abandoning their guns ; on finding which I sent to order back
the heavy guns under escort of the three companies of the 20th Regi-
ment, as being no longer required,

24, The two squadrons of the 9th Lancers followed up the pursuit
for nbout four miles, when they overtook the enemy, captured six
guns aud killed about a hundred of them, the rest dispersing over the
country, and escaping by the aid of the nullabs and broken fenture
of the eountry. The counduct of the officers and men of the Sth
was most gallant, s they undauntedly charged masses of the enemy.

95. The Field Artillery and Infantry followed in support as
rapidly as possible, and captured four more guns, making in all twelve,
which T believe to be the total possessed by the enemy, no trace of the
reported thirteenth gun being observable.

2@, I then occupied the Moosa Bagh with the 2nd Punjab Infantry
under Major Green, and withdrew the rest of the troops to their quarters
in the eity.

27. Throughout the course of these operations, which were very
Inborions, the cheerfulness and zeal of both officers and men were
most conspicuous, and merit my warmest thanks.

28, I have to express my particular acknowledgments to Brigadier-
General Walpole, who afforded me on every occasion the most cordial
support, and very ably carried out the operations which fell to his
ghare ; also to Brigadier-General Sir J. Hope Grant, eommanding
the Cavalry, whose wvigilance and activity in the execution of his
onerous duties were unceasing,

29, Brigadier Wood, ©. 8., Commanding the Field Batteries, and

Lieutenant-Colonel Riddell, Commanding the Siege-Train, ecarried

on their respective duties to my eotire satisfaction, The services of
Lieutenant-Colonel Turner, B. A., specially attached to the Force, were
of the highest value tome, and I beg to tender him my cordial ac-
knowledgment for the same.

80. It is a source of much gratification to me to submit the names
of those officers engaged in the operations on the north bank of the
Goomti, who have been honourably mentioned byg Brigadier-General
Walpole and their respective commanders, vis., Brigadiers Horsford
e.p, sud Donglas, Commanding 5th aud 6th Brigades, Licutenants

T
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Colonel Hill, Commanding 2nd Battalion, Rifle Brigade ; Lientenant-
Colonel Macdonald, c.n., Commanding 3rd Battalion, Rifle Brigade ;
Captain Gibbon, R. A, who commanded the 9-pounder Field Battery,

81, The Brigadier-General also particularly notices the conduct
of Captain Barwell, Deputy Assistant Adjutant-General, and Captain
Carey, Deputy Assistant Quartermaster-General ; also that of Captain
Warner, Aide-de-Camp, anid Lieutenant Eccles, his Orderly Officer.

32 The Brigadiers wish to record the services of their respective
Staffs :—Captain  Macpherson, 78th Highlanders, (wounded,) Brigade-
Major of the 5th Brigade ; Brovet-Major Mollan, Brigade-Major of the
6th Brigade; and Brevet-Major Ross, and Lieutenant Walker, their
Orderly Officers,

33. Brigadier Wood, ¢, favourably mentions the conduct and
professional  knowledge of Lientenant-Colonel Turner, Lieutenant-
Colonel I'Aguilar, Major Yates, Brevet-Major Pennywick, Captain
Gibbon, Captain  Mackinnon, Captain Remmington, and Captain
Johnston ; he also notices the assistance he received from Captain Frith,
his Brigade-Major, and Captain Scott, in charge of the Commissariat
arrangements.

34. Lieutenant-Colonel Riddell, Commanding Siege-Train, eulogizes
Captains Thring, Goodenough, and Walker, R. A., Captain Pearson and
Licutenant Simeon, B. A., and Lieutenants Cuthbert and FitzMaurice,
R.A., and Major Turner and Captain Young, Staff Officers.

85. Major Nicholson, R, E, highly applauds the energy displayed
by the officers of that deparbment, viz., Lieutenants Maleolm, Wynne,
Swetenham, and Eeith, R, E, and Lisuteoants Watson, Tennant,
Hovenden, and Nuthall, B. E

36. Lieutenant-Colonel Wells records the services of Major Bruee,
Captains Prevost, Daff, and Norton, of the 23rd Fusiliers,

37. 1 have next to notice the services of the officers engaged on
the south or city side of the river. y

38. Brigadier Napier, Captain Hutchinson, Brigade-Major, and
Lieutenant Greathed, of the Engineers, afforded me on different
occasions the greatest assistance by their professional advice, and I
tender them my cordial thanks ; they were ably seconded by Lieutenant
Tulloch and Mr. May, attached to that department.

39, Munjor Beayser® led his Sikhs with his usual gallantry, and I
regret to add was severely wounded,

by * Sicin original ; should be Brasyer,
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40. My thanks are also due to Captain Bennett, Commanding
Her Majesty's 20th Regiment.

41.  Captain Coles, in command of two squadrons of the 9th Lancers,
did good service in pursuing the enemy when they abandoned their
position in the Moosa Bagh. On this occasion the local knowledge
of Captain Carey, Deputy Assistant Quartermnster-General of the
drd Division, was of much use to me. Captain Dodgson, Assistant
Adjutant-General, Captain Gordon, Deputy Judge Advoeate-General,
and Ensign Hewitt, 41st Regiment Native Infantry, Orderly Officer,
were present at the occupation of the Moosa Bagh, having joined me
from Alumbagh, where they had been of much service in their respecs
tive appointments,

42. I have lastly to bring to His Excellency’s consideration the
services of those officers who had the good fortune to be engaged in all
the operations on both sides of the river,

43. Brigadier Douglas has carried out all his instructions with
signal ability and success, and deserves my cordial acknowledgments, as
does Major Nicholson, R. E., who evinced the most indefutigable industry
in the construction of the heavy batteries which it fell to his depart-
ment to execute, and in choosing sites for which he was constantly
exposed to very heavy fire.

44. Licutenant-Colonel Wells commanded the 23rd Fusiliers, until
incapacitated by illness (on the last day’s operation) when the come
mand was assumed by Lieutenant-Colonel Pratt, who also commanded
the left eolumn of attack on the 11th instant seross the river,
Lieutennnt-Colonel Taylor was in command of the T9th Highlanders,
Major Green, Punjab Rifles, and Captain Cunliffe commanded the
Ist Bengal Fusiliers until the arrival of Captain Hume, who also
deserves my thanks. Captain Middleton commanded the Field
Battery, which was actively engapged throughout.

45. Brigadier Douglas mentions, with approbation, Captain
Stevenson, Acting Brignde-Major, and Licutenants Walker, 70th, and
Utterton, 23rd Fusiliers, his Aide-de-Camp and Orderly Officer.

46. 1 havg the highest pleasure in :u:knuwludging how much I am
indebted to the officers of my Personal Staff,

47. His Excellency is already aware of the opinion I have formed
of I.Ihe merits and services of Colonel Berkeley, Her Majesty's 32nd
Begiment, my Military Sccretary ; and the assistance I have derived
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from him throughout these operations is an additional obligation
I am under to this most deserving officer.

48. Captain Chamier, Aide-de-Camp, and Lieutenant Hargood,
Aide-de-Camp (horse killed), have worked with the unremitting zeal and
activity which has characterised their conduct in all the operations in
which 1 have been engnged since I left Allahabad in September last.

40. Captain Weston, 65th Regiment, Native Infantry, Orderly
Officer, has signalized himself by the spirit and gallantry which he has
displayed on several oecasions, and hns been of much use to me.

50. Captains Orr and Bunbury, of the Intelligence Department,
have performed their duties with great ability, and Mr, Denison, C. 8.,
who recently brought up despatches from the Governor-General, acctm-
panied the Forces, and was most active and zealous in rendering aid to
the poor sufferers who were blown up in the explosion on the 17th instant.

51. Mr. Kavanagh, Assistant Commissioner, from his knowledge of
the loealities, rendered good service on several ocengions,

(84, J. OUTRAM, Maj.-Geal.,
Comdyg. the 1ot Dien. of the Army.

GENERAL ORDERS by the Right Hon'ble the Governor-General
of India in Couneil.

DateEp Avranaeap, Moxpay, 5th Arnin 1858.

No. 54 of 1858 —The Right Hon'ble the Governor-General having
now received the despatches* from His Excellency the Commander-in-
Chief, giving an account of the re-takivg of Luckuow by the force
under His Excellency's personal command, is plensed to publish them for
general information.

In December last, it became the grateful duty of the Governor-
General in Council to promulgate in General Orders the announcement
of the relief of the garrison of Lucknow, so admimbly achieved by
Genernl Sir Colin Campbell, 6.cp, and the rescue of the women
and children, sick and wounded, long beleaguered there. It is now the
Governor-General’s privilege to convey to His Excellency the tnbute
of his highest admiration, and of his most cordial congratulations om
the capture of the strong city of the rebels.

From the 2nd till the 16th of March, a series of masterly
operations took place, by which the Commander-in-Chief, nobly

® Bee pages 460-4707,
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hmppm-ml in his well lnid plans of attack by the ability and skill of

the General officers, and by the indomitable bravery and resolution:
of the officers and men of all arms, drove the rebels successively from _
all their strongly fortified posts, till the whole fell into the possession
of our troops. :

That this great success should have been accomplished at so little
cost ‘of valuable lives, enhances the honour due to the Leader who has
achioved it.

It is a pleasure to the Governor-General to acknowledge publicly
the services of the General and other officers who took part in the
capture of Luckoow, _ 4

During the last days of the operations, the Nopalese Faree, under
Maharmjah Jung Bahadoor, was associated with the army under General
Sir Colin Campbell’s command, 3

To the distinguished leader of that force, the Maharajoh Jung
Bahadoor, the Governor-General desires to express his thanks for the
hearty co-operation which the Commander-in-Chief received from His
Highness, and for the gallant bearing of His Highness' troops. L

To Major-General Sir James Outram, 6.¢.n., the Government of
India is under a new debt of gratitude. After having held the exposed
post of Alumbagh for more than three months, in the face of powerfal
bodies of rebels, whose attacks he never failed to repel, Sir James
Outrmm has further greatly distinguished himself at the head of the Ist
Division, by the brilliant and thoroughly complete mauner in which he
executed the duties entrusted to him. The Governor-General requests
that Sir James Outram will accept his most sincere thanks, \

His Lordship offers his hearty acknowledgments to the other Genes
ral officers whose services are prominently noticed in these despatches,

To Major-General Mansfield, Chief of the Staff, of whose eminent
services the Commander-in-Chief speaks with well merited commenda-
tion.

To Major-General Sir Archdale Wilson, Barcnet, K.cn., in chiel
command of the Artillery, who, after winning lasting renown in the
espture of Delhi, has borne s conspicuous part in the reduction of
Lucknow, -

To Major-General Sir J. Hope Grant, xcn, Commanding the
Cavalry of the force; to Brigadier-General Franks, c. B; Brigadier-
Geueral Walpole, and Brigadier-General Sir Edward Lugard, :,n,.,"'

ing the 20d, 3rd and 4th Divisions of Infantry, T:‘




-and regiments,

of H. M’s Ship Shannon, and to offer his especinl thanks to him for
“his remarkable services, =0
The Governor-General entirely concurs with His Excelloney the

Commander-in-Chief in prominently recognising the great skill andd
ability of Brigadier Napier, who commanded the Engineers of ﬁx
Majesty's and the Enst India Company’s Services forming part of
the force. Brigadier Napior is espocinlly entitled to the thanks of
the Governor-General ; and to him, to Colonel Harness, Comm ndi
the Royal Engineers, and to the severnl officers under them, of both
services, His Lordship's grateful acknowledgments are offered,

The Governor-General has mueh stisfaction in expressing his

high sense of the merits of the several officers commanding brigndes

To the commanding officers of the Royal Artillery, of the Naval
Artillery, and of the Bengal and Madms Artillery, the Governor-
General tenders his cordial thanks,

To Major Norman, Deputy Adjutant-General of the Army, to
whose superior merits and distinguished services the Commander-it-
Chief benrs willing testimony, a tribute in which the Governor-
General concurs ; to Colonel the Hon'ble W, L. Pakenham, ﬂ..'i.:
Officinting Adjutant-General, Her Majesty's Forces in India ; to Licuta-
naot-Colonel Macpherson, Officiating Quartermaster-General of the
Army ; to Captain Seymour, Officiating Quartormaster-General, Her
Maujosty's Forces; to Captain Bruce, Deputy Quartermaster-Gener!,
and Captain Algood, Assistant Quartermaster-Genernl ; to Lisutenant-
Colonel Keith Young, Judge Advoeste-Genernl ; to Captain Fitegerald,
Assistant Commissary-General, who is especially mentionod by the
Commander-in-Chief ; to Licutenant P. Stewart, of Eugincers, Superin-
tendent of Electric Telegraphs ; to Dr. MacAndrew, Inspector-General
of Hospitals, Her Majesty's Forces, and to Dr. Brown, Superintend-
ing Surgeon of the Force, the Governor-General has much satisfaetion
in exprossing his sense of the good service they have rendered,

To the officers of the Personal Staff of the i ]
of the Chief of the Staff, and of General officers commanding divi-
sions, the thanks of the Governor-Genoral are due ; and His Lordship
records his acknowledgments to the officers of the Stafl, of divisions
and brigades, all of whom have zealously performed their duty.
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To the officers and men of every service, soldiers, seamen and
marines, composing the force by which Lucknow has been taken, the
Governor-General desires to express his admiration of their eonduct
and to tender to each individual the thanks of the Government of
India. His Lordship will take the earliest opportunity of bringing
under the favourable notice of Her Majesty’s Government, and of the
Hon'ble the Court of Directors, the services rendered by the force.

In testimony of the services, the Governor-General is pleased to
direct that every officer and soldier, European and Native, and the
officers and men of the Navy, who took part in the capture of Lucknow,
thall receive a donation of six months’ batta,

By order of the Right Hon'ble the Governor-General,

(8d.) R. J. L. BIRCH, Cul,
Secy. to the Govt. of India, Mily. Dept.;
with the Governor-General,

Telegram from the Commander.in-Chief, fo the Governor-General of India in
Council,—dated Luckaow, 24tk March 1555,
PBrigadier-General Sir James Hope Grant, K.C. B, was sent
yesterday to disperse a body of insurgents under Rajah Jai Lall
Sing at Koorsee. The operation was perfectly successful, and the
Brigadier-General took twelve guns, He will return to his old quarters
at the cantonments this afternoon.

MEMORANDUM By Liewtenant 1. F. MicAxprsw, Military Seeretary to
Brigadier-General MacGarson, c.n., Jor the information of the Dspuly
Adjutant-General of the Army,—~dated Camp Bunnee, 24¢h Mured 1555,
The force commanded by Maharajah Jung Bahadoor before

Lucknow numbered 15000 men of all arms, and consisted of

battalions with 24 guns. This includes the force of Gurkhas which

came up with General Franks, but not the guns attached to them,
which were British,
The casunlties in the Maharajah's force in tha actions before

Lucknow were 51 killed and 287 wounded.

General Orders by the Right Hon'ble the Governor-General of India,
dated Allahabad,the 12th April 1858,

No. 64 of 1858.—The Right Hon'ble the Governor-General has much
satisfaction in publishing the following report of a gallant and successful
attack on the enemy retreating from Lucknow by the troops under the
command of Brigadier-General Sir J, Hope Grant, k. ¢, 1., at Koorsee,
on the road to Fyzabad, on the 28rd March 1858,
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From Major H. W. Nonsaw, Deputy Adjutant-General of the Army, fo the
Secretary fo fhe Government of India, Military Department, with the
Governor-General,—No, 167-4, dated Head-Quarters Camp, Lucknow, 3564
March 1555,

I have the honour, by direction of the Commander-in-Chief, to
® With report from Brigadier-Genersl forward, for the information of the

Bir J. Hops (irant, €. ¢ 8., vn the defeat Righ; Hon' ble the Governor-General,
by the troops under his command of & }

Body of the enemy and capture of fourteen  copy of a letter* from Brigadier-
| General Sir J. Hope Grant, K. ¢ B,

Commanding the Cavalry Division of this Army, dated 26th instant,

No. 60, reporting his having overtaken a body of the enemy ab

* Koorsee " in this neighbourhood, and captured fourteen guns,

2. His Excellency much regrets the loss in this affair of a gallans
young officer, Licutenant MacDonnell, attached to the 2nd Punjab
Cavalry.

3. Returns of casualties and of ordnance captured in the action
are annexed,

From Brigodier-General Sir J. Horr Guasr, x.c.n., Commanding Division, éa
the Deputy Adjutant-Gensral of the Adrmy, No. 60, dated Camp near
Lueknow, 26tk March 1558,

I have the honour to report, for the information of His Excellency

Sir Colin Campbell, that agreeably to the orders received from

Major-General Mansfield, Chief of the Staff, T marched at 12 o’clock on

Major Remmington's and Caplain Mas. 00€ Dight of the 22nd instant with

* Kionon's troops of Bangal Horse Artillery.  1h force as argin i direc-
Major Moir's Honwvy Fisld Battery, ! % e S o

Her Majesty’s 2ad Dragoon Guards, tion of Koorsee; finding it, how-
l‘f P-a:ilb C:nl?ﬁqﬂmm‘] ever, nearly impossible to proceed
Her Majesty 33rd Regiment. with the heavy guns across the coun-

2nd snd 3rd Battalions, Rifds B, EN
and Ind Punjub In.l'-urry 'Hi.th nm.r-“ﬂ':p- try roads in the dark, I halted tha

S ML Wik, column a short distence from the
eanfonments until morning, it was consequently nearly 4 PA. on
the 23rd before we arrived at Koorsee. We found the emremy in
full retreat along the Fyzabad Road, Forming up the cavalry and
the horse artillery I advanced, leaving the infantry with the heavy
guns pointing towards the village. Two guns of the advance guard
under Lisutenant Hunter had in the meantime come into action
against a party of rebels who were making their way out of a small
ghuree on our left front, for the purpose of Joining the maiu body on
the Fyzabad Road ; these were soon dispersed, and as we were clear
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of the village I gave the order to change front to the right ; by this
movement our line completely covered the flank of the retreating
enemy. A few rounds from the Horse Artillery caused them to scatter,
on seeing which the 1st and 2nd Panjab Cavalry on the left of the line
under the command of Captain Samuel Brown charged most gallantly
five or six times through the rebels, entting up about two hundred, and
capturing fourteen guns besides several ammunition wagons, two
elephants, some camels, bullocks, and quantities of baggage.

I directed Lieutenant Manderson with two guns, Horse Artillery,
and a squadron of the 2nd Dragoon Quards, the whole under the com-
mand of Captain Loftus, to proceed to the support of the Punjab
Cavalry, The success wns complete ; achieved, however, at the loss of
two fine gallant officers, Licutenant MacDonnell, 2nd Punjab Cavalry,
killed, and Captain Cosserat, Commanding Detachment, 1st Punjah
Cavalry, dangerously wounded,

1 have to thank the following officers for the assistance they
afforded me :—

Brigndier Horsford, Commanding the Infantry ; Lieutenant-Colonel
Maberly, R. A, Commanding the Artillery ; Captain Mackinnon and
Mujor Remmington, Commanding troops of Bengal Horse Artillery,
and Major Moir, Bengal Artillery, Commanding Heavy Field Battery ;
Lieutenants Manderson and Hunter, Bengnl Horse Artillery, and
Lieutenant Strange, R. A, Staff Officer to Lieutenant-Colonel Maberly ;
Lieutenant-Colonel Briscoe, Commanding 2nd Dragoon Guards ; Major
Kecve, Commanding the outposts, and Captain Loftus both of the
2nd Dragoon Guards ; Captain T, Browne, Commanding 2od Punjab
Cavalry, and Captain Cossernt, after that officer was wounded ;
Lieutenaut Mackenzie, Commanding Detachment, 1st Punjab Cavalry;
Lieutenant-Colonel English, c. B, Commanding Her Majesty's 53rd
Regiment ; Lieutenant-Colonel MacDonell, e. 1, Uammnnding rd
Battalion, Rifle Brigade ; Lisutenant-Colonel Percy Hill, Commanding
2nd Battalion, Rifle Brigade; and Major Green, Cummanding 2nd
Punjab Infantry ; also Lieutenant Watson, Commanding Sappers and
Miners, and Major Mollan, Major of Brigade, Captain Seott, Officiating
Deputy Commissary-General, and—Forbes, Esquire, Civil Service,

My own personal Staff—Major Hamilton, Deputy Assistans
Adjutant-Genernl ; Lieutenant Roberts, Deputy Assistant (Juarter-
master-General ; Captain the Hon'ble A, Anson, Aide-de-Camp, and
Captain Johnson, Extr Aldg-de-Camp, were of the greatest pussible

uge to me, :
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RETURN OF CASUALTIES
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List of officers killed.

Brigade. ] Rank and namsa, ! Regimont, ‘ Ramnrks,
Canaliy v | Licutenant T, J. MaoDonell . | #nd Punjab Cavairy... ‘ Killod, 23rd March 1553,
List of officers wounded.
Ilrln.du._ e, ;nn‘l: lnd-n-.m_l. - Rogiment. Remarks,
Carxlry | Coptain 2.7, Coserst .. | 10t Puniad Cavatey .. Dangerously, 23rd  in.

stant,

{Bl) J, HOPH GRANT, Brigr.-Genl,,
Comdy, Force,

Dartep Cawr, xEAR Luckxow,
The 25th March 1858,
Relurn of ordnance ecaptured from the enemy on the 23rd March
1858, by the force under the command of Sir J. HoPE GRANT, K.C.B.

No. Wature of ordnance, Weight. Remarks, 3
-
1 | One gun, brass, J-pounder ...| 9 r 3| 7
) }ﬂr‘iliﬂi manufscture,
2 | Ditto ditte 9 ditte ] W] -8 1
3| Digle ditte 8 ditke .| 9| 0| 0 3
4| Ditta ditte 9 dito0 ... ¥2| 0| o I
B| Ditto ditie 6 dittb .| B| 0| o
L] Ditte ditte 3 ditto e 4 o 1] }H“I“ S—
7| Ditte ditte 3 ditte .| 3| 0| 0 |
B| Ditto ditte 2 ditte .| 1| 0| o)
#| Ditto fron, 8 ditte ...| 22| 0|17 British  ditto, hooped truanions.
10 | Ditte ditte & ditto ... 10| 0| o
11 | Ditto ditke 4 ditto .| 7| 0| 0 ]
12| Ditts ditto 1} ditts .| 3| 1| 0 Foreign manufactare,
13| Ditta ditte 1 dilts | 4] 0 0 .[
14 | Ooe howitzur, brass, 5 1-10 inch! 1 !F i} IJ

med
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Retwrn of carriages captured.

Number of
Description, el Hemarks.
eapiured,
Gun carvisges, Native manafactore .. 9
Gun limbers  ditto ditto - H
Gun carrisge, Englhh  ditio s 2
Gun limbers, ditte  ditto - 5
Ammunition wagens, English manu- i Native hoxes on one wagon body,
facture,
Blore eart ., " 1
French cart ., e - 1
Tumbrils K - 3
(3&)  B. MABERLY, Lient.-Col, R, 4.,
Caomdg. Arly, Force wnder Bm J. H, GRANT.
The Asristant Adfutant. Ceneraf,
B J. HOFE GRANT'S FIﬁ.‘I‘.E
(84.) I, H. GRAKT, Brigr-Geml,
Crmalg.
: {True eopies.)

(84) H. W, NORMAN, Maj.,
Depy. Adjt.-Genl, of the Army,
By Order of the Right Hon'ble the Governor-General,
(84) R J. H. BIRCH, Csl,

Secy. fo the Goet, of India, Mily. Depty
1 ) with the Governor-General,

From Major G. B, Mirsuiw, Commanding at Alumbagh, fo the Adjutant-General,
—dafed .dfum&d_g.i, 20tk March 1555,
I have the honour to transmit the enclosed descriptive return
of a brass gun I took possession of yesterday,
One of my detachment riding down the road near the Char Bagh
saw it in a garden, and I sent out and had it brought into the fort,
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Return of captured ordnance now at Alumbagh.

ALUMBAGH,
The 29th March 1358,
Nature of ordnance. Number Remarks,

I of each.

Ordnance, brassgun ... 1 Calibre about 8lbs, Unservice-
able,

Carriages, field gon = ... 1 Native pattern.
- limbers, do. ... 2 Ditto,

(8d.) H. FRANCIS, Capt.,
Comdy. Arty., Alumbaghy

Examined.

J. FRASER, Lieuf., I (8l) G. B. MILMATN, My, 5i% Fusiliers,
Adjt., Ariy. Divn, Comdg. al Alumbagh,

GENERAL ORDERS by the Hon'ble the President of the Council of
India in Council,—dated Fort William, 1st April 1858.

No. 520 of 1858,—The following notifications from the Fareign
Department with the Right Hon'ble the Governor-General are pub-
hshed in General Orders :—

The 20th March 1858,

No. 349.—The Right Hon'ble the Governor-General has been
plensed to direct that the following letter from Brigadier-General G. H.
MacGregor, ., with its several enclosures, reporting an engagement
on the 5th instant, between the advanced division of Mnha.'rnjn;h
Jung Bahadoor's Army, under General Khurruk Bahadoor, and the
rebel Nazim-Mehndee Hossein, at the Kundoo Nuddee, be published for
general information.

His Lordship has pleasure in acknowledging the distingnished
gallantry exhibited on this occasion by General Khurruk Bahadoor and
the Native officers and men of the Nepalese force, and by Captain A.
C. Plowden and the other British officers attached thereto, and in ten-
dering his thanks to the various officers, both Nepalese and British,
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noticed in the report of Brigadier-General MacGregor, and also to the
men composing the force, for their valunble services,

From DBrigadier-General G. H. MacGuraon, o, Military Commissioner, fo
the Scerefary fo the Government with the Governor-Gencral, Foreign Departs
ment, Allakabud,—(Neo. 184,) dated Camp before Luckoow, 1344 March 1558,
In forwarding, for the information of the Right Hon'ble tha

Governor-General, the report of Captain Plowden, the British officer in
military charge of the advanced division of Maharajuh Jung Bahadoeor's
army under General Khurruk Bahadoor, of an action which took place
on the Sth instant at the Kundoo Nuddee, between the division and the
rebel Nazim-Mehndee Hossein, resulting in the capture of the enemy's
only gun, and the loss to him of nearly 600 killed, with casualties to
the extent only of one killed and sixteen wounded on our part, [ have the
honour to bring to the notice of His Londship in Council the extrema
galluntry and good conduct of the officers and men engaged.

2. I would particularly bring to the notice of His Lordship ‘in
Council the coolness and good mamsgement of Genernl Khurruk
Bahadoor, who, in most diffieult ground, so admirably disposed his troops
as to secure the splendid result above mentioned. To Brigadiers Run
Sing and Junga Doje my best thanks are due, asd they will doubtless
merit the approbation of Government.

3. Colonels Luckmun, Goorung, Teela, Bickrum Sing, Tappah,
Beemul Alie, Jurdeer Sing, Purtimon Kover Ranajee, Sirkishn Sohoy,
and Soorut Tappah are favourably mentioned by Captain Plowden,
o8 well as Major-Captain Runoojal Sing Tappah, Socjun Sing, and
Meerwan Sing, all of whom rendered active and excellent serviee,

4. Captain Plowden also mentions the name of Lientenant
Aiteram Bishtah for his distinguished gallantry, he having cut down
five of the enemy,

5. My best thanks are due to Captain Plowden for the sound
and judicious advice which he gave regarding the disposition of the
troops, as well as to Captain Lane in military charge of Brigadier
Juoga Doje’s Brigade, and to Lieutenants Francis, Gibb, Bogle, Sankey
and Foote, attached to the force, ns also to Lieutenaut Owen, late
19th Native Infantry, who volunteered his services.

The medical officers, namely, Surgeons McClelland and Morton
and Assistant Surgeons Playfair and Gee, are fnvourably mentioned
by Captain Plowden, as well as Mr, Forbes, O, 8, and Sergeants Home
and King of the Bengal Artillery,
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From Captain A, C. Prowoes, in militory charge of' @ Division, Gurkfa Force,
fo Capfain MacAwpuuw, Secrefary fo Militery Commissioner—dated
Camp bgfore Luckame, 11th March 1558,

I have the honour to report, for the information of Brigadier-
Genernl MacGregor, c.B., particulars of an action in which the
ndvanced division of the Gurkha Force under my military charge
wns engaged on the 5th instant against a force of the enemy,
amounting to 4,000 men, under the command of Nazim-Mehndes
Hossein, which resulted in a loss to the rebels of nearly 600 killed
andl the capture of one gun, whilst the casualties on our side were one
killed and sixteen wounded, two of the latter having since died,

2. Having received information that the rebels had taken up a
strong position on the Kundoo Nuddee, and had erected a battery
by the side of the bridge on the Lucknow Read, for the purpose of
disputing our passage; morcover that they had advanced ncross the
bridge, I proposed a plan of attack, which was approved of by
General Khurrnk Bahadoor, and suceessfully earried out.

3. The division, consisting of the strength as per margin, advanced

13 Guna. in quarter distance ecolumns at
7 Regimants of Infantry, H . ¥
Aggregate foree 3,800, deploying distances, five regiments

forming the first line, and two on either flank as a reserve.

4. On viewing the enemy, who was posted in detached parties
extending from our left to right front, I halted the eolumns and
deployed into line, I wns much deceived as to the nature of the
ground between us and the enemy ; what at first appeared to be
level, with a.few ficlds of cultivation in front of the right brigades,
afterwards proved to be deop ravines with bush jungle, though the
gronud in front of the left brignde was a plain facing the enemy's
battery. At this point our guus opened. After a few rounds from
the right, or Brigadier Run Sing Bahadoor's Brigade, which cansed
the enemy in front to retire into the ravines, the advance was sounded.
The right brigade had searcely advanced fifty yards, when the enemy
opened n sharp fire of musketry from a jungle on our right front
Presuming he was in greatest force in that direction, I requested
Brigadier Run Sing Bahadoor to make an oblique movement in that
direction, which at once brought him in contact with the rebels. The
Brigade rushed gallantly into the jungle with a loud cheer, formed
aline of skirmishers, and forced the rebels to make a rapid retreat,
The Gurkhas were quite at home in this mode of warfure ; their pur-
sult was so rapid through the ravines that numbers of the rebels



THE GURKHA FORCE 4&!

wers very soon overtaken, shot and cut down. Many instances of indivi-
dual bravery on the part of the Gurkhas were bronght to my notice ;
there were ssveral who each eut down three and four of the enemy.
The pursuit was followed up for two miles when the enemy, having
disappeared through a thick jungle, the * assembly ¥ was sounded,
and we formed our camp on the Nuddee

5. 'The part taken in the engagement by the left or Brigadier
Junga Doje's Brigade, under the military charge of Captain Lane,
is deseribed by that officer in a letter to my address which, together
with one from Licutenant Gibb, in charge of the batteries of the
division, are herewith annexed.

6. I have now the ploasare to record the meritorious services of
the Nepalese officers. General Kburruk Bahadoor displayed great
eoolness and a generous confidence in my advice. Brigndier Run
Sing Bahadoor, a smart and intelligent officer, led his brignde with
great coolness and spirit, ably assisted by the following Colonels of
regiments :—Luchmun Goorung, “ Kalee Bahadur " Regiment ; Teela
Bickrum BSing Tappah, “ Roodroo Doje” Regiment ; Beemul Alis,
“ Nia Goornck” Regiment ; and Captain-Major Runojul Sing Tappah,
Commanding “ Nursing Dull ” Regiment ; also Colonel Jusdeen Sing
and Major Soojun Sing, commanding batteries. Captain Lane brings
to my notice the services of Brigadier Junga Doje and the following
Colonels commanding regiments in his brigade, vis., Colonels Purtimon
Koer Ranajee, “ Srinath " Regiment ; Srikrishn Sohoy, * Junganath”
Regiment; and Somrut Tappah, * Shumshere Dull” Regiment, and
Captain Meerwan Singh, * Junganath " Regiment, who together with
the non-commissioned officers and men of the division, merit the appro-
bation of His Highoess the Maharnjah.

7. My best thanks are due to the British officers attached to the
division for the ready assistance I received from all in the field, and
have great pleasure in submitting their names for favourable notice,
viz, Captain Lane, in charge of Brigadier Junga Doje's Brigade ;
Lientenants Francis and Gibb in charge of the batteries of the division ;
Robertson and Bogle who, though attached to the rear division, joined
Licutenant Gibb's batteries ; Lientenants Owen, late 19th Regiment,
Native Infantry, and Sankey, Madras Engineers, and Lieutenant
Foote, attached to the advanced regiment of the Right PBrignde;
Surgeons McClelland, Morton, and Assistant Surgeons Playfair and Gee
were unremitting in their attention to the wounded, both in the field
and subsequently.
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8. I cannot conclude without offering my best thanks to Mr,
Forbes of the Civil Service: he was well to the front with a small
party of sowars ; his intimate knowledge of the country we have passed
through, and accurate information he gathered, have been of great
service,

9. Brigadier Run Sing Bahadoor has brought to my notice the
gallant conduct of Lieutenant Aiteram Bishtah of the Boordoo Doje
Regiment who ent down five of the enemy,

10. Lientenant Gibb mentions for fuvourable notice the names
of Sergeants Home and King, Bengal Artillery,

From Captain O. P. Laxs in military charge of the 2ad Brigade, Ind Division,

Gurkha Force, to Caplain A. C. Prowpes, in military charge, 2ud Divi-

sion, Gurkha Foree,—dated Camp Hyderghur, Sth Mareh 1558, 5

1 have the honour to furnish the following report of the part taken

by the Brignde under the command of Brigadier * Junga Doje, ”

to which I am attached in military charge, during the action with
the enemy on the morning of the 5th instant,

After passing  Mussafir Khana ” about 1} mile, on emerging
from some mango groves upon an open plain, we perceived the
- enemy in our front ecccupying the bauks of the * Kundoo Nullah, *
The Brigade was formed into line, and the guns advancing opened
fire on the enemy, which was replied to by one gun in position on
the opposite side of the nullab, and a smart fire of matchlockmen
posted amongst the ravines on thisside. The gun was soon silenced
Ly the excellent practice of our guns under the immediate superintens
dence of Lieutenant Gibh,

The order for the general advance of the brigade was then
given, one regiment being told off to remain in support of the guns;
the brigade, taking ground to the left, slightly tursed the enemy’s
flank, and advancing rapidly across some open ground under a heavy
fire: at once became engaged with the enemy amongst the ravines,
From these they were soon driven with considerable loss across the
nullah into the heavy jungle on the opposite bank, and closely
pursned by our men, were ehot and cut down in large numbers,

General Khurruk Bahadoor seeing the enewy in full flight, keep-
ing two companies for the protection of the guns, granted permission
to the remainder of the regiment in reserve to join in the pursuit,

The pursuit was continued for some distance, when the men
becoming much scattered from the denseness of the Jungle, I deemed it
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expedient to advise the re-call being sounded. The troops returning to
the bridge on the Lucknow Road took possession of the gun,

Ibeg to record the services of Brigadier ¢ Junga Doje, " of
Colone! Purtimon Koer Ranajee, Cﬂmmm;ding the “Sriuath ™ Regi-
ment, of Colonel Srikrishn Sohoy, of the “ Junganath * Regiment,
of Colonel Soorut Tappah, of the “ Shumshere Dull * Regiment. I
am desirous that their conduct, as well as that of nll the officers
and men under them, should be brought to the favourable notice of
His Highness the Maharajah, B

I especially wish to mention the zeal with which Captain
Meerwan Sing, of the “Junganath " Regiment, led his men to the
atinck,

Ligutenants Francis and Gibb, each in their own department,
afforded me every assistance, as did also Lieutenant Sankoy of the
Madrms Engineers,

My acknowledgments are also due to Lieutenant Owen, of the
late 19th Native Infantry, who kindly volunteered his services, and
rendered me valuable assistance,

Lieutenant Bogle, of the Bengal Artillery, who arrived from the
Head-Quarters Camp during the engagement, did good servioe,

Doctors Morton and Playfair were in constant attendance on tha
brigade, and all their arrmngements met with my entire approbation,

Before concluding, T wish to bring to the favourable notice of the
Brigadier-Geuneral the good conduct of Sergeants Home and King
attached to the guns of the brigade, especially that of the former,
through whose excellent practice the enemy’s gun was so speedily silenced,

I am happy to report that notwithstanding the heaviness of the
enemy's fire not a single casualty occurred in the brignde.

From Ist-Lieutenant J. L. Gion, Bengnl Artillery, in military eharge, Nepaless
Batferies, under Colonel Jusonze Bixg and Major-Captain Scorow Bixs,
to . Capfain A. C. ProwDsr, in oalitary charge of the division of Nepaless
troopa commanded by Goneral Khurrulk Bahadoor,—dated Camp Jugdirpore,
Gth March 158585,

I have the honour to report, for the information of Brigadier-
General MacGregor, o.m, the proceedings of the Neopalese Light

ilgil.!:::ﬁ:f ;::r::un. Field_ Batteries (?trength as  por
3 9-pounder brass guns. margin) engaged in the action of
;f-ip-;::::ll;:dl:::lmu yesterday at the Kundoo Nuddee,

- The batteries formed up in line
— in the centre at 1,000 yards, and

came into action at a range of about 800 yards from the enemy's position,
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After a fow rounds of round shot and shrapnel, the enemy’s only gun
was silenced ; after which the infantry advanced rapidly.

Previously to the infantry advancing, four guns under Colonel
Jusdeer Sing moved off to the right flank ; owing to a deep dry uullah,
a little in front of the centre guns, they eonld not be advanced further,

I hope you will bring to the notice of the Brigadier-General the
efficient services of Colonel Jusdeer Sing and Major Soojun Sing,
commanding batteries, and of all the officers and men under their
respective commands ; also the ready assistance given to the Nepalese
Artillery by Lieutenant A. Bogle, Bengal Artillery, and by Sergeants
Home and King, of the Bengal Artillery, who laid their guns very
effectively ; the former in particular who, in two shots, silenced the
enemy’s gun. A retarn of ordnance captured accompanies,

Return of ordnanee, ammunition, &e., captured at the Kundoo
Nuddee on the 5th March 1558.

Native made, honey-combed badly at the lower side of the bore close

One 9-pounder brass gun, to the breech, A few rounds of Native
Oue limber, =
ammunition, round shot and grape.
Caxr Jronsrons (8d.) J. L. GIBB, Liext.,
} . ..dl'{fh
The 6th March 1555, attached to the Nepalose Ariy.

{True copies.)
LF.MACANDREW, Lisut.,
Aily, Seey.

Foreign Department, Allahabad, 30th April 1858 ~The following
Proclamation was issued in the Province of Oudh by order of
the Governor-General of India in the month of March,

ProcrAMATION,

The Army of His Excellency the Commander-in-Chief is in pos-
session of Lucknow, and the city lies at the mercy of the British Go-
vernment, whose authority it has for nine months rebelliously defied
and resisted,

This resistance, begun by a mutinous soldiery, has found support
from the inhabitants of the city, and of the Provinee of Oudh at lnrge,
Many who owe their prosperity to the British Government, as well as
those who believed themselves aggrieved by it, had joined in this bad
cause, and have ranged themselves with the enemies of the State.

They have been guilty of a great crime, and have subjected theime
selves to a just retribution,
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The capital of their country is now once more in the hands of the
British troops. From this day it will be held by a force which
nothing can withstand, and the authority of the Government will be
earried into every corner of the Province.

The time then has come at which the Right Hon'ble the Gover-
nor-General of India deems it right to make known the mode in which
the British Government will deal with the talukdars, chiefs, and
landholders of Oudh, and their followers.

The first care of the Governor-General will be to reward those who
have been steadfnst in their allegiance at a time when the authority
of the Government was partially overborne, and who have proved this
by the support and assistance which they have given to British
officars,

Therefore the Right Hon'ble the Governor-General hereby declares
that Drigbyjeye Singh, Raja of Bulrampore, Koolwunt Singh, Rajn
of Pudnaha, Rao Hurdeo Buksh Singh, of Kutiaree, Kashee Purshad,
Talukdar of Sissaindes, Zubr Singh, Zemindar of Gopal Khair, aud
Chundee Lal, Zemindar of Mornon (Baiswarah) are henceforward the sols
hereditary proprietors of the lands which they held when Qudh came
under British rule subject only to such moderate assessment as may be
imposed upon them ; and that these loyal men will be farther rewarded
in such manner, and to such extent, as, upon consideration of thejr
merits and their position, the Governor-General shall determine,

A proportionate measure of reward and honour, according to
their deserts, will be conferred upon others in whose favour like claims
may be established to the satisfaction of the Government,

The Governor-General further proclaims to the people of Oudh,
that, with the abovementioned exceptions, the proprietary right in
the soil of the province is confiscated to the British Government
which will dispose of that right in such manner as to it mAY seem
fitting.

To those talukdars, chiefs, and landholders, with their followers,
who shall make immedinte submission to the Chief Commissioner of
Oudh, surrendering their arms and obeying his orders, the Right
Hon'ble the Governor-General promises that their lives and honour shall
be safe, provided that their hands are not stained with English blood
murderously shed. But s regards any further indulgence which may be
extended to them, and the condition in which they may hereafter be
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placed, they must throw themselves upon the justice and mercy of
the British Government.

To those amongst them who shall promptly come forward and give
to the Chief Commissioner their support in the restoration of pesce
and order, this indulgence will be large, and the Governor-Goneral
will be ready to view liberally the elaims which they may thus acquire
to a restitution of their former rights,

As participation in the murder of Englishmen or English-
women will exclude those who are guilty of it from all mercy, so
will those who have protected English lives be specially entitled
to consideration and leniency.

Allahabad, the 36th April 1858,

It is the melancholy duty of the Right Hon'ble the Governor-
General to announce the death of that most distinguished officer, Cap-
tain Sir Willlam Peel, k.08, late in comnmand of Her Mnje_ﬁt}"g Blﬁp
Shannon, and of the Naval Brignde in the North-Western Provinces,

Sir Willinm Peel died at Cawnpore, on the 27th instant, of small-
pox. He had been wounded at the commencement of the last advance
upon Lucknow, but had nearly recovered from the wound, aud wason
his way to Caleutta, when struck by the disease which has brought
his honourable career to an early elose.

Sir William Peel's services in the field during the last seven
months are well known in India and in Evgland, Butit is not so
well known how great the value of his presence and example has been,
wherever, during this eventful period, his duty has led him,

The loss of his daring but thoughtful courage, joined with eminent
abilities, is a very heavy one to his country ; but it is not maore to
be deplored than the loss of that influence, which his earnest character,
admimble temper, and gentle kindly bearing exercisad over all
within his reach: an influence which was exerted unceasingly for the
public good, and of which the Governor-General believes that it mny
with truth be said that there is not a man of any rank or professivn
who, having been associated with Sir William Peel in these times
of anxiety and danger, has not felt and acknowledged it,

By order of the Right Hon'ble the Governor-General of Tndia,

(8&) G. F. EDMONDSTONE,
Secy. to the Goul. of India,
Foreign Dept,
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GENERAL ORDERS by the Right Hon'ble the Governor-General of
India, dated Allahabad, the 18th March 1858,

No. 35 of 1858.—The Right Hon'ble the Governor-General is
pleased to publish for general information the following letter from
the Deputy Adjutant-General of the Army, forwarding returns of the
casunltie® jn the force under the command of His Excellency the

» Commander-in-Chief, from the 2nod to the Oth March 1858, inclusive,
with a list of the officers who have been killed or wounded since the
latter date.

From (ke Depuly Adiutant-General of the drmy, fo the Scevefary do the Govern-
ment of India, Military Departwient, with the Governor-General,—No, 139.4,
dated Head- Quarters Camp, befire Tueknow, the 12th Mareh 1555,

By desire of the Commander-in-Chief, T have the honour to

o A enclose returns of t.hiz casualties in
the force under His Excellency’s com-  the force under His Excelleney's
< Iﬂ'[::- the 2d o the Oth imstent o vand, from the 2nd to the Oth
instant, inclusive,

2. Bince the latter date the following officers have been killed or

wounded—
On 10th March 1858.

Captain C. A, Sanford, 5th Punjab Cavalry, killed.

Ligutenant F, E, H. Farquharson, Her Majesty's 420d Highlanders,
wounded severely,

Captain C. W, MecDonald, Her Majesty's 98rd Highlanders,
wounded slightly. '
Licutenant O, L. Smith, 4th Punjab Rifles, wounded severely.

On 11th March 1853.
Captain W. R. Moorsom, Her Majesty’s 52nd Light Infantry,

Deputy Assistant Quartermaster-General, killed.

Acting Mate Garvey, Royal Naval Brigade (Her Majesty's ship

Shannon) killed,

Captain C. W. McDonald, Her Majesty's 93rd Highlanders, killed.
Lieutenant C. W. Serjison, Her Majesty’s 93rd Highlanders, killed,
Captain W. F. Thynne, 2nd Battalion, Rifle Brigade, killed.
Lieutenant L. E. Cooper, 2nd Battalion, Rifle Brigade, killed,
Major W.'S. R. Hodron, Hodson's Horse, mortally wounded, (since
dead),
04



500 THE INDIAN MUTINY

Major A. Taylor, Bengal Engineers, wounded severely.

Captain G. P. Prevost, Her Majesty’s 23rd Fusiliers, wounded
soverely.

Lisutenant G, W. H. Bussell, Her Majesty's 23rd Fusiliers,
wounded slightly.

Captain Miller, Her Majesty's 70th Highlanders, wounded slightly,

Licutenant Grimston, Her Majesty's 93rd Highlanders, wunnrled
slightly.

Ensign Hastie, Her Majesty's 93rd Highlanders, wounded slightly.

Licutenant A, McL. Stewart, 4th Punjab Rifles, wounded slightly.

(S H. W. NORMAN, Maj.,
Depy, ddjt.-Genl. of the drmy.

Numerical vetuwrn of killed, wounded, and missing in the drmy under
the command of His Excellency the Commander-in-Chief on

the 2nd March 1858,
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Nominal Roll of Euwropeans killed, wounded, and missing in the
Army under the command of His Excellency the Commander-

in-Chief.
——= ——r
¥o. I Carps. | Hank. ] (Numes, Bemnrks,
1 | ¥aral Brignde (Her Majeaty’s ship | 4. B. Seaman . | Jobn MscCann - [ Killed,
Hhamnom, ) 4
2 Ditto we | Bontewnin'smate| James Toery o 'il.':lnd.ql danger.
oualy,
a3 'blﬂ&:‘rmp. st Brigads, Morse Artil- | Gunner s | dohn Floming ... | Sovere sontusbon.,
4 | Brigads Stafl .. i on | Brigadier .. | A. Little e | Wemnided saverely,
8 | Her Majosty’s ith Lancers e | Private we | Homry Tomer .. Ditte  ditin,
[ Ditia ae | Dita e | Willlinen Whitaker | Missing from hos
¥ | 1st Bikh Trregular Cavalry v | Liouterant .. | A R.D. Mackensie | Woundad slightly,
B | fler Majosty's 34ih Begiment = | Corpoiral e | Goorgs Bethell ... Ditta  ditta,
] DHito 3sth  ditto we | Private e | Thomas Fam .. Dilto  weverely,
b1 Ditto ditte s | Diktto s | Thoman Walsh .. Ditto  slighily,
un Ditio  dind Mighlanders .| Ditio ™ iIlnud!r‘.IlchL Ditto  ditko,
i,
Heap-Qramreas Caxr, () H. W. NORMAN, Na;.,
Dinxooans PAnk, Ll:ln':lcwg}

The tud March 1568, Dwpy. Adje-Genl, af the drmy.

" Numevical vetwrn of killed, wounded, and missing in the Army un-
der the command of His Excellency the Commander-in-Chief,
on the Srd March 1858,
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The #ih March 1538,

Depy. Adjf.Geal, of the Army,
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Nominal voll of Europeans killed, wounded, and missing in the-
Army under the command of His Excellency the Commander-

in-Chief,

Ko, ’ Corps, Rank.

|

Knsma, I Remnrks,

Her Majesty's 42nd Highlanders ... | Lance Corporal

Andrew Morrison |' Wounilad seversly,

Hean-Qoanrees Cauy,
Brogsronm ;
The dih March 1555,

{84) H.W.RKORMAN, Maf.,
Dupy. Adjt.-Genl, of the Army,

Numerical veturn of killed, wounded, and missing in the Army
wnder the command of His Ezcellenoy the Commander-in-

Chief on the jth March 1858,
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(L) H. W, NORMAXN, Ay,
Diepy. Adjt.Genl. of the Army,

* Sic in original,
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Nominal vroll of Europeans killed, wounded, and mizssing in the
Army under the command of His Ezcellency the Commander

in-Chizf.
=== —— !
Ko I Corpa. Rank, | Namos. Hemarks,
! | F Troop, Rayal Horse Artillery ... | Gumner o | Willium Motoal! | Woanded.,
% |8tk Company, Uth Battalion, Roysl| Do. .| FrancsLewson..| Do  slighily,
Artillory,
8 | Har Majosiy's S4th Rogiment . .. |Private .. |Pat.Brenan ..| Do severely,
4 |18t Bomgs! Fusiliers - | Do ws | I, Bhiphon | Do alightly.
Heap-Quarrees Canr nvore Locksow, (Bd)  H. W, NORMAN, My,
Tha Gth March 1858, } Depy. Adjt..Genl. af the Army,

Numerical return of killed, wounded, and missing in the Army u:ri-
der the command of His Escellency the Commander-in-Chief -
on the 6th March 1858.

— =
)
Ercen, | Worxpep || Mmsrva,

Cawalry Division—3th Punjab Cavalry .. =
2u Infantry Division—Her Majesty’s 8iih Regiment ., i il

Toial o
Grand Total -

e

* Wounded on the 4th March,
HEAD-QUARTERS cawp exvoRg l.t:mw.} (8.

1. W. NORMAN, Maj,
The 6th March 1553,

Depy. Adjt.-Geal. of the Army,
Nominal roll of Europeans kitled, wounded, and missing in the Army
under the command of His Excellency the Cnmmandeﬂ-in-{.‘hirf.

A —
o, ' Corpe. J Rank, I Mamaes, J Remarks,
1 | Hor Mujosty's Bith Reglumimt .. | Private s | John Pritchard w | Wonnded IIM_;
3 Ditta ditto Da, .| Jumes Camphell . Do,  meverely
HEs0-QuaNTERS Caxe BEFORE LUCKNUW; (8d) H. W. NORMAN Maj.,
Ihe 6k Mareh 183, } '

Dery. ddji-Genl, of the drmy,
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Numerical veturn of killed, wounded, and missing in the Army

under the command of His Excellency the Commander-in-
Chief on the Gth Mareh 1558.
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Nominal roll of Europeans killed, wounded and missing in the
Army under the command of His Ezxcellency the Commander-
in-Chief on the Gth March 1855.
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Numerical veturn of killed, wounded and missing in the Army un..

der the command of His Excellency the Commander-in-Chief
on the Pth Mavch 1858,
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Nominal voll of Europeans killed, wounded and missing in the

Army under the command of His Excellency the Commander
in-Chief on the Tth March 1558,
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(L) B W. NURMAN, Mo, -
Dy, ddjtG.nl, of the Army,
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Numerical return of Lilled, wounded and misging in the Adrmy
under the command of His Escellensy the Commander-in-
Chief on the Sth Mavch 1858.
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el
mrm mmma;m RtﬂM How'blz the Governor-General of
India in Council,—dated Allahabad, the 25th March 1838, ']"
~ No. 46 of 1858.—Tn eontinuation of General Ordor No. 35, of
~ 18th instant, the Right Hon'ble the Governor-Gleneral is plunii to
publish for gencral information further returas of casunlties in the force
‘under the command of His Excellency the Commander-in-Chief, ﬂ'nw-
~ the 10th to the 15th March 1858, inclusive,
- By order of the Right Hon'ble the Governor-General.

(8l) R. 3 H. BIRCH, Cul,
Bm 20 the Gont. of India, Mily. Dept.

-Nmn-rfmi return of Eillad, wnwm!ed. and missing in the AW
under the command of His Escellency the ﬂﬂmmml
Gﬁirf on the 10th of Marah 1858.
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Majosty's 42nd Fiighlanders. .. [ [ 1 T = o
‘Sod Ialantry Division .4 Dittn Wi da. = b s 5 e m
\Iﬁ'hujfhlih - 2 b 1 il IS
=rd Regnl Welsh Prsillers i e LS 1 -
o oth Royal Wighltamiters .., wi il Wl - i
o ™ | 2nd Battalion, Ritle Brigade 2 ol ol {5 sl LIRSS
ful Punjab Infantry -y 1 6 oy
= e Majraty's 20th Regimemt iy 8 I (1] 2 58 sy 5
e = h[ﬂuﬂnm - - . o T e fo
Total w1 el L u-udi 'I
Girand Total N | A
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HuanQuasrees CAMF BEroRs Lr.-:mr,] B4} HL W, XORMAN, Jfaj,
The 111k March 1585, Depy. Adjt.-Genl, of the Army,



in-Chief,

nral Brigada .. o Main Willim .- Wm.ﬂﬂh -
= ! Liitin . = s “:r Jﬂlﬁﬂ#ﬂh - I, 1 -
F IHtto P FOE G TR asi M‘%Ihm b T, 5
I Dt s - SN .. | John Richardson .. Tin, %
5 | Gih 11th Batialion, s | Ho A, Trncey e Do, ;
o e ditte o | Gonnerand driver | John we| Dovdn,
4 Py el : a e e 1 i
b | Hor S i Mieh. d 35 oy == Wounded severely,
10 | sth Puniuh Astfutnnt Smiih w| ma i
ki M Bl High- | Capinin - E.%' w| Do, mglm
n stod Tigh- | Privale w | M. Durgess - Do da. 3
1| ditln | Do, .. o | . Sinelaie - ]
e ﬁx ditte .| Do 0 o | . Whita ., o || 5+ ..x:., :
18 tha dittn ot Do | . Brown .., wsn I, i, =
. i ditto | PRy s o | P Burks . e Do, L
# H fits | Do, o i me w| Do %
18 Titin dittn S I iy | W e - D, e
1 [ diilo L e A o | - Monteith - | Do,  dammiromily,
2| Do e e =] & Firiden ed [ 5 '.
8 hie  fm cimT oiEleel o om AR
5| Dilo -| Dol | A Howie 2 m| Do slishily.
g ito d wi| Din s wi | & MeLinren b i, -
1 ditto el O . Me] e - Tim, s
3 ta dgitte .| Do T ] B T e ] B 4
- tin dit o (g i od o | xied. i
50| Hor Majesty's %ord migh: | Do 3 A | Woundid slightly,
el Ditio ditta Do s | LR . w| Da,  dn. !
o ditto Doy e we | F, Andersom an Thoy o,
B Ditto ditin D, we e { I Blnidl e i M. do, L
= '.[:Eln 'lhﬂlq.“ﬂ - n;l:. e o | s Mhﬂi‘w s ﬁ &
T T s | Privain A i L <o
~ + ‘tnd B o i d
= m ditin i 5 | e | Worrnded L.
B [ 1t Malestys THB TOGE. |Soremii o | Wilkh Daire’ | Mpeged slightly.
3 1itta ditta .. | Privais = Miller =
“ s Lation, Bl Drigads | Serpeai o | Wiiam Rioharas o ngdml:.ﬁ'
g o Ll b L R B
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Chief, om the 11th March 1533,

Brigade H. M.’ Ship Shannon | 1], .
Astillery Division .. { Siege Ariillery . ot
Pield do, .. P

Tengal Sappers aol Miners i
“U Puniab Tioneers ... B

Engineer Drigads

Her Majenty’s #nd Dmgoon Guands
#nd Panjab Cavalry -
[ Her Majesty's i2nid Highlanders
Ditts  &ird Regimms
ond Infantry Division ~.{  Ditte  $0th  da,

Ditte  #3nd Highlanders

Lath Pomjub Rilles "
Ninjraty's Sird Rayal Welsh Fusj-

- Her o TRth Highlanders ...

~ = _'uluwwrnﬂuu C

. gnd Pattalion, Bifte Briguda =y

anl Do do,

L2nd Puniah Infantry
Mnjesty’s il Begiment
Ditte  §fth . do,

Caraley Dividon = Hodson's Horse ..,

1st Infamiry do, » Btufl e
Toinl

‘Grand Tutal

Caralry Disision

k. De, de,

I wtomoemompn S uifB ol oansuws

Hein-Qrasrens Qawr prvors Loocxow,
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_—

Runk.

Ps [ f
i

i

* FRR e

i

T
,%';EE

B*
5
i

%ﬁ

2

€, W, MeDonald ...
C. W, Sergison ...
R. V.8, Grimstong
. Hastia -
bt Punjah Rifles (b ¥.1) .. e | A ML L Steward .
Hor Majesty’s 430 Highlanders ate Ordihias .
dditio JﬂhB‘m ety
ditte Willlam Stirling ..
dittn Jobm Hiddla Fe
diite Henry Morrisen .,
ditto Thomms Watt ..
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gomi;d rnﬂ nfﬂm Killed, wounded, and mmgﬁ}l_ﬁl
Army under the command of HuE:uHm; the Commander-
in-Chisf—(Coutd.)

Corpai. Rank, |  Nume

w
£

Hor Majesty's a2l Highlanders | Semgeant .. | Josph Munsford

)
50 Ditio ditto Privita ... | Robert Holuses e
n Ditto ditto Ditta Willinm Minnis ...
e Tiitso ditto Private ot | Wranois Doyla ..
n Ditto ditto .| Dite .| (harles Fraser
-1 Ditlo dittas .. DMitte . | Rossld Black ..
] Dt ditte . Ditte .. | Georyge ¥Yates ..
k- Ditte otk Reglment .., | Color-Serpeant) G, Hulsey Yoy
a7 Ditta ditte. .. | Private ... | William Poloey ..,
= Ditto ditto .. | Ditto .| William Perr .
£ Ditte  pird Highlanders ... | Bergeant .. | Jumes Gaw = .
L Ditia diu.u wi | Oorporal .. | Goorge Bteale ...
41 Dijtio ditta. . | Private .. | Willlam Oubbin ..
a Ditto ditta ... Ditte . | Goorgs [nnes .,
@ Trto ditto .| ‘Ditte | Jumes Kay o
o Titta ditts .. Ditlo ... | Jamas Einnesr ...
£ Titto ditta’ .. Ditte  ...| Jobn MoBwan ..
4@ Tlita ditte ... Ditty  ...| Johs MeGregor ..,
o Diita ditte .| Ditte .| Jumes Martin
#|  Ditto dito .| Ditto .| Dunfel Purk ..
s Ditta ditto .| Ditto .| Hewrs RBeadin .,
0 Ditto ditte  ..| Ditte .| Sohn Franck ..
ﬂ. Itta ditte .. | Sergeamt John Dysart e
” Ditta ditto w| DI . | John MeWillan .
= Ditto ditto | Dt .. | John Weddorspoon
[ Ditta ditto .. | Corporal .. | Willlsm Hinds ..
3 Diito ditte .. Ditts ... | Bolomen Whits ...
86 Ditta ditto .. | Pelvate .| Chorlas Hailey ..
T Diita ditte .| Ditta .| Georss Broes ..
B Titin ditta .. Ditte .. | Peter Calthnees® ...
o Ditto ditte .| Ditte . |Arthor Campbell ..
il Ditto ditto .| " Dite .. |John Conmer .
- Ditto ditte .| Ditte .| Willilam Collis .,
" Disto ditte | Dite . |JamesCunmineham

E
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Nominal roll of Europeans killed, wounded, ﬂlﬂ’
Army wnder the command of His Excellency the
in-Chiefa~{Contd.)
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rmmqmmmmm

Amyun&rmmmudqﬂﬁm“
in-Chief—{Concld.)
“—__%— = =
Ha, Curpm, Hask Hazes, l-uu;--
:-Wﬁmmm o | Prasik Franeis ...I:-.u
| Dite  whHigtsden [oupmin o foowwme | D ly,
e Thite dinto Sorprant o | Jumew Melaren .. | Ditls hubily,
wm|  Daw @an | Corporsl .| Jaimen Melveald — | Dilts  seeerelys
e Ditda ditte Privale . |Georgs Loflerty .| Ditte ity
i j 1T ditho Puin - | Willam Gregory .| Ditts
_ 208 | it Burpens Dergnl Pesifirs o | Ditla o | Danlel Plasoery .| Diite
308 | 2nd Maitalion, Rifle Hrignde . | Capiain W.F Thyene _ | Killed,
B ] Ditta dit o | Enslgn .. 0L K Cooper ..'W- =
347 | $nd Batialion, Nifle Beigade .. | Corporsl ... | J. Loaden - | Wonnded slighety,
| D dints . iPrivats | Darkd Hewdes | Ditio @il
1 THita ditie s | THitn v | Jobin Norrin - mu—.*"
| Due Gille . iDitte  ..|OweeSeih .| Ditls  meally,
m Inita ditta o | Dittn we | 7. Turner | Ding m
s I diite dtte . |Ditta .| Robert Haeding .| Dise wnedy,
m| D Gitte .. [Dite  _|Jdmlgeeh | Dine dn,
116 | Hae Majenty's 00k Rogiment . |Serpoant ... | A. Dempoey | Dl sighty,
m Ditta ditta w | Privale | W. Torier - | Ditle  ditta,
1 Ditta o dito = | Ditte e | V., Davey o | Do severly,
m| b die . IDie L lCBekty .| Dine aim
e Bitrn ditin o | ikt = | 4, Stursss - Pite  dme
™| Die 4o LDt . |Chrt Moty ~| Diia ety
m Ditts Wik ditio = | Ditte o= | 3. MeDomutd ._*nu. “'
B2 Halwe's Hersm - o | Hajor | W. 8. K Hodson .. %H‘
103 | Bt 1t Tntuntey Diviskem _|li-_....'l.lur— v | Ritie,
Bus g el | G4 MW NORMAN,
The 188 March e, Depy. ddjtaGenl, of the drmy,



. Numerical return of killed, wounded, and missing in the Army
under the command of His Eaxcellency the Commander-in-
Claef, on"the 12th March 1858.
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Kriiep. ||Worspap, || Missrmso,
£ .| g I1E
SR
13 E "5
o REERMEF R
ERe By MET
E|ES i% 1 iu
Bicillinhe
h’-; Fﬁlﬁz =|ﬁJHH
Ardillery Division H{Hm.immmm e _]_4 i S P
4 Bagineer Brigade ... { Punish Sappers e o o o B g sl 1
: S Intuntry Divisin .. { PigoNetys S Rt o gl ot o belded = i
5 Do da, mnn‘:'tl-lim %mmnm ol i o m!"‘"* 0t o g
. “lend Punjab ntmatey = o ol ol b =
b Do g M Majeiys b Regiment o (odof o ffl D] S LT
. Total S Y O g T e
Grand Total . .. 1 I i LA W
HuanQrakrues CaMF FEFOLE L'l'dl.l“.} (Bl) H W, Hﬂﬂnﬁ’.lﬁ. i
Tiie 1358 March 1558,

Depy, Adjt.~Genl. of the Army.
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Nominal roll of Europeans killed, wounded, and missing in the
Avmy under the command of His Excellency the Commander-
in-Chief.

ks,

L}
No Oorpa, Bank, ' Names, Eemar

1({8d C Peels | H
f:mlil{q ith DBattalion, F;:Ht:_-:_ nnd | Henry Higging .. Wounded saverely,
2 | Her Maojety’s 3ith Bogiment ... “mln .hi-h’-@l- W. J. Loltns e | Ditio ditta,
1L W
HOBR Siadis c|EESulmeee o
rittn ' »es | Gl A d I
1 THitin ditto Frivae e | David Rag R b Fiivd
[ Ditto ditto THtto wes | Jolens Sum “| Dika it
¥l Trittn ] dirta Initto ees | Willknm Rentt o | Ditto  mrversly,
§ | #0d Battalion, Rifle Arignde .| Ditia o |Jowmph Lomman .. | Ditto  ditta,
¥ | #nid b Infaniry Lieutenant ... (P, W. Powlett .. | Ditio dittn,
0 | Fler Majosty's 20th Regiment Privaio William Joyoe Ditto ditn,
Eran QuinTess Caur neponr Lrﬂ_mt,} (84) ° H. W. NORMAN, aj.,
n-mm-mlm, Depy. Adft.. Ganl. of the Army,
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Numerical veturn of killed, wounded, and missing in the Army
: under the command of His Excellency the Commanderin-

Chief, on the 13th Mawch 15858,
s T Krtien, ” Wouspn. ﬁ
Sos 5 § g”
H .Efgi
L

Naval Brignde, 5. M. 8h i
Avtillery Diviskon .#{ No. 20 Light Plold Battogy T - PeuRON| o
ey R A T g

ppers
Huginesr Rrignde ...{l!r.rjl Plonewrs... it
Punjab -

p wem L

i

Caval o, - - . o
=nd I.:LItr,r Division ... Her Msjesty's 3th Bogiment
o Majesty’s 23rd Frisiliorn
or - (] il
3l Do do . o Tit Highlanders

En:;];nn 'I.r'l;n!'l.n'lhr e
=t
#h Da de. . fReGRNEUREDS Reim

FETEEELS
Frip i e it

N F R AR

Totsl o
Gradd Total ' kg
|}
lun#:nﬂ:-ﬂur, (B)  H. W, KORMAN, Maj.,
The tith March 1585, Lepy. ddjt,-Genl, of tha Army,

Nominal roll of Ewropeans killed, wounded, and missing in the
Army wnder the command of His Ezcellency the Conmander-

in-Chief,
—_— —
No. Corps. Rash, Numsa, Eemuarks,
i
l 1 2 -
H;;ﬂy—'rﬂ'i:ialﬁ H. Ms Ehip | A B - s | Bdwnrd Robinsog ﬁ':“ml;dﬂ
2 | and lirigads, Bongal Horse Artil.| Officiating Apolbeary | R, W, Beals . Bevere confusion on
3 [Her Majosty's 3tk Regiment ... | Private ... i | Blichnel Loaky e e
8| e "7 it | Do * % E-nbrutsu: ] i e
© [Her Majosty’s 3ed Fuaitiors . | Hompital Apprantioe” | I Promeroerson e et
7 Dittn ditta e yaa Tl !h Lm.“IT
8 | Her Majesty*s ?;Hh Tighlnnders Irlsllu"l.‘ [ iy JM:.I-E:;-:L‘ “‘[To“‘d - o
¥ | Dittg Soth Regiment ... | Do, b o | Joseph Memd D ..,..;‘“‘ ¥
W | Ditte bth  ditw .. | Corporal - Admims D, =
1| Ditte ditto - | Privasa o~ |B. Mebovett .| Do .u,""ﬂ'.b
HEip.QuaRTNRs CANT BEFONE Lycesow, {34 ‘E. W. NORMAN, Maj,
The 1a¢h Merch 15, }

Depy. AidftGenl, of the Army,
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 Humerical return of killed, wounded and missing in the Army
under the command of HuEmmmcym&mmm_

Chief, on the 15th March 1858,

| Ndn-commissionad ofioors, drom.
N

_m_
%ﬂn' s
| mees, rank
“Horses,

{i e

- Naval Brigad, T1. M.'s Ship
m’m { Shannon e ver famafsr | e lis . d
Siege Artillary TR A P ool P I

- Bengal Sappers and Miners | |..| 1| 1..Lof o [
‘f'lhﬁ-r Erigade < Delbi  Fioneers ...J o e B

hj* w LI S L T '0-“ 4
mﬂﬁﬁi e s Lo T8 LR 0] e L R LT
a%-mhh;nhi-{nu :t-j.-u,-. mn».-.t

ment welsd] 1 .| 1

Her Majeste® ﬂmn-;.: :
3 Iatay nm-{ Welsh Faliees o (5[5 [
. 20d Pnjab Tofantry o | o] o
ol St - )

~. ' Eu!-jutfnmm.__,_... 3
&b Tofantey Disi.] Do 20t Regimem [l 7 |yl 22

- 1

1

5

T pen Do. 90k o
.

iy Do, 8%th  do. | 1.

1 | Regiment of Ferozepore ... | 1/. weflan foua| B3 HL) L] S0

o Total o |l f 20 [T 3 |we

e + Grand Total - 2 |.] 136 [.o 3 F .
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in-Chief.

Amyunﬁrquﬂum&n ﬁnﬂuﬂﬁ.«.

. Numes,

BBNE e S

Ditta
Ditto v | AL B wss | Alfrod Green
mh. - mllonl Henry Brummage ...
Royal Artillary ... | Major o |W.W. Barry ...
g R
Artillery,
llm“jn:fl 36th uxmt-cm- T. C. Kelly g
Ditto v | Brevet-Major o | B, T. Gloster ...
Ditto v | Bergeant-Major | Patrick MeFadden .
Ditto o | Sergeant ... |Joseph Bell A%
Ditta we | Corporal ... | George Leadbetter ...
Ditta ver | Private - | Bdward Hill e
Ditta we | Ditta sss | Philip Jones o,
Ditto . | Ditta w- | Jobin Alger =
Ditto ~ | Diite oo | William Viner .,
Ditto Ditte we | Edward Harrod
Ditte. .| Ditto v | William Bied ...
Ditto v | Ditto oss | Henry Boyoa -
Ditto we | Ditto s | Jobn Mungsn ..
Ditto v | Ditto «se | Patrick Cassiday ...
Ditta .. | Ditta - | Goorge Reach .,
Ditto o | Drammer .. | Thomas Grey e
Her Majesty's 2%rd | Sergeant ... | Fabez Care o

7
;
£

Ditto
Ditta
Severely burnt,
Woundaed,
‘Ditto alightly.
Dittn ditta. :
Ditte  saverely, .I
Ditto  ditto.
Do $isie S
Ditto  ditte,
-y
Ditto  ditts,
Ditto  dittn,
Ditta  ditto,
Ditto  dittas
dide, TS
|
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THE ISDIAY NUTIRY

Nominal roll of Europeans killsd, wounded, and missing in the
Army under the command of His Evcellency the Commander-
in-Chief—(Contd.)

No. Corps. Rank. Kames, Remerks.
24 | Her Majesty's 23rd | Privete . | John Clarke «+ | Wounded slightly.
Royal Welsh Fuai-
Hera,
] Ditto ws | Ditte i | William Bangay .. | Ditto seversly,
26 Diitta we | Ditto «. | John Gwatkin v | Killed,
27 H!u:-jut:'l ik | Ditter we | M. Pogarey - | Do
23 Tiitto s | Ditto wo | M, MoGairy | Do
= Ditio | Ditte s | B Mabony as | ‘D
a0 Ditta v+ | Captain «es | 4. Catar v | Womnded sevorefy,
i Ditta s | Corporst e | Rysn wo | Bitto  slighty,
i Ditta v+ | Private w | M. Hemmessy = Ditto  severely,
a3 Ditto « | Ditier s | B Tirosley « | Ditte  dibo,
3 Ditto «. | Ditta e | B Phailan e | Ditta dangeronaly,
a5 Ditto s | Ditta wer | P Pureell Ditte  dittes
26 Ditto s | Ditto v | T. Bummers 3 Ditto  slightly,
a7 Ditto - | Ditto s | L« Castelle we | Ditte  severely,
a8 Ditto - | Ditta R Eeybarn oo | Ditte  ditto,
0 Ditto ws | Ditto «: | €. Conmors w. | Ditto  ditto.
40 Ditta w | Ditto o | - Murphy oo | Ditto  slightly,
41 Ditta e | Ditta ase | I, Cronch we | Ditte  ditro,
42 Ditto wes | Corporal wee | s Alp we | Ditto  severely,
43 Ditta «: | Private oo | . Akers we | Ditto  ditte.
4 Ditto s | Ditto v+ | 4. Hastings we | Ditte.  ditte.
45 Ditta « | Ditta ver | 7 Bidey we | Ditte  ditto,
46 Ditto we | Ditta v | M, Cromers . | Ditto dasgerously,
a7 Ditta v | Ditto «s | T. Bterling « | Ditto slightly,
15 Ditta - | Ditta w. | P, Shea o | Ditta mortally,
AL Ditto | Ditta M. Bilk v | Ditta  slightiy.




NOMINAL ROLL OF EUROPEANS KILLED AND WOUXDED 527
Nominal voll of Ewropeans killed, wounded, and missing in the

Army under the command of His Excollency the Commander-
in-Chief—(Contd.)

— ————
Nao. Corpa, Rank. Names, Remarks,
‘60 | Her Majesty's 101h | Private e | D, Tenchen v | Wounded seversly,
Foot,
81 Ditto ve | Corporal s | M. Thenmally .| Ditto slightly,
&2 Ditta ws | Drummer s | o Cumming . | Ditto dangerously,
53 Ditto wes | Private ses | . Connel oo | Ditto  severaly,
50| Her Majesty's 20th | Ditio we | d Farsden o | Killed,
Heglmant,
55 Ditta wi | Ditto - | E. Halliday s | DNtto.
a6 Ditta we | Ditto « | C. Hilla «. | Ditta,
a7 Ditto «» | Ditto o | B, Walker s | Ditto,
48 Ditto o | Ditto wr | W. Watson s | Ditta,
59 Ditto we | Ditto w | N. Moore we | Ditta,
] Diitto v | Ditto we | J. Webber s« | Ditta,
61 Ditto e | Major w | W, Radelif 1o | Wounded,
62 Ditto s | Private ws | T. Wintanly . | Ditte,
6| Dito | Ditto o | T. Sullivan we | Ditto,
6| Dito w | Dinte we |A Chamberlsin  ...| Ditto,
63 Ditto we | Ditta s | J. Doyle e | Ditte -u.wr.'
[ 7 Ditta sos | Ditto ses | H. Masterson we | Ditte ditto, I
6| Diteo w.| Ditte o | R Marrow - | Ditte ditto,
Efl Ditto we | Ditto w+ | A, Cang st | Ditta ditta.
[ Ditta s |  Ditto = | G. Joyea s | Ditte  ditto, -
70| Disto -] ‘Ditio we | 3. CetBield | Ditte  ditte.
i Ditto w. | Ditta = | J. Banister oo | Ditts  diteo, :
72| Do «: | Ditto we | G. Abhott « | Ditto  dieta. °
.4 Diiee wo | Ditto +- | G, Lineoln s | Ditto  ditto,
L | Il;r.!jlj:j.:ty*l B0tk | Ditto w | D. Sharps o Fﬁi;:;c:mulh
95| Die w | Ditto w: | 8. Smith .| Ditto ditte,




2r2ER=8sRazecanEs gy § -

1..., ’
T

Lo agilki

— — L T - —
ominal roll of Europeans RKilled, wounded, and missing in the
Amymmmmndufﬂ‘urbmﬂmoy'ﬂiﬂﬂmﬁﬁ- o
in-Chief—(Contd.) : .
———— ® -
Corpa.
Hm'l B0tk | Privata we | 3. W. Wager - wm‘m-‘
Ditia « | Ditto ws | 1. King Ditte - ditte.
Ditta - | Ditta « | 4. Kilddoery we | Ditte  dikto.
Ditte «» | Ditto w [H.Crompton ... | Wounded severely,
Ditto Ditto e | 4. Watson e | Ditto  ditto, ]
Ditto Ditta v | O. MeCana | Ditto  ditto,
Diite | Ditte sas | 1. Hurper .| Ditte  ditto,
Ditlo we| Ditto we | 4 Field w.| Ditto  ditte,
Ditt we| Ditto ~ | 1. Godtrey . | Ditto  Qitt,
Ditto we| Ditts o | J. Pesney o | Ditto  ditta,
Ditto ‘+ | Ditta v | C. Stuart Ditta  ditta,
Ditto w. | Ditte w«: | W. Canning ee | Ditte  ditte,
Ditte- ws | Ditto ws | 4 Ulph | Ditto ditto,
Ditta v | Ditta ver | 4. Wilson w| Ditto  slightly,
Ditto o | Ditto wir | G, Witchalls Ditte  dikto,
Ditto .. | Ditto . | A, Jordan we| Ditto  ditte.
Ditto v | Ditto oo |F. McKenoa .| Ditto ditto,
Ditta « | Ditto o | 3. Farrell «» | Ditta  dilte,
Ditto we|Corporal . | D.MeMullia ... | Killed -
Ditto we | Private <o | F. Buunders v+ | Ditto,- .
g Dittn «: | Corporal e | T 0. W, Ingram .. | Wounded alightly,
9 -w- 97th Li.:.hlnt.cnh- Singleton .| Ditta  ditta,
98| Dite v | Private . | W. Turner cw | Ditte  ditto,
9|  Dito v | Sergosnt-Major | T. 0'Hara Ditto  ditto.
100 | Dio +«: | Color-Sergeant ... | D. 0"Keels | Ditte  ditto,
101 Ditte . | Bergean: oo | T Fumil oo | Ditto  ditto, .
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w maf Hﬂad, wounded. and miﬂiw
16 under the command ofﬂfgmmy the CommanderinChis
= onthe 15th March 15855, '

F —_— —

mars, rank and filo.
THorse.

Nativa officers,
“Non-commissionnd offioars, drame

1
[ 5th Company, 1%th Batta.
N amhqﬂ Artillerr,
Artillery Division ¢ umpany, 14th Datta- |
N lom, Rayal Artillery,
drd Company, 5th Bartalion,
Rayal Artillery,

ud Punjub Infantry,

Her Majoaty's 20th Regi .| .
Hm_nl:,
Fi E
B" wjeaty’s 9tk Regi-
er ‘s
Mujesty's 97th Regi- |

wer
¥

i
3

Tol .|

i |-n ma

l.?‘

;nl—ﬂuhmtl Caup H. W. RORMAN Maj.
« W, 1 -

The 1614 March 1535, Depy. Adjt-Gent of the drmy.




Depy. Adjt.-Genl, of the Army,

Bmw‘
Private Ditto
Ditto Diitto
Ditta Ditto
Ditto Ditto
Ditto Diite
Ditte Ditto
Eegiment.
10 | fler Majesty's 90th | Ditto we | M, Breenan w | Ditte
Regiment,
1 | Her Majesty’s 97th Difto w | W. Resce v | Ditto
Regiment,
Iz -ﬁh ﬂll e mﬂ - Ttw . Ditta
n Dkt "m . mh wis | Js cﬂ'll . Ditto
14 Ditto ditto .. | Dittg o | B, Buskotfield ... Dicto
15 Ditte ditte ...| Dit e | G, Kenidal Ditto
16 Ditto ditta . Diittn ws | J. Drowne i Ditto
17 Ditta ditto .. | Ditto s | F. Drennan - Ditto
18 Ditte  ditta ... | Ditto e | Wo Ainsworth ., | Dista
1| Dits  ditte .. | Ditig o | B Hart - | Missing, supposed o hayg
. been blown up,
20 Ditte  ditte ... | Ditte ses | J. Prescott ver | Killedd,
Hran.Qeanrens Canp (81.) 0. W. KORMAN, Aaj,,
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ERRATUM—At page 74 of the Governor-General's Camp Gazelte,
dated the 26th March, the lust portion of the Nominal Roll of
Europeans killed, &e.,, in the army before Luecknow, having been

ineorrectly printed, the following is to be substituted Sor it :—

No. Corpe, Hank Names, HRemarks.
89 | Her Majesty’s 90th | Privats wee | J, Wilson «r- | Wounded slightly,
Brgiment.
o0 Ditto ditta Diitto oo | G, Witchalls  ...| Ditto  ditto,
]| Ditto ditto Ditte ws | A Jordan we | Diitto  ditto,
02 Ditte ditto Ditto e | F. McKonna w | Ditta  ditte
3 Ditte ditto | Corporal ... | J, Furrell vo | Diitto  ditto,
1] Ditto ditta Private we | T, MeMallia e | Dtto ditto,
LE] Ditto ditta Corporal wi | F. Baunders we | Dilta ditta,
86 | Hor Majesty’s 07th | Liestonasnt | T. 0. W, Ingram .. | Killsd,
Regiment, Cuolonal,
1] Ditto ditto | Private = | Singlaton e | Ditto.
98 Disto ditte | Sergeant-Major | W. Turner s | Wounded slightly,
] Ditto ditts | Color-Sergeant | T. O'Hara we | Dinte  ditto.
100 Ditto ditto | Sergeant ... | D. O'Knefe we | Ditto ditta,
L} Ditto ditto Cerporal aee | T, Fuzsil o | Ditto ditta,
102 Dittn ditto Ditto = | W. Chornoek ... | Ditte  ditto,
103 Ditto ditto Private wre | J. Wharmby oo | Ditia ditto,
104 Ditts ditto Ditto ws | T. Rym we | Ditta  ditte,
105 Ditio ditta Dkto wes | J. Guoniog s | Dditto ditto,
106 Ditto ditto Ditto oo | 1. Kelly wr | Ditto  ditto.
107 Tiitta ditto Ditto ~ (E.P. Browna .| Ditte ditto,
108 Ditto diita Ditto aes | J. Mend we | Ditte digto,
108 | Regiment of Feroz:- | Captain s | DaCoata, 55th | Ditto  (since dead),
pore. Native Infantry,
10 Sl .., wrs | Livntemant ... | John Wall, Deputy | Killed,
Asgintant Quarter-
master-General
117 | De. .. « | Dilta we | Ogilvis, Modras Sap-| Woanded,
peres

(8d) H. W. NORMAN, M+,
Depy. Adjt.-Genl. of the drmy.
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GENERAL ORDERS by the Right How'ble the Governor-General of
India in Council,—dated Allahabad, Tth April 1858,

No. 59 of 1858.—In continuation of General Order No, 46, of the
25th ultimo, the Right Hon'ble the Governor-General is pleased to
publish, for geneml! information, further returns of easualties in the
force under the command of His Excellency the Commauder-in-Chief,
from the 16th to the 21st instant, inclusive, .

Numerical veturn of FLilled, wounded, and missing in the Army
under the command of His Excellency the Commander-in-
Chief, om the 16th March 1558.

—— - —_—
Kircen, | Wouxpen, | Missixe,
I é "
: E -]
= I'“_ =
E |E E
S0 8.0
Corps. ® 4 15 &) | = &
8l4|EF| 5|83 £l.153
Elgis.| (BT E(sia"
Sl2iEE (e - e Elm-!
elE = E ‘.EF
alE'E| | g IgEigs
E=§'fiias_-‘§_=tg.'
HE EE glZ|E|z5 E|E£[.E§
-l m LEAR-] - =2
o Rl &2 " iz iz Bl
|
Siegs  Ird Company, Bth Battalion |
Artillery Roval  Artillery 2 Inides g E . . T R
Division ) Field | 3rd Brigade, Dengal Hm
Artillery .. wfol o feall W] e e
5ih Company, 12th Battalion, e
Hoyal Artillery ) oy ey e T T E
Gth Company, 13th m“, TS
Royal Artillery S o S5 -l ok
Engineer Brigada .. Panjab Pioneers wat [orfein] wei lee Ll o] L i ; e
Her Majesty's 23rd Fusiliors ... (|| 1 ||} g l. il
70th Highlandern . L. | ... [« ], gl
""‘ml"‘“"f Iat European Beneal Fusiliers .. ||| 2 || 1 ; il 5
islen .. Jgry Hattalion, Kifle Urigade ., |- | o |02 1 o gl T
2nd Punjab Infantry o 5 e o e e |
Hor Majesty’s Joth Poot ., ||} 4 [0 © ol et
dth  Tnfantry - 90th Regiment | 00 O | A
Divisloa ... H-pmlntn\i‘rumnpon oas feoal s | wan |oafl 3] B .o ] Mot 1
Divisional Staff .. ol B W o 22 e EFEEE
o follmlen] Sl s
Tatal o feled 4L sl 30 | 00 2]
——— | L i) ] ¥ L
Grand Total J 4 2% 2
Heav-Quantens Caurp (8d. HW.K %
UCENOW; ; } ) ORMAR, Aef,
The 17th March 1558,

Depy. Adjt.-Genl. of the Army,
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THE ISDIAN MUTINY

Nominal voll of Europeans Lilled, wounded

Army under the command

, and missing in the
of His Excelleney the Commander-

in-Chief.
No. Corpa, Rank, Numes. Remarks,

1 | Siege  Artillery, 3ed Corparal see | Archer Franels = | Leg broken by gun
Company, Bith Batta- wheel in remoring
lion, Royal Ariillery. enptursd guns,

2 | Field Artillery, 3l | Vetorinary Sur- | T, Hickman v | Wounded slightly,
jHrl,p;lr. Horse Artil-|  goun.
=Y.

3 [5th  Company, 12th | Gunner and Dri. Sparrow we | Ditto  dikko,
Battalion, Royal | wer,

Artillery,

4 | 6th Company, 13th Ditia Woadburn v | Ditto ditto,
Battalion, Royal
Artiilery,

5 | Har Majesty"s 23ed | Private - | Richard Whita e | Killed,

Roysl Welsh Fusi-
liers,

] Ditte  ditte . | Lientonant .. | A. L. Tohin s | Wonnded saverely,

7 Diittra ditte ... | Bergennt sse | Jumes Dawann e Ditea martally,

B Thitra dirto ., Corparal vee | William Rirchie .o Diivko alightly,

9 Ditio ditto .. | Prisate vos | Thumas Flamlet Dieto dittn,

10 Ditte  ditto ... | Dita wee | Jumes Wikt w| Ditte  dirtg,

11 Ditto  dirte ... | Ditea - | Thumae Slack we | Diete  digto,
12 Thitta ditta ... Ding se | Bichard Mlemming .. IFitta ditra,
13 Thite  ditta ... | Dirio o | Jumes Muorgun Ditto dirto,
T Do ditto .. Ditig + | Thomas Harrox Diiren dites,
I5 | Her Majesty’s 70ih | Ditto wr | Jnmmes Maleolin Uitta  severely,
Highlanders,
16 (ist Boropean Bengal | Ditto ses | Thomas MeLaughlin .. | Killed,
Fusiliers,
¥ Ditta  ditte o. | Color-Sergeant ... | Thomas MeDrida Dittn,
) L] Dirta  ditte ... | Livutenant ... | Willinm Elljs « | Wounded slightly,
19 THito ditto ... | Private wee | Willham Cambridge ... itto ditra,
20 Ditta difta . [ e see | G Knowleg e | Ditto ditta,
21 Ditta  ditto «. | Ditto s | 1. Evang e | Ditta  paverely,
21 Ditta  ditta ... | Dittn se | J. Muorrissy « | Ditte  ditta,
23 Ditto ditto ... | Titto e | J. Kelly & Diittn dirto.
24 | Doing duty, 3rd Baita- Ensign oo | Draka .. = | Ditta  slightly,
linn, Wifle Brigade,
25 Ditte  ditto ... | Private s» | Thomas Higginbottom | Ditta sererely,
26 Ht; Majesty's 10th | Ditte w- | Put Phelan wne | Diied of wounds,
LR
27 | Her Majesty’s 90th | Ditke s | Willlam Cocam ... | Wounded slightly,
iment,
28 | R-giment of Ferozepore Major we | I Brasyar we | Dinta
29 | Divisional 5taf .. | Licutenant . 8. Chalmers, 53rd | Dieey seversly,
Native qunn!ry. Huh-
Assistant Commi -
General. L
s —t eSS
Heun-Quintens Caur, (8.) H.W.N ORMAN, Maj,

CENOW;

The Irth March 1555,

|

Depy. Adjt.-Geal, of the Army,
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Numerical return of killed, wounded, and misving in the Army

under the command of His Excellency the Commander-in-Chief,
on the 17th of March 1838,

: ——
KiLen, Wousomn, || Missiwa,
F F
5 S g
Carps, éa e < e
i35 1eL 33| 1l 58
2 Blale
JHE A R
z tl!‘ i £ Fo
§5/68) Is/5158 ﬂ :E
HIEHEHERREH
it HHREE R
@z im Bl ez |z Bin iR 2 e
Bth Canmipany, 2nd Battalion, |
. Royal Artillery... A vaffees 1 | = -
E |
= | Slego ... |
= fth Company, 11th Battalion,
. Royal Artillery... *2 | floh [naihit
g
Field—fith Com » 13th Battalion, Rayal
qL Artillery l"?:'f e 1 1 oy [
rﬂhlﬂﬂnplu]. Royal Engineers| 1/ . | 14 flesefos] D e
Erngincer Bri- 'anl Engineers doing duty
gnde ..,..1 with Royal Evginerrs ws | U] o ias el
Punjab Pionesrs . e, B a Ll ders
lst Evropesn Bengal Fusiliers |..|..| .. |. ] . L i B
3rd Tafantry | Her Majesty's 7otk Highlan.
Division ders _-— - . - il A -
20d Punjab [nfantry - . .
ol sl i st ——-1—— e e [ J
Total e | 2 38 L]l 0] e [ =
| — e | T ey
Grand Total e 18 ,,} I . -
® Theeo eanualtios occurred on the 161k March, = ekt

T This casualty orcurred on the I5th March,
Ansr-Gext's Orrics, Sd. HWEK
Hesp-Quanrens Canr, Lockwow .-] e ORMAX, Mo,

The 16th Marok 1558, Drepy. Adjt-Genl, of the drmy.
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TIE INDIAN MUTINY

Nominal roll of Ewropeans killed, wounded. and missing in the
Army under the command of His Ercelleney the Commander-

in-Oh ief.
E——— = ——
No. Carps, Rank. Names, Remarks,

1 |Bth Company, 2nd | Gonmer v | James Kean v | Wounded severely. 'Eg
Battalion, Boyal t“
Artiilery, E 3

2 | Gth Company,  1Vth | Sergeant ... | James Johnston .. Ditto  slightly. -é
Battalion, Buyal 35
Artillery, g—a'

| Ditto ditto | Trumpetor ... | Thomas Sullivan ., Ditte  severely. | é -3

4 [6th Company, 15th | Guoner  and | Honry Bracy Ditte  ditto,
Battalian, Royal |  Diriver,

ArHIIrrg.

5 Ditta ditto Rembardier ... | John Franes v | Killed,

6 | 1st Furopean Bengul | Captain = ... | K. O. Halushury ... | Wounded stightly on the
Fusilisr=, 15th March.

7 | Her Majusty’s TOth | Sergeant James Blythe ... | Wounded saveraly.
Highlanders,

] IYittn ditto | Privata sa | Juhn Dawn wo | Ditte  slightly.

9 | 23rd Company, Hoyal | Caprain o | A J. Clerke ... | Diied from ths offects
Engineers, of 8 gunpowler ex-

plosion.

10 Digto ditte | Lance-Corporal | James Davis .., Ditta ditto.

1 8 I¥tto ditta | Sapper o | Michnel Daily .. Dyitto ditta,

12 Nirtn ditts | Dhirt we | Jumes Bunting .., Ditta ditta,

13 Dirtn dirta | Thirto wer | Andrew Fajr Bervien Diittn ditte,

14 It ditto | Ditto we | Willinm Reobinson Dirto ditto,

15 Ditia ditta | Idireo eee | Charlos Tucker Ditto ditto,

16 T ditte | Diien e | Willinm Usterson Diitto ditto,

1r Thitta ditte | Dittn « | George Beer Ditto ditto.

18 Thitta ditto | Dirto Duwid Northwood Ditra diito,

19 Diirtn ditto | Dittn Inmes SHlada Dittn ditto,

20 Ditte dittn | Ditta o | John Yeo Dilio ditto.

4 | Dittn ditta | THito s | Alfred Smith . Dieto ditta.

23 Ditta ditto | Ditte Frederick Morgan Ditta dieta,

a3 Diitn dirta | Dirra e | John Ford Ditto ditto.

24 Ditto ditto | Dirto w: | Jumes Chapman .. Buflering severely from
the offects of & gun-
powder explosion.,

28 | Bengal Engineers do- | Licutenant ... | B P, Brownlow ... Died from the efects of

ing dury with Ruyal & gunpowder explosion.
Engineers,

Heav-Quantans Cawe,
Looxsow ;
The 15tA March 1955,

}

(5d.)

H. W. NORMAN, M.,

Depy. Adji..Genl. af the Army,




st Cavalry Brigade Pathan Horse ..

I Infantry Iy
slon, ]

! e Tat ! -
| hn:h'ﬂﬂnﬂlﬂ'm was |ne

dth Tnfantry Divi-{  Ditto 90ik

J Naval  Rrij .

3 [ Her Majesty's 20tk m\m e

rm.m- 79th High- |..[..|

ditte |..|...

[T =3
L Ditto 9k ditto el |-
B i ey
! Regimont of Feromepore .., |... 4 [ ‘
Toal . |.01d 2 I
[-. 4 Grand Total  ..,| 4 I 1
e |
Sl ® Missing from 15th Mareh, :
) “&m Caur, } (84.) H. W. XORMAN, Maj.,
L March 1555, Depy. Adjt-Genl. of the Army,
[ (it}
I
1

LU
:




Jd. Buckley

T. Pock

o | B Opesy

1. Winning

+ | A, White

Umnmﬂnxljﬂt:'lm-hlq; Bame not yet reported.

Hrap-Quantens Caur,
Lvensow;
The 154 March 1558,

(8d.)

H. W. NORMAN, Maj,
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Numerical retwrn of killed, wounded, and missing in the Aﬁiny
wnder the command of His Excellency the Commander-ine
Chicf, on the 19th of March 1858,

Kiiikn Wouspen, ” Missing,
£s £ Eé
53 i E
C T &
=xe g 138| 8] 158 (3] B%
HERRE R
HEHPHEEER
HI S i HHEEFHHL
BREHIE e
melE El=mezx zilazla
: Sed Company, L4tk Battalion, |..| . | .. | .. '| 1 | | e
Kayal Artiliory, |
Artillery Division zﬁli Elmpln'_r."]r;ﬂ Battalion,'...] . | ... |- || 1 woitors] | e
. Ru:d Artillery, | LI . |
et Brignde—FPuanjab Pioneers RN PR T RIS S | O | - P
Il:!é::-lrg Hrin-ie—lr.]ll.'n FTIAW: EATl ey oo (LA (L HO O T we | '8
3nd Iataniry Division— ,, 79¢h Highlanders... | |0 2 |01 1 ||.. E i
Total wde] 30 vl LG
ey —_—
Grand Total ] 3 l s ah 220

Huan-Quanrens Cawr, (5d.) . W. NORMASN, Maj.,
Lvckxow ; %
The Hhh March 1558,

Depy. Adjt.-Geal, of the Army,

Nominal roll of Europeans killed, wounded, and mi

taiig in the
Army under the command of His Eecellency the Commander-
in-Chief.
Nao. Corpe, Rank, Kames. Hamarks,

1 |Bed Company, 14th Acting Bombar- | Joseph Tucker _ | i hely burnt by gx-
Battalion, Boyal Ar.! dier, j.lrfwi-un. 3
tillery.

2 | bth Company, 1Mh | Gunnerand Driver| Patrick MeCarthy ... | Wounded severely,
Battalion, Royal Ar-
tillery,

3 | B M."s 9th Lancers | Private wor | G . Prangnall .. | Killed,

4 Dty ditte ., Captain s | T2 W. H. Hutchineon | Wonnded dan

2 - Iy {sinow drad},

6| Ditte ditke Corporal w- | Bamuel Kewman Litta  diras,

& THita ditta see | Privata e | [E G, Androws it ||i‘h_t]r_

7 | THeto ditts . TN e | P Donshos Ditta ditt,

B | Her Majesty’s 79th |  Liuo wee | Thomas Munro Wonnded 4y
Highlanders, ly (since dead),

9 | Diro dirta Ditia e | William Taylor - Lkittg ditto,

10 | Ditto diite . Ditio o | Peter Jack - Ditto ditta,

HEar-Quasres Caxr, (3d)  H. W, NORMAN, ifa;,

Lvcesow ;

ke 20th March 1855,

j

Lepy, ddjt.Gen

Ld‘l&idruj.

_palip

B e e & ARE



alficers, drom-

urs, rank and fila.

Non-comemissioned
m

Horses,

En

' ru Battalion, 5th Fusiliers
! st Tnfastry Division

I

“m-:lmr- N Pui.

3, o
: "'ni:_""l‘“" Bengal Fusi- |,,.

Her Maj = 1 1S
(g3t

________

Totul

Grand Tota]

lﬁhnn“mmh.m

I:l.u-'ﬂm.:m. Cany
_ BxronE Luexsow ;
The $1st March 1555,




o | O TN Thackwell, 15tk
Native Iufuutry, As-
mistant Map-
ter to Siege Artillery,
s-un'r-nm;.h-
slstant Baggage Mas.
ter to Eogiacer Bri-
gude,
3 |3l Company, Tith Shoving-smith ... Georgo La vee | Died the 2k in-
Battalion, Ruysl Ar- - ltnt':m- wignde
lury. proviously recvived,
4 | Hor Mujosty's 7th | Captain - | Slade ... v | Wounded,
Hussara,
& Ditio ditta e I.Ir&nﬂ wss | Wilken ... . Ditto.
6| Ditka  ditte .. | Cornet ovs | Bunkey ., v | Ditta dangerously,
7| Dittke ditte .. | Privats «ss | Jubn Kelly o | Ditto  slightly,
B | Ditte ditte .| Ditto oo | Thomas Harrison ... | Ditta suverely,
= HE: Majeaty's 1ol | Ensj wes | o A, Cubliit o | Ditte  slightly,
&um. &th  Fusi- i
10 | Ditte ditto o | Private ses | Thomas Johogan ... | Ditte severely,
| Ditte ditte .| Ditto wr | Willlam MeGes .. | Ditto slightly.
12| Ditte  diito . | Diito wee | Thomias Mara # | Ditta ditra,
13 | Her M . 78ih | Ditts - cock  ...| Ditta
; -iﬂg'i Goorge May ditta,
14 | Her s 23nd | Ditle vee | Jobin Kiel == | Dtta o
Majeaty y seversly,
I8 | st Ditta v | Jumes Moors | Ditta
European Bengal ditto,
16 | Ditte  ditte .| Ditta s+ | Dennls Durny « | Ditto ditta,
17 | Ditte  ditte ..| Ditte s+ | Ben Jolinson - | Ditta slightly,
Hu:-ﬂlrn‘rm: Caur, (84.) H. W. NORMAN, Mg,
The 2131 Mareh 1538,

Depy. Adjt-Genl. of the Army,



&

ik L veturn of killed, wownded, and nmmguihdmarw-

the command of His Excellency the Commander-in-Chiaf, on
the 215t March 1858,

/ afficers, drum-
mers, runk and file,

"-'H Cevaley Bri nﬂ1!l-j-|;1"l Tth Hussars
gde, {

Ist Sikh Trregular Cavalry ...

> Ml-lnmrmﬂ-

{ll-r Majesty’s 03rd Iligh- ...,
4th Punjab Rifies =

fler Majesty’s 78th High-
IHHL!.I Divie mn::mpuuﬂnplhd.

3rd Dattalicn, Rife Brigado
2ud Punisb Tafantry -
Total

* Died of wounds recpived on the 1ith instane.
F Died of wonads received o the 11th instant,
Mﬂnmﬁm } (8d) H. W. NORMAX, Aaj.,

' The R4nd March 1555, Depy. Adji-Genl, of the Army,




Nominal voltof Buropeans kilad, wounded, and missing

| in-Clief.
= — =
1 | Panjab Pioneers ... | Ensign wne | = Enowles -
2 Ist Sikh Trregular | Captain v | B. Wale, Commandant| Killed.
8| iite " $itto .. | Liewtenagt ... | — Godby e | Wounded
4| Ditte ditto .., | Ditto s | — Montgomeris .. | Dittn
b ditte ... | Ditte was | — + Ditto
6 | Her Majesty's 83rd | Private o | Jobin Armastreng ... | Ditto
7| Dite it .. | Dino v | Alexander Barrio . | Diite
8| Ditta  ditte ... | Ditto ws | Alexander Beath ... | Ditta
8 | Ditto ditte .| Ditto e | dnmne w | Dt
10| Ditta  ditto .. | Ditto- ~ | Francis Lanchlan ... | Ditto
11 | Ditte  ditte o | Ditto e | Jumes Lyons v | Ditra
12 | Liite  ditts .. | Dtto eer | Jomes MeDomald ... | Ditto
. 10 | Ditte  ditta .. | Ditto wee | Sumunol MeBurnis .., | Ditta
- 4| Ihte  ditth .« | Ditte e | Thomas Marshall .. | Ditta
15 Ditto ditte .. Ditta vos | Alngandar McLeod .. Ihitto
- 36| Ditte ditte. - nant wis | Jubn M we| Liitto
17 | 4th Punjab Rifles ... i e | = Wildin | itto
1 18 | Ditte  ditto ... weu | = Hond v | Ditte
I 19 | Her Majesiy’s 70ih | Sergeant e | Jumes Blyth o | Died of
Highlanders, ‘H'ln'
20 |Ist Furopean Bengal | Private s | Angus Cameron o | Shot
; Fusiliers, o
T - ;
Hesv-Quanrens Caurp H. W, NORMAN
Pl R, 3 (84) ¥ , M., &
i ““"ﬂm m"‘#‘*'mfmm.‘.
L3
) 1
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Nominal roll of officers killed and wounded in the Army undey
the command of His Ercellency the Cumnmmtar-in-ﬂkieﬁ
Jrom the 2nd to the 215t of March, inclusive.

————— _____\_'_‘_‘—--Z.—“
Ko.|  Corps or Department. Rank and Numes, Remarks,
General Siqf,
1 [Extra Aid-do-Camp 1o Licutenant F. R. 8, Flood ., | Wounded severely.
Chief of Staf,
Ariillery Divivion,
Divisional Staff oo | Liemtemamt ©, 10, Thackwall, | Killed,
15th Natire Infentry, Assistan
e Mastar,
Maval Brigade, Her Mujes. Acting Mate Henry P, Garvay..,| Ditto,
ty's ship Shannon,
Diito ditta Captain Sir W, Peel, m.cm. .., Wounded severly.
5 | Royal Actillory, sioge ., Mujor W, W. Barry | Ditto seversly (burnt),
Ditto ditto Livutenant [, A. Tracey .. Ditte slightly,
drd Brigade, Mongal Horse Veterinary Surgeon T. Hickman| Ditte ditto,
Artillery, Flald,
Engineer Brigade,
Brigads Staff se | Lisutenant  Jonathan Caps, | Killad,
B0th Native Infantry, Assistant
. Buggage Master.
Boyal Enginsers v+ | Captain A, J, Cletks v | Died from the effucts of 2
gunpowder exploslan,
10 | Bengal Enginesrs doing | Lieuienant E, p, Brownlow ,..| Ditts diito,
duty with the Royal Ey-
PETY,
Bengal Enginsers v | Major A, Taylor ., e | Wounded severely,
Ditta s | Livatenant 5, G, Forbeg we | Ditts slightly,
Punjab Pioneers «+ | Ensign Knowles .., o+ | Gun shot [n knes,
Cavairy Dirision,
15t Cavalry Brigade Stafr.. Brigadier A, Litile v | Wounded saverely,
15 | Har Majesty's 0th Lancers Captain T, W, H, Hutehinson Ditte dangeron sly
(sincy dead.)
b Panjab Camaly .. | Major €. A, Stafford . | Killed.

st Bikh Irregular Cavalry | Captaln F, Wals, Commandant | Ditta,

Ditte  diees ...‘ Ligutemant A, R, D, Mackensic j Wounded alightly,

—— -
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Hm{ul voll of officers killed and wounded in the Amur mﬂr

the command of His Eecellency the ﬂommvidn-iw-ﬂhf
from, the 2nd to the 21st of Murch, inclusive—(Contd)

Carps or department. Rank aod names,
20 Ditta  ditto wa | Lisutenant Monigomerie
Ditte  ditto wer | Lloutenant Sandeman -
Pud Caealry Brigade Staff,
Her Majesty's Znd Dras | Major J. P. Smith i
Ditto ditta Lisatenant P, W. A. Carnegy...
Her Wajouty's Tth Queen's | Captain W, 1. Slade pree
Own Hussars.
5 Dhitto ditto Lieutenant H. J, Wilken ...
Ditto ditto Cornet W. G. H. Bankes ..
Hodson's Horse an | Mujor W. 8, R, Hodson s
Iat Infuntry Divigion,
Divisional Staff, & L?mfﬂll:d
(= 4
Iufantey)  Dwpuly  Asslstant e
Quartermuster-Goneral,
ot Fufantry Brigads,
Her A 3. A, Cubltt
m‘;ﬁ'ﬂ!‘l Battalion, Ensign mag
Zud I'nfaniry Brigade,
30 Regiment of F L. G. DaC
P i e o
Ditto ditta Major J. Drasyer ... -
Divisional Staff «s+ | Capinin Robart Stewsre, Dopu-
ty Assistant Adjutant-Geusral,
8rd Tnfaniry Brigade
Her Msjesty's 38th Regi- Livotenant-Colonel W. J. Lofius
Ditto dittn Lisutenant-Colonel T. C. Kelly
a5 Diitto ditto Brovet-Major E. T, Gloster ..
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Nominal roll of officers Filled and wounded in the Army under
the command of His Excellenoy the Emmiﬂuquﬁ
Jfrom the 2nd to the 21st of March, inclusive—(Contd.) '

o St —_—r

T
B I'
]

No.| Corps or department, Rank and names, Remarks,

Her Majesty’s 53rd Regi- Coptain G. B, Hopkins oo | Wounded severely, 3
ment, i

Dita ditto | Liewtensot H. Helsham .| Ditta  ditto,

dth Infaniry Brigade.
Har Majesty's 420d High- |Licotonant F. B. H, Farquharson
landers.

Her Majesiy's 03rd High- | Coptain C. W, MeDonald .., | Killod,

€0 Ditto ditte | Lieutenant C. W, Sergison ... | Killed.

Ditta ditto | Lientenant R. V. 8. Grimstone | Woundod slightly,
Ditto ditta Ensign €, Hastle o | Ditta  ditba,
Ath Punjab Rifles «wr | Major A, T. Wilde » | Ditto  dungeromsly.
Ditto .. | Captain J, Hood .| Ditto  ditto.
45 Ditto o | Lieutensnt A, McL. Stewart .., | Ditto  slightly, ;:
Ditto .. | Lieutenant O, L, Smith | Ditto  severely.
Ird Infantry Division,
Sth Infantry Brigade Staff | Captain I. L. Macpherson .. | Ditta  diito.
Hﬂ,. Mujesty’s 23rd Fusi. | Captain G. P, Prevost .| Ditto  slighthy,
Diitto ditto Livuteasnt G, W. . Russell... | Ditto  severely,
50 Ditto ditto l Lisutenant A. L. Tobln .., | Dite ik
Her M 70th Hig! G. M. Miller Ditta s
#r Majesty’s 79th High- | Captaln ditto.
tta ditta i 6. G Thai - slightly, -
e ;:I-t#l Indin En-pu;'rinm -
attnched. )
:Igui:tup- Bepgal Fusi- | Captain ¥, O. Selasbury ... | Ditte ditte.
Ditto ditto | Coptain B. 8t George ... | Ditto dangeromsly.
5 | Ditio ditto | Lieutenant N, Ellis | Ditto slightly,

6th Infantry Brigade,
mmm;mw.[&pu-i.r;ﬁ,m o | Killed,




—_— -
Nominal voll of officers killed and wounded in the rmy wnde
the eowimand of His Excellency the Commander-in-Chief, from
the 2ad to the 21st of Mavich, inelusive~(Concld) \

No,| Corps or department, Rank snd pamen.
mm“m Eaalgn L. E. Cooper ais
1. A. Drakn
D oy o v Bt ., ok 20
stiached.)
Panjab Infsntry o Lirutensnt A. J. Anderson,
™ - (351h Native Infastry.)
[i1i] Dt diite ... | Lisutenant P, W. Powlett ...
dih Tufaniry Division.
s | Lot Jahn Wall,
Divislonal Sl :‘Lmt n nm
Diito v | Lleutepant 8, Chalmers (5300
Native Infuntry), Sub-Assiste
ant Commismry-Genural.
wse | Liwtamank Madras
oo Wﬂm
7tk Infaniry Drigade,
Her Mejosty’s 10th Foot... | Captain J. Cator -.. L
65 | Her Majesty’s 20th Tegi- | Major W, Radeliff o
went.
Ditto dits Capiain A H. Warren =
67 | Her Majesty’s 87th Regi- Linutensnt Calonsl T. 0. W,
maut. lngram.
ABSTRACT.

15 Oficers killsd or died of wounds.
48 Do, woonded.

Total 67
Apsrrant-Goxenar’s Orrics, (Signed) H. W. NORMAN, M.
Hmﬁnmn Caur, ; g ﬁi‘
- CENOW | . Adjt.«Genl. af
The §G1h March 1855, ey Ve
i
f-
N



e oa] aj’hﬂﬂ,wunﬂ mm&ngmﬁu#mr
wndur l&-ummmauiqu.: Excellency the Commander-in-Chief,
from the 2nd to the 215t Mavek 1558.

I RriceEn, ||Worsnan.

L =] .
4 & =
Enineer Bri- ! '
ki, . i i |
@ s :
\| Brigmde Stal - - -u......u-a....,,.,.,__.._w- 2
r Tiltin e L. AR Feer Y SR B |5 | I ,., 7
Foe Majooty’s b Tameers . L 2l al ) oGl )] 5 [
1st 4 | gnd Ci - [P | CLT) S | UL B RS s e
f H‘_E"-h'l Punjnb Cavalry 1
Detnchment, Sth Paajab Cavaley ... | 4] o | 84l il bo) o [y
d jg_ 1 st Sikh Irregnlur Cavalry L
e Haor Majesty's 2od Dragogn Guards || 248l 1] s h _...*'1..
g I Cavaiey Ditts  fih Hosses . M 57, ST :__...;--
] IEal] Brawe, Hodson's Horse i oo B 7laf 1fe
- L Pathan Morse . - w |20 1 | [ ool e
| Divisional Siall = i _.L-_
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wnder the command of His Excellency the ﬂmndn-w
from the 2nd to the 21st March 1858—(Concld.)

DETATL mm.l‘lrnmn-ulm.
a i g !
E i
I
=
‘gé ig!
Eisthiasls
1 J 3 1 .L'.
[ fih Pusiliers el B 1| 8 e L
'i Ist  Inbuniry | Her Majesty's .
L o Ditle  TehHighiadens o Lo o] 1 bl e e
ﬁ-ﬁ Brigade. { Ditta oith Light Inbniry ... B ) W L G )
Regiment of Perosopor .. il b ottt 3 nj ) B
| Divlsional Staft i ullq-m o o e o
Her Majosty’s Bith Regimont o |oolof < |- L
5 1%"’{ Dite  ssth dite ol 1 ffiol fenf e
=3 Tifto Eard diite povy el 0 B 1 A - o T U
ﬁ ] Tilte wm,_l-. 2 | fled o o e
W{ Ditto  93rd Hishianders . |21 |8l e[ ]| 2|
. #ih Punjab Rifles = i | i B e B |fle=t ] e e
& Drignia Biall . = e Rl B At L] fl
Sth Talaniry || Her Majouty's 2ed Posillers o || 4 1. 3 . (P S
_ = { Ditto 7otk Mighlanders o ||| 7 | u:l‘m,aus;
g Ist Buropean Dengal Posiliers . |11 B [ n ..u-uru -
] 2l Mattalion, Hifte Briguds w [ A] e L. .-':ﬂ"'
§ w{u ditto  ditto e ded b W |
l : Zod Punjob Infantry .. wo {203 T L] 3] | B bt v
Diivisdonal Biad - v B L B et
Her Majesty's 10th Regiment v pedan] M e || ool B3 ] He [l e
‘%&"." Tth_Intutry Ditte  wth ditte .. ol 7l 9l -
“sioa, Ditto wih  dite w2 8 Jost T S l,i-.‘_fl.
] Total ] e 18 200 4o el 1|22 jm
AT e o] s n
JaranTes l.':.ur,} (Bd) H. W. NORMAN, Maj.,
The Sth March 1559, Depy. Aidjt.Genl. of the Army,
* Sic o original ; should be 9,
-



o

af ordnance mpﬁurﬂﬁ-pm the enemy Euhngﬁa Wﬂﬂona_
at Lucknow by the Army under His Excollency. ﬂirﬂnnm
CamrneLL, c.om, G'ommaﬂdnr—tmﬁﬁuf

Natore of Ondnance,

No,

Weight,

im:h::mdlﬂnﬂ:,

FreR bE Bs

o,
i,
do
da,
h.
T da
o e,
4 do,
& do
o,
i,
ila,
o,
o,
do,
ido.

:

FEEEERS

?
g
Hi
HE

Farsien manulactnre,
Diitto lsmmommmed,
Mtﬂmﬁd}um

iitto,

Ditto ditto. ’
Ditto ‘ditto and (s iron heoped,
Diita diite,

All foreign maanfaotore,

British manufusture,

THite ditto.

Tl st oo o

Forsign, tont boushe spring, * Claiide

mummmmm

Ditto mmm ! bearing

a.'m;"‘ i
Foreign, vont hovehe spring.
British manafaeture,

Forel; mhtmtnﬂlhumm-
uuﬂ-'l , dlsmounted,

mﬂmhﬂwﬂw




Rﬂum of UM captured from the enemy during the
 at Lucknow by the Avmy wnider His Excellency
CAMPRELL, G.0.1, Commander-in-Clisf—(Concld)

‘Nature of Oninance, . Welght, Manufneture pod Hemarks,

cwt. grs. fhe
Ordnanes bomss gun, Gpotnder .. | 1 Sakind Fornign xmml"ﬂw
Ditio dite & do ] B T 00 fwﬂ:nmmmw_
Ditto dite 8 do | 4 B0
“Mitto ditte 4 do, ~] 1 400
Ditto ditto % do. .. L] E a0
‘Ditto ditte 1§ do. .| 1 908
Tiitto dittn  lsndmnder | 11 YAriDHs,
Orilanee beasshowiteer, Sepounder 1 1w o0
Ditto ditla B do. 1 P30
' Opdnance brass moctar, 1hinch ... [ 3 15 00
Titto difte 11 do. .| 1 n oo
Ditta ditta 10 do, .| 8 ao0
Ditto ditte  Bdo | 1§ 500
Ditte  ditto #Hdo ...| 1 & 118
-immm.i'T-MH i g10
Ditta ditte. 3 F1th.. | 1 030
Crinancs brass gun, 1-poandee-loth; 3 030
Itto ditto. ® ditke .. | @ B B )
Ditin ditte @ ditta .| 1 500
D.Ilh ditte’ @ dille ... 1 ‘B 3%
Ditto ditte 3 ditte . 1 g 00
Oridsanes howitzer, 28 ditie . | 1 5 310
Ditto  iron gun, 0 ditte . | 3 30
‘Dittn ditho o ditke .. 1 W =
Diitte ditto 4 ditte .| ® W ea
Ditto  ditta i ditg .| 1 810

Tolal snmber caplared & .. | 119 SFGE

Fourtesn guns have been eaptured sloce Lhis return was prepared. :

L]

wow, TOD WO R
R, ©3 ) ey o oo, it i
[True copy.) -'-
(SL) E B.JOHNSON, Lient-Cil., [Trine oopy.)
- duat, Adjt Genl,, Arty, (8d) H, W. NOEMAN, Maj.,

Depy. Adjt.-Genl, of the drmy,
Y

- -



is Excellency the E‘ammaﬂdar-in-ﬂﬁ.i(yﬂ_ i
Errrcrovm,

|

affipera,

Furopess

fi-! i =

st

i

:
a
i

TEAW U8RZ(E|E0eB 8 osm mupf/pu vn|E[py o oot

Piiligt nidigantit fule s g aet Bl ol wigh [1 |11 & | Netiveofiows
SR LTE) [ PR 1 T

Y2 RPURE ¥ HIURY uEes|S|dued & ook vag|S|aelne[Elp g [TOTmm -

AR EHEEE

§
;

BiBlo o avere v smew. psnus|d]eece u

|
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L B S

oy
Toial
e ————)
fhoree

T A g

= T e
Grand Tetal -
[N I W, NOEMAK,
Do, AdjeGonl. of the drmg.
Prmm-tmofﬂamrmmdnuammﬁnj
r Brigadier-General T. H. Fraxxs, cn.
Errmcrive,
| g
. ; .
| - | I"‘s :
Hilld g
ol Batialion, Megai| 6] o =
o 1Mh Battalion, Royal 8 - we| aml|
Ay b Gy, b atation, Do | 1| | w| m]
Lﬁ’lwam 4 ™
Total | w1 = N
men | Tl | = =
e R BRRE a1 BLR
Yo | W w| | s ar
Tar ik - - [
PR —— ﬁ"'n =l Siz| S| |=
Garkhast “{muﬂ?nnh: AR
Totad | Tw| el e | e _-*
Girusd Toul | v uu'u-l TR

l“'rg. wa—mmummmlw

Canr sxrors Locavow, L
o meai 3

H. 'W. NORMAX, Maj.,

Dipy. Adjt Genl, of the trmy,

70
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THE INDIAN MUTINY

. Abstract of Effectives.
EFFecTIVES, %
XN ]
n EE
o
£
g B
£ ] P
— [} '3
a | 2 ,Eg-i' & 5
Artillery : L & ol Al e T B wa
Cavalry i = 2 L 13 i} e s ay
Tafnutey i =1 W 40 |tsees | L
Total o | M0 | wm s | semn at
Grand Total - Py sio

Bd) B W, NORMAN, Maj.,
Depy, Adjt..Genl. of the Army,
{Trus copies, )
(B} B. J. H, BIRCH, Col.,
Beey, to the Govt, of Tndia, Mily, Depd.

Roll of officers who have served under Brigadier R. Navier, Come

manding Engineer Brigade, during the opevations at Lucknow

in Mavch 1858, and who ave deemed deserving of honourable

mention.
R i ikt Rank and nxmes, Hemarks,
ment,

XRoyal Engineers.,. | Colonel Harness, Com- | In charge of the arrangomant for taking tha
manding Hoyal Engi.| Emambara, und highly energetic and valu-
neer. ahle services in securing the Kusiser Bagh

when the place was ewrried by & low of our
troops, and general condial co-operation.

Ditto ws | Major Nicholson s=e | Conducted most satisfactorily snd with grest
energy amd judgment all siege operations
aoross the river with the division under
Mujor-General Sir J. Outram, G.¢.8.

Ditto w+ | Captain W. O, Legnox | Senivr Field Engineer on the attack on the
Martiniére, setively employed in all the st
tacks before and on the Kaiser Bagh,

Especinlly mentioned for honourable notips
hy Colonzl Harness, R E.
Tiitto s | Captain Clerke ses | Adjutant of the Rayal Enginsers.
Bitta - | Licotensut F. Besumont | Very useful in fortifying position taken by Ma-

jor Wilde's Sikhs arross the canal entrench-
ment, having scoompanied their advanes,

In sttack on Emambara touk s booss which
furned the anemy’s defencvs, in part bresch-
ed their outer wall, and enabled Major
Brasvor's Sikhs to ssssult successfully, and
materially aided the general assaule,

In sttack on Kaiser Bagh sccompanied ad.
vance of Sikhs up Chesnes Bagur into =
position in = gatewsy which commanded
the Kaizer Bagh,

Espacislly brought to potice by Colonel
Harness, R, E,
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OFFICERS UNDER BRIGADIER NAPIER HONOURABLY MENTIONED 555

Roll of officers who have served under Brigadier R. NAFIER, Com-
manding Engineer Brigade, during the operations at Lueknow
in March 1858, and who are deemed deserving of honourable
mention.—(Contd.)

Corps or defach-
ment.

Rank and names

Remarks. .

Bengal Engineers

Ditto

Diitta

Ditto war

Ditte

s

Ditta

Lioutenant P, T.

Serntehley.
Lisutenant C. E. Wynne

Major A. Taylor, Com-’
manding Bengal Engi-
mutrs,

Captain G, Hatchinson,
Brigade-Major.

Lieatennnt Greathed ...

Lisatenant Gulliver,
Commanding Punjsb
Bappers.

Lieutensnt  Maunsell,
Commanding Bengal
Sappers.

Licutennot Medley ...

Ligutenant Hovenden ...

Lientensnt Brownlow,
(sinee dend from a
pewier eaplosion.)

Onrderly afficer, attended me on all occasiona,
and wis partigularly usefal.

Bspecinlly rocommended for notice by Major

icholen, B B, for the manner in whi
he removed & bresstwork from the iren
bridge undor & hesvy fire.

Recommendosd by Major Nicholson for the
Yictoria Cross.

Tnvalusble services and anergy n preparation
of tha Engineer Park, Great snergy in
charge of the arrangement for attacking
Banks® house and Begum's Palace; very
valgable sod conlial co-operation sud nasists
anoe in all duties.

Directing Engineer with Major-Genoral Sir
James Outrsm, G. ©. 8., in the attucks on
the Residency, Muoches Bhowan ond tha
Emambars,

Directing - Engineer in the attacks on Banks'
hoose and Emambare, also on 17th, snd
with Msjor.-Uenrral Sir James Outram,

g.c. 8., in faking the Mooss Bagh. m
ally rocommaended for matice by
Hurness, . E.

Attack on the D, Bungalow,

Attack on the Begum's Palace.

Ocenpied the Kedilum Buozson]l with Liegtes
nants Lang and Camnegie, ono son-commiye
gioned officer and four privates ; held tha
Shah Nujenfl with Lisutensnt Chamipsin and
50 Punjah Sappere, sll other troops being
withdruwn on the night of the Sth within
200 yords of the enemy.

Prominently eagiged in attscks on Emam-
bara, Kaizor Bagh, and Moosa Bagh,

Very highly mentioned by Major Nicholenn,
R K., lur services rendered in siege opera-
tions scross the Goomtl

Prominently enguged in attacks on Emam-
bara, vn which occasion be led » party across
the main rosd aud drove the enemy out of
o hoase important to hold, bat was forced to
retire owing 1o the heavy muskotry firg of
the enemy ; particularly useful in the atincks

on the Hesidency Bridges, Muches Bhowan
end Emambara. y
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Roll of officers who have served under Brigadier R, Narizr, Com-
manding Engineer Brigade, during the operations at Lucknow

in March 1858, and who are deemed deserving of honowrable
mention—(Coneld.)

Carps or datach-

ks Rank and names, Remarks.

Eengal Engineers | Lisutensnt Lang w: | Commanded o Supper party in attack on thae
Martinifra snd csoal entrenchment, into
which be accompanied the sdvance of the
Highlanders,

With Lientenant Medley when he ooeapied
the Kuddum Russonl with his small party,
engaged in the attscks on the Emambara,
and with the foreinost party of Sikhs in
the Kaiser Bagh.

Ditto ws | Licutepant Humphrey .. | Adjntant, Bengal Bnglneces.

Ditto s | Lioutenant  Champain, | With Lisatenant Medlsy when he held iha
Adjatant, Bapgal Saps | Bhah Nujjee oo night of Sth with 50

peri. Bappera.
Exceedingly aseful in the attacks on the Tesia
denecy Bridges, Muchee Bhowun and Emam- j -
bora, 1
Ditte e | Lisntsnant Pemberton... | Director of the Park, the duties of which
important position be has fulfilled to my
entire sstisfaction,

Titto e | Ditto  Comegie « | Ooe of ihe thres officors and four men who
occupled the Koddum Russool.

Madras Engineers | Ditto  Booik <w | Actively engaged in all attacks on the Begum's
Falsco aud Kalser Bagh.

Malras Native In- | Ensign Ogilvy | Engaged in sttack on the Emwmbara and

fontry with| Kaiser Bagh, in the taking of the latter be

Madras Sappors, ancompanied the most advanesd party of

Her Majesty's 10th Foot under Captain
Norman, assisted in the defence of their
t, snd went through = heary fire to
ing up reinforcements, which he did,
remaining with them until severely 1
wounded,

Captain Norman publicly thanks Ensign
Ogilry for his services,

Bengal  Native | Lievtenant A, Talloch, | Orderly Officer to Brigadier Napler. Attend.

Infantry . doing duty with de- ed me on all oconsions, and was particularly |
tachwent. active and useful. |
(Tras copy.)
(84) H.W.NORMAY, Mdj., {(34.) R.NAFIER, Brijra
Depy. Adjh.-Genl. of the Army, Chizf Engineer,
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Roll of officers who have served wnder Brigadier-General Sir
Epwaup Lucarn, K.CB, Comnanding Zad Infantry Division,
duving the operations at Lucknow in March 1858, and who ave
deemned deserving of honourable mention,

p———— =
Corpe or detach- Rank wid - Ramsk Temarks,
mint.
93rd Highlanders | Brigadler Hon'ble A. | Merits especial motice, has given me most
Hope. valgable ald, and was sctively engaged
throaghout.
Ditto o | Lisuterant-Colonel | Commanded the 03rd Highlanders on avery
Leith Hay. oceaslon.
Ditta vi | Lieatenant-Colone || Commanded the advance on the 11¢th and 21st,
Gordon, A most excellent and gallant oficer,
Ditta Captain Middleton } Zamior Captains, who led the ndvance ‘come
Ditts v | Captain Clarke panies ou the Llth instant.
Ditio v | Lieatenant and Adju- | Displayed great personal bravery on the 11th,
tant MeBean. A gallunt, good oficer,
420 Highlanders | Lientenant=Colone ]| Commanded the 4ind Highlanders, and well
Cameron, worthy of meation,
Ditto we | Major Priestly .. | A most zealous officer and did good service.
Ditts  w | Coptain Drysdale ..
| Seolor Caplaing, conspleaous for good service.
Ditta o | Captain M'Leod ...
4tk Panjab Rifles | Major Wilde .- | Commanded the regiment, conspleuaus for his
gallsntry on  every occusiun, wes badly
wounded on the 21st,
Ditto Captain Hood ss | Becond-in-command, ably supported M
- Wilde, was alsa I::d][ wounded o 21at, dﬂ
Commanding { Though not so actively engnged
B3rd Foot - LEIT;:I;I;{-‘:‘W*‘ 5t the d1h Brigade, deserta
 ame o - . hemourable mention for seizing
. Fecond-in- and holding Secundrs Hagh
Dita w | Mujor Payne command, on the 1lth,
35th Foot, Depuly | Captain Stewart ... | Was wonnded on the Oth instant, guve me mtis.
Assistant Adju- faction in the performance of his daties.
tant-General. E

1st Native Infans
try, Deputy
Amistant Adju-
tant-General,

29th Foot, Aide-ds-
Camp.

Dawson ...

n  Middieton ...

Acted for Capiain Stewart from 10th ta 2%rd
instant, gure me satisfaction in the performs
nnce of Lis duties.

One of the most gallant and intelligent offcers

1| bave ever had wnder me, he accompanied
the ndvance at every sttack. v




Roll of oficers who have served wnder Brigadier-General Sir
Epwarp Lucarp, KB, Commanding 2nd Infantry Division,
during the operations at Lucknow in March 1858, and who are
deemed deserving of honourable mention—(Contd.)

Corps or detach-

Gth Fusiliors

' Buh Pt ..

Haroess,

wo | Brigadizsr Guy doa

. 53¢d Faot, Brigade-
Major,

Li=utenant-Colonel
Longden.
Lisutenant Scratch-
o }
Livateoant Seatt
Captain Cox E

Lieutenant Duotler

Condustor Vaughan
Lieutenant Young

Captuin Miles

Captsin Fendall

Lizutensnt-Calonel
R. U, Kelly ...

. | Brigada-Msjor.

sl Rapk and names, Remarks,
:.fia!.unu-.n-p-— Lieutenant Scott ... | Has dons his work well, snd given wme great
Assistant assistance,
General., 7
12th Mative tnhn- Licutenant McNeil ... | A most intelligont snd meritorions cficer, hinn
Lt given me grest aid,
Camp,
Bengal Enginecrs | Major Tagloe «: | Accompanied the adrance on the 11th when he
was wounded,
Roynl Engineers... | Lisutennant-Colonel | Accompanied tha advanes on the 11th, snd

timued M Taylor"
i s et b -

Hus given me valuable aid throwghout, sad
mflup-niﬂ the advance on the 11th,

nied tha sdvance party on the 1lth
with puwder bags and ladders,

Strongly recommended by Brigadier Hope and
equally so by me,

Rendered most important servies throaghout,
especially In breaching the works on the 1ith
and subsrquent days, and bringing the guns
to the front aftes the assault.

of Gurkhas who joinad the sitack on
" e THR tna.

Commanding 3rd]]
Brigade,

Merit my best thanks for
their exertisns throagh-
pat the operatioas.

Commanding
regiment,
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OFFICERS UNDER SIR EDWARD LUGARD HONOURABLY MENTIONED 530

Roll of officers who have served under Brigadier-General Sir
Eowarp Luaarp, k.o, Commanding Snd Infantry Division,
during the operations at Lucknow in March 1858, and who are

deemed deserving of honourable mention.-—(Coneld.)

Corps or dotachs | gy aud names. Remarks,
ment.
38th Foot . | Lisutenant-Calon el | Commanding regi-
J. Bparks; o, n. ment.
Ditto s | Lisntonant-Calonel IH:!:!n when H:;i: r":lmf“:"t';:“ﬂz:
T. C. Kelly. dentenapi-
: 4 Calonsl Bparks out the vperations.
was  otherwise
wngaged,

The medical officers of the divislon merit great pralse for their admirable arrangements far

the wounded.
Huap-QuanTeEns,
2un Diviston {5d.) E. LUGARD, Arigr.-Genl,
The 24ih March 1558, Comdy. Snd Infy. Dien,
(Troe copy.)

(8d.)

W. NORMAN, Maj.,

Depy. Adjt.-Genl. gf the Army,

Roll of officers who have served under Brigadier-General R. WaLPOLE,
Commanding 3rd Infantry Division, during the operations
at Lucknow in March 1858, and who ‘are deemed deserving
of honourable mention.

Corps or detach-
ity Raok sod sames, Remarks,
79th Regiment ... | Brigadier  Dougles, | Commanded the 5th Drigade of lufantry during
C.H. operations, snd very wuch distingnished
himself, especially in the actions of 9ih snd
1lth.
8rd Battalion, Rifle| Brigadier Horsford, | Commanded the Gth Brigade of Infantry duri
Brigude. L. operations, and wvery much distis
himsell, especially in the sctions of Stk and
11th.
79ih Regiment ... | Lieatenant-Colonel | Commanded his regimsnt and distinguished
Tuylor, c.a. himsslf during 1he operations, including the
sctions of ik and 1lth.
Snd Battalion, Rifl| Lisutenant-Colonel Ditwo ditta
Brigade. Hill.
8rd Baitalion, Rifle| Lisntenant-Colonel Ditto ditta
Brigade. MclDanell, ..
23rd Hegiment .., | Lirutrnant-Colonel Ditto Diitto

Wells,
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Roll of officers who have served under Brigadier-Genaral R, WarroLe,
Commanding Jrd Tnfantry Division, during the operations
af Lucknow in Mareh 1858, and whe are deemed deserving

of honourable mention—(Contd.)

——

m'l“m:::"m Rank and names, Remarks,

23rd Regiment ... | Licatennnt-Colan el | dod eolamn, isting of 2300 Regl
. ~a I'rllll: A mant and Zad Punjal Infantry an 11ik when
e from lirldge was secured, and distinguisied

20d Punjeb In-| Brevet-Major Green | Commanded His rogiment, and distingaished
fautry, himmaelf during the tions, inel the
nctions of 9tk wnd 1th,

Bengnl Fusi- taln H s | Commanded hia ment, and distfngnished
mn."' O ine himaelf during lh""ﬂ?ﬂ'lﬂnu luhuqn:'nl'::'

Fusi- Cunliffe ... | Commanded i nt and distingnishod
1nt Pangal \- : Bimeolf in the mi;rhr 80, Shee S0
liers. when  Captsin Hume, his senior L 1
(iucluding

17th  Regiment, " Caray,

Native Infantry. Depaty  Quarter.
mastar-Gonor al,
Brid Divislon. Thesa afficors particnlarly distingulshed tham-
selves during the rocent operatinns, snd are
Flst  Regiment, Captain Barwoll, De. specially recommended for thefr

HNautive Lufantry. poty Assistant Ad. zeal, and usefalness on all secasions,

] E:mt-ﬂuml, HJ
ivision,

fab  Regiment, | Captain Warner, Aide- | Distingaishad bimsalf vory much by his inte1li.
Light Cavalry, de-Camp, genee und exertions during recent operations,

~ 2nd Battalion, Rifle Licutonant Eccles .. lmdumm:ﬂlmnthmm
Drigade. nl,nd-u-lw;uﬁuudlu!u:.

= g o &L McPharsan, | Recommandod Brigadior Cam i
o e mﬂljﬂn Sth | Brigade an E'rh‘ IIH: !m“mﬂ

5k — e | Captain and Brevel- Becammanded by Brigadice Commandfing Gth
M Mall Bri- Brignda ha beea
i G|t e b v i ad
gada,
Battalion, Rifle Captain and  Brevet- | Serrsd 83 Orderly Offlcer to Reigadi mand.
I i Hn,w., n.jn:k.pu. ing Gith Hrigl:rn and u:u-mc::hrlq

been active and wseful,

Liitto tain Lindssy . Commanded m company for ihe rotection of
i A beury battory, an which n-u:iuhnﬁ-'

ereded in silencing o hﬂugﬂﬁtﬂwﬁ' :

Ihlln!n--mi'llhqlﬂlh;.
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March 1358, and who are deemed deservi

of honourable mention—(Concld.)

Brigadiar-General R, W

Roll of officers who have served under

Commanding Jrd

at Lucknow in

Yl

Bamarka,
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Captais Gresn

Irrte

Funjab

Y. o
try. doing duty

Infantry N
2nd Panjab lufuns | Livutenant and A

AFih Nities Tnfan-

|

Comdy, 3rd Dipw,

R. WALPOLE, Bogr..Gent,

(34,

Lvexsiow,
The 35tk March 15.8

¥
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Roll of officers who have served under Alajor-General Sir A. Wirson,

"Baronet, K. C. B, Commanding Avrtillery Division, during the
| operations at Lucknow in March 1858, and who are deemed
deserving of honourable mention,

Corps or detach-

mEnf.

Rank and names; Bomarks,

Naval  Trigads, 1ﬂu-phfll Sie W. Peel, | Wounded. Thanked for his admirabie arfange
H

M.t's ship| x.c.8. ments in command of ihe Naval Brigads,
ﬂu!m.
Diitta v |CommanderJ. W. | Buteesded to command of Noval Briende on Cap-

Vaughan, tain Pecl being woun ded, Promineatly noticed.

Ditta . | Caoptain T. C. Gray ... Commanding Royal Marina Light Infaniry.

Ditto «s | Lisutanant W, C. F,
Wilson.

Ditio w |Lientenant W. R,
Wratislaw, (auper-
TUMETRIY |

Rornl Morse Ar- | Brigadier I, E, Wood, | Thanked for the grest and ready assistance
tillery. .0 [‘r.rrnml.mi{u; ufforded to Bir A, Wilson,
Ficld Artillery,

Royel Artillery ... | Brigadier 6. Burker, | Thanked for his invalunble sssistance snd
tm, Communding untiring zesl and energy.
Biege Artillery,

Bengal ,, . | Licutenant-Colomel C. | Mast sealons and indefatigable.
Hogge, Director of
Urdnance,

Boyal A b e lvinnl&n-n_lai'nlnnﬂ €. | Thankod for bis excallont services. Commanids

J, B. Riddell. wd the Siego Artillery on the left bank of
& Goomei.
Ditta wie I.Jﬁuten:nh[.‘uim E.| Thanked for energetic malstonee,
! nbhriy.

Royal Horse Ar- | Lisotenant-Colans] ¢, Commanded Royal l.lurud.rliﬂle -
tillery s | Le D*Aguilar, c.m, 2 i

Bengal Horse Ar. | Lientenant-Calonal 11, Commanding a Troop, Bengal Horse Artillery,’
tillery. Tambs, c.om, <

Ditio v | Lientenant-Colane] F. Diite  Bengal Homse Artillgey,
Turner,
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Roll of officers who hmmudumﬁrl’wﬂmﬂﬂirl. w:uw,
Baronet, K.C.B., Commanding Artillery Division, éwrﬁp

the opevations at Lucknow in March 1858, and who are deem-

ed deserving of honowrable mention.—(Coutd.) -
: detach-
M_’:ﬂ_ Tank and names. Bemarks, |
- I B.| Thenked for unwesried and hm.
e e Awi | o
tant Adjutant.Grng- -
ral of MH’H’]’: =
Madrss ,, .+ | Major G. B. Cotter .. | Commandinga field battery.
Rossl Horse Ar- | Msjor J, R, Anderson,| Ditto Troop, Royal Horse Astillery.
tillery. e
Ditto ditto ditta.

tillery.
Native lufantry
Ditta -
Ditta —
Dengal Artillery...
Boysl
Ditha s
Ditta -
Ditto

Major I, P. ¥ates ...

Major J. V. Pennywick.
Mujor W, W. Basry ...

Major W. 6. LeMesu-
rier,

+ | Msjor B, A. Cacloton..

Msjar N, O. 8. Tarner:

« | Major F. €. Maade,

Major F. F. Bemming-
Lo,

Ca W. A, Mi-
dheton.

Captain J. R. Gibbon.

w G Waller,

’ G. Mair,

w  J. B. Thriog.
w Co P, Young

w  H. L. Talbot,

w 1. M. Camp- | Orderly
bell. -

Officer to Brigsdier Barker,
for bis very valoable assistance,

Thanked



Roll of officers who have served wnder Major-Gen
' Barenet, K.C.B., Commandin
the operations at Lucknouw,
ed deserving of honourable mention.—(Con

g Artillery Division, during
in March 1858, and who are deem~ )
eld.)

Carpr or dutach-
ment.

Rank and pames.

1

Remarks,

Hegal  ditto

Her Majenty's
Gl Jiifles.

Royal Artillery ..

aws I:lphﬁ'l. w-. Ht W‘F
enangh,

Captain W, A, Mae-
kingon.

Ditto A Pearson,
Lieutenant A. Buanp,

LiewtemantH, P
Bishap,
Lieutenant J, 8.
Frith.,
Lisutenant B, Simeon.

Livatenant W, Tod
Uirown,

Lisutenant T, G. E
Warren,

Lientenant [1. C, 8,
Diyer,

Lieutonang M, 11|
FiiaMuuriee,

Listutennnt

B
bidaulph,

Lientenant B C
Cuthbert.

Lientenant H, G.
Disedes.

Lirutenant]. C.
Kyle.

Captain A. C. Jobnson,|

Beigade-Major of Sioge: Artillery. w
Commanding a troop,

Brigade-Major of Field Artillery,

Commisary
his admirs
park.

Ovdnance. W praised fop
-

of
bile

-

Distinguished by gallaat conduct on the 13¢h.

Extra ﬂHl-vﬁw&hr.-
ble exertions,

P beaked
exertions,

- Thanked for indefutigns




Nominal voll of officers of H. M.s Ship * Shannon's * Brigads
serving wnder Captain Sirs WitLiax Pre, xon, whe -"‘5
deemed worthy of promotion or of honourable mention fi
their services during the mpwwnmdhﬂi%f

1> Lucknow, March 1858,

Lieutenant Thomas J. Young (Gummery Officer of H. H.':ﬂn-
Shannon)—This officer has boen distinguished in every engagement
by his cool cournge snd admirable skill as & gunnery officer: |
been specially employed on all critical occasions, and has been n
for the Victoria Cross. Recommended for promotion.

Lieutonant Nowell Salmon—An excollent officer ; distinguished
himself in the Shannon’s Brigade at the relief of Luhw. "

~ wounded, and named for the Victorin Cross, Emmmwdudhrm
tion.

R mmmmea—

Mr, Edmund H. Verney, Sewior Acting Mate, zealous and I'lln L
conducted. Recommended for promotion.

p—

Officers not eligible for promotion, but worlhy of konourable mention.

Lord Walter T. Kerr, Midshipman. Has had an independent com«

mand : is very highly recommended. )

" Yord A P. Clinton,and)  Midshipmen.—Have behaved admi-

i Mr, E J. Church, rably, nud are very promising officers.
g Locksow } {84.) W. PEEL, Capt, BN,

The 31ef March 1555, Comdy. * Shannon's” Naval Drigade.

Rl of officers whs have served under Brigadier W, CAMPIELL, Com
manding 2nd Cavalry Brigade, during the opevations at Lok
now in March 1855, and who are deemed deserving of honowr-
able mention,

—
Carps or Detachment. Rank and names. Remarks.

Beogal Harse Attil. | Liostenant-Colonsl Tombs, €. | Commandod $nd 1ot Brigada,

Jory. Bougal .

Her Mujesiz’s ik Hagart .. wlfiver iexnding -‘*’
Quesn's Owa| £ D M SOth, deshed ot M
Huzaare, ullﬂ.-l-u—hr-f:h enemy

il:n‘:: -h-u“ Lp.ﬂ

n wesnded. iy

~ Ditts  ditto ... | Major Sir W, Russall, Baronet. | Commanded the rear-guard on the
" Ik March, and the
uth!lrh-u!luhﬂ-h




Roll of afficersroho have served wnder Br&dw W. Cameerrr, Com-

manding 2nd Caralry Brigade during the operations at Luck-
now in March 1858, and who are deemed deserving of honours
abls mention.—(Coneld,)

Curps or detachment, Rank and names, } Remarks,

Her Majesty’s Tth Caoptain Slsda .., o= |T11:¢I'Hter on 10th March gallant.
Queens Owan Iy led his troop mgminst n party
Huszare, of the onemy who sttacked tha

guns. He was wounded.

Dinto ditto .. | Lisutenant Wilking s | This officer om 19th March mada
& brave attpmpt to resrue Cornat
Banks, who was surownded by
the enemy and wes woonded,

Diitto ditto ... | Cornet Banks .., s+ | This officer, whan his Captain was
wounded on 10th March, gallant-
Iy led on ths troop sguinst the
enemy wha wers ndvancing upon
the guns, killed 3, snd received
11 wounds,

Ditle  ditto ... | Lientenant Tophsm s | This officer, when acting as Orders
Iy Officer to Brigndier Campbell
rode over a diffioult cauntry ex-
posed to the enemy's fire, snd
brought to the front a pariy of
Irregular Horse, A

Bengal Artillory ... Msjor Olpharts ., s | Commanded No, 12 Light Field
Hattery,

78th Highlanders Brigadier Rtisted ., s | Commanded Brigade of Infantry.

Brigads. Ma s | Major Bouveria ...

) 78rh Highlanders .., Lirutenant-Colonel Hamilton... | Commanded T8th Highlanders,
' Sth Fusiliers ... | Major Master Dra, Gth Fusiliers,
[ Ist Sikh leregulsr | Coptuin Wals ., ses | This oficer showed on all poeazions

Cavalry. great zeal in command of hia
regiment, and on 28t March [ed
it most successfully in  pursuit of
the enemy till he was shot.

Ist Sikh Irrogular | Lientonant the Hon'ble A. | This officer distinguished himself
Cavalry. Chichester, in leading Lis regimont in pursnit

of the enwmy afier the death of
Captain Wals,

Hodson's Horse ... | Major Daly, c.n. ... sss | This officer by his activity and zaal,
added to his knowledge of Indian
warfare, has been of great servigs
to the Brigadier he surved under,

Brigade-Major ... | Captain Forbes ..,

Deputy  Assistant ' Lieutenast Wilkinson
Quarter master- |
General. r

Deputy  Assistant | Captain Bridge .., wus | { Allarded every assistance,
l?ﬂmuﬂm:-[iuz-
ral.

Onderly Oficer, Lisutenant R, F. Campbell, 8ik J

Mudras Cavalry,

Canr xzan Lvcksow; (5d.) W. CAMPBELL, Brigr,

The 26tk Mareh 1555, } Comdy, 2nd Cary, Lrrigade,

(Examined.)

(S4) H. FORBES, Cupr,
Bde.-Maj,, 2nd Cary. Brigade,




OFFICERS UNDER BRIGADIER FRANKS HONOURABLY MENTIONED 567

—

List of officers who have served under Brigadier-General T, H.
Frangs, ¢ B, and who are honowrably mentioned in his

report.
Corps or dotachment. Rank and names. Remarks,
4th Division Staff... | Major Sir H, M, Havrlock, Baronat, | Highly thanked for grllantry
Doputy Assistant Adjutant-Gene- |  snd merit.
ral.
Ditto s | Liruntenant H. Henderson, Har
Majesty’s 10th Regiment, Ajd.des
Camy to  Brigadier-General
Franks.
Lrittn «es | Lientenunt 8, Cary, 37th Mative Tn- | Mentionad for intrepidity,

2nd Infantry Drigade
Btadl,

Diitto o

Her Muajesty’s 3Eth
Bagimaut,

Her Majesty's Bdth
Regiment,

Diiten vee

-Her Majesty's 90th
Regiment.

Regiment of Ferozo-

pare. ;
Tth Infantry Briguds
Brigade Siaff

Ditto
Ditto

Heor Majesty's 10th
mint,

tto
Ditto

B

fantry, Orderly Officer to Briga-
dior-General Franks,
Brigadier 1t, Ruasell, Commanding,

Captain Spurgin, Tst Mndras Fusi.
liwrs, Mujur af Hrigade.
Liratenant-Colonel J. P, Sparks ...

Captaln T. Lightfoot ... -

Licutenant F. Hardy ...
Lientenant-Colonel W. P. Pornell ..

Major J. Brasyer (Unattached) ...

Erigadier P. C, Evelegh, c.u., Com-
manding.

Captain A. B. Johnson. (5th Native
Infantry) Major of Brigade,

Ensign C. T. Durne, Her Majesty's
20th Regiment, Brigade-Quarter-
masier,

Licatvauut-Colonel W. Fenwick ...

» «» H. E. Longden,
sttnched to Gurkha Foree,
Captsin H. K. Norman div

Thanked for his sealows and
ablo support throughoat, snd
particalurly in the eapturs of

Commanding.
Ditta.

Orderly Officer,
Comrmanding,

Commanding, mentionsd for
distinguished gallantry,

Particalarly thanked,

Commanding.
Hendered most valuable assts.

tanee,

Held » gate of the palass with
o sob-division against e
puated sttampts of the ensmy
to re-take it,

Her Mojesty’s 10th | Caplain T, F. C. Aones] we | Highly distinguished,
Regiment, 5 £ e
Lrigto s« | Licatenant Percy Beala FHes
Her Majesty’s 20th | Lisutenant-Colonel G, M. Lys ..
Megiment.
Ditto wss | Major W, P. Radeliffa o | Wounded fn & personal em.
= : couuter,
Her Majesty’s 87th | Lisutenant-Colonel G. C. Legh,
¢ BRegiment.
Uncovenanted Civil | Pat, Carn . we | Intellj artm
oty egy, Esq elligence Department.
Apvrast.Geneaar’s Orrrce : 54, . W. N y e
Huso-Quanrens Camr, W, W HORMAN, A,
Luckmow ; I3 .
The 2664 March 1555, ey, AdjtGenl. of the drmy,



Commanding the Cavalry Division, during the
Operations at Lucknow in Mareh 1858, and who are deemed
deserving of honourable mention,

%

Corpa or detachmant. ook and Names,

|

Bemarka,

Paid great nibention tor his brignaln,
I H: Lirntenant. Colong] - Hri e B hiw
hi?".“t‘:’f# o Majas. H. Brisca l'.'l:::: riseo  pommnnded o

»
; $ i - 1
L Wm I-l‘-ug:nl-ﬁninmﬂ.h ‘Aguilar, Mm'jil’hjnfh; ovmmnndad u.

Hor +
[OF gnd Teoom | Captain W. A, Mackinnos
: Derin
oty }n;;ﬁ_mmtmm,,-,,n- a
i m l:;l:: fhﬁll‘h‘ Brevot-Major F, P,

¢ l‘hunm‘mtpﬂl. I;Ern.ltm,mnm H.-iu- Kernn ?mmw In
11 ;'@mmu Her Majes: Major the Hoo'bla €, Powps .. Major Powys

e, whih Vo ded, o regt
Commanding 2nd Regiment, Captaln 8, J, Brown ...

Koihj eotild b febtor than  the
" Punjab Cavalry, l g'u:rlrl:-fﬂqhh Brown and his
IRl

hmil“m.m Lm,n;.wm-t - I?n‘mllﬂlildd hi of Capinin
Funjab Cavalry, ; wiann, BE
Diito ditto L I. P. Cowmerat - &E:{-:C'whlm L T
. Fis ovcnsim wopy " 18 ity on
T I ¥ G. W, wi m
nmm@ukm C, Plowdn Lum-f’ﬂmuﬂq:mhuhhﬁ

regiment well,
Whﬂ Adjatang. %itﬁli’mﬁ"“"“ W. | Mujor Hamilton WaE tnost nseful.

.H..d..ag:% Trigniler. | Capbuin 4. Anson, Re piuin Arson useful,
w Iﬂ‘_. .I.lr;: L.E..l. Elth Ca was nlso most
— - Eu0m,

B ,_-" Win wnr.rmmum.{xmm%mmwm
w‘m Cavalry " H.L!lml.l:r.hllmn: tmnnhﬂmwhhiuuuﬁ.

Depuoty Assistant Quarter. fenant F. 8, Roberts, Banga]
mﬁmnl.u mﬁmmmmn_" :

Orderly OBeer to Deigadier. Licutenant C, W, Havalock, asn,
h‘_;n;';. Hoge | Trovgular Cavalry,

ilicer to Brigndi 3 tAF. W Gore, Tik | Oa Gars
Orilesly Figdier L-sﬁfm phain | wlhum-mtp

I s e - ——
B Canr, Licxzow Camtorupary, (84 I, Hore GRANT, Hrigr..Genl,,
. The 2aqn ’il;'\tl A50N, }

. Condy, Cary. Digy,

Brigadier-General Siy J. Hopg

wammdh;m Colonel ©, Hugart, 7th Hisanrs.., [mummmmwur




S P e

SR

OFFICERS UNDER MAJOR-GENERAL SIR J. OUTRAM HONOURABLY 560
MENTIONED

Roll of officers who have served under Major-General Sir Jawes
OuTRAM, 6.0.8., Commanding the 1st Infantry Division, during
the operations at Lucknow in Mareh 1858, and whoare deemed
deserving of honourable menfion.

Corps or detachment.

Rank and names.

Remarks,

Commanding Ind Divi- i i

eion,

Commanding Cawalry
Liivislon.

Commanding Enginsers
Ditta Fleld
Artillery.
Commanding H§th
Brigulo.

Commanding Gth
Brignde,

Ml Recratary o
Chief Commissioner

in Cudb.

Royal Artillery

Dite LA, ..

Bengal Artillery

P

Commaniding 2nd Batta-
lion, Mifie Brigade,
Commanding Her
Majesty’s 23rd Bogi-

ment.

Her Msjesty’s 23rd
Regiment.

rigadier- General
Walpule,

Brigadiar.General Sir

| J. Hope Grant,

Brigndier Napier
Brigadier Wood, c.n,

ai

Brigadier Douoglas

Brigadier Horsford ...

Majesty’s 32ud Foot.

« | Liseutenant-Colonel
Riddell.

Lieutenant-Colonel
I Aguilar,

Lizutenant-Colon el
Turner,

Lisutenant-Colonel
Hill

Lisutenant-Colonel
Wells,

Lirutenant-Colonel
Frail,

Colonel Berkeley, Hor

|
|

l Afardad me the most cordial sspport, and

miost ably earried out the operations
which fell to his share.

The Brigadier was uneeasing in the vigl-
lance and aetivity with which he carried
on his most onorons  doties, snd |
derived much valusble sssistance from
bire,

Affordad mo his able professional adrige,
and most zealoanly alded me.

Commandad Field Artillery, and earricd on
the doties to wny ootire sati i

Commanded hiz brigads throughout all the
eperstions, and earried out his instros.
tions with signal ability snd wuccess,

Favourably mentioned by Brigadier-Gengral
Wlllpuia, and ably commanded hig
brigade.

I hare on several oceasions expressed tha
opinfen I have formed of Colonsl
Berkeley's services, and the assistance
1 bave derived from him during the
courss of these operations is an sdditional
obligation I am under to this most
deserviag officer.

Commended siege-train much to my gatis-
factizn, Y

Farourably mentioned by Brigadlor Woad,
C.5.

Tempararily attached fo the wsriillery on
the north side of the river. The serviess
of this most excellent officer ware of the
highest valoe to me.

F bly mentioned

Farourshly mentianed by Brigadier- Gensral
Walpole. X

Favourahly mentioned by Brigadier-Geanaral
Walpole snd Brigadier Douglas; com-
ml:;:ld laft eolumn of sttack on ihe
11

-

2
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Heoll of officers who have served under Major-General Sir James
OvtRaM, 6.c.8., Commanding the 1si Infantry Divigion, during
the operations at Lucknow, in March 1858, and who are deemed
deserving of honowrable mention—(Contd.)

Corpz or detachmeont.

Ronk and names,

Remarks.,

Her Majesty's 23rd
Begiment.

70th Regiment ...

Commusnding 3rd Batia-
lion, Rifle Brigade.

Commanding Roya
Eogineers,

=4

Commanding 20th
Regimont,

Commanding 1st Ben-
gul Fusiliers,

Ditto  ditto ...

st Bengal Fusiliers ..,

Commanding Regimont]
ol Feromepore.

Commanding twa squod.
rons; Oth Lancers.
Funjab Rifles ane

Royal Artillery sk
Dilto i

Ditta

Lientenant.Colonel
Bell

Lientenant-Colonel
Taylor, c.u.

Lirttenant-Colonel
Macdonald, c.m.

Major Nicholson ...

Capiain Bennsft .. |

. Canliffa ...
= Hume o
Licsulenant Batler ...

Major Drasyer -

Captain Coles e
Major Gresn L
#s  Yalea e

Brevet-Major Peany-
wick,

Captain Gitbon ..

Commandad two companiea of tha 23nd
Fusilirra, who captured a gun ot the
iron bridge.

Commanded the 70th during the oparas
tiona an both sides of the river, Very
much to wy sutisfaction on all cccasions,

Fayourably mentioned by Brigudier-Genoral
Walpole,

Was indofatigabla in hix exertions to pre.
pare the batteries, in dofng which he was
constanily exposed to & vory heavy fire,

Favourably mentioned by Brigadier Donglas.

Favourahly mentioned by Brigadier-Genoral
Walpale,

Commanded the 1st Bengal Fusiliors during
the pgraster part of the oporations on
both eides of the river, and mach to my
satizfaction.

Swam acroes the Goomtl and by standing
on the parapot notified to our troops
that the line of entrenchment was
standoned by the enemy. In doing
this he exposed himself most fearlossly.

Has alwoys distingnished himeallf most
Lighly in command of ks regiment,

Commanded two squadrons of the 9ih
Lancersin the attack on the Moosa Bagh.
These squnilrons eaptured six guns, and

Captain Coles conducted the pursuit
most gullanily,

Commandod his regiment afl throngh tha
oparations much to my satisfaction,

Favourably meatioacd by Brigadier Wood,
c.n,

Favourably montioned by Brigadier Wood,

.8

Fevourably mentioned by Drigadier Wood,
.8, and by Brigadier-General Walpole.




..Edﬂof officers who have served under Major-General Sir JAMES

OUTRAN, G.C.B.,

Commanding the Ist Infuntry Division, du=

ring the operations at Lucknow in March 1858, and twho ars
deemed deserving of honowrable mention—(Contd.)

Corps or detachment, Nank snd pamas. Remarks.
Royal Artillery s | Coptain Middleton < h;mmm'hmnﬂ wan pogaged

w  Johnsem ..

w  Thrieg
1] ﬂnﬂﬂuﬁh .
w  Waller
Ligutenant Cuthbert
i Fite-

Licutensut Maleolm...

" Wynne .

W m
" Keith .
Sergeant uul

ar Pearson

. | Ligutenant Simoon ..
- Watson ..
" Tennant ..

Favourably mentioned by Brigadier Wood,
c.n.

oo | Favourably montioned by unulul-nlh._ 3
siego-traln,

nel Riddell, Commanding
Ditta ditta ditte,
Ditta ditta ditto.
Particularly distingnishod himsell
m"u?.muﬁinmuthu hﬁ;
& very exposed and dangorous n
Favourably mentionsd by Lisutenant.
Colonul Riddell.
Faveurnbly montioned by Major mm,__- ;
R.E, Commanding Enginears.
Behaved with very great cooloess and
gallantry

heavy and continued fire.
lw&mamm“
Ditta . ditto ditta,

o | Amisted Lizutenant Wynno in the remaval -

of the breamwork, and deserves equal
pratse for bis coolness and gallautry,

Favourably mestioned by Brigedier Wood,
., ;

Ditto ditte ditta,
. | Pavourahly mentiooed by Lisatenant-Colo-
wel Riddell
Ditto ditto ditta,

y rubily mentioned Ni :
hﬂ y m by Major Nicholsen,

Ditto ditto itta,

in removing a breastwark from
acroms the fron bridge in the facs ofa
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of officers who have served wnder Major-General Sir JamEs

OUTRAM, 6.0.1, Commanding the 1st Infantry Division, during
the operations at Lucknow in March 1858, and who are deemed
deserving of honourable mention—(Contd.)

Corps or detachment.

Rank and names.

Remarks,

Her Majesty’s 79th ..

Lieutenant Nuthall ..
M Horanden
Major Bruce oo
Captain Prevest ..
] D.'E -

- Nartan -

Lisutenant Utterton
] Evurest .-

FIE?H; mentioned by Major Nicholsony

Ditto ditte ditta.

Was attached to me during fhe sttack on
the Moosa Bagh, snd renmdersd most
valunhis servies,

Favaurahly mentioned by Livutenant-Caolo-

nel Walls, Her Majesty's
23rd Fusiliers.
Diitto ditta ditta,
Ditio ditta ditto,
Ditto ditto ditto.

Orderly Officer to Brigndier Dooglas, snd
favourshly mentioned by him,

Favourably mentioned by Brigadier Dooglas
for ing the storming party on Ali
Nuckee Khan's house.

Rifie Brigade wer | Brovet-Mujor Warren | Favourally mentioned by Brigadier-General
Walpole for his conduct duri tho
advancs to the iron bridge on the 11th,

Ditte e | Coptain Wilmot o Ditto ditto ditta,

. Lientenunt Grey . I‘Httml 3 ditto n.-:,.af“%
Regiment Foot... = Gordon + | Favourably mentioned by er Dovglus
20tk !nni-Jnﬂu;llmI.ll much to his satis-
fartion, )

G5th Regiment, Native | Captain G. Weston ... | Displayed much spirit and gallantry on-

" Infuntry. several oecasions, and his services wors
of much use to ma.

Tnaitached e w O .. | Of the Intelligonce Department ; performad
his duties with much sbility; the in-

' h:]'mlﬂnh furnished by bim was of much
value,
Ditio g - Bunbuory .- | Assistied Unptain Drr, and T am Nkewisa
inidubited to him for service in the fi=ld.
84th Regimont, Nutive w  Chamisr Thess oficers worked with the urm::LllH
Anfantry, nmld Aid=do- zenl anid netivity which has charsot
Camp to Bir James their comiuct in all the rions in
Ouiram, 6.8, which | bave beco -ngqmﬂ 1 lefe
Allahsbad in September last. Caprain
Hargood's horse was shot under him st
15t Madras Fusiliers,| .,  Hargood the Moosa Bagh,
and Ald-de-Camp to
fir James Oulram,
5.C.8.
. Aud. do-Camp to Briga- | Licutensnt Warner ... | Favourshly mentioned by Brigadier-General
mﬁ:m:ﬂ Wal- Walpole.

Hir Majesty's 79th, . Walker ... | Favourshly mentioned by  Brigudier

Aldsde-Camp to Douglas.
Brigudier Douglas.
*u

i

i
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Roll of officers who have served wnder Major-General Sir JAMES
OuTnAM, 6.08., Commanding the Ist Infantry Division, during
the operations at Lucknow in March 1858, and who are deemed
deserving of honowrable mention.—{Coneld.)

Corps or detachment. | Rank and names. Remarks.
-
Deputy Assistant Adju-| Captaia Dadson,® 30ih Jolned from Alumbagh in tims for the ]
tant-Gumeral, 1st| Native lafantry. sitack on the Mooss Bagh, and gavy ma L
Division. every nasistanoe. =
Deputy Asistant Quars Lientenant  Barker, Litto ditto ditta,
master-General, 1st | 78th Highlanders.
Division.
Deputy Judgo Advo- | Captain Gordon, Bih Ditto ditto ditta,
este-Gensrsl, 1st| Native Infantry,
Division.
Deputy Assistant Ad- | Captain Barwoll, T1st Favoursbly mentioned by Brigadior.Gene-
jutant-General, 3nd | Native Infantry, ral Walpole.
Divigion.
Daputy Assistant Quar- Caphain Cary,+ 17th | Favourably mentionsd by Brigadier-General
termaster-Goneral, Wative Infangry. Walpole, and was of much service to ma
Brd DMvislon. on several cecasions,
Brigade-Major, Artillery| Captain Frith .- | Favourably menticaed by Brigadier Wood,
C.h.
Officlating  Brigade- o  Btevensom .. | Favoursbly mentioned by Brigadier
Major, Sih Brigade, Douglas.
nﬂ‘,ﬁmjw, Eugi- o Hutchinson .. | Bendersd sxcellont servies in the attack
neeri. on the fron bridge, and capturs of the
Brigade-Majo Poiors Siteohel by Brigadie
r, Bth ss  Macpherson, arnurabiy -
Brigude. 78th Highlanders. Bouglas. .
Her Majosty's 75th | Brovet-Major Mollas, | Favourably mentioned by Brigadier Hors- -
¥oot, Brigade-Major,| 73th. ford. "
fith Brigade, _ 5"
Etaf Artillery ses | Mnjor Turner s | Favourably mentioned by Lientenant-Coloe
nel Riddell, Commanding sl=ge-train,
Dirta +vs | Captain Young s IHtia ditta ditto.
Orderly Officer to Bei- | Brevet-Majur Ross ...| Favoursbly mantioned by Brigadier Horss
gudier Horsfonl. ford. -
Onlerly Oficer to Sir | Lioutenant Hewitt, | Joined from Alumbagh in tims for the

James Outram, G.C.R

Oederly Officer to Bri-
sdier<General

41st Native [ufantry.

Lieuteoant Eccles o

attank on Moosa Bagh, and was useful 2
Orderly Officor,

Fsvoarably meationed by Brigadier-General
Walpaole.

Vulpole,
55th Regimont, Native i Tulloch .., | Was very active in the discharge of his
Infantry, Assisiant duties as Field Enginser, ssd wes of
Firld Engineer. much use. *
Assistant Field Engi- | 8r May we | From his knowledge of the localities was
matt of much servies to me in the sdvance on

All Nuckoe Kban's house.

(34.) J, OUTEAM, Maj.-Genl,

® Sic in original. Captsin D, 8. Dodgson.
t Sic In original. Captain T. A. Carey.






APPENDIX A
NARRATIVE OF THE MUTINY AT CAWNPORE,

It is purposed in the following narrative to give a complete but
succinet account of the occurrences connected with the mutiny of the
native regiments at Cawnpore, and the disastrons consequences that
ensued to the European inhabitants of the station,

It will not be an object to account in any way for the origin of the
mutiny, or to investigate the causes that prompted native troops, on
whom every reliance had been placed, to raise so formidable a rebellion.

Neither will it be, perhaps, desimble to enter into a detailed
nocotnt of cases of individual suffering, a reeard of which may be placed
more appropriately in an appendix to the parmative, where also may
be found the records of survivors and others from which the information
now furnished is gathered.

Tt is necessary, however, to deseribe thé position of the rebel who,
if he did not from the first {oster the mutiny, seon placed hiwsslf at the
head, and, by lis intelligence and importance, gave a plan and system
to the rewolt.

Nana Dhoondeopunt was the adepted son of Bajee Rao, ex-Peshwa
of Pooua, & pensioner of the British Governmeat, who died in Decem-
ber 1852,

~ The pension of the ex-Peshwa, amounting to eight lacs of rupees
per aunum, was not continued to the Nana, and this appenrs to have
been his principal, if not sole, grievance, though he invarinbly main-
tained friendly relations with the European residents, and indeed on
many occasions treated them with apparently cordial hospitality,
His residence was at Bithoor, sitoated ten miles west of Cawnpore,
where he owned an estate left him by his patron, the éx-Peshwa, He



1 ATPENDIX

was allowed a retinue of 200 infantry and cavalry, with three guns of
small ealibre, and these troops were, of course, entirely independent of
European authority.

Cawnpore, the head-quarters of a division of the army, is a large
station some five miles in length situated on the right bank of the
Ganges; and though it was formerly ocon pied by a strong force of
Europeans, a numbier of these had lately been reduced.

At the time of the revolt the European furce, including the rein-
foreements they received, consisted of :—

Artillery, 1 Co. 50 men, and 6 guns.

Infantry, 60 men of Her Majesty’s 84th,
70 men of Her Majesty’s 32nd, invalids, and sick.
15 men of 1st Madras Fusiliers,

- Themative troops consisted of the 2ud Regiment, Light Cavalry,
¢he 1st, 53rd, and 56th Regiments Infantry, aud the Golundanze, or
native gunoers attached to the buttery.

General Sir Hugh Wheeler commanded the division, and a list of
his staff and other officers will be found elsewhere,*

There were a large number of Europeans resident in cantonments.
many of whom were individuals connected with the civil, milway,
canal, and other departments. There were also nearly the whole of
the soldiers’ wives of Her Manjesty’s 32nd Regiment, which was
stationed ot Lucknow. The whole number of the European popula-
tion, therefore, in Cawnpore, men, women, and children, could not have
wmounted to less than 750 lives,

News of the outbreak at Meerut and Delhi reached Cawnpore on
the 14th May, and though the mistrust prevailing more or less throngh-
out the Bengal Presidency was felt at Cawnpore, and with more
especial reference to the eavalry and the 1st Regiment, N ative Infantry,
who had been cantoned together for years, and whose seditioas feclings
hod been pretty openly expressed, ne precautionary measures wers
adopted beyond that the ariillery were moved up to the European
barracks, aud this movement was caused by a supposed incendiary fire
which oceurred in the lines of the 1st Regiment, Native Infantry, on
the night of the 16th May. The ladies and merchants also about this
time sought refuge in the barracks. A company of Her Majesty’s 32nd
arrived from Lucknow, and officers of all corps were ordered to sleep in
the lines of their regimeuts. Further canse of alarm was given by

i

* Nal reovived,
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rumours having been cirenlated in the city that ohjectionable car-
tridges were to be served out on the 23rd May, and that the artillery
were to act against all who refused them. A good deal of excitement
prevailed, and on the 24th May, the Queen's birthday, it was not con-
sidered advisable to fire the usual salute,

The Nana had offered to protect the treasury in case of an out- -

break, and oun the 20th May, at the request of the Collector, e brought
two guns and 200 nujeebs (wrmed retainers), and placed them on guard
over the treasury, which was also guarded by a company of the 53rd
Native Infantry. The 20d Regiment, Oudh Cavalry, under the com-
mand of Lisutenant Barbor, 20th Native Infantry, marched into canton-
ments, and furvished patrols, together “with a picquet of the 2nd
Cavalry.

A few days after their arrival the Oudh Irregulars were suspect-
ed, and were accordingly marched out towards Futtehghur, Captain®
Hayes, 62nd Native Infantry, Military Secretary to Sir H. Lawrence,
Commissioner of Oudh, and Captain Carey, 17th Native Infantry,
accompanying them ; and they were followed a day or two later by
Licutenant Ashe with a half battery of Oudh Horse Artillery. A few
marches from the station the eavalry regiment mutinied, and sueceeded
in murdering all the officers who were with them. Some Sikhs, however,
in the regiment returned towards Cawnpore, and met and brought back
Licutenant Ashe and the guns. Genernl Wheeler dismissed the Sikhs
and commenced entrenching the Larracks of the depdt of Her Majesty's
82ad, to which all the Europeans at the station were ordered to repair.

On the 2nd June the first reinforcoment arrived, consisting of two
compauies of Her Msjosty's 84th, and fifteen men of the Madeas
Fusiliera. One company of the former, together with the company of
Her Majesty's 32nd, which had arrived a few days before, were sent on
to Luckunow,

On the #th June provisions for a month had been stored, and one
lae of rupees was removed within the entrenchment, but nine lacs still
remained in the treasury, and no steps were taken to remove or secure
the ammunition and stores which were lying in large quantities both in
the ordnance and regimental magnzines. It is nocessary to mention
this fact to show not only that full confidence was placed in the Nana,
but that no very serious view was taken of matters in general. The
officers of the 2nd Cavalry, and 1st and 56th Regiments, Native
Infantry, were ordered to discontinue sleeping in their lines,
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The matiny commenced on the morning of the Gth,at 2 A, when
the 2nd Cavalry and 1st Regiment, Native Infantry, left their lines,
without, however, molesting their officers, who, on the first alarm,
hiad proceeded to their linea, The insurgents proceeded first to the
treasury and the magazine, which were situated i the civil lines at the
western end of the station. OF beth of these buildings they obtained
possession without opposition from the guards placed aver them; they
then entered the jail, set the prisoners at liberty, and burnt all the
mljacent public offices avd records. They then marched out to
Kullianpore, the first halting place on the road to Delhi, and there
encamped, and were joined before moon of the same day by the 53vd
and 56th Regiments, Native Infantry.

Scizing the opportunity of the revolt, the Nana possessed him-
gelf of a great portion of the treasure, and, repairing to the rebel camp,
*persiiaded thenrto return to Cawnpore, to destroy all the honses situated
therein, annibilate the British officers and soldiers and every Christian
vesident, and then go on to Delhi or Lucknow, leaving a garrison
behind to retain possession of the city nnd district of Cawnpore,

Acting on his adviee, and placing themselves under his orders, the
rebels returned to Cawnpeore the same evening, and the Nana at once
informed General Wheeler that he had returned to attack him.

Intimidating all natives of any standing or importance, plunder-
ing everything in lis way, and muedering every European that fell inte
his hands, the Nana soon made good his word by bringing into posi-
tion two of his own guns, and two heavy guns whieh he had procured
from the magazine. The cannovade from these guns eommenced
‘about 10 Aw, on the morning of the Tth June.

It is necessary, in order to render evident the situation of the
besieged, to give a short aceount of the unfortunate position that had
been selected by General Wheeler, and of the inadequate means thas
had been taken to secure it.

The depdt of Her Majesty’s 82nd, consisting of the sick, invalids,
women, and children of the regimemt was located in two long barracks
in an extensive plain at the eastern end of the station. These barracks
were single-storied buildings, intended each for the accommodation of a
eompany of 100 men. One of them was thatched, and both were sur-
rounded by a Aat-roofied arcade or verandah ; the walls were of brick
}} inches thick; a well, and the usual out-offices, were attached to the
Buildings.
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Around these barracks a trench was dug, and the earth thrown up
on the outside, so ns to form n parapet, which might have been five feet
high but not even bullet-proof ac the erest. Open spaces were like-
wise left for the guns, which were thus entirely unprotected, and it
may be imagined what slight cover an entrenchment of this kind
would furnish either for the barracks or for meén in the trenches;
and there was plenty of cover both for musketry and guns withina
short distance of the barracks, of which the mutineers soon availed
themselves.

To enclese the barracks, n parapet some feet in length was
required, and it is supposed that scarcity of labour and the stiffuess of
the soil, which at the close of the hot senson was nearly ns hard as rock,
were the causes which prevented the construction of more solid
defences. :

The eannonade commenced from the four guns before mentionedy
but the enemy's artillery was soon strengthened from the ordnance
magazine, and ina few hours they brought a fire on the barracks om
all sides from fourteen guns* and mortars placed in position.

At first the besieged replied briskly to the fire of the rebels, but
without any sigual success, for the guns in the entrenchment were field
guns, and the enemy had not as yet advanced within 1,000 yards
from the barracks. Their fire, also, had little or no effect, but on the
second day of the siege they adopted more emergetic measures; the
Mahomedan flag was raised in the city,all true Mussulmans were
directed to join, and those who demurred were threatened, insulted, or
fined. The Nana's force was soon angmented by large numbers, and
reinforced daily. Having at his command a magazine stored with
every description of ammunition and crdnance, with his treasury full,
and the eity bazar in his hands, it is not to be wondered at that he soon
rendered the situation of the Europeans next to hopeless. An in-
cessant fire of musketry wns poured into the entremchment from the
nearest buildings ; guns of large ealibre, drawing gradually closer and
closer; sent their shot and shell without intermission agninst the brick
walls of the barracks ; carcasses fired the thatched building in which
numbers of sick and helpless women and wounded men were huddled
together, many of whom were burnt alive ; the hospital stores wers lost
or destroyed, and all were crowded now into one building, Withous

®— 31 pounders,—— 13- pounders, reren 2-pounders, twa §-pounders,
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medicines, the sick and wounded died without relief: with the greater
portion of their ammunition spent, the besieged were forced to slacken
their fire, and their position was rendered hopeless and helpless in the
extreme ; and all this before the firing had lasted for half a week.

There was a nuliah or ditch some distance in front of the entrench-
ment, from which the enemy pushed on a sap towards the barracks,
and from this they poured in a near and deadly fire,

And on the west of the besieged an entirely new range of barracks
hbad been in the course of construction, and behind the unfinished wall
the rebels posted their matchlockmen, who, however, were dislodged
by sortie after sortie, and at length two of the barracks were held by
picquets from the garrison. But the strength of the garrison was
insufficient to prevent the rebels from placing their matchlockmen on
other sidea Communication between the barmacks became difficult, no
one could move out of cover for one instant without drawing on himself
the fire of twenty pieces; water was at first drawn under shelter of o
parapet on the edge of the well, but the parapet was knocked down,
and soon not a drop could be obtained save at the risk of almost certain
destruction. The half destroyed walls of the barracks, or the temporary
expedient of piling up tents and casks, was the precarious but only
shelter that could be obtained ; food eould not be carried from post to
post by day ; and the dead were removed at night and thrown inte an
adjacent well without the decency of burial. Relief was expected on
the 14th June, but day after day brought no succour; round shot and
disease were doing their work, provisions ran short, and the misery
endured by all can hardly be imagined.

Yet the besieged, in sucoessful sallies, took and spiked the nearest
guns, driving away the mutineers, and retiring to the trenches with
little if any loss; but the guns were either repaired or replaced by
others from the arsenal, and though the position in the barracks was
quite untenable, the mutineers never mustered the courage to assanlt it.

Nor were the Europeans in the trenches the only sufferers.
Besides several Europeans captured in the city, many of the natives
suspected of aiding or serving the British foroe were put to death, A
list was made of all the bankers, who were mulet of their wealth, and
property of every deseription was plundered or wantonly destroyed.

Up to the 26th Juno the British foree held their own : their loss
in killed alone was upwards of a hundred, and the ladies and others
were muddened by suffering, Tt can scarcely be wondered at, then, that
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when on that worning the Nuna offered to treat, his proposition was
listened to. It was worded as follows :—

“All" soldiers and others unconnected with the aots of Lord
Dalhousie, who will lny down their arms and give themselves up, shall
be spared and sent to Allahabad, *

Captain Moore, commanding the detachment of Her Manjesty's
32nd, who had from the first directed the energies of the besieged, and
invariably led their sallies, seeing the reduced state of the besieged,
and relying on the word of the Nana, obtained permission to sign the
paper, aud, contrary to the advice and remonstrances of many other
officers, the treaty was agreed to.

Boats were immedintely provided for the conveyance of the
remains of the garrison to Allahabad, and to these boats they pro-
ceeded on the morning of the 27th Juna,

And now followed the most dastardly picee of treachery thet has,
perhaps, ever been enacted.  Hardly had the party taken their places
in the boats when, by previous arrangement, the boatmen set the
thatched awnings of the boats on fire, and rushed to the bauk, and
a heavy fire of grape and musketry was opened on the Europenns,
Out of thirty boats two only managed to start; one of these was
shortly swamped by round shot, but its passengers were enabled to
reach the leading boat. Of thase on bLoard the other twenty-eight
boats some were killed, some drowned, and the rest brought back
prisoners,

The surviving boat had fifty of the refugees on board, and pro-
eoseded down the river, followed by the rebels, who kept upan inces.
sant fire from both banks, At the distance of six miles the boat
grounded and its passengers remained passive unti] night, when
the darkness enabled them to shove her off, and they pursued their
way without interruption till the boat grounded agnin at Mussupghur,
eight miles lower down. Here again the rebels. attacked the boat,
killing many of the passengers, but they were driven off, and retived
to Cawnpore, when the Nana immediately despatched two complote
regiments in pursuit. At night a violent storm, fortunately, freed the
beat from the sandbank, but from ignorance of the channel the boat
agnin grounded towards dawn, and when daylight came it showed the
unhappy fugitives that their remorseless enemy had followed them up,

and was on the bank, They had now reached Seorajpore, thirty miles
from Cawnpore,

-
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As it was found impracticable to move the hoat, a party of
fourteen landed to drive back their assailants, which they did most
effectually, but proceeding too far inland the small band was sur-
rounded, and in making their way back to the river lost all sight of the
boat. They accordingly followed the bank for about a mile when, being
hotly pressed, they were forced to take refuge and breathing time in n
small temple. At the doer of the temple one of the party was killed,
the remaining thirteen, after attempting a parley in vain; lind recourse
to their firelocks and several of the enemy wers soon killed or put fiors
de combat, The rebels then, fearing even to attack this small band
of Englishmen, brought a gun to bear on the temple, but finding that
it made no impression, they had recourse to heaping up firewood
before the dosrway. Unfortunately the temple was round, so that the
party within could not prevent their pushing.the wood round to the
front. The fire, however, did not have the desired offect ; some hands-
ful of powder were therefore thrown upon it, and the smoke from this
nearly suffocated the fugitives, who determined to sally nnd take to
the river. On their charging out of the temple, the enemy fled in all
directions, Bix of the party (it is supposed beeanse they could not
gwim) ran into the crowd, and sold their lives as dearly as they could ;
the remaining seven threw themselves into the Ganges. Two of these
were shot ere lorg; a third, resting himself by swimming on his back,
unwittingly approached toa close to the bank, and was cut up ; and the
other four siwvam six miles down the river, three of them being wounded,
4ill at Inst the leader was hailed by two or three sepoys belonging toa
friendly rajsh, who eventually proved to be Muharajah Dig Biiah Sing,
Rajah of Baiswarrah in Oudh. Exhausted by a three-days' fast, and
coneeiving, from the freedom from pursuit that they had experienced on
the lnst hall mile of their flight that they were safe, the fugitives ut
once went to the rajah, who protected and fed them from the 29th
June to 28th July, and ultimately provided for their escort to the
eamp of a detachment of Europeans proceeding from Allehabad to
Cawnpore to join the force under the command of Brigadier-General
Havelock. :

Of those who were unfortunately captured from the boats” many
were killed at once; others, the wives and children of the Enropean
officers and soldiers, were placed as prizoners in a house in the canton-
meuts of Cawnpore; some of these were released from their sufferings
by death; others, reserved for a more horrible finte, were killed in
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batches as the news of each successive victory of the Allahabad aveng-
ing column reached Cawnpore,

When Geneml Havelock's force reached Cawnpore, that morning
his victory had sealed the fate of the last of the survivors When the
British force marched into cantonmeuts the marks of butchery and
bloodshed were still fresh ; the floor of the house in which the prisoners
were confined was foul with elotted blood and tangled masses of hair:
the well close by was filled with mangled corpses; nnd sadly and
sorrowfully fell the reflection on every heart that they had arrived,
nlas ! too lnte,

Out of 760 living souls in the strength and vigour of life one
short mouth before, but four escaped to tell the tale of the mutiny ab

Cawnpore.

Trans'a‘ion of the diary of the Nosxs Nuwan, a nalive gentleman veniding in

Cawenpore, conlaining an account of the orcurrences there Jrom June 5tk b

July 2ud 1857

On the morning of the 5th June last, say about 3 as, the 2nd
Light Cavalry and the 1st Regiment of Native Infantry broke out into
opent rebellion and proceeded towards Nawabgunge, burning every
bungalow that fell in their way. Just at about six o'clock they libey.
ated the jail prisoners, plundered the treasury, and afterwards set firg
to the bungalows occupied by Messrs. Hillersdon and Mackillop, and
the Dewany and Foujdary Courts, They then left Cawnpore, with the
evident intention of joining the mutineers at Delhi, and halted ag
Kulliaupore, taking what mouey they could of the Government trea-
sury, amounting perhaps to some ten lags of rupees, and leaving the
rest to be plundered by the ryots. Nana availed himeelf of the oppor-
tunity and sent, ns the report goes, three or four hackery loads of money
to his mansion at Bithoor. He then cansed sentries of his own to be
placed over the magnzive, and repaired in person to the rebel sepoys
at Kullianpore, and induced them by every means he could deviss to
come back the following day, and attack the Europeans in the entrench-
ment, having previously got four guns, two small ones from the
ringleader Nana, and two 18-pounders from the Government magazine,
Ou their way they intended to attack Auzim Ulee Khan’s house, byt
the old gentleman cume out in the most humiliating manner ang
bought their friendship by payment of some money, though hepe I
ought to observe that it was against the will of their ringleader Nana

b
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I could well see, with a telescope from the top of my house, Nana with
his two brothers and other relatives, coming forward with all the pomp
of a newly ereated king ; the trdopers, in groups of eights or tens, of
the 2nd Light Cavalry, setting fire in the meanwhile to all the bunga-
lows, and causing them to be plundered.

2. When they reached near Mirzn Hajee’s bungalow, some six or
eight troopers were despatched to take me to the Nana, but I not
answering their first call, again a party of about 100 troopers was sent,
and, effecting their entrance by forcing open the backdoor, made me
their prisoner. I, of course, mounted my horse with a few of my follow-
ers, and went to the Nann, surrounded by mutineer troopers, who
threatened to take my life if I should decline ecompliance with their
wishes,

3. I was first taken before Nuna's younger brother, Bala Saheb,
who ordered me to be disarmed, and my followers to be plundered of
the silver and other valuable things they had with them. When I
approached the ringlender Naon, 1 was commanded by his mooushee,
Jawalapershaud, to dismount my horse, which he took for himself.
There were at the time about 500 arms raised at me, but Nana dis-
spaded them from their purpose, and ordered me to be imprisoned, and
placed on an elephant, as if any one is led through the streets in
ignominious show, putting me in charge of two sentries. While thus
gonfined, I received information from my men that they fired af my
house six or seven guns, plandered it of all its property, amounting to
ten lacs of rupees, and had my lady not saved hersclf by going upstairs
of a room three-storied, by means of a wooden ladder, and drawing the
ladder up, they would have much ill-treated her. I heard also from
ereditable authorities that in this spoil the city people and most of my
own servants sharod. The pretence made for forcing entrance into my
house was that I Lad concealed eight or nine Europeans therein, 1 was
so miserably plundered that there wus not a particle of my property
left, one of my servants actually obliged to prepare khitehree for my
evening meal at his own expense.

4. On reaching near Mr. Jacobie's bungalow they began firing at
the entrenchment from near the camal, butchering every European,
Esst Indian or native Christian who unfortunately foll in with thewm.
Now it was that I saw my two brothers, Nizam-ood-dowlsh and
Ameen-ood dowlah, were violenily taken to the field surrounded by
troopers who led them to the Nana,
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5. Meanwhile it was reported that some Evropeans had taken
refuge in the Mogul's serai;, and guns were fired ab it, which hurted
along an Udhar Sing (sic), asubadar of the 20d Light Cavalry,
who had been foremost in eausing my house to be plundered, and two
or three rebel sepoys. Some East Indinns were seived from the serai
and killed.

6. In the afternoon Napa took up his quarters at Mr. David
Duncan’s bungalow, firing being carried on by parties during the time
without intermission. In the evening I obtained psrmission with great
difficulty of the Naua to return home, but as I had no conveyance, I
asked him to give me back my horse, instead of which I got a mere tattoo
belonging to a servant of my brother. I was fortunate enough to full
in with a man who had my horse, and I induced the two troapers in
whose charge I was, by flattery and promises of bribe, to get me hack
my horse. These two troopers kept guard over my house for a few
days. Firing continued during the night. During the whole day and
night of the Tth, guns continued to be fired at the entrenchment from
two directions, viz, from the side of the Grmnd Trunk Road, nod
from that of Mr. David Duncan’s bungalow, and butchering of the
Europeans falling in the hands of the insurgents continued,

7. On the Sth July, rebellious Jehtihar published, Mahomedee
Jhunda mised, and proclamations tom-tomed through the bazars,
inviting all the Mahomedans to join in the insurrection ; disobedicnoe
to be met with death. Uzeemoolah is said to have first proposed the
raising of the Jhunds, nnd he induced the following leading men to
join under the same, wis,

[Names omitted in original.]

As I had not joined with the men of the Jhunda, two troopers were
seut by the Nana to fetch me, saying that they have waited long for
me, how it was that T did not join the Jhunda, it appears that I was
not a Mahomedan but a Christian (an expression of contempt), 1 had
better soon attend the Nana's Court, or they bave orders to take my
head to the Nana: so saying, they took me along with them before
the Nana, where Teska Sing, Subadar-Major Bahadur of the Ind
Light Cavalry, heaped abuses on me, and threntened to have ma
tied toa tree and thers mangled, as T appeared to be avarse to the
Jhunda. He caused me to be seated Just elose to their guns placed
near the Saint Joln's Chapel, puiposely to have me killed, as shots
from the entrenchmont were unceasingly fired at it apd

: I bad very
narrow escape, shots passing over my head, sides, ears, &o,
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8. While thus seated, I saw Buldeo Sing, zemiudar of Monzah
Secsamow, coming with 200 armed men. By eotreaties I prevailed on him
to intercede for me with Teeka Sing, Subadar.  Partly at his intercession,
but more likely at the present of a pair of bracelets, valued about
2000 rupees, which my lady a little before this had made him over
through my brother-in-law, 1 got my release in the evening, though nob
without the precaution of having been placed under guard of two
sownrg, Jumal-ood-deen, n trooper, and Shere Khan, a havildar. The
first named was onme of the most atrocious villains that I have ever
seen, Ile wounld scarcely leave my side even for his own necessities
“There were in the chapel some Company's sepoys, and abont 30 or 40
sepoys of some native mjah firing at the entrenchment. One Mr.
Maling, his son, with two or three East Indians more, as well as about
20 or 25 coolies suspected to have been employed in supplying vietuals
to the Enropeans, were scized, and Mr. DeGawa, a resident merchant,
killed. Firing continued during the whole day and night.

0. The morning of the 9th brought me the tiding of the Nana's
having feasted his eyes with the slanghter of the above prisoners. The
poer men were first fired at and snbsequently cut in pieces with swords.
Five ladies were seized this day, three of whom were killed and two
saved, one styling hersell Mrs. Lowther and her sister. The Nana
removed his quarters to the subadar’s kootee with his treasure amount-
ing to 210000 rupees. Some of the shops in the bazar plundered.
Hoolass Sing, thanoahdar of Sirsoul, who was kotwal of the city some
years previously, was appointed kotwal, and it was rumouréd that
gume gcpoys were proposing to storm the entrenchment, but they did
not dare make the attempt. Firing continued during night and doy as
usual.

10. On the 10th firing continned as wsaal, with oceasional plunder-
ing of a few of the bazar shops. Nothing more remarkable happened
that came to my knowledge.

11. On the 11th, bazars ordered to be opened by tom-tom, saying,
# K huluk Khoda ka, Moolk Padsha ka, Hookm Nona Saheb and Fouj
Bahadoor ka, that whoever will not yield compliance to it shall subject
himsell to severe punishment.” Quazes Wasseecoddeen ordered to
supply rations to the mutineer sepoys, and accordingly he got shops
established along the eanal, and made the sapply for about two days,
but the shops being plundersd, the shopkeepers gradually disappeared.
It was on the night of this day, that some ten or fifteen Eunropeans
game to the gnns placed near the chapel (one of them being a
24 pounder, sne 18-pounder, and the other a mortar), dismounted them
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from their wheels, set fire to the wheéls, spiked them, and when beset
by a great number of sepoys, returned to their entrenchment ; about
three of these were killed, une being an officer. Mines werp ordered
to be dug from the practice ground of the 2nd Light Cavalry, and led
ito the entrenchment. Three boats full of Europeans; &c., men, women,
and children, were coming down the river, whether from Furrnckabad,
Meerut, or elsewhere, I don’t know, when one of them was fired at and
drowned near the Oudh side of the river, but ultimately the passengers
were obliged to yiell at discretion and brought before the Nana.
Reports vary about the number imprisoned; some say thoy wore
128, others 135, 20 or 25 females, and the rest males. The differenca
between the numbers of gentlemen and soldiers, &c., could not be
discovered. These were all kept this day under severe confinement,
Firing eontinued till 2 o'clock At of the 12th,

12. The morning of the 12th sealed the fate of the wretched
prisoners seized the day before. First they were ordered to be shot
oand then mangled with swords, and thrown into the river. Firing
continned as usnal,

13. On the 13th, two sowars were sent to take me before Teekn
Sing. I was first led under their and of those two troopers' charge
who stood guard over me at my house, before him whom I saw was
shaving himself sitting on a chair. He ordered me to sit on a piece of
board, then ecommanded me to go to Nana, to whom I went, but conld
not get access. For sometime I remuined standing. After a while, I
saw Hoolass Sing, kotwal, who gave me a moral to sit on. I remained
sitting in the heat of the sun for three hours, when Uzeemoollah, com-
ing from Nana, said that the ringleader had no doubt ealled me, but ho
no longer requires me, and I had leave to return home under guard of
the same two troopers who stood sentry over me. Firing continued as
usual, I saw present in Nana's Court one of the sons of Anzim Ulee
Khan and other city people.

14. On the 14th, it was reported the zemindar of Bunthur,in Oudb,
bronght three Europeans to Nana.  He had alighted in some mahajan’s
shop. I cannot say exactly when proclamation was made by Nana for
the sepoys attending his camp, one and all, on pain of severe penalty,
as the entrenchment was to be stormed.  An attempt was made indeed
on the entrenchment by Nana himself, but Teeka Sing, Subadar, coun-
selling him o remain back on ground of all being spoiled at his fall, he
eamo back, and the soldiers were now-a-days as cruel and inhuman as '
Chungeykban Hulakoo, a notorious murdever,
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15. On the 15th, some two or three troopers, with eleven or twelve
sepoys, were killed of shots from the entrenchment. Uzeemoollah Khan
issned ordinary orders in the Kotwalee, and openly used ill language
towards the British. Firing continned as usual.

16. On the 16th, it was reported that some twenty or twenty-five
boats full of European soldiers were coming;on which Teeka Sing,
Subadar, with a troop of sowars, some infantry, and two guns, went to
Jangmow Ghaut to oppose their landing. Firing continued as wsual,
One regiment of Oudh Local Infantry, surnamed * Ukhtures,” came
from Lucknow. Its soldiers said to Nana that they have killed three
of their officers, which pleased him much.

17. On the 17th June an aftempt to storming the entremchment
was made by order of Nana. The loss of the mutineers amounted to
gome 50 men in killed and wounded. Every sepoy had a good deal of
money with him, amounting from 500 to 5,000 ropees. The report of
the previous day was partly true, for eleven boats did really come, but they
were loaded with magnzine stores, four soldiers, and two non-commis-
gioned officers, Two more Europeans of the Ganges Canal Department
were observed stopping the canal at a place eight or ten miles distant
hence. They said they were doing so at the command of their superior,
Firing continued as usanl. Many of the sepoys returned to their homes
with the plunder. The zemindars pillaged them on the road, and killed
those who offered refistance to them. The mutineers were preparing
ral ka gola (n kind of eannon ball) in  Mr. David Duncan’s bungalow,
when a spark of fire fulling from their ehelum blew up three men and
wounded seven. Four or five petitions were received by the Nana from
Oudh from the following individuals, iz, Kusmut Ullee Chowdree,
Munsul Ullee Chowdree, and two or three others, saying that they huve
taken possession of the part of the country they each lived ; the native
English troops were ripe for insurrection, and that everybody was
anxiously waiting for his arrival to break out openly ; that he shall have
every assistance he needs.  Three or fonr companies of a Sikh regiment
arrived from the side of Allshabad. Two butchers’ bands cut off
for slaughtering cows, which was unpopular among the Mahomedans,
Firing guns on the entrenchment was hotter.

18. On the 18th, fifteen or theresbout of sepoys of an Oudh Loeal
Infantry, named “ Ukhturee,” were killed by the Europeans in the
entrenchment, A list of the wealthy mahajuns drawn out’two of them
enlled before the Nana, and Ishreepersaud menaced out of 75,000
rupecs.  One of the golundauzes found on the Ganges side n European
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girl of abont five or six years, wounded on one of "her arms and a thigh
with sword or shots recsived on the 12th, still living, and taking pity
on her took her to Teeka Bing, Subadar, and asked his permission to
adopt her ns his own, he being issucless, but tha subadar imprisoned
him, saying that European children were not intended to be saved. A
subadar of an Irregular Cavalry ordered for seizing all the baboos {ouly
the natives of Bengal) on n charge of serving as spies to the British in
the entrenchment ; some forty or fifty of them got hold of aud kept
imprisoned in the kotwalee ; the rest escaped and concealed themselves,
The next day they were libemted. Firing on the entrenchment as usual,
10, The 10th.—Oune coolie observed collecting gun shots, with the
intention of taking to the entrenchment. He was ecaught and asked
why he took shots to it;he replied that he got money. His hands
were ordered to be cut offf.  The principal Sidder Ameen called before
the Nann, Two or three European soldiers fell in the engagement,
and six or seven mutineer sepoys and four troopers, and one trooper
wounded in the leg. An Irregular Cavalry came from Oudh. A light
seen during the night in the entrenchment, from which it was supposed
that the Enropeans had set fire to their baggnge with the intention of
Laulking the sepoys in Lheir hopes of plunder. Firing as nsual.

20, On the 20th rumours for starming the entrenchment heand in
the moming, but the time being pronounced inauspicious by the pundit
Dabeadeen, the assault wns not made. The troopers, jealous of the
wenlth Tecka Sing, Subadar, had nmassed, put him under arrest in
his own tent, and a guard was placed to watch Lis movements. Firing
on the entrenchment continued ns usual.

21. On the 21st June an upsuccessful attack on the entrench-
ment was made, the mutincers were obliged to retreat with the loss of
five or six sepoys and two or three troopers. It was also heard that
two European soldiers fell in this attack. Two troops of the Tth Light
Cavalry came here and sent to Bithoor with a company of Native
Infantry for guarding it. Proclamations for exchanging all sortsof
rupees at the rate of G4 pice per rupee tom-tomed in the bazar
Sheikh Panchoo and Huneef enlisted a good number of sowars with
the intention of mising a regiment of cavalry each under them,
These carried on depredations, extorted money, and oppressed the
people much ; once on plundering Nabobgunge, they were ordered to
be eonfived.  Firing continued as usual,

22. On the 22nd, one Oudh Local Tufantry, surnamed * Nadree,”
camé from Lucknow. Engagement as usual. .

25. On the 23rd Jure one Irregular Cavalry arrived and en-
comped  across the Ganges, It wes ordered to remain there. Two or



xvi = ATPENDIX

three spectators killed from shots from the entrenchment. Firing con-
tinued night and day incessantly auvd hotter than usual. The troopers
who stood guard over me extorted from me 100 rupees, .

24. On the 24th, another cavalry came from Oudh. Yascen
Khan, Moonshee, of the 2ud Light Cavalry, proposed to be sent to the
Emperor of Delhi, Firing as usual,

25. On the 25th, an attempt on the entrenchment made. A
subadar of the 1st Native Infantry, Radhay Sing, whose star was pro-
nounced then by Pundit Dabeedeen to be very ominons, was first
killed, and the mutineers all belonging to the Ist Native Infantry
obliged to retreat with the loss of at least 25 men. Plundered property
discovered in a man’s house. His hands were ordered to be cut off
Proclamations tom-tomed through the bazar ordering the delivery
of all pillaged property people may have, non-compliance to be met with
severe punishment.  Contract for the sale of opium given ; proclamation
prohibiting illicit sals of the drug, and ordering the restomtion of
the plundered part of the same published. Exchange rate of gold mohur
raised in the market, so much so that those worth of 14 rupees were
disposed at 10 or 20, and those valued at 16 at 27 or 28 rupees, Fiving
continued as usual.

26. On the 26th, reports were prevalent that one regiment of
envalry and one troop of horse artillery were coming from Nowgong and a
party of twelve troopers, commanded by a Native officer, was despatched
to lead them to the ringleader. Bombardment on the cutrenchment
eontinued till 3 pa, after which propesals of peace offered thM|gl1
Mrs. Greenway, who took along with her Uzeemoollah and Jowalapersaud,
Ressaldar, into the entrenchment. They returned thence with Colongl
Ewart of the 1st Regiment, Native Iufuntry, accompanied by five
European soldiers with their arms; the subject matter of their com-
wunion is unknown. It was rumoured that the mutineer sepoys offered
peace an terms of the Europeans giving up their arms; the sun having
get, the pence deferred till morning. Firing agreed to be discontinued
by both parties ; some twelve golundauzes, o non-commissioned officer of
artillery, Uzeemoollah Khan, and Jowalapersand, were taken into the
entrenchment to bring up the guns and kept there for the night, under
) pretence of night having advanced too far, The terms of truce
were observed on the part of Europeans, though the 1st Regiment of
Nitive Infantry disregarded them, I had heard previously to this from
a sepoy who came to the guard which was over me at about mid-day,
and appeared to we by his manuer and language to be disaffected with
Nana, that they intended to beguile the Europeans out of their
entrenchment and then take (hem by surprise and kill thom, [
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satisfied myself about the truth of the information, and tried to apprise
the same to the Major-General of impending danger, but I am sorry I
could not do so on any account. I imagine I would have succeeded

in sending o man to the entrenchment with the news of the intended

treachery, but the sepoys besioged it on all sides to the extent of
mile, and would not allow anybody to pass through them. Besides, the
two troopers who stood guand over me watched my movements,

27, On the 27th, peace concluded in the morning, and boats gob
ready for the conveyance of the Europeans to Allahabad, The British
were proceeding towards the Ganges, having made over the guns, when
the mutinecrs encircled them, The British General is said to have
remarked that he was duped.  Part of his party had embarked, part were
.on the bank of the river, some were on the way, when the mutinears
attacked him, The 1st Regiment, Native Infantry, first fired, then the
assanlt became general. The troopers rushed with their horses into the
river to have their swords soaked in European blood. Three boats
escaped notwithstanding about 150 gun shots were fired at them;
others were set fire to; nearly 125 Europeans captured alive, consisting
of twelve or fifteen males and the rest females, and confined in the suba-

s kotee, They were kept one whole day and night starving. There
were but few among them who were uninjured. Boats were sent in pur-
siiit of the three boats which had escaped. Nana was highly pleased n
the way in which he got possession of the entrenchment. He extolled
much Uzeemoollah Khan and Jownlapersaud, Ressaldar, saying that i6
was to their wisdom that so sy a conquest wasowing, In consideration
of this signal service, the last-named was appointed Brigndier. The
Europeans who were taken alive were shot at and killed before the
Nana, a salute of twenty-one guns wero given him for the victory,

28. On the 28th an order issned for the troops to get ready for the
inspection of the Nana at 5 pM. I also went with the rest of the
spectators to the spot and saw 2nd Light Cavalry, with other irregular
cavalries, standing towanls north, 1st Native Infantry, with artillery
behind it, towards the east, and other native infantries and some militin
which Nana had mised, towards the south. First the Brigadier Jowaln-

persaud came with his body-gonard from behind the troops, and com- .

menced reviewing, beginning with 2od Light Cavalry, him followed
Baleh Saheb, a younger brother of the Nana, who had a salute of 17
guns given him.  After these bad returned, Nana himself came, and n
salute of 21 guns was fired, and inspected after the manner deseribed
above. He atthe same time expressed to grant a prize of .a lae of
rapees to the mutineers, and applauded their courageous conduck

'y
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and returned to his tent ; a salute of 21 guns was also given. AsT was
returning home, I met Row Saheb, (Nana's nephew,) preceded by
about 50 Mahratta sowars, and followed by nearly the same number of
Native troopers of Tth Light Cavalry, near the bridge of Ramnarain's
Bazar. When I had reached home, I heard first a salute of 17 guns
each given to Row Saheb and Baba Bhut, then of 11 to Bala,
after which 11 each to Jowala and Tanteeah,

29. Nothing remarkable happened on the 20th June.

30. June 30th. Three companies of the 1st Native Infantry which
were on command duty at Bands, came np here bringing with them
1,50,000 rupees from Government treasury, Tanteeah Bukshes and
Khirma, Khidnutgar of Newab Ali Bahadoor of Banda, and an
* urzee " from the nabob, the purport of which I could not leamn. Five
hundred hackeries ordered to be got ready by the kotwal fur the
converance of mutineers to Allahabad ; the hackeries were collected by
Kanye Chowdry and others. Baba Bhut was appointed superinten-
dent. Nana rumoured to intend to go to Lucknow, Insurrection re-
ported to have broken out in Lucknow. Ramloll, Dsputy Colloctor of
Cawnpore, wns engnged by erder of Nana to collect the balance of
revenues from zemindars,

31, July 1st. One of the sepoys, who had been in the entrench-
ment and was seized and confined on the 27th June, had a son in the
2nd Light Cavalry, who first went to Baba Bhut, and menacing to kill
him in ecase of non-compliance with his request, he was referred to
Nuna, to whom he went and repeated his request in the same threaten-
ing manner. Nana immediately liberated both his father and his
comrades. Some Europeans captured and killed. Golundauzes dissatis-
fied with Nana at the attempt of causing their houses to be searched
with the intention of discovering plundered property, and levelled
their guns at him, Orders for search revoked.

32 20d July. Abont 130 male and female Europeans who had

F gscaped on board of boats on the 27th June captured at Futtehpore,
! nnd sent up. Males were ordered by Naoa to be killed at 5 p.ar, and
r lndies to be confined. Nana went to Bithoor abont the same hour, it
being pronounced ominous by Dabeedeen, Pundit, who had a present
from him of 500 rupees and a horse. A salute of 21 guns fired at
Nann's departure. It is said that one European lady was also killed.
She stood amongst the mules with her child and was ordered to come
aut, but she sid she would remain where her countrymen were. The
child was asked of her, but she refused to give, This provoked the
mutineers and she got the fute she sought,




Narrative of events attending the outbreak of disturbances and the
restoration of authority in the district of Cawnpore in 1857-58.

From C. B. Taosxmce, Esq., Oficiatiog Commissioner, AMhabad Dirvision, fa
the Seerefary to Govermment, NorthWestern Provinces,—No. 268, dated
Allakubad, the 35tk April 1559,

Ix continuation of the narrative® of my predecessor, I have the
® No. 26i6, dated 15tk Kowmbee Donour now to forwand the reporty
1854, which have been received from Messrs,
Sherer and Freeling of the events connected with the mutiny in the
slations of Cawnpore and Humeerpore,
2. Cawxreonk.—I will not attempt to epitomise Mr. Sherer’s clear
and graphic description of deeds and sufferings which have stirred
every English heart. He has given an historical sketch of Cuwnpore

from the commencement of open mutiny on the Oth June 1857 to the

final restoration of order in the following May, when Cal pee fell befora
Sir Hugh Rose, and British supremacy was re-established thronghout
the Donb.

3. With the knowledge we now possess, we may imagine that
had a different policy been pursued by the authorities the subsequent
catastrophe might have been avoided. We have not, however, the
means of fully ascertaining the grounds upon which they decided, and
we know that the course adopted by many natives was such as to
render all previous experionee and knowledge of their chamecter of
little use in anticipating their tactics. We have seen men, who
apparently had strong inducements to take part with the rebels,
maintain an undeviating fidelity to the British Government ; while
othors, who waere eortain to be heavy losers by a change of rulers, and
had no reasonable grounds for anticipating any personal advantage
from the subversion of our domiuion, beeame our most virulent anta-
gonista

4. General Wheeler asted npon the supposition that the regi-
ments would mutiny and at once leave for Delhi, the great centre of
revolt, and that the Nana would ot take an actively hostile parg
aguinst us,

5. To a certain extent his anticipations were justified by the
event. The regiments did move off at once towards Delhi; and up to
the time of their doing so, the Nana does not appear to have had any
idea of the position he would hold in a few short days,




T APPENDIX

6. Had any understanding existed between the Nana and the
troops, there would have been no object in the march they made on the
Delhi road. It was not until they had gone that the Nana seems to
have finally determined on cmbarking in an enterprise in which he
staked his life on the chanoe of gaining a throne as the founder of a
new Mahratta dynasty.

7. How he brought over the troops to his interests; how he
endeavonred, with his newly-acquired army, aided by vast stores of
artillery and munitions of war contained in the abandoned magazine,
to annihilate the handful of Europeans in the so-called intrenchments ;
how, when force could not conquer that devoted band, they were
deceived and betrayed by treachery of unparalleled baseness; how the
dastardly traitors dare not even approach their unarmed vietims, until
from a safe distance they had poured deadly discharges of grape into
the unsuspecting and helpless crowd; how the crowning atrocity of
slaughtering helpless women and infants was perpetrated almost within
hearing of the victorious shouts of Havelock’s conquering army ;—are
best told in Mr. Sherer's own words, I would only here observe that
the more searching the investigation into the details of those horrible
events, the greater has become the assurance that the rumours of
abrocions indignities upon the persons of our countrywomen, which ab
one time were so rifs, are almost without foundation,

8. It is not to be denied that one or two exceptional cases may
have occurred, but, as a general ruls, the extirpation of our race in
India was the object by which these murderers were actuated ; and in
’Eh_ﬂ_prosecutiun of this design, they were swayed by no p;;tu‘u_ﬁ@
of the thirst of blood.

- The investigations recently completed by Colonel Willinms
appear to place this long-vexed question beyond a doubt: and the
hearts of those who have been so tortured with the thoughts of what
their dearest relatives may have suffered before death, can now ncceph
with confidence the no small econsolation which the result of these
searching enquiries has offered them.

10. HumeErroRE.—This district has been transferred to the
Jhansie Division since the mutiny.,

11. The "details furnished by Mr. Freeling comprise all the
informntion which has been obtained of the occurrences at the station.

12. The conduet of Mr. Loyd, the Collector, and of Mr. Donald
Crant, the Joint Magistrate, claims the highest admiration, From




private lettors written by Mr, Loyd, and forwnrded to Banda, he
evidently saw that certain death awaited him if he remained at his
post; yet he felt it his duty to do so, and his colleague would nos
leave him. As a high-minded Christian gentleman, whose heart overs
fowed with the warmest love for his fellow-creatures, his memory s
preserved in the affections of all who knew him; and the slaughter of
such & man, in a place where he was known only as the benefactor of
all, is one of the worst of the many black erimes which polluted the
rebellion,

Some accounts of the muliny and subsequent events af Cawnpore,

[N.B.—The paragraphs within the brackets are verbatim Jrom Lientenant
G. Warsox's narrative.]
At the time of the revolt at Cawnpore, the European foree,
including the reinforcements they had received, consisted of—
Artillery, one Company, 59 men and 6 guns,
Infantry, 60 men of Her Majesty's 84th.
" 30 men of Her Majesty's 32nd, invalids and sick,
~ 15 men of 1st Madras Fusiliers,

The Native troops consisted of the 2nd Regiment of Light Cavalry,
the 1st, 33rd, and 54th Regiments of Infautry, and the Golunduyge or
Native gunners attached to the battery. General Sir Hugh Wheeler
commanded the Division. There was a large number of Europeans
resident in cantonments, many of whom were individuals ccnnected
with the Civil, Railway, Canal and other Departments ; there were alss
nearly the whole of the soldiers’ wives of Her Majesty's 32nd Regi-
ment which was stationed at Lucknow: The whole number of the
European population therefore in Cawnpore—men, women and childron
=—could not have amounted to less than 750 souls. News of the onts
break at Meerut and Delhi reached Cawnpore on the 14th of May, and
though the mistrust prevailing, more or Joss, throughout the Bengal
FPresidency was felt at Cawnpore, more especially with reference to the
cavalry and the 1st Regiment, Native Infantry, who had been cantoned
together for one year, and whose seditious feeling had been pretty
openly expressed, no preeautionary measures were adopted, except thag
the Artillery was moved up to the European barracks; and thig move«
ment was caused by a supposed incendiary fire which ocourred jn the
lines of the 1st Regiment, Native Infantry, on the night of the 16th of
May.
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The Indies, and merchants also, about this time sought refuge in
the barracks. A company of Her Majesty’s 32nd Regiment arrived
from Lucknow, and officers of all corps were ordered to sleep in the
lines of their regiments.

Further cause of alarm was given by rumours having been
circulated in the city that the objectionable cartridges were to be
served out on the 23rd of May, and that the artillery were to act
against all who refused them, A good deal of excitement prevailed,
aud on the 24th of May, the Queen’s birthday, it was not considerad
advisable to fire the usual salute.

There was at this time residing at Bithoor, which is a sacred village
on the Ganges and much resorted to by pilgrims, a Hindoo of rank,
named Doondhoo Punth, but eommonly ealled Nana Sahib—a title
frequently occurring amongst Mahrattas. He was the adopted son of
Bajee Rao, and inherited his houses, landed property, jewels, &e., but
did not succeed to his large peusion, which, in default of heirs of his
body, lapsed to the Government in 1852.

The Nana lived in comfortable cireumstances at Bithoor, in a large
mansion not far from the Ganges, with stabling and elephant sheds,
and large gardens surrounding, and a massive temple pear at hand,
which Bajee Rao had built at a considerable expense. Here he was
surrounded by a band of wily Mahrattas, some relations and some
friends, who, living up to the time of the mutiny in complete obscurity,
have since become perfectly well known wherever English NewSs[Mjers
aro read, and their names are now familiar in our mouths as houschold
words,

There were his two brothers, Bala Rao and Baba Bhut, the [atter
gaid to be the most infloentinl man in the household ; Rao Sahib, his
nephew ; Azimoollah, a young man of low origin, who had had the
dubious advantages in his case of a trip to London and Paris, but who
was undoubtedly talented ; and last, but not least, the Nana's faithful
servant Tantia Topee, the present Abdool Kadir of Central India. The
Nana was a man of no capacity and of debauched tastes, a fair
specimen of the Indian Prince badly brought up, with ample leisure
and ample means, strong passions, and no principles to eontrol them.
He was known to consider himsell aggrieved by being denied Bajes
Rao's pension, as well as to have resented the reduction of the five per
cents.; but he maintained outward relations of civility with the
Europeans, and invited them occasionnlly to entertainments at his
house, As matters grew doubtfal and dark at Cawnpore, the Nana
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put himsell in frequent communication with the Magistrate, Mr,
Hillersdon, and profiered offers of assistance in case of an outbreak:
He was allowed by Government a retinae of 500 Cavalry and Infantry,
with three guns of small calibre, which were entirely under his own
control.

On the 26th of May, thercfore, the Mangistrate thought it advisable
to call in his aid, and he was put in charge of the treasury, which was
near the Nana's own house in Nawabgunge. To the treasury he
brought two guns and 200 armed retainers, and there was there also
8 company of the 53rd Native Infantry. .

(Shortly after, the 2nd Regiment, Oudh Cavalry, under the come-
mand of Lieutenant Barbor, 30th Native Infantry, marched into
cantonments and furnished patrols, togother with a piequet of the 2nd
Cavalry.)

A few days after their arrival the Oudh Irregulars were suspected
and were accordingly marched out towards Futtehgarh. Captain Hayes,
42nd Native Infantry, Military Secretary to Sir H. Lawrence, Chiof
Commissioner of Oudh, and Captain Carey, 17th Native Infantry,
Accompanying them ; and they were followed a day or two later by
Lieutenant Ashe, with a half battery of Oudh Horse Artillery.

A few marches from the station the Cavalry regiment mutinied
and suceeeded in murdering all the officers who were with them. Some

were onlered to repair.

On the 4th of June Provisions for & month had been stored, and
one lakh of rupees was removed within the intrenchments ; but mine
lakhs still remained in the treasury. No steps were taken to remove
or secure the ammunition and stores which were lying in large quanti-
ties both in the Ordnanee and Regimental magnzines. Ti is necessary
to meution this fact to show, not only that full confidence was placed
in the Nana, but that no very serious view was taken of matters in
general.  The officers of the 2nd company, and 1st and 56th Regiments,
Native Infantry, wers ordered to discoutinue sleeping in their lines,

The mutiny commenced on the morning of the Gth at 2 4 M,
when the 20d Cavalry and 1st Regiment, Native Infantry, left their
lines, without, however, molesting their officers, who on the first alarm




‘had proceeded to their lines. The insurgents proceeded first to the
treasury, which was situated in the civil lines at the western end of
the station; they obtained possession of this building without any
opposition from the guards placed over it. They then entered the jail,
set the prisoners at liberty, and burnt all the adjacent public offices
and the records in them. They afterwards marched out to Knlyanpore,
the first halting place on the road to Delhi, and there encamped, being
joined before noon of the same day by the 53rd aud 56th Regiments,
Native Infantry.

Seizing the opportunity of the revolt, the Nana possessed himself
of & great portion of the treasury; then repairing to the rebel camp,
he persuaded them to return to Cawnpore, to destroy the houses sitn-
ated therein, and annihilate the British officers and soldiers and every
Christian resident, and then proceed to Delhi or Lucknow, leaving a
- garrison behind to retain possession of the city and district of Cawn-

Acting on his advice, and placing themselves under his orders,
the rebels returned to Cawnpore the same evening. The Nana at
once informed General Wheeler that he had returned to attack him,

Intimidating all natives of any standing or importanee, plunder-
ing everything in his way, and murdering every European who fell
into hiz hands, the Nana soon made good his words by bringing into
position two of his own guns, and two heavy guns which he had
procured from the magazine,

The'cannonade from these guns commenced about 10 A. M. on the
morning of the Tth June.)

It is necessary, in onder to render endaut the situation of the
besieged, to give a short account of the position that had been selected
by General Wheeler, and of such means as had been taken to secure it

(The depds of H. M.'s 32nd Regiment, consisting of the sick, in-
valids, women and children of the regiment, was located in two long
barracks in an extensive plain at the eastern end of the station. Thesa
barracks were single-storied buildings, intended each for the accommo-
dation of a company of 100 men; one of them was thatched, and both
were surrounded by a flat roof, arcade, or verandah ; the walls were of
bricks, one-and-a-half foot thick. A well and the usual out-offices
were attached to the buildings. Around these barracks a trench was
dug, and the earth thrown up on the outside, so as to form a parapoet
which might have been five feet bigh, but it was not even bullet proof
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at the crest : open spaces were likewise left for the guns, which were
thus entirely unprotected. It may be imagined what slight cover an
intrenchment of this kind wonld furnish, either for the barracks or for
wen in the trenches, while there was plenty of cover, both for musketry
and guns, within a short distance of the barracks, of which the
mutineers soon availed themselves,

To enclose the barracks a parapet was required ; and it is sup-
posed that scarcity of labour and the stiffness of the soil, which at the
close of the hot season was nearly as hard as rock, were the causes which
prevented the construction of more solid defences.)

This position hns been made the subject of much eriticism,
Without venturing to offer an opinion upon a seientific military subjeet,
I may be allowed to say so much, that I think we must guard against
post-facto wisdom and beware lest our experience bias our Jjudgment,

It is clear to me, that Gemeral Wheeler considered two things
certain—first, that the Nana was not in league with our native
soldiery ; and secondly, that our native soldiery, if they did break out,
would make off at once to join the insurgenta at Delhi. He apparently
considered, therefore, that the only danger to be dreaded was what
might occur in the sndden fury of an outbreak. So long therefore as
he was safficiently on his guard against this, all would be well, and the
outbreak over, be might choose a strong position, Events showed that
he was right in every respect. He weathered the outbreak in safety,
the mutineers did make off for Delbi, snd the Nana was clearly not
in league previonsly with the native soldiery, or it would not have
been necessary for himn to pursue them down the road and entreat
them, with lavish promises, to return. The treachery of the Nann
disturbed all caleulations. Now that we know what the Nana was, it
may seem very blind and credulous to have relied upon him at all.
But have we not relied on the Nawab of Rampore? Have we not
relied on the Rajah of Chirkaree, and not been deceived ! It has been
well said there are prophets of the past as well as the future. There
is a danger, surely, to be avoided here, But to return,

The cannonade commenced from the four guns before mentioned,
but the encmy’s artillery was sodn strengthened from the Ordnanee
Magazine, and in a few hours they brought a fire on the barracks on all
sides from fourteen guns and mortars in position,

At first the besieged replied briskly to the fire of the rebels, but
without any signal success; for the guns in the intrenchments werg
field guns, and the enemy had not as yet advanced within 1,000 yards

d



from the barracks, The fire of the rebels also had little or no effect,
but on the second day of the siege they adopted more energetic
mensures ; the Mahomedan flag was raised in the city; all trae Mus-
sulmans wore directed to join, and these who demurred were threatened,
insulted, or fined. The Nana's force was soon augmented by lorge
numbers and reinforced daily. .

Having at his commaud o magazine stored with every description
of ammunition and ordoance, a treasury full, and the city bazar in his
Liands, it is not to be wondered at that he soon rendered the situation of
the Europeans next to hopeless  An inecessant fire of muskotry was
poured into the intrenchments from the nearest buildings, guns of
large calibre, drawing gradually closer and closer, sent their shot and
shell, without intermission, against the brick walls of the barracks ; and
cargnses fired the thatched buildings, in which numbers of sick and
helpless women and wounded men were huddled together, many of whom
were burnt alive.

' The hospital stores were lost or destroyed, and all being now
erowded into one building, without medicine, the sick and wounded
‘died withont relief. With the greater portion of their ammunition
- 'ppant., the besieged were also forced to slacken their fire.  In short their
position was rendered hopeless and helpless in the extreme; and all this
before the firing had lasted for half a weel,
n There wns a nullah or diteh some distance in front of the intrench-
I ments, by which the enemy pushed on u sap towards the barracks, and
from this they poured in a near and deadly fire.

On the west of the besieged an entirely new range of barracks had
been in the enurse of construetion, and behind the unfinished walls the
rebels posted their matehlock men.  They were, however, dislodged by

' sortio after sortie, and at length two of the barrncks were held by

- pioquets from the garrison. But the strength of the garrison was
lﬁ_ insufficient to preveut the rebels from placing their matchlock men on
' the other side. Communications between the barracks beeame difficult,
nio one eould move out of cover for an instant without drawing on him-
) self the fire of twenty picoes. Water was at last drawn under shelter of
the parapet at the edge of the wall ; but the parapet was knocked over,
and soon not a drop could be obtained, save at the risk of almost certain

. destruction.
b The half-destroyed walls of the barracks, or the temporary expedient
iy of piling vp tents and casks, formed the preearious but only shelter
that coulidl be obtained Food could only be carried from post to

L e
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post by day, and the dead were renroved at night and thrown into an
adjacent well withont the decency of burial. Relief was expected on
the 14th June ; but day after day brought no succour, Round shot dnd
disense were doing their work, provisions ran short, and the misery
endured by all can hardly be imagined.

Yet the besieged in succcssful sallies took and spiked the nearest
guns, driving away the mutineers and retiring with little, if any, loss
to the trenches ; but the guns were cither repaired or replaced by others
from the Arsenal. Still, though the position in the barracks was quite
untenable, the mutineers nover mustered the eourage to assanlt it,

Nor were the Europeans in the trenches the only sufforers, Be-
sides several Europeans eaptured in the city, many of the Natives sus.
pected of aiding or serving the British Force were put to death. A
list was made of all the bankers who were muleted of their wealth,
and property of every deseription was plundered or wantonly destroyed
by the rebels. Up to the 26th June, however, the British Force held
their own, though their loss in killed alone was upwards of 100, and the
ladies and others were maddensd by suffering, It can scarcely ba
wondered ot that when, on that morning, the Nana offered to treat, his
proposition was listened to. It was worded as follows :—

“All soldiers and others unconnected with the acts of Lord
Dalhousie, who will lay down their arms and give themselves up, shall
be spared and eent to Allahabad.”

Captain Moore, commanding the detachment of H. M.'s 32nd,
who had from the first directod the energies of the besisged, and in-
variably led their sallies, seeing the reduced state of the besiogod, and
relying on the word of the Nama, obtained permission to sign the
paper ; and, contrary to the advice and remonstrances of many other
officers, the treaty was agreed to.

Boats were immediately provided for the conveyanes of the re-
mains of the garrison to Allahabad, and to these boats they proceeded
on the morning of the 27th of June. Aund mow followed the moss
dastardly piece of treachery that has perhaps ever been perpetrated,
Only a portion of the party had taken their places in the boats, when,
by previous arrangement, the boatmen set the awnings of the boats on
fire and rushed on to the bank. A heavy fire of grape and munsketry
was then opened on the Europeans. Out of thirty boats two only
managed to start ; one of these was shortly swamped by ronnd shot,
but its passengers were enabled to reach the leading boat, OF those
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on board the olher twenty-eight boats, some were killed, some drowned,
and the rest brought back prisoners.

" The remaining boat, having fifty of the fugitives on board, proceed-
ed down the river fullowed by the rebels, who kept up an incessant
fire from both banks. At the distance of six miles the boat grounded ;
its passengers remained passive until night, when the darkness enabled
them to shove hev off They puwrsued their way without interruption till
the boat again grounded at Nujajgurh, eight miles lower down. Here
again the rebels nttacked the boat, killing many of the passengers ; bub
the assailants were driven off and retired to Cawppore, The Nana
then immediately despatched two complete regiments in pursuit. At
night a violent storm fortunately forced the boat from the sand bank,
but from ignorance of the channel the boat was again allowed to
ground further down. When daylight came, it showed the wnbappy
fugitives that their remorseless enemies had followed them up and
were on the bank., They had now reached Seorajpore, thirty miles
from Cawnpore.

As it was found impracticable to move the boat, n party of four-
teen landed to drive back their assailanis, which they did most
effectually ; hut proceeding too far inland, they were surrounded, and
on their making their way back to the river, lost all sight of the boat.
They accordingly followed the bank for about a mile ; when, being hotly
pressed, they were forced to take refuge and breathing time in a small
temple,

At the door of the temple one of the party was killed; the re-
maining thirteen, after attemping a parley in vain, had recourse to
their firelocks, and several of the enemy were killed, or put hors-de-
eombat, The rebels fearing even to attack this small band of English-
men, bronght a gun to bear on the temple ; but finding that it made no
impression, they had recourse to heaping up firewood before the door-
way. Unfortunately the temple was round, so that the party within
could not prevent their pushing the wood round to the front., The
fire, however, did not have the desired effect; some handfuls of powder
were thercfore thrown on ik, the smoke of which nearly smifocated the
fogitives, who determined to sally out and take to the rver. On their

. charging out of the templo the evemy fled in all directions. Six or
seven of the party who, i1t was supposed, could not swim, ran into the
crowd and sold their lives as dearly as they could, the remaining seven
threw themselves into tle Qanges, two of these were shot ere long,
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a third, resting himself by swimming on his back, unwittingly approach-
ed too near the bank and was eut up; and the other four swam six
miles down the river, three of them being wounded. At lost the
leader was hailed by two or three sepoys belonging to a friendly Rajah,
who eventually proved to be Maharajah Deg Bejah Singh, a Baiswarm
Chief in Oudh,

Exhausted by a three days' fust, and faneying from their not hav-
ing been pursued for the last half mile of the flight that they were safe,
the fugitives at once went to the Rajuh, who proteeted and fod them
from the 20th June to the 28th of July. He ultimately provided for
their escort to the Camp by a detachment of Europeans proceeding
from Allahabad to Cawnpore to join the force under the eomwmand of
Brigadier-General Havelock.)

Meantime ot the Cawnpore ghat, after the partinl eseape of the
two boats, the massacre continued. Musketry was kept up from be-
hind neighbouring garden walls, and sowars made attacks on the help-
less crowd by riding in amongst them and slashing in all directions
with their talwars. There is an old half.caste womar now alive in
Calcutta, named Murray, who in this tremendous moment was dropt
full length on the sand by a ghastly sword-cut on her back, At lasg
some person in authority, who, there is some reason to suppose, was
either Bala Rao, or the Rao Sahib, gave orders for the slaughter to
cense, and those who were still uninjured were all collected together
and earried off towards a large house ealled “Salavadar” or Savada
Kotee, in the south-east corner of the parade ground. Here it seems
likely the men were at once selected from amongst the women and
children and there slanghtered.

The women were all huddled together into an apartment and
kept close prisoners.

The boat which, as we have seen before, ran aground at Seoraj-
pore ghat, romained immoveable. Al those who were still in her
were made prisoners and brought on shore, and were afterwards put on
country carts and taken back te Cawnpore. There appears to have
been delay in procuring this carriage, for the party was seen at Aher.
wan by one named Thomas, himself a prisoner, some four or five dnys,
os he says, after the massacre at the boats. Thomas estimates the
number of ladies and gentlomen about 80. This witness also tells me
that when he reached Cawnpore he found the Nana in Savada Kotee,
and large bodies of the rebel soldiery encamped between that and the
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Railway. I suspect the males of the Seornjpora party were killed on
arrival, and the women and children added to these already in confine-
ment, About the 7th of July there appears to have been a general
move towards the town.  The Nana occupied the then hotel, and the
women and children were located in a small house badly built, partly
on a native plan, which was called * Beebeegurh,” from having been
erected by an officer some years ngo for an Indian mistress. Here
common matting was provided for them, and chuppatees and water
were supplied them, They seem to have been suffering fearful'y from
disease, if we may judge from a memorandum fonnd in the house of
deaths during a very few days, kept apparently by a Bengalee Native
Docior. I remember one entry striking me as very touching.

In the “name ” column—* ek behee "—a baby,

In the * disease ™ column—"ap se "—of itself.

Here then they remained till the fatal 15th. Before narrating
what oceurred on that day, I would just touch en two points: First,
with regard to the Futtehgurh fugitives, I ean only, with distinctness,
make out the arrival of two batches: but I have no doubt the Futtch-
gurh varrative will throw light on the subject, There was the party
with whom the Missionaries were., This seems to have arrived before
the eapitulation, and I think none eseaped. They were all at once
muardered, -

The second, which wns a larger party, got to Cawnpore early in
July, My reason for thinking this is that in the list found in the
Beebeegurh, apparently written by some guard on taking aver churge,
after all the other names he puts in, *from Futtehgurh,” and then
oceur about 70 names more.

The other subject T wonld briefly mention is the mmich-disputed
question of the treatment of those who snifered death or imprisonment,
I entirely disavow any desire to make out a ense. or to take one siile
of the question, or indeed do anything but speak the truth, The
alleged occnrrences appear ta be torture, mutilation, and dishonour,

1st,—With regard to torture, I simply say I have not heard of
acase, Tellme of a case, and I will investignte the evidence and report
on it,

“nd. —Mutilation. With regard to this there appears to have
been a great deal of intentional prevarication.  If by mutilation is
meant catting off the hands and feet of corpses, it is well known to ba
@ eommon practice ; and thongh I do not remewber to have scen any



dead body at this place in that plight, most undonbtedly they have
been so seen in other stations. The other mntilation, vis, that of
entting off the extremities of living persons, is also practised by natives,
There nre nt least filteen mutilated natives at this moment in the
Cawnpore district. A mutilated European in this sense, T have naver
seen, nor have I heard of an authenticated case of one having becn seen
by any one else,

Frd.—Dishonour, Tt is surely most heartless to the friends of thoso
who have porished to argue whether this is a circumstance likely to
have ocourred or not. The point is, what evidence have wo 7 If the
story of the girl in Caleutta brought forward by Dr. Knighton in the
Times is authentic, this is cloarly one ease. With regard to poor Miss
W—, if the drummer’s evidence that he saw her at Futtehgurh be true,
the other story of her drowning herself in a well here must be false, and
vice versd.  This case is not as yet so clear, I have not heard of any
others.

But we have now to marrate the last scene in the Nuna’s rule ab
Cawnpore,

The battle of Aoung was fought early in the furenoon of the 15th,
and the Pandoo Nuddee was forcod to the best of my recollection by
about 11 o'clock the same day. There was therefore ample time for
news of the repulse and the steady advance of the Bfitish troops to
bave reached Cawnpore early in the afternoon. There is every reason
therefure to suppose that the fate of the unhappy eaptives was imme=
dintely made the eubject of discussion, The decision arrived at is now
known and execrated thronghout the civilized world. It was decided
that the captives should be put to death. The order was carried into
execution about sun-down. There were four gentlemen, three of them
of the Futtehgarh party, who by some mischance, or for some special
reason, had been reserved from the fate which had already fallen upon
their male companions. These were first taken ont of the Beebeogurh
and murdered on the high road. Then the general massacre commenec-
ed. It seems probable that volleys were first fired into the doors and
windows, and then that exceutioners were sent in to do the rest with
swords If the work was anything like completed, it must have taken
a cousiderable time. At length the doors were closed, and night fell
upon what had happened. The hotel where the Naoa had his quar-
ters was within fifty yards of this house, and I am credibly uformed
that he ordered a nauleh and passed the evening with singing and
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encamped near Kullinopore, and on the evening of the same day the
Irregular Cavalry were dismounted and disarmed. Early on the 15th
we marched on towards Aoung, where the Genural had been led to
AL - sappose he should meet with considerable resistance. His information
was perfectly eorrect,—the village was cceupied in strength. '
The enemy had intrenched themselves across the road, not indeed
in a very fuormidable mauner, but the village offered great cover in the
walled gardens, thickly grown with trees, which flanked it on either
gide, From this shelter a steady fire of musketry was kept up fora
considerable time, It was in this engagement that the enemy’s cavalry
made more than one sttempt to get round our foree and cut off the
baggage. Onee or twice they regularly charged, bat as soon as tha
bullets of the baggage guard began to fly amongst them, they pulled
up and galloped away in quite a ludicrons fashion, After a struggle of
some little endurnnee the village of Aoung was taken, nod as it was
B supposed the enemy would try and injure the bridge over the Pandoo
Nuddee, the General pushed on, The rebels had placed two heavy
gunson the bank on the opposite side of the Pandoo,—one a 12-pounder,
and the other an old earronade, 1 think, of large calibre.
These were fired straight down the high road, but Enfield riflemen
were sent on through the fields to the river bank, and from that posi- -
tion very soon dislodged the gunners, and the whole body then made
off, leaving the guns. Some miserable attempts had been made to
blow ap the bridge, but quite ineffectnal in their nature, and our Lroops
marched across with perfect esse and occcupied the opposite bank.
There we remained for the rest of the 15th, but by sunrise the next
morning we were again on our march. In passing through the village
of Sirsoul, the zemindars came out to receive us, and promised to B
send on supplies after us to Aheriwan, which they faithfully did, We
reached Aheriwan by noon; it was'the hottest day I have éver been
out of doors in a clear blue sky, with small patches of dazzling white
elond, which seemed to serve only to reflect the heat more intensely,
Nothing but the excitement conld have supported the troops under
such exposure. The baggage was all collected into a grove and a body
of gnards left to protect it, with fonr guns to be worked by some men
of the line who had learned the rudiments of Artillery practice. The
troops having rested for a couple gf hours and taken refreshments
started about half-past two for the last battle, which was to decide the
fate of the Nana's rule. The particulars of the battle are well kuown.



APPENINX Xxxv

To us who remained in the grove it was npaturally a time of great
interest and excitement. I remember we could not possibly account
for the nltered sound of ong of the heavy guns, The fact was afterwards
explained to be that the enemy bad moved round one of their
2%-pounders towards the Grand Trunk Road to meet the attack on their
left, by which they were finally overcome,

It was dark before the liring ceased, but no one roturned, and the
lnst firing had been the most distant; this we knew indicated advanocs,
and therefore victory, and so we full to sleep assured, though we had
no communication whatever with the main body till the summons
came next morning for the eamp to advance, _

In obedience to this summons we were proceeding along the rond
when suddenly, in the direction of Cawnpore, a gigantic tongue of
flame leapt up as it were to lick the sky, followed by a large cloud of
emake, which, preserving somewhat the shape of a balloon, ascended
swiftly ; wo looked nt each other, and that moment experienced o
slight shock, like & weak e¢lectric current, and then the mighty thunder
broke in the distance, and seemed to roll towards us and around us.
The powder magazine had been exploded.

That day the army was encamped on the parade ground, and we
for the first time saw the deserted intrenehment which Wheeler had
ocoupied scarcely three weeks bafore.

That scene of matchless desolation, the monument at once of
astounding cowardice on the part of the eneémy, and of ineredible cour-
age and endurance on the part of those besiaged, has been already
often deseribed. I will only observe that the ery in all mouths was
in such a position, and against such odds to have held out a couple of
days, seems almost & miracle. The next morning (the 18th) the troops
were ordered to march by the Trunk Road to the Mission premises, the
most distant buildings to the west in Cawnpore, and situnted elose by
where the Cantonment and Grand Trank roads join, This wise move-
ment uot only protected the station in the direction of Bithoor, but
also preserved the soldiers from the temptations of liquor, as well from
any desire to take vengeance into their own hands. That day, with
the General's permission, I rode with two of the Volunteer Cavalry into
the city, having the re-establishment of the British power proclaimed
in several places, and meeting almost the whole mercantile population
at the Cotwalee, where they professed (T eannot say with what sincerity) -
the greatest delight at our return. We had alse the great pleasure
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of libarating one or two half-caste Christians who were concealed in
remote lanes and allsys. From the city we proceeded to the hotel,
which we found just as the Nana had left it, He slept on one side,
and on the opposite had rooms for pooja and eooking, keeping bwo
largo centre apartments for Durbar purposes, Thence we were directed
to the Beebeegurh and well. And then broke upon our sight that
dreadful spectacle, over the wvery idea of which there are still broken
spirits aud widowed hearts mourning terror-stricken in distant England.
1 have no mare details to add to what is already too well known, and
must dismiss the sad subject with one or two brief remarks. The
stories of children found suspended on the trees, and of mutilated
dend bodies lying in the enclosure, are entirely fabrications. There
were no dead bodies except in the well. The well was narrow and
deep, and on looking down you could vnly see a tangled mass of human
limbs entirely without clothing. To the best of my belief there was
ot & word written on the walls, I searched myself, and I know that
others did so too, but without discovering any intelligible marks.
 The only documents T ever heard of being found were—
1st—A list in Hindee, giving the names of all the prisoners
recoived apparently on the 7th of July, and mads over
to some other guardian on the 11th, This list T took
possession of, but careful copies of it have been taken,
and it forms the basis of all lists which have been pub-
lished.
* 8pd—A list of sick and memorandum of deaths in the Beebeegurh,
for two or three days kept apparently by a Bengalee
Native Dogtor, ‘This was in the possession at one time
of Major Gordon, of the late Gth Native Infantry, and
was published in the Pheniz newspaper, August 1857,
Scd—A skeleton diary, believed to have beeu kept by oneof
the Lindsay family, made over, I funcy long since, to
SUrvivors.
On the 19th, Major Stevenson of the Madras Fusiliers commanded
a party which went out to Bithoor. This place was ocenpied without
the least resistance, and thirteen guns removed from it, besides a great
deal of valuable property. The Nana's palace was destroyed, which
 was a pity, as any chance of finding treasure has been rendersd far more
 remote. The Nana himself was far away, To the best of my informas
tion be left Bithoor on the evening of the 17Tth. He found it impossible

-
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to get any of the soldiers to rally round him; they had thrown off
restraint and abused him and Baba Bhut in open terms, clamonring
with threatening gestures for money, and so off, helter-skelter, for
Futtehgurh, That evening he embarked himself and the ladies of
his family on a large boat. He had givez notice that he should drown
himself, I suppose us a blind to prevent pursuit, and it was understood
the signal was to be, when the light was put out. The Gungapootras
wore watching on the shore. About mid-stream the light was
extinguished, and with a yell that must have resched the boat, the
mendicant Brahmins rushed up to the palace and commenced plundering

all they eculd lay their hands'on. The crafty Nans was disembarking

in the darkoess on the other side; but if in so callons a heart any
bitter reflections could arise, the ingratitude of his adherents and the
falseness of those he had cherished might well have indueed them,
Genernl Neill arrived with some 400 men, I think on the 20th,
and the next day we all moved down to Permit ghat, from whence
the embarkation was commenced to Oundh. This took some days;
meantime every exertion was made to render the new intrenchment
(which had been chosen by General Havelock on the 10th) eapable
of defence when the Forces intended to relieve Lucknow had all
crossed. General Neill was left with a garrison of less than two hundred
men to hold Cawnpore. The day I entered the city (viz, the 18th)
1 appointed a Cotwal and city police, and a day or two afterwards I
sent out a Thannahdar to Sirsoul with a band of burkundazes. This
Thannah is on the Allahabad road aod has never been given up sinee,
I was very apxious also to get outposts to the south and west, that
we might, as it were, have police pickets on all sides of us. Two men
readily voluntoered to go out as Thannahdars,—one to Suchendee, about
ten miles down the Calpee road ; and the other to Sheorajpure, n village
on the Grand Trunk Road towards Delhi. They both went out,
attended by as many men as could be collected together. This was
a most unfortunate undertaking. The 42nd Regiment of Native
Infantry (than' which no corps shewed more ecourage or greatar
ferocity) having mutinied at Sangor, crossed the Jumna at Calpee,
accompanied by some Irregular Horse, and marched direct upon
Akberpore. Here it was supposed they would turn off tawands
Bithoer; before doing so, however, they sent & considerable body of
men to destroy the temporary bridge over the Pandoo, and these men
advancing rapidly, surprised the Thanuah of Suchendee, and capturing
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the Thannahdar put him to death, under circumstances of great
eruelty. The main body afterwards marching on Sheorajpore, sur-
rounded the Thannah there also, and the Thannahdar, a young Mus-
sulman of covsiderable personal ecournge, was shot, and his body hung
with the head downwards from a tree. General Neill, who on taking
command of the intrenchment, told me that as the occupation of
Cawnpore was wholly military, he considered it of great importance
that the city police should be in the hands of a military man, that they
might be made ‘to eo-operate with military movements, had already
appointed Captain Bruce of the Bombay Army Suvperintendent of
Police, with (as I understood the General to say) the express approba=
tion of Government, The serious gathering at Bithoor, which shortly
after the departure of General Havelock began to draw all our atten-
tion for a while, postponed any further attempls to re-establish
provineinl police stations, The 42nd Native Infantry, which after
leaving Sheorajpore had ocoupied Bithoor, were soon joined thers by
men of the 17th and other Regiments, and by sowars of the 2nd
Cavalry and 8rd Infantry, General Neill was all activity, constantly
murching out in the environs of the town, with a couple of guns and
all his available men ; keeping the stenmer moving up and down the
river (it made two warlike visits to Bithoor), and in every wny showing
that he was on the alert and prepared for emergencies. It is certainly
untrue, though it has been often repeated, that the Nana recrossed
to Bithoor at this juncture; he hus never, since he first loft Bithoor,
revisited this bank; nor do I think, as I have seen it stated, that
Cawnpore was at this time in any particular danger. The enemy were
numerous, but they had only two small picces of artillery, and though
their sowars did occasionally by night ride into the suburhs, it was
mostly, I fancy, for the sake of bravado, However, General Haveloek
considered it his first duty on returning from Oudh, to turu its rebel
occupants cut of Bithoor. Accordingly, on the 16th August, a large
party, commanded by General Havelock in person, marched on Bithoor,
and after an hour’s cannonading entirely cleared the town, During
the presence of General Havelock’s force in Cawnpore, of course we
had a stronger hold on the neighbourhood, and I was commenecing
an attempt at again establishing police posts, when I received a very
kind lotter from General Neill, of which the following are extracts :—
" Attempting to establish your police is not only useless, but risking
the lives of wen well disposed to the State to po purpose, The
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eapture and murder of your men at Sheorajpore and Bithoor prove
this,” And agnin, “ Having no soldiers to send out, the common
police under military rule Bruce is getting together is the best sub-
stitute.” Then after very highly praising the police on the Allahabad
road for having kept open communication so well, he adds: “ When
the sanction of the Government is requested, the reason why, must
be fully stated as above; most certainly the grounds for sending
the request will not be the inefficient state of the present police. ™
The posts therefore of Bithoor, Bheorajpore and Suchendee passed
into General Neill's hands, and were garrisoned by degrees under
Captain Bruce's orders with what was then called the * Mahter police.’
About the same time General Neill also nominated Captain Young
of the 4th Native Infantry to be Superintendent of the Grand Trunk
Road for aiding the transit of troops. Both these appointments
were sanctioned, and Commissions for administering the Penal Acts
were sent me by Mr. Chester for Captains Bruee and Young, I be-
ing already on the Commission, swore them both in. I merely menfion
this to show that my partial supersession (of which I have no wish
to complain in the least, for I think it was quite proper under the
circumstances) was not only known to, but acquiesced in by, the
Government under whose immediate orders I was then acting. Had
we been strong enough then to have thoroughly occupied the district,
I make no doubt most of the zemindars wonld have at once given in
their adherence, and things would have quieted down. As it was,
several large zemindars, amongst them Doorga FPershad of Suchendee,
l:egn.n to feel their way and to make inquiries as to whethﬂr bye-
gonea stood any chance of being considered bye-gones. To these we
could only guarmntes a fair trial, But this did not meet their views,
Gradually as it became seen that Cawnpore was only n garrison, when
it was clearly known that the troops collecting at Cawnpore had not
for their imsnedinte object the pacifieation of the Doeab, but were
intended to cross the river, this desire to concilinte died away, and the
dizaffected began to look towards Gwalior as afording them some hope
of a second subwversion of the British power, and this time with a
more permanent suceess. The active part taken by Doorga Pershad
and Rajah Suttee Pershad, of Sheorajpore, heads ns they were of
the Chundel Rajpoots, naturally influenced the conduct of most of
the higher class of Thakoors. I am afraid the most I can say of the
better specimens is that they were neutral. The infidelity also of
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the Omlah, doubtless, had a very bad influcnee in the district. To
a man almost, with the Deputy Collector at their head, they quietly
changed sides and acquicsced in the new administration. Ram Lall,
the Deputy Collector, took a very active part in attempting to organize
the Nanw's Government. This marked treachery,—a treachery which
riined the whole body of officials, —I punished with death on my firsk
arrival. At the time then that Sir James Outram arrived with
reinforcements, the state of the distriot was this: first, as regards
Police: Captain Bruce held the city, Bithoor, Suchendee and Sheuraj-
pore ; had a slight hold on Belhour, and had established one or two
smaller posts in the neighbourhood, so that Cawnpore was well sur-
rounded by a series of police pickets. In Police T had the Thannah
ab Sirsoul, and & Thannah at Ghatumpore, and for awhile onealso
at Dhogneepore. These three pergunnahs were under Mr. Griffiths,
both in Revenue and Police. There were no Tehseeldars appointed,
but he had two Peshkars under him at Sarh Sulem and at Ghatum-
pore. The Pundit, Umr Nauth, was appointed Sudder Tehsesldar.
We collected in the Huzoor Tehseel and Bithoor, and got a little
money in from Russoolabad and Sheorajpore.  When ths Force left
ns on the 19th of October for the relief of Oudh, and when many
days passed without any intelligence being received frym Lucknow,
considerable anxiety was naturally felt in the town; but the glorious
news of the capture of Delhi mised our prestige again, and the large
preparations which were being made for carringe and commissariat
stores reassured the people that the Gorak log were not so completely
Tun out of soldiers as ill disposed agitators had tried to lead them to
believe. No material change took place in our position. We could not
strengthen our hold on the district; Bhogneepore and Secandra and
Akberpore were very much under the iufluence of the trans-Jumia
rebels, whilst the large clan of Mew Thakoors were to a man in open
rebellion, and two maleontents, the Rajah Bhao, and Kalundur Gie
Gossain, managed to keep the whole of that part of the distriet in
a disturbed state. In Russoolabad thers was a strong party, headed by
Pem Singh and Durino Singh (since hung at Gwalior), agninst us, and
connected with a rebel party in Etawah ; but there were some influsn-
tial men for us.  Sheolee and Sheorajpore were subject to inroads from
sowars connectod with the Nana and Nurput Singh, and were kept in
constant. disturbance and excitement. Bithoor was strengthened by
the proximity of Cawnpore, but still on the Dusseerah, the enemy from

3
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the other bank managed to surprise Captain Bruee's police, and killed -
a considerable number of them, including the Superintendent, A party
from Akberpore also attacked Suchendee about the same time, and
killed the Thannahdar and several burkundazes. The capture of Delhi
drove the fugitive rebels down the country, and the large party (dimi-
nished though I fancy on the road) which erossed at Muttra, under
Bukt Khan, advanced into this district as far as Sheorajpore. Briga-
dier Wilson, however, went out to meet him on 10th October with 600
Infantry and several field pieces. There was searcely an engagement,
as after firing a few shots the enemy made off; but althongh little harm
was done to him then, there is reason to suppose the check received ab
Sheorajpore threw back into the jaws of Greathed’s column that body
of rebels that were annihilated. on the morning of the 23cd October
near Kanouj. Soon after this brush in upon us, full of life and vigour,
and flushed with vietory, part of the glorions band that had expelled
the rebel from his fastness, had uprised again the British flag in the
deserted halls of Timoor, the * pursuing column,’ as it was ealled, first
commanded by Greathed and afterwards by Grant, arrived on the 26th
of October, and doubtless the sight of so large a body of men would
have tended entirely to pacify the district, bad not vminous whispers
from the south-west told us of the advance of the large force and
- powerful Artillery that was to introduce another disturbing element
into all plans. But days passed on, the ‘ pursuing columu ’ crossed the
river; Infantry and Cavalry and. guns came up and crossed and dis-
nppan.red and at last the Commander-in-Chief himself made a start,
and the relief of Lucknow commenced,

What ceeurred during his absence has been often related. Tima
fails me to give more than the merest outline, Taking advantage of
the comparatively unprutected state of Cawnpore, the Gwalior Con-
tingent, after many hesitations, at length crossed the Jumna and
marched upon the station. On the 26th November, General Windham
went oub to meet them at Bhoutee, about ten miles down the Calpee
road, gave them a very decided repulss, and brought in one of their
10-inch howitzers in which they placed such reliance, The next morn-
ing the enemy again advanced, and turning off the Calpee road crossed
by Rawutpore to the Grand Trunk Rond, where, being joined by a con-
siderable foree of rebels which had erossed from Qudh at Sheorajpore,
made a joint attack on Cawnpore.

The endeavouors to keep them off were not that day, as is well
Jk.nown albogether successful, and the troops slept at night inside the

f
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intrenchment, A sally, however, was made on the 28th, and with eon-
giderable success on the left. But the advantage gained conld not be
sustained with the force available, and when Sir Colin rode into Cawnpore,
on the evening of the 25th, he found the entire force within its intrenche
ments, and the enemy in possession of the whole city and station, It
was on the Ist December that Captain Bruce received a staff’ appoint-
ment, and wishing to be at onee relieved of his police duties, he wrote
to ask ma to take over charge. I went over to his house, which formed
part of the intrenchments; I think the enemy had got some idea thab
the Commander-in-Chief was staying there; but however that may be,
they selected this wretched house for a target, and I wrote my letters
with round shot whizzing over our heads, Furtunately the enemy were
not very good shots, but they earried awny part of the balustrade of
the roof twice. I should not think it has happened before for &
Magistrate to take charge of a distriet, a few hundred square yards only
of which were then in British possession, and to sign the nsual papers
under a heavy eannonade playing on his predecessor’s house,

Here as Coptain Bruce's administration ended, let me venture to
bear my tribute to its vigour and its justice. Much has been said, I
understand, about the executions at this llludu. All T can testify is
that I belicve the exeentions to have been far less numerous here than
at most other places which the rebels had had possession of. Fair and
careful trials were always meccorded, and I never heard the natives
complain of the result of any, except that of Azim Alee Khan. In that
case Captain Bruce asked my opinion, and it confirmed his own, that
the Khan Sahib was guilty, As for myself, I trust I was of some use
in collecting eommissariat stores, building carts, &c,, and keeping up
a Lilliputian correspondence with Agra. T also attempted, not wholly
without success, to keep order in the Futtehpore district, and when
Mr. Probyn was made Magistrate in October, he found all the Thanuahs
and Teheclees restored. But I dmw to the close of my narmative.
On the 6th of December Sir Colin arose in his sirength and scattered
the Gwalior Contingent in every direction, taking all their guns, The
delusion was over, the district saw that British supremacy —was
inevitable ; and sick of misrule and confusion and disorder, it finally
succumbed, The Column under Brigadier Walpole, which marched on
the 18th December, wns received with apparent pleasure by the people.
Captain Bourchier writes :—* The whole population flocked to see ns, ™
The ::rﬂirh:l] zemindars began to see'that their dream of getting rid of
auction purchasers was over, and they must submit to their fate. These
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men were made our enemies by circumstances. We rained them to be
sure but it was in our attempt to benefit them ; and if our desire to
liberate them from the yoke of the Talookdar had subjected them to the
ten-times more disastrous yoke of the Borah, still the consummation was
one we never contemplated. The selling up of estates, however, was
doubtless one of the principal causes that gave the rebellion that
popular phase it gradually assumed. Bacon has remarked with rare
sagneity that “ it is certnin so many EEEEEEFWI
votes for troubles.” This must be remembered with regard to confis-
cated estates too, as well as those the Civil Courl Las Taid ifs haud
upon.

~ Opportunity was taken of Brigadier Walpole's column to ree
establish Thannahs and Tehseelees at Akberpore, Russoolubad and
Dﬂm}ﬁm, which have stood ever since, Mr, Griffiths re-established
his Thannahs at Sirsonl and Ghatumpore, and when the Chief advanced
towarids Futtehgurh, Sheorajpore and Beloar had their establishments
restored, which have never since been disturbed. Bhogneepore and
Secundrn, coutinuing under the influence of Calpee, nlthough they were
kept out of active mischief by the moveable column under Colonel
Maxwell at Akberpore, were too disturbed to admit of Governmont
servants being located there, and it was not till the fall of Calpee in
May that by their complete subjugation, I was enabled to report to
the Commissioner ubigus paz.

That peace, with God's blessing, I hope we shall be able not only
to maintain by armed furce, but to ensure graduslly on a much firmer
ground, by pressing upon the people the conviction that a Christian
rule is synonymous with a wise and just one,

I do not think I have omitted anything of importance bearing on
the general aspects of the rebellion in this district. I reeall the burning of
Russoolabad Tehseclee by the fogitives after the battle of Khojwa in
Futtehpore. I recall a raid of Rao Sahib from the Gangesto the
Jumna, and an attack on Russcolabad by Etawah zemindars: but
these were detached incidents, searcely calling for notice in & narra-

" tive of this kind, I followed but the other day closs upon the

retreating footsteps of Feroze Shah, but I found the plonghman in the
field ; the boy singing at the well as he urged the bullocks down the
slope ; the old woman sitting at her door twisting her little eotton gin
(I fear with scarcely velocity enough to compete with the New Warld)
and her daughters grinding the millet, all supremcly unconseious of
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the descendant of Timoor, who with somewhas unseemly haste had
made but yesterday a royal progress through their fields and villages.

The taste for misrule has clearly for the time departed. The
people have seen that neither Rajah nor Nawab ean construct a practi-
cable administration, and the old rule seems better than none.

I trust experience may teach us to amend those parts of our admi-
nistration which may be oppressive or distasteful to the people, so
that they may accept our rale, not only as inevitable, but also ns that
with which they are best satisfied,

JOHN WALTER SHERER,
131k January 1859, Magistrate of Cavenpore.

MEMORANDUM by Liewtendni-Culonsl Wittraws, Military Secrelary to
Governmant, North-Western Provinses.

The investigations regarding the gutbreak at Cawnpore in June
1857 have been temporarily closed.

Farty-two depositions from individuals of all classes and creeds—
Christians, Mahomedans and Hindoos—have been recorded, and valuable
evidence cbtained from respectable and influential residents in the city,
These depositions, together with the native Journal of a ecity resident,
have been translated, and relate at first attempts made by the Nana
to tamper with the troops, his ready success, the earliest meeting held
by the conspirators, and their proceedings on and subsequent to their
mutiny from the 1st of June to the advanee of the British foree in
July,

It is proposed to have these printed ; and from them to draw up
n report cast in the form of a Narrative, showing all that the evidence
contained in them proves,

The evidence shows the Nana's brother, Bala Sahib, to have taken
as (if not more) active and prominent part as even the Nana himself.

There are no traces of any conspiracy prior to the arrival of the
Nana at Cawnpore on the 22pd May 1857, with two guns, and 300
horse and foot, for the avowed purpose of aiding in the maintenance of
order. But abont that time, it would seem, that two sowars, the one
named Raheem Khan, of Bishenpore, near Bithoor, the other Muddus
Ales, of Banda, and in the servico of the Nana, were employed by Bala
Sahib, tg corrupt the fidelity of the troops, The 2nd Cavalry, already
ripe for mutiny, needed but little persuasion.  Soobadar Teeka Sing,
Havildar-Major Gopal Singh, and Sowars Shumsh-cod-deen Khao,
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Shaik Boolakie, Sirdar Beg, and Rai Singh, are said to have taken the
lead amongst them ; and at dusk on the evening of the 1st of June met
the Nana and Bala Sahib at Manjee ghat, where they had a consulta.
tion in a boat that lasted two hours,

Upon this fact being bronght to the notice of the Magistrate, the
Nuna plausibly aceounted for it, by stating it to have been held for the
adoption of measures, that should keep the troops firm and loyal ;
whereas on the succeeding day, sowar Shumsh-ood-deen Khan, with
two or three others of the 2od Cavalry, whilst drinking in the house
of a prostitute named Azeezun, informed her that in a fow days the
Peshwa's role would be proclaimed, and the Nana paramount at
Cawnpore, when they would 6ill her house not with rupees merely, but
goldmohurs, .

The depositions of those attached to the 53ed and 56th Native
Infantry give a clear account of the outbreak on the 4th June, and the
events in the intrenchments,

After the mutiny of the 2nd Cavalry and 1st Native Infantry, on
the morning of the 5th of June, a sowar of the former, and a native
officer of the latter corps, were sent to the Nana, to offer him the alter-
native of a kingdom if he joined their (the rebel) party, or death if he
cast in his lot with the British,

His decision was promptly accorded, the ready reply being, * What
have I to do with the British. I am with you.” He then laying his
hand on the heads of the mutineers, swore to be their Chief, and to
lead them to Delhi ; after which they were dismissed with orders to carry
the Government treasare to Kullianpore, A consultation was then held
by the Nana, Bala Sahib, and Azeemoollah. The latter pointed out the
folly of proceeding to Delhi, where their individual power and influenee
would necessarily cease ; and recommended the Nana's recalling the
mutineers, taking possession of Cawnpore, and extending his anthority
as far as he could to the eastward ; adding, that he was thoroughly
acquainted with the resources of the British, that the number of
Europeags in India was scarce one-fourth that of the Native army,
and that the latter having mutinied, the former wers powerless,

This being agreed to, as the soundest policy, was accordingly
carried out ; the mutineers were ordered back, and the siege of the
intrenchment commenced. The evidence of some of the beleaguered
parties, chiefly belonging to the 58rd and 56th Regiments, with that
of the city people, gave a vivid picture of the state of affnirs during that
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ever memorablo period. The wmutineers, it would appear, were more
intent on plunder and murder, than on fair and open fight, whilst in
the city and elsewhere, a reign of terror was established.

The Nana was assisted by neighbouring zewindars, and the
insurgent populace ; finding it, after repeated nttempts, impossible to
take the intrenchments by fair fighting, a full council was held, and
recourse to treachery resolved upon, though some of the mutineers
present arc said to have deprecated the adoption of foul menns:
whether this be true or not, one fact is clear, none gave warning of the
base impending treachery, involving, though it did, the murder of
helpless women and innocent children, but all joined unflinchingly
in its perpetration. '

The evidence regurding the massacre at the Suttie Chowra Ghak,
on the morning of the 27th June 1857, is clear and conclusive, A
plan will be annexed, showing the positions of the guns and rebel

troops, held in ambush, but which were withdrawn from their places

of concealment when the deputed officers went to examine the honts
at the ghat Nigh ten thousand spectators assembled from the city
and neighbouring villages to witness the departure of that gallant little
garrison from the intrenchments, amongst whom were man ¥ respectable
city people, such as bankers, &e., some doubtless came to view tha
truly novel sight of their late rolers led forth as captives by those
they had but a short time previously commanded. Some fow may have
been actuated by a better and kinder motive to pay their parting respects
to those they had known in happier days; for the more respectable
portion of the native community, though prepared for treachery, were
not aware the British would be attacked at the ghat, ere yet they had
embarked, but imagined it would be lower down the river, :

Even before that doomed little band had reached the fatal spot, the
real intentions of the mutineers were revealed by some, unable to
restrain their malignant ardour, until the stated time and spot were
reached. The depositions give a painful account of the murder of
Colonel Ewart, who commanded the late 1st Native Infantry, by some
four sepoys of his corps, who cut him down with bitter taunts,
regarding the spectacle before him being a fine parade. His poor
wile alsa meeting with a similar fate, almost immediately after, Of
the fearful scenes that ensued at the ghat, the evidence of the manjees
who supplied the boats, with that of many who were spectators, gives
a clear account, )
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The most active in carrying out the arrangements, and -urging on
the slanghter was Teekum, a sowar of the 2nd Cavalry, who having
been made a Rissaldar by the Nana, was doubtless anxious thus to
exhibit his zeal and devotion in the eauss of his benefuctor. Ona
carpet spread on the chobootra of the temple, near the ghat, were
seated Bala Sahib, Azeemoollah, Brigadier Jowala Pershad, and Tantin
Tapee, a eaptain of the Nana's guard, The first shots were fired from
the Oudh bank of the river, where the mutinous 17th Native Infantry
were posted with some guns; three more being stationed with a large
force on the right bank ; on the boats being set on fire by the former
party, many of their otenpants leaped into the water on the offside,
and potwithstanding the murderous fire pourad upon them, some 84 or
* 85 women and children offected their escape from present death, only
alas! to mect a worse fute lereafter. The wives of drummers, and
children, from three to ten years old, passed unseathed not only through
the siege, but even this terrible massaere also,

A man of great influence in the city, and a Government official,
has related a cireumstanee that is strange, if true ; vis, that whilst the
massacre was being carried on at the ghat, a trooper of the nd
Cavalry, reported to the Nana, then at Savada house, that his enemivs,
their wives, and children, were exterminated. Some ove present
remarked, “ Yes, it was troe, for on iufant of a month old wos sean
floating down the stream.” On hearing which, the Nana replied, tha
**for the destruction of women aud children, there was no necessity,”
and directed the sowar to return with an order to stay their slanghter,

Reliable evidence, ns far as it wns procurable, regarding the
massacre of the helpless captives in the slaughter-house, has been
recorded, from which the following ficts have been gleaned: That
the mutinous troops refused to earry out the order of their destriction,
though one random volley by some was, it would seem, fired ; that the
real perpetrators of the diabolical deed were chiefly men of the Nana's
own guard ; and that the cause of their destruction was fear of betrayal
ghould any survive, and be recovered by their countrymen ; that on the
steady and continued ndvance of the PBritish, and after the second
action, in which Bala Sahib was severely wounded in the right shoulder,
a harried council was held ; that fear and consternation filled the rebel
camp ; and dismay, the hearts of all ; that this mecting was attended
‘by many, who by loans of money, and aid in various other ways accorded
to the Nana, bad implicated themselves in the revolt; that many and

o
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various were the projects suggested for checking the advance of the
British, and securing their own safety; some of the mosb timid
proposing  the abandonment of Cawnpore, the falling back on
Futtehgurh, and the conjunction of their force with that of the rebel
Nawab there; some suggested making a stand at Bithoor, while others
either more courageous or desperate, ndvised the casting all * on a die”
and fighting it out at Cawnpore. Yet, notiwthstanding that all felt
their hour had well nigh come, and that shortly a stern retribution would
be exacted for the innocent blood, already so wantonly shed, such was
the fear of detection, (by the many who had aided and abetted their
Chief) through their recognition by the prisoners, particularly such of
them ss Mrs. Greenway and other old residents of Cawnpore, that no

fear of consequences could stay them from further imbruing their -

hands in blood, and that of women and children, deeming that thus
they socured themselves from further detection ; especially those who
hod even at that early stage resolved, should things continue to go
against the rebel faction, they would change sides, and if the evidence
recorded be true, many of those present at that council are now again
in Covernment employ. Much valuable evidence yet remains untaken,
A careful investigation of all procurable wonld, I think, beyond doubt,
implicate many at present supposed to be free from the stain of
mutiny.

Adla, by birth and profession a courtesan, born at Mugrasa, resided
with the Nava from 1850, and from receiving Rs. 200 per month,
becoming a favourite, was, it is said, endowed with the jewels belonging
to the widows of the late Peshwa, valued at Rs. 50,000. On the
Nana's flight from Bithoor, she was sent in a boat some distance up
the river;; but returning to Cawnpore in August 1857, was secreted in
a house in the Butcher-khana, went from thence to Misreepore, Zillah
Humeerpore, and is now said to be at Mugrasa, near Cawnpore, under
the care of o man named Mundhoo: baving promised, she states, to
await one year at Cawnpore, the return of the Nana to that station.

The sister of Mundhoo, named Kareens, resides with Oojagur
Dobey, of Dahabey, Zillah Cawnpore, and the jewels are said to be
secreted in his house,

The girl, called the Begum, who attended on the prisoners, is one

A Temale spy has hoen sent to the Nana’s O four slave girls bought by the
Comp 1o trace this giel. Peshwa, and opamed Hossanee
Khanum. She, it is said, camied the order for the massacre of the
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prisoners to the sepoy guard placed over them; and on their refusing
to execute it, returned and fetched five men of the Nana's own guard ;
one of whom was her lover, Sirdar Khan,

There is evidence also of the wife of the Toll-keeper at Sheorajs
pore, who was spared at the intercession of the widows of Bajee Rao,
and was delivered of a child at Bithoor, being alive on the 17th of July,
two days subsequent to the murder of the prisoners. On the Nana's
flight however from Bithoor, on the afternoon of the 17th, he ordered

her and the child to be killed,

A man has been sent to Rampore, the residence of the sowar who
earried off Miss W.——, as he is said to have returned to his home,

Namsee of Wilneseer who have givea evidence regarding the Cawnpore Outbreak.

Druommer John Fitchett, 6Gth
Native Infantry,

Drummer William Clarke, 6th
Native Infantry.

Drummer Willinm Thomas, Gth
Native Infantry.

Isabella Spiers, 53rd Native In-
fantry,

Elizabeth Spiers, 53ced Native In-
fantry.

Eliza Bradshaw, 5Gth Native In-
fantry.

Elimabeth Letts, 50th Nutive In-
fantry.

Thomas Farnon, Railway Depart-
ment,
Edward Williams, Shopkeeper.
Thomas Maling, Native Chliristian,
Jemadar, Cantonment Palice,
Sowar Awuz Alee Khan, 2nd Light
Cavalry.

NWaick Boolund Ehan, 53rd Native
Infantry.

Sepoy Gous Mahomed, 56th Native
Infantry.

Musician  Elahie
Native Infantry,

Buksh, 56th

Sepoy Rambuksh, 23rd Native In-
funtry.

Sepoy Gobind Singh, 50th Native
Infantry.

Budree Nath, Commissariat Qo-
mashta, Cawnpore.

Adjoodia Pershad, Mahajun, Cawne
pore.

Shunker Dass, Mahajun, Cuwne-
pore.

Choonnea Lall, Mabajun, Cawn-
pore,

Nannuek Chund, Mahajun, Cawn-
pore,

Kunhaie Pershad, Mahajun, Cawn-
pore,

Shew Pershad Pande, Cawn-
pore.

Bajee Lall, Brahmin, Cawnpore,

Shew Churn Dass Gosain, Cawn-
pore.

Kalka Pershad, Moonshee, in the
employ of Greenway and Co,
Cawnpore,

Permanund, Jemadar of Sir H,
Wheeler, Cawnpore,

g
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Names of Witnesses who have given evidence regarding the Cawnpore
Optlreak.—( Cancld.)

Lahorie, Abkary Darogah, Can-
tonment, Cawnpore.

Kulloo, Abkary Chuprassie,
Cawnpore.

Goordisl, Chowdry for Boats of
Ghat Sutta Chowra, Cawn-
pore,

Boaddoeo, Contractor for Boats of
Ghat Sutta Chowra, Cawn-

Gaolah Singh, Thakoor of Jumrie,

Dhurm Dass, Kaith of Badurka.

Appa Shastree, Mahratta of
Bithoor,

Nana Upbhi Unkur, Mahratta of
Bithoor.

Appa Jie Luchmun, Mahratta of
Bithoor.

Mungna, of Mouzah Mallen.

ditto  ditto,

pore, Maun, of

Fatteh Singh, Lumberdar of | Chirunjie, Brahmin, Resident of
Mouzah Bingwan, Oajoo, in Oudh,

Buggie Singh, Thakoor of Mhow. Punchum, peon.
Caxr Cawsvons; (Signed) G. W. WILLIAMS, Lieut..(l.,

The 29th March 1555, } e ﬁ";:’,:,f i::'::;m_

e T——

Deporitions taken ai Cownpore, wnder the direction of Lieutenant-Colonel
G, W. Witttass, Commissioner of Military Police, North-Werfern Provinces,

No. 2,—Deposition of Jokn Fitchett, Drummer, late 6th Native
Infantry.—I was born at Arcot; my father was a farrier in the 1st
eavalry ; my cousin, Mr, McGuire, was the bandmaster of the Gth
regiment, in which corps I enlisted as drummer in 1846 or 1847, I was
in the 3rd company of that regiment when it mutinied at Allahabad,
A few days previous to the mutiny, two Mahomedans from the city came
mtu ) the lines of the regiment to incite the men to mutiny ; they spoke
to a sepoy of the light company, and he told Gunga Pershad, 8th com-
pany, what he bad heard. These sepoys seized the two men ; they
resisted, when drummer Peters and I aided in securing them, for which
we each received a reward of 50 rupees, while the two sepoys were
promoted. The Mahomedans in the corps were displeased at the men
being seized, and some of them remarked to me that the sin of arrest-
ing them, especially on an Eed day, would rest on my head. On the
day of the mutiny (6th June) I was attending Henry Myrack, a drum-
mer of the 1st company, sick in hospital. Myrack's father was in
confinement for theft. Two companies of the 6th regiment were on
duty nt the ghat with two guns to prevent the mutineers from Bennres
crossing over, I afterwards heard that a sepoy named Jankie, of the




Grenadier company, eame in from the ghat to the lines a little before
9 rur, and told the sepoys that the Europeans were coming to disarm
them, and they must be prepared,

The first shots were fired as the drummers were beating off. I
was in the hospital when the pay havildar of the 3rd company, Munna
Lall, eame with orders from Lisutenant Hawes that I was to join my
company, which Idid. Obp being dressed and taking my sword and
bﬁgle. I found sbhout 30 men nssembled, I saw havildar Munna Lall
and the drill paick Mipal Singh, but none of the mative officers,
Quartermaster-Sergeant Watkins was also present ; he asked Licutenant
Hawes for a musket, who told the sergeant and myself to take arms,
The sepoys, in reply to Licutenant Hawes's question “ why the men
were firing,” snid, the Europeans were in the bungalows and bad come
to disarm them. Licutenant Hawes assured them that there were no
Europeans coming to disarm them, and that, if there were any enemies,
he would lead them, and ordered the men to follow him. He had got
about 100 paces from the Grenadier lines when we heard the noise of
men and guns approaching ; he halted his men and challenged, whether
friends or foe. One of the native officers replied that they were the
two companies returning from the ghat in consequence of the European
officers leaving them to go to the fort. Just then Quartermaster-
Bergeant Watkins eame up to make some report to Lieutenant Hawes,
who had his revolver in his hand, one barrel went off and shot the
Quartermaster-Sergeant in the breast ; on this a sepoy of 3rd company
fired and shot Lieutenaut Hawes.

Question—How far were you from Lieutenant Hawes when the

Quartermaster-Sergennt was shot |

Answer—Close to him,

Question—How do you know that a sepoy of the 3rd company

shot Lieutenant Hawes, and do you know his name?

Answear—1I1 do not know his name, but the shot eame from the 3rd

company, not from the companies advancing from the
ghat, I afterwards heard that Lieutenant Hawes was
killed on the spot; but the Quartermaster-Sergeant
being alive, was subsequently killed by a ball through
the head.

Question—Who did you hear this from ?

Answer—Whilst in confinement near the bells of arms, I heard

the sepoys talking about it,
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I fled on secing Lieutenant Hawes killed. Whilst passing between

" the 1st and 20d company lines, I heard some sepoys call out * there is

the one who received Rs. 50 reward now flying, kill him” T there-
fore passed the 8rd company lines to the 8th, and got into the house
of drummer Peters, I told him to fly, and we tried to get to the
parade; but Licuienant Currie, officer of the day, who was galloping
through the lines, ordered us back to onr houses ; we remained a few
minutes, and then got to the parade ground. I saw Colonel Simpson,
Captain Plunkett, Adjutant Stewart, Lieutenant Pringle, and I think
four or five young officers whe were doing duty with the corps. The
men were between the lines and bells of arms. . The twao guns and
companies from the ghat were a few paces in advance of the bells of
arms of the Grenadier company, The Adjutant ordered Nubbee Buksh,
who was the orderly bugler, to m@ the *assombly,” which was not

done. As I was coming forward, a havildar pushed me back, and just
then o volley was fired from the 4th and 5th companies. I do not
know how many officers fell. Adjutant Stewart was wounded, ran
towards the quarter-guard, and was there killed, as also Captain
Plunkett before he entered the gate of his compound. T heard that a
havildar was wounded. Three young officers who were doing duty
Bot into the quarter-guard; the sentry threatened to shoot them if
they did not put down their pistols ; they shut the door, In the guard
‘there were two prisoners—one a Mahomedan (I do not know his name),
the other Ram Lall of the 5th company ; they were got out and the
sepoys then commenced firing inside ; one of the young officers attempt-
ed to get away, but was immediately killed, and the other two I
believe were shot inside the quarter-guard. I had followed the
Adjutant, Lieutenant Stewart. A sepoy of the 3rd company, named
Pirthee, came up to me, saying I must be killed, as I was one of them,
Naick Mipal Singh and a sepoy of the 3rd company (I think he was
a recrnit, as I do not know his name) saved me, and made me sig
under the tree in front of the bells of arms of the 3rd company; the
sentry there would not let me move, but when he left his post, I went
to drummer Peters's house, Whilst under the tree the havildar-major
of the corps, Telinr Khan, came up to the sepoys assembled near the
dth and 5th companies’ lines and said, * What have you all done;
but whatever was ordnined has happened, it now cannot be helped :
take my advice, secure the treasure, and march for Delhi, for the
Europeans from the furt will attack us at daybreak” A number




shouted “ We will go to Delhi and serve the King," The sepoys of the
8rd company, hearing a report that Captain Gordon was concealed in
the hut of two sepoys of the Grenadier company (I forget their names),
went to search for him, saying that their officers had been killed, and
therefore they would not spare the officers of the Grenadicr company,
but they could not find him.

7th June—Whilst at Peters's house I heard the roll call, and

again just after daybreak, when the men all assembled, ammunition
was served out from the magnzine, and they marched to the

at sunrise. About 8 o'clock, three hackeries sent from the town by
the moulvie, took away all that remained in the magnzine, Some few of
the sepoys who had their familics returned to the lines and remained,

Question—Who were the ringleaders ?

Answer—Jemadar Nujjoo Khan, 8rd company, and Telinr Khan,
havildar-major, persuaded the men to go to Delhi

Question—Was there any plotting going on before the mutiny 2

Ansiwer—No, 1 never heard of it,

Question—What was the state of the corps after the mutiny ?

Answer-—I saw one or two native officers erying, and heard them
say that three or four budmashes had ruined the
regiment. I heard that many of the scpoys werp
sorry, and some of them went direct to their homes,
The havildar-major was at first sorry, but said it could
not be helped, and therefore persuaded the men to
go to Delhi,

It was a little before daybreak when T got to Poters's
house, and from thence went to the pensioners’ lines ;
two sepoys of the Sth company accompanied us to
the house of Poorun, a drummer of the 1st company,
who had his family in the lines; he secreted drummer
Peters, his wife, and myself, in the inner-room. In
the afternoon, we heard that there were other drum-
mers hiding in the pensioners’ lines Wae slept at
Poorun’s that night.

Question—~Why did the drammers hide themselves, they were not
tonched ?

Answer—The sepoys of each company saved their own drummers,
but they would bave killed the drummers of any
other; and after they left we were afraid of the
Mewatees,
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Sth June—In the morning (about 8 or 9 o'clock) Peters, his
wife, myself, Alexander Bross, Yates, and his family, all of the Gth
regiment, with Jordon, & pensioner, lofi ; and passing through the
village near Mr. Lowther’s house, were joined by William Nesbitt, drum-
major ; Bradshaw, and his mother ; Mrs, Fowley, wife of the sergeant-
major ; and Mrs, Watkins, the quartermaster-sergeant’s wife ; Lyons
Arajo, and Sahoo Arajo. We all went towands the fort, but when we
gob to the drivers' lines, drum-major Neshitt and myself went on to
the fort. Licutenant Williams of my corps asked me what T wanted ; I
told him that I had come with the drummers, the sergeant-major and
quartermaster-sergeant, with their families : he told me that not a
dog of the Gth should enter the fort. The fife-major returned, but I
waited about a quarter of an hour, till the gate was opened. T saw the
Adjutant of the Sikh corps, and told him that I had come with the
drummers, &c. ; he told me to bring the sergeant-major's and quarter-
anaster-sergeant’s wives. I returned to the drivers' lines, and brought
Mrs, Fowley and Mrs. Watkins, Neghitt, the drum-major, sent Jordon,
the pensioner, to plead for the drummers. We got in with Mrs Fowley
and Mrs Watkins ; I went to Colonel Simpson, told him I had brought
the sergeant-major's and quartermaster-sergeant’s families, and asked
for a pass to bring in the drummers from the drivers’ lines. He told
me to wait, and at 3 o'clock sent me to Captain Gordon for a pass : on
receiving it, I immediately went to the drivers' lines, but could not
find the drummers. I heand from Nunhoo, a havildar of the corps,
that Mann, who bad formerly been drum-major, had joined | the
drammers in the lines on escaping from the Mewatees, when they
attacked the drummers in the village near Mr. Lowther's house, and
fled with them ncross the river,

Question—Did the Mewatees kill any one in the attack on this
village 1

Answer——Yes, the mother of the former fife-major, and a man

called John DeCruz, who was a farrier, also the

family of William Diddier of the 3rd company, but

he and his son Edwarl escaped. These were hiding

in the village, and did not sccompany us, not knows

ing we had passed through to the fort. I went with

Nunkvo some little distanee in search of the drummers;

but some men threatening to kill me, because I was a

Chiristian, Nunkoo told me I had better returp to the

.
i
i
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fort, which I did about 5 or 6 0'clock, and slept there
that night and the next. The day after that
(the 10th) at about 5 rar, I saw Colonel Simpson
on the ramparts; he sent me to the officer of the
main-guard who would give me orders, and he tock
me to the Adjutant of the Sikhs, who said I was the
man he wanted, and made me over to a havildar and
two sepoys of the Sikhs. I was taken to the water
gate, and turned out of the fort and threatened that
if I ngnin approached the fort, I should be blown
away from agun, Ithen fled to the pensioners’ lines
and went to Poorun, who eaid the Mewatees had
nlready searched his house for Christians, and why
had I returned to risk my own life and his. T fell at
his feet and prayed of him to ‘save me, I was dis
guised in native clothes and seereted with his family ;
it was then dark, and I slept there that night, I
remained there I think three days, and once a day the
house was searched by the Mewatees, but I removed
with the females from one room toanother. Poorun,
to save my life, proposed on the day after I came thas
I should become a Mahomedan;
11th June.~The moulvie of the corps resd the kulma, which T
repeated after him. I had sherbet given me, which the Mahomedans
present also drank. William Clarke, Thomas Clarke and his family,
William DeCruz and his fomily, and John Reid Clarke, and Aviet Paul,
who were also secreted in the pensioners’ lines, were made Mahomedans
ut the same time. We remained with Poornn another day, and then he
tock all the drummers to the city, Gunga Deen, a musician, was also
with us, Poorun had hired a house, and we remained there with him
two or three days,. We were not allowed to go out, but Poorun and
Gunga Deen told us that the Europeans would destroy the city.
15th June~One morning (I am not sure of the date, it was very
early,) we heard that the British were coming up in two steamers,
Poorun was prepared to leave, and immediately firing was heard we
started ; Poorun snd Gunga Deen, musicinns, the eepoy Jankis, who was
also living in the city, the drummers Thomas Clarke, his wife, son and
daughter, nineteen and eleven years of age, William DeCruz, his wife and
two children, William Diddier, 3rd company, bugler Myrack, his wife, his
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son Henry Myrack, and three young children, John Reid Clarke and
Aviet Paul joined us beyond Kuchpoora. At sunrise, the moulvie from
Allababad passed us ; he had about 200 sownrs and some sepoys of the
6th regiment. I only recognised a sepoy of the Grenadiers, named
Nubbee Bux, amongst the sowars. The moulvie asked ns, * where we
were going,” Poorun replied, “to Cawnpore, " Two days from Alla-
habad, whilst on the march early in the morning, some eighteen or twenty
sepoys of the 6th Regiment passed ns; one of them, named Jumal,
pulled off the chudder given me by Poorun. Poorun told them that we
were all Mahomedans, that the moulvie of the regiment had made us of
one fuith. The sepoys replied that we must be taken to Cawnpore, so
that the moulvie might verify usif we had really bzen made Maho-
medans. Qur hands were tied behind our backs, not with a rope, but
with a eloth. The women and children were not tied. At Futtehpore,
we put up ab the seraie ; we slept there two nights. The sepoys were
undecidod as to their plans, some sowars and sepoys of other regiments
(I do not know of what corps), who were in the seraie, wished to go to
Banda. The men of the 6th were willing to join them ; but hearing
that the Nawab was favourable to the DBritish, and had European
gentlemen with him, it was decided to go to Cawnpore and join the
Nana. The mounlvie of Allahabad, with his party, were also in the
seraie ; he left the day before we didi Thomas Clarke, his wife, son
and daughter, John Reid Clarke and Aviet Paul, went with the moul-
vie's party at sepoy Nubbee Buksh's request. 'We went by the regular
stages, Parties of sepoys of other regiments were passing along the
road; we met villagers going to Futtehpore. None travelled alone, all
in bands, and even the villagers all armed. The bodies of those killed
were scen here and there. I cannot tell the exact date of our arrival
at Cawnpore ; thers was no firing from the entrenchments;* it was
about 4 or 5 o'clock in the afternoon when we were taken to the Savada
house. We found there the drammers who had gone on ahead with
the moulvie’s party, who were encamped near the Savada house. The
drummers, with their families, were all confined in o small room on the
sonth-east side of the parade ; some four or five natives, who we heard
were hurkaras or letter carriers, were also in confinement. There were
o number of sowars und sepoys encamped about the Savada house, I
do vot know of what regiments, but I heard the 2ud Cavalry named,

® It muit have been the 24th June,



and another was styled Gunjesra Resallab. Of the 6th Regiment, thero
were about 200 sepoys under the command of jemadar Yusuf Khan ;
and Tabad Khan, a sepoy of the 4th company, I think, was acting
havildar-major, We had a sepoy of our own corps placed as sentry
over us. I do not remgmber the names, except of those who spoke to
us. The men of the different corps were all mixed up, There wore
men of the 3rd company amongst them, I should say six or seven, but
I am not sure. On the evening of our arrival, we heard from the sepoys
that if the Europeans did not leave the entrenchments in three days,
firing would commence, The day after our arrival, weo heard fmm- tha
sepoys that five persons from the entrenchments had mads a treaty with
the Nana to leave Cawnpore and go to Allahabad, if they got the means
of transport ; but the sepoys said that the Nana would not perform his
promise. There was no firing that day ; we were not allowed to go out,
The next day we heard that hackeries were being collected, and that
the guns from the entrenchments would be given up. On this night,
or the previous one, there was an alarm, and the sepoys in our room ran
to man the guns; they told us that a report had been brought that the
Europeans intended to leave their entrenchments at night. We heard
from the sepoys that the Europeans would all be killed immediately
they left the entrenchments. The night before the Europeans left the
entrenchments, orders were issued to the sowars and sepoys at the
Savada house to be ready carly the next morning. It was about four |
o'clock or half-past when they assemblod and left the Savada house,
We had only six or seven sepoys of the 6th Regiment left with us i they
took us to the steps to the east side ofthe house, and there we could see
the barracks and entrenchments. I saw the Eurcpeans passing out, I
could see that they were armed. T saw elephants and gharries; the
sepoys said they were taken out grandly, they went gladly, and knew
not what was before them ; and then added, “now repent of all your
misdeeds, and ask pardon of God.” Hoossanie, the musician, was one of
the party who said this, We were taken back to our room, and in
about half an hour we heard heavy firing in the direction of the river ;
the sepoys remarked “ now they are being killed.” About 11 o'clock,
some sowars and sepoys came back, bringing muskets and some double-
barrelled guns, which they said they had taken from the Europeans at
the ghat, and killed all the men. They did not mention the women
and children. Shortly afterwards we heard that the women were being
brought back, The sepoys all ran out, and we stood by the steps of the

h
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door of our room. When I first saw them, they were about 200 paces
from the compound, all together, the sowars were on both sides, right
and left of them, and some sepoys brought up the rear, The sepoys’
things were taken out of the iwo large rooms pext to ours, and the
ladies and children placed there. I saw that many were wounded,
their ¢lothes had bleod on them, two were badly wounded, and had their
heads bound up with handkerchiafs,
Question—Were they dressed in their own clothes ?
Answer—=Yes, bul some were wet, covered with mud and blood,
and some had their dresses torn, but all bad clothes;
I saw one or two children without clothes.
Question—How many women and children were there?
Answer=—1 cannot tell, but I heard there wera about 180,
Question—Were there any men amongst them ?
Answer—No, there were boys, abont 12 and 13,
Question—Were there any natives brought back prisoners ?
Angwer—The day afier the Indies were brought back, I saw in
ong of the rooms four or five natives copfined. T
heard they wished to nccompany the 1Eurnpent'la ta
Allahabad ; one was o native doctor, one a musician,
and I think two or three sepoys.
Question—Did yon hear the names of any of the ladies ?
Ansteer—No, and we were not allowed to speak to them.
Question—Of those severely wounded, did any die 7
Answer—Yes, two or three women and children died daily ; the
wounds were sword cuts and by bullets, but mostly
the former.
Question—Were they ill-treated or disgraced in any way ?
Answer-—No, they were not; they were made to sit in the
verands morning or evening for fresh air; they did not
like this, as people came to look at them, I heard
them say *that Europeans never thus treated their
prisoners"
Question—Had they food regularly given to them?
Answer—Yes, after the first day they received dall and chuppa-
tees,
Question—Were any of them taken away from the Savada house ?
Answer——No, I heard that the youngest daughter of General
Wheeler was taken out of the river by a sowar of the




2nd Cavalry, who took ber to the eity, but she was

not in the Savada house. I heard sepoy Kurm Ali

sny that she had been made a Mahomedan, and thay
he had seen ber in the sernie, '

Question—When was this?

Answer—I am not quite sure, but it was either the ﬂrnu:,
sccond day after the Iadies were brought back.

Question—Did yon ever hear that a lady had killed a sowar, and
jumped down a well 7

Answer—Yes, I heard Miss Wheeler had killed the sowar, his
wife and three children, and then jumped down a well.

Question—Do you know whether this was true ? N

Answer-—It was not, for I saw the lady afterwards, when with
the mutineers between Cawnpore and Futtehgurh,
1 heard from the sepoys that the Nana had demand-
ed Miss Wheeler to be given up; the sowar refused
to comply, and the rumour was given out that she
had destroyed herself

Question—Were there any other ladies taken away ?

Answer—1I only heard of this one, and that from thuupup.m
that 1 cannot be sure.

Question—Who attended on the ladies? ;

Answer—A woman came from the city with the food, she was
called the Begum,

Question—Why called the Begum ?

A nswer-—1 do not know, but the Iadics and natives called her
Begum. She was » Mahomedan, and I heard she
came from the Nuna's house,

Qum—ﬂtdmymmmitnthuwundnnflhammn&
children {

Answer—Not whilst at the Savada house; cold water was
merely applied; but after the removal, a native
doctor attended for a few days.,

Question —Who commanded at the Savada housa 7

Answer—Some relation of the Nana's; he had one of his eyea
generally covered with the turban or cloth.*

Question—Did the Nana ever come to the Savada honse ?

® Nurain Rao, alies Dewanjee. Y
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Answer—Not to the house, but once to the front of it, on the
plain to the west, where 1@3 Europeans, brought back
in carts, were shot.

Question—What were the partieulars ?

Answer—On the fourth day after the lndies were brought to the
Savada house, a number of Earopeans were brought
back prisoners. I heard there were altogether about
80, with six or seven ladies and children; I am not
sure of the number. They had escaped from the ghat
down the river, and were brought back in hackeries,
The Nana came about 5 o'clock. A salute was fired,
The sepoys told me it wes the Nana; he was on
horseback. The Europeans were drawn up in line,
the ladies and children were sent to the Savadas
house; one Indy and child refused to go. The child
was about five years old. I saw this ns I was stand-
ing on the steps, facing the west. Some 60 or 70
sepoys were ordered out, I do not know who gave the
order, A drummer of the 6th Regiment, named
William Diddier, 8rd company, joined the sepoys in
killing the Europeans, The sepoys fired repeatedly,
and then killed all the wounded with their tulwars,
Yes, the lady and child were killed, The Naoa left
as the firing commenced,

Question—Do you know the names of any of this party 7

Answer—No, I do nat,

Question—Did you hear how General Wheeler was killed ?

Answer—The sowars who came back to the Savada house before
the ladies and children were brought back said that
General Wheeler was killed at the ghat by the
sowars ; that he took off his cap and sword-belt, and
said they might then kill him; but when the ladies
were brought back the sowars with them said
“ General Wheeler's boat had got away.”

Question—Was he with this party that were brought back four
days after the massacre at the ghat ?

Answer—1I1 eannot tell,

Question—Describe William Diddier, drummer of the 3rd come
pany 1
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Answer—He was not very tall, dark complexion, and about 40
years of age. I do not know of any particular marks
by which I could deseribe him,

Question—Where was his home 1

Answer— He lived with his family in the regiment, his son is ab
Allahabad, and his daughter is married to Lyons
Arago ot that station. His wife and two children
were killed by the Mewatees in the village near Mr,
Lowther's house, Thomas Clarke told him he onghf
not to have fired at the Europeans ; his reply was that
his own family had been killed and he did not care,
After this Diddicr was not kept in confinement ; he
went to the city and did duty as a sepoy.

Question—You say that no Europeans were brought back from the
ghat; were there none in the Savada house 7

Answer—-The day after the massacre at the ghat I saw a party
placed in the small room next to me: I heard they
were the family of an indigo planter who had given
a lac of rupees with lauds to the Nuna, to spare their
lives,

Question—How long did you remain in the Savada house ?

Answer—I cannot state the exact time, but as the sowars and
most of the sepoys had left, and there were only
about 100 of the 6th Regiment, and from 150 to 200
of other regiments, guarding the Savada house, the
rest having gone off to Lucknow and Delhi, the Nana
sent orders for us to move, and one afternoon, about
5 o'clock, the ladies were sent under a guard of sepoys.
We followed in about half an hour ; we were not tied,
but eight or ten sepoys of the 6th Regiment guarded
us. We were taken to a pucca building, the roof was
tiled ; there were some five or six Inrge trees in the
rear, and behind the trees, a large well. From the
entrance we could see the church, The Nana was
in the next bungalow. All went there to make their
reports, and the villagers came there to be enlistad,
I also heard from the sepoys that he lived in the
next house. It was a yellow house. He had not

regular sepoys, bub bis own wen as guards, We were
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placed in a room with some ladies and children ; thers
was a second room in which the rest of the ladies
were confined. I did not see the five native prisoners
in either room, The indigo planter and his family
were in my room. We all slept on the floor, the
ladies and children had only the bare floor. The
woman, called the Begum, served out fresh clothes.
Sepoys were sent to the dhobies who had the clothes
of the ladies, and they were ordered to give them up.
We heard that we should have meat every Sunday,
but did not get it. One day, I think, milk was given
to the children. After the second or third day, the
woman, called the Begum, took two ladies every day
to grind gram ; they were away three or four hours,

Question—How do you know they went to grind gram ?

Answer—I heard them eay so, and they often brought back
handfuls of ground gram, which they gave to the
children.

Question—Were you allowed then to speak to the ladies?

Answer—Yes, after we left the Savada house, we were all mixed
up together, but they would never mention their
NAmes,

Question~Were old and young women taken 7

Answer—=Yes, both ; the Begum told them that it was their turn
that day : they were taken to the Nana's stable in the
next compound. Some five or six days before the
ladies and children were killed, one evening, it was
about sunset, three gentlemen and some ladies and
children were brought in prisoners; the sepoys
said they were from Futtehgurh, that the gentle-
men wore the chiefs, and that their lives had been
spared by the Nana's orders, as they had promised
to write and have the fort - at Allahabad given
up. One was the Burra Sahib, I think he was also
called the Judge, nnd the other was a Colonel. I do
not know who was the third, but the sepoys said he
was a leading man. The sepoys told us that about
twenty Europeans had come from Futtehgurh, who
were killed at the ghat, with the exception of those
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brought in prisoners. The men of the Gth said thas
Doctor Maltby, who had been in their corps, was
killed with those at the river side, but that Mre
Maltby was with the ladies brought in as prisoners.
We were not allowed to speak to the Futtehgurh
party, though they were in the same room. The
two sentries at the doors prevented us from speaking
to them, they were sepoys of the 6th. The men of
the 1st Regiment also were on guard, -
Question—Who attended on the ladies nfter leaving the Savada ?
Answer—-The Begum used to attend morning and evening, but
the wife of a bugler, a native Christinn, did every-
thing for the ladies. The three gentlemeh from
Futtehgurh were taken the next evening to the Nana,
but I do not know what passed. We heard that the
Nana had sent three regiments of infantry, and one
of cavalry, to oppose the PBritish troops advancing
from Allahabad. The sepoys said that a sowar had
returned from the fight, and told the Nana that there.
were but a handful of Europeans, that they had been
beaten, but that his troops were starving, as no sup-
plies had been sent for three days. We heard that
move troops had been sent by the Nana. About
4 o'clock, or between that and 5, the three gentlemen
from Futtehgurh, the indigo planter, his son or son-
in-law, and a boy of 13 or 14 years of age, were taken
out. They asked where they were going to; they
were told to the Nana's, and as they got out of the
gate they were all shot by some sepoys. Yes, I saw
this, as I was standing in the compound. One or two
ladies, who wished to see in what direction the gen-
tlemen were going, were pushed back by the sepoys,
In passing out of the room, just before they were
shot, I saw their lips moving as if praying. About
half an hour after this, the woman, called Begum, told
the ladies they were to be killed by the Nann's erders,
A lady wont to jemadar Usuf Khan, of the 6th Re«
giment, who was in command of the guard over the
prisoners, and said to him that she heard they were
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all to be killed. I was only a few paces from him
at the time; he replied that he had not reccived any
orders, that she was not to be afraid, Sepoy Kurm
Alee said to the woman Begam that her orders
would not be obeyed, who was she to give orders.
The Begum went to the Naoa's house. The sepoys
on guard, they were men of my corps, and I think
some of the 1st Regiment, took counsel and decided
that they would not lift their hands agninst women,
though they would kill every man. The sepoys
were told that if they did not carry out the Nana's
order, the artillery would be sent against them ; they
afterwaris told me that they intended to save the
ladies, in order that their own lives might be saved,
The Begum returned with five men. Usuf Khan
ordered the sepoys to get the drummers of the Gth
with their families out of the house, and we were all
placed in a shed,* or stable, about fifteen paces from
the house. The guard with Usuf Khan ware with us
with the exception of some six sepoys, who went
inside to plunder the women. Nubbes Buksh, the
bugler, was one. T cannot recollect the names of any
other. These men were ordered to fire at the ladies,
I beard from Nubbee Buksh that they fired at the
ceiling. I heard the reports, they only fired once;
the five men then entered, they had swords, it was
about sunset. The lady who spoke to the jemadar was
at the door, she was first cut down. I saw her fall,
but eould not see further than the door; I heard fear-
ful shrieks. This lasted half an hour or more, I did
not see any of the women or children try to escape,
The sowars were posted at the trees nenr the honge,
A Velaitee, a stout, short man, and fair, soon came
out with his sword broken. I saw him go to the
Nana’s house and bring back another sword, This
he alzo broke in a few minutes, and got a third from
the Nana. I saw him go out to the next compound,

* Fitchett pointed out where the shed stoud,
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which was the Nana's, but eould not see whether he
went into the house. The groans lasted all night, I
was only fifteen or sixteen paces from the house,

Question—Who were these five people ?

Answer——Therse were two butchers, one Velaites, and two
villagers.

Question—How do you know who they were 1

Answer—The sepoys told me.

Question—Did you hear any names ?

Answer—No, I did not,

Question—Where did the butchers come from ?

Answer-—I do not know, I only heard the sepoys say they were
butehers,

Question—Deseribe them ?

Answer-—One was pock-marked, had a small beard, of a dark
complexion, a tall, stont man; the other was alsa
a tall man, but I do not know how to deseribe
him, The Velaitee had hair on his hands. The
two villagers were, I think, Hindoos; ‘I cannot tell
what willage they came from. About an hour
after, William DeCruz went towards the building,
but came back, ns he was umnable to bear tha
sight. We were kept at the shed all night, with

' the sepoys of the 6th,

At about 8 o'clock the mext morning, the sweepers
living in the compound, I think there were three
or four, were ordered to throw the bodies into & dry
well, near the house. The bodies were dragged out,
most of them by the® hair of the head, those whosa
clothes were worth taking, were stripped, Some of
the women were alive, I cannot say how many, but
three could speak ; they prayed for the sake of God
that an end might be put to their sufferings, I
remarked one very stout woman,s half-caste, who
was severely wounded in both arms, who entreated
to be killed. She and two or three others were
placed against.the bank of the ent by which bullocks
go down in drawing water from the well. The dead
bodf8s were first thrown down. Application was made

]
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to the Nana about those who were alive. Three
children were also alive. I do not know what orders
came, but I saw one of the children thrown in alive.
I believe the other children and women, who were
alive, were then thrown in,

Question—How far were you from the well ?

Answer—~—About 100 paces, Yes, I saw this, and I know Iam
on my oath,

Question—Were there many people present 7

Answer«—Yes, there was a great crowd looking on; they were
standing along the walls of the compound. They
were priocipally ecity people and villagers. Yes,
there were also sepoys.

Question—How old were the boys that you saw the next
morning alive, and were they Europeans 7
Answer—VYes, they were fair children, the eldest I think must
have been six or seven, and the youngest five years :
it was the youngest who was thrown in by one
of the sweepers. The children were running round
the well, where else could they go to? and there
was mone to save them., No, none said a word or

tried to save them,

About 9 or 10 AM., we were taken to the city, and
remnined there. That day, between 4 and 5 Py, we
heard firing, and at dusk, some sepoys of the 6th Native
Infantry returned from the fight, and ordered us to be
taken to Bithoor ; but we did not leave till 2 Am. the
next morning. I cannot tell whether the city
people were glad that the mutineers had been
beaten; the shopkeepers were frightened, and shut
up their shops. A nomber of them, with their
families, left with us. As we passed the Subadar's
Tank, some 20 sspoys of my corps joined us
There were two companies of the lst Regiment,
with two guns posted at the Subadars Tank.
When within a mile of Bithoor, hurkaras met us
and said, that as we had been beaten (our faces
made black) we had better go where we pleased.
We turned to the left, and went about six miles



by a kutcha road, and then encamped ; there were
about 200 sepoys of the 6th and 17th Regiments,
and some native sowars, not the 2nd Cavalry. The
next day we took the high road to Futtehgurh,
aod up at a sersie. Here Bhoondoo Singh, Suba-
dar, 17th Native Infantry, took charge of the whole
of the infantry and promised to pay them. He was
the general. The Hindoos called him Rajah; he
had elephants, a carriage and two buggies and some
three or four horses, one was an Arab, said to have
belonged to the colonel, of his corps; the syce
bad been in the colonel's employ. The sepoys
eaid he had two hackeries laden with treasure,
The 2nd Cavalry joined us in the seraie. I do nob
think supplies were given willingly, The usual
guard for russud was always sent. The next
day, we all marched in company, the 2nd Cavalry
in advance, and then their wives and children ;
we followed. I saw a European lady with the
sowars’ women. She was in a native dress, silk
pyjamahs and a chuddur over her head, but was
riding on & side saddle. T heard it was General
Wheeler's youngest daughter, the sepoys were
talking about her. I saw her every day during the
march to Futtehgurh. I cannot be sure it was
General Wheeler's daughtor, as I had never seen
her before, and was not allowed to speak to her;
but heard from every one that the European lady
with the sowars of the 2ud Cavalry was General
Wheeler's daughter, She was the only Enropean
Iady in the camp I heard of No, I did not see her
at Futtehgurh. The day we marched in, the 2nd
Cavalry encamped on the parade ground, but the
nfantry went into the city, I however saw her
again when the mutineers marched for Bithoor,
After remaining at Futtehgurh about six days, we
heard that the Nana wished us to return, and
that the men who had served him at Cawnpore
would first receive all arrcars of pay, and would
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then have to fight. The European Iady went with
the sowars of the 2nd Cavalry; the wives and families
of the mutineers were left in a village abont five
coss from Bithoor, under a guard of some 150 or
200 sepoys; I do mot know of what regiments.
They were all mixed. I think we remained in that
village some ten or twelve days, We heard that
the mutineers were making entrenchments at Bithoor.
The sepoys that came every now and then from
that place said that the Europeans had come in
steamers, a few of them, but that they had painted
figures to make others believe there were many
Europeans, They said the British wanted to rob
the Nana of his jewels. One evening, at snnset,
some sepoys returned, and told us to get ready, and
shortly afterwards we saw the mutineers flying ;
yes, many threw away their arms; we then fled
to Futtehgurh, The first day we did three marches
in one, and then. by regular marches, but heard the
41st Native Infantry had determined to attack us, as
we had lost two battles and fled. The sepoys were
puzzled what to do; they said that if they had
had guns, they would have fought the 41st Native
Infantry. It was then decided that we should go to
Delhi. I do not know whether Subadar Bhoondoo
Singh gave the orders. A tent was pitched, where
all the native officers assembled. I do not know
what went on there, No, sentries were not posted
in the day time, at night there were sentries, but
the men often went to sleep. The sepoys did just ns
they liked. We went to the village, where one
rond goes to Allygurh, and the other to Mynpoory.
Bhowgong, I think, was the name. There a message
came from Mahomed Yar Khan that he would pay
us, if we would come to Futtehgurh ; the second day
we arrived, and encamped in front of the sudder
bazar. I saw the European lady with the women of
the 2nd Cavalry up to thisdate. This was in August,
I think it must have been the end of the month,
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I heard the day after our arrival, that Ahmed Yar
Khan had demanded the European lady ; the sowars
refused to give her up, they said she had been
saved at the risk of her protector’s life, and had become
& Mahomedan, We then heard that the 41st Native
Infantry, and the new levy raised at Futtehgurh,
under Ahmed Yar Khan's orders, would fight the
sowars, who were quite determined to defend the
lady with their lives ; they said they would be cut
to picces before they gave her up. The next day T
saw two sowars pass our camp on the road to Cawnpore,
The European lady was with them, and from thap
time I missed her. I do not know where she was
taken to, I heard that the sowar took her to his
village. I do not know the mame of the village,
About nine or ten days after this, the party from
Cawnpore was ordered by Abmed Yar Khan to collect
revenue at Kaemgunge ; whilst there, Ram Lall,
sepoy of the 5th company of my regiment, spoke to
Jemadar Yusuf Khan, offering to become security, if
he was allowed to have me as his servant. Yusuf
Ehan spoke to Bhoondoo Singh, who consented, and
I was then released. I had to cut grass for his pony,
and to look after the bullocks of the gharee, and to
grense the wheels. No, I did not drive the gharee,
Ishree Singb, drill naick, brother of Ram Lall, drove
it. Their families were in the gharee. I got food
from them, what was left after they had finished
their meals. We were at Kaemguuge some fiftoen
or twenty days. A deal of revenue was collected.
Ahmed Yar Khan had four guns with a party of sowars
(I heard they eame from Saugor) and some matchlooks
mén.  Subadar Bhoondoo Singh bad ammunition and
elephants, which Ahmed Yar Khan demanded from
him, stating that as they belonged to the Sirkar, the
subadar had no right to keep them, but he refused to
give them op. On this, there was a disagreement,
Bhoondoo Singh had about 500 men under his
command; Ahmed Yar Khan 200 sowars and 200

L]
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matchlockmen. The next day was the Nishan Pooja,
The 17th Native Infantry had their coloure. Bhoondoo
Singh arranged with his men that when volleys were
fired in honour of the colours, they should lead with
ball, fire at Abmed Yar Kban and his party, anf make
a rush at the four guns to eapture them. The nest
morning before the sepoys had assembled, Ahmed Yar
Khan, with his sowars, seized nll the ammunition,
elephants and horses belonging to Bhoondoo Singh :
the sepoys then forsook him and joined in plundering
the treasure, The subadar and his eldest son were
made prisoners, and the sowars took away his two
daughters, They were girls about 14 or 15 years of
age, No, they were not disgraced ; the Nawab Ahmed
Yar Khan interfered, and they were given up, and with
the subadar and his son, turned out of camp. Some
five or =ix sepoys of his own corps remained faithful to
him. I heard that they all returned to Futtehgurh,
and lived in the Lal sernie in the city. After this,
two nawabs came from Shumshabad Mbow and took
command. I do not know what became of Ahmed
Yar Ehan. We heard of the British troops being at
Mynpoory, I thiuk it was in October. The sepoys
were in a great fright, for they thought the Euro-
peans would come to Futtehgurh. Some of them
and the matchlockmen ran away. We then heard
that the British were going to Cawnpore; it was
mentioned in camp that the 41st Native Infantry,
the new levy, and sepoys of other regiments who
had collected at Futtehgurh, were to attack the British
at Kanonj. I do not know whether this was done.
I heard that the moulvie nt Kanouj, who had about
400 men, also intended to attack the British; these were
the reports in camp. No, we never heard that
Delhi had been taken. When I heard that the
British troops were at Mynpoory, and Ahmed Yar
Khan's police fled from their posts, I thought it was
n good opportanity of escoping. One day I got
drummer Aviet Paul's pony, saying that I would give
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it o wash in o tank near at hand. I mounted it, and
walked the pony to the other side of the village, and
then rode ns hard as 1 could to the Ealee Nuoddee,
some five or six miles ; o mile on the other side I was
taken prisoner by the policee In the mutineers'
camp we heard that the British bad employed
Sikhs at their thannahs with either country-borns or
Europeans ns thannahdars, Seeing these to be
Mohomedans I thought they belonged to the rebel
party, and therefore said I wns a Mabhomedan: the
thannahdar said I did not speak like o Mussulman,
and asked me my name. I gave it as Shere Khan,
and that T was going to Bhowgong to see my brother.
On being asked his name, I replied Shaikh Noor
Buksh, upon which the thannahdar remarked that I
was Khan and my brother a Shaikh; I was therefore
sent o prisoner to Bhowgong, from that I was sent
into Mynpoory and taken before the Rao, the than-
nahdar had stated in his report that having a horse
without a saddle and no property (I had nothing bus
a lungotee on) he thought I was a thief Among the
Rao's guards, I recognised a sepoy of my regiment,
he was called Thakoor,but I do mot know whether
that was his pame; at first he pretended not to know
me, but when I called him Thakoor, he begged me
not to betray that he was a sepoy. 1 do not know
whether he had done anything wrong. 1 am not sare
whether he wns with the corps when it mutinied,
but he was not at Cawnpore or with the rebel camp
at Futtehgurh ; many Hindoo sepoys went to their
homes ; those who had far to go, remained with all the
Mahomedan sepoys. Thakoor told me that the Rao
was true to the British. 1 then confessed I wans o
Christian, and a drommer; I was kept there some
twelve or fifteen days waiting for an escort, and was
at last sent into Agra, I was appointed by Captain
Glover to battery No. 1 in the fort I was afterwards
confined as a deserter. Captain Hallett, the sfficia-
ting Brigade-Major, investigated the case, and I was



scquitted. T left in the rebel camp at Kaemgunge,
Thomas Clarke, his wife, his son Charles, and a
daughter ten or eleven years old; William DeCrus,
his wife, and two young children; bugler Myrack,
his wife, the eldest son Henry Myrack, and four
young children ; Aviet Paul, J. Reid Clarke, William
Diddier, they were Christian drummers of the Gth
Regiment Native Infantry. Of the Mahomedan drum-
mers, there were bugler Nubbee Buksh Hoosaines,
Perioa, Mousaddesn, Poorun and Gungn Deen,
dhanocks. Of the 17th Native Infantry, there were
four drammers; I heard they were Christinns, bug
am ouly sure of one, who spoke to us; I do not
remember his name; he had his wife with him;
the other three drummers were of one family, and
one of the danghters was married to a sowar in
camp, I do not know of what corps.
The sowars had nautches every night, not dancing
women but buffoons, No, the British were not
ridiculed at these nantches; one man wonld show how
stiff the European soldiers were; every one wns
afraid to mention the British. At Shumshabad Mhow,
it was said that a man’s mouth became impure forty
days by naming the Kafira The sepoys sometimes
abused us, but did not otherwise ill-treat us; bugler
Myrack was twice taken out to be shot, but his wife
fell at Usef Khan's feet, and through the entreaties
of Gunga Deen and Poorun he was spared ; he got
very drunk, he used to go into the villages and plunder,
and thus get liquor. The sepoys allowed liquor in
the villages, for they intended when attacked by
Europeans to place the liquor in their way. I heard
them once settling this plan amongst themselves;
this was ot Kaemgunge. All that I have stated is
perfectly true, and any of the Christinn drummers
that were with me will corroborate all I have said.

No. 2.—~Deposition of William Clarke, Musician, lale 6Gth

Native Infantry.—On the 6th June 1857, the regiment I was in




(6th Native Infantrs) mutinied st Allahabad during the uight, T took
refuge amongst the ponsioners, and remnined with them all that night,
also the mext day. I heard that many Christisne wero massaored,
amongst whom wers the Sergeant-Major, William Diddier's wife,
William Nesbitt’s grandmother, and DeCruzo, a farrior.  John Fitchatt

‘eame and told me that he bad gone to the fort, but was turned away
by the people in it, and that the Mewnteos had surrounded the
pensioners’ lines, Oun that day, Futteh Jung, a musician, asked us to
turn Mussulman, to save oumelves from being mmssacred. Through
fear I and my family, together with William Thomas DeCruze, Aviet
Paul, and Mrs, DeCruzo (the farrier's wife) turned Mussulmen, and
~ waont to the city, Aviet Paul had Hindoostaneo elothes, in which all
of us dressed and put up in a Mussulman’s house in the city, whose
name I do not know. On the next day about 150 sepoys came to the
city, and took me away with them; my parents and William Thomas
DeCruze and his family accompanied me.” When we had proceeded
abont twelve or thirteen miles on the Cawnpore road, I met John
Fitchett and several other Christians, whase names I do not remember;
I also saw William Diddier and Myrack and his family ; all of us went
on by stages to Futtehpors, where somo more sepoys joined us, and wa
proceeded to Cawnpore ; reaching which place, the mutinecrs encamped
on a plain about a mile to the east of the Savada house, and there
found a number of sepoys collected. The Europeans wers in the
entrenchments, and the fight was goiog on: the Nana's rule was
predominant. Two or three days after this, my father fell out with me,
and I left the tent; he procceded in search of me to the semie in the
city, where the bhutteearns took hold of him, saying that ho wasa
Christian, and carried him away to the thannah, from whence he was
taken to the Nana, who ordered him to be put to death ; but somehow
or other the sepoys of my regiment heard of this, and went and had
‘my fathor released, This account was related to me by my father,
when he returned to the tent.
Question—State how long the fight lasted, and what occurrences you
observed when the Europeans left the entrenchment?
Answer—The fight lasted for about ten or twelve duys, after
which I heard it stated by the sepoys that the Nana
had taken an oath to see all the Europeans sént off
safely by boats to Allahabad, and that therefore the
fight had ceased. Two or three days after this T wag
told that the Europeans had lefs the entrenchments for

k
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the boats; shortly after firing of cannon wns heard,
the sepoys of my regiment came to their tents, and
stated that all the Europenns were massacred at the
ghat, and that a great many ladies were being
brought to the Savada house ; hearing this the sepoys
and a great crowd of people proceeded to the Savada
house ; I accompanied them, and placing myself in
the verandah of the house, saw that several of the
ladies and children were wounded, some were unhurt,
but had very dirty and torn elothing ; there were
about 80 or 80 of them altogether. I did nob
recoguise any of them, and left the place immedintely
after secing them,

Question—Did William Thomas DeCruze and John Fitchott
accompany you to the Savada house ?

Answer—They did not go along with me, but I saw them there.

Question—Was any order received the night previous to the
massacre, by the sepoys of your regiment, at their.
encamping ground, to be present at the place of
execution ?

Answer—1I did not hear of any order being received during the
night, but in the morning some sepoys of my regi-
ment went with their arms to the ghat, and on their
return stated that guns were placed at the ghat by
the Naon's orders, that troops were ‘also assembled,
and that the Enropeans were massacred.

Question—When these sepoys returned from the ghat, did they
bring any arms or property belonging to the Europeans
massacred there 7

Answer—-1 did not see any such things brought by them.

Question—Did you see or hear of any sowars carrying off any
ladies on that day ?

Answer—I saw two sowars carrying away a lady on horseback,
I did not hear of or see any other.

Question—Did you hear who this lady was, and how was she
dressed ?

Answer—=She wore a chintz gown, which appeared to be wet;
she seemed to be eighteen or nineteen years of age.
It was rumoured that a sowar had carried away a
lady, the wife of some indigo planter,




_ ATPENDIX lzxv

-

Question—After this ocourrence, did you ever visit the Savada
house 7 and if so, in what state did you see its
inmates !

Amwer—-—l did go to the Savada house onee or twice, and saw
the ladies dressed in very dirty clothes; they slept on
the bare ground, and were fed on dil and atta cakes.
A woman, named Begum, used to distribute this food
to the Indies. 1 did not see them molested by any
one, A guard, consisting of sepoys of my regiment,
was over them, and Eusuf Khan, jemadar, was in
charge of the guard. After a fow days, the ladies
weore removed from the Savada house to another
small” bungalow, which I visited once or twice, and
saw them in the same state us before.

Question—Did you hear of which place, the woman, called Begum,
was resident 7 and can you give a deseription of her?

Answer—>She was stated to be in the Nana's employ, and was of
a fair complexion, tall stature, had a few grey hairs,
and was about thirty yenrs of age,

Question—Did you see or hear that the woman called Begum
ever took any of the ladies to the Nooa's stables
to grind gram ¥

Answer—1I did not hear anything concerning this,

Question—After the Eurcpeans bad left the entrenchments or
prior to it, during the time you were at Cawnpore,
how many times were Europeans arriving from other
places, massacred at that station 7

Answer—I only once saw five or six gentlemen shot by the
scpoys, in a bungalow opposite the one in which the
ladies were ; of these gentlemen, two or three were
indigo planters, and three were stated to be of some
note, who had come from Furruckabad. 1T heard the
sepoys say that the latter promised them to have the
fort of Allahabad vacated if their lives were spared,

Question—Can you state to which regiment the sepoys belonged,
who murdered the three gentlemen from Furruckabad 2

Answer—They belonged to the volunteer regiment; I do nog
know their names; there were about ten or twelve
sepoys concerned in the murder,

N
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Question—Did you hear of any sowar having carried awny Major-
General Wheeler's danghter 2

Answer—I only heard a rumour to this effect, but did not wit-

; ness the oceurrence,

Question—When you secompanied the mutineers from Cawnpore
to Futtehgurh, did you ever see in company with the
sowars' women, any lady dressed in native clothes 7

Answer—No, I did not see or hear of any lady being with the
B0WArs' Women.

Question—Did you ever hear how and where Major-General
Wheeler was massacred ?

Answer—I did not hear anything regarding this.

Question—State how the ladies were massacred, who were con-
fined in the Savada house, and subsequently removed
to another bungalow ?

Answer—A day previous to leaving Cawnpore, one evening I
heard it stated in camp that the ladies were to be
put to death ; and on going to the bungalow in which
they were confined, I heard that the Nana had given
orders to the sepoys of my regiment to shoot the
ladies, and on their refusing to do so, the Nana gave
orders to blow them away from guns, adding, that in
his opinion, they were in league with the Europeans,
and then the woman, named Begum, accompanied by
four or five men, came and massacred all the ladies
and children.

Question—Did the sepoys also fire at this time or not, and
how many men were there actually engaged in the
massacre, who were they, and what weapons did they
nze?

Answer—1I did not sce the sepoys fire. The men engaged in the
massacre were armed with swords, I did not stay
there long, and do not know who these men were,
When they bad arrived there, I had come out of the
compound of the bungalow in which the ladics were
confined, and perceiving their intentions, returned to
wy tent. I did not personally witness the massacre,
but was told on the following day that these very
nien had perpetrated the deed.
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Question—When yon reached the bungalow in which the ladies
were confined, apd saw the men eoming who
massacred them, were William Thomas DeCruze and
John Fitchett with you, or did you see them there?

Answer—They were not with me, nor did I take notice whether
they were there or not, as there was a great crowd.

Question—Did you see what became of the corpses of the ladies
that were massacred ?

Answer—1 did not go to the spot the next day as I was attacked
with fever during the night, but heard that their
bodies were thrown into a well,

Question—John Fitchett has stated in his deposition that on the
day of his arrival at Cawnpore, at about 4 o'clock, he
was taken to the Savada house, nud there confined in
a small room, which was to. the south-east of the
house, and that you snd William Thomas DeCrose
were also confined along with him; why do you not
therefore state everything clearly ?

Answer—The statement made by John Fitchett is entirely false,

neither of us were ever confined in the Savada house,

Question—When you left Cawnpore in company with the muti-
. neers, where did yon go, and what did you see ?

Answer—The day after the massacre, the mutineers hearing of

the advance of European troops, left Cawnpore, and

proceeded towards Futtehgurh, but there was no newa

of where the Nana had gone to, There was a body

of about 12,000 or 13,000 men, but without a leader,

and each one followed his own course. I reached

Futtebgurh after four or five days, in their company,

where I found another body of mutineers, aud that the

Nawab's rule was predominant,  After remaining here

seven or eight days, the Nawab gave orders to the

sepoys of my regiment to proceed to Keamgunge,

whither I accompanied them, and remained there for

about two months. William Thomas DeCruze and

John Fitchett were also with me, but the latter left us,

and went away somewhere, After this, the British

troops came on us, and we rotreated to Futtehgurh,

where we found Subadar Bhoondeo Singh's force

e R
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encamped on the parade ground, When I came to
Futtehgurh, William Diddier was also with us, whom
we left there, when I and William Thomas DeCruze
started for Shajehanpore, reaching which, we re=
mained there for a day and night, and then left for
Lucknow. At Shajchanpore, we only found a force
of villagers, armed with matchlocks, but saw mno
mutineers. After twelve or thirteen days we reached
Lucknow, and put up in & house in cantonments, at
Mureenon, where a foree of 3,000 or 4,000 mutineers
was assombled under command of Bukht Khan, We
remained here seven or eight days, and found
John Edward Clarke, Willinm Diddier, Sahoo Myrack
and Aviet Paul, who were with the mutineer force;
leaving this place, I proceeded through villages begging
my wnay, nnd reached Allahabad.

Question—D)id you see or hear at Cawnpore, or any other place,
that Willinm Diddier fought in company with the
mutineers !

Angwer—I heard at Cawnpore that he took part with the muti.
neers against Europeans,

Question—Have you heard where William Diddier is now ?

Angiwer—No,

Question—When yon reached Allshabad, was any investigation
made regarding you, and if so, by whom ! And how
did you obtain employment ?

Answer—=When I reached Allahabad, I went to Adjutant Hasle-
wood, who placed me in confinement, where I remained
three months and five days, after which I was releas-
ed, and obtained employment ?

Question —Have you stated all to the Adjutant as you have done
in this deposition ¢

Answer—Through fear, in wy statement to the Adjutant, T did
not make any mention of having been at Cawnpore ;
but only stated that when the regiment mutinied
the Mewatees carried me away a prisoner, and that
many Christians were massacred ; after which 1 went
to the city, from which place the sepoys took me away
a prisoner to Sultanpore, from whence I escaped to
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Allahabad. This is what T have stated in my deposi-
tion before the Adjutant, but now I have stated
clearly all that I bave seen and undergone,

No. 8.—Deposition of William Thomas DeCruse, Musician, 6th
Regiment, Native I'nfantry.

Question=When the mutiny broke out, where were you ; and how,
and when did you reach Cawnpore 7 And how long
did you remain there ? which places did you frequent 1
and who were with you ?

Answer—0n the 6th June 1857, the 6th Regiment, Native
Infantry, mutinied at Allshabad during the night ; we
made off for the pensioners’ lines and hid ourselves ; wa
remained there all that night and during the next day,
when John Fitchett came from the fort and told me thag
the officers would not allow him to enter the fort, He
remained with me in the pensioners’ lines, when Sahoo
Myrack, musicisn, who was o prisoner in the fort a
month previous to the outbreak, came and told us that
he was also turned out of the fort, and on the same day,
about 2 o'clock, the Sergeant-Major Diddier's wife and
his children, and Willinm Nesbitt's grandmother
were murdered, also DeCruze, and a farrier, and
several other-pensioners. The Mewatees came to us
in the pensioners’ lines, and asked us to turn Mussul-
mans, threatening to murder us if we refused. At
this time Futteh Jung, a Mussulman musician, also
eame to us, and advised the Mewntees not to kill us,
but make Mussulmans of us. They accordingly made
a Mussulman of me, and William Clarke, together
with his father and children. Still being alarmed, I
and William Clarke made our escape from them
daring the evening, and went and put up in a Mussul-
man's house in the city, whose name I do not recol-
lect. On the next day about 150 sepoys of my regi-
ment came to the city, and seeing us desired us to
accompany them; so we joined them, accompanied
by our families. When we had proceeded with them
about twelve or thirteen miles on the Cawnpore road
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we met John Fitchett and a number of other Chris-
tians, who had all turned Mussulmen ; they also
Jjoined us, and we went on by regular stages to Futteh-
pore, and there a number of other sepoys joined us,
Proceeding by stages, we reached Cawnpore about one
in the afternoon, and encamped in s plain about
amile away from the Savada house. There wasa great
collection of mutineers and the Nana's men, the Euroe
peans were in thé entrenchments, and the fight was
going on; I do not reeollect the exact number of
mutineers assembled, nor the regiments they belonged
to. A day or two after this William Clarke and his
father fell out, when the former went awny somewhera
or other, and his futher proceeded to a seraie in search
of him, the bhutteearas of which took him a prisoner,
saying he was a Christian, and sent him to the Nana
through the thanah, who ordered him to be put to
death ; but the sepoys of my regiment hearing of this,
went and had him released, I then lived along with
him,

Question—State elearly how long the fight continued, and when

did the Europeans leave the entrenchments, and what
oceurred ?

Answer-—Ten or twelve days after our arrival there, the fight

ceased ; we were told by the sepoys that the Nana
had taken an oath to see the Europeans safely sent
away to Allshabad, and then on a day (the date of
which I do not remember) in the morning, the
Europeans left the entrenchments to go to the ghat,
for the purpose of getting on the boats. Two or three
hours after this firing of cannon was heard, and we
were told that the Europeans had been massacred,
and that the ludies and children wers brought to the
Savada house, to which place I went in company with
the sepoys, and saw that some of the Indies were
wounded ; there appeared to he eighty or ninety per-
sons, inclusive of children. Having seen them, I
returned to my house, but did not recognise any of
them ; all the ladies had clothing on them,
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Question—Did William Clarke and John Fitchett accompany you
to the place where the ladies were confined 7

Answer—1 do not exactly remember if they were with me, but a
great number of persons had gone, and no doubt they
were with them,

Question—The day previous to the Europeans leaving the entrench-
ments, were any orders received by the sepoys requir-
ing their attendance anywhere ?

Answer—=I did not hear of any such order; but on the day of the-
massacre was told by the sepoys that the Nana had
guns placed at the ghat, purposely to effoct the de-
struction of the Europeans, and therefore the massacre
occurred. I did not see the Europeans go to the ghat,
neither did I go there,

Question—After you had come away from the building in which
the ladies were, what oceurrences did you observe ?

Answer-—I saw on the same day that many troopers had brought
away ladies to their tents but did not hear who they
were, neither do I know the names of the troopers,

Question—Did you see what treatment the Indies met with who
were confined in the Savada house, and did any sepoys
or troopers molest them ?

A nswer—I never went again to the Savada house, but heard that
they were fed on atta, cakes and dal ; but when the
ladies were moved from the Savada honse to another
small bungalow near the theatre, I went and saw
them ; they were dirtily clothed and slept on the bare
ground, and & Mussulman woman, named Begum, who
was in the Nana's employ, brought them food. I did
not see any of the sepoys molest the ladies, a guard of
my regiment (i.e., 6th Native Infantry) was placed over
them under command of Eusuf Khan, a jemadar,

Question—~Who was this woman named Begum ' Of which place
did you hear she was a resident 7 Give a description
of her ?

Answer—=—I do not know of which place she was a resident : she
was in the Nana’s employ, and was of fair complexion,
tall stature, about 30 years of age, and had a few grey
hairs,
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Question—Did you see or hear that this woman ever took any of
the ladies to the Nana's stables for the purpose of
grinding gram ?#

Amnswer—.I did not see or hear anything regarding this.

] Question—After or previous to the massacre at the ghat, did you
see or hear of any Europeans being murdered ?

Angwer—I only once witnessed 25 or 30 Europeans, who had
come from Bithoor, murdered by some of the Nana's
men, who were armed with swords. They were nob
sepoys. I do not know the names of any of the mur-
derers, They were, I believe, residents of Cawnpore.

Question—Did you hear of Major-General Wheeler's daughter
having been brought away from the ghat by one of
the troopers? '

Answer—1I did not hear this,

Question—Did you hear how and where Major-General Wheeler
was murdered

Answer—T heard it stated by the sepoys that he was murdered
at the ghat,

Question—Did you ever hear of any gentlemen having come to
Cawnpore, who promised to have the fort of Allaha-
bad made over to the mutineers ?

Answer—1I never saw any Europeans massacred, except those
mentioned above, but heard that some gentlemen
were brooght in from somewhere, who promised to
bave the fort of Allahabad given up to the sepoys, on
condition of their lives being spared. After this, I
did not hear what became of them.

Question—Did you wituess the massacre of the ladies and chil-
dren confined in the Savada house ?

Answer—When the British troops reached Futtehpore, the
mutineer force stationed there fell back to Cawnpore.
About 4 o'clock I heard in my tent that the Nana
hud issued orders to murder all the ladies and chil
dren, when I went tothe bungalow in which they
were confined, and there I heard Eusuf Khan and the
sepoys saying that they would not kill the ladies and
children; and the Nana hearing of this sent word
that the sepoys should be blown away from guns, as
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they nppeared to be in league with the Europesns.
After this the woman named Begum came and gave
orders to the sepoys to kill the ladies, but they fired
their muskets at the roof of the house, and then
three or four men, dirtily clothed, -came with the
woman Begum, armed with swords, and entered the
bungalow where the ladies were, When they did this
I left the place, but heard that these men had put an
end to all the inmates of the house,
Question—=State the correct number of men who massacred the
Indies and children, and give a description of them ?
Ansmeer—1 do not remember the exact number of the murderers,
neither do I recollect their features, nor their tribe;
Qum':;n-Wheu these men eame to massacre the ladies, &e., wera
William Clarke and John Fitchett with you ?
Answer—I do not remember whether they were there or not.
Question—After the massacre, what became of the corpses ?
Answer—On the next day having gone to the bungalow where
the ladies were massacred, I saw their corpses being
removed and thrown inte a well in the compound;
the persons that perpetrated the massacre were
engaged in the removal of the corpses.  One or two
lndies who were still alive were mnssacred by them,
and thrown into the well. I also saw them throw
down into the well one or two children, who were
alive. All the bodies had not been thrown into the
well when I left the place, and on the same day the
mutineers fled, and I accompanied them,
Question—John Fitchett has stated in his deposition that on the
very day of his arrival at Cawnpore he was taken
about 4 o'clock to the Savada house, and there con-
fined in a small room to the sonth-east of the houss,
and that Thomns Clarke, Charles Clarke, William
Diddier and others, together with yourself, were also
confined there; you are therefore requested to stato
whether this statement is correct or otherwise ?
Answer—This statement, made by John Fitchett, is entirely
false ; none of us were in confinement, but were in
camp on the open plain with the sepoys, and John
Fitchett was also with us,

O
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Question—When all of you were with the sepoys, had you any

duties to perform ?

Answer—No, we had nothing to do.
Question—Who was the lady reported to have been brought away

by the sepoys to Futtchgurh, and was she dressed in
Hindoostanee clothes? Were there any other ladies
besides her with the sepoys ?

Answer—I only saw one lady with the troopers, and was told that

she was the daughter of some indigo planter, and
besides her I did not see any other lady brought away
by any trooper or sepoy, The Indy brought away by
the trooper did not reach Futtehgurh, but only some
twelve miles this side of it, at a place called Khoda-
gunge seraie, where it commenced to be talked about
that- some trooper was bringing away a Christian
woman ; the trooper therefore deserted with her,md
no tmca of him could be found.

Question—State how far you accompanied the sepoys when they

left Cawnpore 7

Answer—When news came of the European troops approaching

Cawnpore, the mutineers left it in the night and pro-
ceeded towards Futtohgurh, and I accompanied them,
but the Nana did not accompany the mutinecrs, and
there was no news of where he had gone to. The muti-
neer force amounted to about 12,000 or 13,000 men,
there was no leader, and each one was his own master.
After four or five days we reached Futtehgurh, where
we met another mutineer force, but they appeared to
be dispersing ; we remained here for about eight days,
and the Nawab gave orders to the mutineers to go to
Knemguoge, when about 250 sepoys of my regiment
proceeded thither, and reaching Kaemgunge 1 put up
in a bunneeah’s house. Eusuf Khan was in com=
mand of this party, We remained at Kaemgunge
for about two months; John Fitchett was also with
us, but leaving us at Kaemgunge went away in some
other direction. When the European troops reached
that place, all the inhabitants of Kaemgunge fled
towards Futtehgurh; I also accompanied them, but
reaching Futtehgurh, we found thay the mutineer
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force had left that place, I also left the place, and
begging my way through reached Allahabad.

Question—When you accompanied the mutineers from Cawnpore
to Futtehgurh, did they create Bhoondeo Singh,
subadar, 17th Regiment, a Rajah over them 7 and did
they obey his orders ?

Answer—When I was in Futtehgurh, T did not hear of Bhoondoo
Singh being made a Rajah ; but when I returned from
Kaemgunge to Futtebgurh, I heard that Bhoondoo
Singh's foree was in Futtehgurh,

Question—When yon reached Allahabad, were any enquiries
instituted regarding you t and how did you obtain
employment |

Answer—1I went to Adjutant Haslewood, who was in command
at the fort; he took my deposition and kept mein
confinement for three months and five days, altee
which I was released and obtained employment,

Question—Did you give the same statement to the Adjutant as
now 7

Answer—Through fear I did not relate anything regarding
having gone to Cawnpore, but only stated that after
the regiment had mutinied, I wos carried away by
Mewatees to Sultanpore, and eseaping from thence
came to Allahabad.

Question—Did you hear whether William Diddier took part with
the mntincers against Europeans !

Answer—1I heard that William Diddier joined the sepoys and
used arms against Europesns, but did not see this
personally,. When I returned from Kaemgunge to
Futtehgurh, William Diddier was with me; he
remained there, but I and William Clarke together
with his father proceeded to Shajehanpore, and re-
mained there only one night in a garden. In the
moming we started for Lucknow when we zaw that
thers was no mutineer force there, ouly some villagers
armed with matehlocks, We reached Lucknow after
twelve or thirteen days, and put up in a house at
Murreaon in cautonments, where we found Bukht
Khan's force encamped ; there were about 3,000 or
4,000 persons ; we remained here for seven or eight

<1 ik
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days, where we saw John Clarke, William Diddier,
bugler Myrack and Aviet Paul in company with this
force, leaving this place; begging all the way through
villages, we reached Allahabad.

No. §—Deposition of Elizabeth Spieve.—I am the danghter of
Joseph Spiers, drummer ; we went into the entrenchment with General
Wheeler, and when the treaty was made with the Nana, we went with
all the others to the ghat; when the firing commenced we jumped
into the water. My father, my brother, named David, 27 years old,
band sergeant, and a little sister, nbout nine years old, were all killed
there. One sister, named Charlotte, about fourteen years old, was
taken away by the sowars, and I have never heard anything more of
her. 1 saw several ladies taken away, nmongst them Mrs. J. of the
67th, Mrs. B. of the 2nd Cavalry, and Miss G, the sister of Mrs. B. of
the 53rd. I knew these ladies, as they had been living in the same
barracks in the entrenchment. Idon't know what became of them
afterwards. I don't know anything about Miss Wheeler, but T saw her
going to the ghat ; two sowars, named Munoowur Shah and Alee Shah,
of the 2nd Cawvalry, tock us with our mother, with a little brother (now
a bugler in the Cawnpore police) and a little sister from the ghat, and
kept us for a whole day at the Mogul Serni.  In the evening they took
us to Mrs. Whittaker's; we stayed there that night; next day the
gowars got us another house in the city, When the rebels went to
Futtehpore to fight, we escaped from there and went to the house of
Hussein Buksh, native doctor of the 33rd, who is now employed in the
general hospital. T believe the ladies I have mentioned as having
been taken away from the ghat were afterwards taken to the Savada
kotes, as Khoda Buksh of the 56th, now in the Oudh police, told me
on my questioning him afterwards (he having been confined with the
lndies in the Savada kotee) that Mrs. B, had been there, and alsa Mrs,
J.; he described the latter as wearing a green silk gown, which I saw
her wear when she went down to the ghat from the entrenchments,
I did not sce any ladies deprived of their elothes nor any children cut
“to pieces. I know nothing about the slaughter of ladies in the
Becbeegarh, but heard it was perpetrated by the Nana's soldiers,

No. 5.—Deposition of Isabella Spiers—After corroborating the
main facts of her sister’s statement, she says:—I was kept for a day in
the camp of the sowars, and was afterwards taken to the house in the
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city, where my sister and mother were; a little European giel, about
twelve years old, named Mary, her other name I don't know, was in the
camp with me, and on erying to be taken to her mother, who was
in the Savada house, she was taken there. Very fow of the soldiers
were allowed to take their wives with them from the entrenchments,
with the exception of those with Qencral Wheeler, I did not see
General Wheeler killed,

No. 7.~Re-examination on oath of Eliza Bradshaw, widow of
Manuel Bradshaw, musician ; and Elizabeth Leits, widow of William
Letts—We were with the 56th Regiment, Native Infantry, when it
mutinied at Cawnpore, and were living in the drummers' lines with
otir children, We went into the entrenchments on F! riday, the 5th of
June ; the next day the mutineers commenced their attack at about
10 o'clock ; the first shot broke the leg of a khidmutgm-. he died that
evening, and many others were killed. The firing was continued day
and night.  On the 13th, the barrack in which we were living was set
on fire by a shell ; we fled to one of the unfinished barracks, but the
sowars and sepoys making their appearance close to us, we returned to
the entrenchments, and found shelter where we could. The Colonel,
his wife, and three daughters were in this barrack. The Colonel died
on Monday, the 8th, during the night, and was buried the next night
in the trench. Miss Mary was killed on the 15th by a fall of part of
the roof, caused by a shot striking it; her sister Georgiana, with
another lady (I do not know her name), lifted her up, but she was
insensible, and died that night, She was buried in tho well. Mrs,
Cook, native Christian, attended on them : the servants flud some four
or five days after the attack commenced ; some fow remained fuithfal,
a servant of Mr. Duncan’s and a lame servant of Mr, Christie’s, but all
the servants of the 56th deserted. When able, we cooked dall and
chuppaties for the ladies and children, Yes, there were sepoys of our
corps in the entrenchments; the General sent one of them, named
Gous Mohomed, to gain information, and then Mr. Shepherd was also
gent on the same errand, but I believe he was immediately seized by
the rebels. One day, after heavy firing all the morning, it suddenly
ceased, and a native Christian woman came with a note to C%Ph'-in-'
Moore's picket ; the General was standing near us when it was brought
to him ; he returned it, as it was not signed ; however, a meeting took
place with the rebels, there were six of them. John Bradshaw, of the
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56th Native Infantry, was the orderly bugler, and attended the General;
he told us that arrangements had been made to send us down to
Allahabad. Officers went on elephants to see the boats, On the 26th,
the two guns that were uninjured and the treasure were given up. A
party of sowars and native artillerymen were sent by the Nana. The
officers said the treasure was one lac and thirty-three thousand rupces ;
we were told to be prepared to leave the entrenchments next morning,
At sunrise, on the 27th, some hackeries, three or four elephants, and
three palkees were brought into the entrenchments by the sowars,
The General and some officers were on elephants, Mrs. Wheeler was in
o palkee, the Colonel's wife was also in a palkee, and Mrs, Kempland in
the third. The other ladies were on the hackeries, An artilleryman
wounded in the foot was placed in one of them, but the sick were left
till the hackeries could return. We were about the centre with the
drummers and their families, The sowars and BEPOYS Were on our
right and left. No, they said nothing to us; they did not abuse us,
When we reached the bridge with the white railings near Colonel
William's house, we saw a large crowd assombled, men from the city
and villagers ; the sowars, who were ahead, shouted out that they were
to stand aside, and none to come down to the ghat ; we then descended
into the dry nullah leading to the river. When we got to our boat,
we found that it had no bamboo flooring (chali) In our boats there
were Mr, McMullen and twenty-two children of the Free School, a
pensioned drum-major of the 56th, named Murray, with his wife;
there were also European soldiers and their wives. Suddenly we
beard firing, and the pattering of bullets, and then the roar of cannon
an both sides of the river. We jumped out, the boat was between us
and shore, In the water, a few paces off, by the next boat we saw the
Colonel's youngest danghter. A sepoy was going to kill her with his
bayonet. She said, * My father was always kind to sepoys" He tumn-
ed away, and just then a villager struck her on the head with a club
and she fell into the water. No, we did not see the Colonel’s lady, Mr.
Moncrieff, the clergyman of the station, was close to us, and with two
other clergymen, one must have been the Roman Catholic Padre. We
saw the clergyman take out a book, we did not see him read it, for a
‘sowar rode into the water and cut him down with a blow on the neck ;
he then killed the Padre, and the other, who was a missionary. Bugler
John Bradshaw was shot by a sepoy, and his brother, a dmmmer in the
2ud company, cut down by a sowar, Yes, they were elose to us, but we



young child by the leg and threw it into the water. No, we never said,
nor did we mean to say, that we had scen children torn to pieces : they
were taken up by one leg, swung round and thrown into the river, Yes,

~all these four children now with us escaped, they were not hurt in the
least; our eldest children, drummers in the 56th, were killed at the
ghat, and a young baby, hit by a ball whilst in the entrenchments, died, X

Mrs. Bradshaw's sister-in-law also died in great pain from a bayones

wound. Suddenly shouts were heard that the Nana had ordered the ,

firing to cease ; the sepoys and sowars were not to kill any more women -
and children ; there were no European men left alive at the ghat We

hid behind some logs of wood, The sowars and sepoys colleoted the
ladies and children ; they were all seated on the ground. Bheestees
were sent for to give them water; they remained there about half an
hoar, and then were taken away by the sowars and sepoys, we believe,
to the Savada house. No, there were no indignities offered to the
Indics. Their clothes were not taken awny ; some of the ladies had
their earrings torm out nfthairmbutthntwuwhilninthnhr.
After they were brought to the bank, no one but the guards were
allowed to go near them. We heard that it was the Nana's orders
that they were not to be touched, and that all women and children
:mtnbegimnp: when all had gone, we went by the bank of the
river, and so till we got to the Ram Narain bazar, and secroted onr-
selves in a Mahomedan burying ground, but the Nana's chowkidars
&muuulnf;ﬂthunmh to the elephant sheds, and at first were

refused admittance, but on stating that we were Mahomedans, were
- allowed to remain during the night. ﬁunn:tmﬂ'ningthuni&uhn
- oil-seller in the bazar mlduahﬁtdnmintheshup;&edng.mw

of the 56th Native Infantry coming from his guard in the Ram Narsin

- bazar, we tried to conceal ourselves, The sepoy’s name was Mohomed
Buhh,nfﬂwl'}mnndim;hemldmnﬁthbalﬁnidththnwddm j

hurt us, as he was of the same corps, but advised us not to remain
there, as the sowars would kill us; he told us to go to the church
ecompound, where there ware empty houses. Dariow, a sweeper of the
Free School, took care of us. Thammlirﬁdinthaﬂhumh,m
companies of Sikhs from Benares wero encamped in the compound,
A subadar and musician, who had been transferred from thelstnagi.

- ment to the Sikh corps, were with these companies, We had to leavg

i

e

~ were not hurt; no one attempted to kill us. A sepoy H'.Ild o child
- with his bayonet, it was about four years old ; another sepoy took a
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our house, but they did not harm ns. The Sikhs fled on the morning

of the 16th, the sowars about five in the evening ; they said that now
there was no safety for them on earth, Yes, we heard that the ladies
and children had all been killed, The sowars, when they returned
from Futtehpore, asked the Nana what he intended doing with them,
nud he ordered them to be killed. We heard this from our neighbours.
Question—What do you know of Benjamin Murray, the son of
pensioned drum-major Murray ¢
Answer—He was a drummer in the 6th company, 56th Regiment,
on command to Ooraie, with the 2od and 4th com-
panies ; when they mutinied, he turned Mahomedan
and came back with the companies to Cawnpore.
Question—How do you know this ?

Answer—When we were in the Free School compound, he came

to us and said he was a fife-major in the Naoa's
employ. The cornet player, named Thomas Massey,

deserted from the entrenchments when the barracks e

took fire; these two are now at Allahabad.

No. 6—Statement of Mrs. Bradshaw and Mrs. Leits, of the 56th

Regiment, Native Infantry,

Mrs. Bradshaw—When General Wheeler and the sahib-logs went
into the entrenchment, I, Eliza Bradshaw, and my two sons, John and
Robert, musicians of the 56th, with their wives and a child each, also
- Elizabeth Letts, her son John, musician, with his wife and two children,
went with them into the entrenchment. This was on the 5th of June;

on the Gth, the enemy began to fire upon us. Numbers of people were

' Xilled or died otherwise, Several went out and were killed, Mr. ¢
Shepherd also went out to obtain news, The General sent him ; but =

he, Mr. Shepherd, never returned.

On the 27th of June early, we were all marched to the boat.

Boldiers went before, and behind, and on the sides. We were getting
into the boats. In the boat in which I was to have gone, was the
~pchoolmistress and 22 missies (school girls) General Wheeler came
lnst in a palkee; they carried him into the water near the boat, I

-

stood close by, He said, “ Carry me a little farther towards the boat:®

No. 6 was o statement maide by Mrs, Bradshaw spd Mrs, I.uu:mlnhhu-r,huwﬁ

re-examined on oath they denied a portion 6f their first statements. Nos. 6 and 7 have bpea |

placed incorrectly and have been sllowed in the repriat.
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~ but the sowar said, * No, get out here.” thﬂuuﬂgﬂmg.h.'- ]
palkee, head foremost, a sowar gave him a cut with his sword on the
neck, and he fell into the water. They then set all the boats on fire

excopt two, in which were Mr. Thompson, &e, My son was killed close
to General Wheeler. Some were stabbed with bayouets, others cut
down with swords, little infants were torn to pieces.

. Mrs. Letts—We did, we saw it, and tell you only what we saw,
Other children were stabbed and thrown into the river. The school
girls were burnt to death; I saw their clothes and hair cateh fire,

Ars. Bradshaw.—Dr. Moncrieffl stood in the watefnear his boat,

and said, “ If we English take prisoners, we do not put them to death,
but imprison them, Spare our lives, and put us into prison.” He
received a cnt on his neck, and fell upon his face. My socond son
received a cut on his face, and fell on his side, near Mr, Moncricff,
Mlrs. Monerieff and children, and the Roman Catholic Padre, were all
killed, Miss Whesler was carried off by a sowar, but what happened
to her we cannot tell ; we only state what we saw.

When they bad killed all the men who did not get off, and many
of the women and children, an order came from the Nana that the
rest should be spared. As they took us out of the water, and tore off

~ our clothes, we two and our daugliters-in-law escaped into the house
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of a mehter, who concealed us. Mrs, Letts” daughter-in-law, who was:

' - pregnant, was stabbed in the bedy, and died three days afterwards in

Some were killed on the banks, others in the water. No malas:

was taken bask Gmmﬂﬂulumﬁﬂadnﬂrﬂmbuﬂ;hllﬂ: -
not yet entered into the boat, my son was killed near him. Isawit,

alas!alas! As he got out of the palkee, a sowar gave him aeat on

his neck, and he fell into the water. What happened to those who

were taken back we cannot say, for we lay concealed. We only know

that they were murdered on the 16th, cut to pieces and cast into

a well,

No. 8.~Deposition of Thomas Ambrose Parnon, vesident of
Cawnpore.

When the mutiny broke out in this station, I was in the employ

of the railway. I had gone out to Marowlie, a place about 23 miles
from here, to pay the workmen ; at night the baboo woke me up, and

 said that he thought the cavalry would mutiny that might, I ay




awnke until about 4% Aar, when Iheard the trampling of horses and
‘earts, &e., going along the road : upon which I jumped ont of bed, and
went about two miles on the Etawah road, and then turning to my
right I came to Chowbeypore on the trunk road; from there I eame
to Cawnpore, and went to Ahmed Alee Khan, having been wandering
about in the district for about seventeen days. During that time I
had scarcely any money to live on, I avoided the villages and passed
myself off as n Mussulman, whenever I met any one. 1 knew Ahmed
Alee Khan from my infancy, and that was the reason I sought his
protection. H received me and concealed me the whole time, in fact
he was obliged to conceal himself from having married a Christian
woman, who has now however turned Mussulman, His house isin
Kursarnon, in rear of the police chokee (No. 4); I plainly heard the
ghricks of the women and children who were murdered in the Beeboe-
gurh ; there were also shrieks heard pext morning, a little before
sunrise. When General Havelock’s force arrived, about I think 9 Aar
on the 17th of July, I immediately went out to meet the men ; Ahmed
Alee Khan and all in the house I lived in, but an old decrepit woman,
named Beebee Lake, had fled through fear ; in fact the whole city was
deserted. Some little children that have evidently been thrown down
the well alive, were still quivering, ~In the verandah of the Beebeegurh
was the body of a tall old gentleman, whom the natives said was the
Judge of Futtehgurh {?) I arrived in the city a day or two before
the massacre at the ghat, I heard men of all descriptions, as they
were passing by, saying that they had killed all the Europeans (men)
and carried off the women. I don't think many of the respectable
people in the eity joined the mutineers, all the budmashes were collect-
ed in a Rissallah called *Shaick Panchoo,” who was a relation of

Sheikh Hunneef, who kept the hotel. I only heard of Miss Wheeler

being carried off by the sowars.

I did not know a man in the 20d Cavalry, named Awas Ali; I
knew a man named Mawazish Ali, a celebrated wrestler,

I went with General Havelock's force to Lucknow, but not in any
eapacity. I went to search for a cousin who, I afterwards found, had
been killed at Mohumdee. I sorved in the entrenchment there
(Lucknow.)

1 do not know any of the men mentioned by Awaz Ali, nor ean I
make out why he has mentioned me. I have not heard of any person
with a name like mine being saved, and calling himself a Mussulman,
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- of it to Major-General Wheeler, and was told by him that there was .

- and juining the crowd, came to the grand parads ground, where T

T recollect a dhobes, named Panchoo, who used to wash for us in the % '.
railway ; 1 may possibly be able to find him, -

Xo. 9—Deposition of Mr. Edward Williams, merchant at Cawne
pore—~In May 1857, it was rumoured at Cawnpore that an outbreak
of the native troops had occurred at Meerut, and many Europeans
massacred, After this, the entrenchments at this station, near the 1
hospital, were commenced on, and completed. Doubts were entertained
of the fidelity of the native troops stationed here ; secing this state of
things, I made up my mind to send away my family to Caloutts, and

spoke regarding iHaHr.mei,thanmhbnildur;humdumﬁmfe -

no fear, and was advised not to remove his family. But finding my. -
suspicions regarding the sepoys daily strengthened, I sent away my .
family, some six or seven days prior to the outbreak to Raepoor, closs
to Umourgunj, to a fuqeer's residence, named Miskin Shah, At lnst. on
the might of the 4th June 1857, the Ist Regiment, Native Infantry, and
2nd Cavalry mutinied, and commenced setting fire to the station, On
the next morning, the other two regiments, ie., 53rd and 56th, also
mutinied, and joining their mutinous brethren, plundered the treasury,
broke open the jail and loosing the prisoners, proceeded to Kulliane
pore. The place, ie Raepoor, to which I had sent my family away,
is on the road to Kullianpore, and seeing d great number of mutineers .
approach that place, I was muoch alarmed, and dressing mysell and
family in native clothes, left that place on the same day, ie, 5th June,
and came to Colonel Mohomed Zuman Khan's compound, and put up
ot Mussumat Umeeram's house, who kindly gave us shelter. On the
Gth June at about 8 or 9 A, it was rumoured that the mutineers were
returning from Kullinnpore, and all the city people went out to ses £
them. A search for Christinns commenced, and fearing that some of
them might suspect me, seeing me hid, T left my place of concealment, .

N

heard of the massacre of many Christians ; at which I became al

and purposed returning home, Passing through a bazar, T came oppa-
site the church, which I saw being battered with shot ; I also saw the
Nunney Nuwab being brought a prisoner by the troopers, mounted on
an elephant, and heard of his house being plundered. The troo
took the Nuwab awny towards the mall, and I returned to Mussumat
Umecrun’s house, About 8 pr, some troopers gaining information



"ﬂ'my bamg at Mussumat Umeerun's house, came and enquired for her,
- but it so happened that they could not see her, and eonsequently
- went away., After this, Chotoo Khan, Mussumat Umeerun's brother,
1 - advised me to leave the house, us he said that the troopers would

~ certainly come and make a search for me, and therefore it would be better

~ for me to conceal myself in a jemadar's house, which was close by.
Gumpnlhd by necessity, I left the house, accompanied by my wife, my
. two sons, two daughters, and an ayah, and went to the place I was

.:. adyised to take refuge in, Shortly after this, four or five troopers came
to Mussumat Umeorun’s honse, and enquired whether she had any
- Christians concealed in her house, to which she replied in the negative;.
but they disbelieving her, insisted on all the male inmates of the houss
]l-emg shown them, saying they had nothing to do with the female
- portion. Hearing this, Mussumat Umeerun sent me a message by the
- jnmudnr in whose bouse I had taken refuge, desiring me to quitthe
];hm leaving the females where they were, otherwise I would lose my

- life: hearing this, Ileft the house, leaving my family there, and went and
Lﬂ myself in the gurden attached to my kotee, and remained there all

> mghh In the morning, quitting my hiding place, I made up my mind
. to goaway to Lucknow, for the purpose of bringing away my son, who
was at school there ; but when I reached the bridge, I found that there

- was a prohibition to sny one crossing it; the sepoys had made this
~ armangement. From the 6th Jone, ﬁghtmg at the entrenchment had
commenced, and it was rumoured that the Nana had brought back the
mutinous troops, and had resolved to put to death all the Christians

of the station, and to guin a victory over the troops in the entrenche
‘ments, afier which to proceed to Delhi. Returning from the bridge,.
I went to Chidda’s house, who was an old servant of wine, residing at

’ talgunj, where after a short time, the ayah whom I had left with

~ my family, made her appearance, from whom I enquired regarding my
- family. She told me that shortly after my departure from the j Jemu-
dar’s housé, Mussumat Umeernn had turned my family out of the
place, and that she leaving them at Umourgunj, had come to look for

& couveyance to remove them to some place of safety, but as she could

- get none, I and Chidda accompanied her on foot to Umourgunj, where
to our surprise, we did not find my family, but were told that the
Mﬂ of that mohullah had turned them away. I consequently com-

i - mevced a search for them. About 11 o'clock in the day, I happened
‘to be on the wall, aud there saw Nunney Nuwab coming to the
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had received a post of great dignity, and was in command of a battery,

‘to carry water to the batteries. Hearing an uproar, I rose from

e young man, the son of a pensioned subadar, was sent for by the

his own attendants also, and I was told by the people that the Nuwab L,

He was at that time proceeding to the battery erected against the
barracks. Perceiving this I proceeded in search of my family towards
the city, and saw mouy corpses of Christians, both male and fomale,

strewn about the road. About 1 o'clock I came close to Major-General
Wheeler's bungalow, and finding a picce of mat in the compound,
laid down on it, and saw several troopers going about, forcing people

the place I was in, when a trooper seeing me, told me that it wasa
jgreat shame for a young Mussolman like me to be thus idling away a y
my time, and that I should assist at the batteries; he also told me that

Nuwab, who laid a gun so preeisely that the shot carried away a
portion of one of the barracks within the entrenchments, for which
he received a reward of Rs. 90 and ashawl. T replied to this that T
possessed no arms, and had never been a soldier. A short while after
I came out of the compound to see if the report of the destruction of
the barracks was correct; and saw that a portion of the barrack in which
the apothecaries lived was thrown down. In the evening I went and
Iaid myself down in the compound of a merchant, and finding no trace.
of my family I kept wandering about in search of them for two or L
three days. Having given up all hopes of meeting my family, I made
up my mind to go to Balleenuggur, which was about ten miles away,
and as the people of that place were friendly mme,lmnﬁ'nw
ments to go to Lucknow, -
Question—From your statement, it appears that you remained at
Cawnpore three or four days, after the Tth June, and
saw many places, whilst in search of your family; can
you describe the places where batteries were erected,
and did you recognise any of the rebels concerned in
' the murder of Europeans ¢ _
Answer—I was greatly confused at the time, and besides a =
considerable time hns mow elapsed sinee Isaw the
occurrences ; but still I remember that on the first
_ day a battery was erected near the Mogul Serai, and
another near the eavalry barracks, which was moved
up close to the mcket court, and the other battery
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was brought up to the bridge, near the horse artillery
bazar, where the greater part of the mutineers
stationed themselves, and at the other battery, Nuwah.
Nunney's men placed themselves. When the
mutineers returned from Kullianpoor, the native
gunners were not with them, but T was told that
when Nuwab Nunney received charge of a battery,
he sent for all the pensioned gunners, and set them
to work the guns. I saw the Nuwab usinga
telescope, as well as another person, who was
reckoned a good gunner ; I donot remember his name.

Question—Did you personally see the Nuwab at the battery ; and
if g0, how was he engaged ?

Answer—1I saw the Nuwab for two or three suceessive days at
the batteries, superintending their operations,

Question—Did ygu see the Nuwab a prisoner on the batteries or
otherwise ?

Answer—1I do not think the Nuwab was under any restraint, as

he was engaged in giving orders, which were obeyed by
all the troops; only on the first day I saw the Nuwab
brought as a prisoner. I cannot say whether the
Nuwab remained on the battery as a prisoner or other-
wise, but it is a well known fact that he received
charge of a battery and was engaged in conducting:
its operations,

Question—Can you mention any person’s name, who is cognizant.
of the fact of the Nuwab having sent for the pen-
sioned gunners and set them to work the guns ?

Answer—This circumstance was well known to all; I do not
remember the name of any particular individaal,

Question—Where is the fuqeer, named Miskin Shah ?

Answer—He is dead ; but his widow is, T think, at Cawnpore,

Question—Where is the jemadar, in whose house you took refuge
and what is his name ?

Answer—His name is Wulleedad Khan, and he is still here at his
house.

Question—Where is Chidda, Your servant, and the woman servant
that was with your family ?

Angwer—Both of them are here in the station.
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Question—Do you know anything of the subadar's son who was

& called to one of the batteries 7

| Anawer-—1I do not know his name, but have often sten him; he
is known asa broker in  horse dealing, and I have ce
heard that he was formerly employed by Government
as a guoner. I thiok he lives in the horse market
at Cawnpore, - )

No. 10.— Deposition of Wiltiam Maling, '
4 Question—When the matiny occurred at Cawnpore where were
st you 7 I
Answer——1I was in Cawnpore, and was living in mohullah Furrash-
. | ihmk,ntlwnmm‘slmm,umdﬂminuﬂamm:' :
- prior to this, I was living in my own house, near the :
- soldiers’ confinement room. When the mutiny broke B
e out at this station, on the 4th or 5th June 1857, I left , Iy
' the house together with my parents, two brothers, a
sister and niece, and took refuge in the house belong-
ing to the woman, named Hoosainee Oomrao, and on
her suggestion removed all our property to the house ©
also during the night;on the next morning, this
woman turaed usout of her house, and took charge I
of all our property. At first we went townrds mouzs b
Mohomdeea, but not finding any place to take refuge
[ in, we came to the parade ground about 8§ o'clock
b, z in the night, and saw-the bungalows all in flames,
' My father and eldest brother were proceeding a little -
1 in advance of our party, and the two of them went E
2 towards our bungalow to seck some kind of shelter i
l for the night, and my brother-in-law brought us all
sgain to the woman Hoossinee Oomrao’s house, r
thinking that by eotreating her she might allow us
to put up at her house during the night; but on =
reaching it, found that she would not permit us to 4
remain there; we were therefore obliged to return
J towards our bungalow, hoping to find refuge along "
I with my brother and futher, but to our great disap. "ll
pointment we could not find either of them there,

: .
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Leaving this place, we proceeded towards the city,
and reaching the toddy godowns met a woman,
named Kurbullae, who had been in our employ ; we
spoke to her to procure us lodgings; she took us to
Hossein Buksh tailor's house, and placed us there.
This man, for the sake of the woman, kept us in his
house for three or four days. But after this a procla-
mation was issued by the mutineers to the effect
that if any one was found harbouring Christians, he
and his family would be put to death; on which
Hossein Buksh desired us to accompany him to
another house, as he said that we were not safe in his ;
he brought us to a house in Colonelgunj and
left us there, when after a short time the peaple of
that mohullah surrounded the house, armed with
clubs and demanded of us to quit the house; being
foreed to leave the place, we went to o musjid near the
Subadar’s Tank, and there found a moulvie, whom
we bogged and prayed to shelter us. He asked us
whether we would turn Mussulmans; we replied in
the affirmative, when he told us to seat ourselves, and
assured us that we would be safe ; a short time after,
a8 Mussulman sepoy came there, and rebuked the
moulvie for having Christians seated near him, and
drew his sword on me, when I threw myself at his
feet and told him that I was not s Christian, but a
Mussulman Mogul, and begged of him not to kill me,
but to carry me to the Nana ; after which he took us
all to the Nana. We had proceeded but a short way,
when a gang of budmash villagers met us, who made
a clamouring, saying that we were Christians; we all
denied this fact, and stated that we are Moguls; they
surrounded us, and carried ns away to the Nans,
and reported to him that they had brought some
Christian prisoners. The Nana hearing this, gave an
order for us fo be killed; but when I begged to be
allowed to plead for myself, the sepoys and villagers
would not allow me to do so, when a person mounted
on horseback, whose name I do not know, questioned



s a5 to who we were. I told him that we were
Mussulman Moguls ; hn:ppund‘thnnpummrl took

us to the Nana, and told him that we were
Huuulmuﬂaguhhﬂnngrhnhhtwdmdmhh

confined at the kotwalee awaiting enquiry; we were

brought to the kotwalee, and made over to Holnss
Sivgh, kotwal ; whannﬂwmydtm[blggadhﬂ
ufthuknhal,nnd told him that I was in great
mmy,mdanquudufhmngnthngml‘nu Hs
pitied us, and asked us if we would turn Mussulman,

I vold him that we were Moguls ; but if he desired it,
“wﬂuldhenmuﬂumimn-mdnmu heuing

this, he wrote a note and delivered it to a peon, and

charged him to carry us to Moulvie Sulamut-colah,

who asked us who we were. I replied that we were

Haguh.mdlhntwhudhmnmgfully taken

up on suspicion ; when he told me that we were

Christians, and consulting with a number of other

men seated round him, said that it was not right to

kill women, but it would be best to have them married ;-
and with regard to myself and my brother, stated
that we should be put to death. After this he had

some shurbut prepared, and told us that we were not
true Mussulmans, but had become so from fear, and
we were sent back again to the kotwalee. When the
Earopean troops arrived and the mutineers com-
mmddupmmg.nmmﬂﬂhuhw formerly

' in my employ, came and released me, and took me

away to his house;, thus I was saved. I do pot
recollect anything further, a long time having paasad
since the ocenrrence,

Question—Did you ever give Yyour deposition elsewhere ?
Answer——Yes, before the J udge; and my mother and sister also

gave their depositions there.

Question—Have you there given an account of Moulvie Sulnmut-

oolah’s proceedings ?

Answer—1 do wot remember whether I have done so or not,

Should I have been questionad, I must have related
it; for at the time of giving my deposition, I was

&
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questioned very frequently, and if at that time T was
questioned regarding Sulamut-oolsh, I must have
givén an account,

Question— Where is the woman named Hoosainee Oomran now ?

Answer——She is deceased, but her sister is here.

Question—Did you observe well Moulvie Sulamut-oolah, and
those that were with him 7

Answer—1I observed the moulvie well, but did not recognise any
of those with him, as there were a great many. I
was also much confused at the time, but knew the
moulvie, from the frequent mention made of him by
the people around him., My youngest brother, my
mother and sister were with me.

Question—When you were taken to the Nana, how did yon
recognise him as being that person ?

Answer——He was seated on a seaffold, erected on the plain near
the Savada house, under a tree, and had a golden
chain round his neck: he had numercus attendants,
and all the people there called him the Nana Sahib,

Question—Where is your father now 7

Answer—He and my eldest brother, together with my brother-
in-law, have been massacred,

Question—What else did you observe during these disturbances ?

Ansiver—-I do not recollect all that I saw ; and those concerned
in the massicre of my father have been punished.

Question—Where is Hossein Buksh, the tailor, now ?

Answer—1I do not know where he is.

—_—

No. 11—Deposition of Ewus Khan, trooper, End Cavalry, son of
Bahadoor Ali Khan, age 33 years.

Question—1In your petition, dated 2nd December 1858, sent to
Major Williams, Commissioner, Military Police, you
have given the following account: that on the
10th May 1857 the troops mutinied at Meerut,
and that news of the same reached Cawnpore by
telegraph, from which period the sepoys and troopers of
Cawnpore talked of breaking out, fntimation of which
you gave to Adjutant Manderson on 5th June 1857 ;
aud also of their having held a consultation on the
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4th June 1857, mghhﬂmﬂﬂmghh
and murder the Europeans and plunder the treasury;
on which intimation, all the Europeans repaired ‘o
the entrenchments, and slept there during the night,
Yonmwwmquﬁhdmlhhwhumthump
leaders in this movement ?

Answer—The foremost in this consultstion were Shumsh-

ocod-deen Khao, Sheikh Boolaqee, Sirdar Beg, lhl
Singh, and others whose names I do not remember,
The meetings were held at Shumsh-cod-deen's hnnﬂ._i
and sometimes at the house of Tecka Ram Singh,
o subadar of the cavalry. Seven or eight days prior to
the outbreak, Joalla Pershad, an agent of the Nana,
visited Gopal Siogh, havildar-major. 1 saw this
person, and also heard that Kootab-ood-deen, a trooper
of the 5th troop, 2nd Cuavalry, was in the habit of
visiting the Nana. On the 4th June, all the troopers
sent away their families and property to the city. I
gave intimation of all thesa proceedings to the
Adjutant.

Question—Can you state to whom nndtnwhmhphuumthemty,

the troopers sent away their families and property ?

Angwer—1I do not remember the names of any persops, On the N

evening of the 4th June, the 1st Cavalry and 1st
Regiment, Native Infantry, broke out; I went and
gave notice of this to the Adjutaut at the entrench-
ments. At gunfire in the morning the officers of the
cavalry came to their lines, and took away to the
entrenchments the horses, arms and furniture which
had escaped plunder. A little later on the morning

of the same day, the 53rd and 56th Regiments broke
out. Iand Sheikh Azim-oollah, sepoy, together with
Bhowanee Singh, subadar-major, Mahboob-oolah Khan,

Bukltawur Singh, havildars, Kadirdad Khan, Abdool
Rehman Khan, sowars, and Mirza Bakur Hossein,
native doctor, went to the officers in the entreuch-
ments,

Question—At the time you came from the entrenchments ta B

the cavalry lines with the offivers, who took away the

w

"~ ol
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remnant of their property, how was Bhowanee Singh,
subadar-major, situated ?

Ansuwer—He was wounded, as he refused to give up the colours
of the regiment to the sepoys who had mutinied ;
I heard that Dabee Singh, a trooper, had wounded
him ; the subadar-major also told me so.

Question—What oceurred in the entrenchments after this 7

Answer—The fight was going on, and I remained on tha battery
opposite the church, under Major White, After
about 23 days, a consultation was held between Major-
General Wheeler and the Nana, and it was decided
that all the Europeans should be allowed to procead
to Allababad ; an agreement on oath to this effect was
drawn up. One of the Nana's agents, named Azime
collah, who spoke English, accompanied by another
old lady, came once or twice to the entrenchments,
on the subject of this agreement, I saw them from
a distance. The day after this ngreement was drawn
up, & number of conveyances were brought to the
entrenchments, Many of the gentlemen on leaving
the entrenchmonts were mounted, others were on foot.
I had no sooner come out of the entrenchments with
the gentlemen, than T was taken prisoner by the
cavalry troopers, who ill-treated me, and confined me
in the city kotwalee, Mahboob-solla and Bukhtawnr
Singh, havildars, were also taken up with me and put
m-the kotwalee. I remained there for ten or twelve
days, after which I was relessed. When T had left
the entrenchments, I hoard that tha Europeans, who
had come out of it, were about leaving the station on
boats, when the mutineers setting fire to the boats,
fired musketry and cannon at them, On the other
side of the river, the 17th Native Infantry had placed
themselves with guns, which they fired on the boats,
and thus the Europeans, both male and female, were
massacred, except some Iadies and children, who had
escaped the slanghter, and were brought prisoners
and confined in the Savada house, One of the boats
managed to push off, intimation of which was given
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to therebels by the people of Nujufgurh, when thres
hmpunl‘umhy.ﬁwmmpm’uarinﬁmj. and two
guns wero sent after them, who having sucoeeded in_ g
capturing the bost massacred all that were in jbt, ]
Lﬂuthﬁ.rhenlmnluﬂdﬁhmthubm. 1
I took away my mhlmwhnwnhnm,lnﬂw'- !
to Bareilly. !

Question—When you left the entrenchments in company with the
Empuu,mdwmhkmphmmdidmhmw
account of Colonel Ewart of the 1st Regiment, Native
Infintry ?

Answer—Yes, 1 heard that the mutineers of the 1st Regiment
made a prisoner of him, and after making him go

- thmughnmoutpnmdapmrdemd him,

Question—Did you see or hear of any lady being broughs away by
a sownr from the river side 1

Ansiver—Yes, I heard that a sowar, named Nizam Ali Khan,
had carried away on  horseback Major-General
Wheeler's youngest daughter.

Question—Did you hear what became of this lady ?

Answer—1I heard nothing abont her.

Qndion—ﬂfwhﬂphmmﬂinm.&liﬂlnamﬁdmﬂ .

Answer—Of Rampore. =

Question—Give a correct description of the sowar 7 ,

Anm—HmthﬂiKhm,Mmrﬁm of Rampore, =
age 22 or 23 years, a fair complexion, height about

Question—Do you know what oecurred whils you were in I
" confinement 7 ‘

Answer—When I was in confinement, T heard that all Eoropeans
coming from other stations were massacred, and on 1
two or three ooccasions several perons of fhir come
plexion were taken up on suspicion ; but when it was
proved that they were not Christians, they wera
released. s

Question—After your release from confinement, how long did you
remain.at Cawnpore 7

Answer—=Only one day, and during the whole of that day I
remained concealed at my mother's,



Question—Where did your mother live, and in whose house ?

Answer—I do not recollect the mohullah she resided in: she
lived in a tobacconist's house, whose name I do not
recollect, but I can enquire about this and let you
kunow.

Question—When you were in the entrenchments, did you see
Gobind Singh, drill naick, Sheikh Elahee, musician
and Ghonse Mohomed, sepoy of the 56th Regiment
Native Infantry ?

Answer—1I do not know these persons, nor recollect having seen
them,

Question—Do you know Mr. Foss of the railway, who was known
amongst the natives as Furlain Salib 7

Answer—Yes, I know him, as Iuﬂdtnmhimm:pam
Kurreem Buksh, and Kurreem-oollah, troopers of the
cavalry I belonged to.

Question—Did you ever sec this gentleman in the entrenchments ?

Answer—Yes, I saw him once or twice.

Question—As you are an old resident of Cawnpore, and must have
known a great number of people there, state how you
saw any of them engaged ?

"y Answer—I was imprisoned, and could not see anything, but heard

. that Azimoollah was the Nana's agent; and another
moonshee, a Mussulman, who resided near Ram Na-

' rain’s bazar, was one of Azimoollah's attendants: T do

not remember his name, he was tehseeldar of Jnjmow,
. and often visited the kotwalee; I was also told that
I Nunney Nuwab was fighting at the battery erected
'E near the racket court, whilst I was in the entrench-
ments; I hearditeaid that the Nuwab was fight-
eI ing against the Europeans, and once Adjntant Man-
| o derson, who was well acquainted with the Nuwab, was

| B also heard to remark this.
al Question—Did you hear of, or see, any one else engaged in the

fight ?

Answer—1I do not recollect the names of any other persons,

Question—You have stated in your deposition that a Mussulman

. moonshee, residing in Ram Narain's bazar at Cawn-

- pore, was Azimoollal's sgent ; can you tell me what

p his name was ?
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Question—Do you know where this person is now ?

Answer—At Cawnpors. Moonshee Vilayet Alj, employed by
Captain Fane, Commandant of Cawnpore police, told
me that he had heard that Quzie Ismail bad given

’s himself up to some of the authorities, but did no

' meuntion at which station,

Question—Do you know where Qazie Ismail's family is ?

- Angwer—1I do not know, but he was an old resident of Cawnpore.

Bt - Quﬂiﬂﬂ—ﬂmmnmmhnwthnt%hnﬂm.&ﬁmr

F oollah's agent ? -
Answer—When I was confined in the kotwalea at Cawnpore, T
saw the Qazie frequently in Azimaollah's company, and
1 they both visited the kotwales together. ™
. Question—What appointment did Azimoollah hold under the
Nana?
n Answer——Azimoolluh was the Nana’s agent, and superintended
! all the operations of the tronps and treasury,

g Question—Do you hhinkthaﬁuiahdmyp-ninthcmpu&utem

dence exercised by Azimoolah ?
A Answer——As Azimoollah had the entire control of all ‘the Nana's
i mmtha%amthiﬁpﬂwn’algant,hummﬁ
' certainly have known of all the doings.
[. Mian-ﬂmymminmnﬁnmﬂ.dﬂmnemrm

m-m&ﬂﬁﬁﬁaﬂmint&umqm =

as the Quzie ?
Answere=—I1 was in confinement, and therefora could not seo any
: one, but was told that Ahmed Al Khan, a vakeel
of the Judge's court at Cawnpore, had also o hand in
the superintendence exercised by Azimoollah ; T alsg
. heard that Sheik Manjo, a ressaldar in the Nana's
cavalry, also participated in this superintendence,
Question—What is the name of the tobacconist in whose house
N you resided at Cawnpore ? :
[ Answer—His name was Lalloo; he is since dead, but the ge.
| . ceased’s son, Kulloo, is here.
L- Question—Do you kuow Munnowur Shah and Al Shah, troopers
. of the 2nd Cavalry 7
|

a

Answer—His name was Qusis Tsmail; he resided in Amadah
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Answer—-Yea,

Question—When you were in confinement at Cawnpore, did you

ever see these persons ?

Answer—-1 do not remember having seen them.

Question—0f which places, are these two persons residents ?

Answer—Munnowur Shah was & resident of Allshabad, and a

recroit in the 2nd Cavalry. I do not remember the
name of his village, and Ali Shah was a resident of
Rampore; I do not recollect the name of the mohul-
Inh he lived in, and Nizam Ali Khan belonged to the
5th troop, 2nd Cavalry,

No. 12.—Deposition of Bhola Khan, sepoy, 53rd Regiment, Native
Infantry—At 2 o'clock in the morning of the 5th June, the 2nd Light
Cavalry and 1st Native Infantry mutinied. The cavalry was led by
Teekn Singh, subadar, who, with about 50 sowars, was on picquet duty
near the entrenchments. He led his party towards Monalgunj, setting
fire to everything he came across A gun was now fired from the
entrenchment, on which the Europeans and Christians made for that
place, the sound of a single gun having been the preconcerted signal of
danger. All the officers of my regiment were present with the regi.
ment with their respective companies, till about 6 A of the 5th June,
The 53rd Native Infantry and 56th Native Infantry remained in readiness
on their parade grounds from 2 to 6 o'clock Ay, when they were dismis-
sed by their officers to go and refresh themselves, About 8 i, all
the native commissioned and non-commissioned officers of the 53¢d
Native Infantry were called by their Major into the entrenchment,
when both regiments were dismissed ; the sepoys of the light company
of the 53rd, and of the grenadier company of the 56th (their lines ad-
joined each other), concocted a plot for the seizure of the regimental
colours and treasure. This intention of theirs was not generally known
till carried out.

A subadar, by name Bhowun, of the 53rd, was on duty at the
quarter-guard, He resisted the attempts of the men of the light
company to carry off the treasure, saying they should not have it while
he lived to protect it ; a sepoy on this fired at him ; the bullet did not
take effect. During this altercation three round shots were fired from
the entrenchment, and fell in the lines of the 53nd. On this the regi-
ment fled, with the exception of a few men, who concealed themselves
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in the lines and in adjacent nullah. After a short time, Jugger Nauth N
Ajha, havildar-major of the 53rd, went to the Adjutant’s bungalow to “
report the flight of the sepoys. Not finding him there, he went to the L
entrenchment. The Adjutant then asked if there wore any men in the -
lines ! On being answered in the affirmative, he ordered the bavildr- s
major to collect and bring them to the entrenchment. The havildare -
major accordingly went to the lines, and collecting all that had remains ]
ed, numbering some 85 men, perhaps took them to the entrenchment
without arms, &e. Arrived at the gate, the Major and Adjutant eame - {

out and enquired if there were no more that had not joined the rebels?

I replied, that I believed there wers some hiding in the nullah. Hear- d
ing this, Lientenant Delafosse and Licutenant Masters mounted and |
rode towards the nullah, taking a bugler with them. Seventeen more
men were got together on this way, The Major now ordered us to
bring in all the arms and accoutrements left in his lines, and gave us
five or six carts for the purpose. We accordingly did so. On reaching
tho entrenchment, the Major enquired where our own srms were? Wa
told him they were also on the earts, that we foarod to wear them lest
the Europeans should fall upon us. He then told ts to retain our arma.
The Major having gone to enquire of General Wheeler regarding what
we ware to do, the latter came out and ordered us to oconpy the hose
pital barracks ; we said in such a building we could not manage to save ‘
our lives, as the round shot would reach us from all sides The Gene- i
ral telling us there was no fear, and recommending us to look after the
rear of the building, returned with the Major to the entreuchment, He
caine, I omitted to say, and inspected the barrack, A short time after
thln,nwerunutﬁ:r,mﬂorﬂemdtnhﬂngmmendunﬁnmm ;
magazine, a distance of about half a mile from the barrack. We went « 5
there, and breaking the lock, loaded seven carts with ammunition, and
brought them to the entrenchment; after this we returned to the
barmek.

About this time, Kullunder Singh, 6th tompany, 63rd Native In- -
fantry, who was on paymaster's treasure guard, came to the General, B
and reported that the Nana had plundered the treasury.

On the morning of the 6th, the Major finding we had no money,
sent us Company's Rs. 400 by the hand of Ram Buksh Doobey, and
ordered us to lay in four or five days' provisions. When we wers
buying food in the bazar we heard the report of guns, which we were
told were firing on the Nunney Nuwal's house. We hastened to the

e P
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barracks, and on arriving there, were met by thre oficers of our

regiment, with a sergeant of artillery, and twelve native ganuers, who
desired us to endeavour to bring four guns lying ora the ground inside
the entrenchment. We did our utmost, but finding the task too
much for us, we spiked two guns, and drawing the platforms inside the
entrenchment, returned to our barmcks. The enemy opened fire on
the entrenchment about 12 o’clock AM. of the 6¢h Fune. On the
evening of the 9th or 10th, a hot round shot fell o ar barrack, and
get it on fire. On this we left it, and concealed omrselress for the night
in o nullah, not distant, Next morning we went to s willage named
Poorwa, about a mile east of the barracks. The momindar of the
village not allowing us to enter, we went intoa mangr grove, dlose by,
After this, our party broke up in different directions. I went in the
direction of Jajmow alone; some distance further om, m ¥ musket was
taken from me by villagers.

After this, I begged my way to Benares, vhers I stayed only
8 short time. Hearing that an English force was girag up towards
Cawnpore, 1 went to Allahabad. On the day the the fight at
Futtehpore took place, T reached Khaja, where miking the aequaine
tance of a cart driver attached to the English carop,I sompanisd him
to Cawnpore. Some time afterwards I was recognised by Lieutenant
Thomson, At this time 1 was working as a coolie.

The commanding officer, after the Meerut outhrest, hud a parade
almost cvery day. The sepoys often said, “Shoud the whole army
mutiny, we never shall” I knéw of no intention of mu tiny cxisting
whatever up to the time of the outbreak. :

About quarter of an hour before the regiment mastinied, four or
five sepoys of the 56th Regimemt (the grenadier conpany of which
was next to our light one)eame into the line of thelust-mentioned
company, and entered into conversation with Bincls Pundey, kote
havildar; and Madho Misser (Pulwan) sepoy, bth of the light
company. They kept well out of hearing of every o else, Soon
after this, the two men just named shouted *Bum Mhadeo! Tyar
ho bahadoor The havildar immedintely scized the treasure chest,

the sepoy the colours,. This ocourred at about 10§ delok Ay, and all

the officers were in the entrenchment. A subada, “mmed Bhowun,
sitempted to save the colours, but was at once ovrpovered. Three
ghots having been fired into the sepoys’ lines foom thye fort, the
regiment dispersed,
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I have since heard Dulgunjun Singh jemadar’s name mentioned

as commandant of the mutinied regiment.

We held the barracks (hospital) from the 5th to the Bth, or 10th;

we left because the house caught fire from the enemy’s shot. 1 believe
the ghot was wrapped in some inflammable material, which catching
the thatched roof, soon became a blaze, d

One man only, by name Seeta Ram Pandey, was wounded. He wha
not hit inside the hospital. I ecan only reeolleet the names of the
commissioned and non-commissioned officers, and with the exception
of Ram Buksh Doobey, I have met no one since who was with me
in the hospital; nor do I know whether any of that party reside near
Cawnpore or not, I heard little about the massacre at Cawnpore.
Bimply the fact of its having occurred; I had the house pointed oud
to me where it ocourred. I did not hear by whose hands, whether
sepoys or others, the women were killed. I heard that Miss Wheeler
had killed nine men before throwing herself into a well, but did not
hear a single word mare about her, nor where this cccurred.

No, 13.—Deposition of Ram Buksh, pay havildar, 53rd Regi-
ment, Native Infuntry.—The 2nd Light Cavalry mutinied on the 5th
June. In the moming at 6 o'clock I was called by the Adjutant to
read the present state. When vearly half the papor was finished,
Seeta Ramn Pandey, kote havildar, 4th company, 53rd Regiment, came up
weeping. The Adjutant asked him what was the cause ; when he said
that a party of the 5th and light companies had fled with eolours and
treasure, that then the remainder of the regiment came on the parnde
ground of the grenadier company with the intention of joining the
Europeans in the entrenchment. At this time three round shots were
sent among them from the entrenchment, They stood too, but fled on
the third discharge, with the exception of nine havildars, five naicks,
and 22 sepoys. The native officers, with one exception, were in the
entrenchment,

When I and Seeta Ram Pandey reached the entrenchment, Major
Hilerson ordered us to convey all the arms and accontrements of the
sick, and of men on furlough, loaded on the artillery carts, to the
entrenchment, When we reached the lines of our regiment, we, with
those who had not run away, put the arms, &ec., on the earts, and drove
them to the entrenchment. The whole party nccompanied the carts
without arms. Arrived there, the Major ordered us to unload the
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carts, but oceupy the hospital barracks (there being no room in the
entrenchment), with a promise that armngements would be made for
our subsistence. Soon after Rs. 400 were distributed amongst us
by the Major's orders. On the 2ud day, at 10 o'clock A.a¢, Licatenant
Masters, Lieutenant Burgsss, Lieutenant Thomson, and Lientenant
Delafosse came to the hospital barrack and told us that each of us
would receive Rs. 100 if we would place some guns lying on the
ground on the platforms, We immediatel y came out, and endeavoured
to do 80 ; but finding we could not manage it, we spiked the gons, and
drawing the platforms to the entrenchment, returned to the barracks,
The barracks caught fire about 4 o'clock P, on the Oth or 10th.
The Major then told us he could do nothing for us, there being an
order of General Wheeler prohibiting any native from entering the
entrenchment. He therefore recommended us to provide for eur own
safety, and made over a certificate to me, in which the names of all the
men of the 53rd, who were in the barracks, are mentioned. The whole
party then left the hospital barracks. I loaded all the régimental
records on a eart given me by the Major, and drove it in the direetion
of my village; the cart was however seized near a village called
Phoofwar near which the rail passes.

I then went to my home in village Tikrya, pergunnah Sadhsalam.-
pore, in the Cawnpore district. I knew of no plotting before the
mutiny on the 10th May. The Major often said, * Should there be any
intention on the part of Government to christianize you, I shall be the
firsh to tell you,” That morning, the 5th June, I went to the
Adjutant’s house on duty ; he was absent when the mutiny commenced ;
however [ afterwards heard that Dulgnnjun Singh, jemadar, 4th
company, who was on the treasury guard, took a leading part. In my
opinion, from what I afterwards learned, a few men of the Gtith
Regiment, who eame to our lines and reproached these men for remains
ing innctive, were the immediate cause of the mutiny, With the
exception of Dulgunjun Singh, I heard no man's name mentioned as
* leader after, or instigator of, the mutiny.

We went to the hospital on the 5th, and held it until the 9th or
10th. We left because the building was fired by the enemy's round
shot, fired from several directions. I do not know what sort of shot
it was that fired the hospital; the roof was a thatched one ; we loft
about 6 P3.  Only Secta Ram was wounded, but I believe his wound
Was received after leaving, There were six subadars, four jemadars,
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nine havildars, six naicks, and twenty-two sepoys of my regiment;
their names I guve to Captain Thomson, but do not recollect them all
now. There were a good many of the 56th and 1st Regiments, Native
Infantry, but the numbers of both did not equal that of the 53rd.

On leaving the hospital, they all broke up in different directions.
I went to my home, 16 miles from Cawnpore ; I believe that most of our
party went to their homes, 1 have been told that two subadars wera
killed across the Ganges by villagers ; I also heard that on the defeat of
the rebels at Fultehpore, the women and children in confinement at
Cawnpore were killed ; but I neither heard by whose order, nor by
whose hands. I also heard that a daughter of Genernl Wheeler's had
killed nine men, and then thrown hersell into a well. I did not hear
where this occurred, nor do I know anything of the circumstances under
which she did so.

I know next to nothing of what occurred at this time, notwith-
standing my vicinity to Cawnpore; I was in strict concealment, and
never ventured outside my door, |

No. 14.—~Depositions of Gobind Singh, Sheik Elahee Buksh, and
Ghouse Mohomed.—We were with the 56th Native Infantry, when it
mutinied at Cawnpore in June 1857, Jann Mohomed, a sepoy of the
8th company, 56th Native Infantry, was accused of inciting the sowars
of the Znd Cavalry, by stating that they would all be blown away from
guns; this was in May, between the 15th and 20th ; there was then
a disturbance in the 2nd Cavalry, (Jaun Mohomed wns confined, but
escaped from the entrenchments) We felt sure that the 2nd Cavalry
would mutiny, |

The 50th were well disposed; they told the Colonel, that though
all other regiments might mutiny, yet they would be true. The
Colonel and officers slept amongst the men. A tent was pitched by
the sepoys’ pauls; (the new lines were not finished.) At 2 s of the
5th June, the 2nd Cavalry and 1st Regiment, Native Infantry, left their
lines, the sowars set fire to the litter of their horses, so that there was
a great light. The Colonel ordered the 56th to get under arms, and
we remained till daybreak. We then went to the cavalry lines, and
collected about 100 horses, Subadar-Major Bhowany Singh, of the
2ud Cavalry, was wounded in the head and arms by the mutineers : ho
refused to allow them to take the colours and treasure belonging to his
regiment ; he was a brave and true man; we heard that he said to the

-
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mutingers, he would only obey and serve Government : he was aftore
wards killed in the entrenchments. About 10 a. . of the 5th June,
# Sowar came to the 53rd Regiment and said thai the company of their

corps on gunrd over the collector's treasury had refused to allow ﬂm..
treasure to he taken away till their own regiment joined, The 53rd

then assembled, upon which two shots were firad into their lines from
the entrenchments, and one in the direction of the tents of the grenas
dier company of the 56th Natjve Infantry, A sepoy of this company,
named Gunga Raie, a Bhat, said they would all be killed ; on this the
men fled, with the exception of some tweaty, We then went to the
entrenchments, and wera employed all day in bringing the spare arms
and ammunition from the Savada house. Yes, there were other sepoya
who wished to join their officers in the entrenchments, I do net know
their names, but they belonged to the regiments at Cawnpore ; I think
about 80 or 100; they were told to hold the artillery hospital. We
were allowed to remain in the eéntrenchments ; Colonel W—rgot the
General’s permission ; thers was jemadar Khoda Buksh of the Erenas
diors, now adjutant of military police ; sepoys Gobind Singh and Ghotise
Mohomed, and Elahee Buksh, musicinn. These have all been promoted
in the military police. The native doctor Sahibdad Khan, also sepoy
Mitter Jeet, but we have not seen him sinee wa escaped from jadl.
Yes, thern were some men of the 2 Cavalry in the entrenchments ; the
subadar-major Bhowany Singh~1I do not know the names of the rest 3
but there was, T think, a havildar, a drill naick, and two or three soWnrs,
These men fled when the barracks were set on fire ; the Imhnﬂ.ur-mnjur
was killed ; whilst in the Savada house, we heard from the sowars of tha
2nd Cavalry that they had some men of their eorps as prisoners, They
might have been these men. The first shot was fired about 10 A,
of the 8th June, and an attack was made on the entrenchments by the
mutineers, aided by a large body of budmashes from the eity, but they
were ropulsed. From this date the firing continued daily, and often
during the whole night till the 24th of June, On that day a native
Christinn woman brought anote for General Wheeler ; this was returned,
and shortly after a hurkara brought a second note. The General then
met o party seut by the Nana, and entered into negociations to give up
the guns and treasure, and the Nana was to provide carriage for us to
o to Allabatad. T am not sure whether the meeting took place the
same day, or the day after the notes were received. One of our party,
Ghouse Mohomer), was ordered by General Wheeler to ga to the city and
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gain information of the proceedings of the rebals: he loft the nighs
before the notes came from the Naoa. In the evening, after the mest-
ing, two officers went to the ghat to see the boats. We were ready to
move on the 26th, but no carriage eame. At sunset, the guns and treas
Bure were given over to a party sent by the Nana. Early on the mom-
ing of the 2Tth, hackeries, bylees, two or three palkies, and some
elephants were sent to the entrenchments. We were allowed to take
our arms, and had 60 rounds in pouch. The ladies and children wers
on hackeries and bylees, the General was on an clephant, the officers and
Europeans fullowed, the sowars and sepoys escorted us,—there was an
enorrmous crowd, men from the city and villages ; many of these rushed
into the entrenchments as we left, and began to carry away the property.
Colovel W was not with us,he was one of the first who died from
exposure to the sun; I think it was on the 9th, and one of the daughters
also died in the entrenchments. I heard she was killed by a shot, or
fall of part of the roof. Mrs. W——and Her two danghters I saw when
we left the entrenchments. We were next to Captain Kempland and
Lieutenant Goad. Whilst passing the 56th mess-house, some sepoys
seized Khoda Buksh and Elahee Buksh, and shortly afterwards Gobind
Singh, Mitter Jeet Singh, and the native doctor Sahibdad Ehan, wera
seized by the mutineers ; Licutenant Goad said the ngreemont was thab
we were to accompany them, but they took us away, Jemadar Khoda
Buksh and Elahee Buksh were taken to the mess-house of the 56th,
where subadar Meer Ali Buksh, of the light company, was on guard.
There was a battery of five guns there, with some Golundages ; Meer
Ali Buksh was callod major ; he told the sepoys that we ought to have
been killed, and not taken prisoners; we had become Christians, The
pay havildar of the 6th company (I forget his name, he was lately
promoted,) with four sepoys were ordered to take us to the Nana. He
was in a tent pitched in the garden of the Savada honse, the kanants
were open, and we saw the Nana sitting ; he was of a light complexion,
and had on a large white turban. The havildars said that wa had
been taken prisoners, that jemadar Khoda Buksh was a ringleader,
that he had gone to Umballa, bit the cartridges, and caused all this
disturbance, The Nana ordered us to be confined in the quarter-guard
of our regiment. Gobind Singh and Mitter Joet were also bronght
to the quarter-guard as prisoners; we were severcly beaten by the
mutineers. Subadar Gunga Deen, of the grenadiers, took the

command of the regiment, and was styled colonel. I only saw Lim -
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once, when ho abused us ; said we were Christians, About a quarter
of an hour after we were made prisoners, we heard heavy firing in the
direction of the river; we heard the sepoys say they were killing the
Europeans. The next morning (28th) we were taken to the Savada
house ; we were confined in the room on the right hand as ¥you enter
from the east. I only saw one of the Colonel’s daughters, the one that
rode on horseback ; she spoke one day to jemadar Khoda Buksh: she
said that God would help us all, I also saw Mrs. Prout and the
European servant, the sergeant-major and quartermaster-sergeant’s
wives, Mrs, Cook, the wife of a drummmer. I do not know the names of
any other lndies; those of my own corps I recognised. The ladies
bad their own clothes, but they were dirty and tarn. No, they were
not ill-treated, except, by being confined : they were allowed to come
out into the veranda. The sepoys were not allowed to speak to them,
I heard this was by Aszeemoollab’s orders; the' wives of Christinn
drummers attended on them; they got food twice a day, dal and
chuppatees. Our guards were sepoys from different copps, chiefly
men of the Gth Native Infantry. I only know the names of Yusuf
Khan, a jemadar ; and Gunga Singh, a naick ; these used to change
our guards; with the exception of taking sentry, the men did as they
liked. No, they did pot dress in uniform. The day after we were
taken to the Savada house or the following day, we heard that a
pumber of Europeans, who had escaped down the river, had been
brought back and shot; we heard it was by the Naon’s orders, the
women and children were sent into the Savada house. We never saw
the Nann or Tantia at the Savada house ; a salute was once fired, ba
it was when he left for Bithoor, Yes, there was an indigo planter and
his family in the Savada house. We beard that he had given the
Nana o lac of rupees to save his life. We never heard of any ladies
being taken awsny from the Savada house, whilst confined in the
quarter-guard of the 56th Regiment, Elahee Buksh saw asowar earry-
ing o lndy on his horse; she bad oo a green dress, her legs were
hanging over one side of the horse, and the sowar held her with oné
nrm ; we heard that it was General Wheeler's youngest danghter, and
afterwands that she had killed the sowar, and thrown herself into a

* well. This was the report amongst the sepoys. One day after the lsh

of July we were taken from the Savada house in a cart to a house in
cantonment, called the Beebeegurh. We were confined in an oute

* bowe, the ladies were in the largs house. On the 6th or Tth,a
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- was a Christian, and a drummer from one of the Oudh regiments. The
next morning we were all taken to the Naoa. He lived in the hotel -

i

in the next compound; our hands were tied behind our backs by
meohtors; we geverally had only one haud tied to a long rope. The
Nana and Azeemoollah were seated on chairs in the veranda; a
chuprassee asked our names, caste, &e. ThaHmmduwduubg
taken away and shot. Aszeemoollah whispered in the Nana's ear, and
then we were ordered to be put in irons, and the Christisn drummer
was taken to the next compound by a eouple of sepoys, who shot him.
The men about the Nana were his own guards; we were kept under
a tree the whole day, and then taken back to the out-house, as the
irons were not ready ; the next morning we were put in irons, and sen
to the old jail. Our guards were the former jail guard; they had
black belts and flint muskets ; there were some 300 prisoners, villagers

.
-

‘and others ; we do not know who they were At night we got about

a chittack of gram, nothing more. After being in jail five or six daye,
one of our guards, who had a brother in the 56th, told us that the
pative officers of our corps had decided by brigade court-martial, thas

our noses and right hands were to be cut off, and we should then bo -,'|

released, as a warning to all others for being faithful to Earopeans.

The day that we were to have been punished, the mutineers marched

to moet the British troops from Allahabad; we heard  that the
Earopeans had come to Futtehpore; the day after that we saw the

‘mutineers flying, the jail guards also fled, and ab sunset there were -

only four or five of them left.
Athjhukmmngﬁnpmﬂdthmhm

" that if left in jail the Europeans would kill every man; the gnurds

broke the locks and set us all free ; in the evening we joined Genernd
Havelook’s force.  Yes, we heard that the ladies had ali been killed;
the jail guards said that the men of the city, the sowars and sepoya
bad killed them.

Ghouse Mohomed, who left the entrenchments, deposes that at

General Wheeler's roquest be loft to guin information of the procesds TN

ings of the rebels. At 8 P one night, he crept along the ground
from Captain Moore's picket to the cavalry hospital; there he met
two or three men with eight bullocks who had taken bhoosa to the
Bavada house: he told them that his brother, who wns in Feeds
Hoossein’s regiment, (Feeda Hoossein had come over from Lucknow
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and commanded n battery close to the barracks), was dead, and he was
going to the city to buy the grave clothes, He thus got to Colonel-
gunj, where his wife was in a bheestee’s house, was secreted there some
days, but was obliged to leave on the rebels searching for him, and
then was concealed in an empty honse belonging to a mahajun. Heard
that all the Europeans had been massacred at the Sutbee Choura ghat.
An Aheer subudar of the 17th Native Infantry came to the Nana; he
was posted on the opposite bank with the corps, they had guns and
sowars with them, The 17th Native Infantry had plundered the Azimgurh
treasury, und part of the treasure was taken from them at Lucknow,
and therefore they came to Cawnpore; the Aheer subadar implicitly
obeyed the Nana's orders, others did ot ; only heard this, also heard
that a lady had been taken away by a sowar, whom she killed, and
she then jumped iuto & well. The Nava had isswed orders by beat
of tom-tom that ull European women and  children were to be given
up. Heard of the massacre of the ladies and children, Overheard a
Jemadar, who was posted with eight chuprassees near his house to
intercept letters, talking about it. The Jemadar said that Azeemoollah
had applied to Moulvie Sulamutoollab whether it was lawful to kill
the women and children, and he decided against the massacre ; bug
the Nana would not listen to reason, This was in the morning,
and they were killed in the evening. The jemadar was a Hindoo, Yos,
my servant remained with me in the entrenchments, and was killed
by cannon. No, very few of the servants remained ; they almast all
flod when the barrack was burnt ; some fow remained,

No. 15—Deposition of Khoda Buz, Senior Native Officer, fth
Battalion, MHilitary Police, late Subadar, 56th Regiment, Native I
Jantry—On the Tth of May 1857, after the target practice at the Um-
balla Depot, I camie and joined my regiment at Cawnpoor; I heard
from people (outsiders) that the cavalry horses were to be shot, that
Europeans were eoming from England, and that 300 horses and 300
swonls were to b taken from the cavalry regiment at Cawnpoor, and
given over to them. The men of the regiment were frightened because
the Eurepeans had come, and their arms were to be given over to them.
Every one talked about it. I heard from Khan Mohomed, sepoy, that
all the Native force said that on the 5Sth of June 1837 all their arms
were to be taken away from them, and they would all be called into the
fort wuder the pretence of getting their pay ; that a mine was made in
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the road to blow them all up : that the moment they were all assembled
the mine would be fired. I immediately reported this to the Adjutant,
who said it was all a lie, and told me not to believe it, Then Khan
Mohomed, sepoy, went to the cavalry and told a sepoy the same tale
that they were all to be blown up. They were very frightened, and
went to their officers and told them what they had heard. Every one
in the place, high and low, when they heard this story, became greatly
alarmed. When the Brigade-Major and Adjutant heard this, they came
to parade and searched for me. I went to them. They asked is
Khan Mchomed, sepoy, 8th company, here ? I took him to them. They
ordered him to be confined in the depot barrack. Then a naick and
four sepoys took him to the depot barrack., Afterwards they ordered
Bhawanysing, jemadar, and myzelf to come to the depot barmck ; wa
went there, When we arrived I found that a court-martial was
assembled to try Khan Mohomed, sepoy. The Native officers composing
this court were two of the cavalry, the subadar-major, 58rd Native
Infantry, one Native officer, 1st Native Infantry, Bhawanysingh,
jemadar, 50th Native Infantry, and myself; in sll six officers. The
Quartermaster of the artillery was there and many other officers.
Khan Mchomed, sepoy, was found guilty of spreading false reports ;
irons were placed on his legs, he was handeuffed and placed under an
European guard. From this time all the officers slept on their ress
pective regiments’ parade grounds. On the night of the 4th June, about
1 o'clock, there was a great noise in the cavalry lines ; all the men
tarned out armed : three reports of a pistol were heard, They (cavalry)
setfire to the Quartermaster-Sergeant’s house. I was sleeping in
my house between 12 and 1 am. Hossain Bux, havildar, greoadier
company, came and awoke me, aud said what, are you not awake 7
there is o row in the eavalry lines, three reports of a pistol, and the
Quartermaster-Sergeant’s bungalow is on fire, 1 was astonished and
ordered the regiment to turn out, and went to give information to the
Adjutant, He came out of his tent and went with me to parade and
msked if the regiment was ready ; T said ¥es, it is ready. He said,
where is it 7 X said in front of the bells-of-nrms. He ordered them to
form up in front of the quarter-guard, I formed them up, made them
ready. I received orders that if any cavalryman came, he was instantly
to be shot, in this way we passed the night with our officers ; no one took
off his uniform. The cavalry having mutinied, went away to Delhie,
In the morning, the Adjutant ordered us to take off our uniform
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and eat our dinners, then the guards were placed, and we took off -

our uniform ; the Colonel came to us and asked what naick was on duty
at the elephant sheds ? as the cavalry and 1st Native Infantry wanted
four elephaunts which were under a guard of a naick and four sepoys of
the regiment, and that he was greatly pleased they had refused to give
them up, and that he was so pleased with the naick doing his duty so
wall, he wonld make him a havildar. I said it was Gungn Deen, naick,
15t company. The 1st Regiment mutinied like the cavalry and went
away, After this the Colonel said Bhawanysing, subadar, has been
wounded by these mutineers, I will go and see him. I aud Annundees
deen, havildar-major, went with the Colonel to the cavalry hospital and
saw Bhawanysing, who was wounded. The Colonel was very much
pleased with him and told him to go to the depot barrack, he went
with the doctor and a cavalry orderly. The Colonel went to his
bungalow, and I and Annundeedeen went to our lines, and having taken
off our uniform began to smoke, when Chain Singh, havildar, cama
and said jemadar, the regiment is turning out ; I asked by whose order
and why 7 he said I don't know. I went outside, and saw that the
bavildar was dreadfully frightened, and was buttoning his coat. I went
with him to my company,and saw some of the men in the tent packing
up their clothes and others throwing them away. I asked them what
was the matter and why they were getting ready, they said the 53rd
Regiment is getting ready, and so are we. I said your regiment is the
56th, what have you to do with the 53rd. It would be better for you
first to shoot me and then do what you like afterwards ; many of the
men said you are our senior officer, we will not kill you, coms with us,
T said very well. I will get ready and come with you. I went outof
the tent very slowly for about 100 yards aud then ran s fast as I
could to the entrenchments avd told the Colonel and Adjutant that
the regiment had mutinied ; they said come with us and we will sea,
I said, oh! gentlemen, all the regiment has mutinied ; and are your
enemies, it is not right for you to go to them. The Colonel and Adju-
tant would not listen to me, but went towards the regiment, When
they arrived about 300 yards from the regiment, thres muskets were fired
from where the 8th company were. We then returned to the entrench-
ments ; the regiment went to Delhie. Afterwards Captain Holliday,
Lientenant Chalmers, myself, one Sergeant, and eight European soldiers
went to the Savada House, In this honse were 800 muskets belonging
fomen on leave, we took them on a cart to the entrenchments, and one
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jemadar, three havildars, one naick, and many sepoys and drummers
of my regiment wentinto the entrenchment. On the 6th of June all
the regiments that had mutinied and gone towards Delhie were persun-
ded by the rebel Nana Rao and returned to Cawnpoor and fired into the
house of the Nawab of Nunnah, + I was sitting with the Adjutant ina
tent talking with him when we heard the sound of firing. We went to
the South Battery near the 0th Barrack, and Sahibdad Kban, ‘went to
the east into the hospital barrack, every one in the entenchments went
to their respective post; Sepoys Gobind Singh, Jitt Singh, Shaikh

Ellahie Bux, and Ghouse Mohomed remained faithful and fought with

the British, but there was no Native officer with them, they remained

in the entrenchments from the 10th to the 25th June.

Question—How many days did you stay in the entrenchments,
and what did you see during the time you were in ?
What were the General's arrangements # Who came
as the Nana's emissaries, and what were their names ?
When wana the treasury and magazine made over to
the Nana ? And when and how did the cavalry ges
into the entrenchments and when did the British
leave and take to their boats ?

Answer—I was in the entrenchments from the 5th of June to
the 27th, and saw that seven or eight of the British
died duily, but I do not know their names; but I know
that Captain Hollidny was killed by a round shot, and
Colonel Williams, Major Prout, and the Sergeant-
Major* died from the great heat, I only know the
names of the cfficers.  On the 25th of June a Chris-
tian woman, a half-caste, came with five sepoys to ong
of the batteries. The Europeans on picket fired four
shots at them. The woman then moved & handkerchiaf
over her head and said do not fire, When they came
close to the batteries, Captain Moore, 82nd Foot,
ordered the woman to be allowed to come into the
entrenchments, but to stop the Natives who were
with her. She came in and brought a letter + I saw
it,and heard that this was written in it :—* My father
was always faithful to the British Government, I will

* Note,~These oficers belonged to the 56th Native Infantry,



take care that no Native shall kill you, I will send
¥ eight troopers with you, if you will go to Allahabad,
and leave all the arms, ammunition, and stores in
the entrenchments,” General Wheeler retorned this
letter as it had no signature. She went away and
brought it back signed by the Nana. The General
saw the letter and said we will do what the Nana
wants, but we will take one musket and 60 rounds of
ammunition per man with us, and the Nana must
supply carriage for the wounded men. He sent
elephants and doolies for them. On the evening of
the 26th, the Nana sent carts and artillerymen for the
treasure, the General gave them all the money thers
was in the treasury, 1,14,000 rupees, he also took the
Nana's emissary, Jowallah Pershad, as an hostage that
the Nans would not play false, and made him sleep in
the entrenchments all that night. He only gave over
the money and not the arms, ammunition or stofes,
On the 27th of June all the British left the entrench-
ment. '
'Qmim—ﬁt the time the British left the entrenchments, how
' many of the mutineers, Nana’s force, or villagers were
with them, or were they looking on at a distance 7
Were there any guns with them ? How far did you
go with the British 7 And what did you see ? And
where and how did you leave them, and who left with
yout
Answer—When the British left the entrenchments to go to the
boats, they were surrounded by 10,000 or 12,000
people, consisting of rebel troopers, sepoys, Tillingas,
villagers; they had no guns, Nana Rao had deceits
fully placed guns on the side of the embarking
place on the river. When the British had got about
300 paces from the entrenchments, the Adjutant
of the 56th Native Infantry heard the rebel say, we
will arrest Khoda Bux, who is with the British : he
took hold of my hand and made me walk in the centre
of the cavaleade. At this moment Poorun, sepoy,
8rd company of my regiment, who was also with
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us, took hold of my hand and pulled me, then
many of the rebels surrounded me, one took off
my cartridge box, another my puggree, and another
my uniform. They then confined my son Elahia
Bux and myself in the battery at the mess-house.

Question—When you left the entrenchments, how did Colonel
Ewnrt, 1st Native Infantry, who was wounded,
travel, and what ocenrred to him?

Ansiwer—1I did not recognise the Colonel, but all the wounded
were on elephants or in doolies, I do not know
their names,

Question—After you left the British, where did you stay, how
long were you in prison, and where, and what
did you see during this time? and what did you
hear about the officers when they went to the boats
and how did you hear it? After the ladies and
children went to the boats did you see them again,
and if so where and when, and under what circum-
stances ?

Answer—When I was taken away from the British, the first
day and night I was under a guard of the &Gth
Native Infantry; Elshie Bux, my son; Sahibdad
Khan, Native Doctor ; Gobind Singh, Sepay ; Moorject
and myself, were then confined in the Savada house,
snd in another room of this house were 180 ladics
and children, who escaped death at the river, and
bad been brought here and confined. Afterwards
we five were removed to another house in which
the ladies were murdered, but I do _not know the
name of the house, After this, we fve were
ironed and sent to the jail at Tukahpore. We
were given ilb. of parched gram to eat daily,. We
were in the greatest distress. The first day when
I wis in the guard, Subadar Allie Bux would
not even give me water to drink as he said 1 was
a Christian ; he sent me to the Nana, who ordered
me to be shot immediately. The Tillingas took mo
away to shoot me, they brought me back again
and said the sepoys of this man’s regiment (56(h
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Native Infantry) arc gone to the massacre, when
they come back they shall punish him as they:
like; but bound me tightly as they said I was
strong and must ot be allowed to escape. I heard
that when all the British had got into the boats
ready to start, all at once guns and muskets were
fired, and that there were volymes of smoke. I
then heard that all the officers and soldiers
who had gone to the river had been massacred,
and that 180 Indies and children who were living
bad been arrested. I saw them myself in the
Savada house, they were in a most wretched state,
on some was nothing but an under garment, on
others but one gown, they had no bedding of any kind.

Question—If you saw the ladies in confinement by order of the

Nanas, in what house did you see them? Did you
recognise any? Tell all you saw. Did they get
food? Had they all clothes on or not? and did a
Mussulmanee take them food or mot? and what
was her name and appearance.

Answer—-=The ladies and children were first confined in the

Savada house ; after I was taken to the prison they
were removed to a house, the name of which I do
not know. I recognised all the ladies of my
regiment, their names were * * # #® They
enly had dal and bread given to them every evening
to eat, and some of them had on only one garment,
no bedding. At first, Mrs. Pair, the wife of a
drummer, cooked their food for them ; afterward
a Native woman, about 86 years of age, was sent
by the Nana from Bithoor to give out their food.
She was tall, rather fair complexion, large face, an
inhabitant of Bithoor, I do not know her name,

Question—During the time you were in prison, at how many

times were Europeans killed and where? Did you
hear that a lady was taken away by troopers,
what was her name ?

Answer—When 1 was in the Savada house, eleven officers,
- soldiers and clerks were shot there. I heard this
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but did not sce it; they wore killed by sepoys of
37th Regiment, Native Infantry, but I myself saw
when the sepoys returned from the massacre at the
ghat a trooper with a lady before him on horseback :
she had a veil on, I do not know her name;
Question—Did you see Mrs. * % % and Mys. * * % apd
did you recognise them? and what became of
them ?
Answer——1I did not see them nor recognise them,
Question—Did you tell * #* * * drummer, 58rd Native Infantry,

all about Mrs. * * % snd M ®* * # gpd°

what occurred to them? and did you either see
or hear that. ladies went to grind gram for the
Nana in a stable

Answer—I] saw the son of * * * drummer, in the entrenche
ments, but did not see him in confinement. I
know nothing about Mrs. * * neither did I hear

anything about ladies grinding gram ?

No. 16—Deposition of Kunhye Pershad, Mahaojun of
Cawnpoor.—1 was at Cawnpoor when the mutiny broke out ai that
siation and state what I know of it

When the news of the Meernt mutiny was received, there wna
much excitement amongst the troops at Cawnpoor, and reports were
rifa that they would follow the example of the troops at Meerut, I
was on bad terms with the sowars of the 2ad Cavalry, as a year pre-
vious to the mutiny, four of the troopers had been imprisoned on
a complaint made by me. I therefore feared their vengeance, I
knew that mamy of the troopers frequented the house of a prostitute
pamed Aseesun, and bought over her servant Emambux. She informed
me that the sowars of the 2nd Cavalry were plotting with the
Nann, and that & mutiny had taken place between the parties,

The facts of the case are these:—The Nana bad in his employ
two sowars, one named Raheem Khao, resident of Bishenpore near
Bithoor, and the other Muddud Ali, of Baunda; the Ilatter was
discharged and commenced business as a borse dealer, but still used
to visit the Nana in the way of business, When the Nana was called
into Cawnpoor from Bithoor, these two sowars ware employed to
tamper with the 2nd Cavalry ; they used frequently to visit Subadar
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Sheeba Sing and n trooper named Shumscodeen Khan On the
1st or 2od June, both these men and the Havildar-Major of the 2nd
Cavalry, Gopal Sing, with Raheemm Khan and Muddud Alj met the
Nana, his brother Bala Rao, and Azcemoollsh, at Sookah Mullah's
Ghat on the banks of the Ganges: it was dusk, and they had a long
consultation of about two hours, seated in a boat, This meeting was
well known and was brought to the notice of the Magistrate, but the
Nana on being questioned said he had meb the men  of the
2nd Cavalry to pacify them and prevent further disturbances. The
day after this meeting, Shumshoodeon Khan was ot the house of

‘the prostitute Aseesun: being in liquor, he told the girl that the

Peishwa's reign would scon commence, and the Nana in a day or
two would be pammount and that he (Shumshoodeen) would £l
her house with gold mohurs, Two or three days after this the troops
mutinied. I also heard that some of the Native officers and troopers
waited on the Nana with intimation that a kingdom was prepared
for him, if he joined them with all his wealth: or death if he sided
with the Europeans, The Nana replied that he was with them and
had nothing to do with Europeans; he was then requested to lead
the troops to Delhie, to which he assented, and told them to take
the treasures, he would follow them, The Native officers placed
the Nana’s hand @n his head and required an oath that he would fulfl
his promise ; the oath was taken, when the Native officers and troopers
left. A consultation was then held by the Nana, Bala, and Azeemoollah
with some others about going to Delhie. Azecemoollah pointed out to
the Nana that by going to Delhie, he would lose all power and
influence ; that he was well acquainted with the armnge-
ments of the British. That they had not a fourth of Europgans
compared to the sepoys, and that the British -could not help
themselves; it would therefore be advisable first to bring into
snbjection and order the country around, and then extend his
dominions as far as possible to the eastward—having secured the
passages by which Enropeans proceeded up country, they eould be
easily held in check. This was at once agreed to, and the Nana,
Bala, and Azeemoollsh went to Kullianpore and got the troops to

yeturn to Cawnpoor.

Question—State truly from whenoe did yon get this informution ?
Angwer—1I was scquainted with a resident of Bithoor named
Rawmdeen, who was in the employ of the Nans,
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and was constantly in attendanece on him, I per-
suaded him to give me all the news of the Nana's
doings, for I feared for my life, and soI willingly
paid him 20 rupees; ten each time for the jnfor-
mation given.

Question—What had you to fear from the Nana ?

Answer—1I1 feared a Risaldar in the Nana's sowars, named
Jwala Pershad, who after the mutiny was made a
Brigadier, His relative Gujjadbur, and one Aleo
Gumstah were part owners of Monza Kullianpore,
I bought the forfeited share of Gujjadbur, henge
Jwala Pershad bere mea spite. When the mutiny
broke out, my share of the village was made over to
Gunshan Aheer. A moonshee named Jwala Pershad
who resided near my house repeatedly advised me to
petition Ramlal, Deputy Collector, who would send a
party with me to put me in possession of the village ;
but this I refused to do,

Question—=What office had Moonshee Jwala Pershad under the
Nona?

Answer——As I did not leave my house I cannot say, but 1 heard
that he had great influence in the Nana's court ; and
BRamlal, the Deputy Collector, did nothing without
consulting Moonshee Jwaln Pershad; this is well
known to all, ;

Question—Where is Ramdeen who gave you the information 7

Answer—He is either with the Nana or at Bithoor,

Question—Where is the prostitute Aseesun and her servants §

Answer—I do not know.

Question—Where did she reside at Cawnpoor?

Ammr—-lnmti:[ house of Oomrao Begum in the Setrinjee
i di

Question—Who is Oomrao Begum ?
Answer—=She is n prostitate, and is now at Furruckabad ; the
girl Ascesun rented her house.

No. 17.—Deposition of Sheo Churvan Das, Sadho of Cawnpoor,
Question—Where were you when the outbreak and insurrection
among the troops at Cawnpoor oceurred ?
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Answer—=I was in the Cawnpoor Cantonment.

Question—Detail truly all you saw of the disturbances ?

Answer—First of all in April 1857, the sepoys who eame down
on leave from the eastward said * we shall quarrel
with Government presently; for new mrtridge? pri-
pared with cows' and pigs’ fat are going to be served
out, and the sepoys refuse to receive them. Then
in May intelligence of the mutiny of the force at
Mecrut reached us, and was everywhere talked about
and the sepoys plotted mutiny, The English officers
had an entrenchment thrown up, and the Nana, a
Mahratta, came with his retainers at the summons of
the Collector., He had about 1,500 men and some
guns with him,

Three or four days before the troopa broke out, Teeka
Sing, Subadar of the 20d Cavalry (whom the BEpOys
made their General after they mutinied) began to
have interviews with the Nana, and said to him on
one oceasion, " you have come to take charge of the
magazine and treasury of the English, we all, Hindus
and Mahomedans, have united for our religions, and
the whole Bengal Army have become one in purpase,
—Whatdoyousaytoit 1" The Nana replied I also
am at the disposal of the army.” I heard this from the
sowars themselves, but cannot remember the names
of any of my informants,

I then heard that the English told the sepoys to come
unarmed into the entrenchment and receive their pay,
and that the sepoys refused to enter it without their
arms.

One night, I forget the date, the 2nd Cavalry and
“ Gillis" Regiment (1st Native Infantry) mutinied and
after completing their preparations went towards the
treasury, i.¢,, in the direction of Nawabgunge. In
the morning the two other regiments also declared
themselves. As I went out of the town as nsual, I
saw the Subadars and Jemadars of the two corps
leave their men and go into the entrenchment; pre-
sently the sepoys also went in the same direction but
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the Europeans fired on them, and they at once fled
and joined the Gillis Regiment, 18t Native Infantry,
and the cavalry at Nawabgunge. The united force
of mutineers then plundered the treasury and broke
open the jail, afterwards marching off to Kullianpore.
The Nana's brother, Bala, followed and asked them
where they going to—they replied to Delhie. He
said, * what good can you do at Delhie 7 Stay there.”
The officers returned with him, and made the Nana
their Raja. Plunder and loot commeneced ; bungalows
were burned; and the entrenchment fired upon.
Wherever they saw an Englishman, Eurasian, lady or
child, they murdered them. The budmashes of
Cawnpoor and the neighbourhood joined the muti-
neers, I saw numbers of them myself, but cannob
give any names.

The fighting continued incessantly for twenty-two days.
Three days after its commencement, the report spread
that 136 gentlemen, ladies, &c., had been brought in
captives from some place or another, and that they
were to be killed. When I heard this I went to the
Savada house where the Nana lived, about 4 o'clock
in the afternoon, and there saw the sepoys and sowars
massacre all these Europeans elose to the door of the
Savada house, to the west of it, When I saw this I
made the best of my way off without being perceived,
I heard some of the Sahibs tell the sepoys who they
were, and ask them to give their names and salaams
to the Nana. Some sepoys went away and soon
returned saying that the Nana's orders were to kill
them. I know nothing more of this occurrence,

Meanwhile the fighting continued. One morning I
went towards the entrenchment and saw a tall lady
come out with a white wand in her hand and go to-
wards the Savada house. I heard that she had some
conversation with the Nana. The fighting then
ceased, and it was agreed upon between the Nana and
the English that the latter should evacuate the
entrenchment and proceed to Allahabad,
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The next morning T heard that the English were going
to embark at once in beats, and I went to the ghat,
I saw them begin to embark when suddenly the boat-
men leaped off their boats and a fusillade commenced,
the boatmen setting the boats on fire. The cannon
also opened and all the English, male and female,
Jumped into the water: when I had seen thus much
I hastened off, but was informed that sll the gentle-
men had been killed, and the surviving ladies and
children taken prisoners,

Question—Conld yon recognise any of the boatmen who set fire o
the boats ?

Ansieer—I could not.

Question—What happened then ?

dnswer—For a few days similar disturbances continued until
the day when I heard that a British foree wes advanes
ing from Allshabad. The troops on hearing of their
approach, went out to fight with them at Futtehpore,
were defeated, and returned broken, The day after
I heard that the ladies and children who had been
confined near the nszembly rooms had been massacred,
The day following, the mutineers fled, and the British
Army arrived,

Question—Do you know any particulars of the massacre of the
ladies and children ?

Answer—1I heard that the Nana's people had cut them to pisces
with tulwars, but nothing more.

Question—Did you sec any sowar with an European lady .as his
prisoner, or hear of such a thing ?

Answer—T did not hear of it,

Question—While the fighting at the entrenchment Was going on,
did you hear of any other Europeans being brought
in and murdered besides the 136 you mentioned ?

Answer—1I do not remember any others, Nor did 1 hear of any,

No. 18.~Deposition of Lalla Bhudyes Nuth, Commissariat
Gomastha, Cawnpoor,
Questionw=What do you know reganding the oconrrences at Cawn-
poor which followed the mutiny of the troops there,
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Answer——1In May 1857, the report spread in the Cawnpoor Bazar
that the Hindustani foree at Meerut had mutinied,
and committed excesses-on the Europeans, This
became the universal topic of conversation among
the sepoys. One day in May, the sonof a sowar
whose name I do not know, came to his lessons ag
8 school held in the same premises in which I lived ;
the bays were overheard by Teeka Ram, Bookscller, to
say amoug themselves that the force here would act
as that at Meerut had done ; he told me this, and |
ab once gave information of it to General Wheeler *
who had long been a patron of mine. The Genornl
enjoined me always to keep him informed of anything
of the kind which I might become sequainted
with among the infantry or eavalry, and g
be cautious and on my guard in doing so, I accord-
ingly introduced sundry emissaries of my own
disguised into the lines, and reported what I ascer.
tained daily to the General, One day I heard that
the eavalry and the 1st Native Infantry, * Gillis*
Begiment, had made up their minds to mutiny, and
make off at the moment when the new cartridges
were served out to them. | immediately apprised
the General of this, and he gave me four cartridges,
teiling me to show them to the principal Native
officers, und explain that there was no harm in them,
I thereupon went and showed them to the Native
nﬁqemuf the Gillis Regiment, who said that they
were quite good and that they had no objection to
use them, but protested against having any given
to them in the composition of which fat hagd been
used, promising to obey the General and caMITy out
bis orders if he would give them with his own
mouth & positive promise that none should be served
out. I reported this to the General who replied
“I promise that within my command no other kinds
of cartridges shall be served out,” One or two days
after this the General received some intelligenca
(¢he nature of which I was not aware of) from

r
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the Collector, and caused the construction of an
entrenchment to be commenced. This at once
aroused the suspicions of the sepoys, who got up
the rumour among themselves that the Europeans
intended to take to the entrenchment and then
attack them. T informed the General of this also.
He then sent for some of the officers of the Ist
Regiment, Native Infantry, and told them to coase
their suspicions as the entrenchment was only made
as a precautionary measure. Two or three days
afterwards several of the European gentlemen began
to pass every night in the entrenchment. The

then began to say to each other “ the Sahibs have
lost all confidence in us, and we shall never get over
it." I told this to the General who sent his son (his
nide-de-camp) to quiet the fears of the Native officers,
His representations put an end to the talking and
restored confidence. On the 1st and 20d of June
a cashiered officer called Christie eame out of his
bungalow in a state of intoxication at night, and
fired at the cavalry patrol who had challenged him.
Although he missed the sowar yet the latter lodged
a complaint in the morming, and a court-martial
was assembled which acquitted Mr, Christie on the
ground of his having been intoxiested at the time.
The sepoys became displeased at this and began to
talk again of mutiny. I informed the General, and
then he and the rest of the Sahibs betook themselves
with their property into the entrenchments. The
day after I had given this intelligence to the General
the sowars sent their families out of the camp in
various directions, That night (June 4th) the
‘cavalry and the Gillis Regiment broke out into
mutiny, wounded Bhowanee Deen, Subadar Bahadur
of the cavalry, and left cantonments, They first
took away the elephants in the commissariat ele-
phant stables, and then broke open the jail and
plundered the treasury, finally marching off to
Kullianpore, and encamped there, In the morning




I
*h'
N

P,

w

APPENDIX txxxi

several sowars came back and endeavoured to incite
the two remaining regiments to mutiny, telling them
that their share of the rupees had been roserved, but
that they must go and fetch it, nnd nbusing them for
remaining inactive like women, the officers of the two
regiments, the 53rd and 56th, then went to General
Wheeler in the entrenchment, I do not know what
passed at the interview., Meanwhile, at abott 9 AM.,
the commissarint officer sent me with the Conductor
to the liquor store to get out some liquor. T had put
six barrels on carts and was just going tostart with
them, when a sepoy came up to the goard and told
them to be ready, for the signal had been given, they
then threw off their uniforms and began to load their
muskets, I thereupon made the Conductor mount
on a camel and leave the place, remaining myself to
lock up the store. Presently the Naick of the guard
told me to be off or I should be killed, T went away
and hid myself in a place between the stores. Mean-
while the sepoys began to fire with bail, and the two
regiments marched out towards Kullianpore by the
road now followed by the milway. The sowars then
eame back and began to create a distuvbance in the
station, and burn and plunder the bungalows,
Thousands of the lower elasses from the city, canton-
ments, and villages went about with them sharing
in their excesses, killing every Enropean or Christian
they met, and searching for Government employés,
Several Mussulmans of the cavalry who had been
aware of my supplying intelligence to the Sahibg
looked everywhere for me, intending to murder me,
but I kept concealed. I soon after heard that the
officers of the cavalry and infantry regiments had gone
in a body to the Nana, a Mahratta, who had come and
encamped near the treasury at the bidding of the
Collector, with his two guns and 5,000 retainers, and
said to him that he must take charge of the magazing
and the treasure, while they went off to Delhie. He

replied—" Then when will the Europeans in thg
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entrenchments leave me alone ? First come and clear
out the entrenchment and then go off to Delhie.”
Teeka Ram, a subadar of the cavalry, who had been
clected commandant of the force, approved of this
proposal, and went to the magnzine and got out the
heavy guus. I informed the General of all this, and
he told me not to be alarméd for that none of the
guns were of any use. I heard however that the
Nana had given a reward of 100 rupees to some
eraftsman who had brushed up the guns on a lathe,
On the 6th of June, in the moming, the whole force
reburned from Kullianpore and surrounded the en-
trenchment.  Some sowars with a gun went to Nunne
Nuwab's house which they broke open and plundered ;
eight or nine sowars with one sepoy came presently to
my house and began firing ns my door wasshut. After
one of my people had been hit with a bullet T opened
the door and went up to the roof: the sepoys fired
twice at me but missed. One of the sowars then
ealled out that they were going to kill me because the
General's wife and danghter were concealed in my
house. 1 told them to search my house. Two of the
sowars did so, and when they found nothing went
out, the sepoy then again was going to try to kill me,
but a sowar called Bhuddree prevented him. The
sound of a cannon shot was then heard : my assailants
all dispersed and I escaped. I léft my house and
went to the abode of a man who lived near the
Thakoor Dwara and there concealed myself, The
fighting commenced and the firing continued night
and day. I remained in hiding in the same house
near the Thakoor Dwara for eight days. One day while
in concealment, Iheard from a man called Jugger-
nath, since deceased, that 106 Eunropean ladies,
gentlemen and children had come in boats from the
westward down the Ganges, and when they saw the
disturbances going on they concealed themselves on
an island in the river which was covered with junzle,
that some zemindars and men belonging to the Nana
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had gone and brought them off prisoners, and that
they had been cut to pieces and shot at the Savada
House. 1 afterwards heard that &4 gentlemen and
ladies on their way from Furruckabad had been taken
prisoners in their boats at Bithoor and brought into
Cawnpoor. And that the gentlemen had been mas-
sacred by the sowars, the females and children of the
party being coufined together in the Savada House,
The man Juggernath also told me that one of the ladies
had refused to be separated from her husband, saying
that they must slay her too if they killed him. The
sowars then called out “kill her too.” One of them
made a blow at her with his tulwar, but she inters
posed her child, a baby of a year old,—the cruel
wretches of sowars then butchered first the baby,
then the wife, and then the husband. I did not
obtain a clue to the nnmes of any of thess Sahibs.
Afterwards somehow or another the rebels found
out that I was hiding near the Ganges, and a sowar
came and carried me before Tecka Sing, late Subadar
of the 2nd Light Cavalry, and then Commandant
of the mutineers, who ill-treated meo much, and ag
last told two sowars to take me away and bring back
3,000 rupees or else bring me again. A friend of
mine a khutree, named Thakoor Pershad, when there
seemed no other way of frecing me, gave the men
500 rupees and got them to release me, All this
happened before the 16th of June when T returned
to my own house. Meanwhile the fighting at the
entrenchment continued. On the 25th June it ceased,
and T heard that some Christinn women had taken
a letter from the Nana into the entrenchment, and
that two or throe other men whom I know nothing
about had been sent into the entrenchments by the
Nana, who had sworn that he would convey the
members of the garrison, male and female, in safety to
Allahabad. Boats were then got ready, and the firsg
day four gentlemen went to the ghat on an elephant
awd inspected them. On the morning of the 27th of
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June I think, all the gentlemen, ladies, and soldiers
left the entrenchment and went down to the ghat on
clephants, in palkees and other conveyances, and
began to embark in the boats ; befors any of them had
put off, the sowars and sepoys opened a fusillade on
them, and also set some of them on fire, All the
gentlemen and ladies jumped from the boats into the
water, All the gentlemen were killed, and so also
were some of the ladies and children, All the sure
vivors of the latter were taken prisoners, most of them
being wounded, and confined in the Savada House,
Two boats had been shoved off, punted by the
gentlemen in them, but they were fired on and sunk
by guns on the opposite side, whers the 17th Native
Infantry, * Bakur * Regiment, was drawn up. A good
many of the gentlemen escaped to that bank and
conccaled themselves in a temple. The zemindars
of Dhoondea Khera heaped up grass about it which
they lighted ; this forced the Sahibs out, and they
were all killed, after exchanging shots with their
assailants, killing a man (the unele of Ram Buksh, a
zemindar of Dhoondea Khera) who had set up as a
Rajn. Five or six days after this, in the morning
sbout 10 o'clock, I was on my way down to the Ganges,
when I saw on the road, mear the ohurch and the
hotel, 50 or 60 zemindars, retainers of the Nana,
with drawn tulwars, and lighted matehes, bringing
along a Sahib bound ; they halted in the shide of
gome trees while one of their number went to tol]
the Nann. The latter's brother, s Mahratta, named
Baba Bhutt, came out, and after saying a few words
to the gentleman, told the zemindars that the Nana's
order was to murder him, They replied “ we will not
do so, our creed does not permit us to kill a bound
prisoner, though we can slay our enemy in battle”
He then sent for an exceutioner. When I saw this
atrocity, I went on to the Ganges. About three-
quarters of an hour afterwards when I was performing
my ablutions, two or three executioners came a-d

[
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threw the gentleman’s corpse into the Ganges, Sword

wounds were upon it,
Some days afterwards, when again going down to the
Ganges, I saw them bringing the ladies from the

Savada House on carts, and take them to a little bun-
galow near the hotel. T looked st them very care-
fully ns I stood by the wall, to see whether I could

distinguish the General's wife: or daughters among

them. I did not perecive them, and I could not
recognise any one else.  All the ladies wore European
clothes, but in one of the carts were five or six who
had thrown o Hindustani sheet over themselves,
which prevented me from seeing them, '
After this, the Naoa's army went off to fight at
Futtehpore, but before they started, seven or eight
messengers were bronght prisoners to the Nans on

whom were found letters in English and Hindustani, -

addressed to the Europeans at Allahabad ; they wera
all put to death; and search was instituted for the
writers of the letters, A sepoy told me that he had
hmrdthntm;fmnhadhmfdundinm-uﬂhe_

Hindustanee ones.  Although none had been sent by

me, yet fear induced me to hide myself and I went
to old Cawnpoor, four miles from the cantonments.

Two days afterwards I heard of the approach of the
EBritish forces, and both mutineers and populace
began to fly. That same day I heard that the eaptive
ladies and children had been massacred in the even-
ing. The Nana's people blew up the magazing that
day, and then the British forces arrived.

Ou the 17th of July, when I had heard of their having
come, I presented myself, and went in the morning

- and pointed out to Captain Macbean the place where

the hdimhdbwnbu&huaﬁ,mﬂthanﬂiuh
which their corpses had been cast,
I have detailed now all that T saw,

Question—=State distinetly what you heard nbout the massaere of

the ladies;

TR
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Answer—I heard that the Nana first ordered some of the sepoys
to kill them, but they refused, Five or six execu-
tiomers, servants of the Nana, then went and killed
them ; and in the morning threw their bodies into
the well,

Question—Did you hear who those executioners were ? of what
caste { and of what appearance 7

Answer—1I did not hear the names of any of them, but I heard
that some were Hindus and some Mussulmans; and
that they were retainers of the Nana.

Question—When you went on the 17th July to see the corpses in

. the well, with Captaiu Macbean, what did you notice
regarding them ! and what kinds of wounds were
upon them ! what did you hear as to the numbers of
the ladies and children ?

*Answer—1I went to the well in the hope that perhaps some of
the ladies might be still alive. When I arrived there
however I saw the body of a Sahib uppermost, aud
did not hear a sound indicatory of any one's being
yet alive, I then left the well and went to the
building where the slaughter had taken place. I saw
blood on the ground in every direction, but did not
perceive any marks of musket balls on the walls, and
hence inferred that they had been killed with tulwars.
I did mot hear how many there were, Several
geutlemen were among them, but I did not hear any
particulars about them.

Question—Did you hear what kind of food they got, and why they
were massacred, after being kept prisoners at first 7

Ansgwer—-1I heard that they got some food, and also that among
the letters found on the messengers captured was one
from one of the ladies to Allahabad, and that this
was the cause of their being murdered,

Question—Had the Nana placed the guns before the Europeans
came to the river bank, or how wasit? How many
boats were there ? Who set them on firg ?

Answer—1I was told that the 17th Native Infantry had come to
the opposite bank with two gung, On this side were
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sowars, When the Sahibs began to embark, the
sowars told the boatmen to get out quickly, and they
immediately jumped off. Then the bullets began to
fly about, and the boats were set on fire. I do nob
; know how many boats there were.
Question—~Who were the boatmen? Whence did they come 1 And
where are they now ?
Answer-—The boats belonged to Cawnpoor, so I supposs the
- boatmen did too, but no one will speak out on the
' subject as they are afraid to do so. :
Question—Who were the zemindars, and the Nana's people who
brought the 106 Sahibs ?
Angwer——They were the zemindars of the neighbourhood who
had resorted to the Nana, I cannot name, or give
. a clue to any of them.
e Question—In the commencement of the disturbances, when thou-
4 sands of low cliss people joined in the insurrection
5 and loot, did you recognise any of them 7
1 Answer——1 saw distinctly that people belonging to the low
. : classes were assisting tho sowars in the plunder,
- ineendinrism, and riot ; but I could not at the time
\ recognise any one. On the 6th June I saw them
< (when I was going to the Ganges) from my own
',: house,
Question—Do you know what Native officers gave their adherence
and advice to the Nana when the force returned from
4 Knﬂr.l.upum.' 2
Answer—1I did not hear the names of any of them. -
Question—Do you know where the sowars sent their families to
k when they despatehed them from the lines ?
Answer—When they first mutinied they sent them into the
Sudder Bazar and neighbouring villages, but when
they fled, after being defeated by the British, each
Question—Do you know who the workman was who received o

reward for turning the guns ?
i Annwer—I never knew his name.
r ' Miﬂﬁ—&peu’fjr the men who uwsed to bring you intnlligm
. from the rebel force,
¢ .
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Answer——Hur Pershad, Durbara Sing Auristes, Bhowanee Deen
and Bechoo, and two other men who have gone, I
don’t know where.

Question—Where is Teeka Ram, bookseller, now ?

Answer—He is somewhere on the educational establishment.

Question—Did you ever hear that any one of the ladies who were
confined in the Savada house and the bungalow near
the assembly rooms, and then massacred, used to be
taken to the Nana's stables to grind grain, or not ?

Answer——Ne, I never heard anything of this kind from any one,

No. 19.—Deposition of Banker Ajoodeca Pershad of Cawwnpoor.

Question—Where were yon at the time of the disturbances and
revolt at Cawnpoor?

Answer—I was at Cawnpoor.

Question—Detail what you saw and heard.

Answer——In May 1857, the rumour became prevalent and much
diseussed that the force at Meerut had created some
disturbances, and that insurrection had commenced
everywhere. Then proclamations were issued By
Government promising advantage to the loyal, and-
denouncing punishment to the disloyal and any who
created disturbances; and declaring that the report
spread by lying persons, that Government wished to
do away with any onc’s religion, was altogether false,
and that Government did not wish to interfere with
the creed and doctrines of individuals,

Soon after, I forget the date, one night, an officer shot
a sowar; 1 know not for certain whether the latter
died or survived, but I heard that he died, and that no
justice had been done him. This circumstance led
the sepoys to imagine that the English were dis-
pleased with them, I was also informed that the
officers had ordered the sepoys to come into the
entrenchment unarmed to receive their pay, and
that this increased their suspicion.

So it went on until the night of the 4th June, when
first of all the 2nd Cavalry mounted and accoutred
came out on the main road, and a bugle sounded,—
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T'was at the time looking at what was going on
from the chubootra of my shop,—then two sowars
left the ranks and passing my shop, went towards the
lines of the " Gillis” Regiment (Ist Native Infantry)
and called out “The Subadar-Major of our regi-
“ment sends his compliments to the Subadar-Major
“of the 1st Regiment, and wishes to know the reason
“of this delay, ns the cavalry are drawn up on the
“road” The *Gillis” Regiment thereupon began
to get ready, Colonel Ewart then came up from
the direction of the entrenchment vehemently prohi-
biting the movement, and calling out repeatedly
“ Babe logue ! Baba logue ! this isnot as usual, do nog
act thus 1™ but no one attendad to what he snid, and
the regiment marched out immediately to join the
cavalry ; the Colonel returning to the entrenchment,
The cavalry and 1st Native Infantry then proceedad
to the treasury and magazine, and made their
arrangements regarding them, though they deferred
the plunder until the * Lumboorun” and * Castor *
Regiments should join, Thus the night passed, and
in the morning at about 8or 0 A wm. the two re.
maining regiments marched out and Joined their
comrades. They united in plundering the treasury
and breaking open the Jjail, and then marched off
all together for Delhie. The mutineers had then
formed wo plan of plundering and creating a riog
in the station, purposing merely to go off to Dalhie,
The Nana however (so I have heard) ecalled back
the Native officers, asked them where they wero going
to, and urged them to join in destroying the English,
who were all collected in the entrenchment, pramising
todo everything for them if they would remain and
clear it out. ;
On the Gth June, in the morning, the whole foree
returned, and the Nana became their chief, and
received their formal salutations ns such. Excesses
in the shape of plunder and murder commenced, they
burned the bungalows and killed every European and
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Christian, whether male or female, whom they found
outside the entrenchment. I myself saw many
corpses both of men and women lying about near
the canal, The Nana issued an order that if any
European, Eurasian, or Christian should be found
coneealed in any Native's house, the latter was to be
put to death with his family, and his house plundered.
Accordingly, under the pretence of searching for con=
cealed Europeans, sowars and sepoys entered and
plundered many houses, and committed all kinds of

EXCESS0E,
The firing at the entrenchment commenced, night and

day it continued, and frequently an nssault was talked
of, but never accomplished.

1 from time to time heard that on three or four occasions
Europeans had been brought in prisoners from the
districts, and the males shot at the Savada house;
the females and children being kept in confinement,
Fifteen or sixteen days afterwards I heard that =
lady, mother-in-law of Mrs. Thos. Greenway, came out
of the entrenchment, and that when the sepoys were
going to kill her, she asked to be conducted before
the Nans, as she wished to have some conversation
with him, and begged the sepoys to refrain from
killing her until they received his orders to do so
She made her way to the Nana, nod had a long
interview with him, urging that the English always
maintained those whom they deprived of their terri-
tories, and perhaps imprisoned, but never put them
to death, and asked him in what seripture of his he
found anything which sanctioned the commission of
such acts of atrocity, adding “our country will not
be depopulated by our slaughter!”

The lady was put in confinement. I then heard that
the Nana had ngreed not to molest the English
if they would leave all their property and go to
Allahabad. Twenty boats or thereabouts were pre-
pared, and on the morning of, I think the 26th or
27th June, elephants, doolics, carts, beds and other
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conveyances were taken to the entrenchment, and
the whole of the garrison was brought by their
means to the ghat, by the old pay office, a few
sepoys and sowars accompanied them, and o great
crowd of common people as lookers on.

I Sas standing near the artillery hospital, by the
church, when I saw Colonel Ewart of the 1st Native
Infantry being brought along on a bed, carried by four
coolies ; he was badly wounded by a gunshot, and his
wife accompanied him on foot ; the rest of the English
ware on shead, the bed having been allowed to fall
behind some distance.-When they had arrived abreast
of the church, seven or eight sepoys of the 1st Nativa
Infantry came up and told the coolies to set down the
bed and stand aside ; I saw these sepoys distinetly, and
recognised them well ; one was Baijunath SBing Tha-
koor, of the 5th Company, and another Bam Bhurrub
Ahir, of the same company ; although I recognised the
others, I cannot now remember their names, The
coolies put down the bed and remained apart ina
suppliant posture in fear lest they might be murdered
too. The sepoys then began to taunt the Colonel,
calling out “ is the parade well dressed up now ? " and
then one or two of them killed him with their swords.
His wife had a few articles of property with her, and
they eaid to her “ go along, we won't kill you, but
throw down all that you have” She took a piece
of stuff with something tied up in it out of her pocket
and gave it to them. They took it, and then cut her
down with their tulwars. I stood looking on from a
distance ; a Brmhmin named Chowbey Heera being
with me at the time, and saw the sepoys pass om,
leaving the corpses on the ground. Heera then went
awny to the westward and I do not know where he is
now.

I then went onwards to the Ganges and saw the English
embarking in the boats. Just then, the sepoys and
sownrd began firing on them and set the boats in
flames. Cuannon opened at the same time from both
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sides of the river, and the sowars urging their horses
into the water, out down the Sahibs who had leaped
ont of the boats. All the males were thus massaered ;
but so I heard the females and children were taken
awny to the Savada house, and there confined for some
time, being afterwards taken to the assembly rooms.

A good many days afterwards I was told that a portion
of the troops had gone out to Futtehpore to oppose
the advance of a British force from Allahabad, They
returned defeated and in confusion about 4 . M., and
the British Army was reported to be advancing in
admirable order, I heard that, the evening after, the
ladies confined in the assembly rooms were mas.
sacred : any of them who survived being killed the
succeeding morning with tulwars ; that the men were
of the executioner class, and they threw the bodiea
into & well near the ‘spot. The Nana's whole army
marched out towards Futtehpore after this massacre,
but returned beaten in the evening, and went on to
the westwand, the sepoys advising the populace to fles
too, if they did not want to be killed or deprived of
‘their religion—many accordingly fled. The next
morning the British Army arrived,

Question—Did you hear how many ladies and children were put
to death in the assembly rooms the day befors the
arrival of the British Army ?

Answer—-I heard that there were from 80 to 100,

Question—Did you hear by whom, and with what weapons they
were killed 7

Anaswer—=I heard only that the sepoys had shot them down with
volleys, 5

Queslion—Did you hear or see whether the ladies had any food
given to them when in captivity: and if any, by
whose hands it was conveyed to them ?

Answer—1I did not hear who brought it to them, but I heard thab
they got dal and bread to eat.

Question=—Did you ever hear that they had taken any lady to
the Nana's stable to grind grain ?

Angwer—No, I did not,
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Question—Did you ever hear that any sepoy or sowars had carried
off any lady 7

Answer—1 heard that a sowar did take awany o lady, who
people said was the General's daughter, and that she
had afterwards killed him and thrown herself into a
well in the city. I did not hear of any other lady.
Question—Did you yourself sce any of the occurrcnces at the
attack batteries i

Answer—1I never went to the trenches myself, but I used often
to hear from sepoys in my own bazar that an assault
had been made.

Question—Were you also told who had made the assault ?

Answer——1I somctimes heard that the Nunne Nawab was to make

the assault, and sometimes thabt the “ Gillis" Rogi-
ment, 1st Native Infantry, was to do it.

Question—Did you ever ses the Nunne Nawab nt the attack

batteries

Answer—I never went and saw him at the works themselves, bt

I frequently saw him passing my shop, on his way to
them, with from 5 to 7,000 Mussulmans, &ec., in his
train. Every one used to say at the time that he was
going there.

No. 80~Deposition of Kalka Pershad, Moonshee, resident of
Cawnpoor—I was in the employ of Mr, Thomas Greenway at the
time of the outbreak at Cawnpoor. In May 1857 we heard of the
mutiny at Meerut ; and about the end of the same month some Govern-
ment elephants were sent to the treasury to remove the treasure kept
there ; but the sepoys on guard would not allow it to be taken away ;
this created suspicions regarding their intentions, after which the
entrenchments were commenced, and the Nana came in from Bithoor,

On the 4th June 1857, abont 4 ». m., my master took his family
to the entrenchments. The troops mutinied during that night. Iwas
in the city at the time. The next day, the juil was broken open, the
treasury plundered, and all the bungalows set on fire; after which the
mutineers went off towards Kullianpoor. But on the 6th of June
they returned to Cawnpoor and Inid siege to the entrenchments : the
Nuna placed himself at the head of the mutineers, A general search
for all Christians ensued, who were massacred wherever found. On the
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8th of June a party of troopers and sepoys were sent to Nujjufghur :
Captain Holland who was there fought with them ; but having run
short of ammunition, he desired the sepoys to put an end to his life.
After this the troopers and sepoys brought as prisoners to, and confined
in, the Savada house, Mr. Edward and Mrs. Greenway, Miss HRose
Greenway, and the other children. Abont two days after this, a sowar
came to my house and took me to the Savada house, where the Nana
was encamped. Jwalla Pershad, who was created a Brigadier, and
Shah Ali, desired me (using threats) to tell them where my master
kept all his money ; I told them he had none placed anywhere, and
begged them to mscertain this fact from my master's brother and his
wife, who were prisoners ; hearing which, Jwalla Pershad and Shah Ali
took me to Mrs. Greenway, and requestad her to give them four lakhs
of rupees, promising to release her; she replied she had no money in
cash, but would give them an order on Calcutta, and requested to be
removed to her own house till they received the amount, to this they
would not agree but left her. I was allowed to visit Mrs. Gresnway,
and managed now and then to give her food, cocked by my master’s
khansamah and his son, by paying the sentry a rupee each time; but
this was soon stopped by the sepoys, though I continued visiting her and
obtained a few words with her, After this, the ladies and gentlemen
from Furruckabad were brought in prisoners, and confined in the Savada
hounse. Mrs. Jacobi, the watchmaker’s sister-in-law, was confined in
the same room with Mrs. Greenway. The fight with the Europeans
in the entrenchments still continued. On the 23rd of June,
Azimoollsh and. Brigadier Jwalla Pershad went to the Savada house,
and had an interview with Mrs. Jacobi, who told them she would get
the entrenchments vacated, she told me the same day to bring her
jewel box which was in Azimoollah's hovse, I replied it was impossi=
ble to do go at such a time as this, The next dey, 24th June, I saw
Mrs. Jacobi proceed to the entrenchments in a doolie, about 9 or 10
A. M., and saw her returm about 12 at noon and go to the Nana’s tent,
where a consultation was held, and it was determined that tho
Europeans should leave the entrenchments. On the 20th, Brigndier
Jwalla Pershad and Azimoollah went to the entrenchments, and
entered into an agreement on oath as the Nana’s agents, On the 26th
I visited my master in the entrenchments ; he desired me to procura
him Rs. 300 from some Mahajun, as he intended accompanying the
others down to Allshabad by water. I informed him of my having
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heard that the Nana's intention was to massacre the Europeans as
soon as they left the entrenchments ; and on his asking, told him how
I had heard it. On the 27th the Europeans lefs the entrenchments,
and were nearly all massacred at the ghat; some ladies and children
escaped, who with the wounded were conveyed to the Savada house,
About two days after this, they were removed to a little house near
the assembly rooms. I often visited it and saw my master. About
fourteen days after, the British troops approached Cawnpoor ; and on the
15th July all the inmates together with my master were massacred,
The Nana fled and the station was re-ocenpied by the British,
Question—When you went to visit the house near the assembly
rooms, how many Europeans inclusive of children
did you see 7
Angwer—1I was not allowed to remain long in the bungalow, and
therefore cannot give a correct estimate, but I think
there were about 150 persons.
Question—Did you recoguise any one else, besides your master ?
Answer—=None that I was sure of.
Question—How and when did you hear of the Nana's intended
treachery ¢
Answer—Ever after I was taken prisoner and released by Brigadier
Jwalla Pershad, he ordered me to be in attendance
daily ; and used to question me about my master’s
money. On the 25th June about 4 ey, Jwalla
Pershad and Azimoollah returned from the entrench-
ments. I was present at Shah Ali, the Kotwal's, who
resided in the Nana's tent verandah, I overheard
Jwalla Pershad, Azimoollah, Shah Ali, Ahmed Ali
Vakil, and another thanah jemadar, whose name I do
not recollect, talking amongst themselves, saying this
was a good opportunity for getting rid of the
Eump?t}s.
Question—You were often present at the Nana’s, state what
persons were foremost in the consultations ?
Anmver—The cousultations were held inside the tent, into which
many persons entered, whose names I do not
remember, but Ahmed Ali Khan, Vakil, and Urzun
Singh, ditto, since decensed; and Moonshee Jwallg
Pershad, who is now a Deputy Collector, these were
foremost in the consultations, and had great

influence,
i
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Question—Did you ever see what sort of food was carried into the
ladies, and by whom ? e

Answer—1I did not see the food, but heard they only received
dal and chuppaties, which they were not able to
eat.

Question—Did you ever witness the massacre of any Europeans ?

A nswer—Never,

Question—When the Enropeans left the entrenchments, did you
observe what occurred 7 -

Ansoer—1I did not quit the city that day.

No. 21.—Deposition of Lalla Shunker Doss, Banker, Cawnpoor.

In May 1857, there was a rumour that the sepoys cherished an ill-
feeling towards Government owing to the introduction of a novel kind
of cartridge, after which news of the Meerut outbreak was received,
in which it was stated that many Ewropeans had been killed. On
Thursday, 4th June, about midnight, & fire was seen towards canton=
wents, and in the morning it was rumonred that the troops had
mutinied, plundered the tressury and set fire to cantonments, Op
the receipt of these news, all business was stopped and shops closed,
The Native residents of cantonments joining the mutineers commenced
sacking the station, after which the sepoys went away to Kullianpore ;
the shops still remaining closed.  We heard that the Nana had brought
& - book the mutineers, cannon were placed on all sides, and the cavalry -8
were going nbout, searching for Europeans to put them to death, The
T sepoys plundered the Nunne Nawab’s house, carried him away a
prisoner monnted on an clephant, After this, fighting commenced at
the entrenchments, and the people hearing that some boats containing
Eunropeans were coming from the west, gave notice of it to the Nana,
Four or five days after, about 10 o'clock in the morning, two troopers

S came to my house, and made a prisoner of me, T had a goard of four
men with swords, which the troopers took away from them, and
. demanded Ra. 500 of me; on my refusing compliance they took me

away to the battery in charge of Nunne Nuwab, who made arrange-
ments for my release on condition of a ransom of Rs. 80 being paid,
which amount I gave to a trooper, who accompained me to my house
for that purpose, and obtained my release ; thus was plunder and
violence carried on.
Question—When you were taken prisoner to the Nunne Nawab's
battery, how was he engaged and what did you see ?
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F M—Tha Nawab was there and personally ordered my

release ; this ocourred on the day when n shot fired

from his battery set fire to a barrack within the

entrenchments, I was a prisoner there from 11 a. M.
till evening. The Nawab wore a sword, and with a
telescope in his hand was reconnoitring ; and a number
of his own attendants together with sepoys were
with him.

Question—Did the Nawab appurtohn a prisoner or » free

agent ¢
dunswer-—He did ol appear to be under any restrain, but was

richly dressed, and in command of the battery. All
the sepoys and his attendants were acting under his
orders,

Question—You have stated that when the mutineers returned
from Kullianpore, they plundered Nawnb Nunne's
house, and took him prisoner; then how came he to
have such authority ?

Answer—The statement made by me is perfectly correct. At

first, the Nawab was taken as a prisoner, but it

appears that he was released, having come to terms

with the Nana. I hoave described faithfully what [
saw, Moreover this fact is also well known, that on

the day the Nawab set fire toa barrack in the en-
trenchments by a shot from his battery, the Nana

made him & present of 5000 rupees, though some
state that this amount was paid him as compensation

for the loss sustaiued by him owing to the plunder
of his hotise, It is also well known that the Nana
had promised to make over Cawnpoor to the Nawab
should the defeat of the Europeans be accomplished.

~ Question—When you were a prisoner at the enemy’s battery, and

released by the Nawab, were there any other persons

of the city there !
Arwer—Many coolies, &c., residents of Bujjun Para, were there,
~who had been pressed to work by the sepoys, and
many persons of the above place and of the artillery
bazar are cognisant of the fact of my being taken a
prisoner.  Moreover a short time after, the Nawab

T
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and Nana fell out, and it was rumoured that all the
Mussulman troopers and sepoys were on the Nawab's
side, and purposed putting the Nana to death. On
becoming acquainted with this, the Nana sent away
the cavalry towards Futtehpore and the Nawab
through fright fled away with a few sowars.

Question—Did you hear of the cause of the Nawab’s flight ¢

Answer-—The people stated that the Nawab's intention of killing
the Nana, and taking Cawnpoor for himself had be-
come known to the latter, therefore he fed ; and
again I heard that the Nawab had been brought back
a prisoner; but aday or two after this, the British
troops arrived, and both the Nana and the Nawab
fled.

Question—Had the Nawab any money transactions with the pro-
prietors of your firm ?

Answer—No, there were no money transactions between my firm
and the Nawab, as ours is not a very large concern,

22.—Deposition of Rama Nund, Merchant, resident of Cawn-~

poor.

Question—Where were you when the troops mutinied at Cawnpoor ?

Answer—-I was at Cawnpoor, and arrived there from Furrucka-
bad three days before the mutiny broke out,

Question—Do you know how the mutiny commenced 7

Answer—The troops after they had mutinied marched to Kullian-
pore ; the Nana went there and brought them back
to Cawnpoor, and commenced fighting with the
Europeans,

Question—=Did you see the Nana go to Kullianpore ¢

Answer—No I did not The day the troops mutinied, there
were many boats of mine at the ghat, my men went
to see them, and they told me that the mutineers
had gone to Kullianpore and that they saw the Nana
start to bring them back again. When the troops
returned, they commenced plundering, and about two
or three days afterwards some troopers came to my
house, enquired after my son Budreenath, who was
khazanchee of Durreeabad ; he was concealed in my



house, but I told them that he was not there; they
then said I was the servant of Enropeans and had
dealings with them, and that I had concealed Mrs.
Wheeler and other ladies, and that they would
plunder my house. I offered them money not to do
so, but still they wounld not listen. A sowar then
fired a pistol at me, but missed me; I then struck
his horse, and the men of my mohulla drove the
sowars away with bricks.

Question—Did you ever attend the Nana’s court !

Answer—No, I never went, but my son Gunga Shahai, khazan-
chee of Oona’s, was taken there as a prisoner. The
Nana wanted money from him ; when he told him
that all his money had been plundered, he ordered
him to go and work at the treasury ; he refused to
go, and was then sent back.

Question—Do you know any of the mahajuns of the city who used
to attend the Naoa's court 7

Answer—I used to hear that many of them went, Sheo Pershad,
khazanchee, bad the contract for supplying great-
coats, and was often at the Nana's,

Question—Do you know whether Gunga Pershad, tent-maker,
Gokool Kishoor, jeweller, and Budree Tewarrie of
Cawnpoor ever attended the Nana's court 7

Answer—Gunga Pershad was ouce taken prisoner; I know
nothing of Gokool Kishoor, jeweller, or Budree
Tewarrie,

Question—Do you know any of the Government officials who
were in the habit of attending the Nana's court ?

Answer—-Yes. Many of them were in the Nana's employ.

Question—Did Moonshee Jwalla Pershad get any employment
under the Nana ?

Answer—One day, Urjun Sing Vakil (since deccased) sent two
sepoys to my house, they said that Urjun Sing and
Moonshee Jwalla Pershad had sent for me ; my
brother Ram Sook Duss accompanied me. Unjun
Sing and Jwalla Pershad, with a Hindu Risaldar,
and many sowars were there ; Ramdeen, khazanuhm,
was also brought in prisoner shortly afterwards,
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aside ; he required rovenue from me and told Ram-
deen’s gomashta to bring money for the expenses
of the troops, he told him that all had been plunder-
ed and that he had no money, and I answered that I
had nothing to do with the revenue, upon which
Urjun Sing got annoyed with me, and I was then
taken to Moonshee Jwalla Pershad, who also desired
me to bring money for the troops, and that he would
get me an appointment from the Nana, I answered
that I had neither money nor any wish to serve, that
all my money had been plundered with the treastre,
and that not one of my sons were at home, 1 therefore

could do nothing. He then told me to go away afd

that he would protect me, but added, “ mind you do
not again fight with the sowars or else your house
will be plundered.” I then left, j

Question—Did you ever again ses Jwalls Pershad at the Nana's ?

Answer—-I never went to the Nana’s but frequently heard that
Jwalla Pershad and Urjun Sing had great influ-
ence with the Nana.

Question —What was the name of Ramdeen's gomashta who was
at Urjun Sing's ?

Answer—1 do not know,

Question—Did Ramdeen, khazanchee, take service under the
Napa ?

Answer—Ramdeen ran away but one of the gomashtas was

, taken prisoncr, I don't know what became of him.

Question—Was there ever a Mahomedan flag raised ?

Anmwver—Yes, I heard that a Mahomedan flag was raised.

. Queation—Did you hear who raised it ?

Answer—No. }

Question—Where were the rebel batteries, and who were their
Sirdars !

Answer-—1 know nothing of their batteries.

Question ~Do you know how many times Europeans were massa-
cred by the Nana's forces 7

Answer—I heard that the Europeans were killed, but know noth-
ing of the cireumstances.

Usjun Sing took mo and a gomashta of Ramdeen's
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Question—Did you see any thing at the Suttee Chowra ghat ?
Answer—I did not go to the ghat but heard that the Europeans
had been killed there. '
Question—Do you know how the ladies were massacred 1
Answer—1 only heard that they had been killed by orders of the
. Nana.
: Question—Do you know whether food was ever cooked for the
& sownrs at Knzee Wazecoodeen's 7 L)
Answer—T don’t know.
Question—How many days had the Nana open court 7 And when -
the mahajuns were sent for did you go with them ?
r Answer——Yes, Twent that day with the other mahajuns, but
= N did not see the Nana. I only saw Jwalla Pershad,
Risaldar ; all the people were sent away. '
Question—When the British troops arrived, were you still at
Cawnpoor?
Answer—My servants were with the British, and when General
Havelock arrived, my son Badreenauth and Lala Isree
Pershad supplied all the provisions,

o ——
No. 22— Deposition of Jankee Pershad, Merchant, resident of
B Cawnpoor. 4
e Question—Where were you when the troops mutinied at Cawne
A _—
B Answer—1I was in my house at Cawnpoor,
Question—Relate what you know regarding this.
Answer—It's a long time since the mutiny ocourred, therefore a

‘5 great many things eseaped my recollection; whatever

5 questions yon ask I will answer,

' Question—When were the first symptoms of the mutiny exhibited,

and in what way ?

L Angwer—-In the month of June 1857 the troops mutinied and
went off to Kullisnpore, whither the Nana followed
und brought them back. I heurd this. The siege of
the entrenchments then commenced, and the sepoys
and lower classes began plundering and creating
disturbances. 3

Question—Did you see or hear of any religious flag being raised ?

Answer—Yes. The Mahomedans raised a Mahumdee flag.

aa demaiaTiehat
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Question—Did yon hear of it? Or did yon see it 7

Answer—I went with many other people and saw the flag raised
two or three days after the siege commenced. When
I came near the Mogulke Serni, I saw a great many
people eollected, and a green flag raised.

Question—Who raised the flag, and whas Sirdars were with the
flag, and whom amongst them did you recognise ?

Answer——1I heard that the flag was raised by Moulvie Salamut
Uollah, and that he stood by it with a rosary in his
hand, and it was rumoured that they were on the point
of going to fight. There were from 2 to 3,000 armed
men with him, and the Kazie of the City, Waseeooddeen,
was riding about the plain with some 19 sownrs of
the 2nd Cavaley; great crowds were collected there,

Question—Did you recognise any one else ?

Answer—Yes, I saw Bukshee Zainolabdeen with about twenty-five
or thirty chowkidars and burkundazes all armed,
standing in a body at a short distance from the flag,
and the rumour was that the Moulvie intended to
attack the entrenchments. I stood there a short time,
but as nothing occurred, soon came away.

Question—Ihd you recognise any one elsa ?

Answer—-There were thousauds of people from Nawab Gunge
Colonel Gunge, Orderly Bazar, and Bunsah Mow, and
from the other Bazars, collected there, How can I
remember all their names?

Question—Do you know where the flag was first raised, and by
what road was it brought to the Mogulke Serai?

Answer-—I did not see it brought, but I heard that it was first
raised near Moulvie Salamut Oolluh’s houss, whera
all the Mussulmans collected and brought it on.

Question—Did you ever aguin see the sowars with Kazie
Waseeooddeen ?

Answer——0ften ; he always had sowars with him,

Question—Did you ever again sce the flag ?

Ansmwer—Nao.

Question—Did yon ever go into the Nana's court ?

Answer —~Why should I go iuto the Nanu's Court ? T had nothing
to do with him,
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Question—Did you ever hear that Waseeooddeen took money from
Ram Deen, Treasurer, on account of the sowars 7

Answer—=No, I never heard it.

Question—Who was kotwal at the time the flag was raised 7

Answer-—Hoolas Sing,

Question—Do you know how many times, or in what way, the
different parties of Europeans were killed during the
mutiny ?

Answer—I used to hear that Europeans were killed, but never
saw them destroyed. The day the Europeans were
massacred at the Suttee Chowrah ghat I was on the
spot,

Question—What did you see?

Answer-—About 8 or 9 am. the Europeans were getting on
board the boats, when firing commenced from all
directions, and there was a great uproar. I with
many others ran away through fright and did not see
anything clearly. -

Question—Do you know the names of the mahajuns and officials
who used to attend the Nana’s court ?

Answer—I never went to the Nana's court, but I heard that the
Government officials were present, and were employed
in Deputy Ramlal's office. Moonshee Jwalla Pershad
often used to attend Deputy Ramlal's Court, and
Urjun Sing, Vakil, often attended also,

Question—Did you see either Gunga Pershad, or Beedes Tewarrie,
mahajuns ; or Sheo Pershad, khazanchee, or Jugu
Kishoor, jeweller, going to the Nana’s court 7

Answer—=No, I never saw them going, but I heard that Sheo
Pershad had taken the contract for supplying great-
coats and that Ramdeen, khazanchee, had concealed
himself

Question—Did you ever hear that a Moulvie came from Allahabad
to Cawnpoor ?

Answer—Yes, 1 know that a Moulvie came from Allahabad tg
fight against the Europeans : he often visited the Naga,

Question—Did you see him ?

Answer——Yes, I often saw him. He put up with Bukshee
Zainolabdeen in Moodee Tootee Mohullah ; he used
to ride about the city with some 20 or 25 EOWATrS,

-
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Question—What other person was aware of the Moulvie's putting
up with Bukshee Zainoolabdeen ?#

Answer—All the residents of the Mohullah knew of it

Question—Did you ever hear his name ?

Answer—They all called him Moulvie Sahib ; T don't know his
Proper name.

Question—Do you know anything of the Europeans that were
murdered the day before the Nana fled 7

Answer—-On the day before the Nana fled, at about 5 ra.,
the sepoys shot four or five gentlemen before the as-
sembly rooms, and under the commissariat officer's com-
pound wall. A great crowd was assembled there at the
time, and I was with them. Aftor this, I heard that
the ladies were also to have been killed, but that the
sepoys refused to doso. I then returned home and
shortly afterwards heard that five or six men with
swords killed the ladies.

Question—Did you hear in what way the ladies got food ?

Answer—No. I did not.

Question—Do you know whether Aseesun, a prostitute, lived in
the city ?

Answer—VYes. One Aseesum, a prostitute, who was in the
service of Kulloo Mull, lived in the Lurkee Mahil
in Oomrao Begum's house, She was very intimate
with the men of the 20d Cavalry and was in the
habit of riding armed with the sowars. The day the
flag was raised, she was on horseback in male attire
decorated with medals, armed with a brace of pistols,
and joined the crusade. I saw her as thousands of
others did also.

No. 25.—Statement of Hulas Sing, son of Ram Sing, age about 70
years ; caste Kurmi; inhabitant of Mouzah Nowdega, Zillah
Furruckabad ; profession, he was at one time in service, at
another a zemindar.

To benefit myself I tell the whole truth, When the troops
mutinied at Cawnpoor I was there. A fow days before the disturb-
ance broke out I wos summoned by the Magistrate from the Torsur
Thanah, and put up at a small houss in the palace of Agha Mir, father
of the Nunne Nawab. Six or seven days before the disturbance, the
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1st Regimont and the 20d Light Cavalry conspired for mischief, The
Nana Dhoondoo Punt, Mahratta, was summoned into Cawnpoor from
Bithoor by the Magistrate; he came with two brass guns, and some
followers ; and took up his quarters in his own house, at Newab Gunge,
near the eutcherry. The troopers of the 2nd Cavalry used to court
the Nana. One day, the date I don't clearly remember, probably the
4th June, the 1st Regiment broke into mutiny at night, then the 56th
and 53rd Regiments mutinied and went to the treasury, which
they plundered, broke open the jail, and after plundering the place
went off to Kullianpore, The next day Nann Dhoondoo Punt and
Baba Bhut went to Kullianpore and brought the troops back. When
their preparations were completed, they commenced an attack on thie
entrenchment. I did not myself see the Nana Dhoondoo “Punt going
to Kullianpore, but I heard from n number of peopla that the Nana
and Bala Bhut had gone there and brought-back the troops and com-
menced to injure the Government. Europeans and Christians were
murdered whenever they were found. Seven or cight days after this,
I was summoned to the Nana's residence and became Kutwal of the
City. I was appointed because several Kutwals had been appointed
in the course of the week, but they could not get on.  First Kazi
Wasesooddeen was appointed, and held the office for one day, then Haji
Khanum's son, whose name I forget, remained in office two or thres
days, then the mahajuns of the city, and Bidi Gunga Pershad, tent-
maker ; and Jugul Kishoor, jeweller ; and Budri, pan-seller ; and
Shew Pershad, khazanchee : and others who had transactions with the
Nana, recommended my appointment. On this T was sent for and
when I was at the Nana's house, Ahmed Ali, tahsildar, and officer
of police, gave me full instructions and a purwana of appointment. 1
was helpless:; accepted the post and entered on its duties. I could
not but carry out the foujdares orders which were issued by the Nana
and his officers. His cutcherry was arranged as follows : the Nana's
was the highest court; 2ud, that of Deputy Ramlall. In the Nana’s
Court, Bala, and Baba Bhut, Azimosllah and J wala Pershad, Brigadier,
and othets used to pass orders. Ramlall had no associate in his court,
Moonshee Jwala Pershad was Ramlall's confidential adviser. These
two did all the work.

After some days it was determined that the Europeans should go
to Allahabad. T received a purwana signed by Nana Dhoondoo Punt

directing me to get ready a number of boats as quickly as possible.
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I sent burkundazes to call Lochan, ghat mangee, and Muddi, mullah,
Lochan's servant and Boodhoo alias Budri Das, and gave them the
strictest injunctions to get the boats rendy. When they were ready
and orders came to send carringe for the Europeans, 1 sent as many
palkees, doolies, ekkas, and bhilies as I could collect. The Europeans
set off, in the carriage provided, for the ghats, whera they were killed.
I did not go to the ghat, for I had heard before the Europeans came
out, that they would be set upon and killed, I heard this from
Waseeooddeen, Kazi of the City of Cawnpoor, he explained that this was
& good plan for getting the Europeans out of . the entrenchments and
killing them all. The Kazi had authority over all the troopers of the
cavalry, Food was being cooked at his house from morning to night,
all the orders and legal decrees and order for the murder of the
Europeans were given by the Kazi. Thousands of the inhabitants of
the city know that this was the case. Moreover, one day he extorted
by threats Rs, 500 from Ramdeen, Colleetory Khazanchee, to feed the
sowars, saying “ that if the money was mot forthcoming, his house
would be plundered.” Lot the Government ask this of Ramdeen on

his oath. Subsequent to -this, the Kazi and Moulvie Salamut Oollah

one day having concerted together, got ready a green Mahumdee fag
and set it up on the open ground near Moulvie Salamut Oollah’s near
the old assembly rooms. The Mussulmans congregated round it from
the early morning, and some measures were concerted. But the
afternoon more than 4,000 men were collected and went by way of the
Filkhanah Gate to attack the entrenchments, were defeated and fled
back. All the mahajuns and citizens koow this, as well as the people
living in the neighbourhood,

When the Europeans who left the entrenchment had been killed,
all the ladies and women who survived were first placed in the Savada
house and then taken to a small bungalow near the assembly rooms.
After some days, the British troops came from Allahabad and
defeated the rebels; Bala, the N ana’s brother, returned wounded.
Preparations were made for flight. On thas day all the ladies and
women who remained wepe murdered, and their bodjes thrown-into the

On that same date, in the night, when the Nana and rebel army
fled, 1 also fled. All the cash and property I possessed were in the
Begum’s Palace in the small honse, I had at that time by me near
600 rupees in 8-anma and 4-anna pieces, This was the property of

o
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Government : I had altogether nearly Rs. 4,000 in cash by me, vis,
Rs. 600 of Government and something over Rs, 8,000 of my own. I
was going at night, and the Nunne Nawab was with me. The
Nawab asked me for some money, so I could not help myself acd I
gave him Rs 500 and took Rs, 100 myself for my own expenses. The
remainder I buried in two places. My brothers Bukhtawur Singh and
Buldeo Sizgh buried Rs. 1,000 tied up in a net bag under n Neem-tree
in the courtyard of the house. I left all my property in a small room,
and buried my money in a corner of the same and placed on the spot
some rose-water bottles. I gavethe Nawab an Arab horse which I had
for my own riding, ns he had none. When the contingent came to
Cawnpoor, I returned and remained eight days and dug up and searched
for the rupees I had buried and did not find them. I then knew that
the Nawab had carried it off. Janki Chowkidar and Hur Pershad
Mohurrir knew this. I have not yet gone to the spot under the Neem-
tree where m§ brothers buried the money, for 1 did not bury the
money with my own hands. I could not find the place. Who knows
but that the money is there still or that it has been taken away My
brother Bukhtawur Singh could still point out the place. Bukhtawar
Singh was present at Cawnpoor. The horse I gave the Nawab wasa
grey, and on its jowl a round mark of feathered hairs, When the
Nawab rode off on the horse, Juwahir Singh, Jemadar, in service of the
Nawab’s mother, accompanied him, That same Juwahir Singh is now
defudar in the police cavalry.

After the Nawab went off at night, I also ran off, and went to my
houses at Nowdego, Zillah Furruckabad, and remained thers about 16 or
20 days. At that time the 415t Regiment, Native Infantry, and Ghullah
or new raised regiment, and Aga Hossain's cavalry were at F urruckabad,
and the Nawab's authority was established. One day I went to the
rebel camp and met Sheogulam Dichit, Subadar Bahadur of the 41st
Native Infantry, and Gunga Singh, Commandant of the Ghullah or new
regiment. I went in order to gain their protection, as these regiments
were encamped near my village, They did not take me into their conf.
dence, I returned to my house where 1 remained, About that time
Sheogulam, Subadar Bahadur, and Gunga Singh both took Possession of
the Clothing Ageney Godown at Futtehgurh. They distributed Iakhs of
rupees’ worth of broadeloth among the troops ; some they sold and some
they sent across the Ganges to their families. After this I got the
news of the approach of the British troops. Through fear, T ran away
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to Mouza Muta, in the neighbourhood of Bhugwantnuggur, where I
found the Nana’s army, There the Nujibabad Nawab and Khan
Bahadur Khan of Bareilly were encamped with their forces. The
Nana Dhoonda Punt went to By war Hutora, Zillah Neem Saren, and I
went and stayed with the Rao Sahib, the Nana's nephew, in Setulgunge.
At this time there were 400 horse and foot with the Rao Sahib, This
Rao went across the Ganges to Calpee, while Baba Bhut remained at
Setulgunge and I with him, I then heard that Baba Bhut, Bala, and
Jwalla Pershad, Brigadier, had gove towards Calpee to bring the
troops over and that having brought the Gwalior Contingent, they
fought with the British troops at Bhouti and then oceupied Cawnpoor,
Lleft Setnlgunge and went to the Nana at Birwa Hatourah from
whence the Nana eame to Futtehpore Cheurasiee and told me to go to
Cawnpoor to the Bala Sahib, T went to Bala at Cawnpoor and remained
with him four or five days. After this Bala was agnin defeated and all
fled, I among them, and went to my own village Naudya where [ stayed
15 or 20 days, Subsequently to this, Matadeen, Risaldar of the 8th
Trregular Cavalry, with five or six troopers, came to my house and told me
to cross the river as the European troops were coming. I again crossed
the river and joined the Nana at Birwa. When the Earopean
troops entered Birwa I went to Bareilly. When I heard that the
European troops had entered Bareilly I fled thence and wandered
about the jungles and the Teraiat the foot of the hills, at timea in
the Gokur Nath jungles; then T went to the Khotur jungles where
lives Tej Singh, a rebel zomindar, After that I arrived at Churda,
the owner of which is Jodh Singh, and remained there a fow days and
wandered about with him. In the month of March, three months ago,
there was an action with the Earopesn troops at Bhotwal, The
Nana with his women was the first to g0 up to the hills ; then the
Begum of Lucknow followed. The Bala with nearly 3,000 troops
having joined the Begum's forces, which numbered nearly 50,000 men,
engaged the British : being often defeated, they fled. I got saparated
from them and reached Napara two stages from Bhotwal in the
Dakhan jungles. I came across a picquet of Europeans and Sikhs who
fired on us. I had with me eight or nine men, my brother Buldeo
Singh, Bukhtawur, my bearer, Ramzan, syce, Nubbee Bux, camel driver,
and Pahilwan Singh with his two brothers, whose names I forget, and
Bhikarie, their servant, Dost Mohomed Mussulman, with his wife,
Pahilwan and his brother were killed and all fled. 1 alone remained o
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horseback. I advanced a short way into the jungle ; when I returned.

I thought “I am now alone, have no one to cook my food or give me

drink. I will give myself up to the Government, let it do with me as

it pleases.” 1 arrived at a river where there was a Government picquet
and where a sepoy was standing unarmed. He asked me who I was,

I said I wished to see the Colonel. He said, * first give up your arms,”

I did s0, and went with him to Colonel Brasyer,

The following men are those I was soquainted with, who were in
the Nana’s or Begum's camp:—Khan Bahadur Khan, of Bareilly;
Ghulam Kidar Khan, of Shajehanpore ; the Nawab of Nujibabad,
whose name I forget, and Nawab Mummos Khan, the Begum's Lien-
tenant ; and Bukht Khan, who went from Bareilly to Delhi, and Kuchak
Sulhen, Shazadah of Delhie ; and another Shazdah whose name I do
not remember; Bala, Baba Bhut, and Jwala Pershad, Brigadier, all of
these were alive and present.

Question —How and whenee were supplies procured ?

dnswer—-The mountajneers brought us all supplies for sale. We
got plenty of rice and muswr ki-dal; there were no .
shopkeepers, but supplies came in. The eclimate is
very bad,

Question—How do you know that the Nana and Babs Bhut went
to Kullianpore to bring back the troops 7
Answer—There can be no doubt but that troops when they had
mutinied and gone off to Kullisnpore were brought
back from thence by the Nana and Baba Bhut.
Hundreds of men saw this. I can give no one’s name

in particular,

Question—Did you see Moonshee Jwala Pershad working with
Bamlall in his court ?

Answer—I saw Jwala Pershad working in the cutcherry with
the Deputy Collector Ramlall. I have also seen him
going to the Nana's, whom he advised in all kind of
matiers.

Question—While you were Kutwal, how often were Europeans
killed? and were any killed in your presence 1

Answer—Once, when the gentlemen who had come from
Futtebgurh were killed, and again when they came
out of the entrenchment they were killed at the
Suttee Chowra Ghat, also when the ladies and women
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who were in prison were killed, T knew it. This
much I remember, but others may have been killed,
No Europeans were ever murdered before my eyes, for
I vemained at the Kutwali and never went to look on.

Question—As you were Kutwal, were the Europeans who came
from outside sent on by you or not? and who
furnished the executioners 7 _

Answer—1I never forwarded on any Europeans, I farnished the
executioners to murder the Europsans,

Question—State in detail how many times, and what executioners
were sent to murder Europeans, mod by whose
orders,

Answer—1 do not romember exactly how often executioners
were sent for. But I recollect perfectly that I
received five or six purwanshs sending for them,
signed by the Nana, on whose arders 1 sent them,

Question—State plainly what exeqationers were sent  who
murdered the Europeans.

Answer—Itwari, Bahadur, and his son, were the head men of
the executioners, I used to send them, and they
used to take others with them. Bahadurisa resident
of the city,

Question—How and by whose orders was food supplied and
cooked for the ladies who were prisoners ?

Answer—By the orders of the Nana. The dinner for the ladies
and females (so long in confinement) was prepared by
cooks procured by the Katwali, who took it to them.

Question—Give the names of the cooks,

Answer-—I don't remember the cooks’ names but Mahtabkhan
and Mehrabkhan, burkundazes, and Jurab and
Daud Beg, Lais, were employed in this work. They
can give the names of the cooks.

Question—Do you remember what food was supplied to the
ladies 7

Answer—Ab first the ladies and women got their dal and bread
to eat, then one day the cooks said, “ the ladies won't
eat dal. Let us have as much meat as can be
procured at the cost of the dal” Then meat used
to be given,
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Question—Who distributed the food 7

Answeer —-A sluve girl of the Nana's by name Begum used to
distribute the food. She is now with the Nana,

Question—How and why were the ladies murdeed 7

Answer—When the British troops advanced on Cawnpoor, and
the action was fonght at Aong, and Bala retirned
wounded, it was concerted at the Nana's residence
that the ladies and women should be killed, but I
don't know how or by whose hands they were
murdered, T indeed heard on the next day the
Jjallads threw their bodies into the well. One
Zainolabideen who was formerly Naib Bukshee of
the Cawnpoor Tehsilee, and was Bukshee in the
Nana's time, and is so still, used to furnish the
supplies of food under me at the Kutwali He js
acquainted with the names of the cooks and the
execntioners,

Question—You say that when Bala returned wounded, it was
concerted to kill the ladies ; who advised this?

Answer-—Among those who advised the murder of the ladies
and women after the return of Bala were Bala and
Baba Bhut, and Tantia Topie, Mahrattas, Azim
Ullah, Sha Ali, Ahmud Alj Khan, Wukeel, and Kazi
Waseeooddeen, Mussulmans, were always present, Of
Hindus Jwalla Pershad, Brigadier, and Moonshee
Jwalla were frequently present, all used to advise,

Question—Have you heard by whose hands the Iadies were
killed ?

Answer—-I have never heard by whose hands the lndijes and
women were killed,

Question—Bhagee Sing, Thakoor Jagarnath, and Narain depose

»  they saw you at the massacre of the Suttee Chowra

Ghat,

Answer—1I did not go to the ghat where the Europeans were
killed ; had I gone I should not conceal it,

Question—What do you know about Thomas Maling, Native
Christian 7

Anmr——Thumu! Maling, Christian, with his younger brother
and sister were imprisoned at the Kutwali by the

v
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Nana's orders. After a while T told them to become
Mussulmans, with the intention of saving their lives,
and sent them to Moulvie Salamut Oollah, who gave
a fatwa for the execution of Thomas Maling and his
brother. But I concealed them and let them go, and
told the Nana they had become Mussulmans. In
this manner they escaped.

Question—1Is this deposition you have made true, and have you
not been instructed or cajoled to make this con-
fession ?

Answer—-All this deposition that 1 have caused to be written is
true. I have not written it at any one's instruction,
or eajoling or threats, nor have I indulged in any
mtoxicating drink. T amin full possession of my
faculties.

Continuation of the deposition of Hulas Sing, June 16th, 1859,

Question —Where were the rebel batteries placed and who eom-
manded them ?

Answer—-When the entrenchments were attacked, one of the
rebel batteries was planted on the north of the
entrenchment by the racquet court commanded by
Nunne Nawab. One was planted by the cavalry
parade ground which was held by Nawab Bakur Ali
Khan. Another was placed by the Dala Nulla served
by the rebel sepoys. Another battery was on the
north of the Savada house and south of the en-
trenchments. This the Nana commanded, and
Geda Hossein who had brought his regiment from
Lucknow served this battery,

Question—How used the Nunne Nawab to visit his batteries ?

Answer—All used to serve their batteries by orders of the Nana.

Question—Did the Nunne Nawab go under compulsion, or of his
own acrord {

Answer—Nunne Nawab served of his own accord.

Question—Did you yourself see the Nunne Nawab and Bakur
Ali at the batterics ?

Answer—I never stopped ‘at the batteries, but used constantly
to see them go armed to the babteries, At Nunne




Nawab's house were all kinds of English weapons,
pistols, double-barrelled guns, &c., &o. There was
always a supply of English gunpowder which had
been purchased from European merchants at the
Nawab's house. I have seen it myself Gunpowdar
used to be sent from his house, and ammunition
laden on keranchis and gharries to his batteries.
Reuz Ali, son of a one-eyed pensioner, was a skilful
artilleryman, he used to work in Nunne Nawab's
battery, One day he threw a ball of rosin into the
entrenchments which set fire to a barrack and some
tents. I heard this from hundreds of men.

Question—What employment did the Nunne Nawab obtain from
the Nana ?

Answer-—Nunne Nawab was among the noblemen of the court,
and had no special employment beyond that in the
battery.

Question—What employment had Jugul Kishor, Budre Bunwaree
and Sheo Pershad under the Naua 7

Answer—Jugnl Kishor, Jeweller, used to supply the Nana with
thousands of rupees' worth of Jewels. Gunga
Pershad used to supply tents Sheo Pershad,
treasurer, used to furnish cloaks. Therefore they
used to visit the Nana. I have often seen them at
the Nana's, Budre had transactions with the Nana
but he went less than the others.

Question—How many tents and cloaks were furnished to the Nana 2

Answer—To the best of my knowledge Gunga Pershad supplied
about 50 tents. I have no recollection of the number
ofcloaks furnished. I have mysclf paid Gunga Pershad
for tents supplied, several hundred rupees at the Nana's
order,

Question—What had you to do with the disbursements of money ?

Answer—Ahmud Ullah, Tahsildar, and officer of police had lodged
with me nearly rupees 2,000, They were deposited in
the kotwal cutcherry, On the day that the British
troops arrived and the Nana fled, I saw at night that
this money would be plundered ; so having called
Gunga Pershad, I made the money over to him, D
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you call him before you and question him. He wrote
a receipt by the hand of Hur Pershad, Mohurrir.

Question—State before whom did you hear Kazi Waseeooddeen
mention the murder of the Europeans.

Answer—-Two days before the boats for the Europeans were got
ready, in the evening the Kazi with two sirdars of the
cavalry regiment whose names I don't know, was con-
certing measures at his own house for their death.
At that time I arrived at the house and heard that to
murder the Europeans having got them out of the
entrenchment was lawful and proper; this I heard,
but T don’t remember who was present,

Question—How can it be proved that powder was always prepared
at the Kazi’s house and that Moulvie Salamut Oollah
set up the Mahomedan flug, collected men, and went
to the fights 7

Angwer—=All the Hindus and Mussulmans and Government
servants here present know that the Kazi was a plotter
against Government, and that he and Moulvie Salamut
Oollah set up the Mahomedan flag, and having collected
men went off to fight. This is true and let it be
enquired into.

Question—What burkundazes went with Thomas Maling to the
Moulvie Salamut Oollah when a decree was given for
his death ? :

Answer—That Thomas Maling's death was decreed by Moulvie
Salamut Oollah is true, and it is written in the Kut-
wal's diary. Hur Pershad, mohurrir, will know all
about it. Tdo not remember the burkundazes' names,
but if the former burkundazes are called up I may be
able to find out.

Question—What burkuudazes do you wish summoned 7

Answer-—--Call Hur Pershad, mohurrir, Meer-Beg, Mahtabkhan,
Mahrabkhan, and other old burkundazes, It is pretty

certain they won't deny the truth before mie,

Question—Do you know anything of Moonshie Munzur Ahmed
who was in the 56th Native Infantry ?

Answer —I don't know any Moonshie Munzar Abmed. But there
Was a regiment moonshie who had great influence
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with the sepoys, It was determined that he should
Ro as vakil on the part of the Nana to Delhie. But
I don’s know why the idea was not carried out, IfI
saw him 1 should recognise him.

Question—What sweepers used to attend on the ladies while they
were in confinement 7

Answer—TI don’t know the names of the sweepers who attended
on the Iadies and women, but if your honour will eall
up Peeroo, Daffadar of sweepers, T can find out.

Question—Who were the leaders in the insurrection 7

Answer—~The leaders in the insarrection were Bala, the Naoa's
brother, Jwalla Pershad, Brigadier, and Teekah Sing,
Subadar, who was made General. Rao Sahib the
Nana's nephew, and one Gunpat Rao, Mahratta, and
Tantia Topie ; these were the chief leaders who always
went to the fight. Afterwards the Allahabad Moulvie
Joined them.

Question—Who commanded at the battle of Futtehpore 7

Answer—1 myself saw Teekah Sing, the General.and the Allahabad
Moulvie, and Jwalla Pershad, Brigadier, going off
to command, Many others went, Small fry of leaders,

Question—What armngements did ¥ou make to supply the troops ¢

Answer—-I brought supplies for the troops from the bazar people
through Ahmed Ullah, who used to receive the order
from the Nana and give me order ; there was uo other
arrangement for supplies.

Question—State plainly what arrangements you made with the
city people and mahajuns

Answer—DMotie Ram and Kheatie Ram were the chowdries. I
used to work through them, Whatever place they
poiuted out, I used to demand supplies from thence.

Question—How were the magazine arraugements made 7

Answer—From wherever I could get sulphur, lead and saltpetre
I used to send them, and supply dhar wood, sending
for it from the vi

Question—Describe how the Europeans who came from Futteh-
gurh, and those at the Suttee Chowra Ghat and the
ladies who were prisoners, were murdered.



Y

clxvi APPENDIX

Answer—-The Europeans from Furruckabad were killed in the
afternoon near the Savada house by the sepoys and
sowars at the Nana's orders. The mext day in the
morning the jallads having laden their bodies in the
gharris, threw them into the Ganges. 1did not see
the slaughter of the Europeans but I saw the gharris
laden with the dead bodies ; all had olothes on : there
were about 100 bodies I should imagine. The canton-
ment jallad or executioner was present. I do not
remember his name, I did not go to the Suttee
Chowra ghat to see the Europeans killed, but T heard
that almost all the sirdars of the regiments and of the
ressalah and Jwalla Pershad, Brigadier, and all the
other sirdars belonging to the Nana went there armed,
The guns were placed in position. T did not see the
slaughter of the ladies and women, nor have I heard
by whose special order they were murdered ; but I
know for certain that the order for the murder was
issued by the Nana or Bala, No third party had
power to give orders without their permission.

Question—You say you were not present when the Europeans
from Furruckabad were murdered, How do you know
the Nana gave orders for their execution ?

Answer—Specinl orders for execution the Nana used to give
himself. I therefore knew the Europeans from Fur-
ruckabad were killed by the Nana's orders,

Question—Explain how the Nunne Nawab bhad no horse or
earriage when you gave him your horse.

Answer—When I gave the Nunne Nawab a horse he had only
a chaise gharri.

Question—Where did the Nunne Nawab then go

Answer—The Nawab told me he was going to Ghatumpore ; 1
don’t know where he went. .

Question—Had Abdul Rahman, Sudder Ameen, any employment
under the Nana ?

Answer—I never saw Abdul Rahman visiting the Nana, nor
heard of his doing so, nor had he any employment
under the Nana,
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Question—When you left the Nana's camp, was there a.Native
doctor, Wuzeer Khan, with him 7

Answer—-A Native doctor, Wazeer Khan, and some other doctors
were in the Nana's camp when I separated from him,
I do not know Wuzeer Khan by sight.

Question—Do you know a sowar named Hoosein Ali Khan who
carried off Miss Wheeler ?

Answer—-I know that a sownr carried off a lndy when the
Europeans at the ghat were killed, I do not recollect

his name.

Question—Have you heard of n young lady in the Nana or Begum's
eamp ?

Answer—1 have not heard of a young ladyin the Naoa or
Begums’ camp,

Question—What do yon know about Adala, the Nana's mistress #
Angswer—=I know nothing about the Nana's former mistress,
Question—How long have you served Government ?
Answer—1I have served the Government nearly 50 years.
Question—Being so old a servant, why did you turn traitor ?
Answer—I did not seek service from the Nana. He forced me
to be kutwal. Whoever did not obey his orders, he
put to death.
Question—If you did not serve him heartily, why did you make
such arrangements for supplies and ammunition ?
Amnswer—-All my arrangements for the benefit of the troops were
made from fear of losing my life.
Question—You repeatedly joined the rebel cause : explain this,
Angwer—-When I left the Nana after his first defeat, I weng
home, and when the rebels came and encamped near
my village, I served them for fear; knowing me as
they did to be an old servant, they might kill me,
I therefore went and returned to Cawnpoor and
Joined the Gwalior Contingent at the Nana's order,
Question—Is this your signature attached to the Cawnpoor
Kotwallie Roznamcha found in the Naua's office ¢
Answer—-It is my signature, and this is my roznamcha,
Question—You have written therein, under date 12th Jy y 1857,
that seven Christians were sent with a petition in
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charge of Elahi Bux and Umrad Ali, Burkundazes,
to the Huzoor (Nana). State who these Christians
were, why sent, and what became of them.

Answer —1I tell the trath when I say that I do not remember
who they were. Hur Pershad did the work, he is
now at the kotwallie. Summon him and the truth
will be ascertained,

Question It is well known that every rebel who could seize
Christians, to show his loyalty, sent them to the
Nana where they were murdered, State the truth.

Answer—1 state truly. Tdo not remember the circumstances
or would relate them.

Question—Do you know Shaick Hunnee and Nukkee, and what
did they do for the Nana ¢

Answer—Hunnee was ordered to riise a cavalry regiment, and
enlisted sowars. Nukkee was made Risaldar. Both
of them were amongst the Sirdars, and I used to see
them frequently at the Nauna's

Question—When the Europeans left the entrenchment, did you
see whether any of the wounded were left behind ?

Answer—Up to the present day I have never seen the entrench.
ment.

Question —What employment had Kazi Ishmael about the Nana ?

Answer—He was Tahsildar of Jagmow, and used to come to
the Kotwallie regarding the supplies.

Question—Whose boats were prepared for the Europeans 7

Answer—-About the boats got ready at the ghat, Lochun, Ghat
Manjee, can tell all,

Question—Did any of the boatmen come from Bithoor?

Answer—Some mullahs came that day from Bithoor. Lochun
knows their names,

Question—Was there a man called Akbar Ali with the Nana ?

Answer—~There was an Akbar Ali, son of Khanat Al, Vakil,
who used to attend the Nana’s durbar, and became
Tahsildar of Akberpore. The money I said above,
I gave to Gunga Pershad. | gave to him and
Bhagwandas and others who were with him, and who
supplied the tents. I don't remember all their names.
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Question—You have stated that Hur Pershad, mohurrir, ani
Janki, chowkidar, are aware that the Nunne Nawab
abstracted the money you buried. Explain this.

Answer—-When 1 came to Cawnpoor the second time, I heard
from Hur Pershad, mohurrir, and Janki and Moartaza,
chowkidars, that the Nunne Nawab had abstracted
the money I had buried in my house,

Question—Where are Moortaza and Janki, chowkidars 7

Answer—-I got them service in the household of the Begum of
the Nunne Nawab, and they will be found there.

Question—From what merchant did the Nunne Nawab get the
gunpowder ?

Answer——I do not know from what merchant Nunne Nawab
used to buy his gunpowder,

Question—Do you know anything of a sowar of the 2nd Cavalry
named Gunput !

Answer—A sowar by the name of Gunpat, a Mahratta, is the
son-in-law of Baba Bhut and is with the Rao, the
Nana's pephew. I know nothing of any other
Guoput who may be among the sowars,

Question—When the Gwalior Contingent was defeated, you
returned home ; why did you then go with Mata Deen
to Birwa ?

Answer—When the contingent was defeated I went bome, but
bearing of the approach of the British troops I went
and joined the Nana, for no other means of gafety
remained for me.

Question—Why did you not state the whole truth in your
deposition before Colonel Brasyer ?

Answer—-I did not write the deposition at Jalpa through fear,
bot I now make a clean breast of 1t, in hopes that
the Government may have METCY upou me,

Question—What was done to the Europeans sent to the Nana 7

A nswer—=The Christians and Europeans who were sent up to the
Nann were killed,

Question—It is well known that you formed a punchayet of the
mahajuns, and promised them that You would noeg
allow the city to be plundered, if they would give
supplies regularly for the troops. Explain this

w
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Angwer—I1 wadé a promise that the city should not be
plundered if supplies were regularly given, 1 collected
the bazar people and made them this promise, The
principal mahajuns I collected were Guoga Sali,
Kulloo Nath, Rambux, Sarup Sukh, and Hurgean,
Thekadar, who was appointed Superintendent of
Supplies by the Nana, and two or three more whose
oames I don't remember.

Question—The troops having mutinied, how could you arrange for
supplies for traitors against the Government ?

Answer—-I furnished the rebels with supplies for fear that they
would kill me if I did not do so, :

Question—You have heard the whole of your deposition, is it the
truth, &e. 7

Answer—1 have heard this deposition. Tt is all true and correct;
no one has threatened or bribed me. I was not
intoxicated.

Question—Where is the receipt written by Gunga Pershad ?

A nswer—-The receipt which Gunga Pershad wrote by the hands
of Hur Pershad will be found with the latter, all the
papers are with him,

No. 24 —Statement of Sheo Pershad, Khazanchee, son of Thundie Mull,
caste Khutree, resident of Cawnpoor, Age 28 years. Trade,
merchant,—serviee,

Chuestion—When the rebels were in possession of Cawnpoor, where
were you {

Answer—~I was at the time in Cawnpoor.

Question—On what date did the disturbances occur and in what
manner 1

Answer—1I think it was on the 4th June 1857, during the night,
that the troops mutinied and robbed the treasury,
and bumt all the bungalows, The 1st Regiment to
mutiny was the 2ad Cavalry, then the 53rd and 56th
Regiments followed their example, On the following
day all the troops marched to Kullianpore, but the
Nana Dhondo Punt, Mahratta, went thither himself
and persuaded them to return to Cawnpoor, and
commenced to attack the English entrenchmenta.
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Plundering was the order of the day in the city. A
day or two after this, a couple of Mahomedan flags
were planted on the part of the Mussulmans, One of
these flags belonged to the butchers of the city who
were joined by the scum of the population ; the other
flag was unfurled by Moulvie” Salamut Oollah. A
printed notification was issued to all Hindus and
Mahomedans, the purport of which was as follows
that all Hindus and Mahomedans should unite in
common for the profection of their religion. I do not

ow who was the person that issued this proclamas
tion, The flag of Moulvie Salamut Ocllah was
placed in the direction of the “Thundie Suruck.”™
On my hearing of it I sent a servant of mine called
Lutchmun Pershad to see it. He came back and told
me that he bad seen the flag, and that Moulvie
Salamut Oollah was standing under it with his
“beads” in his hand praying for victory. After
prayer, Moulvie Salamut Oollah said, “ in my opinion,
we ought not fight to-day, but proceed towards tha
entrenchment for that purpose to-morrow,” I remained
silent.

Queation—Did you then hear whether any other chief was with
Moulvie Salamut Oollah ?

Ansiwer —1 heard this, and 1t is well known to all that Kaz
Waseeooddeen and Moulvie Salamnt Oollah were in
league together,

Question—Did you hear anything further of the Kazi ?

A nwswer—-I heard the cavalry were with him, and that he on one
occasion took five hundred rupees from Ram Deen,
late Government Khazanchee, to distribute among the
SOWars.

Question — Were you in the habit of visiting the Napa ?

Answer—1I was not regularly in the habit of visiting the Nana
but four or five days previous to the English (Sahib
log) quitting the entrenchments, Mr. Thomas Green-
way's mother and son who had been captured at
Nujjufighur, and confined in the Savada house, sent
for me throngh Sha Ali, the city kutwal I was
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afraid to go near them myself, but deputed one of my
servants, by name Jowkie Ram, to visit them. He
went, on his return told me that Sha Ali Kutwal anid
that T ought to go, aud that it would be ill for me if
I did not. 1 did not go that day ; on the morrow the
Kutwal's servant came to me and said Mr, Thomas
Greenway's mother had sent for me, Jowkie Ram,
my servant, likewise told me that T had been sent for
by Mr. Thomas Greenway s mother, I proceeded first
of all to Sha Ali's residence which was near the
Savada house. On my arrival, Sha Ali said, * when
you were sent for yesterday, why did not you come #
I answered “ T was too ill yesterday.” Whereupon he
replied, * Mr. Thomas Greenway's mother has written
an order on you for the Nana, you must go and see
her, she has sent for you.” At the kutwal's house
there were Ahmed Ali Khan, Vakil, and another
Mussulman who was Tahsildar of EKhaja, and with
whom I was unacquainted ; there were several sowars
of the cavalry likewise present. I went with the
kutwal's servant to the Savada house to Mr. Thomas
Greenway's mother. I spoke to her. After a fow
observations she said, “the Nana has promised my
release on presenting him with one lakh of rupees ; if
you and Futteh Ram arrange to pay this, my life will
be spared.” I replied, “I do not covet my life or pro-
perty, and am ready to do what I can, and provide as
much money as I am able. T will also speak to
Futteh Ram.” She now requested me to bring Futteh
Ram to her next day and procure her some tobacco,
I then departed, and next day in company with
Futteh Ram went there. By stealth I continued to
carry her a few fruit and some tobacco, Mrs, Greene
way spoke to Futtch Ram about the money. I told
her that I could arrange to make her over a note of
sixty thousand rupees and likewise give her some
money in cash. The remsinder Lalla Futteh Ram
would settle about. During this conversation Baba
Bhut, Mahratta, came in, and, getting angry, enquired
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whether our conversation was over, and whether we
had made any arrangements. T replied :—* Yes, Sir, we
had been conversing.” Upon this Baba Bhut wens
outside and directed the sentry to turn me out and
close the gateway, Adfter he had gone, T and Futteh
Ram said to the lady, * settle with the Nanaand let
me know the result. Iwill send you the note and
cash.” Having said this I deperted ; the lady never
sent for me again nor informed me of anything.

Question—0On the second visit, when yom and Futteh Ram went in
company, did you see Sha Ali and Ahmed Ali Khan 1

Answer-—On the second day I did not goto the house of Sha
Ali, on this oceasion I only took his chuprassie,

Question—Afrer this did you agnin go the Nana ?

Answer ——Many days afterwards the Nana had an open durbar
and directed all the Mahajuns to attend. All accord-
ingly went. I likewise went. On that day all the
city people were assembled in a tent inside the
Savada house compound, and I joined them. The
Naua, after some delay, sent word to say he had not
leisure to attend, so the assembly dispersed.

Question—Who were there present ?

Answer—=The following were present:—Jugul Kishor, Jeweller;
Ramanund, mahajun ; Babu Salic Ram, and a great
many others with whose names I am unnequainted,

Question—Did you on the present occasion witness what officers
were present 7

Auswer—The only (sirdar) officer present was Risaldar Jwalla
Pershad. :

Question —Did yon again attend any of the Nana's durbars 1

Answer——1 was not called upon to attend any more of the Nana's
durbars, but I once went to Baba Bhut's cutcherry.

Question—What was going on in Baba Bhut's cutcherry, and who
were subordinates in his office 7

Answer——In the present Post Office compound there was a small
house, inside of which there was a billiard table, on
which T saw Baba Bhut seated, This was his olit-
cherry. All the old (Government) servants wers
there carrying on business,
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Question—Mention the names of the Government servants there
in attendance,

Answer—Hoolas Ra, sheristadar foujdary, was present ; I do not
recollect the names of all the others,

Question—Did you ever go to Deputy Ramlall’s cutcherry ?

Answer—I never went.

Question—Do you know how many massacres of the English took
place ¢

Answer—1I am not aware, but I heard some gentlemen who had
come from the west were murdered. '

Question—When the English evacunted the entrenchments and
were murdered at the Suttee Chowra Ghat, did you
hear any partieulars ?

Annver——I did not go to the ghat, but only heard that imme-
diately upon the English going on board their boats,
they were murdered.

Question—Why did you attend Baba Bhut's cutcherry 7

Answer—-The sowars and sepoys were constantly in the habit of
coming and quarrelling at my house, they once took
away some of my horses, and I went to report this
circumstance at the cutcherry, which I did to Baba
Bhut, who grew angry and enquired of me what he
was to do,

Question — It has been nscertained that you constantly visited the
Nana and supplied him with cloaks for his troops ;
you were likewise an agent of his, You are therefore
called upon to state who the Nana's sirdars were 5
also his favourites, and in what manner were the
English murdaged. Likewise state from whom the
order emanated directing the massacres.

Answer—1It is not true that I was constantly in the habit of visit
ing the Naoa, Idid not know him before, neither was
I ever an agent of his, nor had we'any transactions,
It is true'T supplied him with cloaks onee, and it was
on this account that I did so. The Nana ordered all
the mahajuns to be seized for the purpose of extort-
ing money from them ; among these were Futteh
Ram, the son of Seish Nath's agent, Bhie Ram, Ram
Pat Gungoo and Gobind, I got alarmed at their
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seizure, particularly as the Nana told them that they

had property and money in their possession belong-
ing to the English, and which he claimed ; he like-
wise confined all their wives, On my first hearing
of the seizure of these men I fled to Bithoor, and
went and resided with Thakoor Pershad, mahajun,
The reason for my quitting Cawnpoor is that I had
the property of a great many gentlemen with whom I
transacted business, After my departure I was sum-
maned by the Nana. I did not go myself, but sent my
agent. The Nana ordered him to make some tents
for the sepoys; be replied, “ we do not make tents nor
have we any ready, nor any materials.” The Nana
then said, “ I have heard you have blankets and must
make me some cloaks.” My agent answered, * we have
got blankets but we cannot get the greatcoats ready,”
I sent word to my agent of what had taken place and
advised him to prepare the cloaks in order to save my
house from being searched, for it was fu] of property
belonging to gentlemen, and a discovery of which
would have entailed great trouble on my household -
whereupon my agent supplied the requisite blankets,
the Nana seized some tailors and made them over to
my agent with the directions to prepare the great-
conts: being helpless he had some cloaks made, '

Question—Who got the order to prepare them, and who informed
you of the order ?

Answer——Kidernath, one of my servants, sent me word about the
order to make cloaks, I am not aware which of my
men superintended the making. Suffice it to say my
own people only were employed,

Question—Are yon acquainted with any particulars relative to the
massacre of the ladies and women ?

Answer—0n the day of their massacre I was not present ng
Cawnpoor, but was at Nunheir, T heard the ladies
were murdered previous to the British forves arriving
at Cawnpoor.

Question—Where is your servant Lutchmun Pershad 7

Answer—He is residing at the village of Chickenda ; when
ordered he will attend,
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Question —Where is Jowkie Ram your servant ?

Answer—He is present here.

Question—Are you aware where the enemy’s guns were placed in
position, and who were commanding them 7 :

Answer-—1I heard there were four batteries in position, one was
towards the church, one on the road leading to the
cavalry lines. T am not aware of the localities of the
other two, I don't know who were in command of
the batteries,

Question—Did you hear that Nunne Nawab was in command of
any of the batteries ?

Answer——1I heard first of all that the rebels imprisoned the Nunne
Nawab, and that he was afterwards commanding one
of the batteries, I cannot say whether he was com-
pelled to do this or went of his own aceord.

Question—Are you aware who were the Nana's officers and ngents ?

Answer~—I heard Bala and Baba Bhut and other Mahratta
chiefs were in league with the Nana, there were like-
wise numbers of zemindars and villagers there in
attendance. Raja Suttee Pershad was also present :
as likewise Raja Doorgapershad of Chickenda,

Question—Among the semindars and rajas present, mention the
names of those whom you know 7

Answer-—1I do not know the names of any,

Question—Was there any parson of the name of Akber Ali with
the Nana !

Answer—I heard there was an Akber Ali with Azimoollah. I
saw bim at the kutwali one day, and heard that he
wns going to be made Tahsildar of Acberpore.

Question—Are you aware who among the residents of Cawnpoor
made tents for the Nana ?

Answer——I heard Gungn Pershad arranged to make tents for the
Nana, and some of the tents were said to be made by B
Bhugwan Dass,

Question —What proofs have you that the Nana persuaded the
mutineers to return from Kullianpore and come back
to Cawnpoor?

Answer-—Everybody in the city said it was the Nans who
brought the troops back from Cawnpoor. It was a
general belief in which I likewise participated,




obtained anywhere ?

Answer——TI will search rurm.mdirlmmaﬁnﬁndingn copy

I shall produce it,
Question—At that time, who were the

presses

Answer—<I do not know for certain, but Mustuffeh Khan's préss

of, and there wore several others.
«person. who eame to you on the

was the one T heard
Question —Do yon remember the
part of Sha Ali 1
Answer—_1 do not know who the person was,
Question—When You saw Mrs, Greenwa
confinement with heg?
Answer—There was Mr. Thomas Umanwny'& mother, Mr, Edwani
Greenway, his wife and daughter, and two small
children ; besides these there were the wife of Mr,
: Jacobi and child, there was nobody else,
Question—On the second oceasion of your visit to Sha Ali,
know who the chuprassie was that summoned
_ person ? Could yon recognise him ?
Answer——I never saw him before, and therefore eonld neither
recognise him, nor do I know where he lives
QQuestion—Previous to the British quitting the entrenchments, was
there any rumour afloat in the city of the intended
treachery that was afterwards displayed 7
Answer—T heard no rumour of the kind,
Question— How ANy greatcoats were prepared by you, and what
profits did yon realise 7
Answer—I do pot remember the exnct number
prepared, but 1 think sufficient to ha
of one regiment, My servant was

bundred rupees by Baba Bhut; T received nothing
1more, '

Question —Who bronght the money you received ?
Answer—I eannot say, but it was one of Uy own servants, The

money was sent to the tailors for their hire and s
distributed among them,
Question—Who is Kidarnath ?
Answer— ~Kidarnath Was once an agent of mipe
him ; since then he

do yun
You in

y but T lﬁmhqrgcd
has begn in my Emp]ny again,

T

Question—Can a copy of the proclamation that was issued be

proprietors of the printing

¥y who were the others in
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No. 25.—Statement of Ram Deen, Khazanchee, Collectorate of Cawn-
poor son of Moonshee Adjoodlia Pershad yesident of town
of Baligram, lately resident of Cawnpoor, age 24
years : service.

Question—When the troops mutinied at Cawnpoor where were
you ?

Answer—-1 was present in the station at the time, but four or
five days after, from fear of oppression on the part of
the rebels, I flad to the village of Rodhapoor, from
whence I only returned when the British troops came
to Cawupoor. A great many people know this.

Question—As long as you stayed in Cawnpoor after the breaking
out of the disturbances, state what you saw.

Angwer—Previous to, and after the outbreak, I was in the service
of Government as trensurer. In the month of
May, intelligence came to Cawnpoor of the outbreak
at Meerut, The troops here were suspected on receipt
of this news, and the General commenced making up
entrenchment. The Nana Dhoondo Punt, Mahratta,
was summoned to Cawnpoor by the Magistrate ; he
came, and brought along with him some cavalry and
infantry and a couple of guns, The Magistrate
entrusted to him the keeping of the treasury, On
the night of the 4th June the troops at the station
mutinied, robbed the treasury, set fire to the bunga-
lows, and released the prisoners in jail, after which
they marched to Kullianpoor ; the Nana became their
leader and marched them back to Cawnpoor. My
bungalow Ne. 100, which is situated on the grand
parade, was now burnt by them and plundered. I
heard a few shots fired in the Nunne Nawab’s house,
the sowars took the Nawab away, and the whole com-
menced firing on the entrenchments, The sepoys
and sowars were guilty of great oppression in the city,
and seeing this T quitted it through fear. .

Question—When you were at Cawnpoor, did you see or hear of
a Mahomedan flag been planted ?

Answeyr—There was 8 Mahomedan flag planted,

Question—Was there a proclamation issued inviting all classes to
flock to the flag?

Answere—Proclamations were issued.
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Question—What was written in those proclamations ?

Answer-—The proclamations invited the Mahomedans and Hindus
to unite in common for protection of their religions,

. Question—State the truth : who raised the Hag? By whose order
were the proclamations issued, and did you see the
flag with your own eyes 7

Answer—-1 did not see the flag with my own eyes, nor am I
aware who the person was that first of all got it up.
The proclamations: were issued from the press of
Musseh-oz-zuman, one of whose seholars farnished me
with a eopy.

Question—Do you know whether it was Kazi Wasceooddeen or
Moulvie Salamut Oollah who planted the flag ?

Answer—1I only know that both thess persons used to accompany
the flag.

Question—Did you Upon any occasion farnish mouey for the
sowars ! If you did furnish it, who were the reci-
pients ! What quantity did you give, and on what
account ? :

Answer—The fact is, that one day a servant of Kazi Waseood-
deen’s came to me from his master to say that the
cavalry moonshee and sowars intended plundering
my house, and that it was therefore necessary that I
should give them some money. Having said this, the
man departed.  About three hours afterwards, some
fifty sownrs came to my house and fired & fow shots,
then demanded ten thousand rupees of my eervants ;
whereupon I fled to the house of Bengali and ¢on-
cealed myself. It was settled between my servants
and the sowars that 1 should pay five hundred rupees ;
my servant paid this sum and thereby saved his life,

Question—Do you know who that cavalry moonshee was, and
where he used to live ?

Answer—1I do not know what his name was, but he used to
reside with the Kaz,

Wuestion—Who was that servant of the Kaz's tha
house about the money 7

Answer—-1 do not know who he was, but he nccompanied the
Kazi to my house when the latter visited me on two
or three occasions

t came to your
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Question—Who was that servant of yours that paid the money
with his own hands ?

Angwer—He was a relative of mine, by name Bhugwan Dass,

Question—Are You aware that the food prepared for the sowars
used to be cooked at the Kazi's house ?

Ansiwer—1I was not aware of this,

Question—How do you know that those proclamations that were
issued were printed by Mussch-oz=zoman, and do
you know the name of his pupil that used to distri-
bute them ¢ . :

A nswer—-1 heard the proclamations were printed at Mussch-oz-
mumana press, but I do not know the name of his
pupil who distributed them.

Question—State any further particulars yon know of the Nana's
durbar; who his chicf officers and advisers were,
and the ringleaders in the revolt

Aunwwer-—1 know nothing more,

Question—All that yon have now stated relative to the planting
of the Hag, &c., did you upon any occasion reveal to
anybody in authority 7

Answer-—Nobody ever enguired anything of me before, and
I cousequently related nothing to anybody, Now
that I have been called upon to do so, I readily
comply,

Question—Do you know auything concerning the batteries the
rebels placed in position against the English entrench-

ments J

Auswer—1 know nothing whatever concerning these batteries
further than having heard of their erection by the
Nana and his followers,

Question—Did you hear the names of the officers who com-
manded the batteries 7

Answer—No, I did not,

Question—Did you hear that Ahmed Ali Khan Vakil, Kasi
Waseeooddeen, Akber Al, and Kezi Ahmud were in
the habit of visiting the Nana, and if so what was
their object in so deing ?

Answer—~1 know nothing of these people nor did I ever see
them, but a certain Mohomed Istemal, Tahsildar,
reported my absence from my own house to Deputy



No. 26—Statement of Lalle Gunga Pervshad, senior,
Thundie Ram, caste Khutres, vesident of Ca
years, contractor and mahajun,

Question—When the troops mutinied at Cawnpoor, where were

Ramlall. T can produce the Urzie with the Tahsildars
signature affixed to it.
Question—Where is your servant Bhugwan Dass 7
Answer—He is at Lucknow.

you | .

Answer—=I was present in my house at Cawnpoor.
Question—State any particulars you know concerning the outbreak,
Answer—On the night of the 4th June 1857, the troops.

mutinied.  On the day following, they plundered the
treasury, set fire to the bungalows and marched off to
Kullianpore. The Nana, Mahratta, brought them back
from Knllianpore. Disorder and confusion were the
order of the day. I concealed myself from fear in my
own house,

-
Question — Were you in the habit of visiting the Nana ?
Answer—A servant of Mr, Palmer reported to the Nana that I

had money in my possession belonging to his master,
whereupou a guard of the Nana's came to my house
and commenced quarrelling with me. 1 reported the
circumstance to Kutwal Hoolas Sing; he sent n
chuprassie and persuaded the guard to depart. Hoolns
Sing seut me with one of his own men to the Nana,
who received me very kindly and enquired what
amount of money I had. I told him that I had four
hundred and sixty rupees, house-rent mouney. He
then ordered me to go to Azimoollah Khan at the
kutwalli, I did not go, but returned to my own
house. -

Question—W hen ¥ou saw the Napna, was there Ill}'bod}' else

with him ¢

Answer—VYes, there were present with him all the old Govern-

ment officials, i.e, amlah,

Wuestion—Mention their names,
Answer—There was Bilas Rai, sheristehdar foujdar. I do mot

know the names of the others,

tcni;mﬂhr of
wapoor, age 66 A

-l
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Question—Did yon ever again visit the Nana ?

Angwer—Many days after my first visit, Hoolas Sing, Kutwal,
sent for me and ordered me to go to the Nana, stating
that I should be employed in making tents. When I
arrived at the Nana's and he saw me, he got very
angry and told me to make him some tents unless I
wished to be disgraced. I would not agree to do so,
a guard was accordingly sent to my house which per-
force carried away five tents from my premises,

Question—Whom did you ses among the Nana's chief advisers
and officers ?

Answer—-1 saw the following :—Baba Bhut, Bala Rao, Azimoollah
Khan, Jwalla Pershad, Brabmin, and Tantia Topie
and many others,

Question —Was there any religions flag raised at Cawnpoor ?

Amswer—-1 heard the Mshomedans had raised a flag of this
nature,

Question—Who was the person that put up the flag ?

Answer—I heard it was Moulvie Salamut Oollah, Numbers of
Mahomedans flocked to it. I likewise heard that a
single eannon ball from the entrenchments dispersed
them,

Question—Did you receive any money for the tents ?

Answer——Yes, and in this manner ; when the Nana fled, Hoolas
Sing, Kutwal, sent for me and informed me that he
had some money which he requested me to keep. He
gave me about four hundred rupees, I did not ask
for it.

Question—Was there anybody else present when you received
the money ?

Answer—There was an agent of Bhugwan Dass, mahajun,
present, and he received some money likewise,

Question—Mention the names of any other of the chiefs whom
you know, followers of the Nana.

Answer—I know nothing about them.

Question—Did you hear that Nuone Nawab was in the habit
of going to the batteries ?

Answer—-1 did hear that Nunne Nawab was constantly going
about with the sowars, but whether he went 1 do not
know,



Question—Who was Bhugwan Dass's agent 7
Answer—1 do not kuow his name. 1 only know he was a
servaut of Bhugwan Dass,

Pershad, Khasanchee, resident of Cawnpoor.
Question—Where were you at the time of the mutiny at Cawnpoor?
Answer-—I was at Lals Shew Pershad's house at Cawnpoor, and

was his servant.

Question—Relate what you know of the mutiny,

Answer——About two orthree days after the mutiny we heard that

a Mahomedan flag had been raised, Lala Shew Porshad

gent me to see it and to ascertain what was going on,

I went and at Mogul Ke Serai, I saw a great crowd

of about 2 or 3,000 men and a green flag raised, I

went amongst the erowd, and asked whose Hag % was ;

they said it was a Mahomedan flag, and raised by

Moulvie SBalamut Oollah, I saw the Moulvie sitting

near the flag with a rosary in his hand, and heard

that the Moulvie had said he would see about the

enemy to-morrow. I then returned and told what T

heard and saw to Lala Shew Pershad. I know

nothing more,

Question—Did you hear the Moulvie say that this was an ill-
omened day to attack his foes and that he would go
to-morrow ¥

Answer-—Yes. I did hear it

Question—In the crowd did yon recognise any other Mahomedan #

Answer—-No, None,

Question—DBesides this, did you see anything else during the
mutiny {

Answer—1I never left the house, except when Lala Shew Pershad
sent me to see about the flag.

No. 28.— Deponition of Azeesun, prostitute, and resident of Cawnpoor.

Question—Bafore the mutiny, what sownrs of the 2nd Cavalry
were in the habit of paying you visits ?

Answer—I was in the keeping of Kulloo Mull, msahajun : thers-
fore no sowars of the 2ud Cavalry were allowed to
visit me,

- L

No 87.—Deposition of Luchmun Pershad in the employ of ﬂﬁ.ew‘

_RET
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Question—About two days before the mutiny, Shumshuddeen
Khan, sowar, came to your house and said that in
one or two days more the Peishwa's rule would be
established and the Nana would be supreme ?

Answer—-Bafore the mutiny, Shumshnddeen Khan, SOWAr, never
came to my house, T don't know the man, He may
have come without my knowing it.

Question — What do you know about the religions flag raised at
Cawnpoor 7 |

Answer—I heard that it was raised by Azeemoollah Khan, who
took Moulvie Salamut Qollah with him. The Monl-
vie in vain attempted to resist, He also took all the
residents of the city, and said * if you don't* come T
will blow you from the month of eannon ;” he must
have also taken Kazi Waseeooddeen. The sowars col-
lected all the people, and took them to a house near
the canal and they took mo also, There were about
1000 persons, men and women, collected thers, The
Nana and Azeemoollah ordered the people to attack
the entrenchments, Moulvis Salamut Oollah and
the people said, = you first attack them, then we will.”
They then sent the people away, and I also returned
home. I remember seeing’ the Nunne Nawab ;
Azim Ali Khan, Darogah ; Agha Meer Shah Alie;
Reear Alie; Monlvie Salamut Oollah; Baker Ali; Kagi
Wnseamddeen; and Ahmed Ali Khan, Vakil ; Moul-
vie Ubdul Ruhman ; Hoolas Bing, Kotwal; and
Rahim Khan, Native Doctor, and all the Government
officials were present, and g good many from the city
whose names I don't know.

No. 29 —Statement of Jowahri Sing, Dafadar of the Cawnpoor Police
Battalion, son of Bullum Sing, caste Brahmin, résident
of Koder Kotai, zillah Etawah, age 45 years ; serviee,

Question—When the rebels were at Cawnpoor, where were you?

Answer—-<I was at Cawnpoor and in the servigs of the mother of
Nunne Nawah,

Question—In those days where was the late Kotwal Hoolas Sing

Answer—Hoolas Sing resided in the * Khoord Mahal " at Cawn-

poor,

-
i 110



AFPENDIX elxxxv

Question—Did Hoolas Sing ever give a grey Arab horse to Nunne
Nawab ?

Answer—The day the Nana and the rebel force fled from Cawn-
poor, Hoolas Sing at night gave Nunne Nawab a
grey horse in my presence,

Question— Who mounted that horse, and where did he got?

Answer-—Nunne Nawab and Nawab Doolah that night along
with their families fled and went to Ghatumpore. I
likewise mccompanied them. The horse was with us,
but I do not remember who mounted the animal,

tJuestion—What became of the horse 7

Answer—The Nawab had the horse until we reached Humeer-
pore, and then the Nawab brought the snimal back
to Cawnpoor. After this I heard the Nawab gave the
horse to some gentleman.

Question—You were at Cawnpoor throughout the disturbances.
State how often and in what manner were the ladies
and geotlemen murdered, and who were the officers
present with the Nana, and who accompanied the
rebel forces to fight against the English troope.

Answer—1I ouly went twice in the direction of the Nana’s forces.
On one oceasion when the Mahumdee flag was planted,
I went to the Nunne Nawab with “pan.” The
Nunne Nawab was seated in a palankeen in the
compound of the present telegraph office. I gave
him the “ pan” and returned to my house, I saw
nothing more,

Question—What was the Nawab doing there, and who else was
with him ?

Answer—I1 do not know whom he went to see, or on what
account he went, There were ouly two or three
sowars with him at the time.

Question—Where was the Mahumdee flag planted, who raised it,
and who were present ?

Auswer-—1 did not see it, but heard a Mahomedan flag was
planted somewhere, and that Moulvie Salamut Oollah
wok the flag to the spot. And on the second oeca-
sion when the Nunne Nawab fled across the G
I was with his wife who was captured at the ghat in
a chaise ghasri.
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Question—What did you see of the Nana's army |

Answer—-1 only saw the Nana's court (durbar). T know not how
the ladies and gentlemen were murdered,

Question—Whom did you see in the Nana's eourt ?

Answer—I saw a great number of peopl- but do not know their
names, nor could I recognise them,

Question—How many days before the Nana fled, did the Nawab
ran away, and what was the reason of his leaving ?

Answer—About seven or cight days before the Nana fled, the
Nawab ran away

Question—Who were the sowars attending Nunne Nawab, and
why with him ?

Answsr— ~I do not know why they were escorting him; they
belonged to some corps of the army, and wore a blue
uniform,

Question —The rebsl Kotwal Hoolas Sing lived in the same honse
you occupied. You cannot therefore be as ignorant
as you pretend; it is better to state all you know of
rebel doings.

Answer—1I used to shut the door of the house and only left it on
one or two occasions when the Nawab sent for me,
I know mothing of rebels, and only heard that they
bad killed Furopeans.

Question —If you were not guilty of rebellion why did you leave
Cawnpoor on the approach of the British forces ?

Answer—1 was under the Nuwab's orders, being his mother’s
servant ; he ordered me to accompany him, so I went.

Question—What was your object in going to Humeerpore, then
oceupied by rebels ?

Answer—-1 was in the service of the mother of the N unne
Nawab and went with him : he must know why we
went,

Question—How long were you at Humeerpore ?

Answer—Seven or eight days. When we heard that the Nana
had fled and Cawnpoor retaken by the British, we
returned.

Question— How long have you been in the Nunne Nawab's service,
and how did you get into Government employ ?

Answer——1I have been 20 years in the service of the Nawab's
mother, and the Nunne Nawab was my security.
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No. 30.—Deposition of Moonshea Zuhooree, son o Jyesook, Sueeper,
Abkaree Darogah, Cawnpoor, 4

In May 1857, I heard of the Meernt outbreak and of the interrup-
tion of daks. About the end of the month the entrenchments at this
place were commenced. At this time the 1st Regiment of Infantry and
2ud Cavalry stationed here seemed to be inan excited state, when
a eepoy named Jan Mahomed went to the cavalry and held a
consultation, which proceeding was brought to the notice of the
Genernl by Subadar Bhowanee Sing, and led to the confinement of
Jan Mahomed. On the 4th June 1857, at night, the 2ud Cavalry
and 1st Light Infantry suddenly broke out, aud proceeded towards
the treasury at Nawabgunge, and on the next morning, the other
twe infantry regiments, ie, 53rd and 56th, joining them, broke
open the jail, and plundering the treasury, proceeded towards Kulliap-
pore; and it was rumoured that the Nana had also joined these muti-
neers, On the next day, i.e, Saturday, the 6th June, all the mutinous
troops returned to the station sccompanied by the Nana, who placed
himself in commsand.  The first shot fired by the mutineers was Irom
the Subadar’s tank, on the house of Azim Allee, Darogah of Oudh, who
then presented himself before the Nana, accompanied by his son: the
Nana sent for Bakur Ali, and Nizam-ood Dowla, who also Jjoined him,
After this they fired a cannon against the house of the Nunne Nawab
and took him a prisoner, plundering all his property. I hemsd of all
these occurrences whilst at the resideuce of Jeea Lall, Jemadar, at Gwal-
tola, and believe them to be true. The same day the mutineers come
menced firing at the entrenchments; the city wasina great uproar,
the burning and plundering of bungalows commenced, and all Chris.
tians, both men and women, were put to death wherever found, From
the place of my concealment at Gwaltola, by the assistance of 15 men
whum I had engaged, I had provisions couveyed during the night to
Captain Sir George Parker, Canlinoment Joint Magistrate, General
Wheeler, and Major Larkins, in the entrenchments. The fight eonti-
nued, and o battery was erected wear the church and racquet court,
under commund of the Nunne Nuwab, where Buldio Eing Zomindar
of Mouzah Seesa Mow, Jajmow, always remained in company with
the Nawab. A second battery under Nawab Bakur Al was erected
near the riding school, and a third under command of the Nang
on the mall. I did not see all these batteries, but was informed
of them by different people. The sw cepers who were unfriendly to me
took and made over the membere of my family to the mutineers an
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told them that they were a Christian family, When they were taken
prisoners, the people of the city interposed and stated that they were
sweepers and not Christians, and should therefors, not be put to death :
on this representation the mutineers released them, after which they
eoncealed themselves in the house of Bara Sweeper. On the 9th June,
1 heard that a number of ladies and gentlemen, and children, to-
gether with their servants, about 126 souls, were taken prisoners by
Heera Sing, Jowahur Sing, and Puhlwan Sing, Zemindars of Nuwab-
gung, and made over to the Nana. And I heard they were massacred
by his orders on the 10th June near the Savads house. Jowahur
Sing left-the station on that very day, but Heera Sing, the brother
of Jowahur Bing, and Puhlwan Sing, a relative of his, are still there,
After this, I heard of many Eunropean travellers being killed at different
places, On the 14th June I sent to the entrenchments, by Kullee,
Bhocdoo and thirteen others, a supply of eggs, sugar, bread, butter, &e.,
to Major Larkins of the artillery ; these people were taken prisoners by
the mutineers and blown away from guns on the next day. At the
time of their capture, they confessed that they had been sent by me,
consequently a search was made for me, when I stealthily left the station,
bearing a note from Major Larkins to Allahabad with a gold ring set
with five diamonds given to me by the Major's lady ; these I delivered to
the authoritics at Allahabad. I returned to Cawnpoor in company
with the European troops.

Question—You have stated that a battery was erected near the
racquet court under command of Nawab Nunne, and
that Buldeo Sing, &c., were with him. Did you see
the Nawab ?

Answer-—From the place of my concealment I observed for many
days Nawab Nunne, Nizam-co-dowla, and Bakur Ali
Khan, brother of the Nawab, together with Buldeo
Sing and Munsub Ali, &e, zemindars, and & number
of other people going daily to the batteries accompa-
nied by a number of armed men, and was also told by
others that these people were going to the batteries.
I saw the Nawab and his brothers mounted on horse-
back.

Question—Did you hear whether the Nawab went of his own
accord to the batteries or was he taken there as a
prisoner by the Nana's men 7
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Answer——1I do not think he went there as a prisoner. But cer-
tainly on the first day, when the mutineers returned
from Kullianpore he was taken a prisoner to the
Nana, but after that, he went about the batteries of
his own accord, accompanied by a host of attendants,
It was also rumoured that the Nana had promised to
make over Cawnpoor to the Nawab, Thousands of
persons, residents of this place, know all this. When
the members of my family were taken prisoners on
Sth June, I left Gwaltola and went to Buldeo Sing
Tewarry’s house, in Kirswan, and hid myself on the
housetop, from whence I could see Nunme Nawab
going to the batteries daily, and also Teeka Sing and
Jwalla Pershad, who wete commandants of the muti-
neer forces,

No. 81.—Deposition of Seo Pershad Panday, son of Banee Pershad,
Brahmin, resident of Cawnpore, age 50 years,

Juestion—When the mutiny broke out at Cawnpore, where were
you ? 2

Answer—I was in the station,

Question—State clearly and truly the occurrences that came
under your observation ?

Answer—-In the month of May, I heard & rumour of the mutiny
of the Meerut troops; the Nana came from Bithoor
with guns. Suddenly one night a fire broke out at
the cavalry lines, and in the morning I heard that the
troops of the station had mutinied, broken open the
Jail, and plundered the treasury, after which they
went away towards Kullianpore. On the pext morn-
ing I was told that the Nana had brought hack the
mutinous troops, which caused a great commotion,
Europeans were put to death, wherever met with ;
and the sepoys commenced plundering ; cannons were
discharged in the direction of the church, and it wag
rumoured that the Nunne Nawab had been plundered,
The troopers were scattered about, at the different
mahajuns’ residences, extorting money, When the
fight commenced at the entrenchments, all the bad
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characters of the city joined the mutineers, and all
Christians were massacred, wherever found. There
were four batteries erected against the entrenchment :
Nunne Nawab was in charge of the battery near the
racquet court, and the battery near the artillery
stables was, I think, commanded by Nawab Bakir Ali;
the other batteries were occupied by the sepoys and
troopers and the Nana’s men.

Question—Did you personally see these men on the batteries, or
only hear of them ?

Answer—I saw them personally, and on one occasion, at noon, I
was sitting at & well near the horse artillery bazar,
when a trooper made a prisoner of me and taking
me to the Nawab's battery told me to remain there
in attendance on the sepoys giving them drink. I
was then compelled to remain there till the evening,
and it was then that I saw the persons on the differ-
ent batteries.

Question—State who this Nawab was, and how was he engaged ?

Answer—He was the Nunne Nawab, and was seated in a chair
in the racquet court, with a hookah placed before
him. The sepoys and a number of other men were
in attendance. Guns were being fired. Sometimes
the Nawab would be walking up and down the
racquet Court, and at other times he would come
out of the place.

Question— Was the Nawab in confinement or was he free ?

Answer—-He was not under any restraint, but appeared to be
the commander and master of the place: every one
obeyed the orders given by him.

Question—You have stated that the Nawab was plundered by the
mutineers ; how then was he on their side and engaged
in giving orders

dnswer——I1 have stated whatever I heard and saw. On the firs
day the Nawab's house was plundered, but afterwards
I heard that he and the Nana and the mutineers had
made friends, and the Nawab was in full authority.
and always remained at the battery giving orders.
This fact is well known to thousands,
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Question—When you were brought a prisoner to the Nawab's
battery, did you see any other Brahmin there whom
you knew ?

Answer—VYes, there was nnother man named Bajay Lall, a
Brahmin, who was taken up the same time as myself,
and there were two others, named Muttra, a Brahmin,
and Ram Pershad Tewarry, who were engaged in
giving drink to the sepoys.

Question—Where are the two latter named persons now

Answer—They are living at Poorana Gunj, st Cawnpore.

Question—How often did you see Europeans murdered §

Amnswer-—-1It is impossible to recollecs this, but I often heard that
as many Europeans as were found at different times
were always massacred. On one occasion I saw g
number of Europeans massacred in the Savada house
about 4 AL by the Nana's orders.

Question—When the Europeans left the entrenchments for the
ghats, what occurrences did you observe ?

Answer—1I did not leave my house on that day, but heard of the
massacre, and that several ladies and children who
escaped it were put into confinement, and that a
trooper had carried away Major-General Wheeler’s
daughter. Talso heard that this lady put an end to
the trooper, and threw herself down a well,

Question—Did you hear swhere this took place, and into which
well the lady threw herself?

Answer—I do not know anything regarding this.

Question—Do you know anything of the massacre of the ladies
and children, who were in confinement ?
Angwer—When the European troops reached Futtehpoor, and

the Nana and his troops fled, the massacre took place.

I did not hear by whom and how they were massacred.
Question—Had Nunne Nawab any arms at the battery ?
Answer—He had a sword and telescope by him, and used to go

to the guns and direct the artillerymen what ta do,

—_—

No. 32.—Deposition of Bajay Lall, Brakmin, age 42 years, resident

of Cawnpoor,
Question—When the mutiny broke out at Cawnpoor, where were
you?
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Answer—I was at my house in Cawnpoor,

Question—State what you know of the outbreak,

Answer—-In the month of May, a rumour reached Cawnpoor
that the Native troops had mutinied at Meerut.
Some days after this, the regiments at this station
also broke out, and I heard that the 2nd Cavalry
and the Ist Native Infantry took the lead. The
next day, the other regiments also broke out, and
all of them conjointly broke open the jail and
plundering the treasury proceeded towards Kuallian-
pore. 1 also heard that on the invitation of the
Nana all the mutineers returned to the station, and a
fight ensued between them and the European troops
within the entrenchments. A number of Christians
were killed, their houses set on fire, and all their
property plundered and destroyed. 1 became alarmed
and retired to my honse from whence could perceive
all that was going on, Batteries were erected, and
the fight commenced,

Question—At what places were the batteries erected ?

Answer—There were four batteries erected, one near the
racquet court, one near the church, another on the
mall, and the fourth near the cavalry lines opposite
the nullah,

Question—Who did you see engaged at these batteries ?

Answer-—The Nunne Nawab was at the battery near the rac-
quet court, Nawab Bakur Ali was at the one near
the church, and on the other two, the sepoy, and a
number of the Nana’s men.

Question—How do you know that the N unne Nawab was at the
battery near the racquet court ?

Answer—-1 frequently saw the Nawab's conveyance going to and
returning from the battery in question, and I often
saw him seated there on a chair with a table placed
before him. On one oceasion, about three o'clock in
the afterncon, some of the Nawab's men took me
forcibly to the battery - nd told me to remain there,
and supply water to the men, I spoke to the Nawab
and begged of him to let me go, stating that I was a
poor Brahmin, when he told me that as I wasa
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Brahmin, Twould ouly have to give drink to the men,
and that I should therefore remain, T was thus com-
pelled to stay. I saw several other persons there,

Question—Did you recognise any of them and what were their
names ¥

Answer—There was one Sheopershad Pandy, a Brahmin, taken
up at the same time that T was. In the evening,
finding an opportunity of escaping, I left the place.

Question—Did you see the Nunne Nawab there as a prisoner ?

Answer—He was not a prisoner, but had full authority over the

. troops,

Question—Was the Nawab in a tent of in a house ?

Answer——He oceupied the racquet conrt and when I was taken
to him, he was seated on a chair in the open plain,

Question —Did you see any Europeaus killed 7

Answer——When the fight was going on within the entrenchments,
I saw a number of persons shot to death on the plain
near Savada house, and was told that they had come
from some other station. On the same day, n person
named Mr. Williams, a writer, was brought & prisoner
from Colonelgunge. He was known to me, and I
went some distance with him, but when T saw the
massacre, I left the place,

Question—State what you observed on the day the Europeans left
the entrenchments,

Answer—1I will state truly whatever I saw. In the morning (the
date I do not remember), I was told that the Euro-
peans were going to leave the entrenchments, and I
saw thousands of persons proceeding to see the sight,
I accompanied them and saw a number of Europeacs,
some carried by elephants, others on palanquins, pro-
ceeding towards the ghat, escorted by & number of
armed troopers and sepoys. When the Europeans
were getting into the boats, the sepoys and troopers
discharged & volley of musketry, and setting fire to
the boats, opened on them with guns: seeing this,
I left the place and returned to my house, All the
Europeans, both male and female, together with
children were massacred, Some of them that weps

)
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not dead but severely wounded, were brought away
and confined in the Savada house. I also heard that
Europeans coming in from other stations were also
massacred at Savada,

Question—Did yon hear anything of the murder of the Colonel
of the 1st Regiment, Native Infantry ?

Answer——1 heard nothing of this occurrence,

Question - When the Europeans were massacred at the boats, did
you see or hear of a lady being carried off by a
trooper !

Answer—-1 did not see the occurrence, but heard of it; and
I also heard that the lady in question killed the
trooper.

Question - What became of the ladies confined in the Savada
house #

Answer—-I heard that when news of the advance of European
troops reached Cawnpore, they were all massacred.

No. 33, —Deposition of Perma Nund, Jemadar, in the employ of the
late General Wheeler

I was in the service of General Wheeler when the mutiny broke
out at Cawnpoor. There were first reports that a disagreement had
arisen between the sepoys and their officers regarding cartridges ; then
intelligence came that the Meerut force had risen against the Euro-
peans ; then I heard that some Snhib had fired at a sowar. and that o
well-known Subadar or Jemadar of the troops here, Teeka Ram, had
taken advantage of this circumstance to excite disagreement and in-
surrection. When the Sshibs were all living in the hospital within
the entrenchment, the report spread that at midnight of the 4th June
the eavalry regiment had got under arms and sounded their trumpets,
and that the 1st Native Infantry had followed their example, When these
two regiments formed outside their lines, the gentlemen went outside the
entrenchment and stood looking on. 1 was with them, The two COrps
marched off towards Nawabgunge, and, I heard, went to the treasury
and made arrangements for the disposal of the treasure, going after-
wards to the jail and bresking it open, and liberating the prisoners,
The next morning, after daybreak, the 53rd and 56th Native Infantry
also marched out and joined the others, some of their ufficers however
left them and came into the entrenchment ; I do not know their names,
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I then heard that the whole force went to Kullianpore, en vouts
for Delhi, and that the Nana called them back.

On the 6th June the firing on the entrenchment commenced, and
from that day ingress or egress became difficuls. Sometimes servants
who got out made their way with difficulty as far as the bazar of tne
European lives. All the gentlemen, ladies, and Europeans, to the yum-
ber of from 500 to 550, were within the entrenchmens, with thres or
four guns which were disposed at the four faces. Fighting went on,
and on the 18th of June one of the guns becume disabled by the fire
from the Nunne Nawab's battery ; soon two more broke down, and the
English began to despair. The positions of the batteries of the rebels
were us follows: The first, “ the Nuuee Nawab's,” was near the rac-
quet court ; the second, “ Nawab Bakur Aloe's,” near the stables; the
third, * the Nana's" in the direction of the mall ; the fourth, © the
sepoys™ towards the nullah. Men outside of these batteries were
visible from the interior of the entrenchment, and hundreds of spectu-
tors used to look on, Nawab Bakur Allee is a prisoner now, and
I believe the Nunne Nawab has been forgiven.

The English then negotiated a treaty with the Nana. Some mer-
chant’s wife went out and made her way to him, The retirement of

. the English to Allababad was agreed upon, the Nana taking a solemn

oath. Two meu named Azeemoollah and Jwalla Pershad came to the
entrenchment to convey the Nana's ratification on onath of the Agrens
ment, and I heard that a written treaty signed by hun was also
recaived,

The fighting then ceased, and the Naua sent some food for the
garrison. On the morning of (I think) the 26th June, elephants, pal-
kees, doolies, carts and beds, and other means of conveyance were
brought, and all the Evglish set off on them. The General, his lady
and his two daughters, mounted one elephant, and 1, Ramdeen, bearer,
Khods Bukhsh, khitmutgar, and Hingun, cook; and all his servants

who were with the General in the entrenchment accompanied on foot: -

and the General, his lady and daughters, the Adjutant-General, Bri
gade-Major, Captains Thompson and Delafosse, and we four servants
embarked in one boat, depositing the things we had in it. The other
Euglish were embarking in other boats when a shot was heard, two op
three boats were set on fire, and a great outery and noise arose At this
wa all became terrified, bat the Genaral gave the boatmen a prasent of
& bag of Rs. 1,000 and they pushed offf. When we had gone & little
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way below the village of Chajhmow, about a gunshot distant from the
Suttee Chowra Ghat from which we had started, a cannon ball hit the
stern of the boat. I do not know from which bank it eame. The boat
swung round and all the sahibs became terrified. Captains Delafosse
and Thompson jumped out, and one of the General's daughters
followed, whether the elder or the younger, I cannot remember. We
four men then leaped out too. I do not know what became of
Captains Delafosse and Thompson, or which side the boat went to. I
however saw a cavalry sowar take Miss Wheeler out of the nullah.
We ran off and hid in a jhao Jungle ; when we eame out, Raja Suttee
Pershad of Sheorajpore, who was there on horseback, arrested us, and
put us in confinement in Mouzah Sheorajpore.  We remained there in
confinement eleven or twelve days. When the intelligence of the
approach of the British Army arrived, we were sent to the house of
Ram Bukhsh, Babu, in Dhoondeea Khera, who kept us prisoners in the
stocks for 20 days. He then released us on our promising not to enter
the service of Europeans again, sending us across the Ganges. I went
to Cawnpoor, and the other three to their homes, the locality of which
I am not aware of,
Question —What happened after the sowar took Miss Wheeles
out of the water ?
Answer—-1 did not see whether he took her away or killed her.
Question—Did you know and recognise the boatmen to whom
the General gave the Rs, 1,000 in your presence }
Answer- ~He gave the bag in my presence, and I looked well at
the boatmen, but I do not know their names. The
General had many bags with him, and when we loft
the entrenchment he wished to give each of us a bag
of Rs. 1,000 as a present, but we said we would not
accept them until we had seen him safe to Allahabad,
He gave Rs. 1,000 to an ayah who had remained in
the entrenchment, but whose name I do not know ;
and she brought the money out of the place when
the garrison evacuated it., A sepoy however snatched
it from her and gave her a blow with his tulwar. I
saw this from a distance as I was going along with
the General,
Question—How do you know that the Nunme Nawab and
Nawab Bakur Alee were in the attack batteries ?

e |
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Auswer—We used to see them every day from the entrench-
ment, and hundreds of men of the regimental, artil-
lery, nnd other bazars in Cawnpoor know they were;
having actually seen them there. One day the
Nunne Nawab with about 50 of the cavalry made
an assault on the entrenchment at about 3 PM., and
fought with Captain Vibart, of the 2nd Cavalry, and
a sergeant who were on the embankment. I myself
saw the Nawab shoot the officer through the chest,
and the sergeant was wounded by a shot from a
sowar. The alarm was given, and the Nawab and his
sowars all turned and ran away, Both the enptain
and the sergeant died that day,

Question—When you accompanied the General out of the eq-
trenchment did you see Colonel Ewart of the lst
Native Infantry ?

Answer—-1 did not know the names of the officers of that regi-
ment, but T know that the Colonel of the COrps was
wounded by-a bullet and was carried ont of the
entrenchment that day on a charpoy, his wife accom-
panying him. I know nothing more about him.

No, 84—Deposition of Jhokun, servant of the late Colonel Williams, aof
the 56th Regiment, Native Infantry, .

I entered Colonel Williams' service about November 1856 at
Bousee. On our arrival at Cawnpoor, there was no sign of what was to
follow. The cartridge question used to be talked about, but it did not
seem to engross much attention. The 58rd and 56th Native Infantry
showed great lukewarmness until the mutiny actually broke out. The
1st Native Infantry and 2nd Cavalry were at the bottom of it, and
were the instigators. I had no idea of what was likely to take place
until I bad gone into the entrenchments with my master, Buot on the
1st Native Infantry and 2nd Cavalry breaking out I felt that the
troops were irresistibly gone. The officers I left in their tents at the
regimental lines, ten days before they went into the entrenchments,
All ladies and house servants vsed to go down to the lines at night
and the chowkidars and syces used to remain at the houses. The
Colonel used to converse with the men in the evening and do his best

to allay their apprehensions regarding the cartridges and apparently
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with success. I don't know what took the officers into the entrench-
ments, as there was no active demonstration on the part of the troops
to lead me to suppose that it was from fear of an immediate attack,
I could not hear of any meetings among the sepoys taking place before
the officers went into the entrenchments they may have done so
without my knowledge. My work kept me at my master’s house and
I had no opportunity of hearing anything I accompanied my master
into the entrenchments. All the servants went also, with the excep-
tion of the syces. My master took but one horse, the syce of which
went with him. Baichoo Singh, sepoy of Light Company, went into the
entrenchments with Colonel Williams, For the first four days the
orderlies used to attend on their officers. On the night of the 4th
June, after the occupation of the entrenchment, the 1st Native
Infantry and 2ad Light Cavalry broke out and marched to Kullianpore,
The officers in the entrenchments were aware of the cavalry going, for
they saw their lines on fire and made ready for an attack. There was '
u report that the Ist Regiment, Native Infantry, had gone off with the
cavalry, which proved correct in the morning., On the 5th June, all
the officers in the entrenchments, keeping two or three servants with
them, told the others to load all their property in the bungalows on
boats, and when this was done te inform them ; after which the boats
were to go to Allahabad, On this order I left the entrenchmeut and
ussisted in taking my master’s property to the boats. He conld get
no coolies, so we had to carry the things ourselves, After the 1st
Native Infantry and 2nd Light Cavalry had gone, the officers of
the 53rd and 56th went down to the lines of their respective regi-
ments, who were assembled aceording to the orders of their ofjcers
ou parade. I had gone away to help to load the boats, After
this T never eutered the entrenchments, 1 was occupied on the boats
on the 6th of June, when about 10 A, we all heard the first gun
fired by the rebels, and leaving work mn towards the entrench-
ments, but found it was surrounded by rebel sepoys who would not
let ns pass. I did not see them turn out, bug, as I was taking some
things to the boat on the morning of the 5th, I saw the eolonel’s
guard leaving and asked them where they were going; they said
the regiment had left the lines, and they were going to join it
Baichoo Singh, above mentioned, did not go with the regiment. He
told me that the Nana from Bithoor had met the 1st Native Infantry
and cavalry, at Kullianpore, and persuaded them not to carry out
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their design of guing to Delhi, but to return to Cawnpore, plunder the
treasury, and fight the English. I don't know how the 33rd and 56th
came to join the others, but I know that, after they met, they became
one, All T know about the sepoys is what Baichoo Singh told me,
He told me that the Nana, Tantia Topie and Bala Rao had assumed
the control of the rebel forces, They were all three present when the
rebels opened on the entrenchments.  Baichoo Singh joined his regiment
the day after the first attack, but used to come to the servants, who
remained at the house, to ask about the colonel and his lndy, and told
us to give him all the information we conld about them, We conld,
howsver, give him none, as we had no means of getting any ourselves.
For nineteen days the fight went on with ouly slight cessations at
night. The guos of the rebels were freely answered by the besieged
for the first four days; after this the fire was very slack, and it was
only at long intervals they fired, except in the case of an assault, when
the firing was more tapid.  The last two days there was a cessation
from firing while some treaty was being made, On enquiring from
Baichoo Singh the cause of the sudden cessation, he told me that a
letter had been received by the Naua from the entrenchment, and thag
both parties were treating, and that in a short time the officers would
come out. Even after the cessation of hostilities we were not allowed
to go and see our masters. On the morning of the 26th J une, three
officers of the 56th, named Goad, Fagan, and Warde, mouuted on an
elephant, and two Europeans whose names and regiments I don’t know,
mounted on another elephant, eame out of the entrenchments and
went to the river to inspect the boats, The gardener and T, taking
some grapes, went up to the officers and told them that we were in a

starving condition and wanted to come to oup masters. in the ep-"

trenchment. They said “ No, You eaun't come with us, but we shall come
out to-morrow and you shall accompany us down to Allahabad in boats,”
Messrs, Goad and Warde each gave me Rs. 2. Afier inspecting the
boats they returned to the entrenchments, I asked these officers
abont my master and mistress and the other offiers of the 56th. They
told me that my master, Colonel Williams, Major Prout, and Captain
Holliday had died natnral deaths. Licutenant Chalmers had been shot,
the rest were well. They also told me my mistress was well but slightly
wouuded, and that Miss * * was dead. Her death was caused by fright
at the cannonade, and that she was not wounded, On the 27th June,
a little before 6 A.M., us many as could walk came out: some of the

L
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wounded in doolies, others of whom were left behind in the entrenchments,
This part of my narrative was witnessed by me. The party from the
entrenchment was unarmed and surrounded by sepoys. I had great
difficulty in reaching my mistress. I saw Baichoo Singh at the ghat
and asked him to procure an interview with my mistress for me, He
said it was impossible : that the men would shoot him if he attempted
such a thing. After much persuasion he took me to the havildar-
major of the 56th Native Infantry, who said the thing was impossible,
1 appealed to him, and begged him to remember the kindness he had
received from the colonel  After persuasion, he said he could not show
his face before the colonel's ludy, but directed four sepoys to take me
to my mistress and to prevent my being disturbed. The havildar's
name was Amundee Deen Misser. T was then taken to my mistress,
with whom were her two daughters, Miss * * and Miss * %
They were in a wrétched plight, scorched and blistered by the sun,
My mistress had a slight bullet-wound on her upper lip, She told the
same story as the gentlemen of the 56th, above named, that Iy master
had died on the night of the 8th of June. My mistress then asked
about the property left in the house, and enyuired about all the
servants ; she enquired particularly after the cook, who, I told her, was
residing in “ General Gunge." She then told me to go and feteh him,
as she wanted him to go down to Allahabad with her, and told me to
g0 to her son in the hills and inform him of all thut had occurred, 1
replied that my child was in Cawnpore and that T could not leave
him, She told me then to take my child to my house, and then to
miuke every endeavour to join her son as soon as the roads should
be open, and to show her son the spot where the colonel was
" buried. I told her I did not know the spot,  She said the
syce who remained with them in the entrenchment would show
it. I then went to call the cook., As I was returning with him to
the boats we heard musketry, and both of us ran to the river to sea
what was the matter. On reaching the banks of the river, I saw that
the Europeans were all on board the boats, and being fired into: five of
the boats were on fire,. Men and women Jumped into the water which
was over their waists ; when the sépoys went in with their swords, and
eut them up. I could not bear the sight any longer, so went away to
the bungalow, I heard from Baichoo Singh that 112 women and
children had been saved and taken to the Savada. He told me that
Miss * * andMrs, * % wore there I then went to see them,
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but could not get near them on account of the sentries, but saw that
food was being distributed to them. It consisted of native bread and
milk. I remonstrated with Baichoo Singh and begged of him tosupply
people, who had lived in a very different way, with better fond. He
gave me eight annas to go to the bazaar and buy some sweetments. I did
so. But on my return was prevented going to the ladies. The havil-
dar-major again gob me permission to go to them, Miss * * 4nd
Mrs, * * caweinto the verandah to meet me, Miss * * o
peated her mother's injunctions about my going to her brother. 1 gava
them the sweetmeats, and had little time to speak to them ; for, seeing
me, the other ladies came out into the verandah, on which the sentries
turned me out. I got four annas from Baichoo Singh and started off
the next morning towards my house in Oudh, 1 reached my home, and,
placing my child there, I started for Colonel Williams' son. I got as
far as Byram Ghat, where [ was stopped and not allowed to procead
further. L then returned agmin to my house. On Lucknow being
occupied by the British, I again went and attempted to get to Colonel
Williams’s son; but was this time made a prisover on the suspicion
that I was seeking employment among the British, and kept in con-
finement for a month in the Begum's camp at Boondes, Sinee then
I bave been secking for Mr, Williams.

Question—On what day were the officers’ houses burnt ?

Angwer —The day the attack on the entrenchments commenced.

Question—Did all the drummers go into the entrenchment ?

Answer—Yes, nearly all,

Question—What became of the servants who went on board of
the boats 7

Answer—White or black, they were indiscriminately murdered.

Question—Did you see any boat get away ?

Answer—One boat with twelve men got away. On board of it
were two officers, Murray and Anderson of the 56th,
and the Quartermaster-Sergeant of the same regi-
ment. I dou't know who the others were,

Question—Were the guns brought to play upon the boats ?

Angwer—Yes, And on the boat that got away guns played
with round shot from both sides of the river, but none
struck,

Question—Did this boat escape entirely ?
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Answer—No, It was captured some short distance down the
river, and I saw the gentlemen bronght back bound.
They were brought back by the road.

Question—What became of these prisoners ?

Answer—-1 left Cawnpore the next morning and do not know
their fate.

Question—Who captured and braught back these prisoners

Answer—The 2nd Light Cavalry alone.

Question—Were the Nana, Tantin Topee, and Bala Rao present
when'the embarkation was taking place 7
Answer—=I only saw Tantia Topee ; he was dismounted, and his

horse standing close by.

Question—Was there any order among the sepoys, or were they
all mixed up together, when the massacre was taking
place ; and did you see any men of any one particu-
lar regiment more active than the others.

Answer—Thsy were not drawn up in any order, but extended in
a long line down the banks, It was impossible to see
who wns most active, The sepoys fired for about
half an hour, but it was the Nanu's people and men
of a local regiment, that had come over from
Lucknow, that cut up the Europeans in the water
with their swords : the Feeda Hoosein Regiment,

Question—How was it that 112 women and children escaped
from the heavy fire yon desoribe ?

Answer—The thatch of the boats stopped the bullets.

Question—Who stopped the massacre, so that those people were
saved 7

Answer——I1 don't know who gave directions to stop the massacre.

Question—Were there any influential men from the city mixed
up with the sepoys or in the Nana's confidence ?

Answer-—No. 1 know of none, Ididn't go among the sepoys, but
heard all I have related above from Baichoo Singh.

Question— When did you again visit Cawnpore ?

Answer—Not till after the British authority had been re-estab-
lished.

Question—Are you certain that the officers were four days in the

entrenchment before the attack commenced ?
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Answer—Yes, I am certain they were in the entrenchments
four days before being attacked. The 1st Native
Infantry and 2nd Light Cavalry broke out on the 4th
night, and the fighting commenced on the sixth day.

Question—Did you see General Wheeler at the ghat ?

Answer——DNo, I did not. But I saw him in the entrenchment
before the attack.

Question—After the massacre at the ghat, were all the ladies taken
to the Savada, and do you know of any of the sepoys
or others taking any of the ladies away ?

Answer—They were all taken together to the SBuvada, and I
know of no lady being taken away by any sepoys.

Question—Did you see any children destroyed, and, if so, how
were they killed ?

Answer—-1 did not see any killed at the ghat.

Question—Do you know of any servant who escaped from the
boats ?

Answer-—1 only know of one, and believe her to be a solitary
instance. She wns wet-nurse to my master's child,
She came out of the boat almost naked. The mob
were going to kill her, but were prevented by the
sepoys. 1 asked her what had become of the child.

- She said her master had thrown it into the river, and
told her to leave the boat.

Question—Did you see any Christian female dishonoured in any
way while at Cawnpore?

Answer—1I did not.

Question—Did you see any of the officers of the 56th at the ghat !

Answer——1 saw Messrs Goad, Warde, Kempland and the Doctor
on board the boats. This was before I went for the
cock. On my return I did not see them,

No. 35.—Deposition of Choonee Lal, Mahajun, resident of Nanoo,

I reside near the encamping ground at Choteypore. When the
mutiny broke out at Cawnpore, the men of my village took advantage
of it to plunder and create disturbances,

Two days after the Cawnpore mutiny, a detail, consisting of two
troops of the Tth Cavalry and two companies of the 48th Native Infantry,
from Lucknow encamped at Choteypore. On their arrival, the distur-
bances immediately ceased ; but the next day we heard rumours that this
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party had also joined the Nana. On the following day (it was Tuesday,
the 9th June), about noon, a bugle sounded, and there was an uproar
in the eamp. I went to the top of my house and saw three Europeans
mounted. They fled by the road to the east of the encamping ground,
and were pursued by the sowars. Finding the road to the east occu-
pied by sepoys, they turned to the south, followed by the troopers who
were firing at them., Some men of my village joined the mutineers,
The three officers were murdered about a mile from the encamping
ground by the village of Tinheea. The troopers shot them. Being
on bad terms with some of the Rajpoots of my village, they tock
advantage of the disturbance to bring some of the sepoys to plunder
my house, 1 fled to Bithoor and took refuge with Geshree, Putwarie,
who told me shortly afterwards that the troops encamped at Chotey-
pore had brought in the heads of some Europeans. At dark I went to
the house of the Rao, the Nana's nephew, where the heads were ex-
pesed. There were thousands looking on, and I recognized the three
heads as those I had seen at Choteypore. A gentleman and a lady
were also brought into Bithoor by the mutineers, The lady was in a
dooly. They were not murdered whilst 1 was there, and I do not
know what became of them.
Question— Can you give a description of the three murdered offi-
cers
Answer—-1 only saw them from a distance, and codld not de-
scribe their features,
Question—Describe the gentleman and lady brought in prison-
ars,
Answer—-The gentleman was middle-aged ; and the lady, young,
and pregnant,
Question—Can you name the men of your villsge who joined the
mutineers in murdering the officers ?
Answer—-Yes, some of them. Lochun Sing, Bhugwan Sing,
Geshrie Sing, Dulman Sing, Munrahun Sing, with
others whose names I do no not recollect.

No. 36.— Deposition of Maun Sing, Brakmin, vesident of Nanoo,
Two or three days after the mutiny at Cawnpore, some sepoys
and sowars, accompanied by three Evrvpeans, encamped on the Chotey-
pore encamping ground close to my village, and near to which I was, at
the time, engaged in watching some mango trees, One day I heard &
disturbance in the camp and shots fired. 1 saw three geotlemen on



horseback pursued by sowars, Some Thakoors and Rajpoots joined
the mutineers, on seeing which I fled to my home. The next day I
saw the headless corpses of the three gentlemen on the road from the
encampivg ground to Tinheea,
Question—Who were the men that joined the mutineers ?
Angwer -Bijool Sing, Meerahedun Sing, Geshree Sing, Pun-
chum Sing, Bhugwan Sing, and several others

No. 87 —Degposition of Mungna, Akeer, resident of Nanoo,

My house is close to the encamping ground at Choteypore. I do
not remember the day, but, after the mutiny ut Cuawnpore, some troops
encamped there. On the third day, in the afternoon, there was a dis-
turbance in the camp, and, from the top of my house, I saw the sowars
pursuing three gentlemen who were on horseback. Some of the Raj-
poots of my village joined them, T heard that the Europeans had been
shot by the sowars, and afterwards saw three headless corpses lying
on the road between Choteypore and Tinheea,

Question—What became of the bodies ?

Answer—1I do not know,

Question—What are the names of the villagers who joined the

mutineers ?

Answer—They were Lochun Sing, Meerahun Sing, Dewan Sing,

o Geshree Sing, Bijolie, Oojogur and Ruttun Sing.

No. 38 —Deposition of Appajee Luchman, Bhakree, son of Luckman
Punth, Bhakree, age 67 years, resident of Bithoor,
Question—When the disturbances broke out at Cawnpore, where
were you ?
Answer—1 was at Bithoor at the time. On the 6th June,
when the Nana's rule was proclaimed, Goordeen,
Agent of Meina Bais, and Tutee Bace, the late Peish-
wa's widow, together with his family were put to
death by the Nana's orders, and Appa Shastree and
myself, with five others, were put in confinement with
irons. On Tuesday, 9th June, two troops of cavalry
and twe compunies of sepoys brought in to the Rao at
Bithoor the hends of three Europeans, together with
a geotleman snd lady. The latter was pregnant,
On reaching the Rao, the sepoys wished to put them
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to death, but Mainta Baee and her daughter inter-
fered, and said that, if the lady was put to death, they
would put an end to themselves ; on which the Rao
ordered the lady to be kept in the Burra Sahib's
house, and sent the gentleman and the three heads
to the Nana Four or five days after this, about 40
or 45 persons, ladies and children inclusive, were
sent into Bithoor, by Jussa Sing, zemindar of
Futteypore Chourasie. They reached the place in
the evening. The Rao treated them very kindly and
sent food for them. At this time the Rao had no evil
intentions towards these Europeans. On the next
day, a messenger sent by Bala and the Nana from
Cawnpore reached the Rao, and, in secordance with
the instructions received by him, he sent away all
the gentlemen and ladies to the Nana, Two or three
days after the lady, who was kept in the Burra
Sahib's house, was delivered of a daughter, and great
care wus taken of her. Whatever news regarding the
Nana reached the Baee's was conveyed by them to
me, and I forwarded it on to Lala Manuck Chund’s
Gomashta, by means of Teekagee Punth and Appa
Shastree, who wrote letters for me. After the en-
trenchments were vacated, the Nana and Bala both
came to Bithoor, and the former took his seat on the
throne. Presents were offered to him, salutes fired,
and the place illuminated in honour of the occasion.
After this, Bala returned to Cawnpore, and the Nana
remained at Bithoor. When news of the approach
of British troops at Futieypore reached Cawnpore,
Teeka Sing who was made a General, accompanied by
a number of sepoys and Sowars, came to Bithoor, on
account of a liispute hmring arisen  between the
troops regarding payment, and took away the Nana
with him to Cawnpore. When the European troops
reached Cawnpore, the Nana left it, came to Bithoor
during the night, and commenced having boats pre-
pared. Choonnee Sing, Chowdree, an old servant of
the Nana's, got all the Nana's property loaded on
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boats, elephants, and hackeries, and despatched them
across the river from Teekapore ghat on the same
night. The Nana left in a boat on F riday night, the
17th July. When he was leaving, he gave orders to
put to death the lady who was confined in the Burra
Sahib's house, and the guard of sowars of the Tth
Cavalry, placed over her, murdered her and the child.
The Nana forcibly took away with him the Baces, I
was confined at the Thanah. Bulwunt Sing, the
brother of the Baee, came and gave me all this in-
formation, and advised me to take off my fetters, and
leave the place. On the next day, Brtish troops
reached Bithoor, and I presented myself to General
Havelock. He saw the lady's corpse lying at the
place where she was massacred by the Nana's orders,
and was very much grieved

Question—Was there with the Nana any Mahommedan woman
named Begum, and if so, what was her occupation,
and from what period had she been with him 7

Answer—The Nana had four slave girls belonging to the
Peishwa, one of them was named Taj Bebee; a
second, Chundur Khanum; a third, Gates Ufroz ;
and the fourth, Hossainee Khanum, who was also
called Begum ; she was an attendant on Cula, a
courtesan kept by the Nana; this girl Oula had by

her lakhs of rupees’ worth of property belonging to
the Nana,

Question—Give a description of the woman called Begum ?

Answer——She was of a fair complexion, tall, and about 25 or 28
years of age,

Question—Do you know where Choonnee Sing, Chowdree, is now ?

Answer-——I am not sure where he is, but I was informed that he
is living somewhere towards Oreyah.

No. 39.—Deposition of Appa Shastree, son of Ramchunder Punth,

Brakim Duhlinee, of Poona, at present residing ot
Bithoor ; age 51 years.
Question—When the outbreak ocourred at Cawnpore, where were
you ?
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Angwer—1 was at Bithoor at the time. One day, the date of
which I do not remember, Bapoo Datar, a Mahratta
accompanied by 20 or 22 persons, both horses and
foot, went to the thanah of the old cantonments at
Bithoor, set up a flag there, and another at the Goy-
ernment thanah. From that time it was known that
the Nana's rule had commenced, and that all the
troops were subject to him. After this, the Nana
blew away from a gun Goordeen, the Baes Sakib's
agent, and his family ; also confined me, Lalla Ram,
and Appa Jee Punth, at the thanah, and put fetters
on us; and, until the re-establishment of the British
rule, we remained in that state, together with a
number of other persons connected with the Baee,

Question—State the occurrences you observed during the dis-
turbances at Bithoor ¥

Answer——As I was not liked by the sepoys and the Nana's men, I
did not venture to stir from the thanah, but Appa
Jee, Luchmum Bhakree, Lall Bam and Juggunnath
Deechut used to go out of the place and witness what
was going on. The Baces' men used to come every
day to see me, bringing me food and giving me all
the news. I remember having heard that on
Tugsduy, the 9th June, a gentleman and a lady, who
was with child, and three heads of some Europeans
were brought into Bithoor by some sepoys and sowars
who carried them to the Rao; and that, when the
sepoys intended putting the two former to death, the
Baees interfered and had their lives spared. So the
lady was kept in the Burmm Sahib's house, and the
gentleman together with the heads were sent to the
Nana. These fucts were communicated to me by
Bulwunt Rao, the Bace's brother. Some days after
the lady ahove alluded to wus delivered of a daughter,
and the Baees cansed great care to be taken of
her. Five or six days after this, a boat, containing
45 or 46 Europeans together with some ladies
and children, was sent to Bithoor by Jussa Sing,
zemindar ; their boat was brought and moored



opposite the thanah. I saw it from a distance, but
Appa Jee Punth and Lalla Ram went out of the
thanah and saw the boat, and Choonee Sing Chow-
dree, who was appointed thanadar, called out to
Juggunnath Deechut, now deceased, to come out and
see his friends the English. He accordingly went
out to see them. T was informed that the Rao treated

- these Europeans very kindly and sent them food. The
next day, in accordance with instructions received
from Bala, they were all sent to Cawnpore. Koosaba
Khranee-gir and Koondoo Punth, two of the Naoa's
officers, were sent in charge of them. When the en-
trenchment was vacated, the Nana aod Bala came to
Bithoor; the former took his seat on the throne,
honour of which salutes were fired, the city and other
places illuminated, and khilluts distributed ; after
which Bala returned to Cawnpore, and the Nana re-
mained at Bithoor for five or six days, when he also
returned to Cawnpore owing to a dispute having
arisen with the troops regarding the distribution of
salary and rewards, A short time after this, when
European troops reached Cawnpore from Allaha-
bad, and the Nana was defeated, he came back to
Bithoor, and, taking away his valuables, retreated to-
wards Teekapoor Ghat, and the European troops came
into Bithoor. The Nana left during the night, and I
quitted the thanah the next morning, had the re-
establishment of the British rule proclaimed, and
prevented Government property being removed from
the palace. When General Havelock reached
Bithoor, I sent to him Appa Jee Punth, and gave in-
timation of the Government property which the son
of Narain Rao Subadar had removed, and whatever
Government property I could collect I made over to
them.

Question—What became of the lady who was kept in the Barra
Sahib’s house ?

Answer—The day that the Naoa left Bithoor the guard placed

over her put her to death by his orders,
bb
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Question —Where is Bulwunt Rao, the brother of the Baee, now?

Answer—~He is at Gwalior.

Question—When Koosaba Khiranee-gir and Kundoo Punth
accompanied the Europeans from Bithoor, did you
see them #

Answer——1 did not see them go with the gentlemen, but, when
Koossaba Khiranee-gir returned, he told me he had
goue in company with the Europeans to Cawnpore.
He is still here, and will not I think tell a falsehood,
if put on oath,

Question— Where is Koondo Punth 7

Answer—He left this in company with the Nana,

Question—Do you know anything further regnrding the Nana's
doings ?

Angwer——Whatever news of the consultations and proceedings
of the Nana reached Rao was communicated to me
by the Bace’s brother, Bulwunt Rao, and her elder
brother; and I conveyed this intelligence to Lalla
Nanuck Chund’s agent through Tecka Jee Punth,
who is now at Bithoor,

Question-—How long did the 45 Eurpeans remain at Bithoor ?

Answer—They only remained at Bithoor for one night, in the
Burra SBahib’s house

Question—Did Koosaba Khiranee-gir tell you the number of
ladies and children ?

Answer—He did mention it to me, but I do not recollect now ;
he will be able to give a correct acedunt, :

Question—What other news did you convey to Lalla Nanuck
Chund, and what was your motive for doing s0?

Answer===1 with several others were in the service of the Peish-
wa's widows, and engaged in fighting out their case
against the Nana. I was therefore convinced that, as
the Nana's rule was predominant, there was no
chance of any of us being spared. I was also confidens
that in a short time the British rule would be re-es-
tablished, and, if the Nana were taken alive, such a
record would be very useful Lalla Nanuck Chund
15 the Baees' agent ; 1 therefore sent him all the news
1 could collect.
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Question—Was there a woman named Begum in the Nana's

serviee |

Answer—VYes; thore was a slave Ell'i of the Peishwa's time,

named Hosseinee, who was called Begum.

No. 40.—Deposition of Nana Ubbhunkeer, son of Kesho Rao Bhun-
keer, Brakwmin, 30 years,
Question—Where were you at the time of the outbreak at

Cawnpore ?

Answer—1I was at Bithoor.
Question—State all you saw at Bithoor during the outbreak. _
Answer—A day or two after the troops mutinied at Cawnpore,

and agreed to be on the side of the Naoa, he caused
aflag to be set up at the thanah of Bithoor, and it

was reported that the Nana’s rule had commenced ; in

honour of which a salute was fired. Jumma Jee Rao

deserted through fear of the Nana, by whom Bulwunt
Rao and others, relatives and servants of the Baee,
were put in confinement. I remained at home

through fear, and very seldom ventured out. About

cight days after this, a boat, containing some gentle-

men from Furruckabad, was brought in. There were
two batteries erected ; one at Bundee Mata Ghat, and
the other at Shookul-deo Ghat. When the boat arrived
opposite the latter ghat, shots were fired at it by the
Nana's people, and, from the other side of the river,
the people of Jussa Singh, zemindar of Futtehpoor
Chourassee, were firing, T saw all this from a distance.

The Evropeans in the boat also fired ; after this, a
gentleman put out a flag from the boat, on which

firing on both sides ceased, and the people of Jussa
Singh came ina boat from the other side of the
river, and took away the boat containing the gentle-
men to the thanah ; and then, taking it to Shookul-
deo Ghit, caused the gentlemen, ladies and children
to leave it, and, putting them on two hackeries
covered with sirkee, took them to the Rac at the
palace. It was about 9 p.M, when they reached the
palace; it was raining at the time; and the Rao, seeing

-
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the Europeans, ordered them to be taken to the burra
sahib's house, which was done, In the morning
food was sent to them, the gentlemen and ladies
were about 45 in number, and one of them was ealled
Colonel.  On the same day, on receipt of an order
from the Nana, the Rao sent them all to Cawnpore.

Question—Did you see the gentlemen sent from Bithoor to
Cawnpore ! How many were there?

Answer—The Europeans were brought to the palace about 9 p.a1.
and were sent from it to the burra sahib’s house, and
on the next day about 8 ».u. they were all sent away
on carts to Cawnpore, and were accompanied by
sowars and sepoys. Through fear T did not approach
them so close as to be able to count how many ladies
and children were with them,

Question—Which of the Nuna's officers accompanied the Europeans
from Bithoor to Cawnpore ?

Answer—Kosaba Ghiranee Gir, Mahratta Bapoo Kan Kutta, and
several others, whose names I did not remember.

Question=Were any other Europeans brought into Bithoor ?

Answere—No,

Question—What became of the lady who was pregnant, and was
kept in the burra sahil's house at Bithoor 7

Answer—~When the Nana retreated from Cawnpoor, and passed .
through Bithoor, he ordered the sepoys and sowars
to put her to death, which was done. I only heard
of this occurrence and did not witness it.

Question—When did Nena reach Bithoor, and when did he leave
it ?

Answer—=1I believe he came on Thursday, the 16th July, and left
Bithoor on Friday night, the 17th July.

Question—Was there a woman called Begum in the Nana's
employ 7

Answer———There was a slave girl named Hosseinee Khanum, of
the Mabarajah's time, who was ealled Begum.

Question—Were there any other slave-girls besides the one above
named 7

AnsuermmeThere were two or three others, but I do not remember
their names,
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Question—Give a deseription of the woman called Begum ?

A nswer ——She was tall, fair-complexioned, and sbout 25 or 30
years of age,

Question—When the Nana was at Cawnpoor, where was this
Begum ?

Angwer—She generally was in attendance on Oula, a prostitute,
and was with her at Cawnpoor.,

Question—Where did the woman named Oula reside ?

Angiwear—She lived with the Nuna,

Question—Ihd you ever see her ?

Answer—-Yes, I frequently saw her,

No. 41.—Deposition of Hingun, Ayah,

I was in the employ of Mr, J. Palmer, Deputy Collector of Fur-
ruckabad, Some time in June last, T think it was in the beginning of
the month, my master, with his wife and eight children, left Fut.tre]rghnr.
A party of nearly 190 Europeans, including women and children, em-
barked-at 10 p.M., in five boats, mtending to proceed by water to Cawn-
poor. Whilst passing Dhurmpore at noon, the Zemindar Hurdeo Bux
tried to persuade us to remain with him, it being unsafe to go on. The
Judge and Collector of Furruckabad, with two or three military officers,
all in one boat, remained at Dhurmpore. We had not proceeded more
than two coss when we were fired at by a large body of insurgents, [
believe there were about 5,000, One boat was plundered, the Europeans
fled, and 1 know not what became of them. Rupees 2,000 was raised
and paid for permission to depart, when the three remaining boats
procceded on to Koosumkhore, about two coss. Here the insurgents
again attacked us, their fire was returned from the boats, and T heard
Mr, Palmer say that they had killed three men, but on our side only Mr.
Toes was wounded. He was wounded on the thigh, and reached Cawn-
poor alive. On the second day we arrived opposite  Bithoor, were
fired at, and the boatmen were hailed from the bank, and ordered to
bring the boats to ; they said this could not be done as the boats con=
tained 700 Europeans. It was however found impossible to proceed as
the rebels had posted guns on the banks between Nawabgunge and
Cawnpore. The Lucknow bank was swarming with insurgents and
the boats were, therefore, brought to on the Cawnpare side, A mes.

senger was first despatched to guin information of the Europeans at
Cawnpoor, but could not get into the entrenchments. We heard the
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firing of cannons. A communication was then opened with the Nana,
What answer was returned I do not know, but no further letters were
sent, On the third day, early in the morning (it was between five or
six o'clock, whilst the gentlemen were drinking tea) firing suddenly
commenced from the Cawnpore bank, A cannon-ball strock the boat.
I was with my master in one of Mr. Brierlys boats, like a budgerow.
The Europeans jumped into the water nearly up to their waists, All
the arms they had (s large number) were thrown into the river. On
the second shot being fired, we erept into some high grass near the
boats, This was set on fire and two ladies were burnt. 'We then again
rushed into the river ; about 100 sowars of the 2nd Cavalry rode into
the water and toock us prisoners. Our hands were tied behind our
backs, and then attached to a long rope. We were taken to the Suba-
dar's Tank at Cawnpore. It took us a long time to get there, for the
Indies and children were without shoes and stockings, and their feet were
bleeding. It was evening when we reached the Subadar’s Tank. The
hard-hearted sowars would enly allow a handful of water to each Euro-
pean and refused to give them more. At this place 16 hackerfes were
procured, for the Europeans said they could go no further, and in these
all 180 were taken to a plain beyond the eanal, All the servants had
fled but an ayah, a dhai, four mehtranees, and a sweeper, with myself,
who followed the party. Early in the morning we reached the rebel
camp at Jewhee Medaun. It was about 700 paces from the entrench-
ment, and firing was going on between the British and the rebels. The
European gentlemen were made to sit in one row, their hands were all
tied, and the lndies and children were placed in front of them. A resaldar
and subadar, moonted on horseback, came and ordered the whole of
the Europeans to be killed. The sowars of the 2nd Cavalry with some
800 sepoys eommenced firing on them, and some poor children, who
were not killed by the musketry, were ecut in half, dividing them at
the legs into two parts,

Question—Did you see this ?

Answer——Yes, I saw all this with my own eyes, for I was sitting
about 80 paces on one side. The Nana was not pre-
sent, May God take vengeance on him and these
ernel men! Two pits were dug and all the bodies
thrown in. I was kept in confinement three days,
when a sepoy released me and told me to fly, Ido
not know his name,
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The 2ad Cavalry and a native regiment were encamp-
ed at this place, and they had o number of guns firing
at the entrenchments ; the British I heard had only
two guns.

(Juestion—Were the priscners ill-treated ?

Answer—No, they were not ill-treated beyond what I have
stated,

Question—Were the ladies dishonoured ?

Answer—No, they were not.

No. j2—Deposition of Nanuek Chund, Mahajun, of Cawnpore,

Question—In the narrative of events furnished by you, under date
Tth June, you state that Ahmed Ali, Vakeel, went
about armed in company with Baba Bhut: who are
the witnesses to this?

Answer—He was geen by many. But the people of this city do
| not give a correct account of the disturbances,
| though I think, if questioned, some would state the

truth. Munshi Kalka Pershad, in the employ of the
late Mr. Greenway, and Futteh Sing could give evi-
dence regarding Ahmed Ali. It is a well-known
fuct that, when the Nana gave orders for the impri

sonment of the Nunne Nawab, on the supposition that
his great intimncy with the Mahomedan sowars arose
from a plot against the Nana, the Nawab was releasad
on the security of Ahmed Ali, Vakeel. The Nunne
Nawab told me that Ahmed Ali was the means of
saving him from imprisonment.

Question—Who are the witnesses to the murder of the Superin.
tendent of Roads, and the gentlemen of the Canal
Department, by Komeer Sing, as stated under date
of June Sth 7

Answer——DMany of the villagers were witnesses of these murders.
Koomeer Bing concealed himself till the amnesty,
when he returned, and, having great influence in his
village, it will be difficult to gain evidence against him.

Question—Under date 11th and 13th of June, you state that you
saw many European corpses flouting down and on the
banks of the river: how many were there? Could
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you recognize any ? Do you know from whence they
came ?

Answer-—0n the 11th June, whilst on my way to Jagmow, I saw
18 or 20 bodies, most of them ladies and children,
between the Suttee Chowra Ghat and Dulha Nullah.
On the 13th, I saw a number of corpses of ladies and
gentlemen, also the bodies of a number of natives.
I cannot tell the exact number, but they extended
here and there about a mile, I did not recogunize any
near the ghat. I saw the bodies of three young
ladies. They all had their clothes on, but the low-
caste people had commenced to take the clothes from
the bodies ; and the animals had torn some of the
corpses. 1 heard from the people of Gunsham Sing,

y zgeminilar (who was afterwards hanged), that the
bodies were those of the party who had come from
Futtehghur.

Question—TUnder date 15th Jung, yon state that 40 ladies and
gentlemen from Furruckabad had been seized by
Gunsham Sing, of Futtehpore Chowrassie,—can you
state the exuct number, and who they were ?

Answer—1I since heard from Appa Shastree and Appa Lutch-
mwun that the numbers were 46. Koosaba Khiranee, a
Mahratta Brahmin now at Bithoor, accompanied the
ladies and gentlemen to Cawnpore, when sent for by
the Nann. He must have all the names, ‘as he kept
an account of the expenditure. He could give a good
deal of correct information, bat being under the in-
fluence of Narain Rao, son of Subadar Ramchunder,
he will not permit him to disclose anything. Koosh-
abha Khiranee did not willingly join the Nana, but,
being a good sccountant, was forced to take the
sceounts: he would tell the truth, as he is not
addicted to falsehood,

Question—Who gave you the information regarding the meeting
st the Nana’s in which it was decided that the
Europeans shonld be massacred on leaving the en-
trenchment, as stated in your narrative under date
20th June 1
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Answer—-I received the information from Jugger Nath Ditchit,

of Bithoor, who heard it from Gunga Dhur, Tantéa,
an officer in the Nana’s army. Jugger Nath Ditchit
was shot by the Europeans by mistake, but I have the
letter he sent me containing the intelligence.
Question—Under the head of 26th June you state that Brigadier
Jwala Pershad, Tantin Topee, Azeemoollah, Sha Al
Ahwed Ali, and Bala were ordered to arrange with
Chowban zemindars, and to be prepared to attend at
the Suttes Chowra Ghat. Who was yoor informant ?
Answer-—Munshi Kalka Pershad and Futteh Sing,
Question—What has become of the boatman Kulloo, who aided
in killing the Europeans on the 27th June? What
are the names of the other boatmen ?
Ansuer——Kulloo is said to be dead, and I do not know the name
of the others. Goordial, ghat manjie, and Baba
Luchmun Dass could perhaps give information.
Question—Who are the witnesses of the seizure of the gentleman,
on the 28th June, by Huttee Sing and Chundee Sing,
and of his being sent as a prisoner to the Nana ?
Angwer—The witnesses are Theen Sing and Madhoo Komar, of
Budouka.
Question—Who did you hear from that Thmud Yar and Rajab
Ali were present at the massacre of the IﬁthJulyl
Answer—From Gunga Deen Saith.
Question—From whom did you learn the particulars of the mas-
sncre of the 15th July ?
Answer—From Futteh Sing and his men.
Question—Who arranged the attack at Buttee Chowra Ghat 7
Answer— —A resaldur in the Nana's employ named Teckum, who
had been a sowar in the 8th Irregular Cavalry. Heis
a resident of Mousinpore near Cawnpore.
Question—What Mahrattas took the lead in the Nana's foree !
Answer—Raghopunt Apta commanded his artillery, and was st
the battle of Futtehpore; Pandoojee Sabre, Bittul-
punt, and the brother of Ram Bhow, Mahratta, were
cognizant of the Nana's doings; these are now nt
Bithoor. Ahmed Oollah, Tehseeldar of Bithoor, was
one of the Nana's councillors. I heard from Hur
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Pershad that Ahmed Oollah, with four or five others,
brought an European to the kotwalie, and afterwards
took him to the Nana. At the commencement of the
outhreak, Raheam Khan, n sowar in the Nana's ‘em-
ploy, nnd Muddud Ali, a horse-dealer, were employed
to tamper with the troops; and held consultations
about the mutiny. Muddud Ali was at Cawnpore
the other day, He told me he had been plundered
by Sha Al, the former kotwal, and had therefore
left the Nana's force in disgnst, He counld give valu-
able information, but he has again left Cawnpoor.
I will search for him.

No. 42—Deposition of Futteh Sing, son of Roop Sing, Rajpoot, age
28 years, vesident of Mousa Biagowan, Tehseel Jaj-
mow, Carenpoor,

Question—When the mutiny ocourred at Cawnpoor, where were
you ?

Answer—I was at Cawnpoor, and was employed to guard Lalla
Nanuck Chund’s house in the ecity. On the 5th
June, about 10 o'clock in the morning, the troops
mutinied. Hearing the uproar, Lalla Nanuck Chund
desired me to ascertain the caunse. I therefore pro-
ceeded towards Faithful Gunge and saw that the
sepoys and sowars were moving about, and several
places were on fire. Seeing this I returned to the
Lalla's house. On the next day the troops plundered
the treasury, and took possession of the magazine,
after which they moved off to Kulleeanpoor. When
the mutineers were proceeding to plunder the trea-
sury, I saw the troopers shoot Mr. Murphy, Road
Overseer, on the road to the south of the eity. When
the troops went to Kulleeanpoor, after setting fire to
the public offices, a few troopers remained who set
fire to the bungalows, and commenced their riotous
conduct. On the 6th June the mutineers returned
from Kulleeanpoor, and the siege of the entrench-
ments commenced.  On the same day some Christians,
who had taken refuge in the shops of the city, were
shot by the troopers, who set on fire the shops they



had taken shelter in, Two or three Christians were
also massacred opposite the abkaree godowns, A
lady and gentleman, with a child, who had hid them-
selves in a bungalow near the staging bungalow, were
found and taken by the sowars and sepoys to the
Nana, by whose orders they were shot on the plain
opposite the staging bungalow. On the Tth June I
went towards Gwaltola on the road to the Customs
Ghat, and saw Mr. Mackintosh (a merchant) with his
wife and child, dressed in Hindustanee elothes, hiding
under a bridge; they were also massacred towards
evening. Another gentleman was murdered on the
parade-ground, near the Subadar's Tank, On the
8th June, another gentleman of the road department
was sent wounded to the Nana from the Nawabgunge

thanah, together with his wife and child, who were

all shot by the sepoys Oun the 9th June, about
10 aM., the guns placed at the magazine were fired.
It became known that some Christians had taken
refoge in Gunga Roee Kuitra. I went towards the
magazine and saw that Jowahir Sing, zemindar of
Nawab Gunge (who has since been hanged), going
towards the Kuttra, accompanied by a number of
sepoys, and the guns ceased firing. On the next day,
i. e., on the 10th June, Jowahir Sing and his com-
panions brought to the Nana the gentlemen and
lndies, together with their children, who had taken

refuge in the Kuttra, all of whom, about 185 in num- .

ber, were kept in confinement at the Savada house.
On the same day the Naoa's cutcherries were
opened, and I heard that nn order had been issued
for the apprehension of Lalla Nanuck Chund. 1
gave him notice of this and ‘he went across the
river, telling we to remain at Cawnpoor, and appoint
persons to collect news regarding Europeans. I kept
five persous for the express purpese of obtaining
information, and formed an intimacy with Utbul
Sing, pay-havildar of the cavalry, for the purposs
of getting mews. He was always in uttendance on
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the Nana, and from him I obtained news of the
doings of the Nana's cutcherries, and gave inform-
ation to Lalla Nanuck Chund’s gomashta. On the
' same day three heads of some gentlemen, and a
- gentleman, were sent in from Bithoor by the Rao, who
] was the Nana's nephew, The gentleman was massa-
X cred and the heads thrown away. Ou the 11th June,
: about 2 py., the Nana sent for the people, who were
brought prisoners from the Kuttra, to his tent, which
was pitched on the pluin to the south of the Savada
house. I was at the time with Utbul Sing, Havildar.
Bula, Azeemoollah, Ahmed Ali Ehan, Vakeel, and
some zemindars were within the tent. Many zemin-
dars, &e, were collected outside, When the gentlemen
were brought to the tent, the Nann commanded
them to be kept prisoners, but Bala ordered them to
be shot ; a dispute arose between him and the Nana;
but afterwards 1 heard Bala gave an order for them
to be massacred, and that the sowars took away the
gentlemen to the plain on the west of the Savada
house, when I told Baboo Sing, who was standing
close to me, to go and see how the Europeans were
murdered. He went, aud, on his return. stated that
the sepoys of the 1st and 56th Regiment and the
trospers of the 2nd Cavalry shot the gentlemen, and
that afterwards some of the budmashes killed some
with their swords who were only wounded. Baboo
Sing saw all this, and, when the gentlemen were sent
for by the Nana, the ladies were taken away to the
Savada house. The gentlemen were about 117 in
number. When Baln gave order for their massacre
the Europeans asked him not to kill them, but keep
them in confinement, and said that there would be no
good derived from murdering them, and that England
wouid never be emptied of Europeans, From that
day to the 14th [ did not hear of any gentleman hav-
p ing been killed, but the fight at the entrenchments
) continwed. On the 15th, abont 4 e.M, some gentle-
I twen wera sent in from Bithoor with a message to
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Jwalla Pershad, Brigadier, stating that Jussa, zemin-
dar of Futtehpoor Chowrassee, had sent them, He
gave an order for them to be tuken to the Savada
house. Their number, inclusive of ladies and child-
ren, was about 45. On the 16th the Madaree Regi-

ment and Fidda Hossein's Regiment, and some
artillery, came from Lucknow, and said that they

wounld take the entrenchment in two days. On the
18th, after 12 o'clock, the gentlemen of the party of
45 above mentioned were sent for to the Nana's tent,

The ladies and children wers kept in the Savada
house. Only the males (eighteen in number) came,

and they were shot. Besides these there were three

others who held a conversation with the Nana :
(Jwallah Pershad, Brigadier, Azeemoollah, and Shah

Ali, were with the Nana) The three gentlemen pro-
mised the latter they would have the Fort of Allaha-
bad given up to them ; so they were sent back to the
Savada house, and the other eighteen shot by the
orders of the Nana. There were many jullads there

also, who took out in my presence, gold mohurs from

inside the shoes of these gentlemen. All the jullads
were residents of this place, and, if I saw them, T
think T could recognise them. The persons whom I

employed could do so likewise, After this, and unti)

the 22nd, no gentlemen were massacred. On the 23rd
the fight at the entrenchments ceased, and Jwalla
Pershad, Azeemoollah, and Sha Ali had an interview

with an old lady, (a relative of Mr, Jacobi, the watch-
maker,) at the Savada house ; who was then taken by
them to the Nana's tent, where a consultation was
held, and she engaged to have the entrenchments
vacated, Utbul Singh told me that in a day or two
the entrenchments would be vaeated. The next day
the same old woman lefs the Savada house in 4 doolie
about 9 A, and went to the entrenchments ; she
returned about 1 P.u., went to the Nana's tent, and
had a talk with Azeemoollah ; after which o rumour

spread that the Europeans were going to evacuate the
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entrenchments, and that the Nana had agreed to see
them sufe to Allahabad. The next day, the same old
lady, Azeemoollah, and Jwalla Pershad went to the
entrenchments ; and we heard that they had confirmed
all arrangements for the evacuation of the entrench-
ments. In the evening of that day, the Nana gave
orders to Hoolass Sing, the Kotwal, to procure boats.
On the 26th I heard that an agreement had been
made between the Europeans and the Nana, on cath,
that all the treasure and magnzine were to be made
over to the Nana. About sunset, of the same day,
Nana, Bala, Jwalla Pershad, Shah Ali, Kotwal, and
several others assembled in s tent.  After the consult-
ation, an order was given that some sepoys and
sowars, with zemindars, were to be present at the
ghat, and that the artillery should also be there.
When Theard this, I enquired of Utbul Sing the reason
of these troops being required at the ghat, He told

me that the Nans and his comrades did not intend to .

be faithful to their oath, and intended massacring the
Europsans. He also told me that the troopers did
not agree to the murder of the Europeans by treachery,
I returned during the night to Utbul Sing’s tent,
and told my servants, Shunker Sing and Bikhee
Sing, to proceed to the ghat in the morning with the
troops, and report all their proceedings. On the next
morning, the 2Tth, about 3 aAm, 500 sepoys and
troopers went to the ghat, and took two guns and
placed them at the Suttee Chopra Ghat opposite the
boats. About daybreak Shunker Singh returned
and informed me of the position in which the guns
had been placed, which Shunker Sing and Bikhee
Siug ean point out ; the sowars and sepoys were in
ambush close by the guns. About 8 in the morning
the Europeans commenced quitting the entrench-
ments, when I and Utbul Singh, together with Golab
Singh and Jowahir Sing, my servant, went to the
entrenchments. Shunker Singand Bikhes Stng were
at the ghat. 1 observed that the Europeans were




leaving the entrenchments, mounted on elephants,
palanquins, doolies, hackeries, &e., and that their pro-
perty was being removed ; there were also thonsands
of spectators there. When all the Europeans had
got clear of the entrenchments, Utbul Sing returned
to the Nana's tent. I accompanied him and saw that
the Nana was walking up and down outside the tent,
Bala, Jwalla Pershad and Azeemoollnh mounted and
went to the ghat, and Ahmed Ali Khan, with two
or threea Mahrattas, remained with the Nann A
short time had elapsed, when reports of guns and
musketry were heard, and a trooper came galloping
down. I recognised him well ; his name was Makun
Sing; he was said to be a resident of Monzah Khan-
deepoor, Pergunuah Jajmow, in the Cawnpoor district,
and a Brahmin by ecaste; he was one of the Nana’s
personal attendants. He told the Nana that the
enemy were being destroyed. About two hours after
this, Bala and Azeemoollah returned to the Nana and
stated that they had put an end to the enemy (mean-
ing the Eoropeans) and taken possession of all their
property, and that only one boat had escaped, to take
which Sadho Sing, Jemadar, together with some
sowars had been despatched and that the females and
children, who had escaped the massacre, were being
brought in. After this, my servant Bikhee Sing re-
turned, and gave me a full account of the proceedings.
He stated that s fow gentlemen had got on the boats,
when Bala and Azeemoollah told the 2nd Cavalry
troopers it was the Nana's orders to kill all the Euro-
peans; on hearing which, volleys of musketry were
fired, and guns also from the banks of the river.
Jwalla Pershad, Brigadier, was near the boats, and
ordered the boatmen to set fire to them. The Euro-
peauns also fired, but they were all massacred. A
number of ladies and children met with the same
fate, though some of them managed to reach the
other side of the river, and Jwalla Pershad and Azeem-
oollah ordered that they should not be killed He also
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related to me other facts, which I do not remember,
but Bhikee Sing and Shunker Sing, who were eye-
witnesses to all that was perpetrated at the ghat from
the commencement to the end, are alive. A short
while after, ten or twelve sepoys brought in seventeen
or eighteen ladies, and some children, and presented
them to the Nana, who ordered them to be confined in
the Savada house ; many of these ladies were wounded,
two of them I observed well as being wounded in the
leg and under the arm. All the ladies’ elothing was
wet and soiled, and some of them were barefoot ; and
in this manner two or three batches of ladies and
children were brought in and kept in the Savada
house. There were altogether about 100 or 125 of
them. On the same day after 12 P.M., a sowar came
and informed the Nana that Ali Shah, a sowar, had
brought away a lady, whom he had concealed in his
hackery ; this sowar was immediately summoned, and
the Nuna persuaded him to give up the lady, from
whose statement, it appeared, that, when the Europeans
quitted the entrenchments and proceeded to the
ghat, this sowar had carried her way. The Nana
sent this lady to the Savada house where all the
cthers were, I also heard that some sowars had
carried off General Wheeler's daughter, but could
gain no satisfactory account of what became of her,
About 4 r.M., on the same day, the sowars of the
Sultanpoor force, who were encamped on the other
side of the river, brought in seventeen gentlemen, who
it appenred had managed to escape from the boats
when the firing commenced and had reached Kuttra
Gunge ; the Nana on seeing them ordered them to be
put to death, The sepoys and troopers shot them
on the plain opposite the Savada house. Six or
seven jullnds were also present, who, after the gentle-
men were shot, fell on them with their swords, and
stripped them of their clothes. The next day, the
28th, about 10 o'clock, Sadhoo Sing, Jemadar, to-
gether with the thanadar and several other persons,
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brought in ten or twelve gentlemen, with some ladies
and two children, and presented them to the Nana, who
ordered the former to be separated from the ladies
and children and shot, and the latter to be sent to
the Savada house opposite which the gentlemen were
killed. Oue of the lndies who had a baby about a
year old would not part from her husband : they
therslore both met the same fate as the gentleman.
Two or three days after this, about 10 A, some 40
or 50 zemindars, &e., brought in a gentleman bonnd,
from the other side of the river, intimation of which
was conveyed to the Nana, when Baba Bhut came
out of his tent, and gave an order that he should be
killed. But the zemindars who brought him refused
laying hauds on the gentleman, urging as s reason
that he wus bound and helpless, afier which a sowar
wounded him »n the arm with a sword, and five or
six julluds falling on him despatched him with their
tulwars. I do not remember the names of these men,
but would recoguise them if I saw them. After this,
in the evening, the Nana and Bala both went off to
Bithoor, Baba Bhat, Jwalla Pershad, Brigadier,
Azeemoollah, and Skah Ali, together with a number
of other persons, continned superintending all operas
tions. For several days the Nana did not come from
Bithoor, but Bala returned. When it was ramonred
that European troops were coming up from Allahabad,
Bala wrote to the Nana pressing him to come quickly
to Cawnpoor, as the enemy’s roops were coming an
but. when he did not respond Lo this invitation, Sabae
dar Teeka Sing, who was made a geneal in the
Nana's army, went to Bithoor, and brought the Naua,
Preparations were then made for proceeding to
Futtehpoor, and arrangements commenced for procur-
ing supplies. On the Oth or 10th July, the rebel troops,
accompanied by the artillery, marched for Futtehpoor
but after proceeding twelve or thirteen miles re-
turned. On the next day, Jwalla Pershad, Brigudier,
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accompanied by infantry, cavalry and artillery, pro-
ceeded to Futtehpoor, and news arrived of his having
been defeated, and of the European troops having
arrived at Sukeepoorah, which caused great confusion
amongst the rebels. Bala went ont with some
more troops, but on the next day, i.e 15th July, he
returned to Cawnpoor, being slightly wounded, On
the same day in the afternoon, Bala, Baba Bhut

Jwalla Pershad, Brigadier, Ahmed Al Khan, Vakeel,
and several other attendants of the Nana assembled
at the hotel, which was the Nana's residence, and had

n long consultation. Utbul Sing told me that they
were all much alarmed and were purposing to murder
all the Iadies and gentlemen who were in confine-

ment ; otherwise, if they were left alive, they would

reveal everything, and thus everyone concerned in
the rebellion at Cawnpoor would be known. While
all this was going on, o man came and informed me
that sowars were plundering my house, and creating
a disturbance it the village. I wmentioned this to
Utbul Sing who desired me to go and see who the
sowars were, and I started to proceed to my village
but left there my three compnnions, Bikhee Sing,
Baboo Sing and Shunker Sing. On the same day, in
the evening, three or four gentlemen who were in
confinement were massacred near the assembly rooms,
and after this all the ladies and children met with
the same fate. On the next day, about nine in the
morning, the persons whom I had left at Cawnpoor
came to me, and stated that the gentlemen were
first massacred, aud that an order was then given for
the massacre of the ladies, but the sepoys objected
to fire at them, and then Surwur EKhan, & Vilaitee,
who was an old servant of the Nana's, and two or
three others went in and killed all the ladies and
children with swords. After which their bodies were
thrown into & well and one or two ladies and children,
who were still alive, were also thrown in, On the
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same day the European traops arrived at Cawnpoor,

and the Nana and his troops left the station. m |

this Lalla Nanuck Chund wrote t-uma&mnngmﬁb
* appear, whenever called upon,

Question—When the Europeans left the cntrenchment gmm
there, did you see any sick and wounded left at the
entrenchments { If so, what was their numl:ar and
what becatse of them 7 :

Angwer—No Europeans were laft within the mt.mnchmmhu..

“ With the esception of five or six soldiers who had

expired, and two or three broken guns, noﬂnngm'

a . left thers.
% Question—Did you hear where General Wheeler was killed ¢
= _' Answer—1 heard that the General was smongst the gentlemen
by brought in by Sadho Sing, zemindar, but I was not
acquainted with the General, and therefore could not
recognise him. Baboo Sing, however, who I hink
P knew the General by sight, might be able to give
some account of him. :
Question—Do you know the number of the ladies who were con-
fined in the Beebeeghur? -
Angwer-—As long as the ladies were at the Savada house I saw
them, but when they were removed to the Beebeeghurl
did not see them, and, at the time they were massacred,
my people saw them. Ido not know their number. :
Question—1It is stated that a womsn named Begum used wmpﬁ
food to the ladies, and that she visited the Nana’s
tent also : did you ever see her? ."
.Aﬂ.nm'--—l do not know what woman nsed to carry food to hhl |
ladies, but a woman named Begum used to visi
Adila, a prostitute in the service of the Nana. TIUI .
woman I had seen froquently visiting the Nana's tent. =
Question—Give a description of the woman named Begum ? =
Answer-—She was of a fair mmplmou, tall, and aged about 25
ar 80 years, '

Re-cxaminalion of Fulteh Singh.
Question=1In your deposition of the 24th February you have stated
that on the 18th June 1857, out of the 45 ur”
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Europeans who had been sent in from Bithoor, eighteen
were put to death by orders of the Nana, and that
three of them were sent back to the Savada houss, as
they promised to have the Fort of Allahabad evacua-
ted; but, from depositions which have been taken, it
does not appear that these gentlemen reached Cawn-
poor on the 18th June: you are therefore requested

. to state clearly and correctly when these gentlemen
came to Cawnpoor,

Answer—1I remember well that on the 18th June when some
Europeans were put to death, two or three gentlemen
werenot killed, but were sent away in my presence tothe
Savadahouse. T also afterwards saw these gentlemen
thers, on several occasions, together with an indigo
planter, but 1 did not know any of them; peither do
I know their names, The fuct of these gentlrmen
having made a promise to have the Fort of Allahabad
evacuated came to my knowledge in the following
manner. When news came of the European troops
baving arrived close to Futtehpoor on the 11th or
12th July, I heard u consultation in the Nana's tent,
in which 1t was proposed to ask those gentlemen what
they had to say regarding the evaenation of the Fort
of Allahabad, as, instead of this being effected, troops
were coming to Cawnpoor from that direction. After
this, Azeemoollth went to them, and from him I
asceriained that out of the gentlemen who were
confioed at the Savada house, the indigo planter had
promised to send for some money, aud that the other
three gentlemen, who had come from Furruckabad
and held high positions, were the persons who had
pronised to have the Fort of Allahabad evacuated,
From this I suppose that those very gentlemen, who
were not put to death on the 18th June, were the
persons who promised to have the Fort of Allahabad
evacuated.

Question—Did you see any Europeans come from Furruckabad in
July 1857 7

Answer—1I remember well that no Europeans came.
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KNo. §4—Deposition of Golub Sing, son of Shere Sing, Thakoor

 Queation—Tn ons of the depositions, it is stated that five ot six
days previous to the massacre of the ladies and

chiliren, one day towards the évening, thres gentles

men and several ladivs and children were bronght in

to Cawnpoor, and thau the sepoys said they had come

from Furrnckabad, and that gut of the three gentle-

men one was a judge, and the other two wersa

colonels, and that these were the gentlemen who
promised to have the Fort of Allahabad evacuated :
you are therefiore requested to state whether you saw
these gentlemen or not.

Answer——1I did not see these gentlemen, neither did T hear any-
thing concerning them, nor were any gentlemen again
ever massacred before me.  But I well remember that
in the month of June some of the gentlemen who
camo from Furruekabad wore kept in confinement,
amongst whom was also the indigo planter, but I
cannot say which of them prumised to have the Fort
of Allahabad evacaated,

_— —

Rajpoot, age 20 years, vesident of Mouzah Jounvaee,
Telseel Jajmow, Zillah Carenpoor.
Question—Where were you when the troops mutinied at Cawn-
poor ?
Answer—I was at Monzah Khnrsal, Four or five days after the
outbreak, I came to Cawnpoor, huving been sent for
by Futteh Sing.

Question—Where did yon reside whilst at ‘Cawnpoer ?
Answer-—With Futteh Sing,

Queation—Where did Futteh Sing live ?

Answer-—Near Utbul Sing's tent, who was a havildar in the
Nana's service, and occupied a teut close to the
Nana,

Question—State what you observad during thé outbreak.

Answer-—A long time has now expited since the ontbrenk occurred,
I will answer all questions that may be put to me,

Question—Did you ever witness the massacre of any Europeans ?



Answer-—1I remember having wittesed the massacre of ﬁuma
peans on three occasions.  Two days after I had come
to Cawnpoor, about 117 Saliih log were drawn up in
a line opposite the Savadn Kotee, close to the Nuna's
tent. Bala, Azeemoollah, and several other persons
were present, I heard the former give orders to
massacre the Europeans, which was accordingly done
by the sepoys of the 1st Native Infantry and the
sowars, 2nd Cavalry, firing at them ; and afterwards by
Jullads and other budmashes, who used their swords,
Their bodies were then carried on carts and thrown
into the river. .

Question—Where had these Europeans come from ? Eh
Answer—They had come from Furrnckabad.
Question—Do you kvow the names of any of the jullads ﬂm
' were present ?
Answer—I do ot koow their names, but, if I saw them,Ithmk .
I would recognize them. N
Question—Who were the other persons present, when Bala gave a
orders to massacre the Europeans v
Answer—There were a number of other persons whose names T
do not remember,  Eight or nine days after, 45 gentle-
men, ladies and children, were brought in from Bithoor,
of whom the latter were confined in the Savada house, p
snd the former, seventeen or eighteen in number,
were put to death on the plain opposite Savada.. 1 do
not remember the date, the sepoys and sowars shot
them down, and the jullads also cut them down with
o  swords; many of whom found gold mohurs deposited
in these gentlemen's shoes. On the same day, two or
three Europeans were put in confinement. -

Question—Who gave the orders for their death, and who were
the sirdars present 1 .

Answer-—The Nana gave orders persovally to put them to

death, and Shah Ali, Kotwal, told the sepoys to take

them away, and put an end to them. Azeemoollah,

Jowala Pershud (Brigadier), and several others were

present on the occasion.
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Question—State when you witnessed the third massacre of the
'Europeans.

Angswer——At the Snttee Choura ghat, The day the Europeans
vacated the entrenchments, I and Futteh Sing, to-
gether with Jowahir Sing and Utbul Sing, Havildar,
went to the entrenchments, and =aw that it had been
entirely vacated, but two or three bodies of some sol-
diers were lying there, and two guns which had burst,
together with a lot of other property which the villa-
gers were carrying away. Futteh Sing and Utbul
Singh returned, and I, sepamting from them, pro-
ceeded to the ghat, and met thousands of persons
going there, On my arrival at the ghat, I found the
people making a great noise ; sepoys and sowars were
ranning about the place ; and shots were being fired,
Many of the Enropeans were standing in the river
behind the boats, and the sowars rushed into the
water, cutting them up. A gun was being fired from
the other side of the river, and by 10 o’clock all the
Europeans were massacred, and the ladies and child-
ren, about 125 in number, some of whom were
wonnded, were taken away by the sepoys and sowars
to the Savada house,

Question—Did you again witness the massacre of any Europeans ?

Angwer~—0n the evening of the same day, some Europeans were
brought in, and I think, once or twice, some more
were massacred but I did not personally witness the
otcurrence,

Question—What was the number of the boats provided for the
Europeans ?

Answer—I1 did not count them, but I think there were about
twenty-one hoats,

Question—Did you recognize the boatmen who were on the boats ?

Answer-——When I had reached the ghat, there were no boatmen
on the boats, and two of them were on fire,

Question—Who were the Nana's officers present at the msssacre ?

Answer-——Azeemoollah, Bala, Brigadier Jwala Pérahnd, General
Teeka Sing, and several others and also a ressaldar

named Nukee, appeared to be tha managers of all
opera tions.
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Question—Where were yon when the lndies and children wero
massacred at the Beebeeghur?
Answer-—1 was not at Cawnpoor, but had accompanied Futteh
Siug to his home,

No. 45, —Deposition of Bukkee Singh, son of Punchum Singh,
Thakoor, age 25 years, resident of Mouzak Tumrue
Tehseel Jajmorr,

Question—When the mutiny broke out at Cawnpoor, where were
3*5u !

Answer—T was at Mouzah Tumrae, In the month of June 1857
the outbrenk accurred at Cawnpoor; I do not remem-
ber the date. Four or five duys after this, Futteh
singh, Lumburdar of Sherampore, who was at Cawn-
poor, sent fur me.  Fuiteh Singh had put up opposite
the tent of Utbul Singh, havildar of the 2nd Cavalry,
and whatever work he nssigned to me I performed.

Queation—Where was Utbul Singh's tent?

Answer—-Close to the Nana's tent, which was pitched near the _
Savada house.

Question—State what you know of the disturbances at Cawnpore,

Answer—As I do not read or write, I kept no account of what I
saw, and it is impossible to remember all now, two
years having elapsed, but I will answer any questions
which may be put to me.

Question—State how many Europeans were massacred.

Angwer—The first massacre that 1 witnessed was of about 125
Europeans formed up in a line on the pluin opposite
Savada, in the afterncon, and shot by the sepoys and
sowars, and afterwards despatched by jullads. A great
number of the bad characters and zemindars were
present, and on the evening of the same day all the
corpses were carried away on carts, and throwa into
the river.

Question—Where did these Europeans come from ?

Answer—It was rumoured that they had come from Furruckabad.
The ladies and children, who had accompanied them
were confined in the Savada Kotee.

Question—Do you know any of the jullads who were present at
the massacre, and took o part in it ?
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Answer—-1 do pot know their names, but would be able to
recognise them if I saw them.

Question—At the time the Europeans were drawn up in a line, who
were the sirdars that were present, and by whose
orders were they massacred !

Answer—1I think Bala, Mahratta, gave the orders ; the Nana was
also present in the tent, but Bala called out aloud,
saying it was the Nana's orders that the Europeans
should all be massacred. I do not remember the
names of all that were present there, but amongst
them was Azeemoollah, and Ahmed Ali Khan, Vuakeal,
When the Europeans were massacred, I left the place,
but Baboo Singh, my companion, remained there a
long while and saw everything that occurred.

Question—After this, were more Europeans from Furruckabad
massacred ?

Answer—1I often heard of the massacre of Enropeans, but I never
witnessed any personally, except ab the ghat.

Question—State what yon saw at the ghat.

Answer—The night previous to the masacre at the ghat, Futteh
Singh desired me and Shunkur Singh to go there in
the morning snd see what occurred, Accordingly I
and Shunkur went very early next “morning to the
ghat in company with the sowars and sepoys proceed-
ing thither. When we resched the ghat, Shunkur
Singh separated from me, but I remained there,
looking on. Very early in the morning, about four or
five hundred sepoys snd sowars, with two guns, started
for the ghat, snd placed themselves in a nullah called
Chore Ghate, in Mouzah Korean, near Suttee Choura
ghat, behind some timber heaped up there, In the
morning, thousands of spectators were assembled at
the ghat. The Europeans commenced arriving on
palanquins, doolies and elephants, and on foot, and
were engaged in placing the property on the boats, The
entire number of the Europeans, inclusive of ladies and
children, was about 400. Some of them had got into
the boats, and others were in the act of doing so when
two sowars of the 2nd Cavalry came galloping up and
told the crowd to move off, otherwise they would all be
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killed; the people commenced moving off, when a
bugle sounded, snd two boats were set on fire; the
cavalry fired; after which the big guns commenced,
and the Europeans, jumping off the boats, sought pro-
tection behind them; and shen the gun placed on the
other side of the river was fired, and a number of the
Euaropeans were killed. The sowars mshed into the
river on horseback, and commenced using their swords.
I also remember that two of the boats were pushed
off, one of which grounded on the opposite bank of the
niver, and I do not know what became of the other
boats.  All the Europenns were massacred, and only
about 125 ladies and children escaped, some of whom
were wounded ; all these were surrounded by sowars
and brought to the Savada house, I then left the
place, and related all the occurrences to Futteh Singh.

Question—What was the number of the boats collected at the
ghat ?

Answer~-They appeared to be about 20, Some of them belonged
to the lower provinces, and were of the kind called
Kona, and some had come from the upper provinces.

Question—Did you recognise any of the boatmen ?

Answer—1I recognised two or three of them, but do not know
them all.

Question—Give the names of those you recognised,

Answer—Two were well-known boatmen of Bithoor, named
Ramdeen and Dabeedeen, and they were present ; and
Goordyal, boatman, resident of Suttee Choura Ghat,
was also present near the boats.

Question—Did you see which of the boatmen set fire to the boats ?

Answer-—1I did not take notice of this,

Question—Do you know which of the Nana's officers, and which of
the influential men of Cawnpore, were present at the

* ghat at the time the bugle was sounded ?

Answer —The following were some of them :—Jwalla Pershad
(Brigadier,) Bala, and Azeemoollnh, mounted on horse-
back and several others, whose names I do not re-
member. The commanders of the sowars appeared to

be Tecka Singh, and a Mussulman ressaldar called
Nukee,
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Question—Did any sowar carry off a lady from the ghat ?

Answer—-1 did not see any one taking away a lady, but heard that
a sowar had carried away a lady, On the same day
sixteen or seventeen Europeans were brought from
Gunga Kuttra by the sowars and zemindars. They
were taken before the Nana, who ordered them to be
put to death. All were shot on the plain opposite
the Savada Koti by the sepoys, and afterwards des-
patched with swords by jullads.

Question—After this, did you witness any other Europeans being
massacred ?

Answer—No,

Question—State what you know regarding the massacre of the
ladies at L he Beebeegurh.

Answer—Futteh Singh had gone away to his house in the after-
noon, but I and Shunkur Singh and Baboo Bingh
remained in the Nanas camp, and a short time after
we heard it stated in Utbul Singh's tent that the
ladies and children would be massacred on that day.
Hearing this I went off to Futteh Singh, but Shunkur
Singh and Baboo Singh remained there, and wit-
nessed the massacre of the ladies. I did not witness
its

thiestion — What became of the corpses of those Europeans who
were massacred in your presence at the ghat ?

Angwer—-Those bodies that fell in the river were carried off by
the stream, but those that were on the banks still
remained there.

Question—Did you ever visit the place the ladies were confined at ?

Answer—No, I never went there.

46.—Deposition of Goordial, chowdres of boats, sonof Mud-
daree, boatman, resident of Gola @hat, Cawnpoor, age
26 yoars.

Question—Where were you during the outbreak ?

Angwer—1I was at Cawnpoor,

Question—State what you know of the disturbances.

Answer—Two or three days before the outbreak, I had provided

boats for Mr, Thomas Greenway and the Barrack

— TN
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Master, to convey them to Allashabad. Bhola, a
relative of mine, had also provided a boat for Mr.
Saunders. When the outbreak occurred, the sepoys
and sowars plundered Bhola’s house and property,
and made a search for me; hearing of which I went
to a village called Ulwapoor, on the other side of the
river, about aine miles from Cawnpoor; put up with
Sockha, a boatman (who lived near Juggurnath), a
Brahmin. When the fight at the entrenchments ceased,
and a requisition for boats was made, Dabeedeen, a
boatman in the Nana's employ (who also kept all
accounts connected with boats), accompanied by two
sepoys, came to Ulwapoor, and fook me away. I reached
the ghat at 2 ey, and found Buddreenath alias
Bhoodoo, a commissariat contractor, and Holass Sing,
kotwal, having the boats put in order. A short time
after this a captain sahib, whose name I do not re-
member (he was, I believe, Superintendent of Bazars),
accompanied by another gentleman and two soldiars,
mounted on an elephant, came to the ghat, and, seeing
the boats, disapproved of them, and asked me why I had
not the boats put into proper order, I told them that
I had only just come ; after which Thad the requisite
fittings of the boats completed. Badul, a Mussulman
jemadar, an old servant of the Nana's, was superinten-
ding the coolies working on the boats ; he had about
four hundred men under him, and he had the boats
completely fitted out during the night ; they were 24
in number. The next morning I was at the ghat, and
about eight o'clock the Europeans made their appear-
ance, some on elephants, palanquins, doolies and
hackeries, and a number of them on foot. The scldiers
carried their own property and placed it oo the boats,
They came by the road opposite the European bazar
and over the wooden bridge, and passed behind Hurdeo,
boatmen's temple; they were about 400 in number,
inclusive of ladies and children. Some of them were
on the boats and others were round about them when
firing commenced. The troops had come to the ghat
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during the night previous, and others came in rear of
the Europeans and commenced firing volleys from the
wooden bridge. A gun was placed at Gola Ghat, to
the east of a temple known as Soor Dass, built by a
subadar, and another behind a village called Koreean,

anda third in the compound of the bungalow formerly
oceupied by Mr. Henry, a merchant. To the west
of the bridge, and behind this bungalow, in a nullah,
called Chore-ghattee, n number of sepoys and sowars
had concealed themselves. Two boatmen set fire to a
boat : the name of one was Ramdeen of Bithoor, the
sther was also a resident of Bithoor, but I do not
know his name. Ramdeen received a rewanrd of 500
rupees from the Nana for this act, A number of the
Nana's sirdars were present at the time, but Brigadier
Jwalla Pershad, a Brahmin, who was close to the
boats, gave an order to'Dabeedeen, boatman, to set
fire to the boats ; and a bugle was sounded by orders
of Bala, Mahratta, and Azeemoollah ; on which volleys
were fired, and the sownrs rushed into the river and
commenced firing their pistols. A gun placed on the
the other side of the river then commenced firing.
The Europeans managed to push off threc of the
boats, two of which grounded on the other bank of
the river, and one of them, which contained General
Wheeler, went down the stream ; a shot from the gun
placed on the other side'of the river struck it, which
turned it round, but it still went on and reached
Sheorajpoor, about 24 miles from Cawnpoor, Sowars,
sent in pursuit, kept firing at the boat from the
banks of the river, and the Europeans returned the
fire. The boat grounded on a sand-bank at Sheoraj-
poor, and an encounter with the sowars took place,
in which General Wheeler was killed, and the rest
of the Europeans were brought in prisoners the next
day. This account regarding the capture of the boat
was related to me by Tilluck Sing, a sowar. Some
of the boats had come from the east, and others from
the west; only five of them belonged to Cawnpoor.
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There were four or five boatmen to each of the boats
from the east, and two or three to each of those from
the west, and there were no boatmen to the boats be-
longing to this station, as they were moored at the
Permit Ghat and brought away from there. When the
boats were completely fitted out, I told Holass Sing,
kotwal, that there were not sufficient boatmen for all
the boats, and asked him to make arrangements accord-
ingly ; he was angry at this, and told me that it was no
business of his. I wasnot acquainted with the names
of any of the boatmen until the value of the boats
was given, and the money distributed.

Question—State who were the persons that received the money,
and who were the owners of the boats that belonged
to Cawnpoor.

Answer—>Munshi Dabeedeen, & boatman, received the money
from Tanteea Topee, amounting to Rs. 4,467 or 4,465,
and distributed it. My brother Lochun was along
with me at this time. The following were the
owners of the boats belonging to this station :—
Muheshree Sheo Pershad, son of Dyr Kishen, resid-
ing in the city ; Baboo Mull, Muheshree ; and Jankee
Pershad, Ugurwalla; and two boatmen, viz, Banee,
residing in the village called Korcean, and Muttra,
of the same village, The above five persons were
paid in my presence, and the rest of the owners were
paid by Munshi Dabeedeen. I do not know who
they were,

Question—Are the above-named three bunneeahs and two boat-
men now at Cawnpoor or not ¢

Answer—Yes, they are here,

Question—What occurred to the ladies and children who went to
Suttee Chowra Ghat ?

Answer—When the Europeans were massacred, a number of
lndies and children met with the same fate, after
which a sowar brought an order from the Nana to
spare the ladies and children, At this time there
were about 150 of them, who had escaped the
massacre ; some of them were wounded; the sepoys
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and sowars took all of them away to the Savada
house ; and subsequently T heard that the number of
the ladies and children was 155,

Question—Besides Bala and Azeemoollah and Jwalla Pershad,
did you see auy other influential resident of Cawnpoor
present at the ghat ?

Answer—There were a number of sirdars and zemindars
present, whose names I do not remember. There were
two or three resaldars also, mounted on horseback.
I was told that the name of one was Nukee, and of
the other Huneef; the latter was formerly a coachman
in the service of Captain * * * Commissariat Officer,
and Intterly a merchant. He was heading a number
of sowars,

Question—Did yon recognise well the above-named _persons,
Nukee and Huneef 7

Answer——1I was acquainted with Huneef from a long time, and
knew him well. It was the first time I had saen
Nukee, but I think I could recognise him if I saw
him now; besides these two persons, a number
of Mussulman and Hindoo sirdars were present.

Question—Did you witness any other massacres ?

Answer——No,

Question—Do yon know anything of the massacre of the Indies at
the Beebeeghur ?

Angwer-—I only heard of it. As I was employed by Mr. Thomas
Greenway I was looked on with suspicion, and there-
fore did not move about much, A boat, containing
500 maunds of saltpetre belonging to Mr, Greenway,
wns moored opposite my house, which I concealed
in a stream running out towards the banks of the
Ganges nnd after the restoration of British authority
made over the saltpetre to Mr, Greenway’s gomashtas,

Question—Are the oceurrences enumerated in your deposition
quite true, or have you been influenced by any party
to make the statements therein contained 7

Answer—I have stated truly and correctly what I know, and
the authorities can make any enquiries they think
proper.
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No. §7—Deposition of Lochun, chowdree of boais, son of Mudaree,
age 41 years, vesident of Gola Ghat, Cawnpoor.

Question—Where were you during the mutiny, and what ocour-
rences did you obserye 7

Answer——I had provided boats to convey the Barrack Master
and Mr. Thomas Greenway to Allahabad, when the
mutiny broke out. On the 4th June, the bridge-of-
boats was broken. On the 5th, some of the boats
were set on fire, and the fight commenced at the
entrenchments, when a search commenced for all
Christians, and those connected with them. Dabee-
deen, Munshi over the boatmen, proceeded to arrest
me; hearing of which, I hid myself in my village
and remained concealed until the 28rd June, when
Goordial, my brother, being brought in a prisoner
from Ulwapore, on the other side of the Ganges, [
was also summoned by Holass Sing, Kotwal, who
gave me an order to have boats ready, and to be in
attendance. I replied that I have no boats, and was
quite unable to make arrangements to procure any.
On this, the kotwal abused and ill-treated me, and I
was forced to tell him that there were a number of
boats at the Customs Ghat belonging to traders, and
requested to send for them. A person named
Buddoo, accompanied by sowars, went and brought.
away the boats, about 23 or 24 in number. Soma of
them belonged to Furruckabad, and others to places
lower down. All of them had chappers on, bub
repairs and bamboo chalee or flooring were needed.

Quegtion— Who assisted in the repairs, and making of chalee 7

Answer—A person name Badul, in the employ of the Naaa,
brought three or four hundred coolies from Bithoor,
and had the repairs completed, I ouly marked out
the places where the bamboos should be placed, and
at the time of the bamboos being put together for the
flooring, I was not at the ghat, but my brother
Goordial was present. He mentioned to me, the day
previous to the Sakib log entering the boats, that two
gentlemen, accompanied by two soldiers, mounted on
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elephants, came to inspect the chappera of the hoats,
and were much vexed, and ordered him to complete
the chappers quickly, Goordial did his best, and
had the work completed. Aftor this, during the
night, a chuprassic, in the service of the Nana,
brought Dabecdeen, Ramdeen, Guzeea and Choonee
to my house, and gave me orders to be present at the
ghat positively on the next day ; otherwise I would be
severely punished. Accordingly, very early in the
momning on the next day, T went to the ghat and
saw that a number of sepoys and sowars had located

themselves in Mouzah Koorina, which is close by
Suttee Chourn, on the banks of the Ganges. Some
sepoys had also placed themselves in a nullah near
Mr. Christie’'s bungalow. In both the above places,
there were about four or five hundred persons, and a
gun was also in position near the above-mentioned
bungalow. A second was placed in Mouzah Koorina,
and another in the middle of this monzah, and a fourth
one at Koela Ghat. From about seven in the morning
the sakib log commenced leaving the entrenchments
for the boats, and the soldiers carried their pro-
perty on their heads. About half-past eight, the
entrenchments were cleared, and its inmates were
carried to the boats on elephants, palanquins, and
doolies; some of them had got on the boats, and
others were in the act of doing o, when two sowars
came galloping up, and told the people to move aside,
otherwise they would all be killed Hearing this

the lookers-on all got out of the way. A bugle then
sounded, when troops made their appearance, At this
time some Europeans were passing over the wooden
bridge: a volley was fired at them ; and another from
the nullah called Suttee Choura; a third from
Mouzah Koorina, The ladies and gentlemen Jumped
off the boats into the river, where the water was
waist-deep, . Guns were fired from the Places thay
were concealed in. Jwala Pershad, Azeemoollah,
Baba Bhut, and Bala, &o, attendants of the Nana
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were witnessing these ocourrences, Jwala Pershad,
Brigadier, and Azeemoollah made a sign to Dabee-
deen, Moonshee over the boatmen, to set fire to the
boats, and Ramdeen, boatman, fired one of them,
which ignited all the other boats. Musketry and
guns were being discharged at this time incessantly.
Two guns with a number of sepoys were placed at the
Kuttra on the other side of the river: volleys were
also discharged by them. From the firing on this
side of the river, those that escaped being burnt to
death in the boats were killed, and those that had
taken refuge behind the boats were killed by the
shots from the other side of the river. After this, by
order of Tantin Topee, the sowars rushed into the
river, and put an end to all the Europeans with their
swords and pistols, The Europeans managed to push
off three boats, but two of them grounded on the
opposite bank near the Kuttra, and one of them went
down the stream, which was struck by a shot from
the gun placed at the Koela ghat, but it managed to
escape, and a number of sowars and sepoys went in
pursuit. A short time after this an order came from
the Nana to spare all the women and children who
had escaped the massacre. Aecordingly, the sepoys
and sowars surrounded them and took them away to
the Nana at Savada ; some of these were wounded;
and all of them were dripping wet, and could hardly
walk ; they were about 150 in number. The Nana
ordered them all to be kept in the Savada House.

Question—When the sahib log left the entrenchment what was
their number, and of which place were the boatmen
residents who set fire to the boats, and to whom did the
boats belong, and who were the persons remunerated
for the loss of their boats, and by whom were they
paid, and after this massacre, were there any other
sahib log killed ?

Answer—The boatmen were Moonshee Dabeedeen. a resident of
Gols Ghat; Ramdeen Choonnee, and Guzeea, resi-
dents of Bithoor. The Europeans ladiesand children,
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who left the entrenchments were about 400. I do
not know the names of the owners of the boats
which had come from down the country, but
amongst the boats that were taken up there were
five belonging to mahajuns and others of the city,
as follows :—aone to Jankee Jawun ; one to Dya Kishun,
Maheshree ; and one to Buttoo, Maheshree, mahajuns;
ane to Muthra Mullah ; and one to Phuttay Mullah,
These people were paid the value of their boats
which were burgt, amounting to Rs. 4,467, through
Moonshee Dabeedeen, by orders of Tantin Topee.
Of this sum, a balance was left with Dabeedeen,
which he took for himself. Some 18 gentlemen were
brought in prisoners the same afternoon, from the
other side of the river, by Chedee Singh and Huttee
Singh, and three fgllowers. I heard that they were
murdered on the plain opposite Savada,

Question—When the Europeans were embarking, did you recognize

General Wheeler; on which boat was he, and where
was he killed ?

Answer——1 did not see the General, but heard Dabeedeen, boat-
man, say that he was on one of the three boats that had
been pushed off into the stream. One of these boats
floated down as far as Sheorajpore, the inmates of
which were bronght in the next day, but the General
was not amongst them.

Question—Do you know who carried away Ceneral Wheeler's
daughter?

Answer—I heard that a sowar had carried away General Wheeler's

~ daughter.

Question—Where are the boatmen now who set fire to the boats ?

Answer—When the Nana's troops retreated to Bithoor, the
boatmen accompanied them, Ido not know where
they are now, It is now a year since Dubeedeen Wi
killed near the Chowkee of Rhai Ruwan,

Question—When the Europeans bad come to the ghat, which of
the Nana's attendants were there ?

Answer—Baba Bhut, Jwalla Pershad, Brigadier, Azeemoollah
and Bala were there ; and many others, whose names
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I do not remember, A ressaldar in the Nana's service,
named Nukee, was very busy in giving orders regard-
ing the massacre of the Europeans,

Question—You have stated that the money for the boats was
paid by Tantia Topee: where was this person on
that day, and how was he engaged ?

Answer—He was with the troops engaged in the massacre, and
was seated near a temple at the Suttee Chowra Ghat,
close to Mouzah Kooreea. By his orders the bugle
was sounded, and the guns fired. He also gave the
order to the sowars to plunge into the river, and
massacre the Europeans. All orders regarding the
massacre, issued by the Nana, were carried into
execution by Tantia Topee.

No. 48.—Deposition of Buddhoo, commissariat contractor of
boats, Cavmpoor, son of Ram EKwrn, casts Bugal
Ugarmat, age 40 years, resident of Nareeul Bazar,
Cawnpoor,

Question—When the mutiny occurred at Cawnpoor, where were
you 7

Answer——I was at Cawnpoor. A month previous to the outbreak,
I was appointed commissarint contractor of boats.
In the beginning of June 1857, the troops mutinied at
Cawnpoor, the Europeans went into the entrenchments
and the Nana and mutineers commenced fighting,
Owing to the mutineers plundering and murdering all
employed by Government or connected with it, 1
remained concealed at my house, When it was
agreed on that the Europeans should leave the en-
trenchments and proceed to Allahabad, and boats
were required for this purpose by the Nana, one
night about 9 P.M. a couple of chuprassis took me to
the kotwallee. The Kotwal, Holass Singh, ordered me
to collect 40 boats immediately. I told him that,
when I received orders from the Europeans to procure
bouts, I was advanced money and*allowed a month or
fifteen days’ time to collect the same, and that it was
impossible to procure bouts on so short & notice, On
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this the kotwal was much snnoyed, and said that
was only putting him off, and ordered his attendants
to take me to the Customs Ghat, give moa good beat-
mg, and make me get boats; they did as ordered,
and kept me there the whole night, beating me, and
threatened to blow me away from guns, if I did not
comply with their request ; they continued threaten-
ing me until 12 Ax, but T did not get them any
boats. During this oceurrence, a chuprassi named
Gunga Singh, who was in the employ of Lochun, ghat
manjhee, came there, accompanied by four or five
sowars, and commenced having the boats moved off,
which were stationed at the Customs Ghat. Gunga
Singh sent me away in charge of the sowars to
Suttee Chowra Ghat, where there was a large temple,
near which I saw Tanteen Topee, Mahratta, Nana
and Jwalls Pershad, who had been created a Briga-
dier, seated on a scaffolding of planks ; and a number
of people were assembled. About two hundred and
fifty paces from it, on the river side, a gun wns placed
and a company of sepoys of the &6th Regiment
Native Infantry. I was made a prisoner here by
Tanteea's order, who told me that my hand and pose
would be taken off 1 saw that some of the boats
had chappers on them; others were completed by
Goordial, brother of Lochun, the ghat manjhee, The
boats were about twenty-two in number, The next
day, before sunrise, the gun and sepoys placed on the
river side were removed and hid in the ruins of
the burnt bungalow close by. About eight in the
morning the Europeans comwenced reaching the
ghat, and getting on the boats; some had effected
it, and others were in the aet of doing so, when a
bugle was sounded, and guns and musketry were
fired. The boats caught fire. The Europeans that
had got intu the boats jumped off them and stood in
the water on the opposite side of the boats, when shots
were fired at thew from the other side of the river.
By this time, the Europeans had managed to  geb
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away three boats, rowing them themselves, One of
these got into the stream and pushed off, but the
other two grounded on the opposite bank., I saw
these occurrences personally from the place of my
confinement ; after which I remained there a prisoner
for ten or twelve days, when my father gave some
money to Hoolas Sing, Kotwel, who sent for me, and
kept me in the kotwalee for about two days. He
allowed me to go home in charge of two peons, for
the purpose of taking my food; after which he
released me, with an order to present myself when-
ever ordered.

Question—Whose were the boats that were taken up, and how

many of them were burnt 7

Answer—Some of the boats had come from F urrnckabad, and

some were of this station, and I had heard that
seventeen or eighteen boats were burnt,

Question—Did you hear to whom the boats of this station

belonged ?

Answer—When I was released 1 heard that one of the boats

belonged to Dya Singh Mistree, residing in  Munee-
gunj, and another to Bubboomaull Mistree, who
lived in Pooranagunj, and four or five of them
belonged to people living in the city whose names
Ido not know. I also heard that the value of the
boats which were burnt was paid from the Nana's
trensury to Lochun, the ghat manjhee, who partly
remunerated the owners of the boats, and kept
some of the money for himself

Question—State what you saw at the Suttee Chowra Ghat, and

how, previous to the massacre, were Gunga Singh,
chupprasi, and Goordyal engaged ?

Answer—-I saw Goordyal and Gunga Singh there from morning

to noon ; the former was engaged in having the
chappers put on the boats, and the latter, accom-
panied by sowars, was busy pressing coolies.

Question—Who were the boatmen at the ghat ?

Answer—-There wore & good many there, but I do not know any’

of their names.
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Question—On the day the Europeans went on the boats, how
were Goordyal and Gunga Singh engaged 7

Answer—-There was such an assemblage at the time on the ghat,
that I did not observe Gunga Singh and Goordyal
there.

Question—Where are these persons now

Answer—They had concealed themselves for a long time, but
Goordyal and Lochun have made their appearance,
and are here, but there is no trace of Gunga
Singh.

Question—Did you hear how and where General Wheeler was
massacred ?

Answer—1I did not hear anything regarding him,

Question—Did you hear of any sowar having carried away General
Wheeler's danghter ?

Answer—=When I obtained release from confinement, I meraly
heard as a rumour that some sowar had brought
awny the General's daughter.

Question—What was the number of the persons massacred at the
ghat, and what was done with their bodies ?

Answer—1I was in confinement at & distance from the place
where the massacre was perpetrated, and eould not
therefore tell the number of the victims, but saw
about 50 or 60 bodies floating down the river and a
number were left lying on the banks,

Question—Did you see the ladies and children brought to the
Savada House 7 What was their oumber, and what
did you hear regarding them ?

Answer—Being in confinement, I did not see them personally,
but heard the sepoys say that about 125 ladies,
inclusive of children, had escaped the massacre and
were confined,

No. 49.~Deposition of Narain Kachee, son of Golab, age 25 years,

Question—Where were you during the disturbances, and wha
occurrences did you observe ?

Answer—-For some years, I kept a granary at Lutchmun Ghat,

in Bithoor. In June 1857, when the outbreak

ocourred at Cawnpoor, I was at Bithoor ; the second
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day after this, a flag was set up at Bithoor in the
Napna's name; a proclamation issned ; and Choonnee
Singh, Choudres was appointed Thanadar of Bithoor,
which convinced me that the Nana's rule had com-
menced. Two or three days after this, the heads of
three gentlemen were brought in to the Rao by the
sowars of the Tth Cavalry and some sepoys ; a gentle-
man and a lady were also brought in. 1 heard that
the widow of Baji Rao, hearing that the lady was
pregnant, pleaded hard in her behalf with the Rao,
and told him that if anything happened to the lady
she would put an end to herself, and therefore the
lady was kept in a house, and an old Mahomedan
woman was sent to attend on her. The gentleman
was sent awny someéwhere ; I do not know what be-
came of him, as I never saw him again, Koosaba
Khiranee Gir had all the acconnts and arrangements
regarding the troops, and used to visit the Nana at
Cawnpoor. Ragho Punth Aptay, Ubba Dhunoor
Sharee, Pandona Shablee, Bitthul Punth Bishkeer,
Azeemoollah, and Jwalla Pershad, the Nana's resal-
dar, who was appointed Brigadier, and several others,
remained in constant attendance on the Nana,and often
came to Bithoor from Cawnpoor, Eight or nine days
after this, a boat containing n number of Europeans
came from Furruckabad. Oun the other side of the
river, at the Kuttra, were Jussa Singh, of Futtehpore
Chournssee, and his party encamped. Some sowars
and sepoys with a gun were posted at Kulwara Ghat :
another gun was placed opposite the thana: and a
third at Bundee Mata's ghat. Sepoys and sowars
were placed at different posts, When the boat came
opposite Kulwara Ghat, the guns commenced playing
on it, and Jussa Singh's party commenced firing from
their position on the other side of the river, and the
sepoys and sowars from this side of the river; on
which the boat stopped opposite Kulwara Ghat, and
the Europeans in it commenced firing also. A short
time after, a gentlemsu put out a flag from the boat,



on which the firing on both sides ceased ;i Jussa
Singh's party crossed the river, and took away the
boat to Kulwara Ghat, and afterwards to the thanah,
In the evening, whilst it was raining, the Europeans
were put in three or four carts, ecovered with sirkee,
sent by the Rao, and were conveyed throngh Bham
Mull's Kuttra bazar to the palace. The gentlemen and
ladies were all formed up in aline; the Rao inspected
them, and gave orders that they should be kept in the
old Residency. Koosaba Khiranee Gir took and
placed them there, but all the property belonging to
the Europeans was placed in the palace. Food was
sent for them in the morning by Koosaba Khiranee
Gir, and on the next day they were all despatched to
the Nana, at Cawnpoor, and I heard that they were
massacred. One day, about noon, it was rumoured
that the Europeans would leave the entrenchments at
Cawnpoor for Allahabad, and that peace had been
made with the Nana, Hearing this, a number of
persons left Bithoor for Cawnpoor to witness the
departure of the Europeans. 1 also secompanied
them, and reached Cawnpoor on Friday, 26tl June,
and, as I was acquainted with Narain, a servant of
the Naua's, I went to the Nana’s tent, In the even-
ing Tanteea Topee, who was a captain in the Nana's
Army, came to the Nana's tent, and remained there a
short time. T was informed by Narain, the Nana’s
servant, that Nana Dhoondoo Punth and Bala had
given orders to Tanteea Topée to massacre the
Europeans when they entered the boats, On the
same night 500 or 600 sowars and sepoys were dasg-
patched to the ghay, and on the next morning
(Saturday) the people commenced proceeding to the
ghat, and I accompanied them, to witness the Europeans
leaving Cawnpoor. Thousands of fpectators weape
assembled, and the soldiers and others were loading
the boats with property.  About 8 or 9 in the marn.
ing all the Europeans, about 400 or 500 in number,
commenced arriving at the ghat ; aboug half of them
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had got on the boats ; and the others were proceeding
higher up towards the ghat from behind the wooden
bridge, when two or three hundred sepoys and sowars
arrived and fired a volley from the bridge. Tanteea
Topee was seated on a chubootra of a temple, to the
right of the road leading to the ghat, and he gave
orders to the troops in concealment close to him, and
they fired. Shots were also fired from the nullah to the
left, and Ramdeen, a boatman, set fire to the boats by
orders of Jwala Pershad (Brigadier). The Europeans
Jjumped off the boats into the river; Tanteea Topee
guve orders to the sowars to cut them up; and the
troopers of the 2nd Cavalry rushed into the river on
horseback, and despatched them with their swords and
pistols. Three of the boats pushed off: one of
them went down the stream to the east, and the
other two went towards the kuttra on the other side
of the nver. I witnessed this personally. A short
time after, a sowar came from the Nana, and gave
orders to spare the ladiesand children who had escaped
the massacre. The sepoys and sowars then surronnded
them, and took them away to Savada. A resaldar of
Hindoostanee cavalry, named Nukee, was very busy
in giving orders for the destruction of the Europeans,
Nana Dhoondoo Punth gave orders for the ladies to
be kept in the Savada House,

Questicn—Who set fire to the boats, and do you know Tanteea
Topee, and which of the Nana's officers were present
at the ghat ?

Answer—=Ramdeen, Chain and Guzeea, boatmen, old servants of
the Nana, set fire to the boats, and I know them ;
besides these, there was a boatman, named Lulla, of
Bithoor. The following were the Nana's officers :—
Baba Bhut and Bala, brothers of the Nana ; Narain
Dewan; Ragho Punth Aptay; Pandona Shablee;
Bishuoo Punth ; Patun-gir; Kesho Bhut Mullun-gir;
Anund Bhut Goottay ; Namin Mohnee ; Gunput Rao;
and Sundbayree ; and several other Mahrattas, Besides
the above, the following sirdars were also present:—
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Jwalla Pershad, Brigadier ; Azeemoollah ; Ahmed Alie
Khan, Vakeel ; and the former Kotwal, Holass Singh,
and another person, a Mussulman, whose name I do
not know, he was of a tall stature and spare body.

Question—How did you recognise Ahmed Alie Khan, Vakeel ?

Answer—He used to visit the Nana at Bithoor occasionally, and
when the Nana came to Bithoor, after the evacuation
of the entrenchments, Ahmed Alie Khan accompanied
him, to place him on the throne, and I then saw him;
he had put up in Raja Heern-jee's house and I had
also heard that he was to get a khillut.

Question—How long have yon known Tanteea Topee, and how were
you in such close proximity to him as to have heard
him giving orders ?

Answer—-I have known him for the last seven or eight years,
as I frequently saw him pass my shop in company
with the Nana, and, as Narain Ahmed was standing
near Tanteea Topee, 1 went close to him, for the
pillars of the temple afforded shelter from the shots
fired, and in my presence and hearing Tanteea Topee
sent for Teeka Singh, subadar of the 2nd Cavalry,
known as a general, and gave him orders to rush into
the water, and spare none.

Question—Where are the boatmen now whose names you have
given above ?

Angwer—They all left with Nann Dhoondoo Punth; some of
them are perhaps still here in concealment.

Question—Where are the Mahratta officers named above ?

Answer—They are at Bithoor.

Question—How is it they did not accompany the Nana, but
remained at Bithoor ?

Answer—They did leave at first, but it appears they gave an
immense sum of money to Nana Narain Rao, who has
concealed the fact of their implication.

Question—Can you furnish any proofs in support of your state-
ments ?

Answer—-I shall endeavour to furnish proofs as far as possible,

Question—Do you know anything further ?

Answer——No,
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No. 50,—Deposition of Nundeedeen Aheer, son of Ramdesn, age 26
years, vesident of Bithoor.

Question—Where were yon during the outhreak, and what circume
stances did you witness ?

Answer——1T was employed by Dagee, s Mahratia Brahmin, to
look after his garden. It was in June 1857, when a
flag was set upin the Nana’s name at Bithoor, and -
Choonee Singh, Chowdree, appointed thanadar, Two
or three days after this, the headsof two or three
Europeans were brought iuto Bithoor by some sowars ;
they also brought a gentlemen and lady with them.
The latter was kept in the old Residency, and I do
not know what became of the former. Eight or nine
days after this, about 50 gentlemen and ladies were
brought in from Kulwara Ghat, and the Rao ordered
Koosaba Khiranee Gir to keep them in the old Resi-
dency. In the morning food was sent to them ; after
which they were all sent away to Cawnpoor on earts,
accompanied by Koosaba Khiranee Gir. About eight 3
days after this, it was rumoured at Bithoor that an :
understanding had been come to between the Euro.
peans and the Nana, and that in o day or two the
former were to vacate the entrenchments and proceed
to Allshabad, and that the Naga’s rule would be
established. Hearing this, on Friday, 26th June, a
number of persons left Bithoor for Cawnpoor. 1 also
accompanied them, and reached the place in the night,
when I heard that, on the next morning, the Europeans
would embark at the Suttee Chowra Ghat. I went
carly next morning at gun-fire, and saw a great crowd
assembled, There is a temple to the right of the
road near the bridge, leading to Suttee Chowra Ghat,
near which was seated Tanteea Topeea on a chubootra,
and to the right-hand side of the temple, towards the
east, is a village, where a gun was placed with two or
three hundred armed sepoys and sowars ;and to the
left-hand side of the temple, some two or three hune
dred paces from it, a number of sepoys and sowars had
placed themselves behind some timber lying there.



About seven or eight o'clock in the morning the

soldiers and other people commenced putting the

Europeans’ property on the boats, and two or three
hours after this, the Europeans came from the en-
trenchments, and commenced entering the boats. At
this time, a messenger was sent by Tanteea Topee to
order the bugle to be sounded, as soon as the Euro-
peans reached the bridge. A short time after this,

the bugle was sounded and firing commenced. The

shots fired by the party placed at the right of the

temple killed and wounded some ten or fifteen Eurpe

peaos, but I.did not see what occurred at the place

where the sepoys had concealed themselves, in a F

nullah behind the timber, though shots were fired by
this party also. A boatman named Ramdeen set fire
to one of the boats, which ignited the others. On
the other side of the river some sepoys and cavalry
were placed, who commenced firing guns at the boats,
I was standing concealed in a corner, close to where
Tanteea Topee was seated, and I heard him tell Teeka

- Sing, a subadar of the 2nd Cavalry, who was known

as the general, to order the sowars to go into the
water, and put an end to the Europeans ; and aceord-
tugly they rushed into the river and murdered them,
A short time after, an order came from the Naoa to
spare the ladies and children who had escaped the
massacre ; the sepoys and sowars surrounded them and
took them away to the Nana, but I did not go there,

Question—How many Europeans left the entrenchments, and how

many ladies escaped the massacre? Were all the
gentlemen murdered 7

Answer —They were about four or five hundred in number in.

clusive of their servants. I did not count them,
neither did I make enquiries regarding their number,
Two boats floated down t-uthukut-tuunthahnhu[
the Ganges, and a third boat went down the stream
to the east, A number of sepoys and sowars went in
pursuit,
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Question—Do you know who were the boatmen who set fire to
the boats, and of which place were they residents,
and by whose orders did they set fire to the boats ?

Answer—I recognised Ramdeen and Chain, boatmen, but I do
not know who the others were. I am not aware by
whose orders they set fire to the boats,

Question—Which of the Nana's officers were present at the ghat ?

Answer~—Jwalla Pershad, Resaldar, an old servant of the Nana's ;
Nana Bhut and Bala, the Nana's brothers ; and
Azeemoollah : the latter had been to England on
account of the Nana; Narain Dewan, a Mahratta :
Rajhopunth Aptay, and Ahmed Alie, Vakeel, who
often visited the Nana at Bithoor; Shah Ali, formerly
a thanadar and afterwards kotwal of the city of
Cawnpoor ; and several others whom I could mnot
recoguise. A number of people were plundering the
property from the boats,

Question—How did you manage to approach so close to Tantees
Topee, and from what time have you known him ?

Answer—I have known him from a long time, as I frequently
saw him pass my garden. As the temple where
Tanteea Topee was seated was a convenient place to
see the departure of the Europeans, I took my stand
on an elevated part of it, as at that time there was
no apparent danger, neither was I aware of any; but
when shots were fired I concealed myself behind a
pillar of the temple in question, about ten paces away
from the place where Tanteea Topee was seated.

Question—What was the number of the ladies who escaped the
massacre ?

Answer——They were about 100 or 150. I did not count them,
neither did I make any enquiry regarding their
number.  All their clothing was wet, and some of the
ladies were wounded.

Question—Do you know anything further 7

Answer—Yes, when the Nana went to Bithoor, the officers
named above, 1. e, Ahmed Alie, Vakeel, and others,
went along with him to place him on the throne.
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Question—How did you recognise Ahmed Alie Khan, Vakeel ?

Answer-—] was employed with Narain Rao, whose Vakeel was
Ahmed Alie Khan, and I frequently saw him there. Ha
also often visited Nana Dhondoo Punth's palace, I
therefore knew him well.

Question —Where are the above-named officers who were in the
Nana's employ ?

Answer—Some of them are at Bithoor. They are intimate with
Narain Rao, and are under his protection. They
have, therefore, escaped being taken up, e

Question—Can you state the whereabouts of those that are at
Bithoor 7

Answer—1If I am ordered by the authorities I will give information
regarding their whereabouts,

No. 51.—Deposition of Juggernath, son of Petwmnath, resident of
Gopalpore, Pergunnah Sarh Sulempore, Zillah Cawn-
poor, age 24 years,

Question—Where were you when the outbreak occurred at
Cawnpoor.

Answer==The day that the outbreak oceurred, I was at General-
gunj at my shop, kept by Keshree Bunneea, and
heard a great uproar, but did not stir to see what
was the cause of the disturbance. Five or six days
after this, Kamta Pershad and Deechut Nath, called
Daroga, Brahmins, residents of Gopalpore, who were
confined in the jail, joined the band under Teeka
Sing, who was afterwards called a general; and
Luchmun Sing, zemindar of Palee, together with
about 150 of their men. These two persons, 1, .,
Kamta Pershad and Deechut Nath, together with
Thakoor Sing, a dacoit, Jowahir Sing, Chowdres, in
company with five sowars, came to Keshree's shop,
took me away, and confined me in Kamta Pershad's
tent. Teeka Sing said to me that as I dealt in
indigo I must know where saltpetre was manufac-
tured, and therefore must let him know the different
places, and the sowars demanded 500 rupees of me.
I told them that I was a poor man, and only dealt in
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indigo. Ttherefore did not know where saltpetre counld
be obtained, and that T had no money. T was still
kept in confinement, and, during this time, I saw
Luchman Sing; Ojaghur Sing, Bijey Sing, and Thakoor
Pershad of Palee, and Kamta Pershad of Gapalpore,
accompanied by their bands, visit Teeka Sing, and
go with him to the batteries. For fifteen days I saw
these proceedings, after which time they released me,
The day that the Europeans left the entrenchments
for the boats, a number of people was assembled at
the ghat, and I also went there. Tt was about eight
in the morning, and I went to the ghat by the road
leading to it from the European bazar, which road
was also taken by the Europeans. There was a
temple on the banks of the Ganges, near which
Tanteea, Mahratta, was seated, and a number of sepoya
and sowars together with a great many zemindars
were nssembled at the ghat, and between the temple.
and Suttee Choura Ghat thousands of people were
assembled. At this time o person came to the place
where Tanteea was seated, and said that the boatmen
were very few, on which the sirdars were angry, and
ordered him away. Some of the Europeans had got
on the boats, and others were on the point of doing
so, when shots were fired, and the sepoys and sowars
fired volleys from all sides, which killed a number of
the ladies, gentlemen and children, on which the
people assembled fell back, and I did the same, and
the boats were set on- fire. Where 1 was standing
there were a number of Mahratta sirdars whose
names I do not remember, and the following persons
wers also there :—Tecka Sing, general ; Hoolas Sing,
kotwal; and Ukber Ales, who was appointed
tehseeldar by the Nana, and Luchmun, &, gomindars,
were mounted on horseback and firing shots ; and,
when the Europeans had jumped off the boats into
the water, T heard Hoolas Sing, Teckn Sing, Ukbur
Alee, and Luchmun Sing calling ont to the sowars,
ordering them to go into the water, and despatch



those standing in it; on which they rushed in and
made an end of all they came across with swords and
pistols, After this the crowd dispersed, and I re-
turned to my shop. Hundreds of persons have wit-
nessed this,
Question—Did you witness the massaere of any other Europeans 7
Answer—No

Question—Did you see Teeka Sing, Hoolas Sing, and Ukbur Alles,
firing on the Europeans ?

Answer—Yes ; I saw them at the ghat firing on the Enropeans,
and “several others saw them doing so. The fact is
well known of Hoolas Sing having ordered the boats
to be prepared, and of Teeka Sing having arranged
the distribution of the sepoys and sowars at the
ghat. :

No. 52.—Deposition of Bilhee Sing, son of Chotoo Sing, Thakoor, age

40 years, vesident of Mouzah Chundunpoor , Pergunnah
Sarh Sulem, Zillah Cownpoor.

Question—When the troops mutinied at Cawnpoor, where were
you?

Angwer—In the month of June, when the outbreak occurred at
Cawnpoor, I was employed with Nynsookh, contractor,
who had taken the contract of the lines of the 56th
Native Infantry and was living at his house in the
European regimental bazar, and remained thers till
the station was again oceupied by the European
troops.

Question—As you were at Cawnpoor all through the onthreak,
state what occurrences came under your notice,

Angwer—A long time has now elapsed, and I do not remember
all the occurrences, but whatever questions may be
put to me, I will answer.

Question—Did you ever witness the massacre of any Enropeans
during these disturbances ?

Answer—A great many Europeans were put to death and i
number of persons are witness to this fact, 1 remem.
ber that a few days after the outbreak 118 or 119
Europeans were put to death on the Plain  opposite
the Savada Kotee, at noon,

hh
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Question—Who gave the order for the massacre, and who executed

it 7 And which of the Nana's officers were present ?

dAnswer—There were a number of persons assembled, both

Mahrattas and city people. I do not remember all
of their names, and T believe the order was given by
the Nana. The sowars and sepoys shot the Europeans,
after which jullnds despatched them with swords,

Question—State the names of the Nana's officers who were present

at this massacre, as far you remember.

Answer-—There were a number of zemindars and Mahrattas,

whose names I do not remember, and the Nana's
officers were:—Ahmed Alie Khan, Vakeel; Ukber
Alie, Mookhtiar; Shah Alie, the former Kotwal; and
Holass Singh, the then Kotwal.

Question—How was Holass Singh engaged 7
Answer——He was along with all the others, and at the time that

the Nann gave an order for the massacre of the
Europeans 1 was standing at some distance, and
therefore could not hear what orders were given by
the officers in question. But I think Ukber Alie
ardered the jullads to despatch the Europeans

Question—Besides this massacre of Europsans did yon witness

any other §

Answer——Yes: once at the Suttee Chowra Ghat. About 8 or 9

o'clock in the morning I saw the Europeaus from the
entrenchments passing by the bazar I lived in, and
proceeding to the ghat, where there was a great
assembly. There is a pucka temple on the right-
hand side of the road leading to the ghat, At this
place Tanteea, Mahratta, and a number of other sir-
dars were present, and from that temple, at a short
distance, sepoys and sowars were concealed in the
Chore ghattee, and a gun wasin position between the
Chore ghattee and the temple, As the Europeans
were getting into the boats, volleys were fired, which
killed them.

Question—State who were the sirdars in company with

Tonteea, aud who gave orders for the firing.

Answer—I do not remember the names of all the sirdars, but [

remember seeing one or two persons coming running

]

\
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from the place Tanteea was seated at, and giving
orders for the bugle to sound; after which Teeka
Singh, Subadar; Holass Singh, Kotwal ; Ukber Alie,
Mooktiar, and several others armed and mounted on
horseback, came galloping up to the boats and gave
orders to the sowars to despatch the Europeans stand-
ing in the water; according to which they rushed
into the river and put them to death.

Question —Are you sure you heard Teeka Singh, Holass Singh,

and Ukber Alie, give orders to the sowars to massa-
cre the Europeans?

Answer =1 remember well having heard these people give

distinet and striet orders to the sowars to massacre
the Europeans, who were standing in the water, and
there was several other sirdars who gave the same
orders, but I do not remember their names. Teeka
Singh, Holass Singh, and Ukber Alie were armed
with English pistols which they fired at the Euro-
peans, and a shot fired by Ukber Alie, Mookhtiar,
struck a gentleman on the breast and killed him.
Several ladies and children were wounded, and some
of them were killed. Shortly after, I heard that the
Nana sent orders to spare the ladies and children
who had escaped the massacre, and accordingly those
that were alive were brought and confined in the
Savada House. After this I did not see any Europeans
put to death.

Question—What was the number of Europeans at the ghat 7
Answer——1 cannot state this as I did not take any notice of their

number, and, as I went to the ghat by the road leading
from the European Regimental Bazar, I did not see
the entire number as they were all seattered ahout on
the boats and the banks of the river; there was also
o great assemblage, and a ‘number of persons wera
galloping about on horseback.

Question—Did you see the wounded ladies and children brought

in from the ghat?

Answer—-I had left the ghat previous to the ladies and children

being taken away from there, but only saw them
coming in from a distance,

.;"I. = me uﬁ.vu."-.. R
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Question—Ind yon see any other ocourrences ?

Awnawer—1I did not see anything else particularly, but a great
many oecurrences took- place during the outbreak,
which I do not recollect now.

Question—What were the names of the zemindars who were
present at the massacre of the 118 or 119 Euro-
peans ?

A uswer——I do not remember the names of all, but the follow-
ing are some of them :—Luchmun Singh, Ojaghur
Singh, Bijey Singh, Thakoor Pershad, and Jado Rao,
the two lntter named were these zemindars’® Farin-
das, and these people had encamped in tents on the
race-course,

No. 23.—Deposition of Peer Bux, commissariat camel sowar of
Agra. _

In June 1857 (I do not remember the exact date) I was sent from
Agra with a letter to General Wheeler at Cawnpoor ; when near
Mutteapore, I met & number of Bengalis (some 150 in number), who
bad been plundered and maltreated by the residents of thut village,
As I approached, I saw them drawn out prepared to stop my progress,
but, being mounted on a swift camel, I avoided them. They were armed
with swords, spears, bows and arrows, At Juswuntnugger, I saw the
gang of dacoits under Gunga Sing plandering that village, and which
they had set on fire. On reaching Etawah, I found that the residents
had just beaten off an attask made by some mutineers, and firing was
still going on at the ghat. I saw the bodies of eight rebel sepoys, who
had been killed at the outskirts of the town whilst plundering. I put up.
at the house of Narain Dass, a gomashta of Lala Joti Pershad, and,
hearing that the road to Cawnpoor was very unsafe, left my arms and
the camel at the gomashta's house, disguised myself as a faqueer,
hiding the letter in the sole of my shoe, I travelled on foot by ocross-
roads till I entered the Grand Trunk Road at Choteypore, The insur-
gent villagers were plundering each other, but T was not molested ex-
cept once when I was searched on suspicion of carrying letters, and
was released with a slap on the face. From Choteypore to Cawnpoor
1 passed five police stations, at each of which there were ten sowars
posted, who were the Nana's servants. I reached Cawnpoor at four in
the afternoon, and went first to Kali Khan, jemadar of camel sowars,
sod then to Kasim Khan, mahout, whom I had known at Umballa,
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I found him with the rest of the elephants near the Mogul Serai, He was
just starting with an old Christian woman to the Nana's tent pitched
in the compound of the Savada, and I learnt that a treaty had been
made between him and the British. I accompanied them, and whilst
they went inside the tent 1 remained outside. I recognized the
Chackendie Rajs, whom 1 (when formerly at Cawnpoor as orderly
sowar to General Parsons) had often seen. The old Christian woman
and Kasim Khan, after remaining in the tent, went to the entrench-
ments with a letter from the Nana to General Wheeler. I, believing
them to be faithful, mentioned that I had a letter for the General,
which I made over to them. They entered the entrenchments leaving
me outside, At dark they returned and Kasim Khan told me that the
Europeans would leave the entrenchments early the next morning, and
that I was to wait at the Sottee Choura Ghat, when the General would
give me a reply to the letter. I remained all night at Kasim Khan's,
and at about half-past three awoke, hearing that the elephants were
getting ready. Kasim Khan placed a howdah on the elephant the Gene-
ral used to ride on, and a second elephant had a pad on his back ; the
two elephants were taken to the entrenchments and I proceeded direct
to the ghat. About sunrise the Europeans began to arrive ; the soldiers
were on foot, but the ladies and children were on hackeries. On the
pad elephant there were four ladies, and on the General's elephant in the
howdah I saw Lady Wheeler and her two danghters, who were put on
board the first boat. The General came down to the ghat on a galloway,
but, meeting the elephant, got on it, and was put on board his boat.
Kasim Khan made me a sign to ask for a reply to the letter, which I
did, The General told me to wait & few minates, and I should receive
one, Kasim Khan with his elephant was waiting by General Wheeler's
boat, when all of a #idden firing commenced from both sides of the
river ; the fire was returned from the fourth boat on the line, by which
two rebel sepoys were killed close to me, The boats were set on fire and
were burning. The two first boats, however, managed to get into the
stream : one of these was the first on the line, and contained the General
and his family, Sowars and sepoys were sent in pursuit of them. Those
who were in the boats set on fire leaped into the river, and were shot
down by cannon and musketry, The sowars then rushed into the river
to cut down the survivers, and, when all the men had been murdersd
the ladies and children were taken out of the water and placed on the
bank. Many of them were wounded.
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Question—Did you recognize any of the parties presentat the
massacre #

Answer—There was a very large erowd : residents of the city and
of the surrounding villages. I was not s resident of
Cawnpoor and could not therefore recognize any of
them.

Question—Did you see any of the city people or villagers take
part in the massacre, and were they armed ?

Answer—=The villagers were armed with swords, spears, and
battle-axes, but I did not see any of them use their
WEAPOQNS,

Question—Did you see any of the children killed 2

Answer—-Beyond being shot with others, whilst standing 1n
the water, I did not remark any special cases of
murder.

Question—What became of the ladies and children who were
spared |

Answer—They were taken to the Savada House, I followed in
the rear, and, passing the entrenchments, went in to :
lock at them. T saw the bodies of eleven Europeans ; '
they were on quilts on the floor ; some of them still
breathing, though dying from severe gun shot wounds,
There were three useless brass guns that had been
split, two leathern bottles of ghee, and a sack of
soojie, which the villagers were plundering. 1 heard
shortly afterwards that the wounded Europeans who
were alive in the entrenchments had been shot, On
returning to Kasim Khan's in the evening, I heard
that he had gone across the river, I, therefore, went
to Kali Khan's, and there met a sowar of the 2nd -
Cavalry named Gugpore Khan, who told us that the
General's boat had been captured a Nujjufgurh.
The next morning I left Cawnpoor, and, on reaching
Etawah, resumed my arms and camel I found
Feerozabad bad been burnt by the insurgent villagers -
of Kyer and was detained eight days at Futtehabad,
the road being closed by insurgents; after which I
reasched Agra in safety and made my report.

Question—=Give s description of Kasim Khan.



Answer —=Tall, fair and pock-marked, grey eyes and high nose,
small beard and mustachios, age nbout 40. I do not
know his village, for all his family resided with him at
the elephant sheds.

Question—What was the name of the other elephant-driver 7

Answer—=I do not know his name, but he was under the order of
Nunney Khan, jemadar of elephants. He was tall
and very dark, small eyes, with a high nose, much
hair on the head, small mustachios and no beard, age
about 30,

. i4—Deposition of Dhurm Dass, son of Peen Raj, RKaeth,

resident of Mousah Budurka, Pergunnah Arah, Zillah
Onae, age 45 years.

Question—When the muting broke out at Cawnpoor, where were
you {

Answer—I was at my home in Mouzah Budurka,

Question—Did Lalla Nanuck Chund visit your house during the
outbreak ?

Answer—s—Yes, he remained concealed in my house for about a
maonth,

Question—During the outbreak, did any Europeans ever come to
your village ?

Answer—-The day after the entrenchments at Cawnpoor were
vacated, and the Europeans massacred, a gentleman
of tall stature, about 40 years of age, was concealed
in a nullsh of Mouzah Kurroundeea, close to Mouzah
Budurka. The boys of the first-named village saw
this gentleman, and gave intimation to Sheo Sahes,
zemindar of Mouzah Kurroundeea, who brought him
away to his house, and asked him where he wished
t0 go to; he said he was desirous of going to Lucknow ;
and Sheo Sabai told him that if he went on in his
present state he would certainly be killed ; he wounld
therefore see him safe out of the village, and provided
him with food. During this time about 2350 armed
persons were sent by Chundee Singh, zemindar, and
Kalks, kanoongoe. A person named Sheo Churn,
an aheer, was at the head of this party ; he asked
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Sheo Sahai to give up the European ; and, aftera short
debate, took him away by force, and sent him into
Cawnpoar,
Question—Where are Chundee Sing and Kalka ?
Answer—They have absconded.
{Juestion—What other persons witnessed the above occurrence ?
Answer—-Thousands of people, residents of Mouzah Budurka and
Kurroundeen, are eye-witnesses to this fact.

No. 55, —Slatement of Dabie Deen, son of Nachul Lall, caste Kait,
village Bhuttoora, Zillah Fyzabad, age ahout 30 years,
Question—When the outbreak occurred at Cawnpoor, were you in
the service of the rebel Nana ?
Answer—-1 did not serve of my free will, but was seized and made
to do so, and then I was only employed four days,
Question—State how you were seized and made to serve.
Answer—I was residing in privacy at my house at Gurreah
Ghat, Cawnpoor. When the Nana's rebel foroes
marched towards Futtehpoor, about the 6th or Tth
July 1857, four sowars of the 2nd Cavalry seized me
at my house and first of all took me before the Nana,
who orderad me to be taken to Tanteea Topee. Tanteea
Topee was in charge of the commissariat and gave me
orders to accompany the 20d Cavalry to Futtehpoor,
I made several excuses, alleging I was unequal to the
work. Tanteea Topee said “ You were formerly in the
commissariat and are wup to the work.” 1 again
protested, upon which he scolded me and declared that,
unless I went with the 2nd Cavalry, I should be blown
from a cannon, Being helpless, I agreed to go. I was
then put in charge of fifteen carts and proceeded to
Futtehpoor. 1 wasonly four days with them (the 2nd
Cavalry). The first march we made was to Jugpoor,
the second Aong, the third Mulladan, from whence we
marched towards Futtehpoor; on the way we had an
engagement with the British ; the rebels were defeated,
and fled I fled to Aong, and from thence to
Cawnpoor.
Question—What number of troops went to Futtehpoor ?



Answer——Two regiments of infantry (one the 1st Native Infantry,
the name of the other I do not know), the 2nd
Cavalry, a regiment of newly-raised horse of the
Nana's, and a battery of guns.

Question—What sirdars and other officers accompanied the rebels?

Answer—Jwalla Pershad, Brigadier, and Tecka Sing the General,
also the Allahabad Moulvie; there was another indivi-
dual, by caste a Hindoo. The lumberdar of Futteh-
poor, who resides there, was present in the action ; he
was among the superior officers, and used to court the

. Nana at Cawnpoor ; there were many inferior officers
present, with whose names I am unacquainted,

Question—Whom of the superior’officers did yon yonrself see at
Cawnpoor with the Nana ?

Angwer—The Commander-in-Chief was Tanteea Topee, ther
Azeemoollah, Mussulman, Jwalla Pershad, and a
great many others,

Question—Who were subordinates in Deputy Ramlall's cutcherry ?

Answer—=1 do not know, .

Question—On the day the Europeans were massacred at Suttee
Chowra Ghat, where were you?

Anewer—-I was at my own house when the massacré took place,
There was a great uproar and I went to the ghat;
numbers of the citizens were assembled there. When I
reached the spot, all the gentlemen had been murdered,
but the women were being brought by the sowars and
sepoys to the Savada House,

Question—State what officers and citizens were present at the
ghat.

Answer—1 do not remember the names of any. Owing to the
confusion and uproar I was unable to discern,

Question—Ind you clearly see the ludies being brought in ?

Answer~—1I only saw them from a distance.

Question—How many times in your presence were gentlemen

y murdered at Cawnpoor ?

Aﬂawfr—l never once witnessed a massacre with my own eyes,

Question—Did you ever see any of the rajahs or zemindars who

were in the habit of visiting the Nana, or do you
know the names of any ?

1
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No,

Answer—-I used to hear that all the rajahs and zemindars were
present but do not know the names of &Ny, nor yet
did I see any with my own eyes,

Question—When you returned from Futtehpore where did you
reside 7

Answer-—1I stopped all along in my own houss, When I heard
that a proclamation hod Been issued by the Govern-
ment pardoning us, I eame to Cawnpoor, and went to
the commissarint, in which department I was
formerly employed on a security of fifteen hundred
rupees, for which I produced receipts. I received
back two hundred rupees, and for the remaining
thirteen hundred was granted receipts. After a short
time a command was going to Agra, in which I was
employed in the commissariat. I have stated the
whele truth,

Question—In the 2nd Cavalry, or among any other sowars, did you
know a man called Gunput Nameh 7

Answer—] knew no sowar of that name.

66 —Deposition of Peeroo, Duffadar of siveepers in Government

employ at the Cawnpoor Kotwali.

Question—Where were you when the troops mutinied at Cawn-
poor {

Answer—=I was at the Cawnpoor Kotwali, but know nothing.

Question—Do you know anything of the men the Nana employed
to attend the ladies and children ?

Angwer—=Mittvo aud his wife were employed to attend on the
ladies ; they were sent from the Kotwali, but no
one else that I know of.

Question—Where is Mittoo ?

Ansier—~He accompanied the English troops to Lucknow, being
attached to the General Hospital. I do mot know
where he is at present.

Question—What jullads or executioners were sent from the
Kotwali to massacre the Europeans 1

Apswer—Itbarri (who has since haen hanged), Bahadoor and
Chota ; these thres were the head jullads or execu-
tioners, and with them all the other jullads used to
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Question—By whose orders were those executioners sent ?

Answer—By orders of Hoolas Sing, Kotwal,

Question—Who carried out the orders of th
wali

Answer—~Hoolas Sing, kotwal ; Hurpurshad, mohurrir; and a Mus-
‘sulman jemadar, whose name I have forgotten, The
Naibi Bukshee Zainoolabdeen, paid the sweepers,

bhistics, chowkidars and gariwans,. These used

to do the work, Arsoom Bukshee never came to the

e Nana at the kop-

: Kotwali
A5 Question—Where have Bahadur and Chota gone ¢

o Answer——Bahadur was killed at Bithoor, but I do not know
o8 where Chota has gone : he is not here,

= Question—Is there a son of Bahadur's here

Answer—There may be, but I do ot know. Kunkawars,

sweeper of the Bransphor caste, resident of Bithoor,

was employed by the Nana in cutting off heads, [
know this to be true,

Question—Where is Kunkawara now 4

Answer—1I don't know where he 18, but I knéw he has a brother
still in Bithoor,

Question—Do you know who used to cook the food for the ladies,
and where ?

Answer—Gilharie, cook, resident of Muchie or fish bazar, who has
since died, The food used to be eooked at his shop ;
there were a fow other cooks as well. I don't know
their names, nor anything regarding them, Eedoo,
who lives in the Chuckls Mahal, used to cook food,
but I don’t know who used to take it,

Question—Describe Kunkawara's brother, and state his name,

Answer— A stout wan, middle height, rather fair, with smaj]
mustachios, T do not know his pame,

R

No. 67.=Deposition of Cherunjoo, Brakh

22 years, vesident of Oghoo,

Question—Do you know anything regarding
ladies at (' awnpoor 7

min, son of Sheg Dyal, age

the massacre of the

3
)
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Answer-—Yes, I am acquainted with the facts of the massacre, I

came to Cawnpoor during the outbreak in July, to look
after my brother Gokul, who was a sowar in the S8th
Cavalry. I made enquiries regarding him from Kasee-
nath, Brahmin, a resident of Cawnpoor, who told me
that he had heard nothing about him. I put up at
Muthra, Brahmin's, during the night, and at 4 par
the next day, as I was returning home, I passed by
the place the ladies were confined in, and, looking
into the compound, saw them washing their dirty
clothes, There were two or three other persons stand-
ing there, whom 1 asked if there was no one that
could get the ladies clothes washed by a washerman,
One of the sepoys on guard hearing this, abused me,
gnve me a slap on the face, and made me sit by him for
a short time ; after which he called another sepoy,
and sent me away to the guard-room, where I re-
mained confined all that night, until the next day
about 4 o'clock, when it was rumoured that European
troops were approaching and that they had passed
Futtehpoor. The Nana sent orders for the massacre
of the ladies, but the sepoys on guard refused to do
so ; after which the Nana sent for other people, out
of whom three Mussulmen with naked swords rushed
towards the building the ladies were confined in, and
two Hindoos, who had ehundun applied on their fore-
head, with drawn swords also accompained them,
When these five men entered the building there was
o great noise and disturbance, and all the sepoys
rushed to the place. Taking advantage of the absence
of the guard, I escaped from my place of confinement.

Question=Do you know the three Mussulmen and two Hindooes,

who entered with drawn swords ?

Answer—No.
Question—If you saw them aguin would you be able to recognise

them #

Answer—1I am not sure, but I think T could,
Question—Did you see these people engaged in the massacre ?
Answer——1I did not see them, but heard the shrieks and cries of

the ladies,

-

My



ATPFENDIX celxix

Question—How far were you from the building ?

Answer——I was in the guard-room, which was about 74 paces
from the place the ladies were confined in,

Question—Did the sepoys also fire at the ladies ?

Answer—No, they did not fire.

Question—How long did you remain there ?

Answer—=I left the place at about 5 o'clock,

Question—~Can you give any description of the three Mussulmen ?

Answer—=Two of them were fair, and one was dark ; they all
wore beards. They were about 40 and 45 years old;
had dark hair,

Question—How were they dressed?

Answer—Two of them had white elothing, and one red.

Question—Can you state of what tribe or caste they belonged ta,

Answer—No,

Question—Describe the two Hindoos.

Answer—Une of them was about 40 or 45 years old, and the
other about 30 or 32, and both of them had white
clothing,

Question—Had you seen them before ?

Answer—No,

Question—Where was the Nana at that time ?

Answer—-Next the building in which the ladies were cunﬁnedl

was another bungalow, and in the compound of this
the Nana was standing.

Question— What was the distance between the two places 7

Answer—About 75 paces.

Question—How do you know that it was the Nana ?

Answer—I heard the sepoys saying that he was the Nana,

Question—Was there any other person beside the Nana ?

Answer— -There were a number of other people standing round
him, about 20 or 25,

Question—Do you know any of them ?

Answer—~—=No,

Question—Did you hear whether the Nana had promised any
reward to the five persons who perpetrated the mas-
sacre |

Answer—No,

- Il'lll" '
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Question—At the time that these five persons rushed in to mas-
sacre the ladies, were there any sepoys ronud about
the place

Answer—-Ouly those of the gnard : about four or five in number,

Question—Was there any one in confinement with you ?

Answer——No.
No. 58—Deposition of Punchum, seller of betel leaf, vesident of
Ooghoo,

Question—Did you hear how the ladies were massacred during
the Nana's rule?

Answer—In the wonth of July, 8 year and-a-haif ago, I was at
my house in Ooghoo, when ten or eleven persons,
guards in the Nana's employ, who had fled from
Cawnpoor, came to my shop and asked for pan
(betel leaf). I showed them new betel leaf, when two
of them told me to fetch old betel leaf ; otherwise
they would take my head off, 1 accordingly went to
another pan-seller and brought the kind they asked
for, and told them the price of the same, i.e., ten pice,
The two men said they would only give me two pice,
I replied that the betel leaf was worth ten pice, and
that they ought at the least to give me eight pice,
Ou which they said that they would kill me and all my
family. T stated I was u poor man, and had got the
betel leaf from another person, They then said that
they had shown no pity to the ladies and children
whom they had just massacred, and who clung to
their feet, and that they would not have pity on me,
I wept, aund my mother, hearing me ory, came out,
and begged of them not to hurt me, and that she
would let them have more betel leaf ; after this they
drew water from a well elose to my house, near n
temple, and, conversing amongst themselves, I heard
their companions ask the two men how many ladies
they had killed ; they replied that they had massacred
21 ladies and children, and had received a reward of
21 rupees, and added that at first the Nana ordered
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the sepoys to massacre the ladies, but they refused,
and that they two, with three others, carried out the

Nana's orders,
Question—Do you know the names of those two men ?
Answer——No, o

Question—I{ you saw those persons, would you recognize them?

Answer——Yes, I think I would be able to make them out if T saw
them,

Question—Were those persons Mussulmen or Hindoos 7

Answer—-They were Hindoos and had chundun applied on
their foreheads.

Question—Give a deseription of them.

Answer—One of them was of a sallow complexion and the other
fair.

Question—Which road did they take after leaving you ?

Answer—They weunt to the Nana who was encamped at Futteh-
pore Chourasie that day,

Question—Did any other person, beside you, see them ?

Anstwer———Besides my mother there was no one there; they
frightened me greatly by showing me a naked sword
covered with blood, which they said had been used in
the massacre of the ladies, and that they would cut off
my head with the same,

Question—How do you know the two men above alluded to went
to Futtehpore Chonrasie ?

Answer—1I saw them take the road to Futtehpore Chourasie,
which led me to believe that they were going there,

Question—From whom did you get the old betel leaf for the two
men ?

Answer—=From Tujjoo, seller of betel leaf

&o. 69—Deposition of Gunga Bishen, mahajun and resident of
Ooghoo.

Question—State what you know of the massacre of the Indies on

the 15th of July 7
Answer—=The truth is that, shortly after the Nana fled and the
ladies were massacred, I was sitting under a tama.
rind tree at Ooghoo, where all the men of the village
assembled, and was conversing with a few others
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about the massacre of the Europeans at Cawnpore ;
they said that the Nana ought not to have murdered
the women and children, upon which Souracun,
Brahmin of Ooghoo, stated that, when the ladies and
gentlemen wese massacred, the Nana's officials sent
him to kill the ladies, that he struck out with his
sword which bent, and he then felt pity and did not
again strike ; he showed us the sword which was bent,
He said that there were two or three Mahomedans
who killed all the ladies and children. The men
assembled there saw the sword and heard this, It
was also known all over the village, This is the only
man of Ooghoo who assisted in the murdering of the
Europeans.

Question—QGive the names of those who heard Souracun make
this statement.

Answer—There were many assembled; I do not remember all
their names, but those that I do remember I give —
Thakoor and Buogtah, Aheers; Kuneeah, Gunga,
Sewa, Chota and Ajoodeeah, Brahmins Goolwah,
Chowkedar of Kaharah Deewar: all these wers as-
sembled.  All the villagers heard that Souracun was
one of the murdeters, but, since the British rule has
been re-established, no one from fright speaks of it.

Question—Will these men now give true evidence ?

Answer-—Yes, 1 think they will, though some from fright may
notdo so, If any of the Government officials are
sent to the village, I would get all the men to stata
the truth,

Question—Where is Sonracun now 7

Ansgwer—I don't know where he is now : he loft the village when
the British rule was re-established.

Question—Describe him ?

Answer—His name is Souracun, son of Chundee Deen, a Brahmin,
resident of Ooghoo, about 35 years of age, fair and
tall, neither thin nor stout, long mustachios, with a
beard, a flat face, black ayes, has a defect in one eye,
and always carries n sword. I am not quite sure
about his father’s name.

- bl
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Question—Why did you not report this before

Answer—From fear he would be hanged, and his death would be
laid an my head, and for this reason no one else gave
information,

Question—When was Souracun entertained by the Nana ?

Answer-—During the mutiny, but I don't remember the date.

Question—Were your sons Bachoo and Mundun in the service of
the Nana ¢

Answer—1 state the truth; my sons were never in the Nana's
service, but, when the Nana fled, the mutineers took
Bachoo prisoner ioto the Nana's camp for about 25
days. Besides this he mnever was in the Nana's
service, and to clear my sons I state the truth.

. 60.—Deposition of Kuloo, chuprasee, son of Panchoo, aheer,

resident of Cawnpoor.

(Question—State what you know regarding the mutiny at Cawn-
pocr. )

Answer—My brother, Hurnam Sing, was kote-duffadar in the
cavalry under command of Major Gall, stationed at
Lucknow ; I was with him a year before the outbreak.
The news of the mutiny of the troops at Cawnpoor
reached Lucknow and was talked of for a long time,
when, suddenly, all the native troops at that place
slso mutinied. T was at the time in cantonments,
and heard the reports of canmon all’ night. At
4 o'clock in the morning, on the advance of European
troops, the mutineers, composed of three regiments,
the numbers of which I do not recollect, fled. One
of them was, I think, the 71st. On the same day, all
the European residents and troops removed their pro-
perty to Muchee Bhawun and Huslee Kara. On the
next day, about eleven in the night, all the Europeans
left Muchee Bhawun and came to Huslee Kara, My
brother, Hurnam Singh, accompanied his captain to
Huslee Kara, and I hid myself in the house of Ungnoo,
Kotee of Munda Lall's village, for fifteen days,
for fear of the mutineers, as they had issued orders to
kill every one who was a servant of any European,

Kk
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The fight between the mutineers and European troops
continued. After fifteen days, when T saw that there
was no safety in the place of my concealment, T loft
it, and made my way to Cawnpoor. T had proceeded
about a mile, when I met some troopers of the
cavalry above veferred to, who, recognising me,
took me a prisoner, saying that I was the brother of
Hurnam Singh, who had gone to Huslee Kara, and
that I must have remained out to act as a spy
against the mutineers, and that therefore 1 should
be put to death ; so three or four sepoys, taking hold
of me, took me away to a small room near Aga Meer's
residence, and locked me in, There was a small
window in this raom with a door, which I carefully
removed, and jumping out escaped to Imrutganj,
which is about 80 miles distance, and put up for the
night at an inn.  On the next day, leaving this place,
I reached abomt 12 o'clock the Customs Ghat, on
the banks of the Ganges at Cawnpoor, and was about
getting into a boat, when the man at the ghat asked
for four pice, and would not allow me to get on the
boat without paying this, but turned me away. I
there met a cloth merchant, whose pame I do not
know, who had paid the fee at the ghat and received
o stamp on his hand as a pass to cross over on the
boat. By begging hard, I got this man to give me
an impression on my arm, from the stamp-mark on
his hand ; by which means I erossed over and arrived
about 4 o'clock near the Assembly Rooms where I saw
o crowd of about 2,000 persons, whom I questioned
regarding their assemblage. They informed me that
4 ‘number of ladies and children were confined in the
bungalow, and were to be put to death on that dny.
Qutside the compound of this bungalow, to the sonth
was a Neem tree, under which I saw a person
seated wearing & pugres covered with gold lace, who
was represented to be the Nana Sahib: he was sur-
rounded by a great number of sepoys and troopers,
ns well as other spectators, I was told that the

ekl | |



Nana had given orders to put to death all the ladies
and children confined in the bungalow, and I heard
the sepoys warning the spectators to move out of the
way, so as to be clewr of the bullets, as they were
going to fire ; on hewring this the crowd fall baek,
and I did the same; they I saw about 25 sepuys:
advance to the doors of the room which contained
the ladies and children, who, firing a volley into
it, retired, when another party advanced and did the
same, T was at this time about 50 paces from the
spot and could hear the crics of the inmates of the
bungalow, after the dissharge of cach volley, After
this I left the place, anl went away to my house in the
Buxee Khanah, Mohulla, which was within musket-
range of the spot. Tleft and heard firing till candle
light. The next moming, as I wasstanding on the
road near my house, I saw a crowd proceeding
towards the above-mentioned bungalow, and heard
some of them sayingthat the ladies and children
who escaped death last night would be killed now.
Oune of the sepoys caught hold of me, and made me
carry some brazen vessels for him to the theatre,
adjoining the bungalow above referred to, and then
let me go. When I pissed close to this bungalow,
seeing o crowd assembled there, T stood, and saw
four or five men with drawns swords, who appeared
to be sweepers, approsch the bungalow, and I heard
the people say that thete men had come to put an
end to those who may have escaped the musketry,
I saw these men enter the house, and dmg out the
laches about fifteen in number, some of whom werg
wounded, and massacre them with their swords ; after
which, dragging their corpses, they threw them

down a well in the compound. I saw a little child
nbout five years old pear ove of the ladies, who

seeing her killed, tried to ecape by running away,
but was cut down by ope of the men bearing swords

and the corpse throws into the well; seeing thig
I left the spot, but the crowd was still there, On
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the same day, about 10 o’clock A.M, it was rumounred
that the European troops were approaching” Cawn-
poor, and were about twelve or fourteen miles distant -
hearing this ‘the sepoys commenced preparing for a
battle. About twoo’clock, I heard the firing of cannon,
which continued till three o’clock, when the news of
the defeat of the sepoys reached, and all the mutineers
and bad characters of the city were seen flying
towards Bithoor. It was now rumoured that the
European troops were advancing, and all the inhabit-
ants would be put to death, which caused the peopla
to fly from the city. I accompanied them. On
reaching a village called Nowbusta, about four or five
miles distant, I remained there for four days, when I
heard that the inhabitants were invited to return to
their homes, and I accordingly ewme back. After
o mouth and a half, I took employment with Captain
Bruce as a chuprassee. A month after this, the
mutineers from Gwalior came here, to meet whom
the European troops advanced, ‘and a battle took
place, which lasted the whole day. In the evening
the troops returned to “the entrenchments, and the
mutineers advanced to the city and remained fighting
for eleven days. I was employed in carrying provi-
sions from the entrenchments to the different batteries,
and was present with my master at the battle of
Surujpore, and am still in Government service,

Question=On the first day, when the ‘sepoys were firing into the
bungalow containing the ladies and children, were
there any persons present with drawn swords !

Answer—-1 did not see any person with swords on that day.

Question—Can you give a description of the persons who entersd
on the second /day,* with drawn swords, the bungalow
where the ladies and children were {

Answer-—I do not recollect their features, but!one of them wore
a beard, was of a dark complexion, and of tall
stature,

Question—Were the ladies whom you saw dressed or otherwise ?

Answer—They were all dressed. 1 did not see any otherwise,



ATPERDIX celxxvit

Question—Did you hear who the four or five men with drawn
swords were, or of what tribe were they, and residents
of which place ! _

Answer——No ; I did not hear anything regarding them.

Question—When the corpses were thrown down the well, had
they clothes on them 7

Answer—-Yes, with the exveption of three,

Question—Can you describe, or give any information regarding,
any one of the crowd that was present during the two
days when the massacre was being carried on 7

Answer—-There were many persons, both of the city and of my
neighbourhood, but they have all gone away ; I do not
know any of their names. There was a person with
me named Suffree, whose whereabouts T do not know .
he was with me when T went to Lucknow.

No. 61— Deposition of Cheda, son of Koorah, sweeper, age 40
years, residing in Ram Narain Bazar, Cavwmpoor.

Question—What have you to state 7

Answer——For the last ten or twelve years I have been eniployed
with Mr. Thomas Greenway, a merchant, residing
At Purmit Ghat, Cawnpoor. When the outbreak
occurred in that station, I accompanied my master
to General Wheeler's barrack ; my wife was employed
A5 an ayah with Mrs. Greenway ; she and our child
also accompanied us to the barrack. When the
Europeans entered the boats, and were massacred at
the ghat, and the ladies who had escaped the massacre
were taken to the Savada House, I and my wile and
child were also taken along with them and confined
there. Two or three days after this, the ladies and
children were removed to the house close to the
Assembly Rooms, and I and my wife and child were
also taken there ; a guard was placed over yus all,
The Nana had resided at the hotel known as Nur
Mahomed's, close to the Assembly Rooms, and all the
Indies, together with Mr. Edward Greenway and his
son named Stephen, were made over to Tanteea
Topee. There were also two gentlemen from

Furruck.
abad confined along  with the ladies

; one of them
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was styled major, and I do not know who the other
was, he was wounded in the right thigh, Five or six
days after, I heard the sepoys placed on guard over
us, under command of Tanteea Topee, saying that
the Europeans were close upon Cawnpoor. The
sepuys commenced arming themselves, and proceeding
to the several batteries. During the night, Tanteea
Topee and the Nana, accompanied by about « hundred
armed men, came into the compound of the house,
and removed the four Europeans who were confined
along with the ladies, and taking them to the corner
of the commissarint bungalow shot them. I saw Mr.
Edward Greenway fall first, and then his som, after
which the other two gentlemen were shot, At the
time that these gentlemen were shot, Tanteea Topee
and Baba Bhut were present at the spot, and I
witnessed the former giving orders for the execu-
tion of the four Europeans, After which, they came
to the ladies, accompanied by the armed sepoys, for
the purpose of massacring them and the children ;
hearing which they all shrieked. I was standing at
the time in the verandah, and heard Tantees Topee
and Baba Bhut order the sepoys to massacre the
ladies and children: which order they carmed out.
Both these individusls had drawn swords ; my wife
and child were also killed with the ladies ; seeing this
I left the place, and, climbing over the wall, escaped,
Mitthoo and Booddhoo, sweepers, who were there,
accompanied me ; the latter's wife was also killed, I
do not remember the date of the massacre, but it
was on the very next morning the European troops
reached Cawnpoor. T had often seen Tanteea Topee
before, as he frequently visited my master's shop ; I
could therefore recognise him, I do not know the
number of the regiment to which the sepoys belonged
who massacred the ladies, A Mussulman darogah
who was in the Nana's employ, had food prepared
for the ladies, and & woman called Begum used to
bring it to them, 1 do not know her name ; she was
of & fair complexion, and about 30 years of age,



From the day that the ladies were brought to Mrs,
Batten's house, up to the time of their muassacre,
I remained with them, and during this period none
of the ladies ever came outside of the house, as they
were not permitted to doso. T did not hear of, or
see, any lady being taken away from there. Besides
the four gentlemen above alluded to, no others were
«in confinement with the ladies,

Resexamination of Cheda.

* Question—You have stated in your deposition that two gentle-
men from Furruckabad, one of whom was known as a
major, were confined along with the ladies, but it has
been ascertained that the gentlemen who had come
from Furruckabad were three in number: you are
therefore requested to state what became of one of
them.

Answer-—A number of gentlemen had come from Furrnckabad,
but out of those emly two were brought to the
Beebeeghur.

(Question —State whether, before the massacre of the ladies, five
Europeans were put to death, or only four, as stated
by you,

Angwer—1 well remember seeing only four gentlemen put to
desth.

@uestion—Where are your two companions who escaped with yon,
i.e., Mitthoo and Boodhoo 7

Answer—They are in some station to the west, and, ns soon as [
can find ot where they are, I will give intimation,

Question—State what occurrences you observed during the time
you were in the entrenchments,

Answer—-1I only remained for two days in the entrenchments, and
therefore cannot relate what occurred there,

Question—As you have been here throughout the disturbances,
state who were the chief leaders who accompanied
the rebels to battle?

Answer—1I do not know all of them, but at the commencement

of the outbreak I saw the Nunne Nawab, and

Bakur Alee his brother, together with Nizamudoollah,

Y |
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accompanied by anumber of sepoys and wearing arms,
proceed daily to the batteries, and Nawab Doolah
daily attended the Nana's conrt: he nsed to go in a
palanquin, Food for the troops was daily sent by
this person. Besides this I know nothing further,

Question—You have stated that, when news reached of the Eurg-
pean troops being close upon Cawnpoor, Tanteea
Topee and the Nana, accompanied by* about a hundred
armed men, came into the compound of the house
where the ladies were confined, and that they removed
the four Europeans to the corner of the commissarint
bungalow, and there shot them ; after which Tantees
Topee and the Nana, accompanied by the armed men,
came to the place where the ladies and children were
confined, for the purpose of massacring them, and that,
n accordance with their orders, the sepoys massacred
the ladies and children. But from other depositions
it appenrs that, when the sepays refused to massacre
the Indies, five other persons murdered them with
swords: you are therefore desired to state whether you
personally witnessed the massacre of the ladies ?

Answer-—When I heard the order given for the massacre of the

ladies, through fear I left the place, and therefore did
not witness the massacre ; but, at the time I was making
my escape from the place, I heard shots fired, and do
not know if any others, besides the sepoys, perpetrated
the massacre after I had left. Tantees Topee and
Baba Bhut, when they gave the order for the massacre
of the ladies, were in the compound of the house where
the Nana lived, which was quite close to the Beebee-
ghur, where the ladies were confined.

No. 62.—Statement of Manuck, spy.

I was sent by the Commissioner of Military Police from Meerut to
gain information of Nizam Ali Khan, sowar, 5th Troop, 2nd Light Cavalry,
who was a résident of Rampore. On reaching that city and makiog
enquiries, I learnt that his house was situated in the mohullah of Zearut
Badsha, but could get no truce of him there, and I wus recommended to
apply to Gholam Hyder Khan ; he was formerly in the native cavalry
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and was now in the service of the Nawab of Rampore as jemadar of
sowars. With some difficulty I got acquainted with Gholam Hyder
KEhan, and atter conversation on other subjects made enquiries regarding
Nizam Ali Khan ; the jemadar informed me that he had seen him at
Rampore during the outbreak and that he had a young lady, daughter
of a gentleman, with him ; she was disguised in native clothes, and that
he consequently 'did not like to bave anything to say to him; that
Nizam Ali Khan shortly after left Rampore, and he believed that he
went to the rebel camp then at Toolseepore.

No. 62.—Deposition of Narain and Bhow Raie, residents of Bithoor.

We were sent as spies to gain information of Nizam Ali Khan,
sowar of the 5th Troop, 2nd Light Cavalry, supposed to be in the rebel
camp. On leaving Cawnpoor, we passed throngh Lucknow and Ajoo-

_ deea to Toolseepore, where we found the British encamped and went

with them to Bhootwal ; there the rebels made a show of opposition, but
soon fled, leaving four of their number wounded, and some 40 gave them=
selves up, who got passes to remain at Koondah. The next day Raja
Maun Sing and Durbija Sing with Major Bruce went on to Sutteea: we
accompanied them. The-rebels fired a few shots and fled to the thick
jungles ; the British returned and we went to Kutra, a hill about ten
kos further on, where the Nana was encamped. Before we reached it,
we overtook GGopal, a sepay of the 42nd Native Infantry, whom Namin
knew at Bithoor, and got into conversation with him. He asked why
we had come to the jungles; we told him to seek service through a
eunuch named Narain in the-Nana’s employ, and ther reminded Gopal
that we had seen him at Bithoor ; he told us that we must be very careful
as it was dangerous entering the camp, and that, as we had come thua
far, he was to take us with him as residents of his villags, which was
near Bennres, We were six days in the Nana's eamp, and saw his
brothers Bala and Baba Bhat ; also the following individuals of his house-
hold :—Thudassee Punt ; Odagur, the treasurer, Abhadunk, paymaster ;
Dharee ; the Eunuch Narain; Subadar Bajaba; Beharee, Chobdar;
Pachaie, an old and favourite attendant of the Nana; Lutchmun, the
driver-of the Nana's bullock carriage; Muhadeo, the baker ; Dunhes,
the gardener ; Bukna, the bath attendant ; Cheittoo, the sweeper ; Lalla,
the boatman, Ramchurn and Pooloo, Hindoo wrestlers: Nujjeem, the
Mahomedan wrestler, These we recognized from having seen them at
Bithoor. We heard that the widows of Bajie Rao were in eamp ; they
wera the two called Mooneea Baie and See Baie, also a daughter of the

I
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Peishwa's named Beea ; there was also the Nana's wife and Baln's wife,
and another lady whose name I do not koow,

Question—Was she an European ?

Answer—No, o native lady, the wife of a Rao residing to the
south, but we do not know the name.

Question—Did yon hear of any European ladies in camp ?

Answer—No, 2

Question—Did you see the Nana 7

dnsuwer—Yes, when he used to go down to the river to bathe i
he was attended by Bala and his servants, with an
umbrella held over his head. A number of people
used to assemble to pay their respects to him as he
passed. The Nana had shaved off his beard. Bala
had the mark of a bullet-wound on his right shoulder.
We heard in camp that the Baies were very auxious
to get away from the jungles,

Question—Did you hear anything of Nizam Ali Khan ?

Answer—We did not, for we were afraid to leave Gopal's protec-
tion, and be too particular in enquiries, There were
a large number of people seattered about in the
jungles, from 12,000 to 15,000 ; not all of them troops ;
many were budmashes and villagers. We saw two
guns, about 100 horse, and six elephants; there were
also six palkees for the Nana's ladies, and these were
kept near two tents in which the Nana lived.
Food was scarce and dear. Rice from one seer to 14
for the rupee ; many were starving and had to plunder,
The eepoys had no tents but lived under the trees,
they were armed, but we heard that they were short
of ammunition, and that they were much dissatisfied,

Queetion—Did you see any of the 2nd Cavalry with the horsemen
in eamp ?

Answer—We cannot tell, as they were without uniform and inna
wretched condition. The Begum had her camp on
the next range : she was with Munnoo Khan. -Banec
Madho with other Rajas had left for Kharie Ghar.
Amongst the Hindoostanees of Bithoor, we recog--
nized Puran Sookh and Gungadeen ; the jungles were
very dense and there was no order in camp, but a
strict search made after strangers,
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TRANSLATION of @ Narrative of Events at Cavmpoor.

THE composer of this narrative, an humble but loyal subjeet of the
State, Nanukchund by name, is an inhabitant of Cawnpoor, and, in
testimony of his attachment to the Government, he has recorded the
following account of the disturbances, taken part in by traitors, in the
hope that the authorities will be gratified by its perusal. The writer
has been a well-wisher. of the Government from the commencement,
and has received at its hands much kindness and digtinetion, When
Bajee Rao, Peishwa, died, and the Nana, budmash, Placed the Peishwa’s
widows in confinement, the agents of the said widows came to the
writer for assistance, and he, in the first instance, induced the said
agents to file a regular complaint on behalf of those ladies, These
men fought out the case with the local Government and the authorities
in England for a considerable period. The correctness of this state-
ment will be manifest from a proeceding recorded by the Lieutenant-
Governor, which is still in the writer's possession, Meanwhile, the
Nana, of hateful memory, caused the elder daughter of the Bace Sahih,
a widow of Bajee Rao, to be married to a son of one Putpurdhun, but
vefused to let her join her husband, and indeed put her to death, by
means which cannot with decency be recorded. The agents, who used
to visit the writer, complained about her death, but owing to Mr, M.,
then Magistrate and Officinting Commissioner of Bithoor, they obtained
no redress, that officer having been on friendly terms with the Nana,
Complaints regarding these occurrences were carried forward as far as
England, and the agents, who were employed in doing so, are still in
existence,  Shortly after, Chunnajee Rao, eldest son of Chunnajee Rao,
senior, brother of Bajee Rao, came and assured the writer that he was
rightful proprietor of one-half of all the real and personal property of
Bajee Rao, and afterwards Bulwunt Rao, Athoroli, father-in-law of
Bajee Rao, came and stated that he feared the Nana would put to death
the younger daughter of Bajee Rao, likewise, as he was anxious to get
her married in opposition to the rules of the family. Consultations on
these topies went on for a considerabls time, at the end of which Chimna
Apa, junior, pledged his word to pay all expenses attending the prosecu-
tion of the suit, and also monies paid on his own individual account,
adding that, even in the event of the suit not succeeding, he was anhaut
to receive possession of property valued at nearly two lacs of rupees,
as his own personal property, as he had Just attained his majority, the
said property being then under the management of the Magistrate of
the district. He, at the same time, mortgaged the property in question
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by n formal deed, and on this understanding a suit was filed agninst
the Nana, valued at three crores, four laes, and seventy thousand, six
hundred and fifty-three rupees, eleven annas and five pie, in the
eonrt of the Principal Sudder Ameen; but, in consequence of that
officer’s colluding with the defendant, it was dismissed. An appeal
from the order of dismissal was duly filed, the Sudder Court being well
aware of .the hostility existing betwgen the Nana and our party. Bub
the following are the actual fucts of the case. Some of the servants of
the Nana, budmash, being fond of having their palms greased, wonld
come over and communicate information regarding their master to
Chimna Aps, and occasionally made similar communications to the
writer. When appearances showed the eertainty of an aproaching insur-
rection, and the former Magistrate of Cawnpore entrusted important
duties to the Nana, his immediate attendants, who wsed to bring the
writer news, assured the writer that the Nana was instigated by Baba
Bhot and Jwala Pershad, Risaldar, and Bala, brother of the Nana, and
Ehmudoollah, tehseeldar, und Mchamed Ishaq, formerly thanadar, to
turn traitor ; and the attendants of the ladies Meina Baee and Sutie
Baee also informegd me that the Nana was in the habit of saying at
home that he had secured the co-operation of the soldiery, and would
have his revenge, and would rule over that territory. The writer men-
tioned all this to the Magistrate, but, as that gentleman had a high
opinicn of the Nana, he took no notice,. Though helpless, the writer
was convinced in his own mind that the Nava was an insignificant
person, and that, if he did create any disturbances, the British Govern-
ment would root him out in a few days; and that it was impossible for
the great empire of the British to be destroyed by the revolt of such
miserable traitors, but rather it was certain that they would hereafter
be punished as they deserved.

These reflections led to the writer's keeping the following journal,
from the 15th May 1837, the preparation of which cost him a good deal
of time and labour ; and he hopes that, while it may prove of service to
the Government, it may &lso ensure him u place among those who have
been rewarded for their fidelity,

From the date on which the muliny (at Cawnpoor) broke out, to
the 10th June, the writer kept himself concealed in the eity and
penned this journal. When the wicked Nana ordered him to be
apprehended, and he could not find place to stay in, he had no alterna-
tive but to eross the Ganges and put up in a place named Budruka,
m the house of a Kayeth, named Dhurum Dass. While there he
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entortained ten men to bring him intelligence of passing events; These
were trustworthy men snd loyal subjects, and they brought news of
what transpired every minute in the Nann's office, and in the entrench-
ments of the sahib-log, and among the zemindars. News of events
passing in the city was obtained through Joogul Kishore, the patron
of the writer, assisted by Kunhye Lall Deechut and Kalka Pershad,
a Moonshi, employed by Mr. Thomas Greenway, who was present there,
and by Ramjee Suhai, Kayeth. News of what happened among the
zemindars was supplied by Futteh Singh and others (zemindars) who
were of the writer’s party. News of Ilaga Ukburpore was supplied by
Yur Ali, naib serishtadar of the Magistrate’'s Court, and that of the
disturbances caused by the villagers in Bithoor was furnished by the
mududgar of Chowkee Aroul, who was fithful to Government, So
also news of the occurrences at Bithoor proper was supplied by Apa
Shastree, o respectable citizen, and by Apageepunt Thakoori, and Lala
Ram, mootsuddie, and by Basdeo Shastree, and other people belonging
to Chimna Apa who were in confinement by order of the Nana, Lastly,
news of the widows of Bajee Rao, i. #, of Meina Baee and Sutie Bace,
who always received intelligence of what was going on, and are still in
confinement with the Nana, duly came in, and other news was brought
in by the hurkaras specially appointed by the writer for that purpose.
With the assistance of the above-named persons the writer was
enabled to keep up this journal, in which the events of the day are
accurntely set down. When the authority of the British Government
was re-cstablished, the writer waited npon Mr. I. W. Sherer, the
Magistrate and Collector, and also upon Mr. Burrows, and made mens-
tion of this journal, remarking that it had not been called for by any-
body. In conformity to Mr. Sherer's instructions, he continued in
attendance upon the Superintendent of Police, and performed numerons
services of importance. One of these was the discovering of nearly 20
lakhs of treasure, which the Nana had thrown into a well before running
away, and which was a portion of the amount for which the writer had
brought a civil action agninst the said Nana. That money was re-
covered and deposited in the Government Treasury. He also con-
tinued to obtain and communicate intelligence of the movements of
the rebels to the authorities with the aid of his hurkaras, and by other
means; and, in compliance with the wishes of Mr. Burrows, he
continued with the eamp of His Excellency the Commander-in-Chief for
ten months, and promptly and zealowsly carried out every order
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confided to him. In doing so, the writer paid out of his own pocket all
expenses of conveyance, and salaries of chuprassies, &c., &ec., amount-
ing to nearly Rs. 4,000. Eventually the services of all loyal subjects
were brought to the notice of Government, save and except the services
of the writer of this journal.

It is proper to mention that the guilty ones well knew that the
writer would faithfully record all their acts, as his loyalty was equally
well-known to them, and they accordingly combined to prevent him
from describing them in their true colours, and thus it happened that
rebels were regarded as well-wishers, and really loyal subjects passed
over in silence.

On the 15th May 1857 {corvesponding with Jet-budi, Sumbut
1922), on Friday, 1 went to the Collector’s office to purchase two
stamps ;: one of Rs. 2,000 and the other of Rs, 250 value, required for
the appeal then about to be made in the ease of Nana Dhoondoo Punt,
defendant. I perceived that the office establishment wers conversing
ina tone of alarm. I did not see the Deputy Collector, Mr. William
H. Stacey, on that occasion, and consequently returned home, On
entering the city, I joined people looking out for the distribution of
cartridges, and noticed that the infantry and eavalry were arranging to
mutiny. After taking my dioner at 4 e, T went to the Civil Court
and there learnt that Abdool Rahman Khan, the Principal Sudder
Ameen, had repaired to Mr. Hillersdon, the Magistrate and Collector
of Cawnpoor, to consult with him about the best means of suppressing
disturbances. Towards evening I met Mr. Stacey, who had come to
Baboo Esrce Pershad’s bungalow to play at billiards, and learnt that
much anxiety was felt for the future. I then fully resolved to record
the events of each day, confident that the narrative would come of use
hercafter, and that it might possibly be regarded as evidence of my
fidelity to Government.

16th May 1357 (corresponding to Yth Jet-budee), Saturday.~1
again went to the kutcheree to-day to purchase stamps; Mr. Stacey
told me that he had no stamp of the value of Rs. 2,000, but could give
me stamps of lesser value to the full amount. I perceived that the
anthorities were much disturbed in mind, and heard that the Magis-
trate had directed the Nana to come with troops and artillery from
Bithoor, and the people of the eity began to from evil conjectures I
also heard that Baba Bhut had proceeded by buggy to the cavalry
regiment, and there was & general feeling of alarm prevalent in the
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kutcheree; but what was in each man's heart could not be known.
They spoke of the outbreak at Delhi and Meerut. After hearing this,
I went to Ramdhun, khuganchi, in the treasury. I there heard a
subadar and jemadar of the guard uttering traitorous language, and
the sepoys refused to obey each other’s orders. They began quarrelling
with people who went into the treasury on business. They also
detained parties who came out bearing money or stamp papers, and
would pot release them till ordered to do soby the subadar, It
began to be evident that nobody had any authority but the subadar
and the sepoya.

The 17th May 1857, Sunday—This day Colab Singh, thanadar
of Sheorajpoor, captured two of the sepoys (with money on them) who
had mutinied and plundered the Allygurh Treasury and were making
their escape. The thanadar sent the prisovers on to the Magistrate.
I also learnt that villagers were focking into the city in great numbers
and that Deep Singh, wrestler, a resident of Rumeepoor, had taken the
Nana’s permission and gone to Rumeepoor in the evening.

The 15th May, Monday—The Magistrate this day issued an
order to the kotwal to desire the bankers (of the city) to employ
armed men for their own defence. On hearing this, people became
more alarmed and all sorts of things were uttered. I was also told
that some of the budmashes at Lucknow, who created disturbances,
were hanged. This news caused serious discnssion among the sepay
regiments and the order of the Magistrate, above memtioned, led the
budmashes of the villages to make other prudential arrangements,

The 19th May, Tuesday—I1 was told that the rebels had created
disturbances on the roads leading to Agra, Furruckabad and Cawnpoor;
and the marriage processions which were about to proceed in those
directions postponed their departure,

The 20th May, Wednesday.—I learnt to-day that the men of the
infantry and cavalry regiments declare that, beyond defraying the
expenses of those regiments, they do not mean to give any of the
treasure to other people.

The 21st May, Thursday —To-day Baboo Esres Pershad and the
other bankers of the city waited on the Magistrate and obtained his
permission to employ 500 matchlock-men. The baboo observed that
he was prepared to pay them if the kotwal would entertain them, as
he (the baboo) could not prevail on them to servs. This was
to, and in the evening I called on the Kotwal Shah Alee to hear of the
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arrangements that had been decided upon for the defence of the city.
Inayat Hossein, thanadar of Sheorajpoor, who had been sent for by the
Magistrate to assist Shah Alee Kotwal, was seated there at the time,
and matchlock-men were being enlisted. The kotwal was anxious to
enlist some of the sowars of the collectorate for the protection of the
city.

The 22nd May, Friday —To-day the agent of Chimna Apa, the
plaintiff in the suit against the Nana, came to me, T was conduecting the
case in eourt on his behalf He stated to me, with reference to the 500
rupees that I had given him for court costs, that, as Apa Sahib and
Gunesh Shastree were goifg along in an ekka, they encountered the
troops of the Naoa, with artillery, coming from the opposite. direction,
having been sent for by the Magistrate ; that these men ran up to
assanlt Apa Sahib, and that, as it was night time, Gunesh Shastree and
Chimna got off the conveysnee, sand ran into a ravine; that the
nasailants carried off a valuable sword with the 500 rupees and Chimna
Apa had saved his life, but his men were beaten; and that the Nana's
men openly declared that the British rule would only last a few days
longer. On hearing this, I was much alarmed and determined to make
it known to the Mogistrate. Friends advised me not to do so, on the
ground that the Magistrate had sent for the Nana for purposes of his
own and would favour the Nana at such a erisis, and that my complaint
had no chance of being listened to. Howaever, I came to the resolution
that, whether it was listened to or not, I should certainly inform the
Magistrate of what I had learnt,

The 23rd Moy, Saturday.—To-day I waited on the Magistrate,
and told him all about the encounter with thé Nana’s troops, and of
Chimna Apa being plundered. He made no reply. In the evening I
received intelligence that the Bala was holding traitorous conversation
with the sowars, and Goredhun, agent of the widow ladies, who
eame from Bithoor, assured me that he had heard from the immediate
attendants of the Nana, on the night previous, that the cavalry and
infantry had joined the Nana's party and that the latter were only
keeping up appearances ; and that they followed this policy, . e., if the
soldiery ran away, then the Nana's party would receive credit, and the
way for recovering his pension would be proved ; while on the other
hand, if the soldiery were victorions, and the British rule extin-
guished, they would get possession of the country. This statement of
Goredhun's appears to be well-founded, as he attends upon the father
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of the Baces. Other particalars must be known to the parties them-
selves,

The 24th May, Sunday.—Heard to.day that the Magistrate
issued an order that the men entertained for the defence of the city
should be distributed all over at the Nakehbuudies, The kotwal has
accordingly commenced stationing the men of the new levy. I also
heard that the sowars of the 2nd Regiment of Cavalry, with Teeka
Singh, subadar, went to the Nana last night, to hold a consultation
People say that the Nana has come in to assist Government, while the
agent of the Baees brings intelligence that the Nana is planning to
win over the soldiery to his side. I am confident that those who keep
his mischievons company will cause disturbances.

The 25th May, Monday—I heard to-day that the Magistrate
instructed the Nana to entertain men, and promised to give them
money for their expenses, and also ordered Serh Mull, nazir of the
collectorate, to furnish supplics, and remein in attendance. Towards
evening I returned from kutcheree, and perceived several troopers and
sepoys in the garden in company with the Nana’s force. What I
observe sesms the opposite of what the Collector belioves. Had the
Nana a clear heart, he would not associate with the troops in secret.
I observed that the chowdree and zemindars of Bithoor were with -
him, and these men are great budmashes. I should not wonder if
they instigated the zemindars to rebellion,

The 26th May, Tuesday.—To-day I wrote a full necount of the
Nana's doings, on plain paper, and filed it asa petition, 50 as to warn
the Magistrate, and induce him to-speak to the General, s0 as to aveid
falling into error; but the Magistrate gave no heed to my petition,
and got so vexed with me that | cannot describe his anger. He said to
me, “ You have all along been speaking ill of the Nana, and filing
suits against him in the civil courts; I cannot pay attention to any
representation from a person so hostile to the Nana.” 1 replied those
affairs had no connection with the present question; that the Nana
had long harboured enm ity to the Government, and a grest number of
budmashes belonged to his party; that he (the Magistrate) would
hereafter remember my eaution ,and that 1 had obtained certain
intelligence, as the men of the Nana’s hovsebold communicated it
to Chimna Apa, my client. The Magistrate would listen to nothing,
In despair I did nothing further than keep a copy of the }etition in
my book. It is a hopeless case. Let us see what will be the end o

mm
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all this neglect. The Principal Sudder Ameen, too, has undertaken the
entire responsibility of keeping the troopers quist. This, too,is &
serious inconvenience, and another instance of negligence. We shall
see what happens,

The £7th May, Wednesday. — Heard to-day that the mahajuns of
the city waited in a body on the General, and asked him what they
were to do. He desired them to be alarmed at nothing, as an Euro-
pean force would quickly come in from tne east, and they were only to
be on their guard, as the Magistrate was making every arrangement
for their safety. Orders were issued to the contractors to send in
quickly sugar, rice, gram, soojee, flour, &o., &e. One of the zemindars
informed me that Chowdree Goordut Singh, of Tlaga Futtehpoor, and
Bhowani Singh, Debee Singl, Madho Singh, and the Chow haniwallahs,
appeared to have joined the rebels. I went and mentioned this to
Shah Ali, kotwal, who replied that he would immediately go and in-
form the sahib, but I cannot say whether he did =0 or not, In the
evening I met Messrs, Mullens and Stacey, and another gentleman
belonging to the 2nd Cavalry, who was with them, and informed them
of what I had heard. They replied, * What can we do; if these people
kill us, England will not be depopulated ; more than 60,000 European
troops are on their way from England. You will sce what will happen.”
Some carriages containing sakib-logs are expected to-day from Luck-
now. I heard that the regiment of native cavalry and guns, that
came from Lucknow, will return thither, I perceive that the feeling of
anxiety has increased.

The 28th May, Thursday.~I heard to-day that the Nana has re-
turned-to Bithoor, to arrange for the entertainment of armed men, and
that he has applied for men through Jye Singh and Munsab Ali, Chow-
dree of Rusoolabad, who came to Bithoor to see the Nana, and were
friends of the latter ; and that men from across the Ganges, to the num-
ber of unearly 600, have already been enlisted, and further enlistment
is in progress, At 10 o'clock, I went to the Collector's Treasury, and
being unable to obtain one stamp of Rs. 2,500 value, I purchased
others of less value, making up the full amount which was required for
both suits. Oue of them was the case-suit of Bulwunt Rao, guardian of
Bya Sahib, daughter and heiress of Maharaj Bajee Rao, and the paper
was purchased for Chimnajee Rao, junior, and the claim laid at R,
8,470,653-11-5, The other suit was for Rs. 10,000, T took these
stawps, after purchasing them, to our yakeels, Shadi Lall, Durgahi Lall,



and Moozuffur Hoossein, in the Civil Court. The vakeals filed the re-
quisite petition. The Principal Sudder Ameen gotin a great rage, and
observed, “ The period of appeal from the decision passed on the 16th
April terminated on the 27th instant.” The vakeels replied that the
16th April ended at 4 ., and that the appeal was within time to~-day.
At last the Principal Sudder Ameen allowed the appeal to be filed,
and directed that it should be sent up to the Sudder Court, with s
eopy of the record.

The 29th May, Friday.—1 heard to-day that there was an nnusual
gathering of zemindars near pergunnah Bithoor. These men have
always been budmashes. It would scem that the Raja of Tehtia is
associated with them, and that disturbances have commenced in that
quarter, and that there was some dispute about removing the magazine.
An Enropean guard has been stationed there, I heard that they have
commenced raising an entrenchment near the hospital, and that
Ghunsham Aheer, the jemadar, will superintend the work on behalf of
the Barrack Master, and that the Magistrate has passed an order to
the effect that he has no leisure, and that consequently all the omlah
of the Collectory and Foujdary offices shall conform to the orders of
the Deputy Collector Ram Lall,

The 30th May, Saturday.—I1 discovered that the sahib-log have
taken out the Government guns and magazines for removal into the

entrenchment, and thay arrangements are made to convey supplies.

into it, and that the people of the city are much alarmed ; also that
troopers and sepoys are wandering about the city ; and that a picket of
50 sowars has been stationed at the Sirsa Ghat Naka on the part of
Government. It is most strange that all these men, whose hearts nra
estranged from the Government, continue to do duty under it,

The 315t May, Sunday.—I heard to~day that the Magistrate
called upon Colonel Abbot and inspected the report. Also that a peti-
tion was received from the Tehseeldar of Bithoar, stating that Motee
Singh, zemindar of Nanamow, had collected together nearly 800 men ;
orders were passed on it, requesting the tehseeldarto inform the crowd
that they were not to make a disturbance, and that hanging would be
the penalty if they did, and that the tehseeldar should keep himself
on the alert. Intelligence also came in from the westward that plunder-
ing, &c., was going on along the roads. The troopers and sepoys, too,
commenced making wild speeches.

ALk
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The 1st June, Monday.—I heard that the Nana with his force
was approaching and that Chimna Apa and his attendants had run
away from Bithoor, and taken up his quarters in Lalln Esree Pershaud's
small huvelee. I heard from him that all the three brothers and their
naphews were of one wind, an: declared that they were now gainers
in every way, as the native army was under their orders, and their
efforts to keep up appearance with the Government were also sucoess-
ful. Chimna Apa expressed deep regret at all this, and pressed me
to go and inform the Magistrate, 1 replied that, on a former oceasion
when I voluntesred intelligence, the Magistrate was greatly enraged
with me, and I felt afraid to repeat the experiment, as that gentleman
had unbounded confidence in the N ana, and I further feared lest I
should be put in confinement in return for such acts of devotion, In
short I could not muster the courage to inform the Magistrate. [ see
that more men are being enlisted daily, but the Bala is a man of exe-
crable temper, and I dread to think of what he may do. I subse-
quently heard that about a lakh of rupees was taken into the en-
trenchment from the Collectorate Treasury.

The 2nd June, Tussday.—I heard to-day that about 60,000 or
65,000 rupees more were taken into the entrenchment, and that the
Nana too had come in, and was putting up in the bungalow opposite to
the Civil Court. I also heard that, before the Magistrate's perwanah
could reach the Tehseeldar of Bithoor, the zemindar, Motee Singh, of
Nana-mow had broken into rebellion and burnt down the village of Gudna
belonging to the Koormess, and put to death the men and children in
it, and had also begun plundering the dak bungalows and the car-
riages of travellers, and carried off dak horses. It would not be surpris-
ing if they proceeded to attack the European superintendents of roads
and to murder them. The sowars that came from Lucknow joined the
rabble soldiery of this place, and the Balg and Baba Bhut again went
away among the cavalry-men. Let us see what they consult upon
doing next. The third matter T discovered wis that the magazine,
which the sahib-log wished to destroy, could not be blown up, and that
the sepoys and sowars openly spoke treason. and began boasting that
none but they could take the magazine,. The Magistrate, too, who was
proceeding to the kutcheree armed, appeared to be in great anxiety,
and the Principal Sudder Amaen also lef; at 4 PM, to-day, and went
among the sowars, but effected nothing. I can see nothing good in all
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this. Serh Mull, nazir of the Collector's office, told me that he had
informed the Magistrmate that he had seen the troopers with the Nana
and having private conversation with Baba Bhut ; the Magistrate
replied that the Nana was remonstrating with them on the part of
Government, and that Azeemoollah, Mahomed Ishnk, and Ukbar
Ally, mookhtar, were with him.

The 3vd June, Wednesday.—1 learnt to-day that the Nana, Bala,
Baba Bhut, Azeemoollah, Mahomed Ishak. the chowdree zemindar of
Bithoor, and the subadars of the cavalry and infantry regiments, in
all five or seven persons, ‘were holding & consultation in the garden,
bt I cannot diseover what they were consulting abont, I pereeive,
also, that there are a rrester number of sepoys and troopers Pm“.un_g
about the city, and I observed the families of sopoys in such numbers
I had never seen before. The city people, too, are more alarmed than
usual. They gave out that the eavalry and infantry are on the point
of mutinying. I see alarger number of villagers here than ustal, and
have learnt that Moonshi Behari Lall is the Nana's secretary, At this
moment, a servant of the widows Meina Baee and Sutic Bace came up
and told me that Baces are in great alarm, and cannot see how they
are to escape, as the opposite party have made up their minds to take
their revenge out of every oue of their enemies as soon as they got
possession of the country, and all those who were likely to give evil
advice have joined their party, and that I must immedintely make
arrangements to save Chimna Apa. T also perceived this evening
that the sahib-loge were in a great state of alarm. Shortly after I
met Mr, Stacey, the Deputy Collector, and Mr, Coffer, of the Rrilway
Department, and Mr, Lindsay, Adjutant-General, and mentionad the
above circumstances to them. They listened, but made uno reply. 1
think the rebellion tovk & more aggravated form in consequence of one
of the sahibs having fired upona sepoy.  The eorpses of a lady and
gentleman were seen floating down from some other station, found
their way into the canal, and were observed by a great many people.

The 4th June, Tuesdey~1 heard to-day that the trial of the
person who fired upon the sepoy ended thus, i. e, the troopers were
informed that the gentleman was intoxicated at the time, and that the
musket went off under a mistake ; to which the sepoys replied that,
possibly, their muskets might go off by mistake in the same way. These
sepoys make very harsh speaches. The second disturbance arose thus,
An order was issued for the distribution of pay, and they were told to
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lay down their arms before receiving it. This ereated a donbt in their
minds, and thus the mutiny commenced, The sepoys declared that
they had heard of what ocenrred in other statisns with regiments that
bad been disarmed, and it remained to be seeq what would happen
here. At noon, to-day, Narain, trooper, a Bhat by race, and inhabitant
of Humeepoor, who belonged to the 2nd Cavalry, and was brother-in-
law of Hindo Rao, who lives near the kotwalee, declared publicly that
it had been settled aniong his companions that they should mutiny
to-day, and that there was no doubt of their doing so, The people
of the city commenced elosing their windows and doors, and there was
great alarm throughout the city. A little before, the kotwal, having
heard of all this, went to inform the Magistrate, I cannot say what
measures were decided on. Baba Bhut and Azeemoollah went awny
towards the mutineers.  Some say they have gone to dissuade the
soldiery ; others, that they have joined them. T can record nothing
certain on this point till I see the fact. It is now evening, Even
those who kept up dealings with the troopers and sowars declare in
great alarm that something dreadful is about to happen. Every heart
beats with anxiety. It is now night, or rather near 1 A Suddenly
there is a fire in the cavalry lines, and the sound of musketry is heard,
At first, one troop marched away, and then a second troop. It appeared
that they had set fire to their own camp, Then Gil lis's regiment also
marched out. They proceeded along the road outside the city, and u p
to that moment the magazine was left empty. Not a man then enter.
ed it The sowars went along discharging their carbines here and
there. The people of the city observing the fire, and hearing the
noise and commotion, woke up, aud still greater anxiety and alarm
prevailed.

The 5th June, Friday—Early this morning, Lambourne’s and
Garstin's regiments marched out; at this time one or two reports of
guns fired from the entrenchment were heard, The sepoys murdered a
Mr, Murphy, of the Canal Department, at the lake » but another gentle-
man who was with him managed to escape into the entrenchment,
The regiments are proceeding towards Nawabgunge, T find that they
have gone to plunder the treasury. The sowars went to the Peelkhana,
and earried off the elephants and Government bullocks, and impressad
carts from the city. At this moment I sent off 5 man to get news from
Nawabgunge. When Shah Ali, kotwal saw the rebel sowars i
under the window of the kotwalee this morning, his face turned pale,
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and he explained : * The rebellion has begun in earnest” Inayun
Hossein, thanadar of Sheorajpoor, who had come in to protect the
kotwalee, tried to rally the kotwal, and advised him not to despair.
Those men whom the Magistrate caused to be enlisted through the
kotwal, for the protection of the people, now eclamoured for their pay,
and were bent on acting like traitors, At last, being perplexed on all
sides, Lalla Esree Pershad sent a sum of money to the kotwal, secord.
ing to his instructions, through Gobhur Singh, and the men alluded to
received their pay up to that date, and they came away, and thus not a
man was left for the protection of the city. Even the kotwal came away,
The man whom I despatehed to Nawabgunge for news now returned
and said that he had heard two reports of guns fired by the Nana’s
party, and that apparently the troopers of the 2ud Cavalry and the
sepoys had joined the Nana, with the object of attucking the entrench-
ment. The Nana, Bals, Baba Bhut, and Azeemoollah joined thew,
and they are halted atthe door of the treasury, and are having the
doors unlocked. Sowars have arrived at the house of Ramdhun,
treasurer, and induced him by threats to give up the keys of the
treasury, which they took with them. The second person, whom I
afterwards sent off for news, now returned and reported that the rebels
ware filling their carts with treasure, aud causing houses to be plun-
dered by rioters and other had characters from the suburbs of the city;
also that the Rajpoots of Beisa Mow, with Pragdut, and other Brahmins,
and Chootta, budmash, and the zemindars of Kakadeo, with other

that a flag borne on an elephant, with Lalpooree Gooshain, and 4 |

number of attendants, reached Meghrutton at 8 o'clock, and togk
possession of it ;also that the sowars had cnt awny the anchor mpe.é
which held the bridge of boats, and several boats Hoated away. A
hittle after, I heard that red coats were coming up from across the
river, which made the people run away.  After plundering the treasury,
set fire to the magistrate’s office, and civil court buildings, and burpt
all the records, and, after noon, they went away to Kullian poor, intend-
ing to proceed to Delhi. Subsequently I heard that the Nana and
Baba Bhut were ngainst going to Delhi, and were of opinion thag the
rebels should first eonquer Cawnpoor, and slay their enemies, and then

go on to Delhi, On hearing this, 1 sent off a person, who Jive din
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setting fire to bungalows, and to the cantonments, and that there was a
great conflagration, and that they killed every merchant they came across,
and that the employés of the barrack department had plundered the
barrack master's treasury, I also heard that one of the camel-drivers
was sent off immediately, from among the plunderers of the treasury. to
go and raise the flag at Bithoor; that coclies and kunjurs were going
about with the sowars, who compelled them to plunder all the property
found in the bungalows; and that the sowars ent down every man
who refused to plunder at their bidding; also that two persons were
killed in this manner, and that villagers and inhabitants of the
city and suburbs were to be seen in every lane, earrying away
furniture, plate, eclothes, and other valuables. This I saw with
my own eyes. I cannot deseribe the distress of mind I am suffering.
I am afraid Ishall lose my life, and see no way of escape. The
man whom I have been prosecuting in various courts, for numerous
swms, during the last eight years, is now the supreme ruler. How
far can I escape from him? It is equally difficult for Chimna
Apa and his attendants, and for the agents and vakeels, &ec., &o.,
of the widows to escape with their lives. It is impossible for
Lalla Esree Pershad and myself to escape, unless by the interposition
of providence, Debes Pershad, mohurrir, attached to the bridge,
went to the Magistrate in the entrenchment to give information.
He was told, in reply, to keep the bridge safe and in order, as the
rebels would depart after taking the treasure, and the Europeans
would re-occupy the station to-morrow, The kotwal was sent
for by the Magistrate, and accordingly went into the entrenchment,
but I cannot say what conversation passed. Villagers from every
direction have crowded into the city, but to this moment it has
remained safe from depredation and bloodshed. In  the evening
the kotwal entered the kotwalee, but he was not in his sonses,
and great uproar and fear of being plundered prevailed in every
ward of the city. The three persons whom I sent out for particulars
returned, and related mivnutely all that had transpired, but his
narrative is a very long ome, aud I am overpowered by terror and
anxiety: so I shall put down this man's story in to-mnorrow's memo-
randum. The same person also informed me that the rebels would
return next morning, and cause disturbances in the city.

The 6th June, Saturday.—News mrrived in the city that the
rebels had set fire to the boats supporting the bridge, On hearing this,
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I concealed myself in my house, and, owing to the rebels, there was no
road safe to eseape by. At noon, to-day, the rebel force marched into
the city, and at 11 Ay they came upon the residence of the Nunneh
Nawab, and fired into it with guns; five reports were heard, Then I
heard that the gates were thrown open. The troopers and sepoys
rushed in and broke all the glassware to pieces, and plundered all the
materials of taseenhdaree, and clothes and plate, &e., &c. On hearing
this, the peeple of the city trembled with fear, I heard that SOWATS
surronnded the house of Azim Ali Khan also, and, huving seized him,
put him on a tonjon, and brought him away. Subsequently I was tald
that they fired two round shots into his house, and that sowars had
gone to seize Bakur Ali Khan and Nizam-ood-dowlab, but I did not
learn that they had been brought away. It is now 1 P.M,, or thepe-
abouts. The rebels have placed guns in position to fire fipon the en-
trenchment ; firing has commenced, and sowars are pacing to and fro in
every lane; they fire off their muskets at every door, and, by threats of
violence, extort money from the inmates. They surrounded the house
of Buddree Dass Ugurwala, and were about to take his lifs, They
snatched awaya gold bangle worn round his son’s arm, There is a
great crowd at this moment around the house of Buddree Nath, the
commissariat contractor. The rebels have besieged it, and are desirous
of seizing him. The house of Buldeo Sahai, farmer, is also surrounded
by troopers, who are breaking open the gates. They declare that he
has Christians eoncealed in his house, These rebels go and surround
every respectable man's house, and, on the pretext of their concealing
Christians, plunder their property, and treat them with insult. They
have set on fire the houses of every merchant, and all the bungalows in
cantonments and they compel low-caste men to plunder the property
contained in them. I heard that several gentlemen of the road depart-
ment have been murdered, and three or four others killed in the guddi-
khana ; some say that the son of one Mr., Williams, who was a merchant,
has been murdered, and that troopers have run on ahead to kill others.
They plundered a cart, laden with silver and other articles belonging to
some mahajun, which came in from Lucknow, The Mahomedan troopers
and Hindoo sepoys are having a dispute, The former say they will
have the Nunneh Nawab for their master, and the Hindoos declure
that they will keep the Nana on. Ahmud Ali Khag, vakeel, who had
great influence with the Nana, came between, and had the Nunneh
Nawab sent to his own residenca under an escort of sowars, but a guard
of sowars was left at the house to prevent the Nawab's escaping, The

nn
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attendants of the Nana are his immediate servants; Hindoos of
Hindoostan and Muhomedans are among them, indiseriminately. It
has just cccurred to me that there is another bit of news which
should have been recorded before, 4. e, sowars and goendahs found.
their way into Mr. Thomas Greenway's compound, and, having dug the
earth in the spot where treasure had been buried, they carried it away :
a portion of it was previously taken away by people acquainted with
the secret. So also the property of Mr. Brandon, the merchant, which
was left for sale, and in which some articles belonging to the King of
Oudh were probably included, as the king had great confidence in Mr.
Brandon, was plundered ; as also a cart containing nearly Rs. 40,000
belonging to a mahajun, which had arrived at the post-office, was rifled
of its contents, i. €., one box containing ten or twelve thousand rupees
was brought away by some agent or other man of business, and the
rest of the money was carried away deliberately by the low-caste men
of Putkapoor and Kursowan. The rebels also carried off the telegraph
wires. The sepoys hove assembled in great numbers. They carry
away their plunder and then return for more. In the chowk, the
sowars broke open the locks of the houses of cloth merchants and
money-changers and plundered all their goods. They also looted the
residence of Yar Ally, as also the houses of two or three of his neigh-
bours. Low-caste Mahomedans, such as sykulgurs (sword-polishers),
and bangle-makers and cotton-spinners, go about with the sowars, and
the inhabitants of the lanes declare that the sowars have murdered
certain Christians, It appears that three Christians were concealed in
the shdps ontside the Moghul-ki-serai, and one was concealed in the
shops along the canal. On the first attack, these three fired upon the
rebels, who fled, thinking that there were a great number inside, but
afterwards, on learnivg that there were only a few of them, the rebels
reburned and set fire to the house. They caught and brought away un
old gentleman, with a boy of 16 years of age, and u lady and a little
girl from the canal, and killed them near the dak bungalow in the Nana's
presence. The rebels ran about the lanes, hunting for eahib-log ; and
the troopers murdered an European in a garden close to the Subadar’s
Tank. The following is a list of the names of the personal attendants
of the Nana, who came along with him, as far as T have been informed,
vis:—

Nana Dhoondoo Punt, Bala, Buba Bhut, Bapoo Datar, Azeemoollah,
Huree Chhota, Huree Bura, the wrestler, Gunoo Chowbey, son of the
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jemadar, Narain Mirth, Brahmin, Krishna Mirth, Tantia Topee, Huree
Punt, Bhao and Sree Newas Rao, (sons of Ram Chunder Punt, subadar),
Apa Topee, brother of the said Tantin Topee, Krishnn Rao, Udhit
Jalamgeer, Anund Rao, son-in-law of Oodgeer, Moroopunt Dhoree, Lall
Singh, havildar of artillery, Narain Motee, Binayutt Truns, Nana
Goklee, Abha Goklee, Bhaskur Goklee, Pandojec Shastree, Bamun
Goklee, Bamun Josee, Mahadeo Nana, Kesho Bhut Beheng, Mahadeo
Patuk, Narnin Bhawee, Untoo Patuk, Sookhram Sussyea, Choonui
Singh, Keshoree Singh, Choudri Munnee Sing, Choudri Balajosee,
Tantoo Punt, Ragho Punt, Uptyee, Kasa Bhagani-gir, Ukburally
Mookhtear, Mahomed Ishaq, Edmud Ali Khan, vakeel, Ehmnd-oollah,
tehseeldar, Baboo Singh, zemindar, Deep Singh, wrestler, Lalpoory
Goshaen, Bapookan Kuttee, Rama Choundhee, Babajee Mungir, Sook-
kha Ram Khutree, Nursoojee Sindhyee, Gobinda Mulhoo, Poolo,
wrestler, Narain Duggee, Gunga, the keeper of the peelkhana, Thuvan
Jugnab, Babajee Purkulla, Goonhoojra, Kunnoo Tathye, Goonnoo Bede,
Gunnoo Dhundheree, Ram Chund Puntputdurdhum, Bulwunt Rao,
Joglee Gir, Bulwunt Rao Joge, Krishua Jadowe Raghojee, naick, Tok-
haram Dhoobar, and Shumshere Singh, jemadar.

The zemindars of Bithoor, who jeined in the plunder of the trea-
sury, are present at the enemy's batteries and other zemindars are
coming. Kobeer Sing of Gunga Gunj, with a large body of attendants
has commenced causing disturbances in the suburbs and neighbouring
towns. There is a great crowd. It is impossible to record the names
of all at such u time,

The 7th June, Sunday.—This day I remained in the house
of Lalta Pershad Kayeth. There I heard that, under the Nana
budmash'’s orders, notices in Oordoo and Nagree had been printed ag
the printing oftice and circulated to the following effect, viz., that all
Hindoos and Mahomedaus, who respected their creeds, should present
themselves. These notices were stuck up along the main roads, Qg
hearing of this everybody trembled with fear and made preparations
to raise the jhunda (green Hlag). The quazee of the city gives the
people leave to enter into a jehad (war of extermination) with
Christians, while Moulvie Salamut-collah stoutly denies that a jehad ean
be proclaimed in such matters, Ehmud-oollah, tehseeldar of Bithoor,
has resolved upon creating disturbances, He is instigating every.
body to violence. He is the primary agitator of these disturbances
and Rehum Khan, native doctor, a Mewatee, and all the men of the
butcher-khana are with him, but the respectable Mahomedans of the
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city such as Meer Shujayut Ally and all the members of his family,
and Meer Yar Ally, naib sirishtadar, and other sons of Moonshi
Mahomed Hussun, and other parties, have concealed themsalves to
avoid being mixed up in such proceedings. Indeed, not one of the
respectable residents joined the jehad, Ehmud Al Khan, vakeel,
however, armed with a sword, is going about in company with Baba
Bhut, Sowars went down and surrounded the house of the Principal
Sudder Ameen and made him a prisoner. Azeemoollah also came
down. The Principal Sudder Ameen prayed much to be excused, but
they forcibly brought him away. In like manner, they carried off
Moulvie Sulamut-oollah in a palanquin, My men have seen these
events, and those who went thers to see the fun say the same, and add
that they have resolved upon proclaiming the green standard, The
person whom I sent off to Khereesur for news returned, and reported
that the convicts of the jail had goue towards Sheorajpoor and Poorah,
and that disturbances had commeneced in Sheorajpoor, and that the people
of Raja Suti Pershad destroyed the telegraph wires and fought with
Goolab Singh, thanadar, and made him prisoner. A third messenger
brought the news that the rebels murdered Goordeen, agent of the
Baees, who belouged to my party at Rumeil, and slew the people of his
house, and blew up his house with guns. The other agent, Apajugtab,
ran away, and the attendants of Chimna ‘Aps, named below, were all
put in chains, and I hear that they will be put to death, their hands
and noses being first cut off. They are the Lalla Mootsuddi, Basdeo
Shastree, Ram Bhao, Apa Thakoori, Dada Deechut, Jugurnath
Deechut, Bulwunt Rao {father-in-law of Bajee Rao, Peishwa,) Nana
Rijbur (the other father-in-law) Chintamun Bhut, Mahadeo Bhut
Narain Rao Ghosls, and Bapoo Atholee, and others, On hearing this,
I advised the vakeels, who were conducting suits for me, viz,, Sheikh
Moozuffer Hossein, Lalln Durgahi Lall, and Lalla Shadi Lall, to run
away, as otherwise they would certainly be killed, My Crump, the
merchant, who lived in the bungalow, had buried all his valuables and
woney and goldmohurs, to the value of about two lakhs of rupees, in the
presence of Buladeen Chowdres and Beinee Singh, jemadar, in his
compound, and went away, and his son took refuge in the entrenchment
on the 5th instant, These very servants now dug up those valuahles,
and varried them away. At this moment [ heard that Mr, Green, the
superintendent of the bridge, whom the present contractor had con-
cealed in his houss, has now been turged adrift, and was consequently
murdered ; aiso, that My, MecIntosh, merchant, with his family were
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massacred by rebels, but his mother, by some means, managed to
escape, I hear that the great guns of the magazine, with round shot,
powder, &c,, are being taken to the batteries to-day, and that the _
treasure plundered from the Government treasury was lying in carts in
the magazine, and that the special attendants of the Nana and muti-
neers of the Lambourne's and Gillis's regiments, and some troopers,
were guarding the carts.  Also that Government guns are being for-
warded to Bithoor, and ammunition from the magazine, intended for
Bithoor, being laden in carts The budmashes, holding flags, declare
that they are preparing for an attack, &e.  In the old bazar of General
Gunj the rebels broke open the shop of Purna Nund on the plea of
requiring cloth to make bags of The budmashes have pointed out
that the dwelling of Sheo Churn, cloth merchant, to the sowars, who
have taken away his merchandize. Thosa who go to seo the fun are
impressed and made to earry about round shot. (Guns are being fired
on both sides. One of the lookers-on was killed by a ball from the en-
trenchment. Now I hear that the zemindars also have come in. T am
anxious to find a man who could be present at the consultations of the
Nana, and be faithful to the Government, and conld identify the
zemindars. T have appointed a person in whom I have confidence,
but I will not put his name on paper now, for fear of his losing his life,
This man reports that the following zemindars, viz, Oothum Chund,
Ponton Hurdeen, Dhoukul Singh, Hemunchul Singh, Imrut Singh,
Phukur Singh, Rajpoot, Nungooa, Bukhtoora, Lalla Bunwary, Ruttoo,
Dewan Zelees, Munrakhun, Bijoul, Anund Singh, Narain Singh, Gopanl
Singh, Gunga Deechut, Jugut Singh, Cheetee Singh, Sunwul Singh,
Adhur Singh and Zalim Singh, and others of pergunuah Bithoor, with
their attendants all armed, presented thomselves at the rebel batteries,
but Chowdree Khoman Singh, son of Prag Singh, ran away from
Bithoor for fear of the Nana, who has been His enemy for
years. Bechoo Bingh, Phunkur Singh, Hurchund Singh, Jeyechund
Singh, Des Singh, Rughbur Singh, Keernt Singh, Ghunsya Singh and
others, zemindars of Kakadeo, pergunnah Jajamow, also presented
themselves. Similarly, Rao Pehulwan Singh and his band, with Mal
Singh, Sheodeen Singh, Buryar Singh, sirdar, and accompanied by
certain persons of mouza Oodeypore, wiz., Zore Singh, Roop Singh,
Hookum Singh, Dila Si ngh, N auduh.ﬁiugh, Jung Singh, Murdug
Singh, Ghunshum Singh, Luchmun Singh, Indul Singh, and Unopee

Singh, &ec., &e, with a body of 200 matehlock-men and mep from mougzy
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Jamonn, viz., Rambuksh and Bhoje Singh, ringleaders, with a body of
400 armed men, also Debee Singh and 400 men of mouza Khursa ; also
Peshwa Singh and other budmashes of mouza Seidhoree ; also the old
and notorious budmash Bhowany Singh and a body of 1,200 matchlock-
men, of mouza Sowanchpoor; also Ooseyree Singh, Bishun Singh,
Dhowkul Singh, Muthra Singh, Gopaul Singh, Suateerun Singh,
Bheckum Singh, and Mehurban Singh, &o., &c., with 400 matchlock-
men ; also Raja Kishoree Singh snd Deep Singh Pehulwan, with a body
of 800 armed men, of mouza Rumipoor ; also Rambux and Hunooman
Pershad, of mouza Sedhyee; also Nurund Singh and Kewur Singh, of
mouza Burkula, and also Guja Misr, ngent of Jwala Pershad, brigadier,
and Gopaul, his brother-in-law, both of mouza Sungwan, made their

appearance, as Jwala Pershad’s wife's family live in that locality, and

he holds a two-anna interest in the property. There were appoint-
ments, &, attached to the kutcheree of the budmash Nana. Thus
Babu Bhut held the post of suddecduftur; Jwala Pershad, that of
brigadier; Tecka Singh, that of subadar-general ; Azeemoollah, that
of collector, and Adbadesk Dharee, that of collesctor. They also
brought away the son of Azim Ally Khan; Ghunsham Aheer, Jemadar
of the barrack master’s departinent, also presented himself The
zemindars are extremely bold. They don't reflect that the Europeans
are observing them from the entrenchment, and what will be their
fate when the budmashes are defeated. Mr, Edward Greenway, son of
Mr. Thomas Greenway, was brought here a prisoner from Nujufgurh
with his family, and confined in the Savada-ki-kothee, They require
two lakhs of rupees as hostage-money. Captain Hollings, who was
formerly dismissed from the service, had a desperate fight with the
rebels at Nujufgurh, and only lost his life when his powder and shot
were exhausted.  Shortly after, Twas told that Tilokie Singh and
others, the ancient zemindars of monza Augun, Ilaga Bithoor, had gone
with a large party, and plundered the house of Mr. Peter Maxwell, and
carried off four Brahmin women, and that they attacked, &c., the police
officers of Chowli Aroul,

The Sth Jume, Monday.—This day 1 saw no hope of saving my
life, and therefore resolved to run away. On the road, I found the Nana's
men hovering about in every direction. I got through Hulwa-ki-gullee
and concealed myself in the house of Baboo Esree Pershad, it being
vacant at the time ; only Saligram, gomashta, was in it, and he supplied
me with food. I was there one day, and. saw what follows but I will



first mention what I heard, T heard that the Mewatees had murdered
Luchmun Pershad, tehseeldar of Ukurpoor. When this news reached the
Nana he appointed Akbur Al in room of the deceased. I thensaw that
people with dmms, and a great army, were proceeding, vid the butcher-
khana and Muchlee bazar, to the batteries of the enemy, and people
gave out that an attack would positively be made to-day. One of my
men reported that Mr. Senijob (%), a superintendent of roads, who had
voluntarily entrusted his property to the zemindars of Bhontyle, had
been wounded by Kobeer Singh, zemindar of Punkee Kuttra, and had
further caused ssveral gentlemen of the canal department to bs mur
dered; that he had a great army with him, plundering and destroying
the district ; that the gentlemen, and ladies and children were all put
into carts and sent to Nawabgunge to the thana. One of the ladies
begged that they might not be killed, and were ready to work, but
some villain refused to listen to her, and so they were taken to the Nana.
I am afraid he will murder them. The second fact is this, that Ujub
Singh, Redhawala, and a brother of his, both presented themselves to
the Nana, They plundered and carried off some property from the
bungalows, and English guns, and an Arab horse, the property of some
gentleman. They plundered everybody they met on the road, and
have promised to bring in European prisoners. Another piece of fresh
news is this, that Dwarka, khuthri, a bad character, and his s0ms,
Doorga and Setul Pershad, presented themselves to the Nana. This
Dwarka had been in prison seven years at Benares, and was expelled
the district. By some frand he eoncealed his faults, and got serviee
with Binayuk Rao, of Tirwai, and did business with the Mahratias,
After the death of Benayuk Rao, he intrigued with Kashi Race, and
eaused a foud in the family, when Mr. Palmer, the merchant, interposed
and the case was settled in another way, It was proved that this man
was at the bottom of all the mischief. They thought of putting him in
prison, when he fled to Cawnpoor, and hired s house belonging to Sheo
Pershad Sunker, son of Tantee Mull, and resided in the city. This
very man is now instigating an impression on the Nana that he should
take a large sum of money from the Tirhwanwalas, i. e, from Narain
Rao and Madho Rao, and make them join his party. This suggestion
has led to correspondence between the Nana and those people. Tt
appears that the Nana has written to them to seize Chimna Apa, who
has run away there. This news has been brought me by an intimate
friend and highly loyal servant of the State. This very Dwarka went and
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threatened Jugun Pershad, khuthri, representing that he had full powers,
and the English were all destroyed, and his rule was in force, Ialso heard
that Hindoo sownrs had seized the Nunneh Nawab, and taken him to
- the Nana. I hear that the Mahomedan sowars wish to join the Nawab,
and create a quarrel with the Nana. The Hindoos were on the side of
the Nana, owing ta the good offices of Teeka Singh, general.  They
therefore carried off the Nawab. The Nana had other views at the
time. Ahmed Ali Khan, vakeel, who had great influence with the
Nana, explained matters to the Nauna, and having sent for Buldeo Singh,
zemindar of Seesa Mow, made them stand secarity for the Nunneh
Nawab. The Rajpoots of monza Maloun and the zemindars are come-
mitting highway robbery. They plundered the present lumberdar, and
turned him out of his house. To show their attachment to the Nana,
they even fired shots into the entrenchment ; this has been marked by
a great many, They also bronght snpplies to the rebels. Their names
are Sochun Singh, dewan, Toolsi, Punchum, Meneakhun, Bijoul, Esren
and Oujagir, with other attendants I also heard that one or two
troops of the Tth Irregular Cavalry and two companies of sepoya, and
three Europeans, who are with them, came to inform the Nana that they
wish to join his standard. The Nana replied by directing the heads of
the Europeans to be cut of The troopers, &c., promptly refused to do
0, and said they had taken their oath not to kill them, but only to
keep them under surveillancs, Next I heard that the Nawab Doolha,
armed with a number of followers, had come in, and joined the Nana's
standard, and given shurbut to the troops to drink, and also feasted
them. It would be impossible to mention the names of all evil-minded
men who joined that standard. They consisted of kulyeghurs, tum.
kheras, chooriwallahs, the butchers and others, all of the lowest caste,
The men there assembled must have numbered abova 5000, After
putting down all this correct intelligence, 1 left my house at candle-
light, and came to the dwelling of Heera, Gungapooter, at Sirseea Ghat,
He pointed out to me a room to stay in. There I heard that the pre=
sent contractors of the bridge, i, ¢, Narain, Jankes and others, are all
present with the Nana's party, and that Bakur Al Khan and Nizam-
ood-Dowlah have been brought in as prisoners, Subsequently T heard
that the Nawab Doolha did not himself go to the rendezvous, hut
merely feasted the BeEpoys.

The 9th June, T!mday.—-To-da;,r I was told that Hoolas Singh,
kotwal, was induced by the plausible representation of Ehmud-oollah,
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tehseeldar, to leave the Khoord Mehal, where he was staying. The
kotwal at first refused to come, but was so completely won aver to
rebellion that he consented to take office in the kotwalee. Moula
Chowdree, the blind, a kulwar by easte, and a notorious bad character,
volunteered to find supplies on his being recognised as Chowdiree and
was appointed accordingly at 10 oM. A noise like the report of a
gun, from the direction of Nawabgunge, was suddenly heard, I asked
Gungapooter what it could be, He replied that the sahib-log had
entered the Kuttra, I remembered the Magistrate issuing an order
that, as soon as the boats, containing Europeans from Fatehgurh,
should arrive, they should open the lock of the bridge : so it might be
the arrival of those boats. I also heard that Jownhir Singh, a resident
of Nawabgunge, and Zemindar of Khera and Scorabad, had gone to
eapture the boats, and, with reference to the Europeans, \fhu are with
the cavalry encamped on Chowbipoor-ki-purao, certain sepoys had.
again proceeded to Bithoor to tell Pandrung Rao that they would not
kill those Europeans. They were all ready for action, but T could learn
no particulars. I have, therefore, sent off another man for news: the
battle is still going on, Akbar Ali, Mookhtar, has been ordered to
take up the tehseeldarship of Akburpoor.

The 10th June, Wednesday. Ghunsham, the jemadar of the bar-
rack master’s department, has pointed ont the path for the mine, and
miners have been sent for. Reports of guns are again heard to-day from
the same quarter. At a little after 12, two dead bodies of Europeans
were seen floating down the Ganges, and sepoys were seen in a boat
coming down behind those corpses and firing off their muskets as they
came. Shortly after T heard that all those sakib-log who were expected
from Furruckabad had been made prisoners, and that some of them had
been left behind.  Jowahir Singh also, to show his loyalty, presented
himself with them before the Nana, My servant Thana Singh saw this
particular event at the ghat with his own eyes. I hear that those
gentlemen are imprisoned in the barrack: T wonder how they will
save their lives. At night I heard of the fate of the Europeans who
were encamped with the troopers at Chowbeypoor: i, e, the sepoys
Joined the Nana on the 8th June, and at 5 P.a. the bugle was sounded,
Those gentlemen asked to know by whose order the assembly * had
been sounded, They replied that it was by order of the Nana. On this
the Europeans took to their horses and fled, but were pursued by sowars,
firing into them. Oojagir, Eesree, Bijoul, Lochun Singh, Dewan Singh,
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Toolsie Singh, Punchum and Munrakhuu, formerly zemindar of
mouza Malouni, joined in the pursuit, They surrounded the Euro-
peans and the troopers cat them down. One of them was killed at
Ummballa, and the others were despatched before they got up to the well
of Oodey Chund. They cut off the heads of all the three Europeans,
put them into a basket, and brought them to the wicked Rao. One
lady and a gentleman were, however, taken alive to the mehsoolghur,
The lady was with child, which T learnt from Chunni Lall, banker. I
also heard that the unprincipled Dwarka, khuthri, placed a guard over
the house of Esree Pershad, and that the two gomashtas who were
placed there for its protection were made prisoners, Afterwards Gunga-
pooter observed to me that people had discovered that I was staying
in his house, and that I should quit it for fear of his house being plun-
dered and myself put to death. T deeply regretted this because I saw
that it would now be difficult to get intellizence. It ooccurred to me
that I must get hold of & zemindar, who would attend the durbar like
all the other zemindurs, and also of a mahajun, who eould also have
access to the durbar and other places. Accordingly I selected two
persons : a zemindar and mootsuddi, who was also a plaintiff and could go
to the durbar with the other zemindars They promised to bring minute
intelligence to the best of their power. At midnight, 4. e, at 3 Am,
my servant brought the news that the Rao budmush, before whom the
heads of the Europeans had been taken, ordered them to be taken to
the arch-murderer, the Nana, and that, when Meina Baee and Sutie
Baee saw the lady, they declared that, if she were put up to death, they
would destroy themselves, and hence orders were given for that lady
and gentleman to be kept in confinement in Mr. Murray's honse. The
servant also reported that when the Europeans were killed, Makhun
Pandey, zemindar of Choubeypoor, heard of it, and prepared to fight ;
on which several sepoys entered the village, and one of the SEPOYE WAS
killed, by the party of Makhun Pandey; pear his own door ~ The
sepoys then made a great disturbance, and declared to the Rao that
they would not rest until he caused Makhun Pandey to be delivered
to them. Makhun, however, ran away. I also heard that the people
of the other side of the Ganges, vis., great and influential zemindars
and gooshaeens, bad come in with strong bodies of men, I percsived
that it was not advisable to stay here any longer, as my life was in
jeopardy, for orders had already been given to seize all the amlah of
the kutcheree; it was issued to Azeemoollah. Being quite helpless,
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I left his place at 4 in the morning, having impressed on my gomashta,
Joogul Kishore, to send for intelligence daily, and communicate the
same to me punctually at Jajamow.

The 11th June, Thursday.—1 reached Jajamow this day before -

sunrise. I perceived corpses of gentlemen and ladies on my way,
lying along the banks of the Ganges. I cannot describe the grief I fels
at this sight. The corpses could not float down from the shallowness
of the river. The brother of Moonshi Narain Dass had put up with
Kampta Pershad Pandey, I did the same. I saw at Jajamow, on
the banks of the river at the ghat, three boats and a budgerow, which
had been burnt by the rebels. I questioned the people of the place,
and learnt that wines and other articles of merchandize were in the
boats, but the boatmen had plundered the liquors, and, when drunk,
cut down the gentlemen, and that the neighbouring zemindars of
mouzas Palee, Janan, Mudarpoor, Mocea and Nujufgurh, joined in the
plunder, and in the murder of some of the gentlemen; also that troop-
ers of the 2nd Cavalry were in the habit of proceeding to and from
Nujufgurh to Cawnpoor ; and a company of sepoys was stationed at
the Naka of Jajamow for its protection. I also observed a bungalow
of the railway department, newly burnt down, and learnt that Pohup
Singh, zemindar of Moeea, had plundered and burnt it.  Shortly after
some sepoys crossed over from the other bank., I found on enquiry
that some more infantry and cavalry had come in, and were proceeding
to the Nana to join his standard. 1 further learnt that these were
the very Sikhs and sepoys who had run away from Benares, and that
they had brought plundered horses, on which the sepoys were mounted.
At 11 at night, news came in by letter, conveyed by Narain, peon,

which was to the effect that the following zemindars had this day pre-

sented themselves to the Nana ; viz., Bhowany Singh, Gotum, Hindoo
Singh, Chowham, of Rusoolabad, who entered five horses in the Nana's
service, and Lulmer Singh, Sheobux Singh and Heera Singh of Guj-
nere, together with Guneshi, of mouza Pyasee, and Kunhere Singh,
of Khanpoor, and Eesree Singh, commandant of Kutheitee, I heard,
further, that all the influential Chowhans were rebels, and ready to aid
the Nava, and that those leaders had come with strong bodies of atten-
dants with about 4,000 matchlock-men. Luchmun Singh, Ryye Singh
and Oojagur Singh, of Palee, had about 700 matehlock-men ; Goolab
Singh, Than Singh, Doulut Singh and Lal Siogh, of Sheolee, had
about 300 matchlock=men, Boondelahs of Jeitpoor ; i this zillah, to the
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oumber of 500, with the Rana of Tiktoulee and Sekhreg), there were
1,500 matchlock-men ; the Rana was in a palki; and there were
drums avd standards, and a great crowd of attendants; and Gopaul
and others, relatives of the brigadier Jwala Pershad, also came in from
Sungwan. I also heard that Kulundargir, budmash, who was hostile
to the Raj Ranee, was presented at the batteries in company with the
Rushdavanwalla budmashes, and that the following men were with
him :—viz,, Goolab Singh, Zor Singh and Gowri Lall, of Jubbulpoor ;
Hoolas Singh, Kunree Singh, Kheb Singh. Sookha Singh, and Oomran
Singh, all of Ali Nugar; also Eesree Pundahun, Lala brahmin, Gyadeen
Brahmin, and Heera Koyrmi of Purnida ; also Nonee Singh, Makhun
Singh and Nund of Muohadews ; also Thakoori Singh, Lall Singh,
Doorjun Singh, Rotum Singh, Rutun Lall Singh, and Zalim Singh,
of Garhewa; also Monohur Singh, and Mudaree Singh of Belapoor;
also Muhadeo Aheer, Sanwul Aheer, and Kunhya Lall, Kayeth, of
Amurhera ; also Sheodeen, Brahmin, Bhorey Singh, Debee Gir, Roopun-
der Gir, Gungapoory, Himmut Gir, Jye Singh Thakoor, Lokenath,
Debee Pershad, Gunga Gir, Hurchurn Gir, Jowahir Singh, Dhunput
Singh, Gungadeen Gir, Hunwunt Gir, and Anund Singh, all of Rus-
dhan, All the above budmashes keep Kalindhur Gir's company, and
peasants from the villages, all armed, are present with him, Shortly
after, my servant Jhain Singh came and informed me that the Enropeans
arrived from Furruckabad had been tied together and slaughtered,
and that the troopers of the 2nd Cavalry and sepoys of Lambourne's
and Gillis's regiment were shooting them down, in which atrocity they
were assisted by the inhabitants of mouzas Palee and Sohrunjpoor.
The gentlemen remonstrated at the time, and said they should not be
put to death as they were ready to doany sort of work. This my servant
related as what he had heard. Azeemoollah and Dwarka Dass, khutri,
Joined them, and had the horses of the troopers tied in the inner rooms
of Baboo Esree Pershad’s house, over which they also placed a guard.
They apprehended Chotey Lall and Saligram, gomastha, and kept them
in the kotwali. In the evening, I perceived a bright light, and found
that the rebels had fired a gun ; some three hours after I learnt from the
people of Jajamow, on their return, that the Nunneh Nawab had struck
the roof of the veranda of the barrack with a round shot, and set it on
fire. Then news came in that a person riding on a camel was made to
proclaim, on behalf of the King of Delhi, that the king had sent a firman
declaring that this part of the country had been conferred on the Nana,
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and Arjun Singh, vakeel, was sent for. A few hours had elapsed
after nightfall, when Roostum, resident of the fort of Jajamow, was seen
on horseback riding as hard as he conld towards the ghat, declaring that
some Europeans had arrived and he was going to capture them, It
turned out that he had friends among the troopers, and was hastening
to the Nana. I was also told that Maharaj Buksh, tehseeldar of Sada
Huseempoor, had joined the Nana's party; that Nuthey Singh and
Chundee Singh, residents of the other side of the Ganges, had colluded
with Umbikapoor, and had presented himself with 500 matchlock-men,
Nurain and the other contractors of the bridge are using their utmost
efforts to convey the rebels over. Katka, qunoongoo of Hurha, with
nearly 800 armed men, landed at the ghat to-day in my presence, with
some money plundered from the treasury. Luchmun Pershad, tehseel
dar, presented himself, and said reports of his having been killed were
false.

The 12th June, Friday.—I am told that Munsuhb Ally, Chowdree
of Rusoolabad, and along with him Punah Ally of Doolha, and Meer
Buksh Ally, resident of Sufeepoor have come in with a large force.
Punah Ally's zemindaree is in Bithoor. 'These men have come in @
body of full 3,000. T was also told that the rebels attempted to take
the entrenchment to-day, and made great efforts to do s0; that an ob-
stinate fight took place, in which some of the people of the entrenchment
were killed and wounded. Apparently some of the budmashes on the
rebel side, with two sowars and a number of sepoys, were killed with
ball and shot. The sowars have escaped with their lives, and are
going to plunder the city, but some sepoys of Lambourne’s and Gillis’
regiments kept their batteries, At this moment, however, the work is
being done by the zemindars und their ryots. Certain budmashes from
among the men of Palee and Chowhaus are boasting about the Pprecision
of their fire. A prostitute, Oula by name, is with the Nana. She has
taken from him a great quantity of property and Jewellery and precious
slones, belonging to the widows of the Peishwa, She is seated in 4
tent, and from behind the screen is enjoying the sight of the European
my own cyes the sepoys and Sikhs, who escaped from Benares, crossing
over at this ghat by order of the wicked Nana, with a view to join the
rest of his force, Some of these sepoys wers on horseback, and they
paid one rupee each for crossing, I also heard the following correct
intelligence : i.e., that the Rajpoots of Gungagunj, with Raja Koobeer
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Sing and a strong force, presented themselves to the Nana, This Raja
committed great atrocities in the distriet, and plundered the ryots. As
regards Ghunsham, jemadar, he was most energetic in the cause of the
rebels, He is planning to run a mine under the entrenchment, and has
sent for sappers and miners, Again Azeemoollah, counsellor of the
Nana, and Ehmud-oollah, tehseeldar of Bithoor, went with a number of
troopers and brought away Deputy Collector Ramloll, near the Savada-
ki-kothee. Orders have been issued to seize the amlah of the courts.
Some there, who lived with their families in Nawabgunge, were seized
and brought up, and search is being made for the others who have
concealed themselves. It is afranged that the Nana's kutcheree shall
be held in the Tilag Muhul. The battery of the Nunneh Nawab is
located near the ball alley well. This was told to me by the villagers,
and was not communicated by my own servants.

The 15th June, Saturday —News was brought to-day that Akbur
Singh, zemindar of Chandunpoor, and his brother plundered the boats
of buparees, and killed some European, whose name I could not
discover. Next I learnt that Ghunsham Singh, zemindar of mouza
Janan, joined the rebel cause, and murdered the son of Mr. John J,
Duncan, and, having cut off his head, putit on the shoulders of a porter
and carried it as a trophy to the Nana, for which he received a reward
of Rs. 10 while the porter received Rs. 2. At about 8 AM., some of
the omlahs of the collectory and foujdary courts were forcibly brought
up, though a few of them were not in attendance. News was then
brought in from the camp that the Chowhan Rajpoots had sworn to
the Nana that they could send him armed men from all the 26 villages
of which they were owners, and aid him to the best of their power,
Of the foree called Al Ghoul, newly enlisted at Eithoor, 2,000 men
were sent for, and more men were applied for from the Nuwabi dis-
tricts, through Kalka, qancongoe, It was through this same Kalka
that orders were circulated in Qudh regarding the settlement and
collection of the revenue, and armed men were called for through him.
This man began enlisting matchlock-men on the other side of the
Ganges.

I had just recorded the above, when suddenly a thakoor named
Gungapooter, with a body of troopers from the Nana, came up to seize
me, and surrounded the house of Kampta Pandey, But God Almighty
was pleased to save my life on that occasion, For Ram Deen Gunga-
pooter secured me, and made me run awny behind a ravine. I ran

Bt L™
S iil -0



along the road leading to Madarpoor, but was plundered by the

cultivators of mouza Pywundy, or perhaps by the peasants of Moyah. -

A servant, Madho, who followed me, managed to apprehend some of
the plunderers. But, owing to the kindness of the zemindars of
Pywundi, I was saved from the hands of those ruffians, and kept in
concealment in Joogal Kishore's garden, behind Sedh Nath. There I
remained all day, under a burning sun, without food or water, At
nightfall, Sheo Deen, the gardener, sent four men with me, indepen-
dently of four kabars who had previously joined me, and thus I
managed to reach the shore. It was, however, my fate not to find a
boat at the ghat ; I resolved to drown myself in the river, as I thonght
it better to die than to fall into the hands of so cruel a foe. After
midnight, at about 2 ay, I left the garden. The first ford I came to
had water up to the waist only, and it was moonlight night ; so I waded
across and reached the Kuttra ; there I saw the corpses of the Euro-
peans whom the boatmen had slain when drunk. These drunken
beatmen were armed, some with clubs, others with weapons, and they
were running about the woods like wild men. I cannot describe the
terror that seized me at that moment. How I sighed for the British
rule! I was trembling with fear, and knew not whera I was going.
The ghat was close at hand when daylight appeared. People of low
casté commenced stripping the corpses of the ladies, gentlemen and
children, lying near the shore, and carrying off their clothes. Portions
of property, books, papers, &e., belonging to the plundered bonts were
also strewn about the shores, At last a zemindar CAINE OVer in a
boat, and I met -a Brahmin, who also belonged to the other side of the
river, whom I had formerly met. I at once accompanied this man, and
got into the boat, which took us across the river. Og reaching the
opposite bank, I was senseless for four hours, When I recovered, I
found that Budruka was three miles, and reached that place at 10 s

The 14th June, Sunday.—To-day I sent off men to inform my
friends that I was staying in Budruka, in the house of Dhurum Dass,
Kayeth. News of events will probably reach me by the evening, when
the same shall be recorded. My men did not come with news in the
evening, so I merely put down what I witnessed at Budruka Chundee
Singh, Hetes Singh of Bunehtur, snd also the nephew of Ambika
Pershad Doobey (though not openly) are enlisting matchlock-men for the
Nana, and have sent for villagers likewise, Further, wy servants haye
seen with their own eyes four dak horses, and two buggies belonging
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to Europeans, standing at their door. These are the goods they .

plundered and brought away from Cawnpoor, or Ounam. They have
also introduced the collection of revenue under the Nana’s government.
Other property plundered from Ounam is stored up in their houses
The budmash Kalka, of Mouza Hurah, has sent for matehlock-men to
every quarter, and has forwarded some of the new levies to the Nana,
who are now crossing the river. This man put the whole of the
records into a cart, and carried them to his own house,

The 15th June, Monday (Budruka).—News of Cawnpoor events
of yesterday reached me to-day at 10 aM. The first is that the
gentlemen and Indies of Furruckabad, who were left behind, to the
number of 40, more or less, were apprehended by Jussa Singh, bud-
mash, the Chowdree of F uttehpore chowrasie-walla, and sent down to
Bithoor ; that the Rao Sahib, budmash, had detained them at Bithoor
and sent word to the great budmash the Nana ; and that the Nana had
summoned the prisoners to his presence. I wonder what fate awaite
them. The other piece of intelligence is that the Nadiree regiment
and another corps, the name of which 1 cannot tell, both from the
Oudh territory, have come in with some eavalry and artillerymen and
guns, and Meer Nawab is the commandant of the Nadiree regiment,
and that they are desirous of coming into Cawnpoor. 'The facts are
these :—Sahib Begum is a female, that resides in Bhogneepore” and
Rusoolabad, and holds several villages in mortgage. This Meer Nawab,
the commandant, is her brother, and has come in at her request. This
Sahib Begum is herself a warm supporter of the Nana, But all these
disturbances, to which Sahib Begum is o party, are due to the
machinations of Mirza Inayut Hossein, All the Government treasure
plundered, and brought down this way by the troops is safely deposited
in Bithoor. The Nana has made a promise to the rebel troops that he
will reward them with money and gold bangles when they have
defeated the British troops. The rebel force was resolved upon plun-
dering the city, but the kotwal, Hoolas Singh, remonstrated and asked
them over whom they would exercise rule, if they gave the city up to
plunder, adding that the fight with the British would be damaged if all
the troops were occupied in looting the city, The zemindars, too,
are anxious to loot the city, as the mahajuns hold the villages of
those zemindars in mortgage, and to kill the mahajuns, Baba Bhut,
Azeemoollah, and the kotwal are coming with them. Reheem Khan,
Mewntee and the uative doctor seut for Shah Al, kotwal, from
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Bhojipoora, and presented him on the 13th instant, and also made over
the news department to him. Firing on both sides was kept up as nsual.
The newsmen also mentioned that a few of the European soldiers
rushed out of the entrenchment, and spiked the guns of the rebels, and
turned them over, and the erowd declare that, if the Europeans wera
all to come out and attack the rebels, the whole of the budmashes
wonld run away; but the zemindars and ryots, and the armed men
with them, have surronnded the entrenchment on every side. An
unfortunate baker, who supplied the Enropeans with bread, was a kid-
mutgar, or something like it; he was apprehended and killed. A
bheestie has also escaped from the cntrenchment, [ am told that
some of the Europeans inside have been wounded, and others killed,
and that they are in great distress for waut of provisions, It is un-
necessary to write all that is reported, [t is highly ereditable to the
intrepid daring of the European troopa that they come to the tank to
take water into the entrenchment. At 5 PAL news was brought to me
that the rebels had placed batteries all round the entrenchment, and
that the Nadiree and other regiments are to take it by storm. Sheikh
Panchoo has promised to form a cavalry regiment, and has already
enlisted five troopers. They have determined on plundering the house
of Lalla Eesree Dial. His gomashtas are in prison, and they are told
to confess where Essree Dial is conecaled, Narain and others, contrace
tors of the bridge, have been ordered to keep boats in readiness to
convey troops expected in from the other side of the river, which they
have promised to do. A man of the Bouria easte had his hands cut off
at the kotwali. T am told that they expect certain European refugees
coming along the Agra road, and have sent on troopers and camaol
sowars to apprehend them. But this news seems to have no fonnda-
tion, It has been proclaimed by beat of drum that parties who haye
property of Enropeans concealed in their houses must convey the same
to the Nana. A reward of Rs. 1,000 has also heen proclaimed for the
eapture of myself.

The 16th June, Tuesday (Budruka)—My servant, Mudares,
brought a letter, containing news of Cawnpoor, this evening. Narain
Uguroola and Jankee, his brother, whose shop was carried on in the
name of Sobha Ram, Nanuk Chund and Co., and who had purchased
the bridge from Behari, contractor, consented to exert themselves in the
Nana's canse, They very artfully conveyed over the Nadiree regiment,
as well as the other regiment which came with them, and all their artjl.
lery and troopers, but not till they had obtained a large sum in tolls and
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taxes, and they expect to be rewarded by the Nana for this They were
accompanied by Debee Pershand, mohurrir, and Nyaz Mahomed, news-
writer. The other piece of news is this : Duriao Singh, Raja of Nar, of
the race of Goorthuree Rajpoots, came in riding in o bamboo palanquin,
with drums and standards, to have an interview with the Nana, Ahmud
Ally Khan, vakeel, and Shah Ally, and Azeemoollah spoke in his behalf,
and induced the Nana to give him a seat and to accept his nuzzur, and
also to present him with a robe of honour. This same raja voluntarily
executed an agreement, pledging himself to keep in readiness a force
of 15.000 men, who would be always near him, adding that he had twalve
villages belonging to four thakoors under his control, and that 1,500
matchlock-men were with him at that very moment. Thus, this insane
raja became the well-wisher of rebels, The Nana then gave orders,
saying,—* You are at full liberty to take possession of all your old
zemindary villages, and to collect revenue therefrom.” Orders were
also issued to the Nadiree regiment to the effect that hulooa-poores
(sweet dishes) should be served out to the entire regiment, and that
they should have the same fare every day till they had taken the
entrenchment. They on their side promised to capture the place to-
morrow, As regards the European ladies and gentlemen, who were
apprehended by Jussa Singh, those unfortunate people have now come
into the rebel camp, where an evil fate awnits them. One Kunhere
Singh, a Gour by tribe, and a ringleader of rebels, has applied for and
received one gun, which he has taken into his ilaga, with powder and
shot, which he also received. I have written for a list of the zemindars
of pergunnah Dera Mungulpore, who have come in with a large foroe
to fight the British. I shall put their names down on a future day,
Ambika Pershad, nephew of Thakoor Pershad Doobe, sent down a
party of armed men belonging to Bhulley Singh and Chundy Singh
to apprehend me. Sheo Churun, their special officer, accompanied
the assaulting party to my house. They seized me in mouza Bunthur
and wished to send me in to the Nana; eventually they compelled me
to give them a promissory note for Rs. 175 on the security of Buns
Gopaul Doobe, and did not release me till evening. The amount of
the note was paid at Cawnpoor by my gomastah Jogul Kishore,

The 17th June, Wednesday (Budruka).—The first piece of news
relating specially to Budruka is this: 1, e, at this moment five sowars
and two havildars have come into the village to arrange for supplies.
They state that the villagers must make immediate arrangements for
supplies, as troops are expected in. T sent a man into the village to
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make enquiries, and found that two regiments and artillery, and 22
elephants, laden with treasure, have come as far as Runjeetpoorwa, and
that some camels and carts with the magnzine and six guns are with
them, and that they will encamp at Hurba to-morrow, being on their
way to the Nana. At this moment Hutti Singh and Chundi Singh, of
Hunthur, and Kalka, the qanoongoo's people, all well-armed and
accoutred, have crossed over at the Jajamow Ghat, bound for the oppo-
site bank. Mahomed Syud, a superintendent appointed by the Nana,
has charge of the Jajamow Ghat, and is directed to convey over all the
budmashes, while Morad Khan has charge of the Janan Ghat. At 5 par,
to-day, my servant brought a letter from Cawnpoor. The Nadiree
and other regiments that came in from Lucknow are treated with the
greatest favour and indulgence. They have solemuly promised to con-
quer the entrenchment in four hours. The wicked Nana has deter
mined upon summoning all parties, and all the zemindars who signed
the agreement, owners of the 2§ villages of Chowhans, Chundeils, Tar-
valee, Gotum, and other tribes, are desirous of presenting themselves,
On learning this, I sent off a messenger to bring intelligence quickly
and let me know what zemindars, leaders of rebels, and what bud-
mashes of these villages, are coming on to aid the Nana. T learnt also,
from the people of this village, that » person named Nuthey and
another were placed on donkeys and paraded in the streets, and their
houses dug up, and that Ahmud Ally Khan, vakeel, Shah Ally, Baba
Bhut, Azeemoollah, and Jwala Pershad, were appointed a committee to
decide budmashee cases ; also that the fighting at Cawnpoor continued
as usual; and that the person who had the farm of the bridge was de-
lighted with the income he derived in collecting customs duties, in
making intizam, sud in conveying rebels over,

Phe 18th Jume, Thursday (Budruke).—The regiment with
artillery, &c. which were yesterday encamped at Runjeetpoorwa,
arrived at Burha to.day, and will proceed to Ounam to-morrow,
KEalka, budmash, has issued perwanahs in this part of the country from
the office of the (Nana) budmash, and the people of this place are
looking out for the settlement of affairs, At about T in the evening
my servant Shan Singh brought me a letter. It states that Kalka
Pershad, moonshi of Mr. Thomas Greenway, had been apprehended,
and that Mr, Edward, his son and his wife, &c,, were in prison in his
bouse at Savada. Jwala Pershad and Shah Ally went to them there,
and explained to Mr. Greenway'’s mother the necessity of their paying
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up two lakhs of rupees, wamning her that she wonld be killed if she did
not producs the sum. She replied that she was ready to give a hoondi
on Caleutta, and they could release her, when the hoondi was paid ;
they agreed to this. The rebels went and intimidated the gomashtns
in Lalla Eesree Pershad's kotee, who were in confinement, and extorted
Rs. 70,000 from them, of which Rs. 2,000 were tuken by Dwarka,
khuthri, the budmash, of which mention has been already made. He
addressed them, saying, # They all assisted the Bace Sahibs, and
helped Chimna Apa to fight in court, and, by paying eourt eXpenses,
wished to bring me into disgrace by getting my property attached,
Tell me where they are, or else Ishall have the kotee razed to the
ground.” As for the zemindars who have come in to assist the Nana,
they are numberless, and my informant says it is impossible to
ascertain all their names. T have set down all that I could discover, and -
think them more than sufficient. Their names cannot be concealed, as
they are well-known characters i all the Chowhan zemindars and
Chundelas and certain Boondelahs, and those of the Gore, Gotum and
Bese Powar tribes, living in the ilaga of the banks of the J ninng, i. g,
Bhoogteypoor and pergunnah  Jajumow, and Dera Mungulpore and
Rusoolabad, and Pales and Ghatumpore, &e., assisted in the attack on
the entrenchment, I shall mention their names hereafter, as far as I
can ascertain them. The Nadiree regiment and the artillerymen
belonging to it fought with desperation, and rushed right up to the
entrenchment. They fought well, and overturned one of the guns of
the entrenchment ; but, when the Europeans made a rush and attacked
them with grape, the budmashes could not keep their ground ; some of
them were killed. The courage of the English in such circumstances is
astonishing. If they could be relieved by even 200 Europeans from
outside, all the rebels would flee before them on one charge. For the
rebel troops are quite dispirited ; every rebel sepoy and trooper had a
quantity of money by him, as his share of plunder, but some of them
had deposited their money with their families, and returned to fight.
Some sepoys had their wives with them, and these would not join the
batteries for fear of losing their money, but would go about the city
plundering, and others are comfortably seated in the shops along the
canal and enjoying the provisions brought in as russud; they take
quantities of sugar to make shurbut, which they drink to their hearts'
content, If the faithless zemindars and their dependent tenants had
pot assisted the rebels, it is most likely the rebel force would have
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turned and fled. None but the troops arrived from Lucknow, and the
zemindars, show hostility to the Government, and nid the enemy : they
nssist them with provisions, The énemy are much disheartened by
to-day's defeat, It is a pity that no foree comes to aid the Europeans,
The budmashes have assembled in very great numbers, On every side,
the entrenchment is surrounded by zemiodars. It is most difficult for
provisions to be carried into it now. Rundheer Singh, son of Rao
Ghunsham Singh, presented himself at the rebel court. The following
is a list of the ringleaders of the rebel zemindars: 4. e, zemindars of the
Chowhan tribe, about 20,000: those of the Gore tribe, with Raja
Duriao Singh, about 15,000 ; those of the Powar tribe of the Jumna
banks, about 10,000; those called Chundels, with Rajas Sunhyse
Pershud and Gobeer Singh, about 5,000. With the consent of Gobear
Singh, Doorga Pershad Sechundi was told to come in with a body of
Thakoors, but he came in witha different race of men, and is encamped
opposite to the Savada-ki-kothee. Rawut Rundheer Singh has come
with nearly 5,000 men, and the force of Palewallahs consists of about
800 men. The Rana of Sookhrung and the Rao of Pisjee and others,
with about 10,000 men, have come in, but it is impossible to give
details of all. I am recording all I could ascertain.

The ringleaders of pergunnah Derapoor, with Dunoo Singh, of the
Gore tribe, are .—Mokund Singh Rao, Chutra Singh, of mouza Jein,
Bulla Singh, Nurput Singh, Dunao Singh, of mouza Tonah, Lal
Singh, Chungs Singh, and Mojan Singh.

The ringleaders of monza Tikbun were Chutter Singh, Munee
BRam, and Gujraj Singh.

Those of mouza Gurhee Muberna were Bhowany Singh, Biswul
8Singh, Sobba Singh, and Desraj.

Those of mouza Soogna were Eesree Singh, Layeq Singh, Hookum
Singh, Nehun Singh and Putwarry.

Those of Dureygaon were Lochun Singh, Mukna Singh, Mudey
Siogh, Bhao Singh, Bhowani Singh, and Lochun Gutout.

Those of mouza Shahpoor were Lall Singh, Dhurum Singh,
Dungul Singh, Mokund Singh, Chutter Singh, Pershad Singh, Bhoop
Singh and Mungle Dhung, and Deo Pershad, Brahmin.

Those of mouza Nasir Khera were Zulim Singh, Muni Singh,
and Jugut Singh,

Those of mouza Khanpoor were Kunher Singh and Manuck
Singh, ringleaders of the budmashes who came with a large force,
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Those of Mungulpoor Proper were Rana OQomrao Singh, who
eanses it to be proclaimed, by beat of drum on the part of the Nana,
that nobody is to utter the word * Englishman * and whoever does 50
will be punished. His foreo consisted of about 5,000, and Bekurma
Singh was with them,

Those of Sestaposr were Indur Siagh, Munnoo Buksh Singh,
Ram Buksh, Kulloo Singh, Gokul Smgh, Dhurum Siogh, and Dhoukul
Singh,

Those of monza Jugna were Bukha Singh, Suda Sookh, Luchmun
Singh, Gunesh Singh, Pertaub Singh, Ram Buksh, Murwun Singh,
Uchroo Singh, and Domur Singh,

Those of Anuntpoor wers Pohup Singh, Hindos Singh, Gunga
Singh, Maun Singh, Chundun Singh, Aman Singh, Ram Buksh, Mohur
Singh, and Sanwu] Singh,

Those of Gurhee Dheerujinun were Chundan Singh, Lall Singh,

Those of mouza Rukaroopoor was Oomrao Singh; Rawut Ram
Buksh is accompanied by the fighting men of 24 villages, and Chutta-
wal is with him,

Those of mouga Derapoor were Munchur Singh, Mudari Singh,
and Newal Singh, with o body of men,

Those of monza Sotmura were Doulut Singh, and his body of men,

Those of mouza Judeespoor were Debes Singh, Burjoree Singh,
aud Siwnee Singh, son of Lal| Singh,

Those of Sudramon wers Hera Singh, and Dupag Singh,

Those of mouza Nyyyl Khampoor were Oomrog Singh, Hoolas
Singh, Rusal Singh, Jye Singh, and Gujraj Singh, The force with
these leaders are of the Goor Thakogr tribe, and the budmnshes of
pergunah Bithoor, who have come in with Raja Luti Pershad, were in

the habit of committing outrages in the territories of the British before
the mutiny,




Those of mouza Dolacka were Chundun Singh,

Those of mouza Dulseppoor were Pem Singh.

Those of mouza Mohunpoor were Jowahir Singh.

Those of mouza Malamow werz Duchmun Singh.

Those of monza Bukothia were Annrda Singh, &,

The zemindars of Kukoond were present.

The Soolawalla zemindars, Jowahi Singh, Oomrao Singh, and others,
were present.

The lenders of mouza Dundoor were Chedee Singh, Gungn Pershad
Beharse, and Movuddi Rao.

These men are in great force, and they are the ringleaders of those
budmashes. The Chowhan tribes are notorious for this.  Allusion has
been made to them elsewhere. The prineipal names, as far as my

servant could discover them, are now put down as leaders, viz, Eesrea
Singh, commandant of Kutehtee ; Sulmur Singh, Gujnere, Sheo Buksh

Singh, and Gunesh Singh, and others, leaders of the rebels.

The leaders of mouza Loharee waere Deenaput and Bukhtawur
Singh.

Those of mouza Meinthoo were Scorjoo Singh.

Those of mouza Mudda-ki-poorwa were Jeorakhun Singh and
Oomrao Singh.

Those of mouza Gujnere were Gunga Singh and Kunnes Puatwary,

Those of monza Soorujpoor were Dureas Singh, Makhun Singh,
and Thakoor Deen,

Those of Reethowli were Jugut Singh and Sanwal Singh.

Those of mouza Bhutiana, noted for budmashes, were Gunga Khan
and Goolab Khan, who were converted from Hindooism to Islamism,

Those of monza Nunavan, pergunnah  Ukberpoor, were Motee

- Singh, Phooloo Singh, Guneshi Singh, and others of mouza Pinsee.

Those of Googoomow were Ujur Singh and Ukber Singh.

Those of monza Reprabee were Ramdeen, Jeorakhun Singh, and
Khurgoo Singh,

These of mouza Jeoniun were Ukber Singh and Tiloke Singh,

Those of mouza Puttra were Becha Singh and others,

Those of monza Suronnkhers ware Jeoravan Lall Putwarry, J Yt
Singh and Laloo, Brahmin, and Lall Singh.

Those of mouza Bunoor were Goman Singh and Gyadeen and
others, who are all very turbulent and rebellious, and l.':p to great
fraud.
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Tha 23vd June, Tuesday (Budruka)—News was bronght to me
that tlic lady alloded to is the sister-in-law of Mr. Jacobi, the wateh-
maker; and that the rebels are parleying with her, and they declare
thut, if she is not successful in having the entrenchment evaeuated in
four days, they will make a great attack and takeit. In the second para-
graph of the letter it is stated that the lady in question represented to
Kalka Pershad, moonshi of Mr. Edward Greenway, that she had a great
many watches and other property in a box lying in the house of Dewan
Fatteh Chund, resident of Goal Tolah, and begged the moonshi to go
and fetch it.  But the moonshi said that he could not do o, The fight-
ing continues as usual. The Europeans are much inconvenienced for
want of food and water. They can get no news from any quarter by
any way, while the rebels are amply provided with everything. At 7in
the evening, my servant Kesho brought the inrelligencs that Azee.
moollah, Shah Ali, and the others had a conference with the lady
alluded to, and everything is arranged, that most probably the fighting
will cease to-morrow, and that the lady will herself go forward and
effect the compromise,

The 24th June, Wednesday (Budrula).—This evening, at 7
o'clock, intelligence was brought by my servant Narain that the sister-
in-law of Mr. Jacobi has gone into the entrenchment with a m
from the Nana, in a dooly, while the bearers with the doaly remained
without the entrenchment, that the firing from the entrenchment ceased
immedintely on her entering it, and that she came out after g great
length of time. At the Subada-ki-kotee, where the tents are pitehed,
Shah Ally, Jwala Pershad and Azeemoollah went and informed the
wicked Nana of her arrival. She then went into the tent. What con-
sultations passed there I have not been able to learn, but respectable
people say that it is all & stratagem, = To-day, Khodayar Khan, daroga
of sbkari, intimidated the abkari contractors and made them pay
Rs. 5,000 into the Nana’s treasury, Another person of dark complexion
(he might have beén a Christian) came out of the entrénchiment to«day,
but he was placed in confinement,

The 25tk June, Thursday ( Budruka)—Neows was bronght me at
64 this evening that Jwala Pershad, brigadier, and Azeemoollah went
into the entrenchment to-day with the lady in question; that
Azeemoolla nsed to interpret for Jwala Pershad during the conversation
that passed between the latter and General Wheelor, It was agresd
upon by both parties that thers should be no treachery on either side,

-
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When this was finally ratified, the Nana, budmash, directed Holas Singh,
kotwal, to bring up boats without delay and to form thateh roofs over
them. Iheard thata perwanah was likewise issued to Luchmun, the ghat
manjee, and that one Buddhoo, choudhri, obtained boats from the
bridge contractor, as the latter wae also a party to the outbreak. They
also took away private boats of beoparees that lay along the shore.
Some of them were fitted up with thatch roofs, and others have not
yet been so fitted wp. It is said that the Europears will leave the
entrenchment on Saturday. The kotwal has given strict orders to the
commissariat ghat manjee to lay down a firm flooring on each boat,
and he has agreed to do so.

The 26th June, Friday (Budruka).—My servant, Sham Singh,
brought me a letter to-day, I learn therefrom that'the boats have
been constructed with the greatest expedition, and that a private
order has been issued to Jwala Pershad, Tantin Topee, Azeemoollah,
Bhadhuk Dharee, Baba Bhut, Bala Sahib, Shah Ally, and Ehmud
Ali Khan, vakeel, to arrange for the great Chowhan zemindars,
and Palewala, Doorypershad of Sechendi, and Sunteypershad of
Sheorajpoor, and the zemindars of Nar and Shikhrunj and others,
should be in attendance at the Suntey Choora Ghat: at the same time
an order was addressed to Holas Singh, kotwal, to explain to the bridge
contractor and ghat manjee to settle with the boatmen, that the boat-
men must set the boats on fire upon a signal from them, and jump
off and swim to shore, the instant the Europeans get into the boats,
Kalkapershad, karinda, went to Mr. Edward Greenway in the day,
when Mr. Greenway told him to get alonn of Rs. $00 from Sheopershad
or Futtoo Mull,as he also wished to get a boat. The said karinda had
somehow became nware of the treachery that was brewing, and werned
Mr. Greenway that he had learnt that the enemy intended to deal
treacherously with them. The troopers of the rissala remonstrated
with the Nana, and observed that it was more honourable to fight the
Earopeans openly, and they did not approve of the Nana’s schema,
On this the Nana assured them that they had nothing to fear, as age
cording to his creed it was quite allowable to take false oaths at such
Junetures, and that, when the object was to annihilate an enemy, he
would not hesitate to take an ocath on burning oil, or to take oath on
the Ganges, or adopt any one of a hundred other artifices. Then the
sowars agreed to do as he bid them, and I received intelligence that
the Europeans were to get into the boats to-morrow morning. The
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treasury and artillery are to be eatrusted to the Nana's own servants
for to-night.

Tue 27th June, Saturday (Budruka).—At nine or half-past 8 in
the moruing, I heard the repurt of cannon, and immediately despatched
my servant Sham Singh to the ghut for news, and to learn why guns
were being fired. At about noon, more or less, he returned and
reported that the people who came to bathe in the Ganges informed
him that the entrenchment had been taken by the rebels, and the
corpses of the Europeans were floating down the river; the villagers
exclaim in their village dialect that the Ganges has turned crimson,
and it is impossible to look upon ik, The terror and alarm that now
seized me baffles description. It seems sacrilage to take any sort of
food or drink, I can think of nothing but walking about from side
to sde in terror. Shortly after, my servant Kesho brought certain
intelligence that the property of the Europeans was taken into the
boats ut 7 in the morning to-duy, and the loading continued till 54
o'elock, when the gentlemen and ladies, and all the wounded and sick,
proceeded towards the ghat, Just then Ally Shah, & trooper of the 3rd
Troop, Znd Irregnlar Cavalry, seized the wife or davghter of the Colonel
of Lambourne’s regiment or of some other European, and ran off with
her; on which the Nana ordered Jwala Pershad to make the trooper
give her up, and she was given up accordingly, As the Europeans
proceeded on toward the ghat, the sepoys captured and detained the
native servants that accompunied them, the Europeans resisted, and a
great distnrbance was the consequerce. Some sepoys with londed mus.
kets were concealed behind the ghat. The ladies and gentlemen then
eommenced getling into the boats. Some of them had actually got in,
and others were in the act of getticg in, when the Bala gave the order
to Jwala Pershad, anid the latter made a signal to the proprietor of the
bontmen. At this signal the bontwien set fire to the boats and jumped
down and ran away, Then musketry and cannonading commenced in
earnest. The Europeans, however, maonged to induce the boatmen of
the boat which contained the General and other gentlemen and ladies,
with promise of high reward, to unfasten the boat and push down the
stream. That boat floated down a short distance, when it was struck
by a round shot from the enemy’s puns, The boat reeled, and some of
the gentlemen in it took fright and Jumped into the river, and some of
the ladies did the same. One of the troopers ran away with the General's
daughter. The boat, however, drifted down. The battery of the
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rebels was located in the Kuttra. The resiment that originally came
from Sooltanpoor, and eneamped at Ounam, were firingy on the boat
from the other side. They also fired upon those Europeans who had
Jumped off the boat. Some of the ladies were killud with the gentle=
men on that occasion, The others were all taken prisoners, the boat
that drifted down was pursued by other boats, containing armed rebels,
while sowars went along the banks on the same pursuit. Thesa facts
are mentioned even by the villagers. Another item of correct intellie
gence brought by a resident of Budruka, who saw everything with his
own eyes on the other side of the river, is that all the rebel zemindars
and plunderers that were present Joined in the plunder of the arms, &,
and property of the Europeans also, that the sowars ran away with
some of the ladies, but the Nana compelled them to give the ladies up,
and had the ladics, &c., confined. On hearing this, I gave my servant
Mudaree two rupees, and again sent him to Joorah for news, The man
promised to bring back news with the utmost speed.  When this man
had gone, the daring speechss of the villagers frightened me out of my
wits, and I saw no hope of saving the lives of my wife and children.
My servant returned when it was near morning, and reported that some
of the gentlemen who escaped had concealed themselves in  the
Kattra, but Huttey Singh and Chundey Singh and a number of rebels
captured them and conducted them to the Nana, These were killed at
5 P.M, to-day; also that a great many zemindars had plundered the
property of the Europeans, and Rawut Rundheer Singh had secured a -
valuable double-barrelled gun and an English dog, and Suntey Pershad
had also plundered goods, but Raja Doorga Pershad had kept aloof
from so doing; also that the sowars of the 2nd Irregular Cavalry had
fired on the Europeans under the orders of General Teeka Singh, and
the sepoys of Lambourne’s, Coston’s, and Gillis's regiments had done
the same; also that Bhowani Singh, Gotum, Palee, Dureao Singh of
mouzah Nar, and the zemindars of Sekhrunj, had also used their wea-
pons against the Europeans ; alsa that the Europeans, who had Jumped
off the boats and were swimming down, bad been all killed by round
shot fired from both banks of the Ganges, One of these Europeans had
floated down to the bank, and was standing behind a boat with uplifted
hands, and was looking about with intent to conceal himself in the
drain of a bridge, when a boatman, by the name of Kullooa, struck him
a blow with a club on the temple, which knocked him down. Another
boatman, that was with Kullooa, then struck him a second blow on the
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head, which split his skull in two and he died, and then they threw
his corpse into the river. Colonel Abbott, the Colonel of the 2nd
Irregular Cavalry, who had been wounded, was left behind with his
wife in the entrenchment, but they were both murdered by the
hands of some seven or eight sepoys. The letter afterwards states
that it was not Colonel Abbatt but Colonel Baker, but I cannot be
certain which of the two it was. I shall try and record the reasons
which led to the massacre of the Europeans, after I have made further
enquiries,

The 25th June, Sunday (Budruka).—1It rained last night. One
of the gentlemen, an officer of the Grenadier Company, with a bit of
sackeloth tied round his waist, aud with the mark of a ring fresh on his
finger, was proceeding stealthily in one of the ravines of this village,
bound for Lucknow. He was discoverad by Pasees, and the zemindars
of mouza Kurondra, which adjoins Budruka, brought him away, They
asked him many questions, but he could only answer in English and
uttered that he was bound for Luckuow, Some of the spectators went
and gave information of this at Bunuthur, two miles away, when Sheo
Churn, Aheer, servant of Ambika Pershad, with the retainers of Rutti
Singh and Chundi Singh, came up. Then there was a great crowd,
and a dispute took place with the Kurondra people.  The latter could
not give him up, declaring that they would eonduct him to Lucknow.
On this Sheo Churn threatened to go over the water and inform the
Nana, who would send down guns imsfanter. Just then armed men,

- belonging to Chundi Singh and Huttey Singh and Kalka, qanoongoe,
came down. The Kurondra people were few in number: so they sould
do nothing. If Muttra Pershad Dobey and Ambika Pershad, his
nephew, had exerted themselves, they conld easily have saved that
gentleman, as Huttey Singh and Chundi Singh are entirely under
their control: that European was so hungry that he ate up the sugar
given to him by the zemindars with both his hands, At last I was told
that the men belonging to Huttey Singh, Chundi Siogh, and Kalka
qancongoe, took him away, and, having put two rupees into his hand, sent
him with some of the men to the Napa, My men say they saw this
with their own eyes. 1 then seut off two men, whom I paid, to Allaha-
bud, giving them a Hindi letter to take to the swhib-log, thinking
that, if he got there safe, the lives of the Europeans here might be
saved, with their wives and children, and my own life also. For I saw
no chance of saving my life. All the above oceurred before 8 A

7 1
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In the evening my servant brought news from Cawnpore to the effect
that the boat containing Europeans which had floated down had been
captured by Sadho Singh, jemadar of the 2nd Irregular Cavalry, and
sowars aided by Hushmut Ally, thanadar of Sirsour, and the cavalry
regiment of Mr. Stacey of Bareilly, and that the prisoners were all
killed, all but one lady and gentleman. The lady eaught hold of her
husband and had a child of about a year old with her, and, when the
Nana budmash directed her to leave her husband, she refused to do so,
saying that she would go wherever her husband went. At Jast the
Nana ordered him to be shot, and he was shot accordingly, while a
sowar cut down the luly with his sword, and also killed the child
There was o zemindar present there, whose name I doo’t know, 1 was
alsp informed that Meina Baee and Sutie Baee, the widows of Bajee
BRano, directed Raveed, budmash, to carry o message from them to
the Nana without delay, that he had been guilty of great treachery
after taking his cath, and that, if he again murdered any ladies and
children, they and their children wonld assuredly throw themselves out
of their house and die. These widows greatly shamed the Nana, and
would not eat or drink for a considerable period. Tt is possible that
their intercession may save these men their lives.

The 29th June 1857, Monday [Bmfru.{u'b.-—-Tu—dﬂy my servant
retirned with news at 4 P, and stated that the gentleman, who some
time ago sccompanied the men of Kalka Pershad, qanoongoe, over the
water, was conducted before thebudmash Nana. He told those very
people Lo kill him. They replied, * Put weapons into his hand and let
him strike us, and then we will strike in return, but we shall not strike
him in his present condition.” At last one of the sowars of the 2nd
Cavalry made a cut, which wounded the European on the arm ; then the
executioners laid on-with their swordsaud he was despatched. Salutes
in honour of the Nana were fired from every regiment of infantry and
artillery without ceasing. It is reported that the Napa wil] proceed to
Bithoor to-night, and to-morrow, I hear, the ceremony of installing him
on the guddee (throne) will take place, and that he has promised to
reward the troops with money and gold bangles when he returns from
Bithoor,

The 30th June, Tueaday ( Budruka)—At 9 A, distant reports
of cannon were heard towards the west. At 4 P my servant came
in and reported that the Nana had taken his seat on the throne at
Bithoor, and that the sacred tiluk was affixed on his forehead and
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presents offered to him. Orders were issued from the cuteherry of
Baba Bhut to all tehseeldars to realize the revenne and search the
houses of parties suspected of concealing the property of Europeans and
to bring forward such property when discovered Arrangements are
being made for the distribution of money rewards aud gold bangles to
the sepoys. The same man added that he had himself been to Bithoor
and observed that all the great zemindars, 1, ., Santey Pershad and others,
were present at the installation, The faithless Shah Ally has received
full anthority to make the intizam of the place, and he has sent news-
writers out in all directions. Moonshi Chundi Pershad has been created
head of the Nana's immediate attendants, Dewan Rao is the super-
intendent of the magazine, Sheo Narain is darogah of the Jail.
Sheo Naruin, 2nd, is the choudhri of artillery.  Mahomed Ufzool Khan
15 darogah of the commissarint. Jwala Pershad’s omlah is Mahomed
Hussun, I shall give details of the new officers of state hereafter,
Baba Bhut, Azeemoollah, Shah Ally, Narain Mirt, Jwala Pershad,
Tantia Topee, Holas Singh kotwal, and Ehmud Ally Khan, vakeel,
were appointed for the settlement of public affairs. 1 was nformed by
the villagers that two of the gentlemen who drifted down the stream
arrived at Byswarrah alive, and that Raja Durbye Singh kept them in
Murarmow.

The 1st July 1857, Wednesday (Budruka).—1I received intelli-
gence to-day that Ehmud Ally Mirdhan has been made tehseeldar of
Ukburpore, and that all the Government money that had been kept
by was called for; also that Azeem Beg, son of Kulloo Beg, timber
merchant, Kureem Ally, duftury of the late collectorate, and his
brother and son-in-law, were appointed record-keepers in the cutcherry
of Baba Bhut; also that Kuoliun, resident of Goaltolah, and son of
Dooudey Khan, who was oune of the magistrate’s orderlies, is now a
Jemadar in the Nana's service ; also that Baba Bhut has detained Bilas,
sherishtadar of the collsctor's office, in his cuteherry, and this man waits
upon Jwala Pershad likewise, Apadhik Dhari has besn ordered to take
& strong force and post himself in & good position, so ag te prevant
enemies entering from the west, The bazar in the city is being
thrown open by force,

' The 2nd July, Th wreday (Budrula) —News was brought to me
that the sepoys had been purchasing ushurfees in the bazar, at 22, 23
and even Rs. 24 ench Apadhik Dhari has taken a regiment of infan-
try and one of cavalry with him and gone to Sheorajpoor and Bithoor.

Ik V'8
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Gunga Pershad, senior, has been sent for, throngh the kotwal, . Muharaj
Buksh, tehseeldar, has sent in treasure. The rebels have assembled nt
the house of Ram Lall, Deputy Collector, ostensibly for distribution of
pay, and abstracts of salaries are being prepared, The sepoys are
clamorous for their rewards. A quautity of gold has been sent into the
magazine to be made into bangles. It is said that pay is about to be
distributed to the troops, The Nana promised that he would be away
at Bithoor only one day, but he has not returned yet. The sepoys are
very much displeased. 1f the Nana does not return, they will place the
Nunney Nawab on the throne. The regiment which came from
Sooltanpoor and encamped at Ounam has also gone over to the other
side of the Ganges.

The 3rd July, Friday (Budruka),—Of the two men whom I
sent off (to Allahabad) to inform the sahib-log of these tragedies, one
was caught. It is fortunate I did not put my signature to the Hind;
letter, which the man carried. The other ran away and came back to
me with the intelligence that his comrade had been captured at the
Mooftee-ka-poorwa, but he had been told that the sahib-log will soon
come up here, that some Europeans with Madras troops had come as
far as Allahabad, which news was given to him by a traveller at
Moorutgunge, 1 then sent forward a goinda with orders to inform me
of the arrival of British troops as soon as they reached Seinee. There
154 great noise and uproar in this village to-day to the effect that rebel
troops are about to proceed to Lucknow also. At4 par a messengey
brought me the news that distribution of pay had commenced, and
that the rebel troops were quarrelling about the rewnrds, and also that
General Teeka Singh, the budmash, accompanied by troopers of the 2nd
Cavalry, would certainly go and bring away the Nana from Bithoor.
Ehmud Ally Khan the vakeel is preparing to proceed to Lucknow to
discuss the affairs of that provincs, The following are the names of
the former and present news-writers that were appointed, wiz, for
Poorwa, Moofti Rampershad. For Goozurbundi Mata, Bagesur Soon-
dur. For Dilmon, Risal Singh. For Kunouj, Julal-ooddeen, doctor,
For Sursan Ghat, Lalljee Suhai. For Humeerpore, Ehmud Hoossein,
For Goozurjana, Morad Khan. For Jajamow, Mahomed Syud, superin-
tendent. For Sirsia Ghat, Gunga Jalee Mirt. In Bithoor, Baboo
Singh. For Futtehpore Huswa, Soornj Buksh. For Ouria, Heera Lal,
For Calpee, Bisharut-oollah. For Rolapoor, Oudut Narin. Fop
Goorsuhaigunge, Ehmud Ally, For Rusoolabad, Ameer-oolslah, Fgp
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Goozar Chillatara, Janke Suhoy. For Goozur Permut, Nyaz Mahomed.
For Goozur Bithoor, Hukeem Amannt-oollah, It is also reported that
the rebels are making arrangements to go and fight the British at
Allahabad, and that earriage and supplies for the troops are being got
ready.

The 4th July, Saturday (Budruka)—XNews was received to-day
that Kalka, qanoongoe, had issned orders, by direction of the Nana, that
all plundered buggies and carriages and arms, and the balances of
Government revenue, are to be delivered up immediately, Baboo Ram
Buksh is preparing to wait upon the Nana. News has come in from
Cawnpoor that all the ringleaders of the Chowhan Goor and other
tribes have been summoned to Bithoor ; also that camel-sowars have
been sent off to bring news of what is going on eastward, The rebel
force, too, appears dissatisfied to-day, The sepoys complain that the
Nauna has taken away all their treasure and gone and quartered himself
at Bithoor, and they will not suffer such treatment, but will make him
feel the consequences, The letter containing the above news furthar
states that some days ago Sheo Pershad, son of Thetee Mull, was sent
for (by the Nana), and had a conversation with him, and he ordered
them to construct waterproof coats. The people of the city say that he
has property belonging to Europeans concealed in his house, and he was
sent for to receive a reprimand for it, There is a great hurry about the
preparation of the tents and waterproof greatcoats ; more magazing
carts have been sent to Bithoor. Tt hasbeen resolved to cut off the noses
and ears of those who were imprisoned at Bithoor. The Nana has pre-
sented robes of honour to his ministers and connsellors, Some of my men
are willing to go in clandestinely, and bring away news, but they say they
cannot get admittance into all the cutcherries, as they are very numerous.
The tehseeldar of Sheorajpoor and Ghatumpoor has not waited on the
Nana, I heard to-day that two sowars (I think their names are Ally
Shah and Zamin Ally Khan, of Rampoor, or they may not be) carried
off the Nunney Nawab and the Begum, but they were captured at the
bridge. The meaning of this seems to have been that these were the
same sowars who had instigated the Mahomedan troopers to make the
Nunney Nawab the ruler of the country. 1t was for this that General
Teeka Singh had them apprehended,

The 6th July, Sunday (Budruka)—Intelligence of Cawnpoor
events reached me at 5 pu. to-day, Baba Bhut carries on the work
of his cutcherry as usual. Th Nana is still at Bithoor. Teeka Singh,
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Lambourne regiment have gone to Bithoor to feteh the Nana, Azeems

- oollah, Jwala Pershad and Baba Bhut ealled at the kotwali and stated -

that they were about to take the ‘management of the city into theig
s bt

The 6th July, Monday (Budruka) —The letter received to-day
simply states that there is a good deal of uneasiness to-day among the
sepoys. It contains nothing new save that the preparations for pro-
ceeding to Allahabad are irrevocable,

The 7th July, Tuesday (Budruka).—The first messenger re-
turned to-day, and reported that he became alarmed, and returned
from Moorutgunge, and he had no paper by him; that he is positive
that the sahib-log will quickly come to this place. T began to suspect
that this man had probably come back without proceeding far. I then
gave Gunga, lodha, 5 rupees as wages, and sent him on, He promised
to bring certain news in three days, My servant brought a letter from
Cawnpoor in the evening. Tt states that there is a great commotion
to-day in the rebel army, and the sepoys are abusing the Nana, and
complaining of his having taken away the treasure and magazine, and
quartered himself at Bithoor. They declare that, if the Nana does not
come back to-day, they will release the Nunny Nuwab from confine-
ment, and place him on the gaddee. The rebel force further declnres
that their enemy (the Pritish) is about to come up, and it is n
togo up to Bithoor, and bring the Nana away by force, Bad news
was received by the rebels from Lucknow, The Lucknow people say
that these robels must not think of going over into their territory, and
they must not suppose that they can nct in Lucknow as they bave
done at Cawnpoor, for they (the Lucknow people) will make their own

- arrangements, and the Cawnpoor troops have nothing to get by going
‘over to Lucknow. Moonna Lall Khuthri, Sookhnundun and others

have been imprisoned for having plundered and carried off the treasure

‘of the barrack master's department. They have been ealled upon to
refund it,

The 8th July, Wednesday (Budruka).—My servant brought news
this evening at & quarter-past 6 that the goinda had come in and re-
ported that Europeans and Seikhs and artillery had left Allahabad,
and would come in shortly, On hearing this, two camel sowars and
eouriers have been sent off to get correct news, The rebels are in
great alarm. Baba Bhut, Jwala Pershad, and Azeemcollah are doing
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their best to get ready the magazine, carriage, and supplies. Men
have been sent on post-haste to Bithoor. Baba Bhut and Azeemoollah
are in the city, arranging for its internal economy. I also learn that
the Nana has cruel intentions towards the ladies and gentlemen that
are still in confinement, I have therofore sent off Nungooa, koormi,
and Dya Ram, guduria, with a Nagree letter, to -go and inform the
Europeans at Allahabad in the hope that the British force may arrive
here in sufficient time to save the lives of the unfortunate Europeans
alluded to,

The 9th July, Thursday (Budruka).—To-day people coming
from Allahabad arrived in this village, They say that the Europeans
who are coming to Cawnpoor have started from the fort. The Byswarre
people who passed this way were mentioning that some men of this ter-
ritory have gone to the spot opposite to the Kaley Kankur, for the sake
of “bundobust,” and these stated that the Europeans are coming up.
My servant did not come from Cawnpoor to-day. I suspect that they
ara very particular at the ghats whom they allow to cross. I learnt
from a beopari that Moonna Lall and the other prisoners were released
on the security of Sheo Pershad.

The 10th July, Friday (Bud ruka).—My servant came from
Cawnpoor and stated that the ghat officers examine all travellers closely
to see if they carry lotters on their persons; so he was obliged to throw
away his letter, but added that he had certain news that the Nana had
returnied to the city and the camel-sowar had returned and reported
thet Europeans were coming ap, and had reached Moorutgunge ; also
that they were bringing up the telegraph wire with them, and would
soon reach Seinee ; also that the Europeans hang people as they come
along, and they have Europeans, Seikhs, and artillery with them. On
hearing this the rebels are making immense efforts to procure supplies
and other necessaries. All sorts of carts, hackeries, men and labourers
of the city and other parts are being impressed, and all the ringleaders
of the zemindars have been summoned to Cawnpoor,

The 11th July, Saturday (Budruka).—Gunga, lodha, returned
to-day. Iasked him how he came back contrary to his engagement. He
replied that the ghat officers would not let him cross over. But he added
that he had seen the British force outside of Moorutgunge with his own
eyes, and that the force would reach Seinoe immediately, On hearing
this good news I felt as if life had been restored to me, I prayed that the
Just God would bring up the British force in time to suve the gentlemen,
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ladies and children, who were in confinement, from being murdered. At
2 pa. my other servant returned and reported that the ghat officers
searched travellers very minutely. Socarcely one was allowed to cross
over, but he contrived to get into the boats with the zemindars, and ecome
over, Hesays the Nana is present in the city, and the rebels are
preparing to march out ; that he was told that Buddree Nath, commissariat
contractor, was sent for one day by the Nana and told to provide supplies,
but he replied that he no longer did that work, and could not make the
tecessary arrangements ; also that the rebel army marched out, bound
for Futtehepore, in his presence ; that Bala and Brigadier Jwala Pershad,
and other counsellers, &c., must have gone with them, as they were all
ready to march. - T, therefore, sent out a messenger to bring news, and
ascertain the names of the particular persons belonging to the Nana's
party who had accompanied the rebels, and of the arrival of the
Europeans at the Kotee. I also told him to tell the people of my house
that I would leave Budruka to-day, and would enter Cawnpoor with the
British force. The same man afterwards informed me that Gungoo
Gobind, Bam Bhut, Futtoo Mull, and Nundun Mull, the gomashta of
Besehur Nath Chund, the banker, had been apprehended, and they are
called upon to deliver the monies and accounts of the sakib-log, which
are in their keeping.

The 12th July, Sunday (Budruka).—To-day there is a widely-
cireulated report in Budruka and Hurha that the British force has
arrived at Seinee ; some say it has reached the Ganges, and that it has
captured a fortress belonging to the rebels, and plundered the village,
and hanged several of the villagers, within whose boundaries pieces of
the telegraph wire were found. Some of the villagers have returned
from the city : they state that a dark-complexioned man has been re-
leased by orders issued from Baba Bhut's cutcherry ; it is the same man
who escaped from the entrenchment and was put in prison.

The 13th July, Monday (Budruka)—To-day 1 determined to
leave this place, but the villagers told me that they had seen the rebel
troops encamped along the road-side with their own eyes. Some of
the rebels say the Nana is sure to be victorious, but others propese to go
to their homes, and return to the fight after leaving their treasure with
their families, as they cannot say what will turn up. I am told that
men belonging to Baboo Ram Buksh and Kalka, budmash, have also
gone out to oppose the British, and that Kalka has made arrangements
to defend himself ut Hurha ; also that the retainers of Huttey Singh
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and Chundi Singh have crossed over, the ghat being in their charge,
They say that an immense army of the rebels have gone out to oppose
the British, and that, ns the British force cannot be a large one, they
will soon be annihilated. But I am convinced that the British will
soon mnke their way in. Unfortunately my servant has not come back,
and I am unable to record the news of Cawnpoaor.

The tdth July, T'wesday (Budruka)—My servant came in this
evening; he reports that the rebels were defeated at Futtehpore, and
that the British force is advancing. 1t is very probable that it will
reach Suktiapore to-morrow. The rebels have sent for more troops,
Those who bave come from the defeated party declare that the sepoys
and sgwars are escaping in all directions to save their lives, and that
those who possessed plundered property kept it on one side, while all
are dispirited and panic-striken. The rebels have been asking the
three gentlemen that are now in confinement what they have to say
with reference to their former promise to have Allahabad evacusted ;
they could make no reply. On hearing this news, I trembled greatly
for the fate of those gentlemen, fenring lest the buduwash Nana might
be murdering those ladies, gentlemen and children. T also learnt that
severnl couriers were apprehended and taken before the Nana, and
that they are to be put in death. I am in great dread lest my ser-
vants should have been apprehended with them. I hear that Abdoor
Rahman Khan, the Principal Sudder Ameen, obtained s rahdaree
purwanuh from the Nana, and has left Cawnpoor. I have ascertained
that the following persons from among the Nana's immediate attend-
ants accompanied the rebel troops, viz :— 1, Sewa Ram Pant-patune
gir; 2, Gunput Rai Dhundhere ; 8, Bamun goklee ; 4, Nana Purjoree;
5, Gopal Rai khuthri; 6, Konchoo Puntsaltree; 7, Madho Ruu,
Roklee ; 8, Baba Arkut, Purohit; 9, Bamun Rai, lumboo ; 10, Sunkur
Bhut, Tublung; 11, Punopuruns, Jaloungir; 12, Gopal Rai, pundit ;
13, Tautin Topee ; 14, Bamun Rao, lumboo; 15, Busunt Topee ; 186,
Gohind Punt, Sutkur: 17, Bulwunt Rag, Jog; 18, Sham Rao,
Silehdar; 19, Kesho Blut ; 20, Sookram Khuthri; 21, Rama Malagir;
22, Dhookul Singh, jemadar ; 23, Gobind Hothaee ; 24, Ram Narain,
Khas-burdar ; 25, Suda Sheo Puut, Patomgir ; 26, Koshaba, gokles ;
27, Gobind Singh, oustee ; 28, Eso, malee ; 20, Sookha Ram Set, fotedar ;
0. Gaon, hoojra ; 81, Sheo Ram, wirt ; 32, Ramehund Patpurdhun; 33,
Quadur Meen, sowar; 34, Doorgajes, pati; 85, Ramjee, choundi ; i,
Roomanjee, Kheree; 37, Raghoo, chure burdar; 38, Nauha, goklee;
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=« 39 Narain Bhavee; 40, Namin Motee; 41, Ukbur Singh, choudhri:

42, Bamun Rao, Putpurdhun ; 43, Rughoonath, Jogleegir ; 44, Rumoon,
aheer bilung ; 45, Hunovunta, bavgir ; 46, Mastirun Nora, sowar ; 47,
Jawnhi Singh, thakoor ; 48, Eesoopati, jirga ; 49, Baboo Chowhan,
hoojra ; 50, Bhowani, aheer bilung; 51, Lalla Singh ; 52, Krishna, naick
of artillery ; 53, Duriao Singh ; 54, Quasim Khan, balgeer ; 55, Hookum
Singh, sepoy; 56, Peer Khan, gunner; 57, Noor Khan, standard-bearer;
58, Thomajee, jugtaub; 59, Nuthoo, &c, sowar; 60, Madhopoori,
gooshaeen; 61, Sirdar Singh, jemadar ; 62, Babjee, mungie; 63, Muharoo,
kootki ; 64, Raman, furrash ; 65, Rambhoo, mirt ; 66, Ramchund Set,
Jjalongir ; @7, Gopal Rao, sooruj bunsi ; 68, Gobind Rao, sooruj bussi ;
69, Goohee, thathee ; 70, Goonneee, hoojra of the jail ; 71, Nuthoo,
sedhnee ; 72, Pandojee, seindhee ; 73, Narain, hoojra ; 74, Pandhajes,
sapree ; 75, Gholam Hossein, sepoy ; 76, Sheikhjee, sowar ; 77, Tokaram
dhoomar ; 78, Lallpoory, goshaeen ; 78, Nurso, seeindhee ; 80, Abla,
joleegir ; 81, Muhadeo, babhut ; 82, Morco Punt, dhoree; S8,
Krishn Rao, nufree; 84, Abhadhik, dharee ; 85, Narnin, mirt ; 86,
Ramoo Tantia ; 87, Gunga Dhur Tantia ; 88, Oudgir ; 89, Baboo Datar;
90, Huree, chota ; 91, Huree, senior, pehlwan; 92, Kunnoo, son of
Khoobi ; 93, Krislina, mirt ; 94, Tantin Topee ; 95, Hurreepugt Bhao ;
86, Hureepunt Bhuo ; 97, Sree Newas Rao; 98, Apa Lolees ; 919,
Krishna Roao; 100, Anund Rao, son-in=law of Oudgir; 101, Lall Singh,
havildar; 102, Bhaskur, goklee ; 103, Bamun Joshee : 104, Muhadge,
bhatuk; 105, Rumnoo, bhatuk; 106, Sookha Ram, sussyea ; 107,
Chestee Singh, choudhri ; 108, Mitee Singh, chondhri ; 109, Kishori
Singh, choudhri of the zemindar of Bithoor ; 110, Bala Joshee; 111,
Tantin Pont; 112, Ragho Punt; 113, Goshaba Bhuranigir; 114,
Mahomed Isbaq; 115, Ehmudoolluh, tehseeldar: 116, Baboo Singh,
zemindar; 117, Deep Singh, pehlwan ; 118, Doulut Golah Indur; 119,
Bukht Singh ; 120, Khooshal Singh ; 121, Roshum Singh ; 122, Boodh
Singh ; 123, Buldeo Singh; 124, Bithoo Qudum; 125 Dabajee
Purgooli ; 126, Lalmun, sepoy; 127, Mudar Singh; 128, Chundee
Singh ; 129, Someir Singh ; 130, Dacod Singh ; 131, Ramoo Quadum ;
132, Pooloo Punwar ; 133, Madho Rao, hoojra ; 134, Peerajee, furrash,

The 15th July, Wednesday (Budruka),—1 made up my mind to-
day to get across the river by some sort of stratagem, and join the
British foree at Sekhtapoor ; but I perceived some sepoys and troopers
running away in great confusion, and exclaiming that they would have
an easy victory, as the British were few and would scon be despatched,
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I was then seated in an orchard, when I observed a shop-keaper of
Sersoor running up. He too came and seated himself under a tree near
me. I enquired of him, and he replied that he was hastening to pack
off his wife and children, as the British foree would arrive shortly, and
that the Europeans spare nobody they meet in their desire to avenge the
massacre at Cawnpoor. I thought to myself this must be true, and
the gentlemen must be very suvage, the budmashes having found shelter
in Cawnpoor, and murdered the Europeans. Ata time like this the
British were not likely to distinguish between friend and foe, Sol
returned and saw several people, villagers, with their dresses changed
coming along the banks of the Ganges and I went along with them. The
terror in the hearts of all was so great that they asked each other no
questions, They ecame along, and at between 3 and 4 r.M. we sat
down behind the Sirsin Ghat. I heard the people there saying that
the Nana would also march out to-day, and join the battery at
Ehurwan, Towards evening the sound of musketry suddenly fell upon
my ears, but many shots were not fired before it became dusk, Those
who Innded at the ghat from the other side of the Ganges remarked
that the ladies and gentlemen that had been kept in confinement were
ghot down. I was told that they were murdered at the instigation of
the zemindars then present, with conenrrence of Kalindur Gir, goshasen,
Shah Ally and Azeemoollah ; and that they argued that if they were
defeated these Europeans would point out the culprits, I hear that the
zemindars urged all this and made them resolve on murder, and hence
those Europeans were killed, The above is what happened during the
day. It was penned at the Set's house at 74 o'clock in the evening, I
heard a great deal about the parties that were present at the murder
and who joined the budmashes. I shall record it after ascertaining the
truth. I then sent off men to find out the names of the individuals who
killed the ladies, and in what manner they were killed. I heard that
chondhri Ehmud Yar and Rujub Ally, tehseeldar, were standing there,
looking on at the murder, and there was a great erowd,

The 16th July, Thursday (at old General Gung in Caunpoor)—
I heard to-day that the ladies were killed in the following manner, and
that Bala, Tautia Topee, Azeemoollah, Abhadhik Dhari,"Jwala Pershad,
Brigadier Shah Ally, and other counsellors of the budmash Nana,
with a large crowd, were present. At first they called out the three
gentlemen that were in prison with the ladies. The sepoys of
Lambourne’s and Gillis's regiments and cavalry sowars were drawn up
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around them. They shot down the gentlemen at the order of the
Nana, Orders were then given to kill the ladies, The sepoys refused
to fire. The order was ropeated. Then the sepoys fired & volley, but up
in the air. On learning that the ladies had not been killed, the Nana
budmash sent his own servants, Accordingly Narain, mirt, and two
Vilayetees, one of whom was named Surdar Khan, who were old troopers
of the Nana's own body of eavalry, with Bapoo Kankunt, Sookha Ram
hoojra, Raman choudhri, Motee Singh choudhri, Besharut Khan, and a
Mpssulman named Ala Khan, rushed into the prison and cut down the
ladies with their swords. These were killed at night ; some of them
were not quite dead in the morning. All these, with a living child, were
thrown into the well very early this morning. The Nana took with
him all the rebel troops and the budmash zemindars, and went to the
Ehurwan-ki-choki. The hurakras who had been caught and confined
were also put to death. The two men whom I sent into Allahabad
were also put to death. A fight now commenced at the Ehurwan
battery. It is now noon-time; people who have seen the fighting declare
that they are running back, and that the sepoys and sowars are trying to
escape from the battle. Intelligence of this sort was brought from time
to time till it got dusk. I saw Kalka sowar, a barber by caste, who took
service as a trooper under the Nana, running in for his life, and trying to
get some thing to eat from the bazar. He declares that the Europeans
haye come up, and that the rebel batteries have been captured, Buta'
little while after it was proclaimed, by beat of drum in the city, that the
inhabitants must not get alarmed as there were only 100 Europeans
remaining, and these would soon be disposed of, and that whoever killed
an European soldier, and brought away his head, would receive a reward
of Rs. 100, Again a little while, and I was told that the Europeans
had come up to the rear of the cantonments The man who was
beating the drum abandoned'it and fled It now became night, and
I learnt that the Nana is running away to this place, This was true, for
the man whom I sent off in the direction of the new General Gunj road
to look out came and told me that the Nana is at the Tiroha of N ya
Gunj, drenched in perspiration, mounted on a chestnit horse, looking
greatly alarmed, accompanied by Mirt sowars He added that if only
50 Europeans were now to come up, he would surely be caught. At this
moment people are escaping from every lane and crevice of the city,
The Naoa rode off towards Bithoor as fast as his horse could carry him,
and the budmashes of the city, who belonged to his party, are’all

&8



COCXXXVIIL APPENDIX

crestfallen, and Heeing for their lives. They advise each other to quit the
eity with the rebel troops, Hoolas Singh, kotwal, left the kotwali and
escaped after midnight, at two in the morning. The Nunney Nawab,
Nizam-ood-dowlah, and Bakur Ally Khan, all three brothers, fled
towards Banda to escape the wrath of the British Government.

The 17th July, Friduy—At 6} AM. the British force arrived in
cantonments, outside the city. One of the officers with a gunard of
soldiers came into the kotwali Those of the citizens that were well-
wishers of the Government brought bread, butter, and milk to the
kotwali. A great erowd of the city people then assembled round the
kotwali to see what was poing on. I also, who had not stepped
out of my house for a month and-a-half for fear of being murdered,
now came out and went to cantonments. (enerals Havelock and
Neill, and a number of other officers, were standing there, Fruiterers,
milkmen, buttermen, bakers and other provisioners were in attendance
with their dalees. On hearing this Lalla Esree Pershad, Baboo Salig
Ram, and others made arrangements for supplying the troops with
bread. Those who were aware of this made preparations on the night
previous by having provisions cooked in the bazar. A little after, at
about 8 Axt. the British force came up opposite to the magazine,
Some of the rebels had mined the magazine and lay concealed in it
These men set fire to the powder and fled. The report of the explo-
Sion was so terrific that the doors of city houses fell off their hinges.
For some time all was confusion and alarm.* Afterwards it somehow got
abroad that the city people would all be————Henee all the citizens,
whether loyal or budmash, are escaping with their wives and children
a8 best they can. I cannot describe the events of that moment, But
Lalla Esree Pershad and Baboo Salig Ram and others, who have been
engaged in transactions with Government for years, did not quit the
city. I then sent off a messenger to bring news of Bithoor. He has
not returned. I cannot tell what the Naoa is resolved to do. To-
night T was told that on the night that the Nana fled from this place,
he threw & large quantity of————into the well; before leaving,
shortly after, news was sent to me by Lalla Ram, moossuddi, who was
always with me in the actions filed against the Nana, that the Nana
(Dhoondoo Punt) has arranged to retire to Putka-poori-ki-ghat to-
night, and that quantities of money are being conveyed out of Bithoor,
and that the servants of Chimna Apa; who were kept in confinement
&t Bithoor, and elsewhere, had cut their irons apd gome to their homes.
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The 15th July, Saturday —To-day I received news from Bithoor
‘that Apa Shastree and the others that were confined by the Nana, and
made their escape yesterday, perceiving the Nana running away, pro-
claimed to the people on bealf of the British Government :—* That
the treacherons Nana had fled and the British rule had been
restored, and that all the property and riches of the Nana ngw
belonged to the British Government, and, if anybody attempted to
touch it, he would Iny himseclf open to punishment,” Nana Narain Rao
conducted Nana Dhoondoo Pant to the other bank of the Ganges, and
returned to Bithoor. Those men went to him and reminded him that
his father, Ramchunder Punt had been a faithful servant, and subadar
of the Nana, and he (Narain Rao) wns bound to protect the property at
Bithoor. But Namin Rao paid no attention. On the contrary, he
gave ont that the Nana's boat had ecapsized, and then presented himsslf
at Bithoor. He declares that the Nana foreibly took him away, but
he ran away and came here, People say it isa grest falsehood, and
that, if this Nana (the subadar's son) wished it, and was really attached
to the British cause, he could easily get Nana Dhoondoo Punt captured.
At this period people commenced plundering the Bara. Doorga, Gunga-
pootr, Nund Gumesh, Buldeo Nundi and others, zemindars of the
neighbouring villages, plundered golden plates and dishes, and escaped.
It will not be easy without much diligent search to get a list of all that
valuable Government property and other goods. Other goods and
chattels were plundered by the villagers. All the Government treasure
that was kept at Bithoor was looted by the inhabitants of the neighbour-
hood. I will ascertain and record the particulars, The Nana (Narain
Rao) bronght away the guns to his own house. The general (of
the British) saw the corpse of the lady with child, belonging to the Tth
Cavalry, whom the sowars took away to Bithoor, lying in the burra sahib’s
kotee. The general got in a great rage with Narain Rao, and sent for
him, and, when he appeared, the general asked him whether he wanted
to fight the British ; Apajee Punt Thakoori, who was present, pleaded -
for him and got him released. He was then ordered to send in all the
arms, guns, ammunition, &c., that he might have. Narmin Rao sent a
portion of it, but concealed the rest, though I cannot say where it is
concealed. The general has commenced cannonading the Bara.
The 19th July, Sunday.—1 was told to-day that owing to the
treachery of Nana Dhoondoo Punt, the Bara, &c., of Bithoor have been
seb on fire, and that the traitor Nana Narain Rao wishes to pass himself
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off as a well-wisher of Government, The servants of the Baee Sahiba
that attended upon Chimna Apa, having received orders, dragged the
guns away from the Bara, and brought them before the general,

The 20th July, Monday.—It is Just as I anticipated. The Nana
Narain Rao, son of the subadar, wishes to pass himself off as a well-
wpsher of the Government, but there is a great crowd at this moment,
and the sabib-log have no time to spare. Itis also very difficult to
find witnesses agninst him by summary enquiries, and I see no chance
of filing & eomplaint about it befors any officer.

The 21st July, Tuesday.—1I now set to work to find out what men
of the city had been loyal, and which of them disloyal, and how some
of the omlahs came to present themselves to the Nana, while others
contrived not to present themselves, and how some of them were appre-
hended, On these points, I made minute enquiries. It appears that
Ehmud-oolla, tehseeldar of Bithoor, was at the bottom of all this Tt
was he that, in the first instance, ordered Deputy Collector Ram Lall to
be apprehended. But, befors he was actually apprehended, Ehmud-
oollah and Azeemoollah employed such powerful artifices and" induce-
ments that Deputy Collector Ram Lall went over to their side, and
they compelled the omlah to be *in attendance. Had it not been for
this; not one of the omlah would have presented himself; in fact a few
of them refused to do so to the last,

The 22nd July, Wednesday. - It is now necessary to ascertain which
of the eleven tehseeldars, appointed by Government to the charge of the
eleven pergunnahs, presented himself before the treacherous Nana, and
which of them abstained from so doing ; also which of them joined the
rebels in the villages, and which of them supplied the rebels with
money, and which of them saved the records of Government, and which
of them per contra made the records over to the rebel Nana ; also what
ringleaders came in with the talookdars, whose deeds are entered in the
thannah roznameha, and how mnany armed men were with them ; also
what zemindars presented themselves, and on what pretexts, and who
were ringleaders among them; also what was the eause of rebellion
breaking out in each village, i.e, whother they were ordered to rise by
the Nana, or rose of their own accord. All these points cannot be aseer-
tained without the aid of two or three loyal persons who have homes
in those villages, Accordingly, I proceeded towards Sada Suleempoor
to-day, and, when I got there: I shall make enquiries, and the result
shall be recorded in this Jjournal,
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The 17th dugust.—I have been twenty-five days in mouza Sada,
living in the house of Bunsgopal, custes. I laboured day and night at
great personal inconvenience to learn full particulars from these people.
I questioned only upright and honourable men and no others. On the
17th August I returned, and saw what was going on this city. On the
22nd August, I was honoured with an interview with John Walter
Sharer, Esq., who had long known me; T mentioned to him all that I
had suffered during the rebellion, and spoke of the litigation going an
between the Nana and our party, and of the treasure and valuables con-
cealed in the well. Shortly after Mr. Sherer sent me to Captain Bruce,
in recognition of my fidelity to the British Government, with a latter,
Captain Bruce recoived me, and I mentioned to him the fact of valua-
bles belanging to the Nana being concealed in the well, I have now
got full particulars of the events that took place in the city and sure
rounding villages under my own observation. In the Jirst place, I saw
the Nunney Nawab present with the sahib-log ; secondly, the follow-
ing particnlars will show which of the tehseeldars remained faithful, and
which of them joined the rebels. Last of all is n statement of those
zemindars who came as ringleaders with the talookdars, and the dates
of their entering, and who defied the British Government, and finally
Joined the rebels. The following is a history of the acts of the tehseel-
dars, ascortained after the re-occupation of Cawnpoor by the British.
The ringleaders, and other parties who came in at the same time, are
also mentioned in order of dates.

Name of Telhateldar Rawid ¥

and of Ais Pergus- g Brwanxs.

nak.

Shah All Hoos. | Zillah Allshsbad. | This person took lesve from the Collestor
sein, tchsoeldsr of prior to the disturbances. After. getting loave
Jnjamew, he remained here two or thres days and then

went to .&l]l:hhlﬂ. After the massscrs of the
Eurnpesns, he returned to Cawnpaer to recover
tho tehsesldarship of Jajamow, haot he was mot
appotnted fo it. When the British re:
Cawnpoar, and the srchetraitor flod, this man
also left and went to bis bome,

Maharsj Buksh, | Formerly of Rand-| This person was faithfol to the traiter Nana
tebessldar of Sada | ki, now of Jajs- | during the rebellion, and forwarded the rollscs
Boleempoor, mow, tions of revenue of the pergunnab to the Nans,
In svery way he wae & traitor to the British

e,

—
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Name of Tehseeldar
and of kis Pergun-
wth

Rezvidenee or
Home,

Syed Ufsal Ali,
tebseeldsr of Ghat-

WEpOOT, |

Luchmun Pershnd,
tehsealdar of Akbar-
poor.

Waris Ali, tehssel-
dar of Debra Mun-
glepoor,

Of Pertauh Gerh,
adjoining Allahabad,

Of Arsemabad. 1 This

n did pot join the rebellion, but
like n ﬁ;:'l’ citizen protected the Government
tremsure, and saved the Government records ; and
whan the British Government was , he

himself to the Collector. But T can-
not find out why the authorities sro displossed
with him,

Azees-ood-deen, tehseeldor of Bekundrs, for-
warded tressure to the trhesecldar of Akburpoor
15 days before the outhreak, The Istter took
charge of the money, »nd kept it by him; and
slso kept charge of the collections of his own
prrgunnah. At the commencement of the mu-
tiny, he sent all that money to the Nanatoen-
sure the Nana's favoor, and continued to carry
out the ordsrs of thet arch-traitor. Om the re-
oocupation  of . the British, he

pry Cawppoor by

Of Zillah Allshs-
bad.

Appurently this person maintsined his post in
his pergunnab, and I have not beard of his daing
anything wromg. On the restoration of the
British Government, he presented himsolf to the
Collector. Afterwards be took leave on the pro-
misa of conducting his family to their bome, und
went awsy. But he has not returnod. 1 cannot
sny whare he is now,

Terbeinee Suhai,
tohsaeldar of Hhog.

nipoar.

O Chebramow in
Furrocksbad.

Fureadoos Zuman,
tehseeldnr of Rusool-
abad, =on of Wa-
heedoes Zuman, De-
puty  Caollector of

Humssrpoor.

| Oudh

Resident of the
territory. ad-
| joining Chilsyan,

This person remained in his pergunnah (Bhog-
nipoor) with the Government treasure. The rebels
and gemindars plundered him of everything he
prossessed.  Since then bo fled for his Tife, 1
cannot say whather the man hsa baen killed, or
has made his sppearance before any of the
authorities.

This pereon maintained his poat in his pergun-
nsh, and presentod himself before the Collector,
on the restorstion of the British Government.
He came in with Warris Ally, tehseeldsr of
Derapeor,  Afterwards, In pretence of going to
Liring the Governmoent trossure and records, he
dissppeared, and them absconded without giving
ootice to the suthorities. Afterwanls Salsr
Buksh hrought sway the Governmont tressurs
and rocords.




Reridence or
Home,

Rusanxs.

Of Dhampoor, Nu-
geeni, ml:l;.‘-un-
poor.

This person has been & man of honorsble in-
tentions from the commencemsnt. He was a
naib-serishtadse of the eivil court st Cawnpoor,
When that office was abolished, he became naib-
serightadar of the Collector's office.  Aftorwards
be wns appointed tehsseldar of pergunnah
Jajamow, and fnally tehsecldar of Sckundrs
Prior to the outhreak, Aseezooddeen forwanded
the Government tressare, seconding 1o ruls, o
Luchmun Pershad, tebaeeldar of Akburpoor, to
bo sent Into the (Sudder) t . At the
opening of the outhresk, the Rajs mada &
very despursts atiack him, and in & manner
kept him prisoner. Numerous petitions of bis
must have come into the truitor Nana's office,
but, owing to the tyranny of Rajs Bliao, the
budmash, and being afrad of losing my life,
I could get oo farther particolsrs of this teh-
seeldar,

Of Phupoond, Zil-

This person joined in the rebellion ; and fear-
ing the vengesnce of the British Government,
has shsconded,

This person took no part in the robellion. Ha
waa impriscnsd by Haja Sutti Pershad, whe
plundersd the Government tressure. This poe-
son mansged to save his life, and escaped. Om
tha re-oeupstion of Cswnpoor by the Dritiah,
he ted himself§ and acoompanied the camp
of Captsin Burrows, Superintendent of Polics, ta
Malanwa, to abow bis loyalty, sod returned
with the to Cawn , where ba eaussd
the karinds of Raja Sutti Pershad to be appre-
hendsd, and finally hanged. He kept in attend-
ance aJong while, boping to better himself with
Mr. Passanch. Hehss now gone to the other
sids of ths river.

Ehmud-oolsh, teh-
pecldar of Bithoor,

Of Zillah Allahs-

This person with Doob Chund, his peshkar,
was constantly in attendance upon the tesitor
Nana from the commencement. He is the cagss
of the whole of this reballion. For it was he
who joined the Deputy (ollector Ram Lsll in
compelling the moburrirs snd omlah of the
kutcherries to attend the traitor Mans's durbar,
and also isaned stringent crders sbout them, and
coorced them tosttend.  This man was guilty of
every act that could disgrace a traitor, 1 should
not be surprised if he is sull with that sccursed
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Hoolas Singh, the former, and Shah Ally, the present, kotwal,
together with Saadut Khan, jemadar of the gensral of the traitor Naoa,
were the three principal instigators of the viclence employed to compel
the omlah to attend the Nama's durbar, and they are still with that
traitor.

The real cause of the zemindars breaking into rebellion and joining
the rebels is this:—Choonnee Singh, Bubadur Singh, Muni Singh,
and Kishoree Singh, zemindars of Bithoor, and also choudhris, were in
the service of the Nana but pone of the family of Pokhar Singh
choudhri were employed by him, in consequence of an old feud existing
between the Nana and that family. Hence all the choudhris and
zemindars of Bithoor followed their example and became rebels,
and joined the Nana's standard. So also all the Gungapooters of
Bithoor, with perhaps one or two exceptions, armed with swords and
shields were present with the Nana at the batteries and continued
with him. Subsequently the tribe of Kakadeowalahs, who were
notorions for their violence before the mutiny, broke into rebellion ;
and, taking example from them, the Rajpoots of Seesamow, with
Muthree Singh, Bhudur Singh, Pragdut and Chutta budmash, and
others, also turned rebels ; this was followed by the revolt of pergunnah
Jajamow and then the Rao of Seinee, Dunoo Singh, with Perjore
Singh and Roop Singh, of Oodeypoor, and others, who instigated all the
inhabitants of the pergunnah to rise, as also Rambuksh of Jajamow,
and Bhoj Singh, a ringleader of the rebels, and Debee Singh, and
Buldeo Singh of Khursa, and Bhowani Singh and the Gatum tribes of
Sowanchpoor, who are notorious highwaymen, and who proclaimed
the Nana's rule, and collected revenue in his name for some time after
" the re-occupation of Cawnpoor, all broke out into rebellion. Follow-
ing their example, Madho Singh, Akoreeywalla, joined them. All
these facts are well-known to the authorities. The inhabitants of
Sona Rampoor and of Rumipoor and Kishore Sing's party rebelled,
through the instigation of Deep Singh, a wrestler in the employ of
the Nana. The insurrection in ilaga Sada Suleempoor was caused by
the budmashes of mouza Palee, viz, Luchmun Singh, Bijey Singh and
others, whose names I have already recorded, who bave been daring
dacoits and notorious ruffians previous to the mutiny@)Their history
is as follows. There was originally a dacoit in Jajamow, named Ulla-
yavar Khan. This man, assisted by the father of Janki Pershad, used
to commit daring dacoities, and they kept up this trade of dacoity
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even under mative tulers. This man Janki Pershad, too, had no other
calling but dacoity, in which he was assisted by other dacoits, and evens
tually he was imprisoned in the jail of Cawnpoor upon conviction of
dacoity and died there. These men, named above, are the sons of those
very dacoits who joined the budmash Nana, and it was owing to'them
that the entire ilaga of Sada Suleempoor was ruined, and many of its
inhabitants induced to turn rebels. Moreover, these men took powder
and shot from the Nana to fight their enemies, They remained with
the Nana up to the day the last of the Europeans were murdered, and
to the re-ocenpation of Cawnpoor by the British.

Jurkulla and Sungwan attended the Nana's durbar in consequence
of the persuafion of Brigadier Jwaln Pershad. The insurrection in
ilaga Ghatumpoor was owing to Behan Singh Koormi, who was one of

 the most forward in aiding and helping the Nana, When the Chow-
hans saw him turn rebel, they too rose, and the depredations committed

by these Chowhans far surpassed those of any other tribe. But the

Chowhans came to rebel in this way. Bhownni Singh of Khursa,

Hindoo Singh of Rusoolabad, Lulmun Singh of Gujnere, Sheobuksh

Singh and Heera Singh of Pyasee, and Guneshee Singh, Kunhur Singh

and Manik Singh of Khanpoor, and Eesri Singh, commandant of

Khuttyee, were all ringleaders of rebels, and these men instigated the

whole tribe of Chowhans to rise, and they remained with the Nana's

troops. Details of these men will be found in this journal. Again,

after the flight of the Nana, on the 16th July, one Heera, a concubine

of the Nana's, who had charge of his valuables worth several lakhs of

rupees, concealed those valuables in her own house, Oojagir Doobey,

Dilleewalls, concealed the said concubine, as she had by her more than

four lakhs of T-upeus’ worth of jewellery, which she had taken away from

the Nana, belonging to the widows of the late Peishwa, I have

already recorded the fact of his joining the rebels in this journal,

Some of his property remained in the city, but it could not be dis-

covered. He concealed the gons which he received from the Nana

somewhere in his ilaga. Several complaints charging him with acts of
budmashee were received in the office of the Superintendent of Police

during the incumbency of Captain Burrows. Again the insurrection in

Seonee and Bolhoor was caused by Rajah Sutti Pershad ;

.then they all united together, and afterwards the Nana of Sookhmj
joined them, followed by the budmashes of Bulhoor. The inhabitants of
.B::l]hﬂﬂr and Doondua are notorionsly bad characters: even under the

tt
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British rule they attacked and plundered waggons and travellers
on the highways, Again Luchmun Singh of mouzn Doola, Meotes
Singh of mouza Akhamow, and Tilokee Singh of Totamow, and others,
zemindars of old mouzah Aukun, plundered the house and factory
of Mr. Peter Macsween. But first of all the band of men, who
iphabit the other bank of the Ganges, went over to ineite them
to rebellion, and plundered the Government chowkee and purao
of mouza Arowl. I have given details of the rebellions ncts of
this man Mootee Singh, in this journal, under the ontries headed
Slst May and 2nd June. Peem Singh, of Dulbub, and Anurd Singh
of Bikoutin, with the zemindars of Kukoon, and Jowahir Singh, Soosi-
wallah, and Oomrao Singh and other zemindars of mouza Doondoon,
Joined in the rebellion. Owing to them, Danoo Singh, of monza Nar,
also turned rebel, and, following his example, all the Gores of the
Rajpoot race presented themselves at the rebel camp, followed by the
mhabitanta of the entire ilaga of Dera Munglepoar, of whose ring-
leaders mention has already been made in this journal. Further, owing
to his defection, his brother and Mookund Singh, zemindar of Mulgaon,
Joined in the insurrection, and the ilaga of Sehehundi rose in rebellion,
Again, Raja Koobeer Singh, of Gungngwmge, who wounded Mr. # # #
and murdered other gentlemen belonging to the canal department,
plundered the houses of all the zillah and city people that had run
away, and effectually ruined them. He was a constant counsellor, and
aider and abettor of the Nana Eventually he persuaded the Nann
to summon Raja Doorga Pershad, of Sehchundi, and the latter was
compelled to attend for fear of his ilaga being attacked and plundered ;
but Doorgn Pershad aforesaid did not in any way assist the Nana, or
plunder anybody. Owing to the revolt of the Chowhans, all that por-
tion of ilaga Bhognipoor lying along the Jumna, and inhabited by
Thakoors of the Punwar tribe, rose in rebellion and plundered the
poor ryots and committed great depredations. So also one Kalindurgir,
a disciple of the Rusdhanwalshs, who had thrown off the yoke of the
Raja Ranee, joined the Nana's standard, and got a zemindar named
Raj Bhno to join him. These two plundered and threw into confusion
the entire ilagn of Sekundrn, and mstigated -the whole tribe of Meo
Thakoors to acts of plunder and violence in the zillah, The budmashes
. mamed above are those of whose career an abstract has already been
given, If all their acts were to be described in detail for each singly, it
would be n very great length of time to record them, I have them{m
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narrated them ‘in abstract, and I am certa n that the dependents
of Government will agree with me that, if these men were not the in-
famous rebels that I have described them, how did they come to join
the Nana and continue in rebellion, even after the restoration of
British rule in the district, On the.restoration of British rule, orders
were issued to them al to attend ; yet they failed to make their

appearance,

Some Aecount of the Ravolt of the Contingent.

After the 28th August 1857, 1 waited on Mr. J. W. Sherer, the
Magistrate of the district, and, as I had been previously introduced to
that gentleman, Mr, Sherer recognized me, and I continued to atfend
upon him with the view of performing acts of loyalty. T nsed to send
for intelligence from different quarters through couriers, and communi-
cate the same to him, and carried out all orders that were entrusted
t me, Shortly after, that gentleman addressed a lotier to Captain
Burrows, the Superintendent of Police, making mention of my good
behaviour, and told me to take it to Captain Burrows, and also spoke
verbally in my behalf 1 accordingly waited on the Superintendent of
Police, and was employed under his orders in performing various agts
of loyalty. At this time Bhowani Singh, of the Gotum tribe, a budmash,
commenced proclaiming the Napa's rule by beat of drum. News of
these proceedings was regularly furnished to the Superintendent of
Police. In fact the above-named Bhowani Singh put himself in the
place of the Nana. So also the Palewallah, of whom mention has been
made in the journal, did not present himself to the authorities for some
time, but remained with Bhowani Singh. Madho Singh, Akodhey-
wallah, continued a rebel throughout. Captain Burrows repeatedly
invited Esree Singh, commandant, resident of Khuttetee, and Komhur
Singh and others of the Gore tribe, to come in, but they refused to do
80, and persisted in committing acts of rebellion. They refused t6
give possession to the thanadars : in fact they kept attacking the Govern-
ment thanshs, Goolab Singh and others of Seonee,, all budmashes,
raised an entrenchment in their village, and appointed & comfortable
place for the rebels to take sheller in. Captain Burrows was repeatedly
* obliged to take a force with him to put them down, All the budmashes
of the Chowhan and Gore and Gotum tribes, together with Raja Bhao
snd others, of ilaga Sekundra, continued to perpetrate acts of plunder
and violence, and not one of them would await upon the authorities.

—_—
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One of these very men named Nanuk Singh, a brother of Kunhur
Singh; of the Gore tribe; resident of Khanpoor, went to the Nana at
Futtehpore Chowrassee, and presented Rs. 500 by way of nuzuranna; and
pledged his word to the Nana that, if the Nana would come this way,
the whole of the 86 villages, inhabited’ by his tribe, ie, Chowhans,
would join the Nana This was exactly what took place. The true
oause of the mutiny of the contingent was the revolt of the Gores and
Chowhans, I gave intelligence of these events regularly to Captain
Burrows, and T clandestinely laid @ dak to Calpee under that gentle-
man's orders, and continually gave him news which I obtained through
couriers: At this period the contingent created disturbances, and on
the 25th November Captain Burrows, with his force, and General
Wilson went off to Bhounte to punish the rebels; Whatever news
reached me was communicated, according to orders, to the seat of war.
The battle took place on the 26th November, and the rebel batteries
were taken, and the British force returned and encamped on the opposite
bank of the canal.

The 27th November 1857, Friday.—1 was present in cutcherry
gill 8 pac, when I perceived the disturbances to be very serions; I
eame into the city to see what was going on there. At 4 par, T'had
an interview with Mr. Chandler, the kotwal. I then observed that the
Europeans of the Rifle Battalion were proceeding to the batteries
throngh the chowk. Seeing the disorder in the city, I recommended
to Lalla Eesree Pershad to eome along with me into the entrenchment ;
le was making ready to accompany me, when the rebel sowars rushed
into the city ; then I lost sight of Eesree Pershad, and cannot suy whe-
ther he found his way to the entrenchment ornot. All the property
in Eesree Pershad’s house, consisting of keenkhab cloth, pushmeena
clothing, and otler merchandize kept in his shop, and all the grain and
supplies kept in his godown, with his horses and conveyanoes, were
plundered. I then became much alarmed and did not know what to do,
I tried innumerable plans for effecting an entrance into the entrench-
ment, but, owing to the fierceness of the rebels, I could not reach the
city. Oh this occasion Huzari Lall, the former kotwal, wns killed' at
Unwargunj. The rebels broke open the locks of all the shops in the
chowk, and searched long and closely for me, and' also searched for
Moonshee Jwala Pershad, and Sheo Pershad, and Esree Pershad, and
for their gomashtas. But all they conld find was & Mussulman servant
seated at the gate of Moonshi Jwala Pershad's house. This man they



o ki

carried: offt: At night, st about 2'am., I believe the Government offi-
cinls recovered a gun belonging to the British, which had stuck in the
mud, and carried it away.

The 28th November 1857, Saturday.—I heard to-day that the
British force defeated the rebels near the church, where the batteries
were erected, There were present, with the rebels, Hoolas Singh, Jwala
Pershad; Tanteea Topee, Raja Doorga Pershad, Kunhur Singh, Buldeo
Singh, Bhudur Singh (who abseonded from mouza Seesamow) and the
rotainers of Raja Sutti Pershad, the zemindars of Seolee, Gujnere,
Ukburpoor, Khuttimow, mouza Bhow, and Dera Munglepore ; also the
zemindars: of mouza Sona, being Muthra Singh and others ; also Ujut
Siogh aod others; zemindars of Keindha ; also Bhowany Singh of
Sewanchpoor, who became tehseeldar of Nuroul under the Nana's rule;
also the zemindars of mouza Koonderi and others : all the above being
of the Chowhan and Gotum tribes, and inhabiting the 36 villagers of
Chowhans ; also the zemindars of mouza Attha; and Jedha Singh
and Jowahir Singh, zemindars of mouza Kheora. But the accursed
Nonn himself was not present. At night the rebels continued in the
kotwali, and I heard that Naruin, sowar of Rumipoor, a Bhat by
tribs, came and attacked my houses with all the other sowars, and
searched: for me, snd that it was Radhika, a Kayeth, who conducted
the sowars to my house, and told them to plunder that house first.
But owing to the daring of the European troops, and the noble
fortune of the British, my house escaped. The rebel sepoys carried
away fifteen bags of sugar from the godowns of Boop Ram, Goberdhun
Dass, and of Hurkund Rai Roop Ram. They also foreibly entered into
the house of Buldeo, money-changer, and seized him, and did not
release him till they had extorted a sifficient sum of money from him.

The 29th November 1857, Sunday.—This morning the rebels were
engaged'in removing the bodies of their dead eomrades. The rebel
troopers made a furious omset on Nya Gunj to get the bazar opened,
but a few shots from the British dispersed them. This moming one
of my couriers brought me news of the 28th instant to the etfect that
the rebels who formerly attacked Cawnpoor had lost spinit; but, now
that they are reinforced by the contingent, they have resolved on
attacking the British. Sowars are moving about in all quarters: some
of them are those who fled from the fight. News came in from Calpee
that the entire rebel force has left Calpee, leaving a few troops only to

guard the magazine, and that their wives are still at Calpee. This
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morning I made bold and walked out towards the entrenchment to
communicate the news, but I saw a great many rebels on the road,
armed, strolling about: hence I could not reach the entrenchment, At
11 A, to-day, the rebels proclaimed by beat of drum that they would
not molest anybody who may have concealed sepoys belonging to the
sahib-log. At 3 PO they issued another proclamation that nobody
was to open his shop without their orders: that people were to go and
buy what they wanted at their batteries. Moreover, the sepoys seized
Goor Buksh, Brahmin, and also & panwalls, and insisted on his deliver-
ing up money, and maltreated him, and took his money, They also
seized Chukkey, cloth merchant, and extorted money out of him likewise,
They also went about hunting for the bankers, and broke open the
locks of three or four shops in the chowk. They looted sweetmeats to
the value of about Rs. 50. To this day not a single shop-keeper has
given them anything with goodwill of his own accord: They have
appointed a jemadar to take charge of the kotwali

The 30th November 1857, Monday.—l heard to-day that Bala
and Rao, and Hoolas Singh, Tanteea lopee, Jwala Pershad, and others
are with the rebel force; that pickets of 200 sowars each are stationed
at the maidan chokey and the shewala Mengly ; also that the zemindars
of Gujnere, Ukburpoor, Sheolee, Khutetee, and one of the entire ilaga
lying on the road to Calpee, together with armed men, have come
along with the Nana, I sent for Futfeh Singh, zemindar, a races of
mouza Bungwan, who was formerly a well-wisher of the State, and who
still attends upon Captain Burrows to prove his fidelity by active
service, and through him remonstrated with several zemindars of posi-
tion and influence ; some of them listened to him, and I shall ascertain
their names from him and record them. I shall also mention those
who did not listen, but came along with the rebels. Moula choudhri,
who formerly supplied the Nana with provisions, still continues to seize
mahajuns, and to compel them by force to deliver such supplies as he
calls for. Men of low caste have plundered the roti godown. The
servants, in great numbers, of the zemindars, whose names have been
mentioned above, are taking an immense quantity of supplies to their
masters, They even go asbout armed with matchlocks in some parts of
the city.

The 1st Decamber 1857, Tuesday.—Early this morning, the rebels,
having obtained information of the movements of the British force,
determined to move their batteries towards Nya Guunj. Accordingly,
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they took two of their horse artillery guns and five heavy gnns to the
corner of Kahoo Kotee, and nearly one entire regiment was stationed
under cover; from Chutayee Muhul to the Knhoo Kotes they had carts
full of ammunition and doolies with them; but, when they advanced a
little way with their guns, the British fired and killed some of their
artillerymen, and wounded some, and also knockell one gun off its
carringe. The truth is the rebels are proceeding under cover of this
road towards the Subadar's Tank, and in front of the Nunney Nawab'a
gate, bound for Nya Gunj. Some of them are proceeding vid the grain
mart from Unwur Gunj, and others by way of the chowk:a few of
them sare concealing themselves in shops. The people of thn city are
prevailing on them to go onwards by oaths, People also give out that
the men of Bengal are running away, and that there is about to be an
attack. It is certain that, with the exception of the men of the con-
tingent, the other rebels are quite dispirited. This evening I was told
that Hoolas Singh, kotwal; came up to the kotwali, and, making a low
bow to it, galloped off.

The 2nd December, Wednesday—I find that, although peapla
spenk of the rebels being in great force, they do not exceed 10,000 meng
of whom there are not more than 5,000 good fighting men, but the
rebel zemindars, &c., are all eager to assist them, and bring them im-
mense quantities of supplies. The bazar of Nuwab Gunj is now thrown
open ; wheat sells for 18 seers per rupee, bajra for 26 seers per rupee,
joar for 30 seers per rupee, and other sorts of grain are Extrenlelj cheap
in the suburbs and neighbourhood,

The 3rd December 1857, Thursday.— 1 was told to-day that the
rebels foreibly carried off bags of sugar from the godowns of Ram Roop
CGoberdhun Dass, and that the shops in the city remnined closed all
day. Apparently the rebel troops are very much afraid of the British
cartridges, and much dejected at the thought of its encountering them:
they are making excuses to avoid them, It seems certain that the
British will soon win a signal victory, and the traitors will soon be
killed. At noon it was proclaimed by the traitor, by beat of drum, that
everybody who concenled a European, and brought him up, would be
rewarded. It is clear that the day of their annihilation is close at
hand. With reference to the rebels who conceal themselves near the
gate of the Kahvo-ki-kotee by way of Nakabundi, with one gun and
some barrels of gunpowder, two round shots from the guns of the Britizh
fell on them at about 11 AM, which made them conceal themselves,
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Had those two shots been followed up by eight or ten more, those
rebels wonld certainly have fled.

The 4th Decomber 1857, Friday.—I heard to-day that the rebels
carried off nearly 150 bags of sugar by force from the godowns of Roop
Ram, Goberdhun Dass: the cause of all that violence seems to be this.
A bunnia of the Agurwalla caste had been purchasing supplies in the
oity for two or three months previous, clandestinely on the part of the
traitor Nana, but nobody was aware of this. This man formerly asked
Roop Ram, Goberdhun Dass, to sell him sugar at Rs. 19 per maund,
but the owners of the sugar had their suspicions, and refused to give it
to him. This same person, belonging to the traitor, now came forward
and pointed out where the sugar was kept. T think the shop-keepers
are acquainted with his name. T also heard that the rebel zemindurs
have sent down parched gram to-day for distribution to all the rebel
troops. The third piece of news is that the British force, consisting of
Seikhs and others, beat and plundered some of ‘the townspeople near
Putphool Gunj. God only knows whether this is true or false, but
the people of the city are very much dejected since the arrival of
# this news. The fourth bit of news is that it was proclaimed, by beat
of drum at 9 AM. to-day in the city, that all natives of the city who
may be in the entrenchment are to leave it immediately, on pain of
being put to death. Fifthly, [am told that the rebels in charge of
the batteries entered the shops of the rope-sellers and forcibly earried
off all the gunny bags found in them. Sixthly, T am told that the rebel
army, which was formerly with the Nana who fled ‘from 'Cawnpoor, is
still dispirited and heart-broken ; but the contingent troops are deter-
mined to brave it out, Seventhly, that not one shop in the city has been
opened to this day : only the vegetable-sellers are to be-seen with their
stalls in the hdt. Apparently the rebels have larger supplies than they
require, and that they have abundance of money. Had it not been 80,
they wounld have plundered the city long ere this Not one of the
rebels has bronght one pice worth of goods from the city to-day : ‘they
are so well supplied. For this reason wheat is selling at 21 seers per
rupee to-day, and salt at 11 seers per rupee. The sowars have seized
pagir Serh Mull, and committed serious outrages, They plundered all
the property that they found at his door.

The 5th December 1857, Saturday—1 heard to-day that the
rebels attacked the house of moonshi' Ram Narain, and plundered (him
of all his property, clothes, shawls, silver and copper plates, &c., thad

——
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they found in the house and out-offices, The servants of moonshi
Jwala Pershad told me that his honse had been robbed.

The 6th December 1857, Sunday.—When the battle between the
rebels and the British army commenced, and the latter pursued them
towards Narainpoor, the following parties were with the rebels; wvis,
Rajas Doorga Pershad and Kuuhir Sing, and the retainers of Raja
Sutti Pershad, with the zemindars of Soolee and Bhow, Ukburpoor,
Khutetee, and Dhur Munglepoor; also Muthm Singh and others of
mouza Sona and of Gujnere, with Ujab Singh and other zemindars of
Kendha, with Bhowani Sing of Sewanchpoor, whe became tehseeldar of
Nuwaul, under the Nana's rule ; also the zemindars of mouza Roudouli,
&c., all of the Gotum tribe, with Jodha Singh and others, zemindars of
Athuyea, and the whole of the inhabitants of the 36 Chowhan villages
from ilaga Ukburpoor. These men all fired upon the British troops
throughout, and fought on the part of the rebels, and they were former-
ly with the Nana, and provided him with supplies. Apparently the
only zemindars who remained faithful to the British were Doorga Singh,
jageerdar of mouza Mudarpoor, and Futteh Singh and Rup Singh,
gemindars of mouza Bunguran, who are still actively engaged in acts of
loyalty to the State. The Gotum tribes of mouzs Ourchee also mecom-
panied the rebels, but the entrance of the Chundels was owing to Raja
Doorga Pershad. T know no particulars of Ravat Rundheer Singh.

The 7th December 1857, Monday.—To-day I handed one copy of
this journal to Mr. J. W. Sherer, the Magistrate and Collector, at the
gate-way of the entrenchment, and presented a second copy to Major
Bruce, Superintendent of Police. Since then I made enquiries, and
recorded the following facts appertaining to the occasion when the
rebel foree fled before the British. It appears that the firsi engage-
ment with the contingent that came along the Calpee road, took place
at Bhuvuntee, when they were defeated by the British, and lost three
of their guns. Up to the date of that battle only Chowhans, and none
of the inhabitants of the territory lying on the Calpee road had joined
the rebels. The only zemindars that bhad joined them were Bhowani
Singh Gotum, Eesree Singh, zemindar of Kuthetee, Nanuck Singh
Gore, Kunhur Singh Gore, residents of mousm Khanpoor; Sulmur
Singh, Sheobuksh Singh, Heera Singh, and other budmashes of
Gujnere. But when the second engagement with the rebels took place
on the 27th November at the canal near the city, and when Brigadier
Wilson was wounded, and the rebel army came down on the British

Wi
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from all sides, till they rashed into the city, and when the British force
proceeded through Nya Gunj and the Chowk into the entrenchment,
and the battle with the rebels then fairly commenced : on that ocea-
gion, 1.2, on the 1st December, one Kovcer Singh, who is also styled
Baboo Kooer Singh, a resident of Jugdeespoor, whom people designate
as the Raja of Bhojepoor, came and fiught the British with three
mutinied regiments from Dinapore, and others. The said Kooer Singh
seized Raja Doorga Pershad of Sehchundi, and brought him along with
him : otherwisa there was no chance of Doorga Pershad joining in this
rebellion. Subsequently Kalindur Gir Goshasen, a budmash of
Rusdhan, joined the rebels. Soalso Kobeer Singh, who committed
outrages along with the Nana during the former insurrection, came
this time of his own accord, with a force of armed men. Sutti Pershad
took no share in this second revolt, but eertain servants of his, with
Blivpal Singh and Nurput Singh, sons of Juswunt Singh chowdri, of
Futtehpoor Chowrnssee, came to the fight,

The budmashes of ilugas Poora and Balhoor also joined in the
fight, owing to Goolab Singh of Sheolee, who was a partizan of the
Nana's, and who constructed an entrenchment at Sheoles, and aided
the rebels and showed opposition to Major Burrows at Sheorajpoor.
As for the budmashes of Bhow, they have been with the rebels from
the commencement, thongh elandestinely. Ehmud Ally Mirdha, of
Ukburponr, who held a tehseeldares under the Nana's rule, excited all
the inhabitants of ilaga Ukburpoor te rebeéllion, and leagned himself
with the Chowhans, and eansed the ringleaders of the Chowhans to
attend at the rebel batteries. The zemindars of Dhurmungudpoor, of
whom mention has besn made in this journal, joined the rebels throngh
the instigation of the budmashes of Gujnere. The Rao of Sepyee in
pergunuah Jajamow, the Rana of Sikhrunj, and Duriao Singh, of ilaga
Nar, who joined in the former disturbances with their bodies of armed
men, lent their aid in the second revolt, with their forces, in like
manner, So also Ujub Singh of Kendha, Bhikka Singh the budmash,
the zemindars of Kondowlee, and Jodha Singh, zemindar of Athyea, all
along helped and accompanied the Nava in plundering ryots and
finding supplies for the rebels.

In December 1857, when I aceompanied Major Bruce, Deputy
Quartermaster-Uleneral, to the battle fought with the rebels at
Furruckabad, I learnt the true particulars, which T long sought
to obtain, of the report that the budmash Nana deposited the
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GQovernment treasure which he had plundered at Bithoor, and that
certain parties had taken away the valuable jewellery, cash,
&o, &o, belonging to the Naua on his flight from Cawnpoor. The
particulars were given to me by Nanukmuon Pandé, resident of
Chowkipoor, and Choonni Lall, banker, who said that the parties who
took away the money and silver plates were Oottum Chund, of mouea
Baleepoor, and Ounan, of mouza Burcha, Beharideen, Bishunpooree, and
others also joined in the plunder of the money. Dhookul Singh,
Bhonchul Singh, Imrnt Singh, Bhiggnr Singh, and others of mouza
Indulpoor, looted the Government treasure, joined by the inhabitants of
mouzs Juraree, and by the Rajpoots of mouza Chundika. Nunkooa
and Bhukhtoors, residents of mouza Koormi Khera, carried off nearly
Rs. 10,000 in cash, Lalla Tewary, Ruttoo, Dewan, Munrakhun and
Bijoul. of monza Maloun, plundered the property of Mr. Charley Sahib.
Annnt Singh, Narain Singh, Gopaul Singh Kalka Deen, Gunga Deen
Deechut, Ram Churun, Jugnt Singh, Choouni chowdhri, and Suhai
Sookul, aleo Jooted the Government treasure, and fought along with the
Nana. Sanwul, Hurdeen and others, of mouzas Rooka, Ghunshampoor,
and Khoobapoor, earried off pearls and precious stones, &c., &e.  Oodhar
Singh, of Khaudeypoor, earried off all the valuables which the sowars
deposited in Bithoor, Zunbur Singh, of mouza Koonjki, earried off the
property of the late Bajee Rao. The zemindars of Baramow also plun-
dered Government property. Buldeo Singh, of mouza Tuktoobre, pluns
dered the moonshi of the road department. The budmash Guoga-
pootars of Bithoor, joined by Dowlut Singh, and others, went and plun-
dared all the Government property which the Nana had taken away
and deposited in Bithoor. Further particulars are known to Nanuk-
mun Pandé and Choonni Lall.

I will now give some account of those acts of loyalty and fidelivy
which give me some elaim upon the favour and approbation of the
authoritiss. On the 26th May 1837, I had elearly explained to Mr.
Hillersdon, the former Magistrate of Cawnpoor, the probuble resnlts of
all the measures, good and bad, then decided upon, and pointed ont the
disastrous consequences which were sure to fullow from some of them ;
but that gentleman paid no attention to me, but on the contrary was
offended at my suggestions. Well, the result showed that I had
gnessed and conjectured rightly. If the authorities had in the least
degree followed my suggestion, this dreadful tragedy wonld never have
been enacted. It will be clear, on the least reflection, that it was
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unwise to leave the very enemy, whose territory had been conquered
by the British, in charge of the district. The authorities had mistaken
the character and origin of this villainous Nana. As the Persian Poet
Saadi has justly chserved : “ He that is of evil origin, will never walk
under the shadow of the good ; a man of low origin is mrely faithful to
his master” Now, this Nana was the son of a mendicant Brahmin,
and he was purchased (by the Peishwa) for money, along with other
children, and it was Ram Chunder Punt, the Peishwa's subadar, who
gave him out to be the Peishwa's adopted son. Again, the whole race
of Mahrattas are an untrustworthy set. It is proverbial that they take
thousands of false oaths to effect the meanest and most insignificant
objects. The authorities were misled in believing that he was a great
and influential man, but it is always foolish to expeet n good turn from
one whose origin is evil. Nobody acisso. As Saadi again justly says:
«* Tt is not wise to put out the fire and keep alive one spark, or to crush
the serpent and feed its youngling." Yet, by following an opposite
counrse, in the present case the authorities encouraged the Nana to
meditate revenge for the wrongs of his father. For, in the first place,
this man's origin was evil. In the second place, the family among
whom he was brought up constantly reminded him that the Poona-

tara territory belonged once to his_ancestors, They used to tell

him that the EIIUEEE;HEFD@HES father's territories. Thirdly,

they told him—"See, after the death of Bajee Rao, the British have
made you no sllowance,” Fourthly, the Nana had a hard fight with
the Government for the recovery of his pension, and sent his agents to
England with his appeal; but the authorities there turned a deaf ear
to it. Under such circumstances was it wise to make a friend of such
a deadly enemy, who harboured revenge against the British for years,
who was watching eagerly for an opportunity to revenge the wrongs
suffered by his father, and who kept company with bad characters, and
regarding whose violence numerous complaints were on record in our
courts? Was it wise to authorize this man to raise armed levies at
his own discretion for  the protection of the people and suppression of
the mutiny.” To ask a person, who was every way your prisoner, to
protect you was only to prove that the power of the British Govern-
ment had been weakened, It is marvellous how the a thorities could
believe that they could reap good results by making over the Govern-
ment of the district to a budmash., The proper course was Lo remove
the artillery aud arms and ammunition from this man's charge, and to
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keep him entirely in the power of the British. It was very unwise to
make over your whole house to an enemy, who had power to endanger
your life and kingdom ; for it was in his power to summon 100,000
armed men of his own tribe, who were eagerly wishing for an oppor-
tunity to assert their rights, and the brotherhood of this very Nana
used to go among the sepoys and sowars on pretence of putting down
their rebellions spirit, while in reality they were feeding the flume, and
by eunning artifices winning them over to the Nana's cause. - At the
commencement, the Magistrate would not believe this man capable of
exciting others to rebellion, and turning an enemy of the British; but
there were recards in the office of the Commissioner of Bithoor to show
that in 1845, when the British were engaged in a war with some
enemy, the Peishwa sent a Raja, named Peerajee, across the Ganges to
raise troops clandestinely with a hostile purpose, and that this matter
reached the ears of the Commissioner of Bithoor ; and that orders were.
about to be issued to Bajee Rao to leave Bithoor ; and the vakeels of
Bajee Rao went as far as the Simla Hills to clear him of these imputa-
tions, Tt is impassible to inderstand how General Wheeler could have
regarded these acts of the Peishwa's former career with approval,
Another strange proceeding was to construct the entrenchment out in
the open plain, far away from the magazine and treasury and public
offices, so as to prevent even the native well-wishers of Government
from ever reaching it, if so disposed.

The magazine had an immense walled enclosure, and contained a ]

great many buildings, and was full of artillery, powder and shot, and
the river Ganges flowed behind it ; and all the three public offices were
near it. and the treasury and jail were in front of it. Surely that was a
better place for the entrenchment : had it been so used, and had guns
been placed in position on elevations within it, the magazine could not
have got into the hands of the rebels, nor could they have plundered
the treasure or destroyed the Government records. In that case the
omlah of the public offices also would have waited on the authorities,
for a great number of them had their homes in Nuwab Gunj, and those
within the ennfnuhmenh would have suffered no distress for want of
water and provisions, for the villages of Cawnpoor, Kohna, and Nawab
Gunj were adjoining the magazine and could bave provided all kinds
of supplies, and then the well-wishers of Government could have easily
reached the entrenchment. But what was done was the reverse of thia.
They made the entrenchment far out in the maidan, and out of the
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city, without reflecting that, in case of mutiny breaking out, it would
be surrounded by the rebels on all four sides, who would be assisted by
the magazine, and all the pieces of artillery and Government treasurs,
so temptingly thrown in their way. Thus, to illustrate the proverb,
they put a sword into the enemy’s hand, and put their heads forward ;
and the result was that, when the rebellion began to rage, the sahib-log
went into the entrenchment, and the eity was left unprotected. The
rebels first seized and ecarried off the treasure, next they took possession
of the magazine, then the rebel zemindars joined them, and thus the
entrenchment was surrounded on all four sides, The rebels then took
possession of the city. The rebellion became so fierce that provisions
could not eventually be carried into the entrenchment. It is said that
a certain wife used to act up to the wishes of her husband, because she
feared him, and then could also protect herself; but, when her husband
died, she found herself under other people’s control, and did what she
pleased, Thus it was with the citizens of this place. The reason why
the city was not plundered is this:—Hoolas Singh, kotwal, and other
sensible people kept explaining to the Nana that he would be a great
loser if he gave the city up to plunder, and that, after the British rule
was completely extinguished and his own established, he could tuke as
much money from each citizen, in proportion to his means, as he pleased,
in conformity with the laws and rules observed by native governmenta.
Of course, Lhe rebels were much encouraged by the mutinies at Dehli
and Meerut,

But it is a pity that, instead of the Magistrate’s making a friend
and confidante of such an enemy as the Nana, he did not make friends
of the great and influential zemindars of the five or seven Rajwarah
villages who kept up armed men for their protection. Itis a pity he
did not send for them, and require their assistance, and take their
promises to that effect, Had this been done, I am sure that 20,000
men would have been sent for our protection, and the rebel troops
would bave retraced their steps, or, if they fought the Rritish, they
could not have then overpowered them for a very long time, and the
British relieving force would have had ample time to come to their
assistance, and they would not have been distressed for supplies and
other necessaries, and even natives would have come forward and aided
the Europeans to show their loyalty, and win a good name. I have
been told by many, on the best authority, that these great zemindars,
Rajas, &, were much annoyed at the Nana's receiving so much power
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and authority, for those zemindars were the greatest men of the
district. They lamented that they had been ignored and overlooked,
and a wicked man preferred to them, Hence, when they saw the rebels
wielding power in every direction, they too came under the control of
the robels, Had the late Magistrate issued purwanahs to the tehseel-
dars and thanadars from the commencement, directing them to summon
the zemindars of their several ilagas, and engage their active nssistance,
and cause them to appear befora the huzoor, they would have willingly
come forward to do so, and in fact the tehseeldars and other omlahs
themselves would have escaped from the claws of the rebels, and run
into the entrenchment ; but nothing of this sort was dove. If the
authorities had taken measures to obtain the assistance of these zemin=
dars, they could have got 100,000 armed men of this district, and what
could 3,000 rebel soldiers do against them ! All this massacre and
destruction was the result of giving authority to the Nana.

This journal was commenced before the mutiny, and has been
brought down to the day on which the rebellion was extingnished, and
it has been corrected after minute enquiries made, since the re-occupa-
tion of Cawnpoor by the British, to prove to the authorities that T
have been a loyal subject, and also to establish a good name, It has
now been snobmitted to the Government, under the purwanah of the
Oantonment Joint-Magistrate of Cawnpoor, dated 20th December 1858,
It appears to me necessary to record a few additional events of import-
ance ns they have come to pass. The object of writing this journal
was as follows. The daring and courage and prowess in battle of
PBritish troops is clearer than the sun at noonday. Knowing this, and
also being confident that these faithless and treacherous rebels would
be annihilated in a few days, and that close enquiry would be made into
the barbarous murders perpetrated here (when a great number of
Europeans, the servants and dependents of Government, were killed),
and the guilty ones punished, I believed that by means of this journal
1 should be classed amongst the most loyal servants of the State. But
nothing of the kind has taken place. The first and most important
point, respecting which the closest enquiry should have been made, was
who were the murderers of the unfortunate Europeans : whether the
rebel Nana alone, or other parties, too, had a hand in that massacre, and
what was the reason that gentlemen and ladies and children were thus
slaughtered in cold blood? This point has not been investigated and
cleared up by any person since the re-occnpation of Cawnpoor by the

-
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British : yet this was the primary point requiring investigation. The
fact is that the European officers, who newly came into Cawnpoor after
the restoration of British authority, were not acquainted with the
character of its people. Of those who served and joined the Nana,
some obtained offices under the British Government, and others turned
informers. These men filled the ears of the newly-arrived anthorities
with falschood and misrepresentation, and concealed the crimes of
those who should have been brought to trial, They endeavoured to
take up the time of the authorities with many frivolons details, in the
hope that they might not have leisure to take up the cases of the
more serious crimes, and so prevent the well-wishers of Government
from reminding the authorities of such things by interviews. So it
ended in this : that these evil counsellors caused a few men, who had
taken up some trade during the rebellion for fear of their lives, to be
apprehended, and then, without enquiry or proof of guilt, caused pro-
perty worth many lakhs of rupees to be confiscated partly for Govern-
ment, but mostly for their own benefit ; and thus the anthorities had no
Jeisure to hunt out the graver criminals. By those confiscations these
men gained their ends, 1.2, a portion was brought in to Government, and
the rest of the property was appropristed by themselves. Had the
heavier crimes been first enquired into, abundance of proof would have
been forthcoming, and the appeals of the proprietors of the confiscated
properties, which ended in the reversal and cancelment of the orders
of confiscation, would never have been successful. By those reversals
of the orders of confiscation, the Government has been a great loser.
There is abundance of proof for the assertion, I have made above, re-
garding the pecalation of the evil advisers who took part in the confis-
cations. For let the schedules of land confiscated, and the lists of land
made over to the auctioneer, and the account gales of the anction, and
the receipts for monies paid into the treasury, and the auction receipts
be all compared and tested with one another: they will not be found to
agree, and, as there is not a single order of confiscation now among the
office records, it is most difficult to detect the embezzlement Indeed,
I do not think an order for the attackment evén of any property could
now be traced. The above-stated opinion of mine is in accordance
with the Notification of Government, Central Provinces, No. 23, dated
18th October 1857. Thus, those evil advisers deceived and misled the
authorities to prevent enquiry being made into the graver crimes, i.e,
as to how and by whom the Europeans were murdered, and they also
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invented false accusations against those who had been loyal to the
State, so as to win the character of zealous and efficient officers, and
have their own offences concealed.  For it was reported that a new law
had boen promulgated : that those who did not reveal the crimes of
murderers and rebels would themselves be classed with rebels. Hence,
those evil counsellers so arranged matters as to prevent interviews
taking place between the authorities and loyal subjects. There are
three important points demanding close inquiry. The first is who were
the murderers of the European ladies and gentlemen ? The second is bow
did it come to pass that, after the restoration of British authority, such
a man as Azim Ally Khan was hanged, for he was near 70 years old,
and could scarcely see any object, and was deaf, and had no power to
move from one place to another, and this man also appeared before the
authorities on the re-occupation of Cawnpoor ¥ Five months after,
wicked men, who greeded for money, basely delgded the authorities and
had this poor old man hanged. The third is whether this old man's
valuable and extensive property, which was confiscated to Government,
was all brought in to Government, or not; and, if not, where has the
greater portion gone to? Alas ! those who are innocent are made the
victims of malicious prosecutions supported by tutored evidence,
taken to the scaffold, and bloodthirsty murderers are left withot® a
trial, and are even classed with loyal subjects. If I were to give
gpecifie details of all this, I should annoy the authorities, and gain no
benefit myself To crown all, Her Gracious Majesty the Queen of
England has taken compassion on these men, and issued pardon to
those who have had no hand in murdering Europeans. But as respects
the zemindars who joined the rebellion, and have now surrendered
under the proclamation, and have combined and agreed among them-
selves to conceal each other’s erimes, it is quite clear that it will mow
be impossible to find proof of the guilt of those zemindars whose
names have been recorded in this journal. But still the facts relating
to the massacre of the Europeans could be brought to light, if the
anthorities would quietly and gently ask those natives who used to be
& at the batteries of the rebels, merely to see what was going on,
and in their hearts cordially wishing success to the British,and if the
anthorities wonld pledge themselves not to bring them to trial for
going there. I am told that many such are afmid to come forward and
reveal important particulars, thinking they might be thereby subject-
ing themselves to a criminal prosecution. It is also well-known thas
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any native who resolves on acting faithfully towards the British
(overnment makes enemigs of the rest of the world. If the autho-
rities will not take this point inte considerstion, those who are loyal
have no chanee of eseape. If the Government will institute enquiries
into those proceedings, I shall do my best to bring forward the parties
who were ocular witnesses of each scene; but 1 mnke no promise te
turn plaintiff, and produce evidence on each point, for those who should
have been brought to trial have received posts under Government, and
umy eingle statement would not be suffivient.  For, from the commences
ment of the rebellion at Cawnpoor, I was obliged, owing to the deadly
enmity which the traitorous Naoa had borne me for years, to escape
with my life to the other side of the Ganges, where I remained
concealed and laid out thonsands of rupees in nets of loyalty by keep-
ing peons and servants, who brought me news while they pretended to
be well-wishers of the rebels Asother strange thing is fhat some of
the omlahs of the courts, who had been taken to the Nana by force and
violence, and who wrote for him merely to save their lives, were after-
wards deprived of their livelihood by the authorities, while those whe
deserved to be brought to trinl were rewarded with fine appointments
This iz the resson why so mauy important facts have remained
concealed.

The above was written by Donlut Pershad, and contains 124
Pegee.
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Copies of reports and despatehes velative to the protection afforded by
Maun Singh and others to fugitive Euwropeans at the outbreak
of the Sepoy Mutiny.

Extract letter from . J. Winarinip, Esg., fo G. F. Epsoxstoxe, Eeg., Secre-
tary to the Government of Indie,—(dated Gornelpore, 14 July 1857).

I have this day received a letter from Raja Mann Sing in which,
strange to say, he givesno account of the posture of affairs in Lucinow,
though he detailed the violent proceedings of some talukdars of
Sultanpore and Fyzabad, who have been imprisoning thanadars and
maltreating burkundazes; ndding that the bad intelligence from
Lucknow has emboldened them to commit these acta.

Maun Sing has eollected 50 boats on this side of the river, either
to eross the Gurkhas over, or to eross himself, should the mutineers
and rebels attack him, as they threaten.

All T see and hear of Maun Sing makes me think him staunch np
to this moment, He has exerted himself in every way to protect the
women and chidren that were left at Fyzabad, and to place them in
safety. He sent four sergeants’ wives and seven children to this place ;
but we cannot expect him to sacrifice himself for us. He has doubt-
less already made himself obnoxious to the rebels by his open adhesion
to our cause ; and if fortune goes against us at Lucknow, instead of
being able to render us any assistance, he will himself have to take
shelter here.

Maun Sing is, I know, in want of money, though he has not told
me 80, and is endeavouring to raise some from the mahajuss. If, on
my arrival at Fyzabad, I am convinced of his fidelity, and find him
capable of rendering efficient service to Government, may I give him
50,000 rupees ? T would recommend it; he could keep that distriet and

A
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Sultanpore for us better than any European officer counld; indeed, no
European officers covld be left in charge without troops to support
their authority. Maun Sing, you know, has no ilaqua from which he
can raise money ; he lost every village at summary settlement,

Abstract tranalation of' a letter, dated 11th July, from Rajah Mavs Sixe, fo the
Commiasioner of Benares.

T am thankful for your letter, all the contents of which I have under-
stood. The instructions which it conveyed, dirscting me to persevers
in my loyalty towards the British Government, have impressed them-
selves on my mind. The attachment which I have manifested to Gov-
ernment will appear from the letters which the Chief Commissioner
had addressed to me, and copies of which I have in my possession ; in
short, I am entirely a well-wisher of the British Government, and no
efforts shall be wanting on my part to do anything that I can in their
suppart. Do not consider me to be one with other foolish and short-
sighted people ; you may rest assured (of my loyalty). Accounts of the
state of affairs of this part of the country are frequently sent to the
authorities at Goruckpore, from whose letters you will have been in-
formed of the sume. In order to prove my devotion to Government, as
well as to make necessary arrangements in this place, I have not as yet
quitted Oudh,

Ezxtract letter from G. F, Epsonstoxs, Fig., Secretary fo the Government of

India, to O. J. Wizariern, Esq., in Political Charge of the Gurkha Troope

en route fo Lucknow,— (dated Fort William, the 21st July 1857).

You are authorised, if you are satisfied of Rajah Maun Sing’s
fidelity, to make him an advance of 50,000 rupees for the purpose which
you deseribe; and in doing this, you are requested to address a letter to
the Rajah, cordially thanking him, on the part of the Governor-General
n Council, for his exertions in the collection of boats for the passage of
the Gogra, and for the goodwill which he has manifested towards the
British Government, in protecting the women and children who were
compelled, by the violence of the mutinous regiments, to fly from the
province. And he should further be assured that every expense which
he has incurred in the collection of boats, or otherwise, will be eventually
defrayed by this Covernment.

You will also be pleased to explain to him that circumstances have
rendered it necessary to change the route of the Nepaulese troops.
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Ertract paragraph 19 of Report by My, Patguson, the Magistrafe of Goruckpore,
dated 2nd July 1857.

14th June 1857.—A letter was addressed by me to Rajah Maun Sing,
requesting to be mnformed if he expected to succeed in restoring order
to Fyzabad and the neighbourhood. That Rajah has given great
apparent proof of a desire to serve our Government. He has replied to
my letter, and has subsequently twice addressed me most courteously,
expressing his sense of duty and subservience to the British Govern-
ment. He has afforded protection to all those of the officers and their
families at Fyzabad who were willing to sccept it, and has since con-
veyed them in safety to the house of the Rajah of Gopalpore in this
distriot, who has procured for them good boats and provisions, by means
of which assistance they have proceeded by river towards Dinapore.
The Rajah has also established a second post between this place and
Fyzabad, and I am using endeavours to procure and convey to Sir
Henry Lawrence his letters and those of the European imhabitants of
Lucknow.

From G. F. Eomonsrosn, Key, Secrefary to the Government of India, d0 0, J.
Wixorieww, Esg., in Political Charge of the Gurbba Fuoree,—(dated Fort
William, Srd duguel I857).

The Government has received n report from Mr. Paterson, the
Magistrate of Goruckpore, of the services rendered by Rajah Maun Sing,
since the outbreak in Oudh. With reference to this, I am directed by
the Governor-General in Council to observe that you have already been
authorised to present 50,000 rupess to the Rajah ; to thank him on the
part of the Government for his exertions in saving some of the ladies
and children, and in securing boats at Fyzabad for the passage of the
Gogra ; and to assure him that ull the expenses incurred by him will be
ultimately repaid. A khureetah from myself to the above effect is
herewith enclosed containing also the assurance that any service which
he may render to the Government will be borne in mind. .

Exiract letter from the Secretary fo the Government of India, to the Commissioner
gff Benares and Agent to Governor-General,—{dated Fort William, the Srd
August 1857).

Reports have been received by Government from the Magistrate of

Goruckpore stating the services rendered by Rajah Maun Sing of

Fyzabad, and from the Sessions J udgu of Goruckpore, in which mention
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is made of the good conduct of the Rajah of Bansee in succouring the
British officers from Qonda, Baraitch, and Secrora.

With reference to Rajah Maun Sing, I am directed by the Governor-
General in Council to observe that Mr. Wingfield has already been
authorised to present 50,000 rupees to the Rajah;to thank him on the
part of Government for his exertions in saving some of the ladies and
children, and in securing boats at Fyzabad for the passage of the Gogra ;
and to assure him that all the expenses incurred by him will be
ultimately repaid.

A khureetah for the Rajah to the above effect will be sent to Mr.
Wingfield, for presentation or transmission to him. A copy is enclosed
for your information.

From G, F. Evuoxstong, Euyg., Seeretary to the Government of India, fo Soonuvy
Sixo,— (dated Fort William, the Srd August 1857).

After compliments.

I have been informed that during the late disturbance at Benares,
you, through fidelity and sincerity, and with great tact and bravery, en-
couraged the Sikh sepoys who were then on guard at the Treasury to
remain faithful to their salt, so that in consequence the treasure was
preserved,

You also accompauied the British troops into the district when there
was a further disturbance, and acted with great bravery and spirit, being
sgverely wounded on the oceasion.

This fidelity and honourable conduct on your part has been most
gratifying to me, I have therefore conferred on you and on your legiti-
mate heirs mule in perpetuity an allowance of 400 rupees a month, and
a khillut of 5,000 rupees is herewith presented to you.

I do not doubt that you will continue to show faithfulness and zeal
towards the British Government, in which case you may rest assured that
the favour of Government will never be withdrawn from yourself and
your relations.

Translation of a letler from My, Tvckes, Commissioner of Benares, to Risan
Maux Sixo, of Fysabad,—(dated S0th June 1857).

It is known that since the Native regiments mutinied and killed

their officers, you have, as far as was in your power, arranged for the

province of Fyzabad. I have therefore for this reason, and also because I

—
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formerly enjoyed your friendship when at Goruckpore, written to you
this letter, to apprise you that if you make proper arrangements, and act
on the side of the English Government, you will find it greatly to your
advantage ; for although many Hindustanee regiments, which mmy be
considered as the hands and feet of Government, have mutinied, and
thus for a moment have rendered the Government as it were without
hands and feet, especially as many European regiments had also been
sent to Persin and China, and Government had placed implicit confi-
dence in the Hindustanee regiments, yet this weakness will be but of
extremely short duration. .

Four European regiments with artillery from Caleatta have to-day
marched from Allahabad for Cawnpore and Lucknow, under command
of General Havelock, They will probably reach Cawnpore in eight days
and thence going to Lucknow they will quickly annihilate the rebels
there, and make proper arrangements for the province. Besides this
3,000 Gurkhas from Nepaul are marching through Goruckpore and
Fyzabad to Lucknow.

Soon there will be collected such an army as will grind to the dust
every ill-disposed person. The fort of Delhi has also been taken, and
numbers of the enemy slain. The king is imploring for mercy. The
China regiments, amounting to ten regiments, have been stopped and
sent to Hindustan, They will shortly arrive in Caleutta.

When this army, which was sufficient for (conquering) China, shall
arrive, then all proper arrangements will be made ; and those persons
who, thinking Government are weak, act rebelliously, shall be punished
in such a manner as to show them that though the Government hav-
ing sent two English armies to Persia and China, and relying on the
Hindustanee army, by the faithlessness of that Hindustanee army
has been temporarily weakened, yet the well-kuown vigour of the
English state still remains intact. As they have conquered India from
Calentta to Peshawur, so by the blessing of God will they continue in
possession of it, and will be even stronger than before; for in conse-
quence of the faithlessuess of the Hindustanee army, greater reliance
will be placed in the European forces, which will be very mn&idemblj
increased both in infantry and cavalry, You should think well of these
things, and do all in your power to establish the rule of Government
in and around Fyzabad, that the Commissioner and also his Lordship
the Governor-General being pleased with your services may confer
favours upon yuu ; if not, you should well understand that those people
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who do not now side with Government, or who merely make a pretence
of doing so, will not find it well with them hereafier.

I write only that which is true;the punishmert of these men will
be seen hereafter. It is the custom of our vation that, though in times
of prosperity, being negligent and putting too much confidence in
others, we may suffer injury, yet when adversity comes we remain
firm and determined in our purpose, and relax not in our exertions
until our object is accomplished.

You will =ee that in the ensning cold season many English regi-
ments will come into the province, and make proper arrangements for
the care of it.

The people of England, when they hear of these mutinies and
murders, will, as you will see, despatch a numerous army, so that their
might and power here will be established with twofold firmness, If
you have any doubt in this matter, ask (General J ung Bahadur, whe
has been himselfin England, and can tell you what of the power of
the English he saw there. I hope yon will send me an answer to this,

From G. P. Eoxoxstoxe, Esq., Seeretary o the Government of India wilh the
Governor-General, to C. J. Wixerien, Evg., Commissioner o Goruckpore,
—(No. 67, dated Camp Allakabad, 16¢A February 1858).

It has come to the knowledge of the Right Hon'ble the Gavernor-
General that Rajah Maun Sing has
lately sent into Goruckpore a Mrs,
Duhan and three children, who were in captivity at Lucknow, and
that he has been making overtures in his own behalf to Mr, Brereton,
the Magistrate,

2. The Governor-General, therefore, considers it importunt that
both Brigadier-General Macgregor and yourself should be in possession
of his views, as to the terms which may properly be conceded to Maun
Sing, and should be prepared to give him a definite answer, if he
should renew his overtures, I am accordingly desired to convey to you
the following instructions,

3. If, as may be anticipated, Rajah Maun Sing should address
you in terms indicating a disposition to treat, you are authorised to in-
form him that the Governor-General is aware of the goodwill which he
exhibited towards the British Government by saving the lives of many
Earopean ladies and others at the commencement of the outbreak, and
causing them to be removed in safety from Oudh ;that his Lordship

Foreign Department.
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has also been made acquainted with the fact of his having rescued
Mrs. Duban and her children from captivity, and delivered them safely
into the hands of British officers, as well as with the endeavours in
which he has been recently engaged, having for their object the release
of other Buropean and Eurasian subjects of the Government, who
are believed to be in custody at Lucknow. You will add that, though
unable in the present state of his information to absolve Rajah Maun
Sing from the imputation of having participated in the insurrection,
and shared in the armed opposition by which the troops of the British
Government were met on their advance to relieve the Lucknow Resi-
dency, the Right Hon'ble the Governor-General is prepared to re-
cognise to their full extent the humanity and the good feeling which
have been manifested by the Rajah in the protection of Europeans
from the perils which surrounded them, aud is willing to guarantee to
him security of life and honour on submission, without further condi-
tions, to the justice of the British Goverument. The Rajah may be as-
sured that no time shall be lost in bringing his conduct during the past
eight months under an impartial, although striet, investigation ; and
that, though the Governor-General must reserve until the close of that
inguiry his decision as to the position which the Rajah shall henceforth
occupy as a subject of the British Government, he will be treated dur-
ifig its continuance with consideration,

4 A copy of this letter will be sent to Brigadier-General
Macgregor, and he will be desired, if Maun Sing should submit any
proposals to him, to deal with them in accordance with the foregoing
instroctions.

5. You will strictly prohibit Mr. Brereton, and all other officers
subordinate to you, as will Brigadier-General Macgregor, from replying
-to any letters that may be addressed to them by Rajah Maun Sing.
If any subordinate officer should receive such, it will be his duty sim-
ply to acknowledge their receipt, and to forward them to his superior ;
either Brigadier-General Macgregor or yourself,

Demi-official from C. J. Wixarisrn, Esq., to the Secretary to the Gaovernment of
India,—(dated Goruckpore, Gth February 1858,

Mrs. Duhan, the woman whom Rajah Maun Sing promised to make
over to us, has been sent in by him, and she arrived at this station last
night. She is a half-caste and of Native manners ; but her children are
of lighter complexion. Her story is that she was in the Baillie
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Guard, but went out in the day before the fight at Chinhut to visit her
relations in another part of the town (for she was born and bred in
Lucknow), and was unable to return, the sepoys having invested the
place. She was placed under charge of Nawab Mahomed Tukkhee
Khan, who treated her very kindly, and subsequently of Durryah
Wahid Alee, who also behaved well to her. He told Maun Sing to take
her with him to Shahgunge, and she left Lucknow in Maun Sing's
company exactly 22 days ago. She speaks confidently to Mrs. O a
Miss Jackson, and another lady, name nnknown, being still alive, and
under the care of the same Durryah Wahid Alee. She had not seen
them, however, for they were in a different part of the city. About five
months ago, she says, during the rains, 32 women, children, and men
were bronght into Lucknow from the districts, and there murdered.

She does not know their names, but heard that one of the victims
was brought to bed only two days before. About two months back
Captain Orr and some five or six other geutlemen were murdered ; the
three ladies before alluded to as still alive were of this party.

Besides these, she mentions many East Indians and their families
still living in Lucknow. Mrs. Hare and family; Mrs. Wroughton and
family ; Mrs, Francis and family ; Mrs. Baily and family ; most of these
she says are so dark that they pass for Natives, and are in no
of their lives. They are not even confined or watched. Nawabs
Munowur-oo- Dowlah and Mosoom-o0-Dowlah were plundered of every-
thing, and the former was imprisoned and cruelly maltreated. She re-
presents the mother of the boy whom they have set up for king as very
bloodthirsty, and having herself given the order for the execution of
prisoners. The chief officers or generals, as they are termed, of the
rebels are Munnoo Khan, Shurf-oo-Dowlah, (the Cashmeres), Mirza
Hyder, who got & pension from our Government, and Mozuffer Khan,
When she left Lucknow it was full of sepoys, at 60,000 she heard their
nnmber stated ; but these were not all old sepoys, more than half were
recruits, for whenever a sepoy is killed in action, another man is
enlisted in his place. There are two men who make gun caps in
Lucknow,’and the price is 20 rupees a seer ; this seems strange, but the
Rajah of Bulrumpore has told me the same thing.

Maun Sing, she says, told her he did not mean to fight against us,
for he saw how hopeless it was, and he wished to save his life. He
told her he should ‘try"and get the other ladies away from Lucknow,
and she kuows he is spending money,with that object.
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I enclose a copy of the letter Brereton addressed to <Maun Sing,
acknowledging the arrival of the woman, Ithink he should have ex-
pressed himself with more reserve.

Helegraph message, from 3. F. Evumossroxn, Exq., fo C. Baavow, Esy., Culeutia,
—(dated Allakabyd, 9th Februwary 1658),

Maun Sing has sent in to Mr. Brereton's camp a Mrs, Duhan aud
three children. We have also heard from Mr. Osborne of Bustes that
Miss Jackson and Mrs, Orr, and another lady, name unknown, also
many Eurasians and their families, have been brought by Maua Sing
from Lucknow. Among others Mrs. Hare, Mrs, Wroughton, Mrs
Francis, Mrs, Short and Mrs, Baily, with their families, are mentioned,

From G. Covrer, Eeg., Secretary to the Chief Commizsioner, Oudl, fo the Seere-
fary to the Governmenl of Tndia, with the Gﬂnﬂlur-ﬂﬂ!rmﬂ—@ﬂﬂf Camp,
Alum Bagh, 5th February 1858).

I am directed to submit the following accounts of the preseut
aspect of affairs in Oudh for the information of the Right Hon'ble the
Governor-General.

2. Maun Sing is said to be regarded both by the durbar and by
the sepoys ns their best friend, He is now somewhere in the direction
of Fyzabad. This powerful and influential chieftain, on leaving the
city, wrote to the Ohief Commissioner, requesting orders, and stating
that he and his adherents were at the service of the British. He was
told in reply to send in the European captives, This, however, the
Chief Commissioner is convineed it is out of hia power to do, as their
safe keeping affects 0 many rival and conflicting interests. His vakeel,
Anunt Ram, is still near the unfortunate ladies, and oceasionally sends
a letter from them, It appears almost certain that if Maun Sing were
to espouse our causs, & very large number of the principal landholders
in Oudh would follow his example.

3. All those men who have been nctively engaged agninst the
British are selling their Government promissory notes at 85 and 88 per
cent. discount. The mahajuns are the purchasers, and they at once
remit the paper to Calcutta. Shah Beharrylall and Salig Ram have
been the principal buyers.

4 Rajah Nawab Aly Khan of Mahmoodabad, and Rajah Deo
Bux'Sing of Gondah, are exerting themselves actively in collecting
followers, and in making preparations for defence,
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5. A-man uvamed Hubb Ali Khan, who was Tehsildar of
Sectapore, has just reported himself at this camp. The Chief Com-
missioner does not altogether like the account he gives of himself, of
having been in hiding until now.

The Conneil who exercised the functions of the Chief Commis-
sioner during the short temporary illness of Sir H. Lawrence in June
last made this man an extra assistant, on reeeiving his account of the
massacre at Seetapore. The Chief Commissioner does not think that
this appointment should at present receive the sanction of Government,

The ouly important information that Hubb Ali gives is, that the
powerful landholders are determined to resort to their forts and to their
jungles and from thence maintain o system of dacoity and of guerilla
warfare, until they compel us to restore them to their former status
This statement is confirmed by authentic intelligence from the city,
from which the Chief Commissioner gathers that the sepoys openly
speak of the impossibility of successfully opposing our advance, and
their intention of going out in gangs into the districts and leading &
life of rapine and plunder,

Demi-official from C. F. Wixariern, Esg., o the Secretary to the Government af
India,—(dated Goruckpore, 29tk Jaunwary 1855),

I enclose a letter received by Brereton, whois at Bilwa opposite
Fyzabad, from Maun Sing, and his reply. The messenger who brought
the letter to Brereton stated that Maun Sing was anxious to come in,
and Brereton writes that he told him to inform his master that * he had
no authority to offer him terms,” but that the best thing he conld do
would be to show himself at once on our side by occupying the ghats, and

I may mantion that the lady is the wite  Making the hoats over to us That
8l & worchant st Allshsbad. the lndy and Eh.i.ldrﬂp could be made
over at the same time, and that in this case he would do his best to
procure him some consideration on the part of Government, and this
was the only possible means by which he could save himself from utter
destruction. I do not at all approve of Brereton’s proceedings in this
matter. Maun Bing, you will observe, in his letter, confined himself to
making a representation about the European lady, and Brereton should,
in his reply, have also confined himself to that topic. To the verbal
assurances of Maun Sing's good disposition, conveyed by the messenger,
Brereton should have paid no attention. for he had no authority to
meet such advances; still less should he have replied to them in writing,
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by inviting Maun Sing to come over to him. Brereton goes on to say
that it is well worth while to give Maun Sing a promise of his life, for
the sake of securing the passage of the river unopposed. 1 have told
him this is no business of his; he has nothing to do with the forcing
the passage of the Gogra, and had no right to enter into a considera-
tion of the question at what cost such an ohject could be effected.

In the eause of humanity, however, he is right to try and save the
women and children, and there is no objection to his telling Maun Sing
that such an act of humanity would of course tell in his favour. But
I have strictly interdictad him from offering any terms to Maun Sing,
or from entering into any eommunication with him on the subject of
his (Maun Sing’s) personal safety. And should Maun Sing make over-
tures with that view, I have ordered Brereton to reply that he has no
authority to entertain them, and that the proper person for Maun Sing
to address them to is Sir Jumes Outram, the Chief Commissioner.

It seems proper that the Supreme Government should be apprised
of these proceedings, To save the post, 1 am obliged to write demi-
officially.

Translation gf a letter from Ratzam Mavs Sixo, dated 705 Jumadoos Sanee, 1274
Hijroe, corresponding with 23rd January 1838, fo the Magistrafe of

Gornckpore.

After compliments, states that when Lucknow was besieged a
mercantile gentleman named * Dobarun ” joined the British Govern-
ment, and entered the entrenchments of the Baillie Guard (Residency),
and when the garrison was relieved, this gentleman also eseaped alive
and went to Allahabad ; but his wife and little girl, when he entered
the entrenchments, remained behind, and managed, with great diffi-
culty, to live on in the City of Lucknow. That he (Maun Sing], act-
ing in accordance with the advice of the Chief Commissioner, has
brought the lady and child away with him, with great difficulty, for the
purpose of sending them to Allahabad ; but that as the road is not open,
he canmot do so; represents, therefore, that if the magistrate can
manage to send them to their destination, he (Maun Sing) is prepared to
make them over.

Pranslation of veply from Mr. Bumneros, Magutrate, o Mavs Bive,—([daded
28k Jaunary 1838),

Your letter, mentioning the safety of a lady and child, professing
your readiness to send them in and your own good wishes, has been
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From U. Wiseriuwn, Esg., Commissioner, Goruckpore, to W. Mun, Esg , Secrefary
to Government, North-Wertern Provinees,—(No, 49, dated Goruckpore,
12K Felbruary 1858),

I enclose copy of a letter addressed by Rajah Maun Sing to the
Magistrate, Mr, Brereton, and at the same time report on the relations
of this district with Oudh.

2, It appears, by our latest information from Fyzabad and Gonda
which comes down to the 10th instant, that the Rajah of Gonds, who
lately suffered a defeat from the Gurkha division at Bilwa, is still,
with some 5,000 men at Naiwaukgnunge, eight miles off, and in expee-
tation of being joined by a large body of sepoys, and other insurgents
from Fyzabad. At the latter place a large force of rebels, including
about 5,000 sepoys, is collected. Among these are two regiments com-
posed of Bhojpeor men, under the command of Burkrishu Siug, t.]:m

nephew of Roor Sing of Arrah.

3. The sepoys promise to cross the Gogra to the aid of the
Gonda insurgents, and invade Gorockpore if their arrears of pay are
made good ; and Mahomed Hossein, who has been for the last ten days
at Fyzabad, has advanced them a considerable sum, and is making great
exertions to satisfy their demands in full.

I have always thought it certain that as soon as the Maharajah's
army crossed the Gogra, this district would be invaded by the combined
forces of the insurgents; but as Natives never do anything at the right
moment, it seems highly probable they will not wait for the Gurkhas
crossing to the other side to enter this district, and this is the very best
thing that could have been for us.

5. The Bhojpoor sepoys must, at some tifne or other, have in view
an escape to their own homes; a road would lie open to them either by
the right bank of the Gogra, or through this district ; the former wonld
be closed as soon as the Maharajah’s army crosses,

6. On Maun Sing's conduct 1 look with some distrust, which his
letter does not tend to remove. Our Fyzabad news-writer, whose in-
formation has invariably proved correct, reports that the Rajah has had
an interview with some of the sepoy officers, and has agreed to
their proposal to invade this district, and moved three of his guns down
to the ghat. It would be quite consistent with his known character for
duplicity to infer that, while aiding the insurgents, he is trying to keep
well with us; and his avowal of his intention to proceed to Ajoodhyn
with the expression of a hope that his motive may not be misinterpreted
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looks very much as if he were trying to play the game of deception
to the last moment Tt is true this is a great bathing-day with
Hindus, but that would be the very time Maun Sing would select to
cloak a hostile design. It must be admitted, however, that his nen-
trality up to the present time has paralysed the plans of the insurgents,
and has made him the object of their indignation. Had he declared
himself openly against us, the district would long ago have been
invaded.

I have told you that the Maharajah could not be induced to leave
two of his guns at Goruckpore, but substituted three condemned ones,
captared from Mahomed Hossein, which I have been cautioned by the
artillery officer against attempting to fire. General Macgregor, how-
ever, has promised, if he cannot persunde the Maharajah to change his
mind, to leave two of the guns of the Naval Brigade.

8. The division of the Gurkha army is still at Bilwa, and
General Macgregor has instructed the officer in command to attack the
rebels if assembled within ten miles’ distance of him.

Translation of a letter from Rasam Mavy Sive, fo Mr. BrerEron, —{dated S0tA

"Buddee of Fagoon, 1265 Fuslee, corresponding iwith 8th February 18559),

After compliments. T have been gratified by the receipt of your
kind letter, intimating the arrival of a lady and three children whom
I had sent to you. '

In regard to the thanks which you have been kind enough to offer
to me for my exertions in sending the said lady and children to you, I
request that you will consider me as ever obedient to the orders of the
Government,

Though I have been obliged, for the fear of my honour and
dignity, to keep up an amicable appearance with the rebels, yet, if you
reflect on this matter with attention, you will find me as attached in
every respect to the interests of the Government,

As you have wished me to send (to you) those ladies and children
who were in the custody of the rebels, I beg to say that the wife of
Mr. Joseph, son of Johannes, a merchant, has left Lucknow, and js
shortly expected here ; on her arrival here I will inform you.

You may rest assured that I will not spare any effort to send in

those ladies and children who may come into my hands ; but it rests
with God.



It is necessary for me to represent to mh&ﬁaﬂﬁﬂﬂ'
- Sheorat being near at hand, I:hﬂllheundertbnwnf o
d AJmﬂhﬂhMﬂhﬂd&p,mmmmmmmm :
T make this previous representation to you, lest anybody should misre-
present to you the cause of my visit to that place. Ifmhﬁnuldﬁﬁ; .
pen, I trust you will not forget this mpmnhhmofmmt,amaﬁi

- different characters are to be found everywhere.
PB.—antﬂaBmgmﬂrarhﬂymturmthﬁo&uﬂ&
mluswhmhm worthy of being communicated to you. I hope you
will attend to all his representations, -
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GENERAL ORDERS by the Right Hon'blo the Governor-General of India
in Council,—dated Foré William, 15tk August 1857,

No. 1031 of 1857.—His Excellency General Sir Colin Campbell,
G.0.B.,, appointed by Her Majesty to be Commander-in-Chief of Her
Majesty’s and all other forces serving in the East Indies, having arrived
on the 13th instant, assumed command of the Army in India on that
date,

Ordered, that all returns of the Army be made, in the usual man-
ner, to General Sir Colin Campbell, 6.c.B,, as Commander-in-Chief,

His Excellency Lisutenant-General Sir Patrick Grant, K.C.B, Acting
Commander-in-Chief in Bengal, will return to Madras and resume the
command of the Army at the Presidency of Fort St. George.

The Governor-General in Couneil directs that all the honours and
distinetions paid to the Commander-in-Chief of all the forces in Bengal
shall be continued to His Excellency Lisutenant-General Sir P. Grant,
E.0.R, until his departure for Madras,

(Signed) R. J. H. BINCH, Cul,
Seay. to the Gort. of India, Mily. Dept.

GENERAL ORDERS ij His E.rtuﬂnf.,r the Commander-in-Chief,—duted
Caleutta, 17th Auguat 1557,

Her Majesty having been graciously pleased to appoint me Com-
mander-in-Chief of the forces in India, in the room of the late ln-
mented General the Hon'ble George Anson, and Her Majesty having
also been graciously pleased to confer upon me the rank of General in
the East Indies, I now assume the command of the Army in India.

In doing so it affords me the highest satisfaction to find under my
orders sroops who have so fully proved themselves, in the recent arduous

4]
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received, and has gratified me. If you will bring the lady and child
here, it will he the better for you: be assured that it is no part of my
intention to seize you by a subterfuge; but at the present time the
best thing you can do is to come in,

£.8~1If yon have any hesitation about coming in yourself at
present, do not let there be any hesitaticn or delay in sending in the
lady and the ehild,

From C. Wiwarmenn, Esg, to the Seoretary to the Government of Indis,—(dafed
Goruckpore, 3nd Felpruary 18585).

I send you a copy of another letter since received by Brereton from
Maun Sing, though it is dated eight days back. Brereton has informed
him that his letter has been sent on to me for orders, My answer will
be the same that I directed Brereton to give to all such communications,
wiz., that I had no authority in the affairs of Oudh; my concern was
only with the district of Goruckpore, and that if he had anything to
say he should address himself to the Chief Commissioner, T

It is unnecessary to comment on the absurdity of the pretence
that he had been commissioned by General Cutram to provide supplies
for the Gurkha armny, or of his feigned astonishment at the occupation
of his house at Bilwa Baznar, seeing that his bouse and property at
Benares were confiscated four months ago. His object plainly is to know
how be is regarded by our Government, and what its intentions are
towards him, and to shape his course accordingly. If he sees no hope
of mercy he will fight, but if he thinks he has not sinned past forgive-
ness, he will remain neutral now. .

I have made Macgregor acquainted with these communications,
and he leans to the idea of detaching Maun Sing from the hostile
league ;my own opinion is quite the reverse. In the first place, I
should hope that with three powerful armies closing in on Oudh, we
are strong enough not to need to buy off the hostility of any rebel, how-
ever powerful.  Secondly, Maun Sing is, I should think, the very lnst
man who ought to be selected ns an object of clemency. He has not
the excuse of having been hurried into insurn ction by the foree of
example, the impetucsity of his feelings, or even regard for his personal
safety. He withstood all these trials, for it was on mature reflection,
and after weighing all the chances on either side, that he chose that of
rebellion. As long as he thought the success of the insurrection was but
transient, and that our Government would speedily recover its position
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he professed loyalty, and even supported us; but when he heard that
the Gurkhas were not to march through Fyzabad and that Havelock
had been obliged to abandon his design of relieving the Residency
and to retire on Cawnpore, he thought our cause hopeless, and joined
what appeared the triumphant side. He has now found out his mis-
take, and wishes to turn again. But if ever a man took a step advis-
edly, it was Maun Sing. As to the great advantage to be expected
from detaching him from the hostile league, I confess I am doubtful on
that point also. It was very well to keephim from going into rebellion
when his example might influence others, but now it is only a ques-
tion of having 5,000 men more or less against us, and we have a force
to erush 50,000,

I feel assured in my own mind that Maun Sing has made overtures
to Sir James Outram which have been rejected, therefore he applies to
us, hoping to lead us into making some pledge which might prevent
the Government from proceeding to extremities against him, but in
this he is mistaken. I am not going to commit myself.

Abstract transtation of a letter from Bazan Mavy SBixe fo Mr. Bauneren.

After compliments, states that on sending his agent according te
the Chief Commissioner’s directions to collect supplies and boats for
our troops, he was surprised to hear that it was the intention of the
Government to tuke possession of his territory. He does not credit the
report, but thinks it derives confirmation from the fact of his houses at
yarious places being confiscated, and his men having he_i:u seized,
Does not know whether this resolution has been made as a reward for
his services at Fyzabad at the time of the outbreak, or whether Mr.
Wingficld has given the order. Wishes to have his suspicions dispelled
by an assurance that no evil is meditated against him. As regards his
going to Lucknow, says that at a time when life and property were
endangered, it was not strange that he should have gone to Lucknow to
ensure the safety of his family. He is uot to blame for this, and says
that notwithstanding all the fighting going on, he did not join the rebels
in sttacking our troops, Calls to mind his good service in protecting
European men, Women, and children, and his exertions in collecting
supplies, boats, &c, Awaits orders as to his proceedings, which he
promises to obey,
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cperations in the field, to be what I have ever known British soldiers
wm every quarter of the globe, courageous, faithful, obedient and en-
during.

In former years, I have commanded Native troops of India, and
by their side I have been present in many battles and victories in which
they have nobly borne their part; and it is to me a subject of deep
concern to learn that soldiers of whom I have been nccustomed to
think so favourably should now be arrayed in open and defiant mutiny
against a Government, proverbial for the liberality and paternal consie
deration with which it has ever treated its servants of every denomi-
ey

" When T join the force now in the field restoring order to the
districts disturbed by the disaffection of the Army of Bengal, I shall,
at the head of the British troops and of those Native soldiers whao,
though few in number, have not feared to separate themselves from
their faithless comrades, and to adhere to their duty, feel my old confi-
dence that they will march to certain victory.

I shall not fail to notice, and the powerful Government” which 1
have the honour to serve will not fail to reward, every instanee of fidelity
aund valour shown by the troops under my command,

Ieall upon the officers and men of both European and Native
troops zenlously to assist in the task before us; and, by the blessing of

God, we shall soon again see Indin tranquil and prosperous.

(Signed) C. CAMPBELL, Geni,
Commander-in-Chief,

Ertract from a letter addrested by Sir Jases Ovrnan, fo His” Excellency the Com.
mander-in- Chief,—dated Alumbagh, Snd January 15858,

I trost that you will forgive me for bringing /a small personal
matter to your private notice which has caused me
ance, for such consideration as you may think it d

I perceive from the published despate
scribing the operations

some slight annoy-
eserving of,
h of Sir Henry Havelock, de-
connected with his entrance into Lucknow for
the relief of the garrison, the lamented Genera] therein states that,
after taking the Chutter Munzil, we held a mmamtfun, at which [
recommended that we should remain where we were, while he advo-
eated pushing on at once, and adopted the latter oonrse,
It seems (o me that a dispassionate peruser of the

above passage
would infer that the relief of the garrison was due to Gen

ernl Havelock's
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adoption of his own views in preference to mine,and I therefore wish to
explain that I proposed a halt of only o few hours’ duration, in order
to enable the rear-guard, with which were all our heavy guns, the bag-
gage, and the doolies containing our wounded, to come up, by which
time the whole foree would have oeccupied the Chutter Munzil in seeu-
rity, which we were then holding, and from which we could have effected
our way to the Residency by opening communication through the in-
tervening palaces ; in a less brilliant manner, it 18 true, but with ecom-
paratively little loss; at the same time offering to show the way
through the street if he preferred it. I submit that the result proved
the soundness of my advice. General Havelock pushed on withont
waiting for the rear-guard, which was consequently cut off for two nights
and a day, not effecting its entrance to the entrenchment untl the morn-
ing of the 2Tth, and then only at a heavy sacrifics of life, and the loss of
a nine-pounder gun and much baggage, and still more sad to relats,
at the cost of the lives of very many wounded officers and men,
who were cut up in their doolies. (N. B—The return of killed doring

that period was 61 and 77 missing. The latter being the unfortunate

wounded} This disaster would have been prevented, had the rear-guard
been allowed to come up before we vacated the Chutter Munzil, as our
light artillery from thence would have kept down the fire from the
Kaiser Bagh, which was the principal canse of all the casunlties. And
the wounded were murdered at the entrance of the Chutter Munazil,
which we bad vacated. * #* . e

It may seem to Your Excellency that I should have made these
observationa before, and 1 have therefore to state that I should certainly
have requested the General to modify that passage in his despatch
in which he mentions that I was desirous of a halt, had my name ap-
peared in the official original which was forwarded through me by Cossid
to Captain Bruce, for transmission to Your Excellency. But as such
was not the case, I can only conclude that it was subsequently inter-
polated without the knowledge of General Havelock, when (on hearing
that the original had miscarried) a copy was furnished which did not
pass through my hands.

I am well aware that, in surrendering the command to Genersl
Havelock, I left him at undoubted liberty to put on record his own im-
pressions regarding the conduct of the operations; but I am sure thap

if he were alive, he would at once assent to the correctness of what I
have above stated.

-
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It 18 with no desire of controversy, or any wish to reflect injuri-
ously on the illustricus dead, that I mention the above facts for your
private information. T thiok it only due to my professional reputation,
however, to put you, my superior officer, in possession of the real facts of
the case, because if the despateh, as it stands, gives you the impression
(which, I think, I am justified in assuming it might do) that General
Havelock accomplished such an achievement as that of the relief of
Lucknow by adopting a course of action contrary to that which I had
recommended, it wounld naturally shake your confidence in me, and lead
you, not unreasonably, to doubt my fitness to undertake the conduct of
similar, or other military operations.

GENERAL ORDER by the Right Hon'ble the Governor-General
of India in Council, dated Fort William, 30th December 1857,
No. 1665 of 1857.—The Right Hon'ble the Governor-General of
India in Council having received last evening a complete nominal roll
of officers, members of the Uncovenanted Service, and women and
children of the Garrizon of Lucknow, is pleased to direct the publica-
tion of that document for general information.

NOMINAL ROLL of officers, Members of the Unecovenanted Service,
and women and children of the Lucknow Garrison.

GFeneral Staff.

Brigadier-General Sir H. M. Lawrence, Chief Commissioner
killed; Lieutenant Hutchinson, A.-D.-C.: Captain Hayes, Military
Secretary, killed ; Captain Edgell, Officiating ; Captain Wilson, Deputy
Assistant Adjutant-General, contused, recovered ; Lieutenant Hardinge
Deputy Assistant Quartermaster-General, twice wounded, recovered ;
Lieutenant James, Sub-Assistant Commissary-General, wounded, doing
well; Major Anderson, Chief Engineer, dead ; Major Marriott, Pension
Paymaster,

Brigade Staff.

Brigadier Handscomb, Commanding Oudh Brigade, killed ; Briga-
dier Inglis, Commanding the Garrison; Lieutenant Birch, A.-D.-C,
slightly wounded, recovered; Lieutenant Barwell, Town and Fort

Adjutant, Officiating Major of Brigade; Captain Carnegie, Provoste
Marshal,

. V8
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Artillery.

Captain Simons, wonoded, since dead ; 1st-Lieutenant Alexander,
wounded, recovered, sinee killed; 1st-Lieutenant Thomas (Madras) ;
2nd-Lieutenant Lewin, killed; 2nd-Lieutenant Bryce, wounded,
since dead ; 2nd-Lieutenant Booham, wounded three times, doing
well ; 2nd-Lieutenant J. Alexander, slightly wounded, recovered ;
2nd-Lieutenant MacFarlan, wounded, doing well; 2nd-Lieutenant
Cunliffe, wonnded, since dead,

Engineers.

Captain Fulton, Garrison Engineer, killed ; Licutenant Anderson
(Madras), Officiating ; Lieutenant Innes.

7th Regiment Light Cavalry.

Lieutenant-Colonel Master ; Captain Staples, killed; Captain
Radcliffs, wounded, since dead; Captain Boileau, slightly wounded,
recovered | Lieutenant Arthur, killed; Lieutenant Boulton, killed;
Lieutenant Warner, Adjutant ; Lientenant Martin, killed ; Lieutenant
Farquhar, wounded, convalescent ; Lieutenant Raleigh, killed ; Surgeon
Campbell ; Veterinary Surgeon Hely, killed; Riding-master Eldridge,
killed.

Her Mujeaty's 32nd Foof.

Lieutenant-Colonel Case, killed ; Major Lowe, Commanding, twice
wounded, deing well; Captain Steevens, killed; Captain Mansfield,
dead ; Captain Power, wounded, since dead ; Captain Bassano, wounded,
recovered ; Captoin McCabe, mortally wounded, since dead; Lieu-
tenant Lawrence ; Lieutenant Edmondstoune, twice.wounded, doing
well : Lieutenant Webb, killed; Lieutenant Foster, wounded, recov-
ered ; Lieutenant Clery ; Lieutenant Brown ; Lieutenant Brackenbury,
killed ; Lieutenant Harmer, wounded, doing well ; Lieutenant Cook,
slightly wounded, recovered; Ensign Charlton, wounded, doing well ;
Ensign Studdy, killed ; Paymaster Giddings ; Quartermaster Strib-
bling ; Surgeon Scott, M. D.; Assistant Surgeon Boyd,

Detachment, Her Majesty's 84th Foot,

Lieutenant O'Brien, wounded, recovered ; Ensign McGrath,

15th Regiment, Native Infaniry.

Major Bruere, killed; Captain Waterman, wounded, recovered ;
Captain Germon; Captain Francis, killed; Lieutenant Aitken,
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Quarter-master ; Lieutenant Chambers, Adjutant, wounded, doing well ;
Lieutenant Cubitt, wonnded, recovered : Lieutenant Thain; Lieu-
tonant Loughnan ; Ensign Green, dead ; Surgeon Pitt.

4ist Regiment, Native Infantry.

Major Apthorp; Captain Kemble, wounded, recovered; Captain
Sanders; Lientenant Ruggles; Lieutenant Graves, dead ; Lieutenant
Darrah ; Lisutenant Inglis, wounded, recovered; Lieutenant Keir;
Ensign McGregor, dead ; Ensign Hewitt, slightly wounded, reeovered ;
Surgeon Macdonald, dead.

45th Regiment, Native Infantry.

Lientenant-Colonel Palmer; Major Bird; Captain  Burmester,
killed; Captain Green; Lieutenant Huxham, twice wounded, doing
well ; Lieutenant Smith, Adjutant, wounded (nccidentally), doing well ;
Lieutenant Ouseley, Quartermaster; Lisutenant Fletcher, wounded,
doing well ; Lieutenant Dashwood, wounded, sinoe dead ; Lientenant
Hay, wounded, slightly, recovered; Ensigo Farquharson, killed ;
Ensign O'Dowda, slightly wounded, recovered ; Ensign Ward ; Surgeon
Wells, wounded slightly, recovered.

71st Regiment, Naiive I'nfantry.

Colonel Halford, dead; Captain Strangways, slightly wounded,
recovered ; Captain Dinning; Captain Maclean, killed; Lieutenant
Langmore, Adjutant; Lieutenant Sewell; Lieutenant Grant, killed ;
Ensign Worsley; Ensign C. W. Campbell, wounded, doing well:
Euvsign W, Campbell ; Surgeon Brydon, wounded, recovered.

Officers not belonging to the Oudh Brigade.

Major Baunks, Provisional Chief Commissioner, killed ; Captain
Stuart, 3rd Native Infantry ; Lisutenant Fullerton, 44th Native Infun-
try, dead ; Lieutenant Lester, 82nd Native Infantry, killed ; Lieutenant
Tulloch, 58th Native Infantry ; Lieutenant Birch, 50th Native Infan-
try, killed; Ensign Inglis, 63rd Native Infantry, doing duty 13th
Native Infantry; Captain Weston, 65th Native Infantry, Oudh
Frontier Police; Ensign Dashwood, 18th Native Infantry, mortally
wounded, since dead.

Oudh Irregular Force.

Brigadier Gray, Commanding ; Captain Barlow, Major of Brigade,

wounded, since dead; Captain Forbes, 1st Qudh Cavalry, slightly
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wounded, recovered ; Lieutenant Bax, 2ud in Commnud, killed ; Lieute-
pant Graham, Officiating Adjntant, dead ; Assistant Surgeon Greenhow ;
Major Gall, 20d Oudh Cavalry, killed; Lientenant Shepherd, 2nd-in-
Command, killed; Lientenant Barbor, Adjutant, killed; Gentleman
Volunteer Fayrer, killed ; Assistant Surgeon Partridge; Lieutenans
Graham, Adjutant, 3rd Oudh Cavalry, slightly wounded twice, recov-
ered; Lieutenant Clarke, 1st Oudh Infantry ; Captain Hughes, 4th
Oudh Infantry, wounded, since dead; Lieutenant Soppitt, 4th Oudh
Infantry; Assistant Surgeon Hadow; Captain Hawes, 5th Oudh
Infantry, wounded, recovered; Lieutenant Grant, 2nd-in-Command,
wounded, since dead ; Apothecary Thompson ; Lieutenant Graydon, Tth
Oudh Infantry, very dangerously wounded, since dead; Lientenant
Watson, 2nd-in-Command ; Lieutenant Mecham, Adjutant ; Lieutenant
Vanrenen, 9th Oudh Infautry ; Assistant Surgeon Darby, a. p., 10th
Oudh Infantry ; Captain Hearsey, unattached ; Captain Orr, unattached.

Assistant Chaplains of Lucknow.

The Reverend H. P. Harris; the Reverend H. 8. Polehampton,
wounded, since dead.
Civil Surgeons.
Surgeon Ogilvie, Superintendent of Jails; Assistant Surgeon
Fayrer, Residency Surgeon.

Gentlemen of the (Civil Service,

Mr. Gubbins, Finuncial Commissioner; Mr. Ommanney, Judigial
Commissioner, killed; Mr. Couper, Secretary, Chief Commissioner;
Mr. Martin, Deputy Commissioner, Lucknow; Mr. Benson, Depul,-j-
Commissioner, Durrinbad ; Mr. Capper, Depaty Commissioner,
Mullaon ; Mr. Lawrence, Officiating Deputy Commissioner, Gondah,
wounnded, recovered ; Mr. Thornhill, Assistant Commissioner, Lucknow,
slightly wounded, recovered—dangerously wounded, since dead: Mr
Bonlderson, Assistant Commissioner, Lucknow, slightly wounded,
recoverad.

Ladies and Children in Garrison.

Mrs. Hayes and child ; Mrs, Edgell and child ; Mrs. Marriott :
Mrs. Inglis and three children ; Mrs. Barwell and child ; Mrs, Thomas and
child (Mrs. Thomas dead) ; Mrs. Lewin and two children ; Mrs, Staples ;
Mrs. Radelifie and three children (one child dead) ; Mrs. Boilean and three
children; Mrs. Case and sister; Mrs, Steevens: Mm. Giddings; Mra
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Bruere and four children ; Mrs, Germon ; Mrs, Aitken ; Mrs. Pitt and
child; Mrs. Apthorp and child (child dead) ; Mrs. Darrah and two children;
Miss Palmer, killed ; Mrs. Bird and two children (one child dead) : Mrs.
Green, dead ; Mrs. Husham and two children (one child dead) ; Mrs,
Ouseley and three children (two children dead) ; Mrs. Dashwood and three
children (one child dead) ; Mrs. Waells and child; Mrs. Halford ; Miss
Halford ; Mrs. Strangways and four children (one child dead); Mrs. Brydon
and two children ; Mrs. Stuart and child; Mrs. Banks and child ; Mrs,
Birch; Mrs Orr and child ; Mrs. Hearsey ; Mrs. Barlow : Mrs. Forbes
and three children (two children dead) ; Mrs, Graham and two children
(one child dead) ; Mrs. Gall 3 Mrs, Barbor : Mrs. Clarke: Mrs, Soppitt ;
Mrs. Grant and child (both dead) ; Mrs. Watson and child ; Mrs. Harris;
Mrs, Polehampton ; Mrs, Ogilvie ; Mrs, Fayrer and child ; Mrs. Gubbins ;
Miss Nepean ; Mrs, Ommanney ; Miss Ommanney ; Miss Ommanney ;
Mrs. Couper and three children i Mrs. Martin and two children (two
children dead) ; Mrs. Benson and child (child dead) ; Mus. Thornhill and
child (child dead) ; Mrs. Schilling; Mrs. Hale and child ; (both dead) ;
Mrs. Fullerton and child (child dead); Mrs. Dorin, killed ; Mrs.. Kendall
and child (child dead}; Mrs. Bartrum and child (child dead) ; Mrs,
Clarke and child (both dead) ; Mrs. Anderson and child (both dead)
Mrs. Anderson (Dr.) ; Mrs, Boileau and four children (one child dead).

European Women and Children in Garrison.

Mrs. Evans, dead; Mrs, Brets and child (child dead); Mrs. Bell
and child ; Mrs, Cane and three children : Mrs. Court and two children;
Mrs. Conne! and child ; Mrs, Grant i Mrs. Abbott and child (child dead) ;
Mzrs. Hembro and three children ; Mrs, Purcoll and child ; Mrs. Longton
and child ; Mrs. Morgan ; Mrs. Sexton ; Mrs, Ramsay ; Mrs. Watson
and child ; Mrs, Royder ; Mrs. Wells and child ; Mrs. Woods and three
children (one child dead) ; Mrs. Morton and child (child dead) ; Mrs.
Baxter and three children ; Mrs, Fitagerald and child; Mrs, Fitzgerald and
three children (one child dead) ; Mrs, Martin ; Mrs, Kinsley and four
children ; Mrs. Rae ; Mrs. Gabriell and three children ; Mrs, Pow, senior ;
Mrs. Pew, junior, and four children (two children dead); Mrs. Ireland
and child ; Mrs. Swarris and three children ; Mrs, Gambooa ; Mrs. Blyth
and child (child dead ) ; Mrs. Jones ; Mrs, Luxted : Miss Luxted ; Mrs.
Catanin ; Mrs. Forbes; Mrs. Blaney ; Mrs, Hyde and two children ;
Mrs. Bequera, senior ; Mrs, Sequera, junior, killed ; Mrs. Chrestien ; Miss
Sequera ; Mrs. Vaughan and two children; Mrs. Beale ; Mrs. Hardingham;
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Mrs. Sinclair ; Miss Hampton; Mrs. Elliott; Mrs. Sangster and two
children ; Mrs. Barnett and child ; Miss Sangster; Mrs. Browne ; M,
Hamilton and three children (two children dead) ; Mrs, Velozo ; Miss
Velozo ; Mrs. Horn and three children ; Mrs, Pavry and four children ;
Mrs. Ereth ; Mrs. Bates ; Mrs. Scott and child (child dead) ; Mrs. Need
and three chilidren ; Mrs. Higgins, dead ; Mra. Williams and child (child
dead); Mrs. Wilkinson, dead ; Mrs. Allnatt and child (child dead) ; Mrs.
Reilly and child (child dead) ; Mrs. Collins and child (both dead); Mrs.
Macgrenan ; Mrs, Garland and child ; Miss Clarke ; Mrs. J. Phillips; Mrs.
W. Phillips and child ; Mrs, Leslie ; Mrs. Lincoln and child ; M. Chick
and children (one child dead); Mrs. Clancey and two children; Mrs. Joyee
and child ; Mrs. Best and child (child dead); Mrs Pidgeon ; Mrs, Todd and
child ; Mrs, Blont ; Mrs. Garrett and two children ; Mrs, Podron ; Miss
Marshall ; Miss Savaille ; Miss Campagnac; Mrs. Dudman and three
children (two children dead) ; Mrs. Ward and child ; Mrs. Dudman, 2nd;
Mrs. Bennick; Mrs. Derozario; Mre. Dacosta ; Mrs. Archer and two
children; Mrs. Hilton and two children; Mrs. DeraVara and two
children ; Mrs Peuder and four children; Mrs. McDonnongh and two
children ; Mrs. Oliver and two children; Mrs Brown:; Mrs Rontleff
and child ; Mrs. Curwan and child ; Mrs, Lynch and child : Mrs. Morton
and twao children (both children dead); Mrs, Smith and three children;
Mrs., Brandoff ; Mrs. Curtain and three children ; Mrs. Kennedy ; Mrs.
Balley and two children ; Mrs. Peter ; Miss Kennedy; Mrs. Burnett
and child ; Mrs, Cook and four children (one child dead) ; Mrs. Bryson
and four children (one child dead) ; Mrs. Marshall; Mrs. Rutledge and two
children ; Mrs. Lawrence and two children one child dead); Mrs. Samson ;
Mrs. Horan and three children; Mrs, Kavanagh and four childron
(one child dead) ; Mrs. F. Marshall and two children; Mrs. Sago ; Mrs,
Virtue ; Miss Virtue ; Miss Browne ; Mrs, F. Williams and two children ;
AMrs. Gordon and two children ; Mrs. Hoff ; Mrs, Wittenbaker and eight
children ; Mrs, Donnithorne and two children {ona child dead); Mra.
Pearce and two children ; Mrs. Mendes, dead; Miss Gardner: Miss
Roberts ; Mrs. Dubois, senior; Mrs, Dubois, junior ; Mrs. Campagnae,
senior ; Mrs. Campagnae, junior, and four children : Miss Campagnac,
1st; Miss Campagnac, 2nod ; Mrs. Mabar and two children ; Mrs, Twit-
chem ; Mrs. Marley and one child; Miss Hampton ; Mrs, Longden :
Miss Rodgers ; Mrs. Duffy and child; Mrs, Griffiths and three children
Mrs, Keogh aud five children (three children dead); Mrs, Meclloy and

b
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five children ; Mrs. Hernon and four children; Mrs. Manton ; Mrs.
Miller and four children ; Mrs. Bickers and three children ; Mrs. Barrett
and three children (one child dead); Mrs. Casey and five children (one
child dead); Mrs, Alone; Miss Alone; Miss Armo; Miss Robinson ;
Miss Bowhear; Mrs. Johannes and child ; Mrs. Queiros and child ; Mrs.
Dias; Mrs. Pelling ; Mrs. Nazareth and two children (Mrs, Nazareth
dead) ; Mrs. Nugent, senior; Mrs. Nugent, junior, and three children;
Mrs, Joseph and three children ; Mrs. Hamilton; Mrs. Blenman; Mrs
EBates and chald ; Mrs. Barfoot.

Members of the Uncovenanted Service,

Messrs, J. F. Macgrenan ; R. Garland; W. E. Fitagerald ; R. M.
Collins, F. Leach, F. Williams, E. Kight, J. Gordon, E. Hoff, R.
Dorrett; Anthony Wharton, Wittenbaker, Wittenbaker, junior
ikilled), 8. Willinms, Donnithorne, Veloso, Pearce, Mendes [lliﬂﬂd]\_.-
Phillips, French, Leslie, Lincoln, Chick, W. Phillips, Clancey (killed),
Juice, Best, Pidgeon (killed), Ewart, Todd, R. Joyce, Thriepland,
Blunt, Forrester (wounded), Potter, Kavanagh, Marshall, Forder, May;
Martin, Morgan (wounded), Me. Rae (wounded), Bryson (killed), J.
Brown (killed), C. Brown (killed), O. Browne (dead), W, Marshall
(killed), E. Sequera (killed), Blaney (wounded, recovered), Rutledge
(wounded, recovered) Duhan, Hutton, Owen, Morgan, Lawrence,
Sarle, Sequera, Parry, Alluutt, B. Alone, A, Alone (wounded),
A. Batées, Blenman (wounded), Bailey (wounded, recovered), Bickers
(wounded), Ereth (killed), T. Catania, C. Catania, Hardingham,
Rees, J. Sinclair (wounded), MeAuliffe (killed), Sinclair (pensioner),
Rea, Gubriel, Samuells, Pew, senior, A, Pew, junior, G. Ireland,
W. Ireland, Swarries (wounded, recovered); Fernandes, Blythe,
Jones, Luxted (pensioner), Hyde (wounded slightly, recoversd),
Howard, Forbes, Blaney, Deprat (killed) ; W, Hamilton, Sequera,
Sequera, junior (wounded, recovered', Chrestien, Schmidth (wounded,
sinee dead), Collins, Vaughan (wounded, recovered), Elliott, Sang-
ster, Beale (killed), Queires, Queires, junior, Queiros, 8rd, Jobannes,
Nazareth, Dias, Signor Barsotelli, Jeofiry, W. Brown, Mitchell, Johnson ;
Symes, Wells (killed); Dubois, Campagnae, C. Campagnae, E, Dudman,
Owen, Hill, Crabb (killed), Need (killed) Ward, Barry, Casey (dead),
Rarret (dend), Wiltshire (dsad), Macmaunus (killed), Cameron (dead),
Geruld Cameron (Merchant).




Hrthi]]mg Principal ; Mr, Crank, Assistant ; Messrs, Archer, Dnﬁﬁ;
Wall, Hilton, DeraVara, De Verrine, and boys. 4
(Signed) A. BARWELL, Lieut,
Tnen and Fort Adjntant and

Offy. Major of Brigade.
{True Copy.) &
(Signed) L W. NORMAN, Maj. :
Depy. Adjt-Genl. of the drmy,
(Signed)  R. J. H. BIRCH, Col,
Becy. to the Govt. of India, Mily. Dept,

GENERAL ORDERS by the Right Hon'ble the Governor- General of

India,—dated Allahabad, the Sth April 1555.

No. 60 of 1858, —With reference to Government General Order
No. 1544, dated Bth December 1857, intimating that every Native :
commissioned and non-commissioned officer and soldier, who formed
of the garrison of Lucknow, should receive the Order of Menit,

_mdahm]ﬁb&pmﬂhdmmnntthreeymufnd&mml service, the
‘Right Hon'ble the Governor-General directs the publication of the

following rolls of men belonging to the Native Artillery, the late Tth
Regiment, Light Cavalry, 13th, 41st, 45th,and T1st Regiments of Hati‘m -
Infantry, and the 1st and 4th Regiments of Oudh Trregular and Local

Infantry, who remained faithful and served throughout the siege of
- Lucknow.

 The promotions specified in these rolls are all confirmed by the
Right Hon'ble the Governor-General.
The following Native officers of the 15th Regiment, Native In-

~ fantry, who are reported to have prominently distinguished themselves,

are advanced to the 2nd Class of the Order of Merit :—

Subadar Dabeedeen Misser.
»  Sewraj Sing ... transferred to the Cawnpore Levy.
Jemadar Kalley Khan,

»  Ramnoaraine Pande,



e

Return of the Native Artillery who served during the siege of
Lucknow, from the 30th June to £22nd November 1857.

Camr Arvu Baam,

The 19th February 1858.
_! Rank i Nems, Troop or Company. Ramarks,
=
SubadarMaior,
i B~ 5 o T
lery, ber 1557,
Subadar,
1 | Rampersand i e Ditto i m m Clnss, and Snbudar
Jemadare,
il A o T & -~ K% R
Jeswunih .. e el Ditta = Ditto ditta,
3 | Moorslly .. - - Dibto ” ta by
e el 503
Calpls Bam .., - " Do - Ditte dinto,
Havildars.
1 | Bhekh Burfoailnh - . Ditto il
Golam Molidern .. o Ditts . !
Shikh Hyder " e Dittn wilF m‘iw
2515 September 1657,
Thakoor Bing - Ditto .
s, Dodialos ... i i Ditta s
Naicks
1| Lalla Bing .. ih 1L Ditio e,
Hinghan Ehan £ . Tritio
Bewsek .. o o Ditta
Joggrrmaih Eing o i Ditto i
# | Bhowanme .. - s Ditto ol
Tesepes v Trtta -
Bellmbiogis, o Ditte .|} Garvisen Artiies Ororr dated
Belarrie Lall e i Tritta aptendar 1857, )
Muddnrrie Bing i Ditto -
10 | Buctowar .. o Ditto
Dhurrun Sing : - Dtta '
Rissall Khan - .t Dhitto o
13 | Jubber Khan s Sy Ditto e 14
Bhevstie,
1 | Bhikh Emam Bux - = Titto -
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g Rank mmi Nums, or Company. Remnrks.,

| e .

* g to Nor 3 Natsery. _
Maotirs . b Ditte i . ‘

Promoted s Hinders, :

e ) Sy mm‘mm
Baulal] i - Ditto
Matadesn

RS | T Sy

Ditta .| Promoled 10 Jemadw Ly sbors

Ram o e Tt s s st 8 g
Lucknow, from the 30th June to 22nd November 1857—(Contd.). .
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Roll of men of the 13th Regiment, Native Infuntry, who served
throughout the Siege of Lucknow, and who are now alive—(Contd.). -

-g Rank. Nume, } Date st B0 | Rawards by Sie I, Outram, -
-
]Imnh.rlhmhuhn s w | I8k Uotober 1867 ... | Promoted from Havildsr,

Do, .. Adjoodinh Bing .. Dilito - | Ditta ditto,
Da, .. | Lall Bing = it Ditin e Ditta ditta,

6| Do, .. | Bunsrees Chowbey A Ditto ady Ditta i‘ihﬂ,
I, .. Kalley Ehnn . wil  Ditte 4 %nmmummm

Havildnr,

Do, .| Chuckon Khan ... e Ditto ~ | Promated trom Havildar,
Dw. .., | Doorgudesn Tewnree e Ditto = Ditto ditto,
Do, ... Balwunt Sing .- e Ditta - Dhittn it

1| Do, ..|BindhsSing .. w|  Ditto | Dirto ditta.
Do, ... | Rammarine Panda = Dikto i %mmﬂmm
Da. o | Uthol Sing - Ditto ++ | Promoted from Havildar,
Do . | Hurreernm Misser B Ditto i Ditto ditto,
Do .. |Thaun Sing . «  Ditto w|  Ditte ditte,
Do, .. | Jocrnwur - - Dittn i Diitin ditta,

| Da, .| Degoober Siog ... Diite = Ditta ditta,

1 | Havildar | William Smith ... - | Tat Mag 1831 .. [ 3 montle® pay.
Do, ... | Deens Pattuck . --llltil-plmhrlm| Promoted from Naick,
Do. ... | Bhekh Macdoombuz = | Ditte P Ditto ditto,
Do, .. | Leckra] Sing v Bith Beptember 15887 Ditio ditin.
Do, ... Noember - Dittn - Ditte ditta.
Do . | Goolam Allss Khan Ditto - Diiso diita,
Do, ... Goolab e - Diittn - DHtto ditta.
Do, o | Kalloy Ehan .. Ditto Ihtto ditta,
Da, ... | Dulmeer Khan .. sl Ditto Ditto ditto.

10| Do .. | Rambox Doobay - Ditto e Driteo ditta,
Da. .. | Bhola Daobey .. - Ditto e Ditto ditto,
Do, o | Lochmuos Doobey - Ditn - Diita litta,

13| Do ... |Oomrswo Sing ... w= | Ditto we | Ditta ditte,

! Po. .. MchonBing .. w | Ditte sl Ding dlitto,
Do, .. |Pooris - - Ditto - Dt ditto,
Do, .. |Gopes Tewares .. - Ditto . ikt ditto,
Doy .. | Rupnannuth Tewaros i Ditto ...i Dittta diia,
Do, .. | Gungdeon Pande - Dittn = Ditto ditto.
Do, ... | Goorbuy Misar .., ~|  Ditte «| Ditte ditto,

20| Do, .| Pookesrs . st Ovctobiar 1887 .. | Ditio ditta,
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Roll of men of the 13th Regiment, Native Infantry, who served
throughout the Siege of Lucknow, and who are now fﬂiﬂ&—-{ﬂmﬂ.}.

é | Rank. N, i s Rewarils by Sir J. Outrnm,
=
HaviMar | Bhogwandeen Pande ... | 1at Defober 1637 . | Promoted trom Nalok,
Do ..|DheanSing -~ w| Ditte w| ‘Dist ditto,
| Do .| Hersh SBing - - Dieta I Dittn ditta,
1 | ¥aiek .. | Lall Khan e w | 168 Muy 1584 ... | Promoted to Havildar,
Do, .. | Jaygohind Tewnres . |9%h Beptember 1857, Promoted from Sepoy.
Do, . | Bundheor Bing .. - THtto i THitto ditto,
Tw, .. | Narin Thirbades e | Ditdo aht Ditto dittn,
5| Do, .| Goberdhun Gossine ~1 Ditte |  Dittn dittn,
Do, .. | Marye = Ditte 5 Bitto ditto,
Do. .. | Bewrnttun Opudsn w|  Titte L|  Ditte ditto.
Do, .. | Teeluckilhnres Doohey .|  Ditta ~| it ditho,
Ta, .. Lall u Ditte | Ditta dithn,
10| Do, ..|Bewinhal Ojah ... |  Ditts - Tt ditto,
| Do, .| Cosnimam . [ Dittn | Ditta dittn,
' o, .| Bestul Bookool ... | T | Mitho dittn,
{ Do Lmchmnn Ring .. Mittn Dt ditta,
T, .. | Dnsuresperssd Titehi Dhitdn Dittn ik,
15 | Do, .. | Bamperssd Doobey IHrtn Ditto ditta,
Do, .. | Enwees £ ._..l Hiio % Ditin i,
Do, . | Beetul Sine w | Ditie Ditto ditho,
16, . | Bewruttun Dooley hite Dt ditte,
Do, .. | Duraon Bing it Ditto ditte,
% | Do, .. | Ramjewon Pande Thitin DHida ditin,
Da, .| Lawo Ditto [t ditta,
Do, .. | Goman Bieg .. - Ditto n Dt Hitto,
Do. ... | Sewpersun Sing .. Dittn Dhirta ditto,
Tha, ...ilmnﬂlﬂ'hlnﬂ - Bitto e Dirto ditto,
5| Do, .. Bamgolnm Doobey Ditta Ditto bt
Do, IThl._ﬁITmm - Ditin futy Thtin dit i,
Do, ... | Buldeo Pattue - Dite Diitto A,
I D, .. | Bhekh Mudnrbax - Ditie e Dittn ditto,
Do, | Di=dnr Sing THttn w4 Hten ditta,
| Do, .. JaymnlBing . we|  Ditto we|  Dikte ditio,
Do. . 'rmm ; A Dilte i Ditto ditio,
Do, ... | Burreenm Sing .. Mt o Witie ditto.
Do. .| Shelh Boodhoo ... o Ditio i Ditto ditto.
Do, .. | Mahoss Slog .. i Ditto - Ditto ditin,
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Rl of men of the 13th Regiment, Native Infantry, who served
throughout the Sizge of Lucknow, and who are now alive—{Contd.).

E Rank. Nume, Date of present | gownrds by Sir . Outrass,
=
] lh‘miH Ehujun Sing = . we (Bt Beptember 1857 Promo ted from Sapay.
f Do, o | Gujsdimr Misser Ditio . Ditta ditto.
Do, o | Aywuj Elan .. e Ditto Thitto ditta,
Do, .. | Bookdeo Sing .. = Dilio Ditta ditin,
Do, .. | Ohingun Sing ... Dittn - Ditta ditta,
| Do, ... | Madho Sing Dhitn e Thtto ditto,
Do, .. | Mser Uldoo] Rubesm ... Ditto - [ Ditte difta,
Do, .. | Khujsn Sine .. Ditto e Do ditto,
| Do, .. HEarm Bing i Ditte - Ditto ditto,
Do. .. | Bamwsursn Bing .. e Ditéo il Ditto ditto,
& | Do, ...lllnrp-.ullﬁ-r 3 Dittin w | Ditte ditto,
Do, .. Boodbon Sing i Diirto it ikt dites,
Do, .. | Fossa Bai E | ‘Ditto i Dkt ditta,
| Do, ... | Bhowsnes Sing .. = Dinto - nttn itta,
Da, .. | Jhuggroo Bing ... Ditin - Ihtto ditta,
80 | Do, .ul"l'wpnu Ehony .. . Ditin IHtto ditto,
Do, .. Brjosth 8ing .. Ditto = Ditto ditto,
| Do, .. | Nondres Misser Ditto - Ditta ditto,
2| Do, - | Bumms Bing (e Dittn = Dit o ditio,
Do, .. | Jownhir Sing s Ditto .,.' Titto iitto,
88| Do, ..|Myheput Bing Ditta - Ditto dlito,
1 | Miinanin | Shekh Moosahail —| Ditia | Promoted to Nalek
1 nxr-?,.:r" Willint Blliott .. v | B80h Murch 1835 .. | 8 months' pay,
1 r‘i.r&;m Dizon Elliog ..,. o | Dot Moy 1881 Ditta,
1 |Drummer| George Lindsay .. it b Ditto,
Do, .. | Charles Henry Elliote e Ditto.
Do, ... | Froderick Ford .. Wi hard Dittn,
Do, ... { Jumes Bhiridan .., sanee Ditto,
D, .. | John Henry Elliott Ditto,
Do, o | Thomas Jumes Elljott L Do,
7| Do we | Thooss Murphey ~ | Diteo,
1 | Bhistee | Shakh Lall Mahome e Ditin.
Do. .. | Bhekh Emambng " . Ditio.
Do. ... | Shekh Goohes : e Dikin,
Da. .. |Shekh Janon ., s Ditin,
Do, .. | Shekh Khodabng . S o Ditka,
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Roll of men of the 13th Regiment, Native Infanlry, who served
. throughout the Siege of Lucknow, and who are now alive—(Concld.).

-E Rank, Name. jTIRAL pratp) | Rewsrds b 8ie 4. Outrais.
n - j 1 |
& | Bhister | Shekh Moossinbux ' 0 3 momths' pay,
1 | Pundit | Dookbiarm Misser o Ditto,
1 Bhlmtl-'h: | Radhey Uginhottree ) 1 Ditta,
Do, .. Rameobiod Misser 0 SR Ditto
8] Do, . | Mungul Misser .. ol I Ditto,
b Men sinee fro [
WW
1 Bewra Si = o | 100k Junuary 1858 | frd Cluss Ovder af Merit, 15t Ouclo-
5. hrlnﬁi‘ and promated to Jemsdar
from Nuick.
I | demadar | Indur Sing - - Ditta « | Promoted from Nuick to Havildar,
Do o | Modurbos Khan 5 Ditio e Ditto dittn,
Do. . | Ramsurn Sing . Titto Dilte ditto,
Do, - | Knllay Khan Ditto - Dikto Bepay to Naick.
Do, w. | Bijnors Sing - Ditto Tt to
Do, .| Bendasms Bing .. - Dittn o Ditin ditto.

fel. )

The above sevim men have heen translorred 1o (he u-wny; Lavy with nddlitional rank,

4. INGLIS, Brigodicr,

Commandfing Cawapory.

[,

. H. M. AITEEN, Lieuf., [0th N.F.,

Comdg, Cawnpore Leey.

Roll of men of the late 7th Regiment, Light Cavalry, 4lst, 48th and
71st Regvinents of Native Infantry, and Ist and §th Regiments
of Oudh I'rregular and Local Infantry, who served throughout
the Siege of Lucknow, and who are now alive

UiwaPolE,
The 6th March 1855,
£ Present runk. Name, | m'w' Rowunls and b
é I | | by wi .
7th ‘ﬁ:ﬁ{ Light |
1 | Sobada
by I.'-I'ljm: Madhey KEhay wee | st March 1554
st EI-:
Merit,
2 | Bubndar .. |DotrpaBing .. Ist May 1830 .. | Bubndar and *nd Class
| o Merit: by Bt 1 Ontrer
. C. K., 15t Ootober 1857,
3 | Jemmdnr ... | Budiug Siag ... itk Jugie 1857 .. | Bubadar, snd Sud Class Order
of Menit, by Sir J, Oulymm,

6. G B., Is” Octolor 1857,
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Roll of men of the late 7th Regiment, Light Cavalry, §1st, 48th and |

?1st Regiments of Native Infantry, and Ist and jth Regiments
of Oudh Irregular and Local Infantry, who served throughout
the Siege of Lucknow, and who are now alive—(Contd.).

-
4 | Nuick o | Hamiall Sime ...
a Gooknl B | | gnih  Beptember
£ Rl e e e
7 - | Thakoor Bing e
# | Giluntah Pande Sobum i | W Ty 1532,
¥ | Do, aee | Blwmnydiun ., | ut Fuleruwry TN
10 | Spue e | Muttownh | I Jume 1537,
n| ba | Moodboosh ... e | B0 Join 1857,
1| Do, woi | Momstinindy Lo | 900h Tune 1T,
nL;-; o | Cilnsmm . e [E71h Berptember 1837
14 (el Clans Nutive] Shalek B Daz | il May 1848 ., |18} Cliss Nitive Dostor, mnd
? bR Y e
15 | Dyyaser | Toorsup Ally v | 1ol Feliuary 1847,
dint Natire
1 | Drum Major... | Mmoo Balley .. oo | 15t Felsrusry 1848
o | ¥ie Major . | John Kennedy | Marchie, [T
g | Demper .| Jobn Peter . oo | 15%h Angmsd 53
i Da = | Muthew Covhirans v | R My R,
| Tw v | dulin Mokar . o | Sl Dratober 1830,
o] e <. | Goorge Nowjent o |180h November 1847
7| Dwm . | duisies Georye Faithiul . | 4th Noveniber 1547,
& Du e | dmiies Wilsrne e | Bt Octaber 184,
p| Do .| Pranels Balley oo | BT Jume 1584,
jo | Bepoy  Thyums. | Sinon Duming s | U At 1842,
(=3 P Satier
b~ o R w—-mL.a.-.-..-.m,,-k_-@:
ml;h-i-rﬂ mu.q. N
3 |Bobmdar .. | Bewul Tewary oo | 2800 Jncrery yni .& -
EO'g-w-#-E._ z bete.
D, wee | Mktndren Hing e |30th Jume1myy .|  Ditta ditte
T, s | Bl Sullar Bux w| Dt 11} Ditie - alittn,
phoadar | Buldierain Deobey ERATS TR T S Ditta ditta.
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Roll of men of the late Tth Regiment, Light Cavalry, 41st, 48th and
71st Regiments of Native Infantry, and Ist and jth Regiments
of Oudh Ivregulur and Loeal Infantry, who served throughout
the Siege of Lucknow, and who are now alive—(Contd.).

M:wl

N, Rewnrds und by whis,
- |
# I Jemndnr ... | Boodban Bing ... | 1k June 1857 .. el .,-_Eﬂ
| | ihmllﬂ. B.. st
| e 1887
Iil 1% _. | Blssoon Sing ... i_m June JRET Dikto ditiu,
8 Do v | Hommulall Doobey wi|  Ditto ™ Ditin ditto.
o I Naick e | Heeralol]l Missir or kit - 'E*::hc;hﬁllu-'. Bir J. ﬂl;!l“u'
1o | Huvildar ... | Bucktour Pandy ...ll-muim i Jm tl:dl:;ﬂir%m
n D, - | Shaik Tillwwnll o B84 Mlay thdz LTI ditta,
12 i, s | Buckuth King .. o | 164 May 1858 - THitn ditta,
13| Do . | Bamndheen Tewary - THito - Thite dibis.
H-I D, e | Puttron Sing .. e | Hint Muy 1887 | Ditin ditim,
13 | Band Bergeant | Charles Martin o | Bl June 1857 | Dikio it
11 ooy = | Hetrosums Blog = | th June 1837 .. THttn ditte,
1r| Do . | Blwipaul Sing .. -| Intto - Ditto i b,
1" Do, e | Noar Khan - ia Thito - Ditto st
»| Do . | Gangah Sing .. w| D ~|  Dis ditho,
20 | Nuick ~ | Bam Bing .. o | W18t May 180T .. Ditta dittn
g | Da | Ramjmaun Khan Enh Juss 1837 Ditto dhito,
= Da ~ | Ehoorrum Sing ~e | ik May 1807 . &“ﬂﬁgﬂrm %ﬂm
'i The v | Huanmeoman (jal - TR =l Ditto ditte.
8| Do, = | Ugmnd Ram ... 1oth Juns 1857 ... Dite dilto,
8| Do | Powr Khan ., _r itia Diits ditho,
=| Aty tocom .. .| mie ] D P
e | Do = | Bunker Tewary Dikto - Ditio ditio,
™| Do o | Buldeo Tewnry - Diito Ditto ditto.
®w| Da v | Minbram - - Dittn Ditin ditto,
| Do = | Ogrul Tewnry .., & Tinto Ditin dikin,
m| Da | Munnohur Sine v | DOUTS DS 1EST o Dittn ditto,
|| Da - | Hammsarrin Mins o Ditta - Titla ditio,
n| Da .. | Hnmnend Tewary -7 Ditte Ditta ditta,
3| Da s | Hoorah Sing ... A Thkia e, Ditto dlitn,
= | Do o | Bewmnngal Hing o | Ditia . Ditin ditto,
N Do | Roop Uhond .., Dittn Ditin dittn,
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XU AFPENDIX

Roll of men of the late Tth Regiment, Light Cavalry, §1st, j8th and
715t Regiments of Native Infantry, and Ist and jth Regiments
of Oudh Irregular and Local Infantry, who served throughout
the Siege of Lucknow, and who are now alive—(Contd.).

E‘ !

E Present runk, Nmne, Dtz :EEMI‘ Rewnrds and by whom.

=

a7 [Naick + | Lutehwun Opabidis + | 1sk July 1557 Havilisr by 8Sir J. Outram,
| N Oyl S G.O0. B, % Ottt im7,

| Do + | Behnreo Chonbey - | End July 1857 .. THito ditto,

m I Da, s | Bowhborn Missir 1h Angust 1587 Ditto diiio,

0 | Drom Majr...| Joseps Let .. | 1000 Mu 1350 ..

il | Fife Major -

John Flower . o |tk Moy 18H .
& | Drummer o | Bambuceus . .. | 2ied Fehraary 1818
£ i | o, s | Jushus Walsh ... | SEVLA
| Do .| John Field o | Ut June 160 .-
£ ‘ D, « | Bamiel Geant . | 16th June 1653 .-
£ | Tha, s+ | Themsa Flower R
4F | Bhistew - | Bheik Hoossin Bux 106k May 1A
& | Doy - | Bhere Khan e | 18th April 1888 ...
© | Ghnis Pandy | Oodit Missie ... .| 18th Tnnuary 1568
00| Do + | Bindha Fanday - Depsmbwer 1856
1 |
il Ty, we | Binmjownun Doobay o | dih June 1887 ..
H g?-.mu:_,:ﬂm
1 | Solmdar « | Doarsal Persand oo | 15l Miny 1881 ..
-
1 | Bubndnr, sl | Saw -
e IE!.I.I | Bing Linh Jamusry 168
Drder of [
Merit,
0 | Bubaday |Blﬁdu!lu:g o ...|i.|l.mmu
4| Do, « | Lochon Bing .. o | 18t Muy 1855 .
5 | Jemadar - | Bhalok Nubbis Bux Ditto an
|
0 Do, e | Heerah - .| Dth June 1857
7] De, see | Adfjodhin Townry ,: 1ot Muy 1585
# | Havildar .. | Dabeedin Tewary . | 1th October 1445
] Do, « | Enasiaram Tewary e | Bith Murch 1850 ...
w| Do . | Makbnn Sing .. .| 1k May 15851

Ota
+ | Snil Olass

Rs, 108 by 8ir J, Ooiram
E.ﬂ.l.r

Dhkto ditta,

Bs 78 Bir J. Outrwms
G.u.!‘.ﬂ 3

B8 ditto,
Ditdo ditto.
Ditte ditto,
Ditto ditta,
Ba, 30 ditte,
THite ditio,
Ditto diito,
Difter ditio,
Ditte ditte
Iﬂdrﬂ ﬂhll!r lil ﬂﬂh ﬁ
(
| st Class of Merit,

i

Order of
Bir 4. Outram, G. 0. B.,
betr 1857,

Order of Maeril,
Bir J. Ouimm, G, C. B, IH
Detober 1857,

l'I!. n:au-'urm.
I‘.!— Bnl- ‘of

Hll‘l't ll_r‘.t&r

demndary, Ist October 1567, by

- Bir J. Outram, 3. 0. B,
Tritho ditio.
Ditto ditte.
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Roll of men of the late Tth Regiment, Light Cavalvy, 41st, 45th and
: 71st Regvments of Native Infantry, and Ist und 4th Regiments
of Oudh Irvegular and Local Infantry, who served throughout
the Siege of Lucknow, and who are now alive— (Contd.).

I 1
; | mm] Hume, e ot et Riwards and by wham,
= |
T 1
1 Lall Sing +| st Moy 1883 .. s dmm,u hum by
13| De - Lallabeam Lull | Ditta e Ditto ditha,
13| Do -« | Buldea wa | Bnd May 1568 Ditto ditta,
4| Da, s | Junglee = Dijta Dilte ditha
15| Do, _iinmun; = _. | a0k sy 1557 DHtta ditte,
| Da, Inmnmn.- b Ditta o Diito ditta,
wl D o Ananst Sing ., Ditta Tiitig o
| Da I Mocngario - o Ditta THtlo ditta
1o | D -